CAMBRIDGE STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL AND COMPARATIVE LAW

United Nations Sanctions and the Rule of Law

JEREMY MATAM FARRALL



CAMBRIDGE

www.cambridge.org/9780521878029

This page intentionally left blank

United Nations Sanctions and the Rule of Law

The United Nations Security Council has increasingly resorted to sanctions as part of its efforts to prevent and resolve conflict. *United Nations Sanctions and the Rule of Law* traces the evolution of the Security Council's sanctions powers and charts the contours of the UN sanctions system. It also evaluates the extent to which the Security Council's increasing commitment to strengthening the rule of law extends to its sanctions practice. It identifies shortcomings in respect of key rule of law principles and advances pragmatic policy-reform proposals designed to ensure that UN sanctions promote, strengthen and reinforce the rule of law. In its appendices, *United Nations Sanctions and the Rule of Law* contains summaries of all twenty-five UN sanctions regimes established to date by the Security Council. It forms an invaluable source of reference for diplomats, policy-makers, scholars and advocates.

JEREMY MATAM FARRALL is a Research Fellow at the Centre for International Governance and Justice, in the Regulatory Institutions Network at the Australian National University. He worked for the United Nations from 2001 to 2006, serving as a political officer in the UN Security Council in New York, on the UN Secretary-General's Mission of Good Offices in Cyprus and with the UN Mission in Liberia. He received his Ph.D. in International Law from the University of Tasmania Faculty of Law, where he has also worked as a Postdoctoral Research Fellow.

Established in 1946, this series produces high-quality scholarship in the fields of public and private international law and comparative law. Although these are distinct legal sub-disciplines, developments since 1946 confirm their interrelation.

Comparative law is increasingly used as a tool in the making of law at national, regional and international levels. Private international law is now often affected by international conventions, and the issues faced by classical conflicts rules are frequently dealt with by substantive harmonisation of law under international auspices. Mixed international arbitrations, especially those involving state economic activity, raise mixed questions of public and private international law, while in many fields (such as the protection of human rights and democratic standards, investment guarantees and international criminal law) international and national systems interact. National constitutional arrangements relating to 'foreign affairs', and to the implementation of international norms, are a focus of attention.

The Board welcomes works of a theoretical or interdisciplinary character, and those focusing on the new approaches to international or comparative law or conflicts of law. Studies of particular institutions or problems are equally welcome, as are translations of the best work published in other languages.

General Editors Iames Crawford SC FBA

> Whewell Professor of International Law, Faculty of Law, and Director, Lauterpacht Research Centre for International Law,

University of Cambridge John S. Bell FBA

Professor of Law, Faculty of Law, University of Cambridge

Editorial Board

Professor Hilary Charlesworth Australian National University

Professor Lori Damrosch Columbia University Law School

Professor John Dugard Universiteit Leiden

Professor Mary-Ann Glendon Harvard Law School

Professor Christopher Greenwood London School of Economics

Professor David Johnston University of Edinburgh Professor Hein Kötz Max-Planck-Institut, Hamburg Professor Donald McRae University of Ottawa Professor Onuma Yasuaki University of Tokyo

Professor Reinhard Zimmermann Universität Regensburg

Advisory Committee Professor D. W. Bowett QC Judge Rosalyn Higgins QC

Professor I. A. Iolowicz OC

Professor Sir Elihu Lauterpacht CBE QC

Professor Kurt Lipstein Judge Stephen Schwebel

A list of books in the series can be found at the end of this volume.

United Nations Sanctions and the Rule of Law

by

Jeremy Matam Farrall



CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS

Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, Madrid, Cape Town, Singapore, São Paulo

Cambridge University Press

The Edinburgh Building, Cambridge CB2 8RU, UK

Published in the United States of America by Cambridge University Press, New York www.cambridge.org

Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9780521878029

© Jeremy Matam Farrall 2007

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provision of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press.

First published in print format 2007

ISBN-13 978-0-511-37905-5 eBook (NetLibrary)

ISBN-13 978-0-521-87802-9 hardback

Cambridge University Press has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of urls for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication, and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

Contents

| | face breviations | page xıx xxii |
|----|--|------------------|
| Pa | rt I Setting the scene | 1 |
| 1 | Introducing UN sanctions | 3 |
| 2 | Towards a pragmatic rule of law model for UN sanctions | 14 |
| Pa | rt II The evolution of the UN sanctions framework | 43 |
| 3 | From Aegina to Abyssinia: a prehistory of UN | |
| | sanctions | 45 |
| 4 | Sanctions under the UN Charter | 58 |
| Pa | rt III UN sanctions in practice | 79 |
| 5 | Establishing the legal basis for sanctions: | |
| | identifying threats and invoking Chapter VII | 81 |
| 6 | Delineating the scope of sanctions and | |
| | identifying targets | 106 |
| 7 | Fine-tuning sanctions: setting objectives, | |
| | applying time-limits and minimising | |
| | negative consequences | 133 |
| 8 | Delegating responsibility for sanctions | |
| | administration and monitoring | 146 |

| Part IV Strengthening the rule of law | 183 |
|---|-----|
| 9 Rule of law weaknesses in the UN sanctions system | 185 |
| 10 Strengthening the rule of law performance of | |
| the UN sanctions system | 230 |
| 11 Concluding remarks | 241 |
| Appendix 1: Summary of policy recommendations | 244 |
| Appendix 2: Summaries of UN sanctions regimes | 247 |
| Appendix 3: Tables | 464 |
| Bibliography | 493 |
| Index | 524 |

Extended table of contents

| Pr | reface | page x1x |
|----|--|----------|
| Αł | bbreviations | xxii |
| Pa | art I Setting the scene | 1 |
| 1 | Introducing UN sanctions | 3 |
| | 1. Defining UN sanctions | 6 |
| | 2. Central contention and key objectives | 10 |
| | 3. The path ahead | 11 |
| 2 | Towards a pragmatic rule of law model for UN | |
| | sanctions | 14 |
| | 1. The relevance of the rule of law to the | |
| | UN Security Council's activities | 15 |
| | 1.1 The Council's close relationship with and | |
| | reliance upon law | 16 |
| | 1.2 The increasing emphasis upon the rule of law | |
| | in Security Council practice | 18 |
| | 2. The promise and perils of the rule of law | 24 |
| | 2.1 The scholarly crisis concerning the rule of law | 26 |
| | 2.2 Salvaging the rule of law from scholarly crisis | 30 |
| | 3. Towards a pragmatic rule of law model for UN sanction | ns 32 |
| | 3.1 The rule of law through the eyes of the Security | |
| | Council | 32 |
| | 3.2 The rule of law through the eyes of the | |
| | UN Secretary-General | 35 |
| | 3.3 Scholarly explorations of the relationship between | |
| | the Security Council and the rule of law | 36 |
| | 3.4 Constructing a pragmatic rule of law model for | 0.0 |
| | sanctions decision-making | 39 |
| | i. Transparency | 40 |

| | 11. Consistency | 41 |
|----|---|----|
| | iii. Equality | 41 |
| | iv. Due process | 41 |
| | v. Proportionality | 41 |
| | 3.5 A framework for subsequent analysis | 42 |
| Pa | art II The evolution of the UN sanctions | |
| | framework | 43 |
| 3 | From Aegina to Abyssinia: a prehistory of UN sanctions | 45 |
| | 1. Sanctions in ancient and medieval times | 45 |
| | 2. Sanctions under classic international law | 47 |
| | 2.1 Retorsion | 48 |
| | 2.2 Reprisals | 49 |
| | 2.3 Pacific blockade | 50 |
| | 2.4 The possibilities and limitations of | |
| | pre-twentieth-century sanctions | 51 |
| | 3. Sanctions under the League of Nations system | 52 |
| | 3.1 The League of Nations sanctions provision | 53 |
| | 3.2 The League of Nations sanctions experiment | |
| | against Italy | 54 |
| | 4. Learning from the League's experience | 56 |
| 4 | Sanctions under the UN Charter | 58 |
| | 1. A fresh approach to collective security | 58 |
| | 1.1 An incentive for the great powers: the veto | 59 |
| | 1.2 Incentives for lesser powers: the UN purposes | |
| | and principles | 60 |
| | 1.3 The UN's principal organs | 61 |
| | 2. The UN Security Council's sanctions powers | 62 |
| | 2.1 The sanctions trigger: Article 39 | 63 |
| | 2.2 The UN Charter's sanctions provision: Article 41 | 64 |
| | 2.3 Other sanctions-related Chapter VII provisions: | |
| | Articles 48 and 50 | 65 |
| | 2.4 The binding character of Article 41 sanctions | 65 |
| | 3. The question of the limits upon the Security Council's | |
| | sanctions powers | 68 |
| | 3.1 Potential Charter-based limits on the Council's | |
| | sanctions powers | 68 |
| | 3.2 Peremptory norms as a potential limit upon the | |
| | Council's sanctions powers | 71 |
| | 3.3 The possibility of judicial review of Security | |
| | Council sanctions | 73 |
| | 3.4 The Security Council's enduring nower | 75 |

| | | Charter's implementation lacuna and the organic lution of the UN sanctions system | 76 |
|----|--------|---|-----|
| Pa | rt III | UN sanctions in practice | 79 |
| 5 | Estab | lishing the legal basis for sanctions: identifying | |
| | | ts and invoking Chapter VII | 81 |
| | 1. Det | ermining the existence of a threat to the peace, | |
| | bre | ach of the peace or act of aggression | 82 |
| | 1.1 | Must the Security Council make a determination | |
| | | under Article 39 before applying sanctions? | 82 |
| | 1.2 | Threats to the peace | 85 |
| | | i. Threats with a clear international dimension | 86 |
| | | (a) States with an aggressive history and the | |
| | | potential to possess or produce weapons | |
| | | of mass destruction | 86 |
| | | (b) International terrorism | 87 |
| | | (c) International conflict | 90 |
| | | (d) Interference | 91 |
| | | ii. Threats arising from internal crisis | 92 |
| | | (a) The denial of the right to self-determination | |
| | | by a racist minority regime | 92 |
| | | (b) Apartheid | 94 |
| | | (c) General civil war | 95 |
| | | (d) Seizure of power from a democratically | |
| | | elected government | 97 |
| | | (e) The use or threat of military force by rebel | |
| | | groups against a government | 98 |
| | | (f) Serious humanitarian crises | 100 |
| | | (g) The violation of a minority's fundamental | |
| | | rights | 101 |
| | | Breaches of the peace | 102 |
| | | Acts of aggression | 103 |
| | | oking Article 41 and Chapter VII of the Charter | 105 |
| 6 | | eating the scope of sanctions and identifying | |
| | target | | 106 |
| | | many types of UN sanctions | 106 |
| | 1.1 | Economic and financial sanctions | 107 |
| | | i. Comprehensive economic sanctions | 107 |
| | | (a) Humanitarian exemptions from | |
| | | comprehensive sanctions | 108 |
| | | (b) Other exemptions from comprehensive | |
| | | sanctions | 109 |

| | ii. Particular economic sanctions | 110 |
|---|---|-----|
| | (a) Arms sanctions | 110 |
| | (b) Sanctions against weapons of mass destruction | 114 |
| | (c) Petroleum sanctions | 116 |
| | (d) Sanctions on asbestos, iron ore, sugar, leather, | |
| | chrome, pig-iron, tobacco, copper, meat and | |
| | meat products | 117 |
| | (e) Sanctions against trade in forms of transport: | |
| | aircraft, vehicle and watercraft sanctions | 117 |
| | (f) Diamond sanctions | 118 |
| | (g) Chemical sanctions | 119 |
| | (h) Timber sanctions | 119 |
| | (i) Luxury goods sanctions | 119 |
| | iii. Financial sanctions | 120 |
| | 1.2 Non-economic sanctions | 123 |
| | i. Diplomatic and representative sanctions | 123 |
| | ii. Transportation sanctions | 124 |
| | iii. Travel sanctions | 124 |
| | iv. Aviation sanctions | 126 |
| | v. Sporting, cultural and scientific | |
| | sanctions | 127 |
| | vi. Telecommunications sanctions | 128 |
| | 2. Identifying targets | 128 |
| | 2.1 Single state targets | 129 |
| | 2.2 Multiple state targets | 129 |
| | 2.3 De facto state targets | 129 |
| | 2.4 Failed state targets | 130 |
| | 2.5 Sub-state targets | 130 |
| | 2.6 Extra-state targets | 131 |
| | 2.7 Individuals as targets | 131 |
| 7 | Fine-tuning sanctions: setting objectives, applying | |
| | time-limits and minimising negative consequences | 133 |
| | 1. Setting sanctions objectives | 133 |
| | 1.1 Ending a rebellion, invasion or external interference | 134 |
| | 1.2 Restoring a legitimate and/or democratically elected | |
| | government to power | 135 |
| | 1.3 Facilitating the exercise or protection of | |
| | human rights | 135 |
| | 1.4 Bringing about disarmament or arms control | 136 |
| | 1.5 Facilitating the establishment and consolidation | |
| | of peace | 136 |
| | 1.6 Addressing international terrorism | 137 |
| | 1.7 Promoting good governance | 138 |

| | 2. Defi | ining | the temporal application of sanctions | 139 |
|---|---------|--------|--|------|
| | 2.1 | Time | e-delays | 139 |
| | 2.2 | Time | e-limits | 140 |
| | | | ng the unintended consequences of sanctions | 141 |
| | 3.1 | | rity Council action to address the humanitarian | |
| | | _ | act of sanctions upon civilian populations | 141 |
| | | | The exemptions process | 141 |
| | | | Smart sanctions | 143 |
| | | | Humanitarian impact assessment | 143 |
| | 3.2 | | rity Council action to address the impact of | |
| | | | tions upon third states | 144 |
| 3 | | | responsibility for sanctions | |
| | admir | iistra | tion and monitoring | 146 |
| | 1. San | ctions | s committees | 147 |
| | 1.1 | Com | position | 147 |
| | 1.2 | Man | dates | 148 |
| | | i. | Reporting activities | 149 |
| | | ii. | The administration of exemptions | 150 |
| | | iii. | Considering requests for special assistance | |
| | | | under Article 50 | 151 |
| | | | Sanctions monitoring | 151 |
| | | | Improving sanctions implementation | 152 |
| | | | Liaising with other subsidiary organs | 153 |
| | | | Refining working methods | 154 |
| | | viii. | Administering lists for targeted sanctions | 155 |
| | | ix. | Considering the humanitarian impact of sanctions | |
| | | | king methods | 156 |
| | | | rity Council Working Group on Sanctions | 157 |
| | | | ment commissions and commissions of inquiry | 157 |
| | | | Iraq Commissions: UNCC, UNSCOM, UNMOVIC | 158 |
| | | | International Commission of Inquiry on Rwanda | 160 |
| | | | Sudan International Commission of Inquiry | 163 |
| | 3.4 | | Hariri International Independent Investigation | |
| | | | mission | 163 |
| | | | experts: groups, committees, teams and | 4.50 |
| | - | | experts | 163 |
| | | | Group of Experts on the Iraq sanctions regime | 164 |
| | | | oc Panels on the Iraq sanctions regime | 164 |
| | | | Panel of Experts on UNITA sanctions | 165 |
| | 4.4 | | Panel of Experts on the Sierra Leone | 100 |
| | | | tions regime | 166 |
| | 4.5 | _ | Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida Committee | 100 |
| | | OT EX | operts | 167 |

| | | 4.6 | The 1343 Liberia Panel of Experts | 168 |
|----|-----|-------|---|-----|
| | | 4.7 | | 170 |
| | | 4.8 | The 1521 Liberia Panel of Experts | 171 |
| | | 4.9 | The DRC Group of Experts | 172 |
| | | | The Sudan Panel of Experts | 173 |
| | | | The Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts | 173 |
| | 5. | | itoring bodies | 174 |
| | | | The Iraq Export/Import Monitoring Mechanism | 174 |
| | | | The UNITA Monitoring Mechanism | 176 |
| | | 5.3 | The Taliban and Al Qaida Monitoring Mechanism | 176 |
| | | 5.4 | The Taliban and Al Qaida Monitoring Team | 177 |
| | | 5.5 | The Somalia Monitoring Group | 179 |
| | 6. | Unit | ed Nations peacekeeping operations | 180 |
| Pa | ırt | IV | Strengthening the rule of law | 183 |
| 9 | | | f law weaknesses in the UN sanctions system | 185 |
| | 1. | | nd closed doors: the problem of transparency | 185 |
| | | 1.1 | Transparency in the Security Council's | |
| | | | decision-making process | 186 |
| | | 1.2 | Transparency in Security Council decisions | 189 |
| | | | i. Determination of threats to the peace | 190 |
| | | | ii. Invoking the Charter basis for applying sanctions | 195 |
| | | | iii. Articulating sanctions objectives | 196 |
| | | | (a) Establishing peace and stability | 196 |
| | | | (b) Securing the future and ongoing verification | |
| | | | of disarmament | 197 |
| | | | (c) Ensuring that a target stops supporting | |
| | | | terrorism | 198 |
| | | | Transparency in sanctions committees | 202 |
| | 2. | | ss than constant practice: the problem of consistency | 205 |
| | | | Consistency and the objectives of sanctions regimes | 206 |
| | | 2.2 | Consistency and the scope of sanctions | 207 |
| | | 2.3 | Consistency and the Security Council's use of | |
| | | | subsidiary bodies | 210 |
| | | | i. The establishment of sanctions committees | 210 |
| | | | ii. Commissions of inquiry, bodies of experts | |
| | | | and monitoring mechanisms | 211 |
| | 3. | First | among equals: the veto and the problem of equality | 211 |
| | | | Equality as equal treatment | 212 |
| | | | Equality as equal representation | 213 |
| | 4. | | ty until proven innocent? The problem of due process | 217 |
| | | | Due process and states targets | 217 |

xiii

EXTENDED TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 271 |
|----|--|-----|
| | 5. Conclusions | 281 |
| 4. | The 713 former Yugoslavia sanctions regime | 282 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 282 |
| | 2. Objectives | 283 |
| | 3. Scope | 283 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 284 |
| | 5. Termination | 286 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 286 |
| 5. | The 733 Somalia sanctions regime | 288 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 288 |
| | 2. Objectives | 289 |
| | 3. Scope | 289 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 290 |
| | 5. Conclusions | 297 |
| 6. | The 748 Libya sanctions regime | 297 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 298 |
| | 2. Objectives | 298 |
| | 3. Scope | 299 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 301 |
| | 5. Suspension and termination | 303 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 304 |
| 7. | The 757 sanctions regime against the Federal | |
| | Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and | |
| | Montenegro) | 305 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 306 |
| | 2. Objectives | 307 |
| | 3. Scope | 307 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 311 |
| | 5. Suspension and termination | 314 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 315 |
| 8. | The 788 Liberia sanctions regime | 316 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 316 |
| | 2. Objectives | 317 |
| | 3. Scope | 317 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 317 |
| | 5. Termination | 319 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 319 |
| 9. | The 820 Bosnian Serb sanctions regime | 320 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 320 |
| | 2. Objectives | 321 |
| | 3. Scope | 321 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 323 |

| | 5. Suspension and termination | 324 |
|-----|--|-----|
| | 6. Conclusions | 325 |
| 10. | The 841 Haiti sanctions regime | 326 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 326 |
| | 2. Objectives | 327 |
| | 3. Scope | 329 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 331 |
| | 5. Termination | 333 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 334 |
| 11. | The 864 UNITA sanctions regime | 334 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 335 |
| | 2. Objectives | 335 |
| | 3. Scope | 336 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 338 |
| | 5. Suspension and termination | 344 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 344 |
| 12. | The 918 Rwanda sanctions regime | 345 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 345 |
| | 2. Objectives | 346 |
| | 3. Scope | 346 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 347 |
| | 5. Suspension of aspects of the Rwanda sanctions | |
| | regime | 353 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 353 |
| 13. | The 1054 sanctions regime against the Sudan | 353 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 354 |
| | 2. Objectives | 355 |
| | 3. Scope | 355 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 356 |
| | 5. Termination | 357 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 357 |
| 14. | The 1132 Sierra Leone sanctions regime | 357 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 358 |
| | 2. Objectives | 359 |
| | 3. Scope | 359 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 361 |
| | 5. Termination of aspects of the Sierra Leone | |
| | sanctions regime | 368 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 368 |
| 15. | The 1160 sanctions regime against the Federal | |
| | Republic of Yugoslavia | 369 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 369 |
| | 2. Objectives | 370 |
| | 3. Scope | 371 |

| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 372 |
|-----|---|-----|
| | 5. Termination | 374 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 374 |
| 16. | The 1267 sanctions regime against Afghanistan/the | |
| | Taliban/Al Qaida | 374 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 375 |
| | 2. Objectives | 376 |
| | 3. Scope | 377 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 381 |
| | 5. Conclusions | 393 |
| 17. | The 1298 Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regime | 395 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 395 |
| | 2. Objectives | 396 |
| | 3. The scope of the 1298 sanctions regime | 397 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 398 |
| | 5. Termination | 399 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 400 |
| 18. | The 1343 Liberia sanctions regime | 400 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 400 |
| | 2. Objectives | 401 |
| | 3. Scope | 402 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 404 |
| | 5. Termination | 409 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 410 |
| 19. | The 1493 DRC sanctions regime | 411 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 411 |
| | 2. Objectives | 412 |
| | 3. Scope | 412 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 415 |
| | 5. Conclusions | 418 |
| 20. | The 1521 Liberia sanctions regime | 418 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 419 |
| | 2. Objectives | 420 |
| | 3. Scope | 421 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 423 |
| | 5. Termination of timber sanctions | 429 |
| | 6. Conclusions | 429 |
| 21. | The 1556 Sudan sanctions regime | 430 |
| | 1. Constitutional basis | 430 |
| | 2. Objectives | 431 |
| | 3. Scope | 431 |
| | 4. Administration and monitoring | 433 |
| | 5. Conclusions | 438 |

| 22. The 1572 Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime | 439 |
|---|-------------|
| 1. Constitutional basis | 439 |
| 2. Objectives | 440 |
| 3. Scope | 441 |
| 4. Administration and monitoring | 443 |
| 5. Conclusions | 447 |
| 23. The 1636 Hariri sanctions regime | 448 |
| 1. Constitutional basis | 448 |
| 2. Objectives | 449 |
| 3. Scope | 449 |
| 4. Administration and monitoring | 450 |
| 5. Conclusions | 452 |
| 24. The 1718 North Korea sanctions regime | 452 |
| 1. Constitutional basis | 45 3 |
| 2. Objectives | 454 |
| 3. Scope | 455 |
| 4. Administration, monitoring and enforcement | 456 |
| 5. Conclusions | 457 |
| 25. The 1737 Iran sanctions regime | 458 |
| 1. Constitutional basis | 458 |
| 2. Objectives | 460 |
| 3. Scope | 460 |
| 4. Administration, monitoring and enforcement | 462 |
| 5. Conclusions | 463 |
| Appendix 3: Tables | 464 |
| A UNSCR provisions referring to the rule of law | 465 |
| B UNSCR provisions establishing and terminating | |
| UN sanctions regimes | 468 |
| C UNSCR provisions citing Chapter VII of the UN Charter | |
| as the basis for sanctions-related action | 470 |
| D UNSCR provisions outlining the scope of sanctions | 474 |
| E UNSCR provisions outlining Sanctions Committee | |
| mandates | 477 |
| F Reports by Sanctions Committees | 481 |
| G UNSCR provisions outlining the mandates of | |
| sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies | 487 |
| H Reports by sanctions-related expert and monitoring | |
| bodies | 491 |
| Bibliography | 493 |
| Index | 524 |
| TIMUN | 047 |

EXTENDED TABLE OF CONTENTS XVII

524

Preface

This book began life as a doctoral thesis. I originally expected the thesis to focus less on the UN Security Council's sanctions practice and more on theoretical questions arising from the Council's application of sanctions. However, early in my research I discovered that most books on UN sanctions analysed sanctions from a broad policy perspective and did not pay too much attention to the finer print of the provisions of Security Council resolutions that establish and modify each UN sanctions regime. Although there were valuable studies of this type concerning individual sanctions regimes, there was no central source tracing the evolution of the Security Council's many sanctions regimes. I thus began to prepare the summaries of UN sanctions regimes that feature in Appendix 2. Once I had completed these summaries, I moved on to the challenging assignment of describing and analysing the contours of the UN sanctions system.

Just as I did not originally set out to describe the UN sanctions system, neither did I intend to explore the relationship between those sanctions and the rule of law. I had planned to analyse the legitimacy of sanctions, which I still consider to be an extremely important theme. But on 24 September 2003 I witnessed a Security Council debate on justice and the rule of law, culminating in the adoption of a Security Council presidential statement affirming the vital importance of the rule of law in the Council's work. I immediately began to wonder whether the Council's commitment to the rule of law might be said to extend to its own sanctions system. How would the Council's sanctions practice measure up when viewed through a rule of law lens? What lessons might be learned from such an analysis and how might they be used to strengthen the Council's future sanctions policy and practice?

This book therefore has two basic aims: to describe the evolution of UN sanctions and to examine the relationship between sanctions and the rule of law. The book's practical goal is to advance policy proposals for improving the rule of law performance of UN sanctions. But my major hope is modest: I hope that readers find the following pages interesting and helpful, whether they are seasoned sanctions policy-makers or students engaging with sanctions for the very first time.

I am indebted to many people, whose support, guidance and inspiration have helped to shape this book. I owe a particular debt to the University of Tasmania Faculty of Law and my PhD supervisors: Professor Stuart Kaye, for his exemplary mentorship; Professors Donald Chalmers and Margaret Otlowski, for their kind and generous support; and Professor Ryszard Piotrowicz, for his guidance with early research. I would also like to thank my PhD examiners, Professors Ivan Shearer and Gerry Simpson, for their helpful suggestions on improving the manuscript.

My writing and thinking have benefited from the thoughtful and challenging feedback of colleagues and friends. Warm thanks are due to Nehal Bhuta, Michael Bliss, Hilary Charlesworth, Gino Dal Pont, Peter Danchin, Laura Grenfell, John Langmore and Fred Soltau. My practical understanding of Security Council decision-making was enriched by working in the UN's Security Council Affairs Division from 2001 to 2004. My comprehension of how sanctions apply on the ground was deepened by working with the UN Mission in Liberia from 2004 to 2006. I learned an enormous amount from UN colleagues, including Ademola Araoye, Babafemi Badejo, Tatiana Cosio, Comfort Ero, Susan Hulton, Nicole Lannegrace, Aleksandar Martinovic, Linda Perkin, Joseph Stephanides, James Sutterlin, Satya Tripathi and Raisedon Zenenga.

I have enjoyed strong institutional support while preparing this book. The University of Tasmania Faculty of Law provided me with a generous postdoctoral research fellowship, in order to begin refining the manuscript. The writing process has been concluded at the Australian National University, where I enjoy warm support from colleagues at the Centre for International Governance and Justice and the Regulatory Institutions Network. I would also like to thank Finola O'Sullivan, Brenda Burke and the copy-editing team at Cambridge for their diligent work on this book.

Most of all, I thank from the bottom of my heart my wonderful family. To Reia, Nicolas, Eloise and Eleonore Anguet and Kim and Bob

Henderson, thank you for your ever-cheerful encouragement. To Stephanie and Lyndsay Farrall, thank you for your unstinting support and for being such amazing role-models. And to my incredible wife Lyn Nguyen Henderson, thank you for your keen proofreading eye, your strategic advice and your boundless love and care.

Australian National University, Canberra, January 2007

Abbreviations

AJIL American Journal of International Law
AMIS African Union Observer Mission in Sudan

AU African Union

AYBIL Australian Yearbook of International Law
BYIL British Yearbook of International Law

CPPCG Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the

Crime of Genocide

CSCE Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe

CTC UN Counterterrorism Committee

CY Conference on Yugoslavia

DJILP Denver Journal of International Law and Policy

DPRK Democratic People's Republic of KoreaDRC Democratic Republic of the Congo

EC European Community

ECOMOG Monitoring Group of the Economic Community of West

African States

ECOWAS Economic Community of West African States

EJIL European Journal of International Law

EU European Union

FRY Federal Republic of Yugoslavia

FRYSM Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro)

GA General Assembly

GEMAP Governance and Economic Management Assistance

Program

GIA Governor's Island Agreement

GRL Goods Review List

GYIL German Yearbook of International Law

HILJ Harvard International Law Journal
 IAEA International Atomic Energy Agency
 IATA International Air Transport Association
 ICAO International Civil Aviation Organization

ICC International Criminal Court

ICCPR International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights ICESCR International Covenant on Economic, Social and

Cultural Rights

ICFY International Conference on the Former Yugoslavia
ICIR International Commission of Inquiry on Rwanda
ICISS International Commission on Intervention and State

Responsibility

ICJ International Court of Justice

ICLQ International and Comparative Law Quarterly
ICRC International Committee of the Red Cross
ICTR International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda
ICTY International Criminal Tribunal for Yugoslavia

IFOR Multinational Implementation Force

IGAD Intergovernmental Authority on Development

ILJ International Law Journal
 ILM International Legal Materials
 ILR International Law Review
 JIL Journal of International Law

KFOR International Security Forces in Kosovo

LAS League of Arab States

LR Law Review

LURD Liberians United for Reconciliation and Democracy

MODEL Movement for Democracy in Liberia

MONUC United Nations Organization Mission in the DRC

NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organization
NJIL Nordic Journal of International Law

NPT Treaty on Non Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons
NTGL National Transitional Government of Liberia
NYUJILP New York University Journal of International law

and Politics

OAS Organization of American States
OAU Organization of African Unity
OFFP Oil-for-Food Programme

OHCHR Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights

OIP Office of the Iraq Programme

OSCE Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe

PCASED Economic Community of West African States
Programme for Coordination and Assistance for

Security and Development

Res. Resolution

RUF Revolutionary United Front

SADC Southern African Develop Community

SAM Sanctions Assistance Mission

SAMCOMM Sanctions Assistance Missions Communications Centre

SC Security Council

SCOR UN Security Council Official Records

SICI Sudan International Commission of Inquiry

SLA Sudan Liberation Army

TLCP Transnational Law & Contemporary Problems

UK United Kingdom UN United Nations

UNAMSIL United Nations Assistance Mission in Sierra Leone
UNASOG United Nations Aouzou Strip Observer Group
UNCC United Nations Compensation Commission
UNCLOS United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea
UNCIO United Nations Conference on International

Organization

UNGA United Nations General Assembly

UNIGAR United Nations General Assembly Resolution
UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNIIIC United Nations International Independent Investigation

Commission

UNITA National Union for the Total Independence of Angola

UNITAF United Task Force

UNMAS United Nations Mine Action Service
UNMICI United Nations Mission in Côte d'Ivoire

UNMIH United Nations Mission in Haiti
UNMIK United Nations Mission in Kosovo
UNMIL United Nations Mission in Liberia
UNMIS United Nations Mission in Sudan

UNMOVIC United Nations Monitoring Verification and Inspection

Commission

UNOCI United Nations Operation in Côte d'Ivoire

UNOL United Nations Office in Liberia

UNOMIL United Nations Observer Mission in Liberia
UNOMSIL United Nations Observer Mission in Sierra Leone

UNOSOM United Nations Operation in Somalia

UNPREDEP United Nations Preventive Deployment Force

UNPROFORUNITED UNITED VALUEUNITED VALUE<l

UNSCR United Nations Security Council Resolution

UNSG United Nations Secretary-General

US United States

VJIL Virginia Journal of International Law

WCO World Customs Organization
WEU Western European Union
WMD Weapons of Mass Destruction

PART I · SETTING THE SCENE

[W]e are ushering in an epoch of law among peoples and of justice among nations. The UN Security Council's task is a heavy one, but it will be sustained by our hope, which is shared by the people, and by our remembrance of the sufferings of all those who fought and died that the rule of law might prevail.

French Ambassador Vincent Auriol, at the inaugural meeting of the
UN Security Council
17 January 1946

We meet at the hinge of history. We can use the end of the Cold War to get beyond the whole pattern of settling conflicts by force, or we can slip back into ever more savage regional conflicts in which might alone makes right. We can take the high road towards peace and the rule of law, or we can take Saddam Hussein's path of brutal aggression and the law of the jungle.

US Secretary of State James Baker, when the Council authorised the
use of force against Iraq
29 November 1990

This Council has a very heavy responsibility to promote justice and the rule of law in its efforts to maintain international peace and security.

UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan, at the Council's meeting on justice and the rule of law 24 September 2003

1 Introducing UN sanctions

Looking back from an early twenty-first century vantage-point, it is easy to forget that there was once a time when the United Nations Security Council could not easily employ its sanctions tool. From 1946 until the middle of 1990, Cold War politics prevented the Council from imposing the coercive sanctions provided for in Article 41 of the United Nations Charter more than twice. In 1966 the Council imposed sanctions against Southern Rhodesia and in 1977 it applied them against South Africa. By contrast, the post-Cold War period has witnessed a dramatic increase in UN sanctions. Since August 1990 the Security Council has initiated no fewer than twenty-three additional UN sanctions regimes. UN sanctions now form a prominent feature of the international relations landscape.

While the end of Cold War tensions created the preconditions for a sanctions renaissance, two other factors have contributed to the rise of sanctions. First, sanctions can often represent the least unpalatable of the coercive alternatives available to the UN Security Council when faced with the task of taking action to maintain or restore international peace and security. From a political perspective, it can be extremely difficult to garner the support necessary to authorise collective military action under Article 42 of the UN Charter, as the governments which would be expected to shoulder the burden of collective forceful action are reluctant to assume responsibility for the serious financial, political and humanitarian consequences that are likely to flow from the use of military sanctions. The imposition of non-military sanctions, by contrast, is generally thought to entail fewer costs than the use of force. By authorising sanctions, the Security Council can be seen to be taking

¹ See Appendix 3, Table B. ² *Ibid*.

strong symbolic action against threats to international peace and security, without having to assume the responsibility for, or incur the costs of, using force. Second, there is the perception that the potential of sanctions to achieve their policy objectives has increased with advances in international technology, communications and trade. Globalisation has fostered a climate of growing interdependence, in which states are increasingly reliant upon trade and communication links with the international community. In such an interdependent economic environment, a stringent UN sanctions regime has the power to devastate a target economy and to rein in target political elites.

The Security Council has employed a broad variety of sanctions, ranging from comprehensive measures which prevent the flow to and from a target of virtually all products and commodities,³ to simple measures that target specific items, such as arms,⁴ timber⁵ or diamonds,⁶ or particular activities, such as diplomatic relations⁷ or travel.⁸ UN sanctions have been applied around the globe, from Southern Rhodesia to Yugoslavia and from Haiti to North Korea.⁹ They have targeted nations, rebel groups and terrorist organisations.¹⁰ The Council has imposed sanctions for a range of objectives, including compelling an occupying state to withdraw its troops,¹¹ preventing a state from developing or acquiring weapons of mass destruction,¹²

- ³ See Appendix 2, summaries of the 232 Southern Rhodesia, 757 Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia-Montenegro) (FRYSM), 820 Bosnian Serb and 841 Haiti sanctions regimes.
- See Appendix 2, summaries of the 418 South Africa, 713 Yugoslavia, 733 Somalia, 788 Liberia, 918 Rwanda, 1160 Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) and 1298 Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regimes.
- ⁵ See Appendix 2, summaries of the 1343 and 1521 Liberia sanctions regimes.
- ⁶ See Appendix 2, summaries of the 864 UNITA, 1132 Sierra Leone, 1343 and 1521 Liberia and 1572 Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regimes.
- ⁷ See Appendix 2, summaries of the 748 Libya and 1054 Sudan sanctions regimes.
- See Appendix 2, summaries of the 232 Southern Rhodesia, 661 Iraq, 748 Libya, 841 Haiti, 864 UNITA, 1054 Sudan, 1132 Sierra Leone, 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida, 1343 and 1521 Liberia, 1493 DRC, 1556 Sudan, 1572 Côte d'Ivoire, 1636 Hariri, 1718 North Korea and 1737 Iran sanctions regimes.
- ⁹ See Appendix 3, Table B.
- The majority of sanctions regimes have targeted states: see Table B. Rebel groups have been targeted in the 820 Bosnian Serb, 864 UNITA, 1132 Sierra Leone and 1493 DRC sanctions regimes. The 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regime targets terrorist organisations. See the summaries of these regimes in Appendix 2.
- ¹¹ This was the initial objective of the 661 sanctions regime against Iraq: see Appendix 2.
- Non-proliferation was an objective of the 418 South Africa, 1718 North Korea and 1737 Iran sanctions regimes, as well as the primary reason for maintaining the 661 Iraq sanctions regime after the conclusion of 1991 Gulf War hostilities. See Appendix 2.

countering international terrorism, ¹³ stemming human rights violations ¹⁴ and promoting the implementation of a peace process. ¹⁵

The collection of sanctions regimes stacking up in the Security Council's trophy-cabinet is impressive. Yet UN sanctions attract many critics. Some denounce sanctions as ineffective. Others warn that sanctions can be counterproductive, galvanising opposition to UN intervention and strengthening the target government's position of power. At the other end of the spectrum, sanctions are criticised for being too effective due to the devastating impact they can have on innocent civilian populations. Sanctions have been described as 'the UN's weapon of mass destruction', as 'a genocidal tool' and as 'modern siege warfare'. On the sanctions have been described as 'the UN's weapon of mass destruction', as 'a genocidal tool' and as 'modern siege warfare'.

This book adds another voice to the critical chorus. But the criticism ventured here is designed to be constructive. No matter how ineffective, counterproductive or indiscriminate they might appear, the Security Council is not about to remove sanctions from its peace and security toolkit. As Secretary-General Kofi Annan observed in his 2005 report *In Larger Freedom*, sanctions constitute 'a necessary middle ground between war and words'.²¹ Enthusiasm for sanctions may wax and wane, but the Council will continue to resort to its sanctions tool when diplomacy is failing and other policy options are unpalatable or

¹³ Preventing and responding to international terrorism was an objective of the 748 Libya, 1054 Sudan, 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida and 1636 Hariri sanctions regimes. See Appendix 2.

Stemming human rights violations has been an objective of the 232 Southern Rhodesia, 418 South Africa, 841 Haiti, 1160 Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) and 1556 Sudan sanctions regimes. See Appendix 2.

Promoting the implementation of a peace process was an objective of the 788 and 1521 Liberia, 864 UNITA, 918 Rwanda, 1132 Sierra Leone, 1493 DRC and 1572 Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regimes. See Appendix 2.

¹⁶ See, e.g., Robert A. Pape, 'Why Economic Sanctions Do Not Work' (1997) 22 International Security 90–136.

Johan Galtung, 'On the Effects of Economic Sanctions: With Examples from the Case of Rhodesia', in Miroslav Nincic and Peter Wallensteen (eds.), Dilemmas of Economic Coercion (New York: Praeger, 1983), pp. 17–60, 46.

Denis Halliday, 'Iraq and the UN's Weapon of Mass Destruction' (1999) 98 Current History 65–68; John Mueller and Karl Mueller, 'Sanctions of Mass Destruction' (1999) 78(3) Foreign Affairs, 43–53.

Geoffrey Simons, Imposing Economic Sanctions: Legal Remedy or Genocidal Tool? (London: Pluto Press, 1999); George E. Bisharat, 'Sanctions as Genocide' (2001) 11 TLCP 379–425.

²⁰ Iov Gordon, 'Sanctions as Siege Warfare' *The Nation*, 22 March 1999.

²¹ A/59/2005 (21 March 2005): In Larger Freedom: Towards Development, Security and Human Rights for All.

impractical. The key is thus to reform the Council's sanctions practice so that sanctions are less ineffective, less counterproductive and less indiscriminate.

1. Defining UN sanctions

The term 'sanctions' can have many meanings. In the national sphere, sanctions generally represent a range of action that can be taken against a person who has transgressed a legal norm. Thus, a person who has committed the crime of manslaughter might receive the sanction of a term in prison. The nature, scope and length of potential national sanctions are generally determined by legislatures. The sanctions are then applied to concrete cases by judiciaries or juries, and they are then enforced by police forces and penal systems. National sanctions may serve a number of purposes, including defining the limits of permissible behaviour, punishing wrongdoers and deterring potential future wrongdoers. But whatever specific purpose a particular sanction may serve, the essence of national sanctions lies in their nexus with legal norms. This nexus separates sanctions from simple acts of coercion. In the national context, sanctions are imposed in order to enforce the law and they therefore aim to reinforce the rule of law.

In the international sphere, however, the term 'sanctions' is commonly used to describe actions that often bear only a slight resemblance to their domestic relative. Media commentators, diplomats and scholars employ the term to refer to a wide array of actions, taken for a variety of purposes, by a range of actors against a variety of targets.²⁴ The spectrum of action commonly described as 'sanctions' includes military and non-military action. The term 'sanctions' can be used to describe action which aims to place physical restrictions upon the ability of a target to engage in the use of force itself, or to depict action which seeks to restrict the target's freedom in other respects, such as in relations of an economic, financial, diplomatic or representative, sporting or cultural nature.

²² Hans Kelsen, *The Law of the United Nations: A Critical Analysis of its Fundamental Problems* (London: Steven & Sons, 1951), p. 706.

²³ Margaret P. Doxey, International Sanctions in Contemporary Perspective, 2nd edn (New York: St Martin's Press, 1996), p. 7.

²⁴ Galtung and Doxey both provide useful summaries of the different types of international 'sanctions': Galtung, 'On the Effects of Economic Sanctions', 21; Doxey, *International Sanctions*, p. 15.

The fundamental difference between the meaning of sanctions in the national context and the popular understanding of sanctions in the international context is that the action commonly referred to as sanctions in the international sphere does not necessarily serve the purpose of enforcing a legal norm. The term 'sanctions' is widely used to refer to action which seeks either to coerce the target into behaving in a particular manner, or to punish it for behaviour considered unacceptable by the sender. The motive for imposing sanctions may be to respond to a breach of a norm or to prevent such a breach, but it may also be to pursue a foreign policy agenda or to gain some advantage over the target. Some commentators have even employed the term 'positive sanctions' to refer to acts of a non-coercive nature which seek to induce a particular type of behaviour.

The range of actors who impose sanctions on an international basis includes individual states, groups of states, the international community as a whole, and non-state actors. When one state initiates coercive action, its actions are commonly referred to as 'unilateral sanctions'. A prominent example of unilateral sanctions is the regime which has been maintained against Cuba by the United States since the Cuban missile crisis. When action is initiated by a group of states, the action becomes 'multilateral' or 'regional' sanctions. Examples of multilateral/ regional sanctions regimes include those imposed against Haiti by the Organization of American States²⁹ and against the former Yugoslavia by

This can also be the case with UN sanctions, as it is not a requirement that they be applied in response to a violation of Charter obligations. Thus they can be interpreted as 'political measures' which the Security Council has the 'discretion' to apply in order to maintain or restore international peace and security. See Kelsen, *The Law of the United Nations*, p. 733.

The US sanctions regime against Cuba is one example of a 'sanctions' regime imposed in pursuit of a foreign policy agenda. Since it first adopted a resolution on the subject in 1992, the UN's General Assembly has condemned on an annual basis the continued application of US 'sanctions' against Cuba. For the initial resolution, see A/RES/47/19 (24 November 1992). For the most recent resolution, see A/RES/58/7 (18 November 2003). For the annual resolutions in between, see A/RES/58/7 (18 November 2003), preambular para. 6.

²⁷ Peter A. G. Van Bergeijk, Economic Diplomacy, Trade and Commercial Policy: Positive and Negative Sanctions in a New World Order (Brookfield: Edward Elgar Publishing, 1994).

²⁸ For a comprehensive list of instances of unilateral sanctions, see Gary Clyde Hufbauer, Jeffrey J. Schott and Kimberly Ann Elliott, *Economic Sanctions Reconsidered*, 2nd edn (Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics, 1990).

²⁹ For a detailed account of the Haiti sanctions, see Elisabeth D. Gibbons, *Sanctions in Haiti:* Human Rights and Democracy Under Assault (Westport: Praeger, 1999), especially ch. 3.

the European Union.³⁰ When action is taken by a majority of states, it is referred to as 'collective' or 'universal' sanctions. These terms have generally been reserved to describe sanctions applied by the League of Nations or the United Nations.³¹ Finally, even non-forceful coercive activities initiated by non-state actors, such as citizen-initiated boycotts, are sometimes described as sanctions.³² The range of actors who could potentially be the target of sanctions generally mirrors the actors who can impose sanctions. In practice, forms of sanctions have been imposed against one state, a group of states, and extra-state entities.

In this study, the focus is upon the 'collective' or 'universal' sanctions applied by the United Nations. The term 'UN sanctions' denotes binding, mandatory measures short of the use of force that are applied against particular state or non-state actors by the UN Security Council, as envisaged by Chapter VII and Article 41 of the UN Charter.³³ As provided in Article 41, 'UN sanctions' thus fall within the following description:

The Security Council may decide what measures not involving the use of armed force are to be employed to give effect to its decisions, and it may call upon the Members of the United Nations to apply such measures. These may include complete or partial interruption of economic relations and of rail, sea, air, postal, telegraphic, radio, and other means of communication, and the severance of diplomatic relations.³⁴

- On the EU sanctions regime against the Former Yugoslavia, see Christine Chinkin, "The Legality of the Imposition of Sanctions by the European Union in International Law', in Malcolm D. Evans (ed.), Aspects of Statehood and Institutionalism in Contemporary Europe (Brookfield: Dartmouth, 1997), pp. 183–213; Jean-Pierre Puissochet, "The Court of Justice and International Action by the European Community: The Example of the Embargo Against the Former Yugoslavia' (1997) 20 Fordham ILJ 1557–1576.
- M. S. Daoudi and M. S. Dajani, Economic Sanctions, Ideals and Experience (London: Routledge, 1983), pp. 56–90 (ch. 2).
- For further discussion, see Hersch Lauterpacht, 'Boycott in International Relations' (1933) 14 BYIL 125–140; Maged Taher Othman, Economic Sanctions in International Law: A Legal Study of the Practice of the USA (Ann Arbor: University Microfilms International, 1982), pp. 19–25.
- Like the general term 'sanctions', the term 'UN sanctions' can also be used to refer to a variety of measures. Without further qualification, UN sanctions may denote: military or non-military action; action that is authorised by the Security Council or the General Assembly; and action that is requested and thus 'voluntary' or action that is binding and thus 'mandatory'.
- ³⁴ Article 41, UN Charter. Article 41 was designed to be read in concert with Article 39, such that UN sanctions should be applied to maintain or restore the peace once the Security Council has determined the existence of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression.

Since the birth of the United Nations, the Security Council has acted upon its Article 41 sanctions powers to create twenty-five UN sanctions regimes.³⁵ In addition to its actions establishing and modifying those twenty-five sanctions regimes, the Security Council has at times requested states to impose measures that might be described as 'voluntary sanctions'. In the cases of Southern Rhodesia and South Africa, prior to the eventual imposition of mandatory sanctions the Council requested states to take certain action against Southern Rhodesia and South Africa, without requiring the application of such measures under Chapter VII.³⁶ Similarly, in the case of Cambodia, the Council requested states bordering Cambodia to prevent the import of timber products from Khmer-Rouge controlled areas.³⁷ These instances are not covered as part of the current analysis, as the measures requested were neither imposed under Chapter VII nor framed in mandatory language.

The Security Council has also taken some other initiatives that might be interpreted to fall within the scope of Article 41, due to the fact that they involved action short of the use of military force taken under Chapter VII and after the Council had determined the existence of a threat to the peace. These initiatives include the creation of two international criminal tribunals, which have in fact each determined that their establishment falls within the scope of Article 41. The Council has also applied wide-ranging measures short of the use of force in an

³⁵ See Appendix 3, Table B.

³⁶ For the Southern Rhodesian instance, see: SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 8. For the South African instance, see SC Res. 181 (7 August 1963), para. 3. The status of the measures called for in the South African instance as 'voluntary' is clear with the benefit of hindsight: see SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 8.

See SC Res. 792 (30 November 1992), para. 12. For further details of that case, see David Cortright and George A. Lopez, The Sanctions Decade: Assessing UN Strategies in the 1990s (Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 2000), pp. 135–145. Unfortunately, however, Cortright and Lopez do not distinguish between the non-mandatory character of the measures requested in the Cambodian instance and the mandatory nature of the other examples of UN sanctions to which they refer, which are all imposed under Chapter VII of the UN Charter.

³⁸ In May 1993 the Council established the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (the ICTY): SC Res. 827 (25 May 1993), paras. 1–2, annex. In November 1995 the Council established the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (the ICTR): SC Res. 955 (8 November 1995), para. 1.

³⁹ Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadić, Case IT-94-1-AR72, Appeals Chamber, (2 October 1995), para. 36; Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Defence Motion on Jurisdiction (18 June 1997), para. 27.

effort to prevent and suppress terrorism⁴⁰ and to prevent non-state actors from acquiring weapons of mass destruction and their means of delivery.⁴¹ These instances are not treated as examples of UN sanctions regimes for the purposes of this study, however, as they do not possess the key characteristics of UN sanctions regimes, which are applied traditionally against states or particular, readily identifiable groups of non-state actors.

2. Central contention and key objectives

The central contention of this book is that sanctions have been applied in such a way that they have undermined the rule of law, thus weakening the authority and credibility of the UN Security Council and its sanctions tool. As a consequence, states are less likely to have full confidence in the UN sanctions system and are thus less likely to comply fully with their obligation under Article 25 of the UN Charter to implement sanctions. The end result is that sanctions are less effective than they could be. Until the UN Security Council's sanctions practice can be reformed so that there is widespread confidence in its integrity, sanctions are unlikely to serve as an effective tool for resolving international conflict. Without such reform, the UN sanctions system will remain a destabilising influence upon, rather than a symbol of, the rule of law in international society.

The challenge is therefore to reform the UN Security Council's sanctions practice so that the Council and the UN sanctions system command such respect and inspire such confidence that states both desire and feel compelled to comply with sanctions regimes and thus implement sanctions effectively. This book proposes a pragmatic model of the rule of law that is designed to be used in the context of Security Council decision-making on sanctions. If followed, this model would help to reassure the broader community of states that the Security Council is genuinely committed to the rule of law. By ensuring that

⁴⁰ In the wake of the 11 September 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States, the Council established a collection of mandatory counterterrorism measures to be taken against terrorists and terrorism and created a Counterterrorism Committee to monitor the implementation of those measures. See SC Res. 1373 (28 September 2001).

⁴¹ In April 2004 the Council adopted resolution 1540 (2004), requiring states to take a range of measures designed to prevent non-state actors from acquiring weapons of mass destruction and their means of delivery. The Council also established the 1540 Committee to administer the measures. See SC Res. 1540 (28 April 2004).

its sanctions practice reinforces, rather than undermines, the rule of law, the Council could induce greater compliance with its sanctions regimes.

This book has two major objectives. The first is to trace the evolution of the UN sanctions system. For the uninitiated, it is no easy task to identify the parameters of a single UN sanctions regime, let alone to distil themes of sanctions policy that emerge across dozens of instances of sanctioning. The official story of sanctions is scattered across thousands of identical-looking UN documents that are differentiated simply by their UN serial number. Finding even one short chapter of that story requires painstaking forensic examination of Security Council resolutions, correspondence between the Council and UN member states, and technical reports prepared by a variety of UN bodies charged with sanctions administration and monitoring. This book aims to save other readers from the need to engage in such forensic forays. If it serves as a useful guide to the UN sanctions system, then it will have achieved its first objective.

The second major objective is to explore the relationship between sanctions and the rule of law. This objective has three subsidiary goals. The first is to construct a pragmatic model of the rule of law that can be used to analyse the UN Security Council's sanctions practice. The second is to demonstrate how UN sanctions have undermined the rule of law. The third is to provide pragmatic policy proposals designed to ensure that UN sanctions can reinforce the rule of law in future.

3. The path ahead

Analysis in this book is divided into four Parts. Part I sets the stage for subsequent analysis. This chapter has introduced UN sanctions and explained the book's central contention and key objectives. Chapter 2 examines the relationship between the UN Security Council and the rule of law. It explains the Security Council's reliance upon law and describes the increasing influence of the concept of the rule of law upon the Council's activities. It explores the meaning of the rule of law, charting the many ways in which the concept can be interpreted and criticised. The chapter concludes by constructing a pragmatic model, according to which the primary aim of the rule of law is to prevent the misuse or abuse of power. It proposes five basic principles of the rule of law that seek to prevent the misuse or abuse of power: transparency, consistency, equality, due process and proportionality.

To the extent that the Security Council and its sanctions practice respect and promote those five basic principles, they reinforce the rule of law.

Parts II and III then trace the evolution of UN sanctions. Part II explores the origins of the UN Security Council's sanctions powers. Chapter 3 delves into the pre-history of UN sanctions, surveying historical precedents in international relations for the employment of non-military coercive strategies to compel the resolution of international disputes. These precedents range from early forms of sanctions employed in the days of ancient Greece through to the ill-fated League of Nations sanctions experience against Italy. Chapter 4 describes the UN sanctions framework that was created by the UN founders and enshrined in the United Nations Charter. It thus outlines the legal basis for the Security Council's sanctions powers.

Part III describes how UN sanctions have operated in practice, charting the contours of the evolving UN sanctions system. Chapter 5 explains how the Security Council has established the legal basis for the application of sanctions by identifying threats to the peace and invoking Chapter VII of the Charter. Chapter 6 illustrates how the Council has delineated the scope of its sanctions regimes. It also outlines the different types of targets against which sanctions have been applied. Chapter 7 describes the Council's efforts to fine-tune sanctions by setting sanctions objectives, defining the temporal application of sanctions and seeking to address the unintended consequences of sanctions upon civilian populations and third states. Chapter 8 surveys the manner in which the Council has bestowed responsibility for sanctions administration and monitoring upon a range of subsidiary bodies.

Part IV then applies the pragmatic model of the rule of law developed in Part I to the UN sanctions system described in Parts II and III. Chapter 9 scrutinises the relationship between the UN sanctions system and the rule of law, identifying shortcomings in respect of each of the key component principles of the pragmatic model of the rule of law. Chapter 10 advances policy reform proposals designed to address those shortcomings and enhance the capacity of the UN sanctions system to promote and reinforce the rule of law. Chapter 11 contains concluding remarks.

The book also contains three appendices, which are included as an aid for research and analysis of UN sanctions. Appendix 1 recapitulates the key sanctions policy proposals designed to strengthen the UN sanctions system's rule of law performance. Appendix 2 contains summaries of all

twenty-five UN sanctions regimes. Each summary outlines the constitutional basis for sanctions, as well as their objective(s) and scope, and describes the UN bodies created and/or tasked with responsibilities for sanctions administration and monitoring. Appendix 3 presents tables which gather together Security Council resolution provisions and other UN documents that aid analysis of the Council's practice with respect to the rule of law and the UN sanctions system.

2 Towards a pragmatic rule of law model for UN sanctions

We are here to strengthen and adapt this great institution, forged 55 years ago in the crucible of war, so that it can do what people expect of it in the new era – an era in which the rule of law must prevail.

UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan¹

[W]hile prescribing norms and standards for national or international conduct, the UN Security Council must scrupulously accept those norms for itself.

Prime Minister Rao, of India²

At the end of the Cold War, the UN Security Council awoke from its slumber and began to flex its peace and security muscles. The Council had only applied sanctions twice in the forty-five years from 1946 until 1989, but between 1990 and 2006 it established twenty-three new sanctions regimes. The Council also increased its activities exponentially in the field of peacekeeping, creating three times as many peace operations between 1990 and 2006 as it had during the Cold War. In many respects these two boom areas of Council business go hand in hand, as demonstrated by the concurrent existence of a number of peace operations in states subject to sanctions, including Somalia and Haiti in the early 1990s, Sierra Leone at the turn of the century, and Liberia, Côte d'Ivoire and Sudan in the early years of the twenty-first century. Both sanctions and peacekeeping aim to prevent further exacerbation of situations that threaten international peace and security. Sanctions

³ See Appendix 3, Table B. ⁴ http://www.un.org/Depts/dpko/list/list.pdf.

Secretary-General Kofi Annan, speech delivered at the opening session of the UN Millennium Summit: PR/GA/9750 (6 September 2000).

² Prime Minister Rao, of India, speaking at the Security Council Summit Meeting: S/PV.3046 (31 January 1992), p. 97.

seek to enforce stability from the top down, whereas peacekeeping aims to build stability from the ground up.

But there is one striking difference between the Security Council's peacekeeping and sanctions practice. In its oversight of peacekeeping operations, the Council frequently emphasises the importance of the rule of law, portraying it as one of the key building blocks of a stable society and routinely incorporating the objective of strengthening the rule of law in peace operation mandates. Yet when it comes to sanctions decision-making, the Council's practice tends to undermine the rule of law. Sanctions are often applied and modified in an ad hoc and selective manner. Decisions are generally made behind closed doors, with little or no public record of the decision-making process. Sanctions tend to have disproportionate effects upon innocent civilian populations and third states, and individuals subject to travel bans or assets freezes are regularly denied due process.

This chapter explains the relevance of the rule of law to the Security Council's sanctions practice, exploring the Council's complex relationship with law and charting the increasing importance of the rule of law to the Council's practice. It examines the promise and perils of employing a rule of law-based approach, tracing scholarly debate surrounding the concept. It then constructs a pragmatic model of the rule of law, which can be used both to evaluate and to reform the Security Council's sanctions practice.

1. The relevance of the rule of law to the UN Security Council's activities

At the birth of the United Nations, the rule of law was effectively snubbed. Despite concerted efforts at the San Francisco Conference to ensure that the principles of justice and the rule of law would guide the action of the UN Security Council,⁵ the concept of the rule of law is conspicuously absent from the provisions of the United Nations Charter. The UN Charter established the Security Council as a political organ, with primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security.⁶ Although threats to international peace and

⁵ Herbert Vere Evatt, *The United Nations* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1948) p. 36. See also *Documents of the UNCIO*, vol. 1, pp. 129–130 (statement by the Chinese delegate).

⁶ See UN Charter, Chapters III and V.

security may take the form of violations of international law, these two concepts do not necessarily overlap. When acting in accordance with its power to maintain international peace and security, the Council does not necessarily respond to a violation of international law, nor even to a violation of the UN Charter. In fact, some commentators have interpreted the broad discretion granted to the Security Council for the maintenance of international peace and security to mean that the Security Council is 'a law unto itself'; that it can, does and should act above the law. Why then should the Security Council be expected to take rule of law considerations into account when formulating its sanctions policy?

While the Security Council's political nature is undeniable, ¹⁰ it does not necessarily follow that the Council is or should be uninterested in the rule of law. There are two compelling reasons why the Security Council might be expected to take rule of law considerations into account when formulating sanctions policy. First, the Security Council has a close relationship with and reliance upon law and the rule of law. Second, the Security Council has increasingly proclaimed the importance of strengthening the rule of law.

1.1 The Council's close relationship with and reliance upon law

The relationship between the Security Council and law is complex and multifaceted. On the one hand, the Council is a political body which takes decisions in an environment that is highly charged. On the other, by virtue of its power to issue decisions that are legally binding upon UN member states, ¹¹ and authorise mandatory non-military and military coercive action to maintain or restore international peace and security, ¹² the Council is a body whose activities have profound legal implications. ¹³ The Council thus sits prominently at the juncture between politics and law in international affairs.

⁷ Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, pp. 724–731. ⁸ Ibid., pp. 732–737.

⁹ John Foster Dulles, *War or Peace* (New York: Macmillan, 1950), pp. 194–195.

Although the term 'political' does not feature in the UN Charter's provisions pertaining to the Security Council, the Council's political nature has been widely acknowledged. See, e.g., Rosalyn Higgins, The Development of International Law Through the Political Organs of the United Nations (Oxford: Oxford University Press. 1963).

¹¹ UN Charter, Articles 25, 48. These provisions are discussed further in Chapter 4.

 $^{^{12}}$ UN Charter, Chapter VII, Articles 39, 41, 42. These provisions are also discussed in Chapter 4.

¹³ As discussed in Chapter 4, the Security Council's power to bind UN member states derives from Articles 25 and 48 of the UN Charter.

The Security Council's ability to create legal obligations that are binding on practically all states has led commentators to describe aspects of the Council's activities as quasi-legislative in character. 14 Although the Council's law-making process may be less sophisticated than the legislative process in many national parliamentary or congressional legislatures, the legal consequences flowing from Council decisions can bestow upon those decisions a quality akin to legislation. Examples include the Council's resolutions requiring states to take global action to counter terrorism, beginning with resolution 1373 (2001), as well as its decisions pressing for action to prevent the supply to non-state actors of weapons of mass destruction, commencing with resolution 1540 (2004). ¹⁵ On occasion the Security Council has also declared certain activities to be illegal, thus interpreting and applying international law in a quasi-judicial manner. 16 Examples of the Council's law-interpreting activities include declarations regarding the illegality of claims of statehood in the cases of Southern Rhodesia¹⁷ and the 'Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus', 18 as well as declarations concerning boundary delimitation, as in the case of the border between Iraq and Kuwait. 19

The Security Council's close relationship with law is particularly evident in its sanctions practice, where it has donned both quasi-legislative and quasi-judicial hats. Whenever the Council applies sanctions, it enters quasi-legislative mode. The mandatory provisions of its sanctions resolutions establish the contours of each sanctions regime, creating a new web of legal obligations. This amounts to legislation. The Council has also entered quasi-judicial mode in connection with its sanctions regimes. Indeed, prior to establishing its very first sanctions regime, the Council characterised the white minority regime in Southern Rhodesia as 'illegal'²⁰ and described its purported declaration of independence as having 'no legal validity'.²¹ The Council has made

¹⁴ Paul C. Szasz, 'The Security Council Starts Legislating' (2002) 96 AJIL 900–905; José E. Alvarez, International Organizations as Law-makers (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005) pp. 184–198.

¹⁵ SC Res. 1373 (28 September 2001); SC Res. 1540 (28 April 2004).

Oscar Schachter, 'The Quasi-Judicial Role of the UN Security Council and the General Assembly' (1964) 58 AJIL 960-965; Bruno Simma (ed.), The Charter of the United Nations: A Commentary, 2nd edn (Oxford: Oxford University Press), p. 708.

¹⁷ SC Res. 216 (12 November 1965), paras. 1 and 2; SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 3.

¹⁸ SC Res. 541 (18 November 1983), paras. 1-2; SC Res. 550 (11 May 1984), para. 2.

¹⁹ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), preambular paras. 6 and 7, paras. 2–4.

SC Res. 216 (12 November 1965), paras. 1 and 2; SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 1.
 SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 3.

other quasi-judicial proclamations in connection with its sanctions regimes against Iraq and Haiti. In 1990 it declared Iraq's attempted annexation of Kuwait to have 'no legal validity'²² and stated that Iraq was liable under international law 'for any loss, damage or injury arising in regard to Kuwait and third States' as a result of its 'invasion and illegal occupation' of Kuwait.²³ In 1994 the Council described as 'illegal' the de facto government which assumed control of Haiti following the ouster of the democratically elected government of President Jean-Bertrand Aristide.²⁴

In order for sanctions to be effective, the Security Council relies heavily upon the good will and good faith of states. UN sanctions are not self-implementing – it falls upon states to take the necessary steps to bring sanctions into effect. Article 25 of the UN Charter places a binding legal obligation upon states to implement the Council's sanctions decisions, but if states choose not to comply with the Council's decisions, sanctions will prove ineffective. The Council is therefore dependent upon the commitment of states to respect and act in conformity with the rule of law. The Council's reliance upon the rule of law raises the stakes in relation to its own rule of law performance. States are more likely to implement sanctions, and thus to act in accordance with the rule of law, if they perceive the Security Council to be acting in accordance with its own responsibilities under the rule of law.

1.2 The increasing emphasis upon the rule of law in Security Council practice

The expectation that the Security Council should respect the rule of law has also been prompted by the Council's own practice. Despite the failure of attempts at San Francisco to enshrine the rule of law in the UN Charter as a guiding principle for Security Council action, the concept has wielded surprising influence over the Council's activities. This influence, which has been particularly pronounced in the post-Cold War era, was foreshadowed at the Council's very first meeting. At the inaugural Council meeting, held on 17 January 1946, a number of Council members emphasised that they expected the Council to play a pivotal role in strengthening the rule of law.²⁵ France, for example,

²² SC Res. 662 (9 August 1990), para. 1. ²³ SC Res. 674 (29 October 1990), para. 8.

²⁴ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 3(d).

²⁵ See, e.g., the statements made by Australia and France: Security Council Official Records, First Year, First Series, January-February 1946, 6 (Australia), 9 (France).

observed that: 'The Security Council's task is a heavy one, but it will be sustained by our hope, which is shared by the people, and by our remembrance of the sufferings of all those who fought and died that the rule of law might prevail.'²⁶

As the Cold War settled in, this utopian vision of a Security Council that would actively promote the rule of law quickly dissipated. The Council's ability to fulfil its responsibilities under the UN Charter became severely circumscribed by the frequent failure of the Council's permanent members to achieve consensus. The Security Council began to function less as an effective agent for the maintenance of international peace and security and more as a stage for ideological battles between East and West. During this period, the UN's rule of lawrelated activities tended to focus on the creation and expansion of international legal agreements. This approach of equating the promotion of the rule of law with the codification of international law can be seen in General Assembly resolution 2627 (XXV), adopted in October 1970 to mark the UN's twenty-fifth anniversary. In that resolution, member states declared that: 'The progressive development and codification of international law ... should be advanced in order to promote the rule of law among nations.'27 Examples of successful codification efforts negotiated during the Cold War years include the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (1951), ²⁸ the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1976),²⁹ the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1976)³⁰ and the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea $(1994)^{31}$

Following the end of the Cold War, the rule of law began its rise to prominence in the Security Council's rhetoric and practice. In January 1992, world leaders gathered in New York for the first ever Security Council summit meeting, where they discussed the theme 'The Responsibility of the Security Council in the Maintenance of

²⁶ *Ibid.*, 9. ²⁷ GA Res. 2627 (XXV) (24 October 1970), para. 3.

²⁸ Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, opened for signature 9 December 1948, 78 UNTS 277 (entered into force 12 January 1951).

²⁹ International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, opened for signature 16 December 1966, 993 UNTS 3 (entered into force 23 January 1976).

³⁰ International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, opened for signature 16 December 1966, 999 UNTS 171 (entered into force 23 March 1976).

³¹ United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, opened for signature 10 December 1982, 1833 UNTS 3 (entered into force 16 November 1994).

International Peace and Security'.³² At that landmark meeting, which was to set the agenda for UN action in the post-Cold War era,³³ leaders from countries with a broad range of political and socio-economic traditions underlined the importance of strengthening the rule of law in international affairs.³⁴ The President of the United States, George H. W. Bush, urged the Security Council to 'advance the momentous movement towards democracy and freedom ... and expand the circle of nations committed to human rights and the rule of law'.³⁵ The Prime Minister of Cape Verde also stressed that the Security Council must act 'as a catalyst for the promotion of the primacy of the rule of law in international relations'.³⁶

The importance of the rule of law has subsequently been reinforced at multiple high-level UN meetings. In September 2000, world leaders again gathered for the Millennium Summit, where they adopted the Millennium Declaration.³⁷ Ranked first among the Declaration's objectives of 'special significance', was strengthening respect for the rule of law in international affairs. Five years later, at the 2005 World Summit, leaders reaffirmed the Millennium Declaration. They acknowledged that 'good governance and the rule of law at the national and international levels' were 'essential for sustained economic growth' and they recognised that the rule of law belonged to 'the universal and indivisible core values and principles of the United Nations'. Leaders further reaffirmed their commitment to 'an international order based on the rule of law and international law'.

³² For the verbatim record of the meeting, see S/PV.3046 (31 January 1992).

At the end of the meeting, the Council requested the Secretary-General to prepare a report with recommendations for strengthening UN capacity in preventive diplomacy, peacemaking and peacekeeping: see S/23500 (31 January 1992): Presidential statement dated 31 January 1992, paras. 15–16. The resulting report proved extremely influential over UN and Security Council policy in the 1990s: S/24111 (17 June 1992): An Agenda for Peace.

³⁴ See, e.g., S/PV.3046 (31 January 1992), pp. 8–9 (UNSG Boutros-Boutros Ghali), p. 18 (President Mitterand, France), p. 23 (President Borja, Ecuador), p. 36 (King Hassan II, Morocco), p. 47 (President Yeltsin, Russian Federation), pp. 50 (a-z) and 50 (President Bush, United States), pp. 59–60 (President Perez, Venezuela), p. 67 (Chancellor Vranitsky, Austria), pp. 78–79 (Prime Minister Veiga, Cape Verde), p. 97 (Prime Minister Rao, India), p. 107 (Prime Minister Miyazawa, Japan).

³⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 50. ³⁶ *Ibid.*, pp. 78–79.

³⁷ A/RES/55/2 (18 September 2000): United Nations Millennium Declaration.

³⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 7. ³⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 9.

⁴⁰ A/RES/60/1 (24 October 2005): World Summit Outcome, para. 3.

⁴¹ *Ibid.*, para. 11. ⁴² *Ibid.*, para. 119. ⁴³ *Ibid.*, para. 134.

Within the Security Council itself, mounting interest in the rule of law led to the establishment in September 2003 of a thematic agenda item entitled 'Justice and the Rule of Law'. ⁴⁴ Discussion in the Council's debates on the rule of law has focused on the need to strengthen the rule of law within post-conflict societies. However, a number of speakers have taken the opportunity to emphasise that the rule of law is equally important in international affairs. ⁴⁵ UNSG Kofi Annan, for example, has observed that the Security Council has a 'heavy responsibility to promote justice and the rule of law in its efforts to maintain international peace and security'. ⁴⁶ Russia has also emphasised that the principle of the rule of law is 'an imperative for the entire system of international relations'. ⁴⁷

UN member states have also stressed that the Council should not only promote, but *respect*, the rule of law.⁴⁸ Mexico has urged that, 'for the sake of justice and the rule of law, the Security Council must continue to act on the bases of legality that provide support for its mandate'.⁴⁹ Chile has underscored that the rule of law offers the Council 'the possibility of basing its work on a concept that embodies the core values of the United Nations'.⁵⁰ Austria has warned that a Security Council that is 'dedicated to the resolute implementation of international law' is 'the best incentive for the implementation of law at the national level'.⁵¹

The Council's meetings on justice and the rule of law culminated in the adoption of two presidential statements devoted to the topic. Security Council presidential statements are adopted by the Council as a whole and must therefore be supported by all Council members. While they may not carry as much weight as Security Council resolutions, presidential statements nevertheless provide an important indication of the Council's position on a given matter. In the first of these statements, adopted on 24 September 2003, the Council reaffirmed the 'vital importance' of justice and the rule of law. ⁵² The Council also

⁴⁴ For meetings held under this new agenda item, see S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003); S/PV.4835 (30 September 2003); S/PV.5052 (6 October 2004).

⁴⁵ See, e.g., S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 2 (Secretary-General Kofi Annan), p. 4 (Pakistan), p. 5 (Russian Federation), p. 13 (Guinea), p. 14, (Spain), p. 21 (United States), p. 21 (Chile); S/PV.4835 (30 September 2003), p. 22 (Sweden).

⁴⁶ S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 2. ⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 5.

⁴⁸ See, e.g., S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 9 (Mexico), p. 22 (Chile); S/PV.4835 (24 September 2003), p. 13 (Austria), p. 16 (Switzerland).

⁴⁹ S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 9. ⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 22.

⁵¹ S/PV.4835 (24 September 2003), p. 13.

⁵² S/PRST/2003/15 (24 September 2003), para. 1.

recalled the 'repeated emphasis' given to justice and the rule of law in its own work, including with respect to the protection of civilians in armed conflict, peacekeeping operations and international criminal justice. ⁵³ In the second statement, adopted twelve months later, the Council stressed the importance and urgency of the restoration of justice and the rule of law in post-conflict societies. ⁵⁴ The Council also observed that justice and the rule of law at the international level were 'of key importance for promoting and maintaining peace, stability and development in the world'. ⁵⁵

The Security Council's promotion of the rule of law has extended beyond hosting talk-fests within the walls of UN Headquarters. Perhaps the most striking illustration of the transformation of the rule of law from curiosity to familiar friend lies in the term's increasing appearance in the Council's resolutions. During the Cold War, the rule of law featured in Security Council resolutions a mere handful of times.⁵⁶ By contrast, in the nine years from the beginning of 1998 until the end of 2006, the phrase 'rule of law' appeared in no fewer than sixty-nine Council resolutions.⁵⁷ The Council has invoked the rule of law in a range of ways. It has called upon parties to an international conflict to resolve their differences in accordance with the rule of law, as in the case of the dispute between the governments of the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia.⁵⁸ It has emphasised the importance of (re-)establishing the rule of law in post-conflict situations.⁵⁹ It has incorporated the task of promoting and strengthening the rule of law in peace operation mandates, including those in the Central African Republic,⁶⁰ Angola,⁶¹ the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC),⁶² Afghanistan,⁶³ Haiti,⁶⁴ Iraq. 65 Guinea-Bissau. 66 the Sudan 67 and Burundi. 68

⁵⁴ S/PRST/2004/34 (6 October 2004), para. 3.

Although the Security Council's resolutions have not drawn an explicit link between the application of sanctions and the promotion of the rule of law, this connection has been made during the Council's debates surrounding the potential establishment or modification of sanctions regimes. In August 1990, when the Council debated the application of sanctions against Iraq, the United States emphasised that the proposed sanctions aimed to prevent 'disregard for international law'. 69 Canada suggested that sanctions sought to 'safeguard respect for the rule of law'. 70 The United Kingdom argued that sanctions would reinforce a 'world order based on respect for law'. 71 In March 1992, when the Council met to consider applying sanctions against Libya, the United States argued that such a step would 'preserve the rule of law'. 72 In October 2005, when the Council prepared to apply sanctions against suspects involved in the terrorist bombing that killed former Lebanese Prime Minister, Rafiq Hariri, Denmark observed that: 'At stake are the sovereignty and integrity of Lebanon, the principle of the rule of law and the credibility of the Security Council in following through on its own resolutions.'73 Sanctions have thus been portrayed in the Council's debates as an instrument which can be used to strengthen, reinforce and promote the rule of law.

Council debates also demonstrate concerns with the potential negative impact of sanctions upon the rule of law. Speakers have stressed that the Security Council should not engage in 'double standards' when choosing whether to impose sanctions and that, once sanctions are employed, they should be applied in a consistent and uniform manner.⁷⁴ They have spoken of the need for the Security Council and its sanctions committees to act transparently. ⁷⁵ They have also emphasised the need to ensure that sanctions are applied proportionately, so that the negative effects upon civilian populations and third states are minimised.⁷⁶

 $^{^{69}\,}$ S/PV.2933 (6 August 1990), p. 18. $^{70}\,$ Ibid., p. 25.

⁷² S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 67.

⁷³ S/PV.5297 (31 October 2005), pp. 3-4 (United Kingdom: 'Turning our backs on the crime, because it appears politically difficult to solve, will not only lead the Lebanese people to lose faith in this body, it will undermine the Council's credibility and authority and damage our enforcement of the international rule of law'); p. 8 (Denmark: 'At stake are the sovereignty and integrity of Lebanon, the principle of the rule of law and the credibility of the Security Council in following through on its own resolutions').

⁷⁴ S/PV.2977 (Part I: 13 February 1991), pp. 27–28 (Cuba); S/PV.3046 (31 January 1992), p. 79 (Cape Verde).

 ^{5/}PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 9 (Mexico).
 5/PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 22 (Chile).

The rule of law is therefore extremely relevant to the Security Council and its sanctions practice. For its decisions to be effective, the Council relies upon the compliance of states with the rule of law. The Council has increasingly championed the importance of the rule of law and underlined that it expects states and non-state actors to comply with the rule of law. But in order to ensure that its actions genuinely promote the rule of law, the Council should ensure that its own extraordinary powers are not themselves susceptible to misuse or abuse. This book demonstrates that the Council's rhetorical commitment to promoting the rule of law does not yet extend to its sanctions practice.

2. The promise and perils of the rule of law

The Security Council tends to refer to the rule of law as if the concept is both clearly understood and inherently desirable. A case in point is resolution 1265 (1999), which was adopted to strengthen the protection of civilians in armed conflict.⁷⁷ In that resolution the Council lists the rule of law as one of a number of phenomena that help to prevent the outbreak of armed conflict, along with poverty eradication, sustainable development, national reconciliation, good governance, democracy and the protection of human rights.⁷⁸ The Council does not see the need to clarify the meaning of the rule of law, nor to explain why it is a positive phenomenon. It simply presents the rule of law as something that is essential to peaceful society.

The tendency to treat the rule of law as both inherently positive and requiring little elaboration is not restricted to the Security Council. The rule of law has been described as 'an unqualified human good'⁷⁹ and 'the most important political concept today'.⁸⁰ It has been prescribed as 'a solution to the world's troubles'.⁸¹ Its promise has been trumpeted by presidents of countries with vastly different political, economic, religious and cultural traditions, such as China, Indonesia, Iran, Mexico,

 $^{^{77}\,}$ SC Res. 1265 (17 September 1999). $^{78}\,$ Ibid., preambular para. 6.

⁷⁹ E. P. Thompson, Whigs and Hunters: The Origin of the Black Act (London: Allen Lane, 1975), p. 266.

⁸⁰ Brian Z. Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law: History, Politics, Theory (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005), back cover.

⁸¹ Thomas Carothers, 'The Rule-of-Law Revival', in Thomas Carothers (ed.), Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad (Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2006), pp. 3–13, 3 (characterising the approach of others to the rule of law).

Russia, the United States and Zimbabwe. ⁸² The rule of law is frequently used as a trump-card in contentious discussions. As the aftermath of the 2000 US presidential elections graphically illustrated, this trump-card can even be played by opposing parties to the same dispute. ⁸³ The rule of law appears to possess a 'power or force of its own'. ⁸⁴ It seems so self-evidently good that it cannot be challenged and it need not be defined.

Yet despite its apparent magnetism, rhetorical power and simplicity as a political ideal, the rule of law is a remarkably slippery concept. Indeed, the problem of the rule of law has preoccupied political philosophers and legal theorists alike for 2,500 years. The rule of law has been criticised as 'opaque', 'are chameleon-like', 'are ideology' and 'meaningless'. It has been exposed as 'mere ideology' and 'a slogan without substance'. Even theorists who tenaciously defend and promote the merits of the rule of law, begrudgingly acknowledge that the term is 'remarkably elusive', 'are sesentially contested' and susceptible to 'promiscuous use'.

The decision to employ a rule of law-based approach to analyse UN sanctions is thus something of a double-edged sword. On the one hand,

82 Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law, pp. 1-2.

- 83 Jeremy Waldron, 'Is the Rule of Law an Essentially Contested Concept (in Florida)?' (2002) 21 Law and Philosophy 137–164 at 137–138.
- ⁸⁴ Paul Craig, 'Formal and Substantive Conceptions of the Rule of Law: An Analytical Framework' (1997) Public Law 467–487 at 487.
- 85 Sir Arthur Watts, 'The International Rule of Law' (1993) 36 German YBIL 15-45 at 15.
- ⁸⁶ Waldron, 'Is the Rule of Law an Essentially Contested Concept?', 158.
- ⁸⁷ George P. Fletcher, Basic Concepts of Legal Thought (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996), p. 11.
- 88 Sir Anthony Mason, 'The Rule of Law and International Economic Transactions', in Spencer Zifcak (ed.), Globalisation and the Rule of Law (London: Routledge, 2004), pp. 121–139 at 125.
- 89 Timothy A. O. Endicott, 'The Impossibility of the Rule of Law' (1999) 19 Oxford Journal of Legal Studies 1–18.
- ⁹⁰ Judith N. Shklar, 'Political Theory and the Rule of Law', in Allan C. Hutchinson and Patrick Monahan (eds.), *The Rule of Law: Ideal or Ideology* (Toronto: Carswell, 1987), pp. 1–16 at 1.
- ⁹¹ Margaret Jane Radin, 'Reconsidering the Rule of Law' (1989) 69 Boston University LR 781–819 at 781.
- 92 Hilary Charlesworth, 'Whose Rule? Women and the International Rule of Law', in Zifcak (ed.), Globalisation and the Rule of Law, pp. 83–95 at 83 (noting that others have described the concept thus).
- ⁹³ Cheryl Saunders and Katherine Le Roy (eds.), The Rule of Law (Annandale: Federation Press, 2003), p. 3.
- ⁹⁴ Jeremy Waldron, 'Is the Rule of Law an Essentially Contested Concept?'
- 95 Joseph Raz, 'The Rule of Law and its Virtue' (1977) 93 TLQR 195-211 at 196.

the Security Council's increasing emphasis upon the rule of law suggests that the Council should treat seriously the recommendations that emerge from a rule of law-based analysis of its sanctions practice. On the other hand, however, the contested nature of the rule of law requires that the task of constructing a model of the rule of law for UN sanctions should be approached with the utmost caution.

2.1 The scholarly crisis concerning the rule of law

Philosophers and theorists have pondered the notion of the rule of law since at least the days of the ancient Greek philosophers. ⁹⁶ It is not surprising, therefore, that there should be multiple interpretations of what the rule of law means. Like other political philosophical constructs, such as democracy, liberalism and socialism, the rule of law has attracted, inspired and perplexed countless scholars. The multiplicity of possible interpretations of the rule of law has led one commentator to bemoan that: 'There are almost as many conceptions of the rule of law as there are people defending it . . . The effect is that defenders and opponents alike end up talking at cross-purposes.'⁹⁷

Differences in approach to the rule of law can be attributed to variations in the context in which the concept is being examined, as well as differences in the particular theoretical perspective being employed by an analyst. In terms of context, an exploration of the rule of law in an eighteenth-century penal colony is likely to differ substantially in complexity and scope from a study of the rule of law in a sophisticated, stable, twenty-first century liberal democratic constitutional system. The rule of law, as with law itself, is 'deeply contextual and . . . cannot be detached from its social and political environment'. A model of the rule of law developed in one politico-legal context will not necessarily translate or adapt well to another context. Indeed, even models developed in similar contexts, with the same underlying philosophy concerning the nature of both law and the rule of law, sometimes differ

⁹⁶ For a good survey of the history of the rule of law, see Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law, pp. 7–90.

Olufemi Taiwo, 'The Rule of Law: The New Leviathan?' (1999) 12 Canadian Journal of Law and Jurisprudence 151-168 at 154.

⁹⁸ David Neal, *The Rule of Law in a Penal Colony: Law and Power in Early New South Wales* (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1991), p. 64.

⁹⁹ Frank Upham, 'Mythmaking in Rule of Law Orthodoxy', in Thomas Carothers (ed.), Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad (Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2006), 75–104 at 75.

in emphasis. ¹⁰⁰ On the whole, theories developed with complex politicolegal systems in mind tend to focus on finer details concerning the separation of constitutional powers in the state sphere. They have the luxury of being able to promote or criticise functioning legal, constitutional and parliamentary processes. Consequently, these theories tend to construct sophisticated rule of law models consisting of multiple, interrelated principles designed to ensure an effective balance of powers in which the exercise of political power is tempered by judicial controls. ¹⁰¹ In less complex politico-legal contexts, however, where sophisticated legal checks and balances have not yet evolved, the critical rule of law question becomes how to constrain the arbitrary exercise of political power.

In terms of theoretical perspective, differences in approach can often be traced to divergences in the understanding of law underpinning a particular approach to the rule of law. One major fault-line has emerged between legal theorists who maintain that the rule of law is a question of form, who are often classified as 'positivists', and those who maintain that it is a question of substance. ¹⁰² This dispute between opposing conceptions of the rule of law that are referred to as formal/thin/positivist, on the one hand, and those that are termed substantive/thick/moralist on the other, concerns whether law, and hence the rule of law, inherently promotes a notion of the good, the moral or the just. ¹⁰³

Formal theories deny the existence of any necessary link between law and morality. ¹⁰⁴ Law is conceived as autonomous from morality and therefore as not susceptible to manipulation according to conflicting notions of what is moral or good. Formal approaches often locate the source of law's legitimacy in the law-making process, rather than in the inherent or ideal nature of law itself. The benefit of this approach is said to be the ability to analyse law as an objective, scientific phenomenon – as

See, e.g., Waldron, 'Essentially Contested Concept', pp. 154–155 (tracing the similar rule of law 'laundry lists' drawn up by Fuller, Rawls, Raz, Radin and Finnis).

See, e.g., Raz, 'The Rule of Law and its Virtue', 198–202; Lon L. Fuller, The Morality of Law, 2nd edn (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1969), ch. 2; Raz, 'The Rule of Law and its Virtue', 198–201.

For general discussion of this major fault-line, see Craig, 'Formal and Substantive Conceptions'; Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law, pp. 91–113.

¹⁰³ For further discussion of the differences between formal and substantive conceptions of the rule of law, see Craig, 'Formal and Substantive Conceptions'.

¹⁰⁴ See, e.g., Hans Kelsen, General Theory of Law and State (New York: Russell, 1961), p. 113; H. L. A. Hart, 'Positivism and the Separation of Law and Morals' (1958) 71 Harvard Law Review 593–629; Raz, 'The Rule of Law and its Virtue', 207.

something that 'is' rather than something which is contingent upon values and notions of what 'ought to be'. 105 However, when pursued to its extreme logical conclusion, the formal approach can result in the view that law is valid if made through valid legal processes, even if it is created by detestable regimes, such as the Nazis, or employed for a detestable purpose, such as the promotion of genocide or apartheid. 106 Formalists defend this extreme consequence of the separation between law and morals by arguing that if no such separation is made, there is a danger that citizens might consider compliance with detestable law to be a moral requirement. 107 But the potential for law to be misused deeply troubles those who instinctively expect the rule of law to prevent the emergence of detestable regimes or the promotion of detestable purposes.

Substantive approaches to the rule of law, by contrast, understand law to be an inherently good phenomenon, which by its nature promotes a broader purpose. Many substantive theorists openly claim that there is a moral element to law. ¹⁰⁸ In medieval times, theologians such as Thomas Aquinas developed the 'just war' doctrine, according to which the resort to war in certain situations was justified by the authority of God. ¹⁰⁹ Natural law approaches suggest that a set of ideal normative principles exist, independent of society, which can be deduced and applied to concrete situations through the use of 'right reason' or 'practical reasonableness'. ¹¹¹ Substantive approaches thus tie their conceptions of the rule of law to the promotion of major societal goals, such as 'justice'. ¹¹² or 'rights'. ¹¹³ The benefit of substantive approaches is that

¹⁰⁵ David Hume, A Treatise of Human Nature (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1969), p. 521.

¹⁰⁶ Hart, 'Positivism and the Separation of Law and Morals', 615–621.

Anthony Clark Arend, Legal Rules and International Society (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999), p. 20.

¹⁰⁸ Fuller, *The Morality of Law*; Craig, 'Formal and Substantive Conceptions', 467, 477–484.

Simon Chesterman, Just War or Just Peace? Humanitarian Intervention and International Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001); Arthur Nussbaum, A Concise History of the Law of Nations, 2nd edn (New York: Macmillan, 1954), pp. 35–38; Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law, pp. 18–19.

¹¹⁰ Cicero, De Re Publica (London: William Heineman, 1970), book III, p. xxi.

John Finnis, Natural Law and Natural Rights (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1980), pp. 21, 88–89, 100–127.

John Rawls, A Theory of Justice (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1971); Robin L. West, Re-imagining Justice: Progressive Interpretations of Formal Equality, Rights, and the Rule of Law (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2003).

¹¹³ See, e.g., the UN Secretary-General's conception of the rule of law (explored below), which is articulated in S/2004/616 (23 August 2004): The Rule of Law and Transitional Justice in Conflict and Post-conflict Societies, para. 6.

they give law a purpose that is aligned with objectives that are deemed to benefit the community as a whole. By imbuing law with a teleological, public interest component, law becomes a transformative tool for pursuing society's most important goals. The weakness of substantive approaches, however, is that although they purport to provide an authoritative, external, universal basis for the legitimacy of law, they can in fact privilege particular conceptions of truth, validity and what is morally desirable. People from different backgrounds may thus reach contradictory conclusions concerning the legitimate substance of the law. The process of identifying the content of law is therefore contingent upon subjective notions of what the law should be.

Another, deeper theoretical fault-line has evolved in response to the assumption underpinning both formal and substantive approaches, namely that the rule of law can be differentiated from politics and can therefore lead to neutral, objective outcomes. Debate surrounding this second fault-line has been particularly heated in US academic legal circles, where discussion of the rule of law has focused upon the role of judicial decision-making. The key question has been whether it is possible for judges to decide cases objectively, on the basis of an ideal model of the rule of law. Proponents of the view that courts guarantee the rule of law argue that the role of judges is to find and apply, rather than create, law. ¹¹⁵ By being loyal to existing rules, judges can reach decisions that accord with objective notions of the rule of law. ¹⁶ If the law is unclear, judges must exercise their discretion responsibly in the search for a 'correct result'. ¹¹⁷ According to this view, diligent judges can ensure that disputes are resolved objectively, in accordance with the rule of law.

Critical scholars have countered that it is a fiction to conceptualise law, and thus the rule of law, as possessing objective, determinate content. As a human construct built upon aspiration and argumentation, law is by its very nature historically contingent. Feminist scholars have demonstrated how 'legal rules and doctrines often

Thomas Hobbes, Leviathan (1651) (J. C. A. Gaskin (ed.) (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1998), ch. 4, p. 26); Hume, A Treatise of Human Nature (1740) (D. F. Norton (ed.) (2000), book 2, part 3, section 3, p. 266.

¹¹⁵ West, Re-imagining Justice, 15.

Antonin Scalia, 'The Rule of Law as a Law of Rules' (1989) 56 U Chicago LR 1175-1188.

¹¹⁷ Ronald Dworkin, 'Judicial Discretion' (1963) 60 Journal of Philosophy 624-638 at 636.

Mark Tushnet, 'Critical Legal Studies: A Political History' (1991) 100 Yale LJ 1515-1544 at 1518

Morton J. Horwitz, 'The Historical Contingency of the Role of History' (1981) 90 Yale LJ 1057–1059 at 1057.

contain ingrained, unseen biases against women'. The rule of law can thus 'mask and even exacerbate the injustices to women'. The choice to conceptualise the rule of law in formal or substantive terms will make little relevance to the outcome, for no rule of law model can live up to its promise of bringing principled, objective, impartial order to unprincipled, subjective, partial chaos.

2.2 Salvaging the rule of law from scholarly crisis

When one becomes mired in the theoretical debate concerning the rule of law, it is difficult to imagine how the concept might form a useful analytical tool for scrutinising any aspect of public policy, let alone the application of UN sanctions. There is no escaping the fact that the rule of law's portrait has been painted and criticised in almost infinite ways. Yet the chameleon-like nature of the rule of law represents both a weakness and a strength. A simple abstract political idea with strong rhetorical appeal is bound to resonate in different ways as it is employed by different actors located in different political, legal and social contexts. Ironically, the elusiveness of the rule of law strengthens its ability to endure as a magnetic political ideal. For an idea which can be reconceived, recrafted, reconsidered, revived revised or revisited is unlikely to be condemned for long to history's dustbin.

Despite the inherent tensions in the concept of the rule of law so deftly revealed by theorists of different stripes, valid reasons remain for pursuing a rule of law-based analysis of UN sanctions. The primary reason lies in the potential of the notion of the rule of law to exert genuine influence upon practical developments in the real world. In practice, the goal of strengthening the rule of law underpins a range of concrete interventions around the globe. ¹²⁷ Indeed, this objective is

¹²⁰ Charlesworth, 'Whose Rule? Women and the International Rule of Law', 83.

¹²¹ Ibid., 93.

¹²² Charles Sampford, 'Reconceiving the Rule of Law for a Globalizing World', in Zifcak (ed.), Globalisation and the Rule of Law, pp. 9–31.

¹²³ David Dyzenhaus (ed.), Recrafting the Rule of Law: The Limits of Legal Order (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 1999).

¹²⁴ Radin, 'Reconsidering the Rule of Law'.

¹²⁵ Thomas Carothers, 'The Rule-of-Law Revival', in Carothers (ed.), Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad, pp. 3-13.

¹²⁶ Allan C. Hutchinson, 'The Rule of Law Revisited: Democracy and Courts' in Dyzenhaus (ed.), Recrafting the Rule of Law, pp. 196–224.

For a valuable survey of global rule of law interventions, see Carothers, Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad.

regularly pursued by the Security Council itself. For those engaged in the rule of law frontlines, the rumours of the concept's demise have been greatly exaggerated.

Furthermore, despite the fact that theorists have conceptualised and criticised the rule of law in a wide variety of ways, they tend to share a basic starting-point. A key aim underpinning virtually all rule of law models is to ensure that political power is exercised in accordance with principle rather than in an arbitrary or self-interested manner. As Plato stated:

Where the law is subject to some other authority and has none of its own, the collapse of the state ... is not far off; but if law is the master of the government and the government is its slave, then the situation is full of promise and men enjoy all the blessings that the gods shower on a state. 129

No matter how differently scholars approach the rule of law, they tend not to challenge this basic premise that the rule of law aims to curb the arbitrary exercise of political power. It explicitly or implicitly underpins the models propounded by legal theorists such as Dicey, Hayek, Fuller, Raz, Finnis and Radin. 130 Differences may arise over the fine print of particular models of the rule of law, over whether the rule of law is a matter of form or substance, whether it seeks to promote a moral or other purpose, or whether it is genuinely possible to subject political power to the rule of law. But these differences do not detract from the essence at the core of the aspirational notion of the rule of law. As Waldron observes: 'the lead idea of the Rule of Law is that somehow respect for law can take the edge off human political power, making it less objectionable, less dangerous, more benign and more respectful.'131 Tamanaha, after conducting a careful study of the history, theory and politics of the rule of law, concludes that the rule of law represents a 'universal human good' when it is understood to mean that

¹²⁸ The one possible exception is a thin, 'law as order' interpretation of the rule of law, which is more correctly termed 'rule by law'. For further discussion, see Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law, pp. 92–93.

^{Plato,} *The Laws*, translated by Trevor J. Saunders (London: Penguin, 1970), p. 174 (715).
A. V. Dicey, *Introduction to the Study of the Law of the Constitution*, 10th edn (London: Macmillan, 1959), pp. 187–203; F. A. Hayek, *The Road to Serfdom* (London: Routledge, 1944), pp. 80–96; Fuller, *The Morality of Law*, 39 (identifying eight common failings in systems that fail to maintain the rule of law); Raz, 'The Rule of Law and its Virtue', 198–202; Finnis, *Natural Law and Natural Rights*, 270–271; Radin, 'Reconsidering the Rule of Law', 785. For a useful summary of the models elaborated by these theorists, see Waldron, 'Is the Rule of Law an Essentially Contested Concept?', 154.
Waldron, 'Is the Rule of Law an Essentially Contested Concept?', 159.

the government is limited by the law. 132 This understanding of the rule of law, as a political ideal which seeks to prevent the misuse or abuse of political power, underpins the approach employed here to the rule of law.

3. Towards a pragmatic rule of law model for UN sanctions

The UN Charter's collective security system is quite different from the legal systems described and theorised by legal scholars who explore the phenomenon of the rule of law in domestic politico-legal contexts. The power-restraining mechanism of separating and balancing the powers of law-maker and adjudicator is palpably absent in the context of Security Council decision-making. The Security Council acts as law-maker, occasional law-interpreter, and sometime law-enforcer. Its relationship to power and law is more akin to that of absolute sovereigns of bygone eras than to contemporary constitutional representative democracies.

The task of identifying an appropriate model of the rule of law for UN sanctions is thus not as simple as transferring to the UN collective security system a sophisticated model developed in a domestic context. The challenge is to find pragmatic strategies which might be employed to prevent the arbitrary use by the Security Council of its sanctions powers. Before proposing a pragmatic model of the rule of law which might be employed to influence the UN sanctions decision-making process, it is helpful to consider how the rule of law has been conceptualised and applied by the Security Council, the UN Secretary-General and scholars of international affairs.

3.1 The rule of law through the eyes of the Security Council

Since the mid-1990s, the Security Council has referred to the rule of law with increasing frequency. ¹³³ From these references, the Council's support for the rule of law is clear. It is equally clear, however, that the Council's understanding of the term is fluid. But although the Council uses the rule of law to signify different things in different contexts, there is not an infinite variety to its use of the term. Five basic clusters of meaning for the rule of law can be identified.

Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law, p. 137. See Appendix 3, Table A.

The first cluster of meaning is that of 'law and order'. The Council has regularly used the rule of law when emphasising the need to re-establish law and order in war-ravaged post-conflict environments. It has also employed the term when mandating UN peace operations to support the (re-)establishment of law and order institutions, including security agencies and police forces. Peace operations have thus been mandated to support such activities in the Central African Republic, Angola, Angola, East Timor, the DRC, Côte d'Ivoire and Haiti.

The second cluster of meaning equates the rule of law with efforts to hold criminals accountable for their crimes. The Security Council has referred to the rule of law when stressing the need to end impunity for war crimes and human rights atrocities, including those committed in Sierra Leone, ¹⁴¹ Haiti, ¹⁴² Burundi, ¹⁴³ Guinea-Bissau ¹⁴⁴ and Darfur. ¹⁴⁵ The Council has also used the term when advocating the need to strengthen national judicial institutions and systems, as in the cases of Rwanda and the former Yugoslavia, ¹⁴⁶ as well as Burundi. ¹⁴⁷ It has employed the rule of law with this connotation when mandating UN peace operations to support efforts to strengthen national judicial systems in Afghanistan ¹⁴⁸ and Côte d'Ivoire. ¹⁴⁹ The Council has also used the term when mandating peace operations to (re-)establish independent judiciaries in Guinea-Bissau ¹⁵⁰ and the Sudan. ¹⁵¹

```
(on Bosnia and Herzegovina); SC Res. 1327 (13 November 2000), Sections V and VI (on
    strengthening peace operations).
<sup>135</sup> SC Res. 1159 (27 March 1998), para. 14(e).
<sup>136</sup> SC Res. 1433 (15 August 2002), para. 3B(i).
                                                         <sup>137</sup> SC Res. 1473 (4 April 2003), para. 1(iii).
<sup>138</sup> SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), paras. 5, 11.
<sup>139</sup> SC Res. 1528 (27 February 2004), para. 6(q).
<sup>140</sup> SC Res. 1542 (30 April 2004), para. 7(I)(d).
<sup>141</sup> SC Res. 1315 (14 August 2000), preambular para. 4.
<sup>142</sup> SC Res. 1542 (30 April 2004), preambular para. 4.
<sup>143</sup> SC Res. 1545 (21 May 2004), preambular para. 9.
<sup>144</sup> SC Res. 1580 (22 December 2004), preambular para. 5
<sup>145</sup> SC Res. 1593 (31 March 2005), para. 4.
<sup>146</sup> SC Res. 1503 (28 August 2003), preambular para. 10 (on the ICTY and ICTR Completion
    Strategies).
<sup>147</sup> SC Res. 1577 (1 December 2004), preambular para. 9.
<sup>148</sup> SC Res. 1536 (26 March 2004), para. 10; SC Res. 1589 (24 March 2005), para. 9.
<sup>149</sup> SC Res. 1609 (24 June 2005), para. 2(x).
```

SC Res. 1580 (22 December 2004), para. 2(h).
 SC Res. 1590 (24 March 2005), para. 4(a)(viii).

¹³⁴ SC Res. 1040 (29 January 1996), para. 2 (on Burundi); SC Res. 1168 (21 May 1998), para. 4

The third cluster of meaning equates the rule of law with principled governance. In a 1998 resolution addressing the situation in Africa in general, the Security Council employed the phrase to underscore the importance of improving governance and eradicating corruption. ¹⁵² It also used the rule of law in this sense when mandating the UN Office in Timor-Leste to support initiatives to improve governance and eradicate corruption. ¹⁵³ In a 2003 resolution on Iraq, the Council used the term as a metaphor for democratic, principled government. ¹⁵⁴ It also used the rule of law to denote government that was not above the law in a 2005 resolution on Burundi. ¹⁵⁵

The fourth cluster of meaning associates the rule of law with the protection and promotion of human rights. The Security Council has used the phrase to stress the urgency of protecting vulnerable citizens and respecting human rights in Angola¹⁵⁶ and in the Ituri and South Kivu regions of the DRC.¹⁵⁷ It has employed the term to denote government that respects human rights in resolutions on Liberia¹⁵⁸ and Iraq.¹⁵⁹ The Council has also invoked the rule of law when mandating UN peace operations to support efforts to promote government that respects and promotes human rights in Iraq¹⁶⁰ and Guinea-Bissau.¹⁶¹

The fifth cluster of meaning entails resolving conflict in accordance with law. In the case of the dispute between the governments of the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, the Council thus invoked the rule of law to encourage the principled resolution of conflict in accordance with international law. ¹⁶²

Although these five general clusters of meaning emerge from the Council's references to the rule of law, at times the Council's use of the term defies easy categorisation. Sometimes the phrase is used as an umbrella that incorporates more than one of the clusters outlined above. ¹⁶³ Sometimes it simply appears as one item on a shopping list

```
SC Res. 1170 (28 May 1998), preambular para. 13.
SC Res. 1599 (28 April 2005), para. 3.
SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), preambular para. 5 (on Iraq).
SC Res. 1606 (20 June 2005), preambular para. 3 (on Burundi).
SC Res. 1149 (27 January 1998), para. 4. 157 SC Res. 1417 (14 June 2002), para. 5.
SC Res. 1509 (19 September 2003), preambular para. 7.
SC Res. 1546 (8 June 2004), preambular para. 10.
Ibid., para. 7(b)(iii).
SC Res. 1580 (22 December 2004), para. 2(a).
SC Res. 1345 (21 March 2001), para. 5.
See, e.g., SC Res. 1599 (28 April 2005), preambular para. 9 (on East Timor).
```

of features that are considered desirable in a peaceful and stable society. 164 Sometimes it is used in such a general way that it is not clear which of the above meanings it is intended to apply. 165 The diversity of meanings ascribed to the rule of law by the Security Council demonstrates yet again the concept's elusive, chameleon-like nature. However, the five major clusters of usage are consistent with the essence of the rule of law identified above: that the rule of law seeks to minimise the misuse or abuse of political power. This is particularly clear in the clusters that equate the rule of law with principled governance and the protection and promotion of human rights. But the notion that it is important to restrain the arbitrary exercise of political power is also inherent in the other three clusters.

3.2 The rule of law through the eyes of the UN Secretary-General

Like the Security Council, the UN Secretary-General (UNSG) has often expressed support for the rule of law. But unlike the Council, the UNSG has taken the initiative of proposing a definition. In his 2004 report to the Council on the rule of law and transitional justice in conflict and post-conflict societies, ¹⁶⁶ Secretary-General Kofi Annan described the rule of law as:

[A] principle of governance in which all persons, institutions and entities, public and private, including the State itself, are accountable to laws that are publicly promulgated, equally enforced and independently adjudicated, and which are consistent with international human rights norms and standards. 167

The Secretary-General further stated that:

[The rule of law requires] measures to ensure adherence to the principles of supremacy of law, equality before the law, accountability to the law, fairness in the application of the law, separation of powers, participation in decision-making, legal certainty, avoidance of arbitrariness and procedural and legal transparency.¹⁶⁸

¹⁶⁴ SC Res. 1265 (17 September 1999), preambular para. 6 (on the protection of civilians in armed conflict); SC Res. 1346 (30 March 2001), preambular para. 4 (on Sierra Leone); SC Res. 1529 (29 February 2004), para. 4 (on Haiti).

SC Res. 1318 (7 September 2000), Annex, Section I (on ensuring an effective role for the Security Council in the maintenance of international peace and security, particularly in Africa).

S/2004/616 (23 August 2004): The Rule of Law and Transitional Justice in Conflict and Post-conflict Societies.

¹⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 6. ¹⁶⁸ *Ibid.*

The Secretary-General's conception of the rule of law is remarkably broad. It reflects the aspirations of an ideal rule of law system, in which political power is regulated effectively by reverence for and adherence to laws that are legitimately created and which ensure the protection and promotion of human rights. This model contains elements of both formal and substantive approaches to the rule of law, with the promotion of international human rights norms representing a substantive litmus-test, and a range of procedural principles reflecting formal components of the rule of law.

It is questionable whether many politico-legal systems in the world could satisfy the stringent standards required by the Secretary-General's model of the rule of law. The practical application of such an ideal model to the UN collective security system would require major and drastic amendments to the UN Charter. Such amendments are extremely unlikely to be contemplated, let alone accepted, by the permanent members of the Security Council. Nevertheless, aspects of the Secretary-General's model could be adapted and operationalised within the context of the Security Council's sanctions decision-making process. These aspects include the principles of equality, accountability, certainty, participation and transparency.

3.3 Scholarly explorations of the relationship between the Security Council and the rule of law

Until recently, surprisingly little attention had been paid to the relationship between the Security Council and the rule of law. During the Cold War, the primary concern of internationally minded scholars tended to be the weakness of the Council's authority and its inability to fulfil its responsibilities under Chapter VII of the UN Charter due to antipathies between permanent members of the Council. The focus thus tended to be upon enabling the Council to use its Chapter VII powers more frequently, with the assumption that the Council would use those powers constructively and responsibly. However, the post-Cold War surge in Chapter VII activity has created anxiety among some scholars concerning the Council's capacity to act

Boutros Boutros-Ghali, 'Preface', in Mohammed Bedjaoui, The New World Order and the Security Council: Testing the Legality of its Acts (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1994), xvii-xix, xvii.

in an almost unrestrained manner. 170 Legal scholars have begun to explore whether and how the Council's almost unfettered power to take Chapter VII action might be reconciled with the notion of the rule of law. 171

These explorations of the relationship between the Security Council and the rule of law tend to employ one or both of two approaches. First, there is the quest to identify the legal parameters within which Security Council action is legally permissible. Potential sources for these parameters include the UN Charter itself, as well as extra-Charter principles of general international law. Second, there is the quest to explore whether it might be possible to subject the Security Council's Chapter VII decisions to judicial review. 173 Potential judicial bodies commonly explored as the source for such review include the International Court of Justice and the international tribunals established by the Security Council itself, which have already had occasional cause to consider the general scope of the Council's powers. In the ICI's deliberations on various cases, individual judges have expressed the view that the Council's powers are not unlimited. 174 The Court as a whole has offered the tentative conclusion in the Certain Expenses case that when the Security Council's actions are necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security, the presumption should be

See, e.g., Bedjaoui, The New World Order and the Security Council; Ian Brownlie, The Rule of Law in International Affairs: International Law at the Fiftieth Anniversary of the United Nations (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1998).

See, e.g., David Schweigman, The Authority of the Security Council Under Chapter VII of the UN Charter – Legal Limits and the Role of the International Court of Justice (The Hague: Kluwer Law International, 2001); Erika de Wet, The Chapter VII Powers of the United Nations Security Council (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2004).

¹⁷² See, e.g., Schweigman, The Authority of the Security Council; de Wet, Erika, The Chapter VII Powers of the Security Council; Alexander Orakhelashvili, 'The Impact of Peremptory Norms on the Interpretation and Application of United Nations Security Council Resolutions' (2005) 16 EJIL 59–88; Alexander Orakhelashvili, Peremptory Norms in International Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006).

¹⁷³ Vera Gowlland-Debbas, 'The Relationship Between the International Court of Justice and the Security Council in Light of the Lockerbie Case' (1994) 88 AJIL 643–677; Bernd Martenczuk, 'The Security Council, the International Court of Justice and Judicial Review: What Lessons from Lockerbie?' (1999) 10 EJIL 517–547; Erika de Wet, 'Judicial Review as an Emerging General Principle of Law and its Implications for the International Court of Justice' (2000) Netherlands ILR 181–210.

¹⁷⁴ Questions of Interpretation and Application of the 1971 Montreal Convention Arising from the Aerial Incident at Lockerbie (Libya v. UK; Libya v. US), Provisional Measures (Orders of 14 April 1992), ICJ Reports (1992) 3, 32 (Judge Shahabuddeen, separate opinion), 65 (Judge Weeramantry, dissenting opinion).

that it is not acting ultra vires.¹⁷⁵ The International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia, for its part, has found that the Council's powers under the Charter do not amount to an unlimited fiat.¹⁷⁶ But neither of these bodies have had cause to explore the detail of potential restrictions upon the Council's powers.

These scholarly studies of the potential legal limits upon Security Council action and the possibilities for international judicial review make a valuable contribution to international legal scholarship. Indeed, the questions of the legal limits upon Council action and judicial review are touched upon in Chapter 4, which outlines the UN Charter framework underpinning the UN sanctions system. But these studies tend to promote an idealised, sophisticated model of the rule of law, advocating the introduction of institutionalised judicial review as the mechanism of choice for ensuring a separation of powers on the international plane.

It is debatable whether the transposition of such a sophisticated rule of law model to the international collective security sphere would be either practical or desirable. The checks and balances built into the UN collective security system aim to ensure that the Security Council does not take action that undermines the core national interests of the most powerful UN member states. This concession was considered essential to guarantee the participation of the major powers and thus increase the prospects for the maintenance of peace. Entrusting the power of review over international peace and security decisions to an external judicial body would not necessarily solve concerns surrounding the legitimate exercise of Security Council power. But it would probably have the disastrous effect of undermining the Council's potency and delaying effective Council action to maintain international peace and security.

Moreover, the introduction of institutionalised judicial review would require major reform of the UN Charter. Historically, it has been extremely difficult to gain the necessary support to reform the UN Charter, even when reform proposals do not attract substantial opposition. There is little chance that reform proposals to institutionalise judicial review of the Security Council's political decision-making

¹⁷⁵ Certain Expenses of the United Nations (Article 17, Paragraph 2, of the Charter), (Advisory Opinion of 20 July 1962) (1962) ICJ Reports 151, 168.

¹⁷⁶ See, e.g., Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadic a/k/a 'Dule', Case No. IT-94-1-AR72, 2 October 1995, para. 28.

would ever be approved. If change were to occur to the UN collective security apparatus, it would likely take the form of minor modifications to the membership structure of the Security Council. Indeed, this type of reform has been proposed by the UN Secretary-General's High Level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change, which advocated an expansion of the Security Council to enable it to represent and reflect the UN membership of the twenty-first century.¹⁷⁷ Yet even these comparatively uncontroversial reform proposals have encountered resistance and it is unclear when they will be put into practice.

The aim here is not to resolve the academic debate surrounding the potential or actual legal limits to Security Council action. Nor is it to build a complex, idealistic model of the rule of law that will ensure institutionalised regulation of Council action by an external judicial body. As laudable as these objectives may be, they are unlikely to be realised in the near future. Instead, the approach here is to build a basic model of the rule of law which can easily be employed to guide Security Council sanctions decision-making.

3.4 Constructing a pragmatic rule of law model for sanctions decision-making

The theoretical model of the rule of law employed here draws inspiration from the various approaches to the rule of law surveyed above. It is grounded on the basic premise that underpins almost every approach to the rule of law; namely, that the primary goal of the rule of law is to prevent the misuse and abuse of political power. But the emphasis of this model is somewhat unconventional. Rather than requiring the introduction of new mechanisms which would seek to impose external regulation of the Council's actions in accordance with an ideal model of the rule of law, the aim here is to infuse the existing Security Council decision-making process with greater awareness of and adherence to basic rule of law principles.

This approach is not necessarily inconsistent with the view that international political decision-making should be subject to regulation by international law. But its focus is upon promoting the idea of the rule of law in a context where there is no institutionalised balance of powers and there is no realistic prospect of introducing such institutionalised

A More Secure World: Our Shared Responsibility: Report of the Secretary-General's Highlevel Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change (New York: United Nations, 2004), paras. 250–253.

restraint in the near future. Rather than exploring the potential external regulation of Security Council action by *the law*, the aim is to examine the potential of the concept of *the rule of law* to influence Security Council decision-making. This pragmatic approach is designed to be used by actors engaged in the Council's decision-making process to improve the Council's rule of law performance.

The objective is thus both more modest and more ambitious than conventional approaches to the relationship between the Security Council and the rule of law: it is to trigger practical reform from within the Council, rather than to enforce ideal reform from without. The major advantage of this approach is that it does not require a radical restructuring of the UN's international peace and security architecture, nor amendments to the UN Charter. It aims to influence Security Council decision-making in the here and now and it can be operationalised immediately. The disadvantage is that it relies upon self-regulation. Like a cantankerous monarch, the Council might choose to ignore the policy proposals advanced here. However, unlike an absolute monarch, the Security Council is not a unitary actor with a single and uncontroversially articulated self-interest. It is made up of fifteen member states, each of which has a stake in the outcomes of the Council's decisionmaking process. The path to influencing the decision-making behaviour of the Council therefore lies in influencing the decision-making behaviour of the Council's member states.

The model of the rule of law employed here consists of five basic rule of law principles which can be used to guide decision-making: transparency, consistency, equality, due process and proportionality. These principles, which are related yet distinct, feature in some shape or form in most politico-legal systems which promote the rule of law. Moreover, they reflect recurring themes from the Security Council's own deliberations and practice concerning both the rule of law and UN sanctions. They also reflect principles contained in the UN Millennium Declaration, as well as the approach employed to the rule of law by the UNSG.

i. Transparency

The principle of transparency requires that in the exercise of political power, decision-making should be as open and transparent as possible. The reasoning leading to a particular decision should therefore be apparent to those affected by the ultimate decision. Moreover, it should be clear that power is exercised in accordance with legitimate authority.

In the context of UN sanctions, transparency requires that the Security Council's decision-making process should be made as open as possible, with the reasons for applying and modifying sanctions clearly expressed by the Security Council and its sanctions committees.

ii. Consistency

The principle of consistency requires that political power should be exercised in a consistent manner. Decisions should thus be made in a predictable rather than an arbitrary manner. Consistency contributes to the rule of law by promoting standards of behaviour. In the context of UN sanctions, the principle of consistency requires that the Security Council should seek to ensure, to the extent possible, that its practice is consistent from one sanctions regime to another.

iii. Equality

The principle of equality requires that all parties over whom political power is wielded should be considered equal before that power and that any decisions affecting the rights, entitlements and obligations of those parties are made in an impartial manner. In the context of UN sanctions, equality requires that sanctions should not be imposed selectively. If sanctions are imposed against a party in a particular set of circumstances, then they should be applied against other parties under the same circumstances. Equality also requires that the Security Council itself be broadly representative of the UN membership and that all UN members have the opportunity to stand for election to the Council.

iv. Due process

The principle of due process requires that a party against which it is proposed to exercise coercive power should be given a fair hearing and be granted the opportunity to express their point of view regarding the potential decision. In the context of UN sanctions, the principle of due process requires that states, non-state actors and individuals against which coercive measures are to be applied should be afforded the possibility to present their version of events and, in the case of individuals, to be presumed innocent until proven guilty.

v. Proportionality

The principle of proportionality requires that the consequences of a decision affecting the rights, entitlements and obligations of other parties are proportional to the harm caused by that party and consistent

with the overall objectives for which the decision is being taken. In the context of sanctions, proportionality requires that the coercive consequences of the application of sanctions, which may be felt by civilian populations, third states or individuals, remain in proportion to the harm caused by the target against which sanctions are imposed and are consistent with the objectives for which sanctions were employed. The adverse effects of sanctions upon innocent civilian populations and third states should thus be minimised.

3.5 A framework for subsequent analysis

Based upon the model of the rule of law proposed above, in order to possess maximum potential to reinforce the rule of law, UN sanctions should be applied with the utmost respect for the five key principles of the rule of law noted above. This book aims to ascertain the extent to which the UN sanctions system respects and promotes those five key principles of the rule of law. If UN sanctions have indeed promoted the principles of transparency, consistency, equality, due process and proportionality, then they can be said to have reinforced and strengthened the rule of law.

As foreshadowed in the Introduction, this book has two key objectives. The first is to trace the evolution and contours of the UN sanctions system. The second is to examine the relationship between UN sanctions and the rule of law. This chapter has addressed the first subsidiary goal of the second objective by constructing a pragmatic model of the rule of law that can be used to analyse the UN Security Council's sanctions practice. However, before proceeding to address the remaining two subsidiary goals of the second objective, namely to demonstrate how UN sanctions have undermined the rule of law and to provide pragmatic policy proposals designed to ensure that UN sanctions can reinforce the rule of law, it is first necessary to fulfil the first key objective. Discussion now turns to the evolution of the UN sanctions system.

PART II • THE EVOLUTION OF THE UN SANCTIONS FRAMEWORK

3 From Aegina to Abyssinia: a prehistory of UN sanctions

Although the UN Charter contained many innovations, the idea of sanctions was not one of them. Precedents existed for most of the forms of coercion short of the use of force envisaged by Article 41. Just a generation earlier, sanctions had also featured in the thinking of the founders of the League of Nations. Article 16, paragraph 1 of the Covenant of the League of Nations provided for the application of economic sanctions against a state which had illegally resorted to war. But the evolution of UN sanctions began well before even the League's experiment with sanctions. The notion underpinning UN sanctions – that coercive measures short of the use of force can be employed to compel the resolution of international disputes – has influenced decision-making in the arena of international relations for centuries.

1. Sanctions in ancient and medieval times

States and quasi-state entities have employed a variety of non-military coercive strategies as a means of pursuing foreign policy objectives since at least the days of ancient Greece. In 492 BC the Greek city-state of Aegina took non-military coercive action against Athens by seizing an Athenian ship and holding its passengers hostage. The action was taken in retaliation for the refusal of Athens to release ten Aeginetan citizens whom it was holding captive. Just over half a century later, in 432 BC, Athens itself took non-military coercive action by imposing a

² İbid.

¹ Coleman Phillipson, *The International Law and Custom of Ancient Greece and Rome*, 2 vols. (London: Macmillan, 1911), vol. 2, p. 354.

ban upon the importation of products from Megara.³ This episode has been described as the earliest recorded instance of economic sanctions.⁴ The aim of the action was ostensibly to secure the release of three Athenian women who had been kidnapped.⁵

Throughout the ancient and medieval eras, states and quasi-states employed a range of non-military coercive strategies as part of their foreign policy. One tactic was to authorise the kidnapping of citizens of another state. The measure of retaliation by kidnapping, termed *androlepsia*, evolved in ancient Athens. If an Athenian citizen had been unjustly murdered in another state and that state refused to punish the murderer, then the relatives of the victim were authorised under Athenian law to seize three citizens of that state and to hold them until restitution was made or the murderer surrendered.⁶ The strategy of state-sanctioned kidnapping was also employed in medieval Britain. In 1414, King Henry V authorised an English citizen, William Waldern, whose shipment of wool had been illegally seized in Genoan waters, to capture Genoan citizens and hold them until full restitution was paid for their shipment.⁷

Maritime blockades, of the type originally enforced by Athens, were also a common tool of foreign coercion. Venice imposed a commercial blockade against Bologna during the 1270s, in order to coerce it into purchasing its wheat from Venice rather than Ravenna, its traditional wheat provider. In a coercive strategy that was analogous to kidnapping, states would sometimes authorise the seizure of property belonging to another state or to citizens of that state. In 1567 Portugal confiscated English property within its jurisdiction, in response to a raid that had been led by an English national, George Fenner, against Santiago in the Cape Verde Islands. In 1569 Queen Elizabeth authorised two English citizens and their agents to seize property belonging to the King of Portugal or any Portuguese citizens in order to compensate them for

³ Gary Clyde Hufbauer, Jeffrey J. Schott and Kimberly Ann Elliott, Economic Sanctions Reconsidered (Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics, 1985), pp. 4, 21.

⁴ Doxey, International Sanctions (2nd edn), p. 3; Robin Renwick, Economic Sanctions (Cambridge, MA: Center for International Affairs, 1981), p. 1.

⁵ Hufbauer et al., Economic Sanctions Reconsidered (1985), p. 4.

⁶ Phillipson, The International Law and Custom of Ancient Greece and Rome, vol. 2, pp. 349–350.

Grover Clark, 'The English Practice with Regard to Reprisals by Private Persons' (1933) 27 AJIL 694-723 at 713-714.

⁸ Frederic C. Lane, *Venice: A Maritime Republic* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1973), p. 59.

⁹ H. V. Livermore, A New History of Portugal (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1966), p. 156.

the loss of their ship, which had been sunk by the Portuguese armada in 1565. ¹⁰ Another common coercive tactic was to conduct diplomatic relations in a less than courteous manner. Thus the Roman and Persian empires each employed the strategy of registering dissatisfaction by failing to notify the other power of the installation of a new leader. ¹¹

These non-military measures were generally applied by individual states or quasi-states, but on occasion groups of states or quasi-states did co-operate in an attempt to apply international coercion. During the medieval Christian crusades, Popes and church councils passed decrees prohibiting Christian nations from selling to the Saracens any arms, ships, lumber for ship construction, or other goods useful in warfare. The Hanseatic League also employed a collective system of trade boycotts against foreign adversaries during the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, applying such a boycott against the Russian principality of Novgorod from 1385 to 1392.

2. Sanctions under classic international law

In the pre-United Nations, pre-League of Nations world, states reserved the freedom to resort to war as the ultimate means of settling differences. Although war was considered undesirable and regrettable, it was regarded as an inevitable phenomenon, which classic international law was powerless to prevent. ¹⁴ By the end of the nineteenth century, states commonly employed a number of coercive strategies short of war in their foreign relations. Non-military coercive measures were viewed as a valuable tool of foreign policy, with the potential both to deter other states from waging war and to compel them to resolve disputes that could not be resolved by other means. Indeed, classic international law recognised the right of states to employ such coercive measures in certain circumstances.

A variety of phrases were used to refer to the nineteenth century precursors of UN sanctions, including 'measures of constraint short of

¹⁰ Clark, 'The English Practice with Regard to Reprisals', 717–720.

Stephan Verosta, 'International Law in Europe and Western Asia Between 100 and 650 A. D.' (1964) 113 Recueil des Cours 485-617 at 521.

¹² Nussbaum, A Concise History of the Law of Nations (2nd edn), p. 20.

¹³ *Ibid.*, p. 59.

¹⁴ T. J. Lawrence, *The Principles of International Law*, 7th edn (Boston, DC: Heath & Co, 1923), p. 311; John Westlake, *International Law*, 2nd edn, 2 vols. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1913), vol. II, p. 3.

war', 15 'compulsive means of settlement of state differences', 16 and 'methods of applying force which are held not to be inconsistent with the continuance of peaceful relations between the powers concerned'. 17 Although generally employed against states with which one was technically at peace, coercive measures short of war were sufficiently aggressive in character that classic international law located them in a grey area between the laws of peace and the laws of war. International law treatises of the era tended to divide their analyses of international law into two main sections: one describing the 'laws of peace' and the other outlining the 'laws of war'. 18 While most treatises located coercive measures short of war within their section on the laws of war, 19 some texts regarded them as part of the laws of peace. 20

According to classic international law doctrine, when a state was party to a dispute which stemmed from the initial hostile act of another state and which could not be resolved by non-coercive means,²¹ it was permissible to employ certain coercive measures short of warfare in an attempt to compel a resolution of the dispute.²² Among the retaliatory measures that a state might employ were retorsion, reprisals and pacific blockade.²³

2.1 Retorsion

Retorsion consisted of a response to an initial action that was technically legal yet hostile in nature.²⁴ It generally involved measures that

William E. Hall, A Treatise in International Law, 6th edn (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1909), pp. 360–369.

L. Oppenheim, International Law: A Treatise, 2 vols. (London: Longmans, Green & Co, 1905), vol. II, p. 29.

¹⁷ Lawrence, The Principles of International Law (7th edn, 1923), p. 311.

¹⁸ See, e.g., Oppenheim, International Law, vol. I: Peace; vol. II: War and Neutrality.

¹⁹ Henry Wheaton, Elements of International Law, 4th edn (London: Stevens & Sons, 1904), pp. 411–416; Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II: War, pp. 29–51; International Law (2nd edn, 1913), vol. II, pp. 1–19; Lawrence, The Principles of International Law (7th edn, 1923), pp. 311–320.

Thomas Alfred Walker, A Manual of Public International Law (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1895), pp. 94–101; Hall, A Treatise in International Law, pp. 360–369.

²¹ See, e.g., Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 41.

²² Wheaton, Elements of International Law (4th edn, 1904), p. 411.

Some commentators use the term 'retaliation' interchangeably with retorsion and/or reprisals. Here, retaliation is understood as a broad term encompassing retorsion, reprisals and pacific blockade. For discussion of these terminological questions, see Evelyn S. Colbert, *Retaliation in International Law* (New York: King's Crown Press, 1948), pp. 1–2.

Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 31; Albert E. Hindmarsh, Force in Peace: Force Short of War in International Relations (London: Kennikat Press, 1933), p. 57.

were identical or closely analogous to the initial hostile act.²⁵ One example of retorsion was restricting the legal rights of citizens of another state who were within one's own territorial jurisdiction.²⁶ Another involved imposing higher trade tariffs upon goods imported from or exported to another state. In 1885 the Bismarck regime responded to what it perceived to be unfair customs policies on the part of Russia by forbidding the Reichsbank from making advances on the security of Russian state loans.²⁷ In 1904, prior to the Russo-Japanese war, Russia introduced regulations excluding Japanese fishermen from Russian waters. Japan responded by threatening to impose differential duties on Russian imports.²⁸

2.2 Reprisals

Reprisals consisted of coercive action that was prima facie illegal, but which was considered justified if it responded to an initial illegal act.²⁹ Unlike retorsion, reprisals could consist of a response that was not necessarily in kind or analogous to the initial hostile act.³⁰ Nevertheless, international law required that reprisals be neither disproportionate nor excessive.³¹ The most common form of reprisals involved the appropriation of property belonging to the other state or its nationals.³² Such property could be detained whilst in the waters or ports of the state imposing the reprisals or it could be seized on the high seas by the reprising state's navy or private ships acting with the authority of that state.³³ Some commentators also considered the seizure of foreign territory or citizens to constitute a permissible form of reprisals.³⁴

The technical term for detaining foreign ships or other property located in one's jurisdiction was 'embargo'. ³⁵ A distinction was sometimes drawn between this type of action, known as a 'hostile embargo' because it involved the detention of foreign shipping and property, and a 'civil embargo', which prohibited the ships of one's own nationals

²⁵ Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 33; Hall, A Treatise in International Law, p. 360.

²⁶ Hall, A Treatise in International Law, p. 360; Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 32.

²⁷ Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 58.

²⁸ Henry Wheaton, Wheaton's International Law, 7th edn (London: Stevens & Sons, 1944), p. 91.

²⁹ Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 34. ³⁰ *Ibid.*

³¹ Hall, A Treatise in International Law, p. 363; Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 38.

³² Clark, 'The English Practice with Regard to Reprisals', p. 702.

³³ Westlake, International Law, vol. II, p. 8. ³⁴ Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 38.

³⁵ Westlake, International Law, vol. II, p. 8.

from sailing for the state which had taken the initial hostile action.³⁶ In 1807, US President Thomas Jefferson implemented a civil embargo preventing US vessels from leaving US waters.³⁷ The aim of the embargo was to place pressure upon Britain and France, then at war with one another, to cease hostilities.

2.3 Pacific blockade

The pacific blockade evolved in the nineteenth century as an alternative measure of coercion short of war.³⁸ Previously, international law had considered any blockade to amount to warfare. By the end of the nineteenth century, however, the use of blockades during 'peaceful' relations had become so widespread that international law could not credibly confine the use of blockade to periods of war.³⁹ Early examples of pacific blockade included coercive action taken against Norwegian ports in 1814 by British and Swedish ships,⁴⁰ as well as the 1827 blockade imposed against Turkish troops occupying Greece by Britain, France and Russia.⁴¹

Pacific blockade could be employed either as a measure of reprisal or as a tool of third-party intervention. A pacific blockade was deemed to exist when a state or group of states blockaded the coasts or ports of the other party to the dispute during a period when relations with the blockaded state were technically considered to be peaceful. The legal elements of pacific blockade were similar to those of belligerent blockade. In order for a blockade to be considered genuine, international law required the state intending to impose a blockade both to

³⁶ Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 64; Wheaton, Wheaton's International Law (7th edn, 1944), pp. 92–93.

See Louis M. Sears, Jefferson and the Embargo (Durham: Duke University Press, 1927); Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, pp. 66–70.

³⁸ Colbert, Retaliation in International Law, p. 61.

³⁹ For debate on the legitimacy of pacific blockade, see L'Institut de Droit International, 'Rapport de M. Perels sur le blocus pacifique' (1888) 9 L'Annuaire de L'Institut de Droit International 276–286 at 280–283; Albert E. Hogan, Pacific Blockade (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1908), pp. 21–31.

⁴⁰ Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 72; Wheaton, Wheaton's International Law (7th edn, 1944), p. 96.

⁴¹ Hogan, Pacific Blockade, p. 29; Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 43; Westlake, International Law, vol. II, p. 11; Anton Bertram, 'The Economic Weapon as a Form of Peaceful Pressure' (1932) 17 Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers) 139–174 at 157.

Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, p. 48; Hogan, Pacific Blockade, p. 19; Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, pp. 72–73.

⁴³ L'Institut de Droit International, 'Rapport de M. Perels sur le blocus pacifique', 277.

have the actual capacity to launch a blockade and to notify the target state of its intent to do so.⁴⁴ A major difference between pacific and belligerent blockade, however, was that a belligerent blockading state was within its rights to bar all shipping between the blockaded state and the external world,⁴⁵ whereas a pacific blockader was not supposed to restrict the shipping of third-party states.⁴⁶

2.4 The possibilities and limitations of pre-twentieth-century sanctions

Under the classic international law system, coercive measures short of war could theoretically be used to enforce international law. In the ideal scenario, the measures of retorsion, reprisals and pacific blockade would be employed by a state with a genuine grievance and they would force the state against which they were employed to address that grievance. The timely employment of coercive measures short of war could therefore ensure the resolution of international disputes and prevent the outbreak of war. When employed in the ideal manner envisaged by classic international law, such coercive measures could constitute genuine sanctions that were imposed in response to violations of international law.

In practice, however, coercive measures short of war often functioned as a means of self-help that was open to abuse. Even in cases where states may have wished to apply coercive measures in accordance with international law, their ability to engage in effective reprisals was contingent upon size and strength. Small states were less likely to engage in, and more likely to fall victim to, non-military coercive measures than large, powerful states. Moreover, even if the parties to a dispute were evenly matched, and even if the state taking coercive action acted within the letter of international law, the state against which the measures were imposed was within its rights to interpret the action as war-like and to respond accordingly. Ironically, if the state against which coercive measures short of war were applied chose to treat them as a belligerent act, then war was retrospectively deemed to have begun at

⁴⁴ Declaration of Paris (1856), para. 4; L'Institut de Droit International, 'Rapport de M. Perels sur le blocus pacifique', 286.

⁴⁵ Oppenheim, *International Law*, vol. II, pp. 399–400.

⁴⁶ L'Institut de Droit International, 'Rapport de M. Perels sur le blocus pacifique', 277; Hall, A Treatise in International Law, p. 367.

⁴⁷ Oppenheim, International Law, vol. II, pp. 42, 48. Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 81.

⁴⁹ Lawrence, The Principles of International Law, p. 321.

⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 320; Hogan, Pacific Blockade, p. 27.

the moment when the coercive measures were imposed.⁵¹ This meant that a state that sought to act within the letter of the law could end up being held responsible for escalating the dispute to the level of war. Classic international law's coercive measures short of war were thus a double-edged sword, with the potential both to resolve conflict and to trigger war.

3. Sanctions under the League of Nations system

The economic weapon, conceived not as an instrument of war but as a peaceful means of pressure, is the great discovery and the most precious possession of the League. Properly organised, it means the substitution of economic pressure for actual war. 52

The League of Nations was created at the end of the First World War, as the culmination of the Versailles post-war peace settlement.⁵³ The founding document of the League, the Covenant of the League of Nations, sought to circumscribe the general right of states to engage in warfare by only permitting states to resort to war in response to an aggressive act that violated the Covenant.⁵⁴ League member states were under an obligation to submit any serious disputes to arbitration, judicial settlement or enquiry by the League Council.⁵⁵ They also agreed to refrain from resorting to war until three months after the conclusion of attempts to resolve the dispute through arbitration, judicial settlement or enquiry. ⁵⁶ Moreover, they undertook not to resort to war against any member state which had complied with pacific attempts at dispute resolution 57

In the event that a dispute between member states was not submitted to arbitration, judicial settlement or enquiry, it would be referred to the League Council, which would endeavour to effect a settlement.⁵⁸ If these efforts were to fail, the Council would issue a report suggesting how the dispute should be resolved.⁵⁹ If the report was unanimous, member states agreed not to go to war with any party to the dispute which subsequently complied with the report's recommendations.⁶⁰ However, if the Council failed to reach unanimity, member states

⁵¹ Hall, A Treatise in International Law, p. 361. ⁵² Bertram, 'The Economic Weapon', 169. ⁵³ On the Versailles conference, see Margaret MacMillan, Paris 1919: Six Months that Changed the World (New York: Random House, 2001).

⁵⁴ Covenant of the League of Nations, Articles 12, 13 and 15. ⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 12.

⁵⁶ *Ibid.* 57 *Ibid.*, Article 13, para. 4. 58 *Ibid.*, Article 15, paras. 1, 3. 59 *Ibid.*, Article 15, para. 4. 60 *Ibid.*, Article 15, para. 5.

reserved the right to take 'such action as they consider necessary for the maintenance of right and justice'. ⁶¹

3.1 The League of Nations sanctions provision

Sanctions assumed a central role in the League's collective security scheme, as they were to be applied against states that resorted to war in violation of the Covenant. The Covenant thus provided that:

Should any Member of the League resort to war in disregard of its covenants under Articles 12, 13, or 15, it shall *ipso facto* be deemed to have committed an act of war against all other Members of the League, which hereby undertake immediately to subject it to the severance of all trade or financial relations, the prohibition of all intercourse between their nationals and the nationals of the covenant-breaking State, and the prevention of all financial, commercial, or personal intercourse between the nationals of the covenant-breaking State and the nationals of any other State, whether a Member of the League or not. 62

The text of the League's sanctions provision suggested that a member state which resorted to war in violation of the Covenant would automatically be subject to sanctions. This was clearly the understanding of US President Woodrow Wilson. Wilson, who was one of the greatest supporters of the creation of the League at the Versailles conference, described the situation as follows:

Suppose somebody does not abide by these engagements, then what happens? An absolute isolation, a boycott. The boycott is automatic. There is no 'if' or 'but' about it . . . It is the most complete boycott ever conceived in a public document, and I want to say with confident prediction that there will be no more fighting after that. There is not a nation that can stand that for six months. ⁶³

In practice, however, the sanctions framework envisaged by Wilson was compromised by the manner in which it was subsequently interpreted by member states. Two controversial issues cast a shadow over the League's sanctions provision. First, there was the question of who could make the determination that there had been a resort to war in violation of the Covenant. Second, there was the question whether, even after such a determination had been made, states could genuinely be obligated to apply sanctions. On 27 September 1921, the League Assembly adopted a resolution which clarified that it was 'the duty of each Member of the League to decide for itself whether a breach of the

⁶¹ *Ibid.*, Article 15, para. 6. ⁶² *Ibid.*, Article 16, para. 1.

⁶³ As quoted by Daoudi and Dajani, Economic Sanctions, p. 26.

Covenant ha[d] been committed'.⁶⁴ Ultimately, individual states could therefore decide for themselves whether there had been a resort to war in violation of the Covenant. States could thus avoid the obligation to apply sanctions simply by making a determination that there had been no breach of the Covenant.⁶⁵

3.2 The League of Nations sanctions experiment against Italy

The mere existence of the League's sanctions provision has been credited with playing a constructive role in resolving some potential conflicts, such as an emerging 1921 dispute between Albanians, Serbs, Croatians and Slovenians. ⁶⁶ However, the League's first and only concrete experiment with sanctions occurred in 1935–36, when measures were taken against Italy in response to its invasion of Abyssinia. A dispute had been brewing between Italy and Abyssinia since late 1934, and various attempts at negotiation, arbitration and conciliation had failed. ⁶⁷ The League Council was in the process of writing a report which would make recommendations as to what should be done to resolve the dispute. However, the preparation of the report was soon rendered redundant. On 3 October 1935 Italian forces invaded Abyssinian territory. ⁶⁸

Two days after Italy's invasion, the Abyssinian government sought to invoke the League's sanctions provision at a meeting of the League Council. The Council immediately established a sub-committee, consisting of the United Kingdom, Chile, Denmark, France, Portugal and Romania, to verify whether a resort to war in violation of the Covenant had taken place. On 7 October 1935 the sub-committee presented its findings, concluding that Italy had indeed resorted to war in violation of its obligations under the Covenant. Later that day, the members of the

⁶⁴ League Assembly Res. 4 (27 September 1921): League of Nations document A.1921.P, 453. See also Kelsen, *The Law of the United Nations*, p. 726.

Walter Schiffer, 'The Idea of Collective Security', in Joel Larus (ed.), From Collective Security to Preventive Diplomacy (New York: John Wiley, 1965), pp. 187–202 at 190.

⁶⁶ George de Fiédorowicz, 'Historical Survey of the Application of Sanctions' (1937) 22 Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers) 117–131 at 119.

⁶⁷ League of Nations, The League From Year to Year (Geneva: League of Nations Information Section, 1935), pp. 53–69.

Royal Institute of International Affairs, Sanctions: The Character of International Sanctions and their Application (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1935), pp. 70–72.

⁶⁹ League of Nations Information Section, The League From Year to Year (1935), p. 75.

⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 76.

⁷¹ League of Nations document C 417, 1935, VII: Report of the Committee of Six on Responsibility for the Outbreak of Hostilities.

Council unanimously indicated in a roll-call that they agreed with the findings of the sub-committee and the matter was referred to the League Assembly.

On 9 October, the League Assembly convened to consider whether sanctions should be imposed against Italy. Fifty-four League member states were in attendance. All but four concluded that Italy had violated Article 12 of the Covenant and agreed to implement the measures prescribed in Article 16.⁷² Of the four member states who did not vote in favour of applying sanctions, three (Austria, Hungary and Italy itself) expressed the view that Italy had not violated the Covenant and one (Albania) advocated against the application of sanctions.⁷³

The League Assembly subsequently established a Co-ordinating Committee to recommend the measures to be taken by member states who had agreed to implement sanctions. 74 The Committee, which comprised a representative of each state which had agreed to impose sanctions, proved too large and unwieldy to engage in the necessary determinations. A sub-committee was formed, featuring eighteen member states whose co-operation was considered essential to the success of the sanctions. The Sub-Committee of Eighteen completed its initial work quickly, forwarding its findings to the Co-ordinating Committee on 19 October 1935. The Co-ordinating Committee ultimately recommended that participating governments should: prevent the export of arms and arms-related material to Italy;⁷⁵ prohibit financial transactions between individuals and institutions within its jurisdiction and Italian individuals and institutions;⁷⁶ prohibit the import of goods originating in Italy;⁷⁷ and prohibit the export to Italy of goods considered necessary for the waging of war, such as rubber, bauxite, aluminium and iron ore. 78 The recommendations of the Co-ordinating Committee were adopted by the League Assembly on 2 November, 79 and sanctions came into effect on 18 November.80

The sanctions against Abyssinia were not completely ineffective, as there was some evidence that they had considerable impact upon the

⁷² League of Nations, The League From Year to Year (1935), p. 78.

⁷³ *Ibid.* ⁷⁴ Royal Institute, *Sanctions*, pp. 70–71. ⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, Proposal No. 1.

⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, Proposal No. 2. ⁷⁷ *Ibid.*, Proposal No. 3. ⁷⁸ *Ibid.*, Proposal No. 4.

Fifty-two member states agreed to enforce proposals 1 and 2, fifty agreed to enforce proposal 3, and fifty-one agreed to impose proposal 4. For a full list of those states, see League of Nations, *The League From Year to Year* (1935), pp. 84–85.
 Ibid., p. 82.

Italian economy. In January 1936, Italian exports to thirty of its regular trading partners had declined 53 per cent compared to the figures of the preceding year, and by February exports that decline had risen to 59 per cent. Nevertheless, the experiment with League of Nations sanctions ultimately failed to achieve the aim of forcing Italy to withdraw from Abyssinia. On 4 July 1936, less than eight months after they were first authorised, the sanctions were officially terminated by the League Assembly. Of the forty-five member states which voted, only one – Abyssinia itself – voted against terminating the sanctions.

4. Learning from the League's experience

Less than two decades after its creation, the League of Nations lay in tatters. The serial military aggression of the 1930s culminated in the outbreak of a Second World War. The League manifestly failed to achieve its mission of preventing war. In the end it was powerless to prevent the concerted efforts of major powers to wage war. British Prime Minister Winston Churchill expressed common exasperation at the League's record by saying: 'When the war is over, we must build up a League of Nations based upon organised force and not disorganised nonsense.'⁸³

Post-mortems unearthed a multitude of potential causes for the League's failure. Some contended that the League had been doomed from the moment of its creation, enmeshed as it was in a peace settlement that had been perceived as unfair and vengeful by the nations who had been vanquished in the First World War.⁸⁴ Others attributed the League's impotence to the fact that it did not contain all of the major powers of the time.⁸⁵ Some also speculated that things might have been different if the League Covenant had outlawed not simply the resort to war, but also the use of force.⁸⁶

The League's experiment with sanctions also attracted considerable criticism. One failing was perceived to be the absence of a definitive objective test to determine when sanctions should be applied.⁸⁷

⁸³ Harold Nicolson, *Diaries and Letters* (New York: Atheneum, 1966), vol. 1: 1930–1939, p. 393.

⁸⁴ Schiffer, 'The Idea of Collective Security', 198.

⁸⁵ Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 170. ⁸⁶ Ibid., p. 124; Clark, Boycotts and Peace, p. 94.

⁸⁷ Gilbert Murray, 'A League of Nations: The First Experiment', in Larus, From Collective Security to Preventive Diplomacy, p. 186; Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 171.

Another was the inability to prevent Italy's neighbours from opting out of the coalition of states imposing sanctions. Yet another was the decision not to include as part of the sanctions regime an embargo against the sale or supply to Italy of oil and petroleum products. Without these commodities, it is arguable that Italy could not have continued its occupation of Abyssinia. However, the greatest contributing factor to the failure of the sanctions against Italy was the refusal of the four major powers of the time to take the necessary steps to ensure that the sanctions against Italy were effective. As Lorenz comments:

France sabotaged all efforts to embargo oil, without which the Italian army would have ground to a halt; Britain allowed Rome passage through the Suez Canal, which was essential to the Italian supply line; Germany, no longer a member of the League, happily took up the slack in the sale of arms and other commodities; and the United States, driven by economic self-interest, refused to support the embargo in every respect except for a ban on arms shipments to both belligerents. ⁹¹

It is not surprising that Germany and the United States chose not to implement the League sanctions, as neither country was then a League member state. However, the motives of France and Britain, which remained important League members, were more difficult to comprehend. It has been speculated that these two powers were afraid of creating too stringent a sanctions regime, in case it drove Mussolini into partnership with Hitler. ⁹² Ironically, this partnership developed in any event.

⁸⁸ Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 171.

⁸⁹ Daoudi and Dajani, Economic Sanctions, p. 63; Robert E. Dell, The Geneva Racket (London: Robert Hale, 1941), p. 117.

⁹⁰ Albert E. Highley, The Actions of the States Members of the League of Nations in Application of Sanctions Against Italy, 1935/1936 (Geneva: Journal de Genève, 1938), p. 229; Hindmarsh, Force in Peace, p. 171.

⁹¹ Lorenz, Peace, Power and the United Nations, p. 25.

Alex Millward, 'Only Yesterday: Some Reflections on the "Thirties" with Particular Reference to Sanctions' (1957) 1 International Relations 281–290 at 283.

4 Sanctions under the UN Charter

The United Nations was born in the final months of the Second World War, when delegates from around the globe gathered in San Francisco to create an international organisation which would 'save subsequent generations from the scourge of war'.¹ The founders of the UN were motivated by a desire to avoid repeating the failures of the League of Nations. Their objective was to create an international organisation which would not stand idly by in the face of threats to international peace and security.

1. A fresh approach to collective security

The UN founders sought to incorporate in the United Nations Charter features designed to ensure not just the participation of as wide a collection of states as possible, but also the active engagement of the most powerful states. The participation of the great powers of the time – the United States of America, the Soviet Union, the United Kingdom, China and France – was secured by granting them permanent membership on the Security Council.² Along with permanent membership came the power of the veto, ensuring that the permanent five would never be subjected to collective security action.³ In order to attract the

¹ UN Charter, Preamble, Charter of the United Nations (New York, NY: Department of Public Information), p. 3. The Charter was signed on 26 June 1945 and entered into force on 24 October 1945.

² *Ibid.*, Article 23.

³ *Ibid.*, Article 27(3). On the veto, see Simma, *The Charter of the United Nations* (2002), pp. 476–523; Sydney Bailey and Sam Daws, *The Procedure of the UN Security Council*, 3rd edn (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998), pp. 227–239.

participation of lesser states, the UN founders drew together a range of idealistic purposes and principles that aimed to reassure smaller states that the UN would protect them where the League could not. Among the key incentives for lesser states were formal recognition of the principles of sovereign equality, the prohibition on the use of force and the inviolability of domestic sovereignty.

1.1 An incentive for the great powers: the veto

The idea of the veto was first floated in late 1944 at the Dumbarton Oaks Conference, which involved the participation of the United States, the United Kingdom, the Soviet Union and China. The decision concerning who should become permanent members was therefore made by a process of self-selection. By the time of the San Francisco Conference, these four powers had agreed to include France.

The notion of the veto attracted heated debate at San Francisco. Some states were against the very idea, with Mexico and the Netherlands arguing that the UN system would be fundamentally flawed and unjust if one country were able to prevent the Security Council from taking urgent action to maintain the peace. Others, including Australia, argued that the exercise of the veto should be restricted to decisions under Chapter VII of the Charter. Ultimately, however, the great powers were unprepared to compromise. The US Representative, Senator Connally, demonstrated what would happen if the proposed veto was modified by tearing up a copy of the UN Charter. The only hint of a concession came in the form of a non-binding declaration by four of the five permanent members, in which they suggested that they would use the veto with restraint.

⁴ On the Dumbarton veto discussions, see Robert C. Hilderbrand, *Dumbarton Oaks: The Origins of the United Nations and the Search for Postwar Security* (Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press, 1990), pp. 183–228. For the proposals arising from Dumbarton, see *Proposals for a General International Organization as Developed at Dumbarton Oaks* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of State, 1944).

Documents of the United Nations Conference on International Organization (1945) UN Information Organization, New York, vol. XI: Commission III: Security Council, pp. 163–164 (Netherlands), p. 333 (Mexico).

⁶ Evatt, The United Nations, p. 36.

Stephen C. Schlesinger, Act of Creation: The Founding of the United Nations (Boulder: Westview Press, 2003), p. 223.

Documents of the UNCIO, vol. XI, pp. 710-714: Statement by the Delegations of the Four Sponsoring Governments on Voting Procedure in the Security Council, para. 8.

1.2 Incentives for lesser powers: the UN purposes and principles

The San Francisco Conference culminated in the signing of the United Nations Charter on 26 June 1945. The Charter, which came into effect on 24 October 1945, outlines the UN's purposes and principles, defines the rights and obligations of UN member states, and establishes the major UN organs. The formal purposes of the United Nations are outlined in Article 1 of the UN Charter. They are:

- To maintain international peace and security; and to that end: to take
 effective collective measures for the prevention and removal of threats
 to the peace, and for the suppression of acts of aggression or other
 breaches of the peace, and to bring about by peaceful means, and in
 conformity with the principles of justice and international law, adjustment or settlement of international disputes or situations which might
 lead to a breach of the peace;
- 2. To develop friendly relations among nations based on respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples, and to take other appropriate measures to strengthen universal peace;
- 3. To achieve international co-operation in solving international problems of an economic, social, cultural or humanitarian character, and in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without discrimination as to race, sex, language, or religion; and
- 4. To be a centre for harmonizing the actions of nations in the attainment of these common ends. 10

Article 1 makes it clear that the UN's primary goal is to maintain international peace and security. But it recognises that a range of initiatives must be pursued concurrently in order to build genuine, lasting peace. Article 1(1) acknowledges the necessity of taking effective steps to resolve existing and budding conflicts. But Article 1(2)–(4) also recognise the importance of taking proactive steps to eradicate the potential causes of future conflict.

The principles of the United Nations, which are outlined in Article 2 of the Charter, aim to guide the activities of the UN and the behaviour of its member states. The first principle is the sovereign equality of all UN

¹⁰ UN Charter, Article 1(1)–(4).

⁹ For accounts of the drafting history of the Charter, which can be traced back to as early as December 1941, see Evatt, *The United Nations*; Schlesinger, *Act of Creation*; Gerry Simpson, *Great Powers and Outlaw States: Unequal Sovereigns in the International Legal Order* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005), pp. 165–193.

member states.¹¹ The second, third and fourth principles require members to fulfil their obligations under the Charter in good faith; ¹² to settle their disputes by peaceful means; ¹³ and to refrain from the threat or use of force. ¹⁴ The fifth principle requires member states to give the UN every assistance in action taken under the Charter and to refrain from giving assistance to any state subject to UN preventive or enforcement action. ¹⁵ The sixth principle requires the UN to ensure that nonmembers act in accordance with the Charter where necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security. ¹⁶ The final principle recognises state sovereignty, providing that the UN shall not intervene in the domestic jurisdiction of any state except when it is undertaking enforcement measures under Chapter VII. ¹⁷

1.3 The UN's principal organs

The UN Charter created six principal organs which were entrusted with realising the organisation's purposes and principles: the General Assembly, the Security Council, the Economic and Social Council, the Trusteeship Council, the International Court of Justice and the Secretariat. 18 Three of these organs were dedicated to developing broad strategies to eradicate the causes of conflict. The General Assembly was to discuss questions within the scope of the Charter and make appropriate recommendations to member states and the Security Council, 19 with the only restriction being that the Assembly could not make recommendations on a matter already being addressed by the Council, unless the Council so requested. 20 The Economic and Social Council was to undertake studies and make recommendations on a range of matters, including international economic, social, cultural, educational and health questions, as well as human rights.²¹ The Trusteeship Council was to monitor conditions in 'trust territories' administered by UN member states.²² Its creation reflected the fact that in 1945 many territories remained under the colonial authority of

Ibid., Article 2(1).
 Ibid., Article 2(2).
 Ibid., Article 2(3).
 Ibid., Article 2(4).
 Ibid., Article 2(7).
 Ibid., Article 2(7).
 Ibid., Article 7.

¹⁹ Chapter IV of the Charter (Articles 9–22) details the composition, functions and powers, voting and procedure of the General Assembly.

²⁰ UN Charter, Article 12.

²¹ Chapter X of the Charter (Articles 61–74) details the composition, functions and powers, voting and procedure of the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC).

Chapter XIII of the Charter (Articles 86–91) details the composition, functions and powers, voting and procedure of the Trusteeship Council.

other nations. The spread of self-determination in the second half of the twentieth century has made the Trusteeship Council redundant.

Two of the principal UN organs, the International Court of Justice and the Security Council, were assigned responsibility for resolving and preventing the exacerbation of international conflict. The ICJ was to adjudicate legal disputes between states willing to submit disputes to its jurisdiction. The Security Council was given primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security. The final UN organ, the Secretariat, was created primarily in order to provide administrative support to the other UN organs, with the exception of the International Court of Justice. However, the Charter did provide some scope for the UN Secretary-General to take initiatives to resolve conflict through the vehicle of 'good offices'. Such initiatives could be taken at the request of another primary organ of the UN excluding the ICJ, the Secretary-General was also empowered to bring any matter which threatened international peace and security to the attention of the Security Council.

2. The UN Security Council's sanctions powers

As their League predecessors had done decades earlier, the UN's founders included the instrument of sanctions as one of the major tools in the new international organisation's arsenal for resolving international conflict. However, the UN founders sought to construct a sanctions mechanism that would come into operation in a more clear-cut manner.²⁹ Where sanctions decision-making had been decentralised

²³ Chapter XIV of the Charter (Articles 92–96) outlines the role of the International Court of Justice within the UN system. The composition and procedure of the International Court of Justice are defined in the Charter of the International Court of Justice, which appears as an annex to the UN Charter.

Chapter V of the Charter (Articles 23–32) details the composition, functions and powers, voting and procedure of the Security Council.

²⁵ Chapter XV of the Charter (Articles 97–101) establishes the Secretariat.

On the 'good offices' of the UNSG, see Thomas M. Franck and Georg Nolte, 'The Good Offices Function of the UNSG', in Adam Roberts and Benedict Kingsbury (eds.), United Nations, Divided World: The UN's Roles in International Relations, 2nd edn (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1994), pp. 143–182; J. G. Merrills, International Dispute Settlement, 3rd edn (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998), pp. 226–232.

²⁷ UN Charter, Article 98. ²⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 99.

For comparisons of the relative merits of the sanctioning systems of the League of Nations and the United Nations, see Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, pp. 724–756; Hans Kelsen, 'The Old and the New League: The Covenant and the Dumbarton Oaks

under the League, effectively permitting states to decide for themselves whether to apply sanctions, the UN Charter centralised decision-making.³⁰ The Charter empowered the Security Council to make the decision to apply sanctions and obligated member states to implement them.

Chapter V of the UN Charter outlines the functions and powers of the Security Council.³¹ It confers primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security upon the Security Council³² and empowers it to take a range of action under Chapters VI, VII, VIII and XII to fulfil that responsibility.³³ The Council is thus responsible for facilitating the peaceful settlement of disputes under Chapter VI,³⁴ taking action under Chapter VII with respect to threats to the peace, breaches of the peace and acts of aggression,³⁵ involving regional arrangements in initiatives to maintain international peace and security under Chapter VIII,³⁶ and exercising certain functions with respect to the international trusteeship system under Chapter XII.³⁷

2.1 The sanctions trigger: Article 39

The legal basis for the Security Council's sanctions powers is located in Chapter VII of the Charter. Comprising Articles 39–51, Chapter VII bestows responsibility upon the Council for taking action to maintain or restore international peace and security. Articles 39 and 41 are the key provisions governing the application of sanctions. Article 39 provides that:

The Security Council shall determine the existence of any threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression and shall make recommendations, or decide what measures shall be taken in accordance with Articles 41 and 42, to maintain or restore international peace and security.³⁸

Proposals' (1945) 39 AJIL 45–83; and Kim Richard Nossal, 'Economic Sanctions in the League of Nations and the United Nations', in David Leyton-Brown (ed.), *The Utility of International Economic Sanctions* (Beckenham: Croom Helm, 1987), pp. 7–22.

- ³⁰ Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, pp. 726, 746. See also Vera Gowlland-Debbas, Collective Responses to Illegal Acts in International Law: United Nations Action in the Question of Southern Rhodesia (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1990), p. 367.
- ³¹ Chapter V of the Charter comprises Articles 23–32. UN Charter, Article 24(1).
- ³³ *Ibid.*, Article 24(2). ³⁴ Chapter VI comprises Articles 33–38.
- 35 Chapter VII comprises Articles 39–51. 36 Chapter VIII comprises Articles 52–54.
- ³⁷ Chapter XII comprises Articles 75–85.
- ³⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 39. Article 41 provides for the possibility of sanctions short of the use of force, as discussed in the next section. Article 42 describes the types of military action that the Council can mandate if it considers that non-military sanctions would prove, or have proven, ineffective. It provides: 'Should the Security Council consider that measures provided for in Article 41 would be inadequate or have proved to be inadequate, it may take such action by air, sea or land forces as may be necessary to maintain or

The UN Charter does not elaborate upon what constitutes a 'threat to the peace', a 'breach of the peace', or an 'act of aggression'. This lack of a precise definition was intentional, as the founders aimed to give the Security Council maximum flexibility in determining when it was necessary to respond to a particular situation. ³⁹ Nevertheless, when the Charter was framed, most observers would have predicted that a breach of the peace would represent a full-blown conflict between states, whereas a threat to the peace would have encompassed a situation likely to result in such a full-blown conflict and an act of aggression would have described an act of military intervention by one state against another. ⁴⁰ However, as illustrated in Chapter 5, below, in practice the Council has almost exclusively used determinations of a threat to the peace as the trigger for applying sanctions. The one exception was when it characterised Iraq's invasion of Kuwait as a breach of the peace.

2.2 The UN Charter's sanctions provision: Article 41

Article 41 outlines an inclusive list of the coercive measures short of force that may be authorised by the Security Council in response to a threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression. It provides that:

The Security Council may decide what measures not involving the use of armed force are to be employed to give effect to its decisions, and it may call upon the Members of the United Nations to apply such measures. These may include complete or partial interruption of economic relations and of rail, sea, air, postal, telegraphic, radio, and other means of communication, and the severance of diplomatic relations.⁴¹

A literal reading of Article 41 in isolation would suggest that the Security Council has the broad power to authorise non-military sanctions in order to give effect to any of its decisions, but in practice Article 41 was designed to be read in conjunction with Article 39, meaning that non-military sanctions should be authorised by the Council only after it

restore international peace and security. Such action may include demonstrations, blockade, and other operations by air, sea or land forces of Members of the United Nations.'

³⁹ Hilderbrand, Dumbarton Oaks, p. 138.

On threats to the peace, breaches of the peace and acts of aggression, see Inger Österdahl, Threat to the Peace: The Interpretation by the Security Council of Article 39 of the UN Charter (Uppsala: Iustus Förlag, 1998); Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), pp. 717–728; Chesterman, Just War or Just Peace?, pp. 127–162.

⁴¹ UN Charter, Article 41.

has determined the existence of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression.⁴² The basic objective of the Council in authorising non-military sanctions should therefore be the maintenance or restoration of international peace and security.

The inclusive approach of Article 41 to the list of potential sanctions to be employed has given the Security Council great flexibility to determine the appropriate measures to apply in response to a given threat to the peace. In practice, the Council has made full use of this flexibility. Chapter 6 illustrates both the broad variety of sanctions employed, as well as the Council's willingness to experiment with new sanctions strategies.

2.3 Other sanctions-related Chapter VII provisions: Articles 48 and 50

Two further provisions in Chapter VII are relevant to the application of sanctions. Article 48 provides that the Security Council may determine whether the action required to carry out its decisions shall be taken by all or some of the members of the United Nations, ⁴³ and that the Council's decisions shall be carried out by UN members both directly and through their action in international agencies. ⁴⁴ Article 50 provides that when enforcement or preventive measures are taken against a state, any other state which finds itself confronted by special economic problems arising from the implementation of those measures shall have the right to consult the Security Council with regard to a solution of those problems. ⁴⁵

2.4 The binding character of Article 41 sanctions

When the Security Council applies UN sanctions, all UN member states are under a legal obligation to implement those measures. This legal obligation flows from Articles 25, 103 and 2(5) of the UN Charter. Under Article 25, UN member states agree to carry out the decisions of the

⁴² Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, p. 729; Gowlland-Debbas, Collective Responses, p. 381; Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), p. 739.

⁴³ Article 48(1). In practice, the Security Council has not called upon particular states to impose mandatory sanctions. For discussion of the Council's practice in relation to identifying the actors who must apply mandatory sanctions, see Chapter 8, section 1.

⁴⁴ Article 48(2).

⁴⁵ Article 50. For discussion of the practice of the Security Council in relation to the unintended consequences of sanctions upon third states, see also Chapter 8, section 8.4.

Security Council in accordance with the Charter. Thus UN member states must comply with and implement UN sanctions. Article 103 also requires UN member states to grant precedence to their legal obligations under the Charter, meaning that they cannot claim previous legal obligation as an excuse to avoid obligations arising from a decision of the Security Council. Article 2(5) further requires member states to refrain from giving assistance to states subject to action under Articles 41 and 42.

Although the obligation to implement UN sanctions is clearly established for UN member states, there has been some debate regarding whether that obligation might not extend to non-member states. The traditional, restrictive view is that under general principles of international law states cannot be bound by an obligation under a treaty to which they are not party, unless that treaty obligation reflects a peremptory obligation under customary international law. 49 A permissive view holds, however, that the Security Council has the power and the capacity to adopt decisions that are legally binding upon non-member states. 50 This power arguably flows from Article 2(6), which provides that the UN should ensure that non-members act in accordance with the Charter's principles, particularly where necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security.⁵¹ As almost all of the obligations of member states under the Charter might be considered necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security, it has been suggested that Article 2(6) seeks to extend the obligations of UN members to

⁴⁶ Article 25 states that: 'The Members of the United Nations agree to accept and carry out the decisions of the Security Council in accordance with the present Charter.'

⁴⁷ Article 103 states that: 'In the event of a conflict between the obligations of the Members of the United Nations under the present Charter and their obligations under any other international agreement, their obligations under the present Charter shall prevail.'

⁴⁸ Article 2(5) states that: 'All Members shall . . . refrain from giving assistance to any state against which the United Nations is taking preventive or enforcement action.'

Article 34 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties provides that a treaty is not binding on non-parties without their consent. For the view that Article 2(6) cannot bind non-member states, see Bruno Simma (ed.), The Charter of the United Nations: A Commentary (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995), p. 627; Leland M. Goodrich and Edvard Hambro, Charter of the United Nations: Commentary and Documents, 2nd edn (Boston: World Peace Foundation, 1949), pp. 108–109.

⁵⁰ Kelsen, *The Law of the United Nations*, pp. 85–86; Hans Kelsen, 'Sanctions in International Law Under the Charter of the United Nations' (1946) 31 *Iowa LR* 499–543 at 502.

Article 2(6) states that: 'The Organization shall ensure that states which are not Members of the United Nations act in accordance with these Principles so far as may be necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security.'

non-members. 52 Article 2(6) has thus been described as heralding a transition from an old to a new international law. 53

The Security Council's practice suggests that it has intended the majority of its sanctions decisions to bind all states. The Council has only twice directed its mandatory sanctions-related language explicitly at UN member states, doing so in the cases of the 232 Southern Rhodesia⁵⁴ and 1718 North Korea sanctions regimes.⁵⁵ In connection with its other twenty-three sanctions regimes, the Council has employed the phrase 'All States shall' when outlining sanctions obligations. ⁵⁶ A number of non-members, including the Republic of Korea (prior to becoming a UN member). Switzerland (also prior to becoming a UN member) and The Holy See, have taken steps to implement various sanctions regimes, ⁵⁷ suggesting that they felt more than a moral obligation to apply sanctions. Further support for the permissive view can be found in the Milutinović decision by the Trial Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY), which found that in practice the Security Council has adopted resolutions that apply to non-member states.⁵⁸ Moreover, drawing upon the findings of the International Court of Justice in the Certain Expenses case, the Chamber proceeded to reaffirm that when the Security Council takes action that is necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security, the presumption is that such action is not ultra vires the Charter of the United Nations.⁵⁹

In practice, the question of whether UN sanctions technically create a legal obligation upon states non-members of the UN is effectively academic, as UN membership has expanded beyond 190 states, leaving just

⁵² Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, pp. 85–86.

⁵³ *Ibid.*, pp. 109–110; Kelsen, 'Sanctions in International Law', 502.

⁵⁴ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), paras. 2, 7.

⁵⁵ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), paras. 8–10.

⁵⁶ See the provisions outlining the scope of all other sanctions regimes, as contained in Appendix 3, Table D.

⁵⁷ See, e.g., the communications sent to the UNSG outlining steps taken to implement the sanctions against Iraq by: the Republic of Korea, S/21487 (10 August 1990); S/21617 (24 August 1990); S/23016 (9 September 1991); Switzerland, S/21585 (22 August 1990); S/22958 (19 August 1991) and The Holy See, S/22802 (16 July 1991). Switzerland also submitted similar communications in relation to implementation of the sanctions regimes against the former Yugoslavia and FRYSM. See S/23338 (31 December 1991) and S/24160 (24 June 1992).

Prosecutor v. Milan Milutinović and others, Case IT-99–37-PT, Trial Chamber Decision on Jurisdiction (6 May 2003), paras. 51–57.

⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 57.

a handful of small states beyond the sphere of the legal obligations clearly established for UN member states. ⁶⁰ Thus, even if UN sanctions are not technically binding upon that handful of states, their legal effect is practically universal in any event.

3. The question of the limits upon the Security Council's sanctions powers

The Security Council's ability to create sanctions obligations that are practically universal in their legal effect raises the question of where the limits lie upon the Security Council's sanctions powers. Some commentators conclude that the Council's broad discretion to take action for the maintenance of international peace and security effectively places it above the law. Others insist, however, that the Council's actions are subject to legal limitations, the basis of which can be found both in the UN Charter itself and in extra-Charter sources such as customary and general international law.

3.1 Potential Charter-based limits on the Council's sanctions powers

The UN Charter provides a general indication, in Articles 24 and 25, that the Council's sanctions powers are not unlimited. As noted in section 2.4, above, under Article 25, UN member states agree to carry out the decisions of the Security Council in accordance with the Charter. There is some ambiguity as to whether the phrase 'in accordance with the Charter' applies to the actions of member states or the decisions of the Council. 63 Nevertheless, it can be interpreted as meaning that states are

⁶⁰ In June 2006 the Republic of Montenegro became the 192nd state to join the UN. On 22 June the Security Council adopted SC Res. 1691, recommending to the General Assembly that Montenegro be granted membership. On 28 June 2006 the General Assembly adopted GA Res. 60/264, formally admitting Montenegro to membership. The Holy See is one example of the few states that remain a non-member. It nevertheless maintains an observer mission to the UN.

⁶¹ Dulles, War or Peace, pp. 194-195.

See, e.g., Mohammed Bedjaoui, The New World Order and the Security Council: Testing the Legality of its Acts (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1994); Georg Nolte, 'The Limits of the Security Council's Powers and its Functions in the International Legal System: Some Reflections', in Michael Byers (ed.), The Role of Law in International Politics (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000), pp. 315–326; Schweigman, The Authority of the Security Council under Chapter VII of the UN Charter; de Wet, The Chapter VII Powers of the United Nations Security Council; Orakhelashvili, Peremptory Norms in International Law.

⁶³ Martenczuk, 'The Security Council, the ICJ and Judicial Review', 535.

only obligated to carry out Council decisions that are taken in conformity with the Charter. Article 24 provides:

- In order to ensure prompt and effective action by the United Nations, its Members confer on the Security Council primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security, and agree that in carrying out its duties under this responsibility the Security Council acts on their behalf:
- 2. In discharging these duties the Security Council shall act in accordance with the Purposes and Principles of the United Nations . . .

Under Article 24(2), the Council is thus required to act in accordance with the UN Purposes and Principles, which are surveyed in section 1.2, above. By pointing to the UN Purposes and Principles and the provisions of the Charter in general, Articles 24 and 25 provide a clear indication that the Security Council's powers are not supposed to be exercised without limits. This position has been reaffirmed by various international judicial bodies. In the *Certain Expenses* case, the International Court of Justice acknowledged that the Council's powers are not unlimited, but it found that when the Council's actions are necessary for the maintenance of international peace and security, the presumption should be that it is not acting ultra vires.⁶⁴ The ICTY, for its part, held in the *Tadić* case that the Security Council is subject to constitutional limitations, no matter how broad its powers may be.⁶⁵

Although the UN Purposes and Principles provide a potential source of limits upon the Security Council's powers, they deliver scant clarity concerning the specific contours of those limits. The normative aspirations contained in the provisions of the Purposes and Principles are broad, abstract and open to subjective interpretation. Indeed, they have been described as 'far too vague and general... to provide a meaningful limitation of the Council's powers'. Nevertheless, some commentators have sought to extract from the UN's Purposes and Principles meaningful, practically applicable rules that might limit Security Council action. Thus, it has been proposed that the Council cannot undermine the essence of the right of self-determination (Article 1(2)), ⁶⁸

⁶⁴ Certain Expenses of the United Nations (Article 17, Paragraph 2, of the Charter), (Advisory Opinion of 20 July 1962) (1962) ICJ Reports 151, 168.

⁶⁵ Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadić a/k/a 'Dule', Case No. IT-94-1-AR72, 2 October 1995, para. 28.

⁶⁶ Martenczuk, 'The Security Council, the ICJ and Judicial Review', 542.

⁶⁷ See, e.g., Schweigman, The Authority of the Security Council, pp. 167–182.

⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 169; de Wet, Chapter VII Powers, p. 193.

must respect basic human rights (Article 1(3))⁶⁹ and must exercise its responsibilities in good faith (Article 2(2)).⁷⁰ Upon closer inspection, however, these same commentators concede qualifications that dilute these prospective limits. The Council can thus violate the principle of self-determination by imposing a transitional UN administration, if on a temporary basis and for the purpose of establishing stability.⁷¹ It can violate human rights in the interests of peace and security if it acts out of necessity and with proportionality.⁷² And the proposed limitation of acting in good faith does not necessarily require the Council to act consistently if that would undermine its efficiency.⁷³

The other major Charter-based source of limits upon the Council's sanctions powers is the text of Article 39 itself.⁷⁴ It has thus been argued that the discretion of the Security Council to determine the existence of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression is restricted to situations that have 'a demonstrable link to the use of armed force in international relations'.⁷⁵ or a clear 'impact upon international relations'.⁷⁶ These thresholds would seem to be consistent with the intent of the text of Article 39 and Chapter VII as a whole. However, in an interdependent, globalised world, practically every situation that might be characterised as a threat to the peace has an impact upon international relations, including the potential to lead to the use of armed force. It is thus questionable whether even these modest attempts at restraining the Council's discretion would lead to any meaningful contraction of the Council's determinations under Article 39.

Moreover, there is conflicting international jurisprudence concerning whether the Council's discretion to make determinations under Article 39 can be restricted. The ICTY concluded in the *Tadić* case that the Security Council does not have a completely unfettered discretion concerning what amounts to a threat to the peace. However, in the *Kanyabashi* case, the ICTR held that the Council's discretionary

⁶⁹ Schweigman, *ibid.*, p. 172; de Wet, *ibid.*, p. 193.

⁷⁰ Schweigman, *ibid.*, p. 174; de Wet, *ibid.*, p. 195.

⁷¹ Schweigman, *ibid.*, pp. 170–171. ⁷² *Ibid.*, p. 171.

⁷³ Ibid., pp. 175–177; cf. de Wet, Chapter VII Powers, p. 198 (arguing the need to ensure consistency in the employment of measures that could only be subjected to judicial review with great difficulty).

⁷⁴ See, e.g., de Wet, *ibid.*, pp. 178–216.

⁷⁵ Martenczuk, 'The Security Council, the ICJ and Judicial Review', 544.

⁷⁶ de Wet, Chapter VII Powers, pp. 175-176.

⁷⁷ Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadić a/k/a 'Dule', Case No. IT-94-1-AR72, 2 October 1995, para. 29.

assessments under Article 39 were not justiciable. The ICJ has not pronounced itself definitively on this question. However, in the *Lockerbie* case various judges expressed the view that the Council retained exclusive discretion concerning the state of affairs that brings Chapter VII into operation. 79

3.2 Peremptory norms as a potential limit upon the Council's sanctions powers

Explorations of the potential limits upon Security Council action have not been confined to the Charter's quarry. A growing literature analyses the potential of extra-Charter legal sources to restrict Security Council action. Foremost among these proposed sources are peremptory norms of general international law, which are commonly referred to as norms of *jus cogens*. The concept of peremptory norms was recognised by Article 53 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, which provides that a treaty is null and void if it is concluded in conflict with peremptory norms. Peremptory norms are normative principles that are considered to be so important for the welfare and even survival of the global community that they cannot be violated or derogated from. As these norms are so essential, it can be argued that the Security Council is legally bound to respect them. According to this view, if the Council makes a decision that contravenes a peremptory norm, that decision should be considered void ab initio.

The category of norms that are considered peremptory has not been exhaustively defined. However, a variety of norms touching upon the activities of the Security Council are likely candidates for the mantle of

⁷⁸ Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-T, Decision on the Defence Motion on Jurisdiction (18 June 1997), para. 20.

⁷⁹ See, e.g., Questions of Interpretation and Application of the 1971 Montreal Convention Arising from the Aerial Incident at Lockerbie (Libya v. United States), Provisional Measures, ICJ Reports (1992) 114, 176 (Judge Weeramantry, dissenting opinion); Questions of Interpretation and Application of the 1971 Montreal Convention Arising from the Aerial Incident at Lockerbie (Libya v. United Kingdom), Preliminary Objections ICJ Reports (1998) 2, 110 (Judge ad hoc Jennings, dissenting opinion).

Schweigman, The Authority of the Security Council; de Wet, Chapter VII Powers; Orakhelashvili, 'The Impact of Peremptory Norms'; Ioana Petculescu, 'The Review of the United Nations Security Council Decisions by the International Court of Justice' (2005) 52 Netherlands ILR 167–195; Orakhelashvili, Peremptory Norms in International Law.

See, e.g., Schweigman, The Authority of the Security Council, pp. 197–201; de Wet, Chapter VII Powers, pp. 187–191; Orakhelashvili, 'The Impact of Peremptory Norms', 63–67.

⁸² Orakhelashvili, 'The Impact of Peremptory Norms', 62-63.

⁸³ Thid. 84 Thid., 83.

jus cogens, including the prohibition of the use of force, the right to selfdetermination, fundamental human rights and international humanitarian law. 85 Orakhelashvili has explored the practice of the Security Council in relation to these norms and identified several instances in which the Council has arguably extended implicit support for a breach of a peremptory norm or failed to act when faced with such a breach.86

A recent international judicial decision has supported the view that the Security Council's sanctions powers can be restricted by peremptory norms. In the *Kadi* case, the Court of First Instance of the European Communities considered a petition from an individual whose assets had been frozen by the European Council in accordance with the 1267 Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime. 87 Whilst conceding that it could not review the Council's determination of what constitutes a threat to international peace and security, 88 the Court found that it was empowered to consider the lawfulness of Security Council resolutions with regard to jus cogens. 89 It also concluded that if the Council's resolutions failed to observe jus cogens, they would not bind UN member states. 90 It proceeded to affirm that fundamental human rights were peremptory norms, 91 and explored the extent to which the Council's sanctions practice had violated the applicant's rights to respect for property, 92 to a hearing⁹³ and to effective judicial review.⁹⁴ Ultimately, the Court held that the Security Council and its 1267 Committee had not violated the first two rights, as the elaboration of exemptions meant that the applicant had not been arbitrarily deprived of property, 95 and the Committee's process for listing and delisting provided for some form of hearing. 96 With respect to the question of effective judicial review, the Court acknowledged that the applicant's rights had been restricted, but it held that the applicant's interest in having a court hear his case on the merits was not enough to outweigh 'the essential public interest in the maintenance of international peace and security in the face of a threat clearly identified by the Security Council in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations'. 97

⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, 63-67. ⁸⁶ Ibid., 71-73.

⁸⁷ Yassin Abdullah Kadi v. Council and Commission, Court of First Instance, Case T-315/01, 21 September 2005, (2006) 45 ILM 81, para. 219.

⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 219. ⁸⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 226. ⁹⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 230. ⁹¹ *Ibid.*, para. 231. ⁹² *Ibid.*, paras. 234-252. ⁹³ *Ibid.*, paras. 253-276. ⁹⁴ *Ibid.*, paras. 277-291.

⁹⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 243. ⁹⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 265–268. ⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 289.

3.3 The possibility of judicial review of Security Council sanctions

There is no shortage of potential legal limits upon the actions of the Security Council. The key question, however, is how to ensure that the Security Council observes and respects those legal limits. These potential legal limits upon Council action will remain prospective rather than actual until a means can be found to ensure that they are observed and respected by the Council.

Most scholars who explore the legal restrictions upon Council action also embark upon a quest to find a mechanism to guarantee that the Council would respect their freshly charted legal boundaries. The favoured mechanism is judicial review. The idea that Security Council action might become subject to judicial review, or that there would even be a need for such review, would once have been considered fanciful. During the Cold War, the Council was generally criticised for failing to exercise, rather than for exceeding, its powers. However, in the early 1990s, as the post-Cold War Security Council finally began to exercise its Chapter VII powers, some observers started to fear that international peace and security might be threatened as much by an active Council as it had been by an inactive Council. Almost immediately there began to be calls for the International Court of Justice to play a role in restraining the Council.

The UN Charter does not provide for institutionalised judicial review, according to which the legal validity of Security Council decisions would be subject to review by a judicial organ. As the International Court of Justice observed in the *Certain Expenses* case, this was not an oversight:

In the legal systems of States, there is often some procedure for determining the validity of even a legislative or governmental act, but no analogous procedure is to be found in the structure of the United Nations. Proposals made during the drafting of the Charter to place the ultimate authority to interpret the Charter in the International Court of Justice were not accepted. 99

⁹⁸ de Wet, 'Judicial Review as an Emerging General Principle of Law'; John Dugard, 'Judicial Review of Sanctions', in Vera Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law* (The Hague: Kluwer Law International, 2001), pp. 83–91; Schweigman, *The Authority of the Security Council*; de Wet, *Chapter VII Powers*; Petculescu, 'The Review of the United Nations Security Council Decisions'.

⁹⁹ Certain Expenses of the United Nations (Article 17, Paragraph 2, of the Charter), (Advisory Opinion of 20 July 1962) (1962) ICJ Reports 151, 168.

Instead of providing for a system of judicial review with the ICJ at its apex, the Charter bestowed upon the Security Council primary responsibility for the maintenance of peace and security, whilst at the same time providing that the International Court of Justice was the principal judicial organ of the UN. 100

Although the UN Charter does not establish a basis for institutional judicial review of the decisions of the UN's political organs, it does not preclude the ICI from deliberating upon disputes that are concurrently before those bodies. The ICI is thus not subject to the same restrictions as the UN General Assembly, which is prohibited by Article 12 of the Charter from considering a dispute already before the Security Council. As the Lockerbie case demonstrates, the Court may thus consider the legal dimensions of a dispute that is concurrently under consideration by the Security Council. 101 Moreover, as various cases heard by other judicial bodies illustrate, including the ICTY Tadić case, the ICTR Kanyabashi case and the Kadi case heard by the Court of First Instance of the European Communities, the ICI is not the only international judicial body that may have cause to consider legal questions touching upon the powers of the Security Council. With the establishment of the International Criminal Court, there is also the possibility that yet another international judicial body may have cause to touch upon the Council's powers. 102

However, despite the fact that these various international judicial bodies may continue to have occasional cause to touch upon the Council's powers, their potential to play a meaningful regulatory role over Security Council action is limited. The ICJ would be the logical candidate to play a primary judicial review role, yet its capacity to hear cases addressing the Council's powers is restricted by jurisdictional questions. Cases come before the Court either under contentious or advisory jurisdiction. The Court has power to issue binding decisions heard under its contentious jurisdiction. However, such decisions are only binding upon the parties to each particular dispute. The Security Council cannot be party to a contentious case and thus cannot be bound

¹⁰⁰ UN Charter, Articles 24 and 92.

Questions of Interpretation and Application of the 1971 Montreal Convention Arising from the Aerial Incident at Lockerbie (Libya v. United Kingdom; Libya v. United States), Provisional Measures (Orders of 14 April 1992), ICJ Reports (1992) 3, 114; Preliminary Objections (Orders of 27 February 1998) ICJ Reports (1998) 2, 115.

¹⁰² For discussion, see Petculescu, 'The Review of the United Nations Security Council Decisions', 186–188.

by a decision made under contentious jurisdiction. As Alvarez notes: 'The most the Court would find [in a contentious jurisdiction case] is that a particular Council decision as applied to these parties in the circumstances at issue would be illegal.' ¹⁰³ The Court may, of course, pronounce upon the Council's powers under its advisory jurisdiction and its pronouncements would carry considerable weight as authoritative findings of law, but the Council would not be bound by such advisory findings.

The ICJ's inability to review the Council's actions in a routine, determinative and binding manner thus suggests that its future review activities will continue to be 'incidental or fortuitous'. ¹⁰⁴ Review activities by other international judicial bodies, which rank below the ICJ in the international legal hierarchy, have even less capacity to bind the Council. Moreover, although these bodies have shown a willingness to pronounce upon general legal principles touching upon the Council's powers, they have also demonstrated a reluctance to enter into conflict with the Council. This is natural and understandable, especially as some of the bodies concerned owe their very existence to the Council. Thus, although recent developments show that the Council's actions are not completely shielded from the international judicial microscope, the ability of international judicial tribunals to engage in meaningful regulation of Security Council decision-making remains limited.

3.4 The Security Council's enduring power

The fact that a number of international judicial bodies have been prepared to speculate upon the outer limits of the Security Council's powers represents a considerable development in the international legal order. Nevertheless, for at least the foreseeable future these judicial interventions are unlikely to occur frequently. In all probability, instances of judicial review will continue to be ad hoc and haphazard, as judicial bodies continue to struggle with the ramifications of sitting in judgment upon a Security Council which is empowered by the UN Charter to take urgent action to maintain and restore international peace and security. In the absence of any mechanism to ensure a separation and balance of powers on the international sphere, meaningful

 $^{^{103}\,}$ José E. Alvarez, 'Judging the Security Council' (1996) 90 AJIL 1–39 at 5.

Gowlland-Debbas, 'The Relationship Between the International Court of Justice and the Security Council', 670.

judicial review is unlikely to emerge on the international plane in the near future.

Recent contributions to the expanding literature on the legal limits upon the Security Council's powers are both important and timely. They provide valuable guidance to scholars contemplating the legitimate scope of the Security Council's powers. They may also influence the thinking of judges sitting on courts and tribunals that decide that they have jurisdiction to review the Security Council's activities and therefore seek to identify the legal norms that might legitimately be considered to restrict the Council's powers. However, even in the unlikely event that judicial review of Security Council action were to become the rule rather than the exception, it is unclear to what extent that process would have the ability to transform the Council's behaviour.

The generally glacial pace of the judicial review process makes it likely that, as in the *Lockerbie* case, by the time an issue comes before a court that determines it has jurisdiction to review the Council's action, the original state of affairs would have been superseded either by developments that fundamentally affect the original facts of the case, or by legally binding Chapter VII Council action that has the effect of moving the matter beyond the reach of the court. Even if judicial review of Security Council action were to become institutionalised and were to prove more effective than anticipated, in all probability the impact upon the Security Council's practice would be piecemeal, ad hoc and minimal. It is highly unlikely that judicial review will result in a paradigm shift in the Security Council's practice. Such a shift can only come from within the Council itself.

4. The Charter's implementation lacuna and the organic evolution of the UN sanctions system

In theory, the virtually universal nature of the legal obligation upon states to implement UN sanctions should mean that, when the Security Council decides to apply sanctions, they will then be implemented universally. Experience has demonstrated, however, that the Council's authorisation of mandatory sanctions is rarely sufficient in itself to guarantee that sanctions will actually be implemented. In some instances, a state may not be able to ensure the watertight implementation of sanctions. In other cases, a state may stand to lose so much from the

observation of sanctions, or to gain so much from their violation, that it might turn a blind eye to sanctions violations, or resolve not to implement them at all.

The UN founders did not outline a detailed blueprint for a system to guarantee the practical implementation of UN sanctions. Although the UN Charter provides the Security Council with the authority to impose sanctions, it is silent upon the question of what steps could or should be taken to ensure that sanctions are, in fact, applied. The founders were clearly mindful, however, of the possibility that sanctions might not be fully implemented. The inclusion of Article 50, which provides that any state confronted by 'special economic problems' arising from the application of UN sanctions has the right to consult the Council to seek a solution to its problem, appears to have been designed to offset the temptation to continue to engage in trade with a state subject to UN sanctions. In addition, the founders bestowed upon the Council, through Article 29, the power to establish subsidiary organs to facilitate the Council's work. 105 Article 30 also empowers the Council to adopt its own rules of procedure. 106 Through these mechanisms, the UN founders therefore afforded the Council the flexibility to take whatever steps it considered necessary to guarantee the implementation of its decisions.

The absence of a detailed, pre-designed Charter framework for the application, administration and enforcement of sanctions, has not prevented the Security Council from taking a variety of steps to seek the effective implementation of sanctions. Indeed, the absence of a prescriptive framework could be interpreted as both a weakness and a strength. On the one hand, the Council is granted such a wide discretion in sanctions matters that its powers are vulnerable to neglect or abuse. It has been accused of applying sanctions on an ad hoc, case-by-case basis 107 and its approach to law enforcement has been described as

Andrea Bianchi, 'Ad-hocism and the Rule of Law (2002) 13 EJIL 263–272; Larry Minear, David Cortright, Julia Wagler, George A. Lopez and Thomas G. Weiss, Toward More

Article 29 of the Charter states that: 'The Security Council may establish such subsidiary organs as it deems necessary for the performance of its functions.'

Article 30 of the Charter states that: 'The Security Council shall adopt its own rules of procedure, including the method of selecting its own President.' Although the Council has never adopted a formal set of rules of procedure, it has agreed upon a set of provisional rules of procedure, which are followed in practice. See S/96/Rev. 7: Provisional Rules of Procedure of the Security Council (1982) United Nations, New York. For a description of the negotiations leading to the formulation and adoption of the provisional rules, see Bailey and Daws, The Procedure of the Security Council, pp. 9–17.

'unsystematic and largely unconscious'. ¹⁰⁸ On the other hand, however, this freedom enables the Council to innovate as and when necessary in its quest to ensure that sanctions are well administered and monitored. Moreover, even in the absence of a sophisticated, Charter-prescribed machinery for implementing sanctions, sufficient patterns can be detected in the Council's sanctions practice to indicate the evolution of an organic UN sanctions system. Analysis now turns to describing how the Security Council has acted upon its sanctions powers to create that sanctions system. Part III thus traces the manner in which the Council has established the legal basis for sanctions, delineated the scope of sanctions, fine-tuned sanctions and delegated responsibility for sanctions administration and monitoring.

Humane and Effective Sanctions Management: Enhancing the Capacity of the United Nations System (Providence, RI: Watson Institute for International Studies, 1998), p. xxxvi.

108 Vera Gowlland-Debbas, 'The Functions of the United Nations Security Council in the International Legal System', in Byers (ed.), The Role of Law in International Politics, p. 311.

PART III · UN SANCTIONS IN PRACTICE

5 Establishing the legal basis for sanctions: identifying threats and invoking Chapter VII

In its role as the creator and overseer of UN sanctions, the Security Council shapes the parameters of each sanctions regime. When the Security Council imposes a new sanctions regime, it generally identifies a threat to or breach of international peace and security, before invoking Chapter VII of the Charter as the basis for action. The Council then delineates the scope of the measures to be applied and identifies the particular state, group or individuals against which sanctions are to be applied. The Council has also taken a number of additional steps to finetune sanctions application. It has clarified the objectives of sanctions, setting conditions whose fulfilment will lead to the suspension or termination of sanctions. It has outlined exemptions from the sanctions regime and determined the temporal application of the sanctions, stipulating whether sanctions were subject to a time-limit or would come into force immediately or after a time-delay.

The Security Council has generally delegated responsibility for the day-to-day administration of its new sanctions regimes to a subsidiary organ, most often a sanctions committee that is created expressly for that purpose. The Council has also established other sanctions-related subsidiary bodies, including Panels of Experts, Monitoring Mechanisms and Special Commissions, to administer and monitor the implementation of sanctions. These subsidiary bodies generally undertake responsibilities that are specific to an individual sanctions regime, rather than having a broader, system-wide focus connected with the implementation of sanctions in general.¹

An exception to this tendency was the establishment of the Informal Working Group of the Security Council on General Issues of Sanctions (the 'Working Group on Sanctions'). For further discussion of that Working Group, see Chapter 8.

Once a sanctions regime is established, the Council's role subsequently becomes one of oversight. In its oversight role, the Council responds to developments on the ground, expanding the scope of the sanctions if necessary to induce the compliance of a non-compliant target, or contracting the scope of the sanctions in order to reward partial compliance. In instances where the objectives of a sanctions regime have been partially or fully achieved, the Council might also decide to suspend or terminate the sanctions.

1. Determining the existence of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression

Article 39 of the UN Charter requires the Security Council to determine the existence of any threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression and to decide what measures shall be taken, including the application of sanctions, in order to maintain or restore international peace and security.² When the Council applied its first sanctions regime, against the illegal white minority regime in Southern Rhodesia, it expressly invoked both Articles 39 and 41 of the Council as the basis for its action.³ Following that first instance, the Council has tended not to invoke these Articles explicitly in connection with its sanctions regimes.⁴ Nevertheless, the Council has continued to acknowledge Article 39 as the trigger for its sanctions action by making a determination of the type envisaged by that Article when applying new sanctions.

1.1 Must the Security Council make a determination under Article 39 before applying sanctions?

The text of Article 39 suggests that, prior to applying sanctions, the Council should first determine the existence of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression. In practice, however, while the Council has made a determination of the type envisaged by Article 39 in connection with each sanctions regime established to date, the Council has thrice failed to make such a determination until sanctions had

² UN Charter, Article 39.

³ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4.

⁴ This remains true for Article 39, although the Council has recently begun to cite Article 41 again, doing so when applying sanctions against North Korea and Iran. See SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), preambular para. 10 (North Korea); and SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 10 (Iran).

already been imposed. In its resolutions establishing the 820 Bosnian Serb, 1160 Federal Republic of Yugoslavia and 1737 Iran sanctions regimes, the Council noted that it was acting under Chapter VII and proceeded to apply sanctions, without having made a prior determination of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression. From a legal perspective, the Council's failure to make a determination of a breach or threat to the peace or an act of aggression prior to imposing sanctions was problematic. Did the absence of such a determination render the invocation of Chapter VII, and therefore the application of sanctions, illegitimate? Or might it be argued that the invocation of Chapter VII de facto amounted to an implicit determination under Article 39?

In the case of the 820 Bosnian Serb sanctions, the lack of a determination of a threat to the peace might have been due to the fact that the sanctions were imposed by a resolution whose primary focus was to strengthen the existing 757 Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) (FRYSM) sanctions regime. As the Council had already identified a threat to international peace and security in the situation in the former Yugoslavia in general, and in Bosnia and Herzegovina in particular, perhaps it was not considered necessary to make another such determination.

In the case of the 1160 Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) sanctions regime, the Council's failure to make such a determination can be attributed to the positions of the Russian and Chinese delegations, which did not consider the situation in Kosovo to constitute a threat to regional or international peace and security. Given that two of the permanent members of the Security Council maintained this position, it is puzzling that the Security Council was able to adopt the decision imposing sanctions. When it came to the vote, China abstained, thus maintaining some consistency vis-à-vis its position on the lack of a threat to the peace. It is very

⁵ On the Bosnian Serb sanctions, see SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), Section B, preambular para. 2 (invoking Chapter VII) and para. 12 (applying comprehensive sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs). On the FRY sanctions, see SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), preambular para. 8 (invoking Chapter VII) and para. 8 (applying an arms embargo). On the Iran sanctions, see SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 10 (invoking Chapter VII and Article 41) and paras. 3–4, 6, 12 (applying sanctions).

⁶ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), preambular para. 4.

⁷ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), preambular para. 17.

See the following statements made before the Council adopted resolution 1160 (1998): S/PV.3868 (31 March 1998), pp. 10-11 (Russian Federation), pp. 11-12 (China).

⁹ For the vote on resolution 1160 (1998), see S/PV.3868 (31 March 1998), p. 12.

difficult, however, to reconcile the Russian position that there was no threat to the peace with its subsequent vote in favour of the resolution imposing sanctions.¹⁰

In the case of Iran, the Council had already adopted resolution 1695 (2006), in which it had expressed concern at the proliferation risks presented by the Iranian nuclear programme, stated that it was mindful of its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security, and expressed determination to prevent an aggravation of the situation. 11 The Council had then invoked Article 40 of the Charter, 12 before calling on Iran to take steps that had been required by the Board of Governors of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), 13 and demanding that Iran suspend all enrichment-related and processing activities, including research and development. 14 Five months later, the Council adopted resolution 1737 (2006), in which it deplored Iran's refusal to take the steps required by the IAEA Board of Governors, 15 and expressed concern at the proliferation risks posed by the Iranian nuclear programme and at Iran's failure to comply with the IAEA's requirements and the Council's own demands. 16 The Council again stated that it was mindful of its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security. Then, noting that it was acting under Article 41 of the Charter, 17 the Council proceeded to apply sanctions against Iran. 18 Thus, although the Council explicitly invoked Articles 40 and 41 in resolutions 1695 (2006) and 1737 (2006), respectively, it did not make a determination that there was a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression.

The most plausible legal interpretation of the chain of events in these instances is that the Security Council's decision to invoke Chapter VII and impose sanctions must amount to an implicit determination under Article 39. In the case of the 1160 sanctions regime, the United Kingdom argued that, by adopting resolution 1160 (1998), the Security Council had sent 'an unmistakable message: that by acting under Chapter VII of the Charter, the Council considers that the situation in Kosovo constitutes a threat to international peace and security'. ¹⁹ In the 820 Bosnian Serb and 1160 FRY instances, the situation was ultimately clarified as

 $^{^{10}\,}$ $\mathit{Ibid}.$ $^{11}\,$ SC Res. 1696 (31 July 2006), preambular para. 9.

¹² *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10. ¹³ *Ibid.*, para. 1. ¹⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 2.

¹⁵ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 6. ¹⁶ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 9.

¹⁷ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10. ¹⁸ *Ibid.*, paras 3–4, 6, 12.

¹⁹ S/PV.3868 (31 March 1998), p. 12.

the Council proceeded to make multiple subsequent determinations of a threat to the peace. ²⁰ In all likelihood, the Council will remedy its oversight in the Iran instance by making such a determination in future resolutions modifying the application of the 1737 sanctions regime. However, in order to resolve any doubts concerning the legal validity of its sanctions resolutions, where possible the Security Council should make a clear determination of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression before establishing a new sanctions regime.

1.2 Threats to the peace

The Security Council has made a determination of a threat to the peace in relation to each of its sanctions regimes, with the exception of the Iran sanctions. Even in cases where the Council has not originally characterised a situation warranting the application of sanctions as a threat to the peace, it has nevertheless proceeded to do so at a later stage. As discussed in the previous section, after initially neglecting to identify a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression in relation to the 820 Bosnian Serb and 1160 FRY sanctions regimes, the Council subsequently determined that both situations constituted a threat to the peace. In the case of the 661 Iraq sanctions regime, where sanctions were initially applied in response to a breach of the peace, ²¹ the Council later characterised the basis for the continued application of sanctions beyond the 1991 Gulf War as a threat to the peace. ²²

The Security Council tends to avoid articulating the precise nature of threats to the peace. Nevertheless, before determining the existence of a threat, the Council does generally refer to the background context giving rise to the threat. Conceptually, the situations in which the Council has determined the existence of threats to the peace warranting the application of sanctions can be divided into two broad categories: those with a clear international or transboundary dimension and those arising from an internal national crisis.

On the Bosnian Serb sanctions, see SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 10. On the FRY sanctions, see SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 15; SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), preambular para. 12.

²¹ SC Res. 660 (2 August 1990), preambular para. 2.

²² SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), preambular para. 17.

i. Threats with a clear international dimension

Within the broad category of threats with an international or transboundary dimension, the Security Council has determined the existence of a threat to the peace in four different types of situations: (a) where a state has a history of maintaining an aggressive foreign policy, combined with the potential to possess or to produce weapons of mass destruction; (b) where a state or non-state entity has engaged in or provided support for acts of international terrorism; (c) where two states have been engaged in international conflict; and (d) where states have undertaken acts of interference in the affairs of another state.

(a) States with an aggressive history and the potential to possess or produce weapons of mass destruction

The Security Council has determined the existence of a threat to the peace in connection with countries which have demonstrated an aggressive foreign policy and which have sought to possess or produce nuclear weapons, including South Africa, Iraq, North Korea and Iran. In the case of South Africa, an important component of the Security Council's characterisation of a threat to the peace was the combination of South Africa's aggressive foreign policy and its attempts to acquire the capacity to produce nuclear weapons. In November 1977 the Council expressed grave concern that South Africa was at the threshold of producing nuclear weapons, 23 and strongly condemned the government of South Africa for its acts of repression, its continuance of the system of apartheid and its attacks against neighbouring states.²⁴ It then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, 25 determined that, having regard to the policies and acts of the South African government, the acquisition by South Africa of arms and related material constituted a threat to international peace and security, 26 and applied mandatory sanctions against South Africa.²⁷

In the case of the sanctions against Iraq, as applied after the Gulf War, the Council referred to the threat posed to peace and security in the area by weapons of mass destruction, as well as to the need to establish a

²³ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 5.

²⁴ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6. ²⁵ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10.

²⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 1; SC Res. 421 (9 December 1977), preambular para. 1.

²⁷ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), para. 2.

zone free of such weapons in the Middle East.²⁸ It then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII,²⁹ before reaffirming the continued application of the sanctions.³⁰ In the case of North Korea, the Council expressed profound concern that the nuclear test conducted by North Korea had generated increased tension in the region and beyond, and determined that there was a clear threat to international peace and security.³¹ The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII of the Charter and taking measures under Article 41,³² before proceeding to apply sanctions.³³

As just discussed, the Council did not make an explicit determination of a threat to the peace when applying sanctions against Iran. However, various provisions of resolutions 1695 (2006) and 1737 (2006) indicate that the Council considered Iran's actions to constitute a threat to international peace and security. In resolution 1695 (2006) the Council expressed concern at the proliferation risks presented by the Iranian nuclear programme and stated that it was mindful of its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security.³⁴ In resolution 1737 (2006), the Council again expressed concern at the proliferation risks posed by the Iranian nuclear programme and at Iran's failure to comply with the IAEA's requirements and the Council's own demands,³⁵ and it again stated that it was mindful of its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security.³⁶

(b) International terrorism

The Security Council has identified international terrorism as a threat to international peace and security in connection with a number of its sanctions regimes. In the case of Libya, in January 1992 the Security

SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), preambular para. 17. This reference to a threat to international peace and security raises the question of whether the cessation of Gulf War hostilities also signified the effective dissipation of the breach of international peace and security that the Council had identified in resolution 660 (1990). If so, then it was necessary for the Council to identify an alternative threat to or breach of international peace and security to which the continued application of sanctions would respond. It is also possible, however, that the Council's affirmation in para. 1 of the thirteen prior resolutions on the situation was meant to signify that the breach of international peace and security was continuing. According to such a reading, the breach would not fully dissipate until Iraq complied with its obligations under resolution 687 (1991).

²⁹ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), preambular para. 26. ³⁰ *Ibid.*, paras. 20–24.

SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), preambular para. 9.
 Ibid., preambular para. 10.
 Ibid., paras. 8-10.
 SC Res. 1696 (31 July 2006), preambular para. 9.

³⁵ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 9. ³⁶ *Ibid.*

Council characterised acts of terrorism as a threat to international peace and security, 37 expressed deep concern that investigations into the Pan Am and UTA bombings had implicated officials of the Libyan government,³⁸ deplored the fact that the Libyan government had not vet co-operated with attempts to establish responsibility for the bombings, ³⁹ and urged the Libyan government to co-operate with international investigations. 40 Four months later, after Libya had failed to respond to its requests, the Council stated that the suppression of acts of terrorism was 'essential for the maintenance of international peace and security', 41 and determined that the Libyan government's failure to demonstrate by concrete steps its renunciation of terrorism and its failure to respond fully and effectively to the requests of resolution 731 (1992) constituted a threat to international peace and security. 42 The Council then invoked Chapter VII, 43 before applying sanctions. 44

In the case of the 1054 Sudan sanctions regime, in January 1996 the Council condemned the 'terrorist assassination attempt' that had been made against President Mubarak, of Egypt, in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, on 26 June 1995. 45 The Council then called upon the government of Sudan to extradite to Ethiopia three assassination attempt suspects who were believed to be in Sudan, and to refrain from assisting, supporting or facilitating terrorist activities and from giving shelter or sanctuary to 'terrorist elements'. 46 In March 1996, after the Un Secretary-General had reported that Sudan had failed to comply with the Council's requests, ⁴⁷ the Council reaffirmed that the suppression of acts of international terrorism, including those in which states were involved, was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security. 48 It then determined that the government of Sudan's non-compliance with its requests to extradite the three suspects to Ethiopia, and to refrain from assisting, supporting or facilitating terrorist activities, as well as from giving shelter or sanctuary to terrorists, constituted a threat to international peace and security. 49 The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, 50 before imposing sanctions against Sudan. 51

SC Res. 731 (21 January 1992), preambular para. 2.
 Ibid., para. 2.
 Ibid., para. 3.
 SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), preambular para. 4.
 Ibid., preambular para. 7.
 Ibid., preambular para. 10. ⁴⁴ The sanctions were outlined in: SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 3-6. ⁴⁵ SC Res. 1044 (31 January 1996), para. 1. ⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 4. ⁴⁷ See S/1996/179 (11 March 1996), para. 31. ⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10.

⁴⁸ SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), preambular para. 9. ⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 11. ⁵¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 3–4.

In the case of the 1267 Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime, in October 1999 the Security Council strongly condemned the continuing use of Afghan territory, especially areas controlled by the Taliban, for the sheltering and training of terrorists and planning of terrorist acts, and reaffirmed its conviction that the suppression of international terrorism was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security.⁵² The Council then determined that the failure of the Taliban to comply with a demand it had made in December 1998 to stop providing sanctuary and training for international terrorists and their organisations and to co-operate with efforts to bring indicted terrorists to justice, constituted a threat to international peace and security.⁵³ It then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, before proceeding to apply sanctions against the Taliban.⁵⁴ In subsequent decisions related to the Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regime, there has been a subtle evolution in the Council's characterisation of the threat to the peace. While the Taliban regime retained power in Afghanistan, the Council again determined on two occasions - that the failure of the Taliban to comply with the requirements of the sanctions regime constituted a threat to international peace and security, 55 whilst also reaffirming that the suppression of international terrorism was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security. ⁵⁶ Since January 2002, however, the Council has simply reaffirmed that acts of international terrorism constitute a threat to international peace and security.⁵⁷

In the case of the 1636 Hariri sanctions regime, in October 2005 the Security Council reaffirmed that terrorism constituted 'one of the most serious threats to peace and security'. ⁵⁸ The Council then determined that the 14 February 2005 terrorist bombing in Beirut that killed former Lebanese Prime Minister Rafiq Hariri and twenty-two others constituted a threat to international peace and security and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII before proceeding to impose sanctions. ⁵⁹

⁵² SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), preambular para. 5.

⁵³ Ibid., preambular para. 8. For the original demand, see SC Res. 1214 (8 December 1998), para. 13.

⁵⁴ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), preambular para. 10.

⁵⁵ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), preambular para. 2.

⁵⁶ S/PRST/2000/12 (7 April 2000); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular para. 7.

⁵⁷ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), preambular para. 7.

⁵⁸ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), preambular para. 3. ⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, preambular paras. 19, 21.

(c) International conflict

In the case of Eritrea and Ethiopia, in late January 1999 the Security Council expressed grave concern at the escalating arms build-up on both sides of the border between Eritrea and Ethiopia. 60 At the time. the Council also expressed its strong support for the mediation efforts that had been undertaken by the Organization of African Unity (OAU), and in particular for the Framework Agreement which had been approved by the OAU's Mechanism for Conflict Prevention, Management, and Resolution in December 1998. ⁶¹ Two weeks later, after conflict broke out between the two countries, the Council stressed that the situation constituted a threat to peace and security⁶² and demanded an immediate halt to hostilities. ⁶³ On 12 May 2000, after a fresh outbreak of hostilities between Eritrea and Ethiopia, the Council stressed that the situation constituted a threat to peace and security, ⁶⁴ and demanded that both parties immediately cease all military actions and refrain from the further use of force. 65 Five days later, with hostilities continuing, the Council determined that the situation between Eritrea and Ethiopia constituted a threat to regional peace and security, ⁶⁶ and, acting under Chapter VII, ⁶⁷ it imposed sanctions against both Eritrea and Ethiopia. ⁶⁸

It is unclear why the Security Council decided to make a determination of a threat to the peace in the case of Eritrea and Ethiopia, rather than to characterise the situation as a breach of the peace. The existence of hostilities between states would seem to give rise to the archetypal instance of a breach of the peace. The same might also be said for the case of the sanctions against the former Yugoslavia. Although the sanctions were applied before Yugoslavia had dissolved, thus explaining why a threat rather than a breach was initially determined by the Council, in the post-Yugoslavia environment, with most of the successor entities of Yugoslavia recognised by the UN as states, it would have been open to the Security Council to define the ongoing conflict as a breach of the peace. In decisions relating to the application of the arms embargo dating from after the dissolution of Yugoslavia, however, the Council reaffirmed on a number of occasions that the situation in the

⁶⁰ SC Res. 1226 (29 January 1999), preambular para. 2.

⁶¹ Ibid., para. 1. For the text of the Framework Agreement, see S/1998/1223 (28 December 1998), annex.

 $^{^{62}\,}$ SC Res. 1227 (10 February 1999), preambular para. 4. $^{63}\,$ Ibid., para. 2.

⁶⁴ SC Res. 1297 (12 May 2000), preambular para. 9. 65 *Ibid.*, para. 2.

⁶⁶ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), preambular para. 13.

⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 14. 68 *Ibid.*, para. 6.

former Yugoslavia continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security. ⁶⁹

(d) Interference

In the case of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia-Montenegro) (FRYSM), the Security Council expressed deep concern in May 1992 about the rapid and violent deterioration of the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina, ⁷⁰ and made certain demands of all parties that were active in Bosnia and Herzegovina, including that all forms of interference from outside Bosnia and Herzegovina should cease immediately. ⁷¹ Two weeks later, the Council deplored the fact that its demands had not been complied with, ⁷² and determined that the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina and other parts of the former Yugoslavia constituted a threat to international peace and security. ⁷³ The Council then invoked Chapter VII, ⁷⁴ before imposing sanctions against FRYSM. ⁷⁵

In the case of the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime, the precise characterisation of the threat to the peace evolved in response to developments on the ground. In March 2001, the Council determined that the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in neighbouring countries, and in particular for the Revolutionary United Front (RUF) in Sierra Leone, constituted a threat to international peace and security. 76 It then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII before imposing sanctions.⁷⁷ In May 2002, when the Council extended the sanctions, it determined that the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in the region, including the RUF, constituted a threat to international peace and security.⁷⁸ In May 2003, when the Council again extended the initial sanctions and introduced additional timber and travel sanctions, it determined that the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in the region, including to rebels in Côte d'Ivoire and former RUF combatants who continued to destabilise the region, constituted a threat to international peace and security.⁷⁹

 ⁶⁹ See, e.g., SC Res. 721 (27 November 1991), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 743 (21 February 1992), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 5.
 ⁷⁰ SC Res. 752 (15 May 1992), preambular para. 3.
 ⁷¹ Ibid., paras. 3-4.
 ⁷² SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), preambular para. 4.
 ⁷³ Ibid., preambular para. 17.
 ⁷⁴ Ibid., preambular para. 18.
 ⁷⁵ Ibid., paras. 3-8.
 ⁷⁶ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), preambular para. 8.
 ⁷⁷ Ibid., preambular para. 9.

 ⁷⁸ SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), preambular para. 11.
 ⁷⁹ SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), preambular para. 13.

In these situations, it is interesting that the Security Council opted to determine the existence of a threat to the peace rather than a breach of the peace or an act of aggression. In each of the cases, the action giving rise to the determination of a threat was clearly of an international character. Thus, it would have been open to the Council to determine either the existence of a breach of the peace or of an act of aggression. The fact that the Council opted to characterise those situations as threats to the peace thus suggests that, in future, the determination of breaches of the peace or of aggression will continue to be considerably rarer than determinations of threats to the peace.

ii. Threats arising from internal crisis

Within the broad category of threats arising from internal crisis, the Security Council has determined the existence of a threat to the peace in the four following types of situation: (a) where a racist minority has prevented the majority from exercising its right to self-determination; (b) where a Government maintains a policy of apartheid; (c) where there is general civil war, with no entity in effective control of the apparatus of government; (d) where power has been seized from a democratically elected government; (e) where a government has been subject to or threatened by the use of military force by a rebel group; (f) where there has been a serious humanitarian crisis; and (g) where a government has used oppressive force against a minority, in violation of that minority's fundamental rights, including the right to self-determination.

(a) The denial of the right to self-determination by a racist minority regime⁸⁰ In the case of Southern Rhodesia, the denial of the right to self-determination by the illegal white minority regime was the major factor prompting the Council to determine the existence of a threat to the peace.⁸¹ In late 1965, the Council condemned the unilateral declaration

81 Simma has contended that an equally important factor was the potential for the spread of armed conflict throughout Southern Africa: Simma, The Charter of the United Nations

The term 'racist regime' was used consistently by the Council in respect of the Southern Rhodesian and South African regimes. In relation to Southern Rhodesia, see, e.g., SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 3; SC Res. 423 (14 March 1978), para. 5; SC Res. 455 (23 November 1979), preambular para. 8, para. 4. In relation to the South African regime, see, e.g., SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 1; SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 4, paras. 1, 9; SC Res. 546 (6 January 1984), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 8.

of independence by Ian Smith's white minority, 82 and determined that the continuance of the illegal regime constituted a threat to international peace and security.⁸³ More than twelve months later, with the Smith regime still in power, the Council noted that it was acting in accordance with Articles 39 and 41,84 determined that the situation in Southern Rhodesia constituted a threat to international peace and security, 85 and applied sanctions. 86 At the same time, the Council also reaffirmed 'the inalienable rights of the people of Southern Rhodesia to freedom and independence'. 87 In subsequent decisions modifying the scope of the sanctions regime, the Council reaffirmed the ongoing nature of the threat posed to international peace and security by the illegal minority regime in Southern Rhodesia⁸⁸ and invoked Chapter VII⁸⁹ and Article 41.⁹⁰ On multiple occasions, the Council also reaffirmed the importance of the objectives of ending the rebellion in Southern Rhodesia⁹¹ and enabling the self-determination and independence of the Southern Rhodesian people. 92

(2nd edn, 2002), p. 724. However, the Council did not refer to the aggressive foreign policies of the illegal Southern Rhodesian regime in its relevant resolutions until more than six years after the sanctions were first imposed. See SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973). Moreover, even when the Security Council did incorporate the aggressive external policies of the illegal regime as part of its characterisation of the threat to the peace, the basis of the original determinations of a threat to the peace – the existence of the illegal racist minority regime in Southern Rhodesia – was mentioned prior to the reference to the regime's aggressive external policies. See, e.g., SC Res. 424 (17 March 1978), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 455 (23 November 1979), preambular para. 8.

- 82 SC Res. 216 (12 November 1965), para. 1; SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 3.
- ⁸³ SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 1.
- ⁸⁴ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4.
- ⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 1. ⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 2. ⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 4.
- 88 See, e.g., SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 277(18 March 1970), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), preambular para. 7; and SC Res. 455 (23 November 1979), preambular para. 8.
- 89 See, e.g., SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 10; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), preambular para. 5.
- ⁹⁰ See SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9.
- ⁹¹ See, e.g., SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 3 and para. 3; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9; SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), para. 2; SC Res. 326 (2 February), para. 4; SC Res. 423 (14 March 1978), in general.
- ⁹² See, e.g., SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 4; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular paras. 7, 8, para. 2; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 5, para. 4; SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), preambular para. 4, para. 2; SC Res. 318 (28 July 1972), paras. 1, 2; SC Res. 326 (2 February), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), preambular para. 7, para. 3; SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 403 (14 January)

(b) Apartheid

While one component of the Security Council's determination of a threat to the peace in the case of South Africa was the combination of the South African government's aggressive foreign policies and pursuit of nuclear weapons, another important factor leading to the characterisation of a threat to the peace was the South African government's policy of apartheid, repression of the majority of its population, and denial of the right to self-determination. 93 On 31 October 1977, five days before it imposed sanctions against South Africa, the Council recalled its earlier calls to the South African regime to end violence against its people and to take urgent steps to eliminate apartheid and racial discrimination, 94 and noted that it was convinced that the violence and repression by the South African racist regime had greatly aggravated the situation in South Africa and would lead to violent conflict and racial conflagration with serious international repercussions. 95 At the same time, the Council also reaffirmed the legitimacy of the struggle of the South African people for the elimination of apartheid and racial discrimination, 96 and affirmed the right to the exercise of self-determination by all the people of South Africa, irrespective of race, colour or creed. 97 The Council then strongly condemned the South African regime for its repression of its black people and of other opponents of apartheid, 98 expressed support for and solidarity with those people struggling for the elimination of apartheid, 99 and demanded that the South African regime take steps to eliminate apartheid and racial discrimination. 100

Five days later, when the Council imposed sanctions against South Africa, it again called upon the South African government to end

1977), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 424 (17 March 1978), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 448 (30 April 1979), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979), para. 1; SC Res. 463 (2 February 1980), para. 1.

⁹³ Simma has contended that the international threat posed by South Africa was the decisive factor in the Council's determination of a threat to the peace: Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), p. 724. However, it is unlikely that the Council would have made a determination of a threat to the peace in the absence of the South African government's policy of apartheid and its repression of the black South African majority. Similarly, it is unlikely that the Council would have terminated the sanctions regime if the South African government had renounced its aggressive external policies and made a commitment not to pursue any longer its quest to obtain nuclear weapons, without also abolishing the policy of apartheid and enabling the right of the majority of its population to self-determination.

⁹⁵ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 4.

⁹⁴ SC Res. 417 (31 October 1977), preambular para. 1. 95 Ibid., preambular para. 5. 97 Ibid., preambular para. 6. 1bid., para. 2. 100 Ibid., para. 3. ⁹⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 1.

violence against its people and to take urgent steps to eliminate apartheid and racial discrimination. 101 While it recognised that the military build-up by South Africa and its persistent acts of aggression seriously disturbed the security of those states, ¹⁰² in addition to condemning the government of South Africa for its attacks against neighbouring states, the Council also condemned it for its acts of repression and its continuance of the system of apartheid. 103 Thus, although the Council's determination of a threat to the peace focused upon the danger posed by South Africa's acquisition of arms and related material, ¹⁰⁴ the Council was clearly concerned by the South African government's internal policies, as well as its foreign policy. Moreover, in subsequent decisions addressing the situation in South Africa, the Council characterised the South African government's policy of apartheid as 'seriously disturbing international peace and security', 105 and reaffirmed the importance of the objectives of eliminating apartheid, 106 establishing a democratic society, 107 and ensuring the enjoyment of equal rights by all South Africans 108

(c) General civil war

The Security Council has applied sanctions to address situations of general civil war, where no single entity is effectively exercising the powers of government, in the cases of the former Yugoslavia, Somalia, Liberia and Rwanda. In the case of the former Yugoslavia, in September 1991 the Council stated that it was deeply concerned by the fighting in Yugoslavia, which was 'causing a heavy loss of human life and material damage', and by 'the consequences for the countries of the region'. 109 The Council then expressed concern that the continuation of the situation in Yugoslavia constituted a threat to international peace and

 $^{^{101}\,}$ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 1. $^{102}\,$ Ibid., preambular para. 2. $^{103}\,$ Ibid., preambular para. 6.

¹⁰⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 1; SC Res. 421 (9 December 1977), preambular para. 1.

¹⁰⁵ SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), para. 3.

¹⁰⁶ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 1; SC Res. 424 (17 March 1978), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, para. 4, 7; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 765 (16 July 1992), para. 7.

¹⁰⁷ SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, para. 4; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), preambular para. 5, para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7.

¹⁰⁸ SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, paras. 4 and 7; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7.

¹⁰⁹ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), preambular para. 3.

security, ¹¹⁰ and invoked Chapter VII before imposing an embargo upon the delivery of weapons and military equipment to Yugoslavia. ¹¹¹

In the case of Somalia, in January 1992 the Security Council expressed alarm at the rapid deterioration of the situation in Somalia, as well as at the heavy loss of human life and widespread material damage resulting from conflict, and expressed its awareness of the potential consequences of the conflict for stability and peace in the region. The Council then expressed concern that the continuation of the situation constituted a threat to international peace and security, and invoked Chapter VII before imposing an arms embargo against Somalia.

In the case of the 788 Liberia sanctions regime, in November 1992 the Security Council reaffirmed its belief that a particular peace agreement offered the best framework for a peaceful resolution of the Liberian conflict. The Council then expressed regret that the parties to the conflict had not respected or implemented that agreement, determined that the deterioration of the situation in Liberia constituted a threat to international peace and security, and invoked Chapter VII of the UN Charter before imposing sanctions against Liberia.

In the case of Rwanda, in May 1994 the Security Council strongly condemned the ongoing violence in Rwanda, ¹¹⁹ and expressed its deep concern that the consequences of the violence in Rwanda, including the internal displacement of a significant percentage of the Rwandan population and the massive exodus of refugees, constituted a humanitarian crisis of 'enormous proportions'. ¹²⁰ Noting that it was deeply disturbed by the magnitude of the human suffering caused by the conflict, ¹²¹ the Council determined that the situation in Rwanda constituted a threat to peace and security in the region, ¹²² and invoked Chapter VII, ¹²³ before imposing sanctions against Rwanda.

¹¹⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 4. ¹¹¹ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6.

¹¹² SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), preambular para. 3. ¹¹³ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 4.

¹¹⁴ The invocation of Chapter VII appeared in the same paragraph, by which the Council imposed the embargo: see SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5.

SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), preambular para. 2. The Yamoussoukro IV Agreement, of 30 October 1991, had endeavoured to create the conditions necessary for the holding of free and fair elections. For details, see S/24815 (17 November 1992), annex.

¹¹⁶ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), preambular para. 4. ¹¹⁷ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 5.

¹¹⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 8. ¹¹⁹ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), preambular para. 5.

¹²⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 8. 121 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 18.

¹²² *Ibid.*, section B, preambular para. 1. 123 *Ibid.*, section B, preambular para. 2.

¹²⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 13.

(d) Seizure of power from a democratically elected government

In the case of the sanctions against Haiti, in June 1993 the Security Council received a letter from the representative of Haiti to the UN, requesting that it make universal and mandatory the trade embargo against Haiti which had been recommended by the Organization of American States (OAS). 125 In response, the Council expressed its strong support for the efforts made by the UN Secretary-General, the OAS Secretary-General and the international community to reach a political solution to the crisis in Haiti. 126 It then noted with concern the incidence of humanitarian crises, including mass displacements of population, becoming or aggravating threats to international peace and security, 127 and stated that it deplored the fact that the legitimate government of Jean-Bertrand Aristide had not been reinstated. 128 The Council then considered that the request from the representative of Haiti warranted 'exceptional' measures by the Council in support of the efforts that had already been taken to resolve the situation within the OAS framework, ¹²⁹ and it determined that, in those 'unique and exceptional circumstances', the continuation of the situation in Haiti threatened international peace and security in the region. $^{\rm 130}$ The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹³¹ and imposed sanctions against the de facto authorities in Haiti. 132

In the case of Sierra Leone, in October 1997 the Security Council recalled its earlier statements condemning the military coup that had taken place in Sierra Leone on 25 May 1996, ¹³³ and deplored the fact that the military junta had not taken steps to allow the restoration of the democratically elected government and a return to constitutional order. ¹³⁴ The Council then expressed its grave concern at the continued violence and loss of life in Sierra Leone following the military coup, at the deteriorating humanitarian conditions in that country, and at the consequences for neighbouring countries. ¹³⁵ The Council then determined that the situation in Sierra Leone constituted a threat to

¹²⁵ S/25958 (16 June 1993).
¹²⁶ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), preambular para. 6.

¹²⁷ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 9. 128 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10.

¹²⁹ Ibid., preambular para. 13.
131 Ibid., preambular para. 14.
132 Ibid., paras. 5, 6 and 8.

¹³³ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), preambular para. 1. For the earlier statements, see S/PRST/1996/29 (27 May 1996); S/PRST/1996/36 (11 July 1996); and S/PRST/1997/42 (6 August 1997).

¹³⁴ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), preambular para. 7. ¹³⁵ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 8.

international peace and security in the region, 136 and invoked Chapter VII before imposing sanctions. 137

(e) The use or threat of military force by rebel groups against a government The Security Council has determined the existence of a threat to the peace in several situations where armed rebel groups have used or threatened to use military force against a government, including in the cases of the Bosnian Serbs, UNITA, Sierra Leone and the DRC. The objectives of sanctions applied to address such a threat have generally been to induce the rebel group to engage in a peace process, including through the disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration of rebel troops into civilian population.

In the case of the sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs, on 17 April 1993 the Security Council expressed grave concern at the refusal of the Bosnian Serb party to participate in the Bosnian peace plan, 138 expressed determination to strengthen the implementation of its earlier relevant resolutions, ¹³⁹ and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁴⁰ before imposing sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs. ¹⁴¹ As noted above, the Council did not make an explicit determination of a threat to or breach of international peace and security before imposing the sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs. It did make such a determination in September 1994, however, when it strengthened the sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs. At that time, the Council reaffirmed the need for a lasting peace settlement to be signed and implemented in good faith by all the Bosnian parties, 142 and noted that it viewed the measures it was about to impose as a means towards the end of producing a negotiated settlement to the conflict. 143 The Council then determined that the situation in the former Yugoslavia continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security 144 and invoked Chapter VII, 145 before strengthening the sanctions.

In the case of the sanctions against UNITA, in September 1993 the Security Council expressed grave concern at the continuing

```
<sup>136</sup> Ibid., preambular para. 9.
<sup>137</sup> Ibid., preambular para. 10.
<sup>138</sup> SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 3.
<sup>139</sup> Ibid., Section B, preambular para. 1.
<sup>140</sup> Ibid., Section B, preambular para. 2.
<sup>141</sup> Ibid., para. 12.
<sup>142</sup> SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 4.
<sup>143</sup> Ibid., preambular para. 5.
<sup>144</sup> Ibid., preambular para. 7.
```

¹⁴⁵ Ibid., preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), preambular para. 9.

deterioration of the political and military situation in Angola, ¹⁴⁶ and strongly condemned UNITA for not having taken the necessary steps to comply with its previous demands to respect the results of the election that had been held in September 1992 and to cease its military actions immediately. ¹⁴⁷ The Council then determined that, as a result of UNITA's military actions, the situation in Angola constituted a threat to international peace and security, ¹⁴⁸ and it noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁴⁹ before imposing sanctions against UNITA.

In the case of Sierra Leone, upon the return to power of the Sierra Leone government the basis of the threat to the peace shifted subtly from the seizure of power from a democratically elected government to the use or threat of military force by a rebel group against a legitimate government. Although the Council has not explicitly acknowledged this shift in its resolutions, the change can nevertheless be inferred from multiple statements by the Council that the objective of the sanctions regime subsequent to the restoration to power of the Sierra Leone government was the re-establishment throughout Sierra Leone of government control, as well as the disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration of rebel forces, including those led by the former military junta and the Revolutionary United Front (RUF). 152

In the case of the DRC, in July 2003 the Security Council welcomed the conclusion of the Global and All Inclusive Agreement on the Transition in the DRC, ¹⁵³ whilst expressing deep concern at the continuation of

¹⁴⁶ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), preambular para. 3.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid., section B, preambular para. 1. For the demands, see SC Res. 804 (29 January 1993), para. 3; SC Res. 811 (12 March 1993), paras. 2–3; SC Res. 834 (1 June 1993), para. 3; SC Res. 851, paras. 4–5.

¹⁴⁸ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), section B, preambular para. 4.

¹⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, section B, preambular para. 5.

¹⁵⁰ The government was returned to power on 10 March 1998: SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), para. 1.

¹⁵¹ In its first resolution maintaining the sanctions regime after the government's return to power, the Council invoked Chapter VII of the Charter, but did not make an explicit determination of a threat to the peace. See SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), preambular para. 4. In subsequent resolutions, the Council did determine explicitly that the situation in Sierra Leone continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security in the region, but without articulating clearly the basis for such a determination. See, e.g., SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), preambular para. 9.

¹⁵² See, e.g., SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 7; SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 6; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 2

¹⁵³ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), preambular para. 5.

hostilities in the eastern part of the DRC, particularly in North and South Kivu and Ituri, and by the grave violations of human rights and international humanitarian law that accompanied those hostilities. ¹⁵⁴ The Council then noted that the situation in the DRC continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security in the region, ¹⁵⁵ and stated that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁵⁶ before imposing the sanctions. ¹⁵⁷

(f) Serious humanitarian crises

In a number of situations, the Security Council has identified a serious humanitarian crisis as part of the background circumstances at play in a situation that ultimately led to a determination of a threat to the peace. This was especially evident in relation to the 841 Haiti, 918 Rwanda, 1556 Sudan and 1572 Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regimes. In the case of Haiti, the Council noted with concern the incidence of humanitarian crises, including mass displacements of population, becoming or aggravating threats to international peace and security. Although the seizure of power from the democratically elected government of President Aristide was an important factor contributing to the Council's determination of a threat to the peace, there can be little doubt that the humanitarian crisis at play formed another important factor leading the Council to determine that, in those 'unique and exceptional circumstances', the continuation of the situation in Haiti threatened international peace and security in the region.

In the case of Rwanda, the Council expressed its deep concern that the consequences of the violence in Rwanda, including the internal displacement of a significant percentage of the Rwandan population and the massive exodus of refugees, constituted a humanitarian crisis of 'enormous proportions'. Then, noting that it was deeply disturbed by the magnitude of the human suffering caused by the conflict, the Council determined that the situation in Rwanda constituted a threat to

¹⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6.

¹⁵⁵ Ibid., preambular para. 11. The Council had originally made a determination of a threat to the peace an early resolution relating to the mandate of the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC). See: SC Res. 1291, preambular para. 20.

¹⁵⁶ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), preambular para. 12. ¹⁵⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 20.

¹⁵⁸ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), preambular para. 9. 159 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 14.

¹⁶⁰ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), preambular para. 8. ¹⁶¹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 18.

peace and security in the region, 162 and invoked Chapter VII, 163 before imposing sanctions against Rwanda. 164

In the case of the Sudan, in July 2004 the Security Council expressed grave concern at the ongoing humanitarian crisis and widespread human rights violations in the Darfur region of the Sudan, 165 and condemned all acts of violence and violations of human rights and international humanitarian law by all parties to the crisis, in particular by the Janjaweed militia group, including indiscriminate attacks on civilians, rapes, and forced displacements, and expressed its utmost concern at the consequences of the conflict in Darfur on the civilian population, including women, children, internally displaced persons and refugees. 166 The Council further recalled that the government of the Sudan bore the primary responsibility to respect human rights while maintaining law and order and protecting its population within its territory, 167 and noted with grave concern that up to 200,000 refugees had fled to the neighbouring state of Chad. 168 The Council then determined that the situation in Sudan constituted a threat to international peace and security and to stability in the region. 169

In the case of Côte d'Ivoire, the Security Council deplored a resumption of hostilities and repeated violations of a ceasefire agreement of 3 May 2003, ¹⁷⁰ expressed its deep concern at the humanitarian situation in Côte d'Ivoire, and by the use of the media to incite hatred and violence against foreigners in Côte d'Ivoire, ¹⁷¹ and determined that the situation in Côte d'Ivoire continued to pose a threat to international peace and security in the region. ¹⁷²

(g) The violation of a minority's fundamental rights

In the 1160 FRY sanctions regime, the Council did not make an initial determination of a threat to the peace before invoking Chapter VII and imposing sanctions. Nevertheless, in resolution 1160 (1998), the Council pointed to certain background factors that might be considered to have prompted it to apply sanctions. The Council thus condemned the excessive use of force by Serbian police forces against civilian and peaceful demonstrators in Kosovo, as well as acts of terrorism in Kosovo,

```
Ibid., section B, preambular para. 1.
Ibid., para. 13.
Ibid., preambular para. 7.
Ibid., preambular para. 8.
Ibid., preambular para. 9.
Ibid., preambular para. 20.
Ibid., preambular para. 21.
SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), preambular para. 4.
Ibid., preambular para. 8.
Ibid., preambular para. 4.
Ibid., preambular para. 8.
```

including by the Kosovo Liberation Army. ¹⁷³ It also called upon the FRY to take the necessary steps to achieve a political solution to the issue of Kosovo through dialogue, ¹⁷⁴ called upon the authorities in Belgrade and the leadership of the Kosovo Albanian community to enter into dialogue on political status issues, ¹⁷⁵ and agreed that the principles for a solution to the Kosovo problem should be based on the territorial integrity of the FRY and should take into account the rights of the Kosovo Albanians and all who lived in Kosovo, as well as expressing support for an enhanced status for Kosovo, including a greater degree of autonomy and self-administration. ¹⁷⁶

In subsequent decisions related to the FRY sanctions regime, ¹⁷⁷ the Council ultimately affirmed that the deterioration of the situation in Kosovo constituted a threat to peace and security in the region. ¹⁷⁸ The Council also expressed grave concern at the indiscriminate use of force by Serbian security forces and the Yugoslav army, resulting in numerous civilian casualties, the displacement of hundreds of thousands of people, and a substantial flow of refugees, ¹⁷⁹ expressed deep concern at reports of increasing violations of human rights and international humanitarian law, ¹⁸⁰ and reaffirmed its support for a peaceful resolution of the Kosovo problem, including an enhanced status for Kosovo, a greater degree of autonomy, and self-administration. ¹⁸¹

1.3 Breaches of the peace

The Security Council has made one finding so far of a breach of the peace requiring the application of sanctions – in the case of Iraq's invasion of Kuwait in August 1990. When Iraq invaded Kuwait on 2 August, the Council immediately adopted resolution 660 (1990), in which it determined the existence of a breach of the peace, ¹⁸² and demanded that Iraq withdraw unconditionally from Kuwait. ¹⁸³ Four days later, when Iraq had not withdrawn from Kuwait, the Council

 $^{^{173}\,}$ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), preambular para. 3.

¹⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 1. ¹⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 4. ¹⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 5.

¹⁷⁷ See, e.g., SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), para. 7; SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), para. 15; SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), para. 16.

¹⁷⁸ See SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 15; SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), preambular para. 12.

¹⁷⁹ SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), preambular paras. 6, 7.

¹⁸⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 11.

¹⁸¹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 8.

¹⁸² SC Res. 660 (2 August 1990), preambular para. 2. ¹⁸³ *Ibid.*, para. 1.

noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁸⁴ determined that Iraq had failed to comply with the demands outlined in resolution 660 (1990), ¹⁸⁵ and imposed sanctions. ¹⁸⁶ As noted above, after the Gulf War the basis for the continued application of the sanctions shifted from being a breach of the peace to a threat to the peace.

1.4 Acts of aggression

Although Article 39 empowers the Security Council to take action to address 'acts of aggression', it does not provide any guidance as to the meaning of what has been described as a 'very problematical concept'. 187 When the Charter was being drafted, the question of whether to include a definition of 'acts of aggression' was fiercely debated. 188 Ultimately, the founders decided that it would be prudent to provide the Council with the flexibility to determine for itself when an act of aggression had taken place. The main rationales for this decision were that a defined list of acts of aggression, even if it were inclusive rather than exclusive, might impair the Council's ability to respond to unforeseen forms of aggression, and that such a list might lead the Council to treat as less important acts not included in the list. 189 As the San Francisco Conference left the phrase 'acts of aggression' undefined, there was considerable conjecture in subsequent years regarding what acts might be said to amount to aggression. ¹⁹⁰ That conjecture has dissipated somewhat with the contributions made to the endeavour of defining aggression by the UN General Assembly's Resolution on the Definition of Aggression¹⁹¹ and the International Court of Justice's

¹⁸⁶ Ibid., paras. 2-4. ¹⁸⁷ Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, p. 727.

¹⁸⁴ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), preambular para. 7. ¹⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 1

For accounts of the discussions concerning aggression at the Dumbarton and San Francisco Conferences, see Ahmed M. Rifaat, *International Aggression* (Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksell, 1979), pp. 105–116; Hilderbrand, *Dumbarton Oaks*, pp. 137–138.

See, e.g., Hilderbrand, Dumbarton Oaks, p. 138; Documents of the United Nations Conference on International Organization (New York: UN Information Organization, 1945), vol. XI: Commission III: Security Council, 17 (comments of the Rapporteur of Committee 3 of Commission III on the Security Council).

¹⁹⁰ See, e.g., Ian Brownlie, International Law and the Use of Force by States (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1963), pp. 351–358. See also Rifaat's extensive 'select bibliography': Rifaat, International Aggression, pp. 327–334 (Appendix IV).

A/RES/3314 (XXIX) (14 January 1975), para. 1 (approving the Definition of Aggression, which is attached as an Annex), Annex: Definition of Aggression (containing the Definition of Aggression). For discussion of the process leading up to the adoption of the Definition of aggression, charting the deliberations of the First through Fourth Special Committees on the Question of Defining Aggression, see Rifaat, International Aggression, pp. 222–264.

decision in the *Nicaragua* case.¹⁹² Nevertheless, while those contributions provide the Security Council with useful guidance in determining whether acts of aggression have taken place, they do not restrict the Council's discretion to reach its own conclusions.¹⁹³

In light of the founders' reasons for not defining acts of aggression, it is interesting that the Council has not made greater use of its flexibility to identify acts of aggression as the basis for the application of sanctions. In fact, the Council has only once referred to acts of aggression in a resolution applying sanctions, doing so in the case of the South Africa sanctions regime. Moreover, even on that occasion the Council immediately proceeded to make a clear determination of a threat to the peace, thus suggesting that the relevant acts of aggression formed one of a number of background factors combining to form a threat to the peace, rather than constituting the primary reason for the application of sanctions. The Council's apparent reluctance in practice to make acts of aggression the primary trigger for the employment of sanctions, combined with the fact that instances of aggression can in any case be characterised as breaches of or threats to the peace, 196

¹⁹² Case Concerning Military and Paramilitary Activities in and Against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States) (1986) ICJ Rep 14–546, 103, para. 195.

¹⁹³ The Resolution on the Definition of Aggression makes this point crystal clear. See, e.g., A/RES/3314 (XXIX) (14 January 1975), para. 4, Annex: Definition of Aggression, preambular para. 4, Articles 2 and 4. See also Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), p. 722.

¹⁹⁴ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 2. The Security Council has, however, referred to the 'aggressive acts', 'acts of aggression' or 'aggression' of targets against which sanctions were already being applied, doing so in the case of the sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, South Africa and Iraq. In relation to Southern Rhodesia, see SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), preambular paras. 2, 5; SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), para. 2; SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), preambular para. 3, para. 2; SC Res. 423 (14 March 1978), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 424 (17 March 1978), preambular paras. 3, 6, 8; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), preambular paras. 5, 7; SC Res. 455 (23 November 1979), preambular paras. 3-6, 8, paras. 1, 4-5. In relation to South Africa, see SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 455 (23 November 1979), para. 2; SC Res. 546 (6 January 1984), preambular para. 3, para. 3; SC Res. 571 (20 September 1985), preambular paras. 3-4, 6-7, paras. 3, 5-6, 8; SC Res. 574 (7 October 1985), preambular paras. 4–5, paras. 1–3, 6–7. In relation to Iraq, see SC Res. 667 (16 September 1990), preambular para. 6, para. 1. Interestingly, a reference to the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait as an act of aggression had been included in the original draft resolution for what was to become resolution 660 (1990), but it was removed due to the objections of the USSR. See Christopher Greenwood, 'New World Order or Old?: The Invasion of Kuwait and the Rule of Law' (1992) 55 Modern LR 153-178 at 159.

¹⁹⁵ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), para. 1.

¹⁹⁶ Kelsen, The Law of the United Nations, p. 727; Yoram Dinstein, War, Aggression and Self-Defence, 2nd edn (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994), p. 283; Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), p. 722.

suggests that sanctions-related determinations of acts of aggression will continue to be rare in future.

2. Invoking Article 41 and Chapter VII of the Charter

In addition to making a determination of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression, before imposing sanctions the Council generally invokes either the specific basis in the UN Charter for the application of sanctions - Article 41 - or the more general basis of Chapter VII. Explicit invocations of Article 41 have in fact been few and far between, with the Council referring to that provision as the basis for the application of sanctions only on a handful of occasions, in connection with the sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, 197 North Korea¹⁹⁸ and Iran.¹⁹⁹ In most instances, the Council has simply noted that it was acting under Chapter VII before applying, modifying or terminating sanctions. 200 It is unclear why the Security Council has not invoked Article 41 on a more regular basis, as the invocation of the more general Chapter VII does not appear to add anything significant over and above what a more specific reference to Article 41 would provide. ²⁰¹ It is understandable that, in instances where the Council makes authorisations of the use of military force in a manner that does not appear to have been envisaged by the founders of the Charter, it might wish to locate the basis of such action in Chapter VII in general rather than in Article 42. In connection with the application or modification of sanctions regimes, however, the constitutional basis is so clearly located in Article 41 that a general reference to Chapter VII does not provide any meaningful additional flexibility or strengthen the Council's hand in terms of sanctions implementation.

¹⁹⁷ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 9; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), paras. 9, 11; and SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 3.

¹⁹⁸ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), preambular para. 10.

¹⁹⁹ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 10.

²⁰⁰ In general, resolutions applying, modifying or terminating sanctions have included a provision noting that the Council was 'acting under Chapter VII of the Charter'. For the relevant references with respect to each sanctions regime, see Appendix 3, Table C.

²⁰¹ Österdahl, Threat to the Peace, p. 89.

6 Delineating the scope of sanctions and identifying targets

Once the Security Council decides to apply sanctions, it must decide which of a range of possible measures to employ. Article 41 outlines an inclusive, rather than an exclusive or exhaustive, list of measures that might be taken to address threats to the peace, breaches of the peace or aggression. It thus provides the Security Council with considerable flexibility to determine which particular measures might be appropriate for each individual case. The Council also has broad discretion concerning the target(s) against which sanctions are to be applied.

1. The many types of UN sanctions

In practice, the scope of sanctions employed by the Security Council has varied from sanctions regime to sanctions regime and even within a particular regime, as the Council has expanded or contracted the measures applied in order to induce or reward a target's compliance. With the exception of regimes consisting of basic arms embargoes, no two sanctions regimes have been precisely the same. Sanctions regimes usually contain a blend of different types of sanctions. These can be broadly divided into the categories of economic and financial sanctions, and non-economic sanctions.

In order to determine the scope of a particular sanctions regime at a particular time, it is necessary to take into account both the range of prohibitions directed against a target, as well as any exemptions provided from those prohibitions. Almost every UN sanctions regime has contained exemptions of some description. Sanctions committees are generally tasked with responsibility for receiving and deciding upon applications for exemptions. When the Security Council provides for

exemptions, it stipulates whether the exemption applies subject to notification to or approval by the relevant sanctions committee.

1.1 Economic and financial sanctions

Economic sanctions are measures that aim to prevent the flow of commodities or products to or from a target. In sanctions terminology, a distinction is sometimes drawn between 'embargoes' and 'sanctions', with the former representing prohibitions against the export to the target of a particular product or commodity and the latter encompassing either the export to or the import from the target of particular products or commodities. Sanctions upon arms are often referred to as 'arms embargoes', due to the fact that they usually prohibit the export to, rather than the import from, a target of arms.

Financial sanctions are closely related to economic sanctions, but their focus is upon prohibiting the flow to and from the target of financial and economic resources, rather than commodities, products or supplies. Economic sanctions can be 'comprehensive', in which case they seek to halt the flow to and from a target of all commodities and products, or they can be 'particular', in which case they aim to prevent the flow to or from a target of particular commodities or products. ¹ In theory, particular economic sanctions could be employed against any product or commodity.

i. Comprehensive economic sanctions

The term 'comprehensive sanctions' is used to describe a sanctions regime that seeks to prevent the flow to and from a target of all commodities and products. Comprehensive sanctions regimes therefore effectively incorporate all of the forms of particular sanctions discussed below. In practice, the Security Council has applied comprehensive sanctions on five occasions, as part of the 232 Southern Rhodesia,²

Particular sanctions' should be distinguished from 'targeted sanctions' and 'smart sanctions', because the former denotes the type of activity sanctioned, whereas the primary focus of the latter is upon the actors sanctioned. The two can overlap, however, as when diamond sanctions ('particular sanctions') are imposed against a rebel group, thus becoming targeted sanctions.

² The sanctions against Southern Rhodesia were not initially comprehensive, as they targeted the import from Southern Rhodesia of key Southern Rhodesian products and the export to Southern Rhodesia of arms and related material, aircraft and motor vehicles and associated parts, and oil and oil products: SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2. The sanctions became comprehensive seventeen months later: SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3.

661 Iraq,³ 757 FRYSM,⁴ 820 Bosnian Serb⁵ and 841 Haiti⁶ sanctions regimes. In each instance the Council provided limited exemptions from the comprehensive sanctions.

(a) Humanitarian exemptions from comprehensive sanctions

The Security Council has exempted from each of its comprehensive sanctions regimes the export to the target of some humanitarian supplies. In outlining exempt supplies, the Council has identified particular exempt items, as well as classes of supplies that may be exempt with the approval of the relevant sanctions committee. Among the particular items exempted from comprehensive sanctions regimes have been: medical supplies (all comprehensive sanctions regimes⁷); educational equipment and material (Southern Rhodesia⁸); informational materials (Southern Rhodesia⁹ and Haiti¹⁰); foodstuffs (all comprehensive sanctions regimes¹¹); petroleum and petroleum products

⁶ The 841 Haiti sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo, a petroleum embargo and financial sanctions: SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), paras. 5, 8. The Council applied comprehensive sanctions eleven months later: SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), paras. 6–7.

⁸ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d). ⁹ *Ibid*. ¹⁰ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 8. SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d) (Southern Rhodesia); See SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 3(c) (Iraq); SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4(c) (FRYSM); SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12 (Bosnian Serbs); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(a) (Haiti). In the Southern Rhodesian and Iraq instances, the export to the target of foodstuffs was contingent upon the existence of 'humanitarian circumstances'. The Security Council delegated the responsibility for determining whether humanitarian circumstances existed in Iraq to the 661 Committee: SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 1, 5. After the conclusion of Gulf War hostilities, a report commissioned by the UNSG concluded that humanitarian circumstances did indeed exist, warning that the Iraqi people might soon face a 'catastrophe', including 'epidemic and famine' if 'massive life-supporting needs' were not met: S/22366 (20 March 1991), para. 37. The 661 Committee

The sanctions against Iraq were comprehensive from the time of their application until May 2003. See SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 3 (applying comprehensive sanctions); SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 10 (terminating all measures except the arms sanctions).

⁴ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4; SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 15.

⁵ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12.

Or Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d) (Southern Rhodesia); SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 3(c) (Iraq); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(a) (Haiti); SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4(c) (FRYSM); SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12 (Bosnian Serbs). In most comprehensive sanctions regimes the exemption of medical supplies has operated without controversy. In the case of Iraq, however, the ability of the government to import medical supplies was restricted by the operation of the 'no dual-use requirement', which meant that medical and other exempted supplies could not be exported to Iraq if they had potential for diversion or conversion to military use. For further details, see Appendix 2, summary of the 661 sanctions regime.

(Haiti¹²); and clothing (FRYSM¹³). Among the classes of items that have been exempted by the Council are: 'materials and supplies essential for civilian need' (Iraq14); and 'commodities and products for essential humanitarian need' (FRYSM, ¹⁵ Bosnian Serbs ¹⁶ and Haiti ¹⁷). As a general rule, where the Security Council specifies particular exempt items, those items may be exported to the target with simple notification to the relevant sanctions committee. 18 Where the Council identifies a class of supplies that are exempt, however, exports of items potentially falling within that class must be approved or authorised by the relevant sanctions committee before they may proceed. 19

(b) Other exemptions from comprehensive sanctions

In addition to humanitarian exemptions, the Security Council has also provided for certain other exemptions from comprehensive sanctions regimes. In the case of the sanctions regime against Iraq, the Council permitted Iraq to export limited amounts of oil in order to enable it to finance the purchase of exempt commodities and products and the payment of reparations for liabilities arising from the Gulf War.²⁰ In the case of the FRYSM sanctions regime, exemptions were provided initially for transhipments through FRYSM of commodities and products.²¹ The Council also provided for subsequent, temporary

- subsequently decided to permit states to export foodstuffs to Iraq upon simple notification to the Committee: S/22400 (22 March 1991). The Council endorsed the Committee's decision in SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 20.
- ¹² SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(c)-(d) (when authorised by the Haiti Sanctions Committee or requested by the President and Prime Minister of Haiti and approved by the Committee).
- ¹³ SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 3; SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 5; and SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), paras. 13, 15.

 SC Res. 687 (8 April 1991), para. 20.

 SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), sole para.
- ¹⁶ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 7(b). ¹⁷ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(b).
- ¹⁸ One exception to this rule was the exemption from the Haiti sanctions regime for petroleum and petroleum products. In that instance, the Council stipulated that such exemptions would be provided on an exceptional, case-by-case basis under a no-objection procedure: SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 7.
- For discussion of the responsibilities bestowed upon the sanctions committees with respect to determining the application of such exemptions, see Chapter 8.
- ²⁰ The program established to implement that exemption became known as the 'Oil-for-Food Programme'. For further details, see the summary of the 661 Iraq sanctions regime in Appendix 2.
- ²¹ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 6. Transhipments nevertheless required the 724 Committee's approval. However, the transhipment process was subject to considerable abuse, leading the Council to restrict, then prohibit, transhipments. See SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 15.

exemptions from that sanctions regime for the export of anti-serum for diphtheria, ²² and for activities connected with repairs to river locks on the Danube. ²³ Finally, in relation to the Haiti sanctions regime, the Council exempted equipment for journalists. ²⁴

ii. Particular economic sanctions

Discussion here does not consider every potential form of particular economic sanctions, as such a list could potentially be almost limitless. Rather, it considers those types of particular sanctions that have already been employed by the Security Council in one or more of its sanctions regimes. The most common form of particular economic sanctions applied by the Security Council has been arms sanctions, but the Council has also employed particular economic sanctions to prevent the flow to or from targets of specific goods, products or commodities.

(a) Arms sanctions

Arms sanctions have been the most frequently applied form of particular sanctions, with every sanctions regime except the 1054 Sudan and 1636 sanctions regimes incorporating prohibitions against arms at some stage. Seven sanctions regimes have consisted solely of arms sanctions, including the South Africa, 25 713 Yugoslavia, 5 Somalia, 7 788 Liberia, 28 Rwanda, 29 FRY and Eritrea and Ethiopia 31 sanctions regimes.

The Security Council has employed a number of formulations in outlining the scope of arms sanctions to be applied. In the first case of UN sanctions, against Southern Rhodesia, the Council required UN member states to prevent the sale or shipment to Southern Rhodesia of 'arms, ammunition of all types, military aircraft, military vehicles, and equipment and of arms and ammunition'. In three other cases, the Council has required states to implement 'a general and complete embargo on all deliveries of weapons and military equipment' to the target (former Yugoslavia, ³³ Somalia ³⁴ and 788 Liberia ³⁵).

²² SC Res. 967 (14 December 1994), para. 1. ²³ SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), paras. 1–2.

²⁴ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 8. The conditions and terms regulating the operation of this exemption were to be determined by the Haiti Sanctions Committee.

²⁵ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), paras. 2, 4.

²⁶ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6. ²⁷ SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5.

²⁸ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8. ²⁹ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 13.

³⁰ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8. ³¹ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 6.

³² SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2(d).

³³ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6. ³⁴ SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5.

³⁵ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8.

In the majority of cases, however, the Council has required states to prevent the sale or supply to the target of arms and related material. The Council first used the phrase in relation to the sanctions regime against South Africa, when it noted that the phrase included 'weapons, ammunition, military vehicles and equipment, paramilitary police equipment, and spare parts for all of those articles'. That elaboration has provided the basis for a fairly standard interpretation of the phrase, with some minor variations. On occasion, however, the Council has provided a quite different interpretation of the phrase (Iraq³⁷), or has not elaborated at all on its meaning (DRC³⁸). The Council has also clarified that, in addition to the standard interpretation of the phrase, it can also encompass 'nuclear, strategic and conventional weapons' (South Africa³⁹) and 'the provision of any types of equipment, supplies and grants of licensing arrangements, for the manufacture or maintenance of arms and related material' (Libya⁴⁰).

In its oversight of the various sanctions regimes incorporating arms sanctions, the Council has made it clear that the obligations imposed by arms sanctions can extend beyond the requirement to prevent the flow to a target of arms and related material. In the case of Rwanda, the Council clarified that the arms sanctions required all states to prevent the sale or supply of arms and related material to states neighbouring Rwanda, if they would be forwarded to non-government actors in Rwanda.⁴¹ The Council has also required states to prevent the provision of assistance, advice or training in respect of the use, manufacture or maintenance of arms and related material to the target (Somalia, Libya, FRY, Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, Eritrea and Ethiopia, 1343 Liberia, TDRC, 1821 Liberia, 1956 Sudan 1956 Sudan 1950 and Côte d'Ivoire 1951.

³⁶ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), para. 2.

³⁷ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 24(a) (noting that the phrase included 'conventional military equipment, including for paramilitary forces, and spare parts and components and their means of production').

³⁸ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 20 (using the phrase 'arms and related material' without defining what it meant).

³⁹ SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 4. ⁴⁰ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 5(a).

⁴¹ SC Res. 997 (9 June 1995), para. 4. The Council reaffirmed this provision in SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), para. 9.

⁴² SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 2. ⁴³ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 5(b), (c).

⁴⁴ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8.

⁴⁵ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 5(b); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(c).

⁴⁶ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 6(b). ⁴⁷ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 5(b).

⁴⁸ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 20. ⁴⁹ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2.

 $^{^{50}\,}$ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 7. $\,^{51}\,$ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 7.

Moreover, in the case of Somalia, the Council has clarified that the application of arms sanctions can require the prohibition of financing of acquisitions and deliveries of weapons and military equipment, ⁵² as well as the provision of financial assistance related to military activities 53

Exemptions from arms sanctions The Council has provided exemptions from arms sanctions in a number of sanctions regimes. Where the Council provides such exemptions, the export of arms and related material can generally proceed upon simple notification to the relevant sanctions committee. Examples of exemptions from arms sanctions include: (a) for the supply of necessary items to UN or international peacekeeping forces or international civilian police forces (Iraq,⁵⁴ 713 Yugoslavia,⁵⁵ Somalia,⁵⁶ 788 Liberia,⁵⁷ Rwanda,⁵⁸ Sierra Leone,⁵⁹ FRY,⁶⁰ Eritrea and Ethiopia,⁶¹

⁵² SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 1. ⁵³ *Ibid.*, para. 2.

⁵⁴ SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 10 (exempting arms and related materiel required by the Coalition Authority).

⁵⁵ SC Res. 743 (21 February 1992), para. 2 (exempting weapons and military equipment destined for the sole use of the UNPROFOR); SC Res. 1031 (15 December 1995), para, 22 (exempting weapons and military equipment destined for the sole use of the member states participating in the Multinational Implementation Force (IFOR), or for international police forces).

⁵⁶ Initially, the Council did not elaborate any explicit exemptions from the embargo: see SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5. However, that the Council's authorisation of the establishment of the United Nations Operation in Somalia (UNOSOM) and its successor the United Nations Operation in Somalia II (UNOSOM II), as well as of the United Task Force (UNITAF), amounted to an implicit exemption from the arms embargo for those operations. See, e.g., SC Res. 794 (3 December 1992), paras. 6-8, 10-13, 15-16.

⁵⁷ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 9; SC Res. 813 (26 March 1993), para. 13 (exempting from the 788 Liberia sanctions regime weapons and military equipment destined for the sole use of the peacekeeping forces of ECOWAS).

⁵⁸ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 16 (exempting from the arms sanctions activities related to the United Nations Assistance Mission for Rwanda (UNAMIR) and the United Nations Observer Mission Uganda-Rwanda (UNAMUR)).

- ⁵⁹ SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 3 (exempting the arms and related material for the use of the Military Observer Group of ECOWAS (ECOMOG)); SC Res. 1299 (19 May 2000), para. 3 (exempting arms and related material for the use in Sierra Leone of member states co-operating with the United Nation Assistance Mission in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL) and with the government of Sierra Leone).
- SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), para. 15 (exempting equipment for the use of the OSCE and NATO verification missions); SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), para. 16 (exempting equipment for the use of the international civil and security presences - which subsequently evolved into UNMIK and KFOR).
- ⁶¹ SC Res. 1320 (15 September 2000), para. 10 (exempting arms and related material for the sole use in Ethiopia or Eritrea of the United Nations).

DRC,⁶² 1521 Liberia,⁶³ 1556 Sudan⁶⁴ and Côte d'Ivoire⁶⁵); (b) for protective clothing for UN, media and humanitarian personnel (Somalia,⁶⁶ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida,⁶⁷ 1343 Liberia,⁶⁸ 1521 Liberia,⁶⁹ 1556 Sudan⁷⁰ and Côte d'Ivoire⁷¹); (c) for non-lethal military equipment for humanitarian or protective use (Somalia,⁷² Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida,⁷³ Eritrea and Ethiopia,⁷⁴ 1343 Liberia,⁷⁵ DRC,⁷⁶ 1521 Liberia,⁷⁷ 1556 Sudan⁷⁸ and Côte d'Ivoire⁷⁹); (d) where requested by an exiled democratic government (Haiti⁸⁰); (e) for arms and related material destined for the use of a legitimate government (UNITA,⁸¹ Rwanda,⁸² and Sierra Leone⁸³); (f) for equipment and supplies connected to demining programmes (Rwanda⁸⁴ and Eritrea and Ethiopia⁸⁵); (g) for training and assistance associated with police and armed forces (DRC,⁸⁶ 1521 Liberia⁸⁷ and Côte d'Ivoire⁸⁸); (h) assistance and supplies for the implementation of a peace process (1556 Sudan⁸⁹); and (i) a state taking action to

63 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2(d) (exempting the UN Mission in Liberia).

65 SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(a) (exempting the UN Operation in Côte d'Ivoire and the French forces supporting it).

66 SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), para. 2. 67 SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 6.

68 SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 5(d).

⁶⁹ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2(g). ⁷⁰ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 9.

⁷¹ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(c).

⁷² SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), paras. 3–4. Such exemptions required the prior approval of the Somalia Sanctions Committee.

⁷³ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 6.

 $^{74}\,$ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 7 (as approved in advance by the Eritrea and Ethiopia Sanctions Committee).

⁷⁵ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras 5(c) (as approved by the 1343 Committee).

- ⁷⁶ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 21. In order to be exempt, such training and assistance must be notified in advance to the UNSG and his Special Representative.
- ⁷⁷ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2(f). ⁷⁸ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 9.
- ⁷⁹ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(b). ⁸⁰ SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 3.

⁸¹ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 19.

⁸² SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), paras. 7–8. ⁸³ SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 2.

⁸⁴ SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), sole para.

85 SC Res. 1312 (31 July 2000), para. 5; SC Res. 1320 (15 September 2000), para. 10.

⁸⁶ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 2(a).

87 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2(e); SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), paras. 1–2; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1(b).

⁸⁸ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(e). ⁸⁹ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 7.

⁶² SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 21 (exempting supplies to MONUC and the Interim Emergency Multinational Force led by France); SC Res. 1671 (25 April 2006), para. 10 (exempting supplies to the EU Force in the DRC).

⁶⁴ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 9 (exempting supplies and activities connected with monitoring, verification or peace support operations authorised by the UN or operating with the consent of the relevant parties).

evacuate its nationals and those for whom it has consular responsibility (Côte d'Ivoire⁹⁰).

(b) Sanctions against weapons of mass destruction

In addition to targeting arms in general, the Council has also taken specific action to target weapons of mass destruction. In the case of South Africa, the Council clarified that the phrase 'arms and related material' can encompass nuclear, strategic and conventional weapons. 91 In the case of Iraq, although the comprehensive sanctions imposed against that country in theory should have prevented the flow to or from Iraq of any goods other than a limited group of humanitarian exemptions, after the Gulf War the Council clarified in some detail the manner in which the sanctions prohibited the possession and acquisition of weapons of mass destruction by Iraq. Thus, the Council noted that, in order to ensure that Iraq did not increase its capacity to re-arm, states were required to continue to prevent the sale, supply or provision to Iraq of: (a) arms and related material; 92 (b) items relating to chemical and biological weapons, ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, and nuclear weapons; 93 (c) technology relating to arms and related material, chemical and biological weapons, ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, and nuclear weapons; 94 and (d) personnel or training or technical support services relating to arms and related material, chemical and biological weapons, ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, and nuclear weapons. 95

In the case of North Korea, all member states were required to prevent the direct or indirect supply, sale or transfer to North Korea of heavy conventional weapons and related materiel, including tanks, armoured combat vehicles, large-calibre artillery systems, combat aircraft, attack helicopters, warships, missiles or missile systems.⁹⁶ Member states were also required to prevent the sale, supply or transfer to North Korea of materials, equipment, goods and technology that were either elaborated in three lists of contraband items (relating to nuclear programmes, ⁹⁷ ballistic missile programmes ⁹⁸ and other weapons of mass destruction programmes⁹⁹) or subsequently determined by the Council or the 1718 North Korea Sanctions Committee to be capable of

⁹⁰ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(d).

SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(d).

SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 24(a). 90 SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 5(7)
91 SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 4. 92 SC Res. 687 (3 April 1997), 1
93 Ibid. para. 24(b). 94 Ibid., para. 24(c). 95 Ibid., para. 24(d). 97 S/2006/814 (13 October 2006).

contributing to North Korea's nuclear-related, ballistic missile-related or other weapon of mass destruction-related programmes. Member states were also required to prohibit the procurement of such items from North Korea and to prevent any transfer to or from North Korea of technical training, advice, services or assistance related to the provision, manufacture or maintenance of such items. North Korea, for its part, was commanded to cease the export of all such items.

In the case of Iran, all states were to take the necessary measures to prevent the supply, sale of transfer to Iran of all items which could contribute to Iran's enrichment-related, reprocessing or heavy waterrelated activities, or to the development of nuclear weapons delivery systems. 104 The contraband items were detailed in the same lists of prohibited items originally elaborated for the purposes of the 1718 North Korea sanctions regime, one for items related to nuclear programmes¹⁰⁵ and the other for items related to ballistic missile programmes. 106 The Council also provided for the possibility that the 1737 Committee could expand that list by adding further items which could contribute to enrichment-related, reprocessing or heavy waterrelated activities. 107 Moreover, it required states themselves to refrain from providing any items they determined would contribute to such activities or to activities related to topics about which the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) had expressed concerns. 108 The Security Council also required states to prevent the provision to Iran of any technical assistance, training, financial assistance or services, as well as the transfer of financial resources or services related to the supply, sale, transfer, manufacture or use of the items prohibited under the targeted economic sanctions. 109

Exemptions from sanctions against weapons of mass destruction In the case of Iraq, in 2002 the Council adopted the Goods Review List (GRL). The GRL contained an exhaustive list of potential 'dual-use' items, the supply to Iraq of which first had to be approved via a process which involved careful consideration of the items by the United Nations Monitoring and Inspection Commission (UNMOVIC) and the IAEA, which then

¹⁰⁰ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 8(a)(ii). ¹⁰¹ *Ibid.*, para. 8(b).

¹⁰² *Ibid.*, para. 8(c). ¹⁰³ *Ibid.*, para. 8(b). ¹⁰⁴ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 3. ¹⁰⁵ S/2006/814 (13 October 2006). ¹⁰⁶ S/2006/815 (13 October 2006).

¹⁰⁷ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 3(d). ¹⁰⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 4. ¹⁰⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 6.

SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 2; SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 1. For the full text of the GRL, see S/2002/515 (20 May 2002); and SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), Annex A.

recommended the approval or refusal of the application by the 661 Committee. Anything not on the list was considered to be exempt from the sanctions, thus requiring simple notification to the Committee. After the introduction of the GRL process, the flow of exempt goods and commodities to Iraq under the OFFP increased substantially. 112

In the case of Iran, the Council exempted certain items that were intended for light water nuclear reactors. It also provided for the possibility of further exemptions where the 1737 Committee decided in advance and on a case-by-case basis that particular items or assistance would clearly not contribute to the development of Iran's technologies in support of its nuclear activities, including where such items or assistance were for food, agricultural, medical or other humanitarian purposes. However, this exemption was subject to the provisos that contracts for delivery of such items included appropriate end-user guarantees and that Iran had committed not to use the items in its nuclear activities. 114

(c) Petroleum sanctions

Petroleum sanctions consist of a prohibition upon the export to or import from a target of petroleum and petroleum products. The Council has imposed petroleum sanctions as part of its sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, ¹¹⁵ Haiti, ¹¹⁶ UNITA ¹¹⁷ and Sierra Leone. ¹¹⁸ In the case of Libya, while the Council did not impose petroleum sanctions as such, it nevertheless imposed sanctions against the export to Libya of particular items used in the refinement and export of petroleum and petroleum products. ¹¹⁹ Thus, it was indirectly seeking to impair the ability of Libya to export petroleum and petroleum products.

¹¹¹ For the procedures relating to the application of the GRL, see SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), attachment; SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), Annex B.

¹¹² See the UNSG report on GRL implementation: S/2002/1239 (12 November 2002).

¹¹³ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 9. ¹¹⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 9(a)-(b).

SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2(f). The petroleum sanctions were part of the Southern Rhodesian sanctions regime before it became comprehensive.

¹¹⁶ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 5. The petroleum sanctions were part of the Haiti sanctions regime before it became comprehensive.

¹¹⁷ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 19.

¹¹⁸ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 6. The petroleum sanctions were terminated in March 1998, however, upon the return to power of the democratically elected government: SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), para. 2.

¹¹⁹ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 5. The prohibition upon particular goods used in the refinement and export of oil required states to prevent the export to Libya of goods such as pumps, boilers, furnaces and prepared catalysts. For a full list of the items, see SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), annex.

Exemptions from petroleum sanctions Exemptions have been outlined from petroleum sanctions on three of the four occasions on which those measures have been employed. In the case of Haiti, an exemption was provided for non-commercial quantities of petroleum or petroleum products, including propane gas for cooking, for verified essential humanitarian needs. ¹²⁰ In the UNITA case, exemptions were provided for the sale or supply of petroleum and petroleum products to Angola, through points of entry designated by the government of Angola. ¹²¹ In the case of Sierra Leone, the Council provided for the possibility of exemptions upon application to the 1132 Sierra Leone Sanctions Committee by the democratically elected government of Sierra Leone, ¹²² by other governments or UN agencies for verified humanitarian purposes, ¹²³ and for the needs of the Monitoring Group of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOMOG). ¹²⁴

(d) Sanctions on asbestos, iron ore, sugar, leather, chrome, pig-iron, tobacco, copper, meat and meat products

In the case of Southern Rhodesia, the Council imposed sanctions against the import from Southern Rhodesia of a number of that country's most important export products. The list of contraband products included asbestos, iron ore, sugar, leather, chrome, pig-iron, tobacco, copper, meat and meat products and hides and skin. ¹²⁵

(e) Sanctions against trade in forms of transport: aircraft, vehicle and watercraft sanctions

The Security Council has imposed sanctions against three forms of transport: aircraft, motor vehicles and watercraft. ¹²⁶ In general, in imposing sanctions against forms of transport the Council has also prohibited trade in parts of those forms of transport. The Council has

SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 7. This exemption would only apply, however, if authorised by the Haiti Sanctions Committee on an exceptional, case-by-case basis under a no-objection procedure, and in the event that such exemptions were granted they were subject to the proviso that arrangements were made for the effective monitoring of delivery and use of the exempted items.

¹²¹ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 19.

¹²² SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 7(a). ¹²³ *Ibid.*, para. 7(b).

¹²⁴ *Ibid.* ¹²⁵ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2(a).

¹²⁶ The forms of transport considered here are civilian. Trade in military or paramilitary transport is generally prohibited under arms sanctions. For further details, see the section above on arms sanctions.

imposed aircraft sanctions, ¹²⁷ prohibiting the export to a target of aircraft and aircraft parts, on three occasions, as part of its sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, ¹²⁸ Libya ¹²⁹ and UNITA. ¹³⁰ The Council has imposed vehicle sanctions, preventing the export to a target of vehicles and vehicle parts, on two occasions, as part of its sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia ¹³¹ and UNITA. ¹³² Finally, on one occasion the Council has imposed watercraft sanctions, prohibiting the export to a target of watercraft and watercraft parts in its UNITA sanctions regime. ¹³³

(f) Diamond sanctions

Diamond sanctions are measures that seek to prohibit the import from a diamond-producing target of diamonds. The Security Council has imposed diamond sanctions as part of its UNITA, ¹³⁴ Sierra Leone, ¹³⁵ 1343 Liberia, ¹³⁶ 1521 Liberia ¹³⁷ and Côte d'Ivoire ¹³⁸ sanctions regimes. In the case of UNITA the Council also prohibited the export to targets of equipment or services connected with the extraction of diamonds. ¹³⁹

Exemptions from diamond sanctions The Council has provided for the possibility of exemption from the diamond sanctions for the government of the target if they were to implement an effective certificate-of-origin regime to ensure that diamond exports were not being improperly used to finance conflict (Sierra Leone, 140 1343 Liberia 141 and 1521 Liberia 142). In the case of Sierra Leone, the Sierra Leone government did in fact establish an effective certificate-of-origin regime, thus bringing

¹²⁷ As used here, 'aircraft sanctions' are to be distinguished from 'aviation sanctions'. The former prohibit trade with the target in aircraft or aircraft parts, whereas the latter seek to interrupt flights. Aviation sanctions are discussed below under the broad category of non-economic sanctions.

¹²⁸ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2 (e).

¹²⁹ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 4(b); SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 6(c).

¹³⁰ SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(d)(ii).

¹³¹ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2 (e).

¹³² SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 12(d). ¹³³ *Ibid*.

¹³⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 12(b). ¹³⁵ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 1.

¹³⁶ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 6; SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 5; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 10.

¹³⁷ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 6.

¹³⁸ SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 6.

¹³⁹ SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 12(c). ¹⁴⁰ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 5.

¹⁴¹ SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 8; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 14.

¹⁴² SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 8.

the exemption into play. 143 In the case of Liberia, however, at the time of writing the Liberian government had yet to establish an effective certificate-of-origin regime, thus leaving the exemption dormant.

(g) Chemical sanctions

The Security Council has imposed chemical sanctions on one occasion, as part of its Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime, requiring states to prevent the sale to Taliban-controlled areas of the chemical acetic anhydride, which is used in the production of opium.¹⁴⁴

(h) Timber sanctions

Timber sanctions seek to prohibit the import from a timber-rich target of timber and timber products. The Security Council has experimented with timber sanctions as part of its 1343^{145} and 1521^{146} Liberia sanctions regimes. On both occasions, the Council has required all states to prevent the import of all round logs and timber products originating in Liberia. On a previous occasion, the Council had requested states to respect a moratorium outlined by Cambodia's Supreme National Council upon the export of logs from Cambodia. However, that instance did not amount to an example of mandatory UN sanctions, as the Council was not acting under Chapter VII of the Charter.

(i) Luxury goods sanctions

Under the 1718 North Korea sanctions regime, the Council required UN member states to prevent the sale, supply or transfer to North Korea of 'luxury goods'. ¹⁴⁸ The Council did not explain what goods it considered to fall within this category, nor did it explicitly delegate such a responsibility to the 1718 Sanctions Committee.

¹⁴³ The Sierra Leone Sanctions Committee decided, at its twenty-first meeting on 21 March 2001, that the new Certificate of Origin regime for the trade in Sierra Leone diamonds was in effective operation: see S/2001/300 (30 March 2001): Letter dated 28 March 2001 from the Chairman of the Security Council Committee established pursuant to resolution 1132 (1997) concerning Sierra Leone to the President of the Security Council. The Council welcomed the establishment and implementation of the Certificate of Origin regime in: SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 1.

¹⁴⁴ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 10.

¹⁴⁵ SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), paras. 16-17.

¹⁴⁶ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 10.

¹⁴⁷ SC Res. 792 (30 November 1992), para. 12.

¹⁴⁸ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 8(a)(iii).

iii. Financial sanctions

Financial sanctions are measures seeking to interrupt the ability of the target to engage in financial relations with the external world. Financial sanctions can be general in nature, thus requiring states to freeze any financial resources or assets in their jurisdiction that belong to the target, or to prohibit the transfer of financial resources or assets, including the provision of insurance, to parties either located in the target or acting on behalf of parties located in the target. Financial sanctions have also been more targeted, however, seeking to freeze the personal financial resources and assets of key policy-makers connected with a target. The Security Council has employed general financial sanctions as part of its sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, 149 Iraq, 150 Libya, 151 FRYSM, ¹⁵² the Bosnian Serbs ¹⁵³ and Haiti. ¹⁵⁴ It has applied assets freezes against lists of designated individuals and entities as part of its Iraq, 155 UNITA, 156 1267 Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, 157 DRC, 158 Liberia, 159 1556 Sudan, 160 Côte d'Ivoire, 161 Hariri, 162 North Korea 163 and Iran¹⁶⁴ sanctions regimes.

The Security Council has also clarified that states can be required to impose financial sanctions as part of their obligations to implement arms sanctions. In the case of the Somalia sanctions, the Council clarified that states were to prevent the financing of acquisitions and deliveries of weapons and military equipment, ¹⁶⁵ as well as the provision of financial assistance related to military activities. ¹⁶⁶

¹⁴⁹ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 4; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), paras. 1, 2; SC Res. 409

```
(27 May 1977), para. 1.

150 SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 4; SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para.20.

151 SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 3.

152 SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 5; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 21; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 27.

153 SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 11–13.

154 SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 8.

155 SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 23.

156 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 11.

157 SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 8(c); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(a).

158 SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 15 (DRC).

159 SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 1.

160 SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(e).

161 SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2004), para. 11.

162 SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 8(d).
```

SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 12.
 SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 1.

¹⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 2.

Exemptions from financial sanctions The Security Council has provided exemptions from most instances of financial sanctions. ¹⁶⁷ The majority of those exemptions have had a humanitarian dimension. The Council has thus provided exemptions from general financial sanctions for the purchase of commodities and products that were exempt from comprehensive sanctions (Southern Rhodesia, ¹⁶⁸ Iraq, ¹⁶⁹ FRYSM ¹⁷⁰ and Bosnian Serbs ¹⁷¹). The Council has also provided exemptions for the provision of finance for pension purposes (Southern Rhodesia ¹⁷²), for the provision of basic services (FRYSM ¹⁷³), for payments related to activities of the UN or other international actors (FRYSM ¹⁷⁴), for payments on the ground of humanitarian need (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida ¹⁷⁵).

In addition to exemptions with a humanitarian dimension, the Council has also outlined some exemptions from general financial sanctions that do not have an immediately identifiable humanitarian connection, including for funds derived from the sale or supply of petroleum or petroleum products and agricultural products or commodities (Libya¹⁷⁶), and for payments authorised by legitimate governments with sovereignty over the area in which the target is located (Bosnian Serbs¹⁷⁷ and Haiti¹⁷⁸).

With respect to assets freezes, the Security Council has tended to outline a standard collection of exemptions. It has thus exempted funds that were: (a) necessary for basic expenses as notified to the relevant sanctions committee (1267 Taliban/Al Qaida, 179 DRC, 180 1521

 $^{^{167}\,}$ Only in the case of UNITA did the Security Council fail to outline any exemptions.

¹⁶⁸ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 4.

¹⁶⁹ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 4; SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 20.

¹⁷⁰ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), paras 5; SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), sole para; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 27.

¹⁷¹ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 11.

¹⁷² SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 1.

¹⁷³ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 27.

¹⁷⁴ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 10 (exempting financial transactions related to the activities of UNPROFOR, the Conference on Yugoslavia, and the EC Monitoring Mission).

¹⁷⁵ Such an exemption was provided in relation to the Taliban sanctions regime, before it was expanded to target Usama Bin Laden and Al Qaida and individuals, groups and entities associated with them. See SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4(b).

¹⁷⁶ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 4.

¹⁷⁷ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 11. ¹⁷⁸ SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 2.

¹⁷⁹ SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 1(a).

¹⁸⁰ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 15(a).

Liberia, ¹⁸¹ 1556 Sudan, ¹⁸² Côte d'Ivoire, ¹⁸³ Hariri, ¹⁸⁴ North Korea ¹⁸⁵ and Iran ¹⁸⁶); (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the relevant sanctions committee (1267 Taliban/Al Qaida, ¹⁸⁷ DRC, ¹⁸⁸ 1521 Liberia, ¹⁸⁹ 1556 Sudan, ¹⁹⁰ Côte d'Ivoire, ¹⁹¹ North Korea ¹⁹² and Iran ¹⁹³); (c) subject to legal or administrative lien, as notified to the relevant sanctions committee (DRC, ¹⁹⁴ 1521 Liberia, ¹⁹⁵ 1556 Sudan, ¹⁹⁶ Côte d'Ivoire, ¹⁹⁷ North Korea ¹⁹⁸ and Iran ¹⁹⁹).

In addition to these standard exemptions, the Council has also qualified that states might allow for frozen accounts to earn interest and to receive outstanding payments owed under contracts, agreements or obligations that had arisen prior to the application of sanctions (1267 Taliban/Al Qaida, 200 1521 Liberia 201 and Iran 202). The Council has also outlined exemptions specific to particular sanctions regimes. In relation to the Hariri sanctions regime, it exempted funds necessary for payment of reasonable professional fees and legal expenses connected with maintenance of the frozen funds (Hariri 203). In the Iran sanctions regime it exempted funds that were necessary for activities related to light water nuclear reactors, as notified to the committee, 204 as well as funds for payment under a contract pre-dating listing, so long as the

```
<sup>181</sup> SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 2(a).
<sup>182</sup> SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(g)(i).
<sup>183</sup> SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 12(a).
<sup>184</sup> SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), Annex, para. 2(ii).
<sup>185</sup> SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 9(a).
<sup>186</sup> SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 13(a).
<sup>187</sup> SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 1(b).
<sup>188</sup> SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 15(b).
<sup>189</sup> SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 2(b).
<sup>190</sup> SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(g)(ii).
<sup>191</sup> SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 12(b).
<sup>192</sup> SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 9(b).
<sup>193</sup> SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 13(b).
<sup>194</sup> SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 15(c).
<sup>195</sup> SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 2(c).
<sup>196</sup> SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(g)(iii).
<sup>197</sup> SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 12(c).
<sup>198</sup> SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 9(c).
<sup>199</sup> SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 13(c).
<sup>200</sup> SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 2.
<sup>201</sup> SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 3.
<sup>202</sup> SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 14.
<sup>203</sup> SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), Annex, para. 2(ii).
<sup>204</sup> SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 13(d).
```

contract did not involve activities prohibited under the sanctions regime. 205

1.2 Non-economic sanctions

Non-economic sanctions are measures that seek to interrupt a target's relations with the external world in areas other than basic trade. The Security Council has employed a variety of non-economic sanctions.

i. Diplomatic and representative sanctions

Diplomatic and representative sanctions aim to interrupt the official relations between a target and the external world. The distinction between the two is that diplomatic sanctions are applied against a target that is recognised as a state by the international community and therefore maintains diplomatic relations with other states. Representative sanctions, on the other hand, are applied against a target that is not recognised as a state and whose official relations with the external world are more correctly described as 'representative' rather than 'diplomatic'. In applying diplomatic and representative sanctions, the Council has required states to refrain from legally recognising a target or to restrict or terminate diplomatic or representative relations with a target, whether directed against activities within the states applying the sanctions or against activities within the target. The Council has employed diplomatic sanctions as part of its Libya²⁰⁶ and 1054 Sudan²⁰⁷ sanctions regimes and it has applied representative sanctions as part of its sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, ²⁰⁸ the FRYSM, ²⁰⁹ UNITA ²¹⁰ and Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida. ²¹¹

Exemptions from diplomatic and representative sanctions The Security Council has not outlined any exemptions from diplomatic sanctions, and it has only designated an exemption from representative sanctions on one occasion. In that instance, it exempted from the representative sanctions against UNITA contact with UNITA initiated by representatives of the Government of Unity and National Reconciliation, the UN and observer states to the Lusaka Protocol. ²¹²

```
    Ibid., para. 15.
    SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 6(a); SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 7.
    SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 3(a).
    SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 2; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9(a).
    SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 8(a).
    SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(c); SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 12(a).
    SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 8(a).
```

²¹² SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 12(a).

ii. Transportation sanctions

Transportation sanctions are measures that aim to prevent the flow of transportation, whether by land, sea or air, to a target. Although transportation sanctions will implicitly be applied in respect of any goods or commodities prohibited by economic sanctions, the Security Council has nevertheless taken the step on a number of occasions of stating explicitly that the flow of transportation to or from the target was prohibited as part of a sanctions regime, doing so in relation to the Southern Rhodesia, FRYSM²¹⁴ and Bosnian Serb²¹⁵ sanctions regimes.

Exemptions from transportation sanctions In some cases where the Council has explicitly applied sanctions against transportation, it has provided exemptions for the transport of humanitarian items exempt from sanctions (FRYSM²¹⁶ and Bosnian Serbs²¹⁷). The Council has also provided exemptions for cases of *force majeure* (FRYSM²¹⁸ and Bosnian Serbs²¹⁹), and where requested by a legitimate government with sovereignty over the area in which the target is located (the government of Bosnia and Herzegovina in the case of the Bosnian Serbs²²⁰).

iii. Travel sanctions

Travel sanctions are measures that seek to prohibit or inhibit the ability of individuals associated with the target of a sanctions regime to travel internationally. Travel sanctions have been applied both against a target population as a whole, as well as against individuals and entities designated by the relevant sanctions committee. The Security Council has applied travel sanctions against all nationals of a target on one occasion – in the case of the Southern Rhodesia sanctions regime. The Council has directed travel sanctions against individuals or entities as part of the Iraq, Libya, Bosnian Serb, Haiti, UNITA, 1054 Sudan, Sierra

```
213 SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9(b).
214 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 22, 24-25, 28.
215 SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 15.
216 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 22, 28.
217 SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 15.
218 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 28.
219 SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 15.
220 Ibid. 221 SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 5.
```

Leone, Taliban and Al Qaida, 1343 Liberia, DRC, 1521 Liberia, 1556 Sudan, Côte d'Ivoire, Hariri, North Korea and Iran sanctions regimes. ²²²

Exemptions from travel sanctions When imposing travel bans, the Security Council has taken to affirming that nothing can oblige a state to deny entry to its own nationals. The Council has also exempted travel: on the grounds of humanitarian need or religious obligation (Southern Rhodesia, Sierra Leone, Sierra

```
SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), para. 4 (Iraq); SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 6(c) (Libya); SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 14 (Bosnian Serbs); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 3 (Haiti); SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4 (UNITA); SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 3(b) (1054 Sudan); SC Res. 1132 (5 July 2000), para. 5 (Sierra Leone); SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 5 (also Sierra Leone); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(b) (Taliban and Al Qaida); SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(a) (1343 Liberia); SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 28 (1343 Liberia); SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 13 (DRC); SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 4 (1521 Liberia); SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(d) (1556 Sudan); SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 9 (Côte d'Ivoire); SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(a) (Hariri); SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 8(e) (North Korea); and SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 10 (Iran).
```

SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(a) (UNITA); SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 5 (Sierra Leone); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(b) (Taliban/Al Qaida); SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(a) (1343 Liberia); SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 13 (DRC); SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 4(a) (1521 Liberia); SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(d) (1556 Sudan); SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 9 (Côte d'Ivoire); SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(a) (Hariri).

- ²²⁴ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 5. ²²⁵ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 5.
- ²²⁶ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(b). ²²⁷ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 14.
- ²²⁸ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 4(c).
- ²²⁹ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(f).
- ²³⁰ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 10.
- ²³¹ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), Annex, para. 2(i).
- ²³² SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 10.
- ²³³ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 14.
- ²³⁴ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(b). ²³⁵ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 14.
- ²³⁶ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(f).
- ²³⁷ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 10.
- ²³⁸ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 14. ²³⁹ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 3.
- ²⁴⁰ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 5; SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 5.
- ²⁴¹ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(b). ²⁴² SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(b).
- ²⁴³ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 4(c).
- ²⁴⁴ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 10.

(Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida²⁴⁵); on official intergovernmental business (1343 Liberia²⁴⁶); and when participating in efforts to bring to justice perpetrators of grave violations of human rights or international humanitarian law, as determined in advance by the 1533 Committee on a case-by-case basis (DRC²⁴⁷). In connection with the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, the Council also outlined exemptions from the travel ban to enable former Liberian President Charles Taylor and witnesses required for his trial to travel to the Netherlands.²⁴⁸

iv. Aviation sanctions

Aviation sanctions aim to prohibit flights to and from a target or to inhibit a target's ability to utilise flights within its own area of influence. The Security Council has employed aviation sanctions banning all flights to and from a target as part of the Southern Rhodesia, ²⁴⁹ Iraq, ²⁵⁰ Libya, ²⁵¹ FRYSM, ²⁵² Haiti, ²⁵³ UNITA, ²⁵⁴ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida ²⁵⁵ and DRC ²⁵⁶ sanctions regimes. The Council has imposed sanctions targeting the operations of a target's national airline in the case of the sanctions regimes against Libya, ²⁵⁷ 1054 Sudan ²⁵⁸ and Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida. ²⁵⁹ In examples of sanctions that aim to inhibit a target's ability to utilise flights within its own sphere of influence, the Council has prohibited the provision of technical assistance, advice, training, insurance and insurance-related payments related to the use, manufacture or maintenance of aircraft within areas controlled by a target as part of its sanctions regimes against Libya, ²⁶⁰ FRYSM ²⁶¹ and UNITA. ²⁶²

```
<sup>245</sup> SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(b).
                                                           <sup>246</sup> SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(a).
<sup>247</sup> SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 3.
                                                            <sup>248</sup> SC Res. 1688 (16 June 2006), para. 9.
<sup>249</sup> SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 6.
                                                   <sup>250</sup> SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), para. 3.
<sup>251</sup> SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 4(a).
                                                       <sup>252</sup> SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 7(a).
<sup>253</sup> SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 2.
                                                 <sup>254</sup> SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(d)(i).
<sup>255</sup> SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4(a); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 11.
<sup>256</sup> SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 6.
<sup>257</sup> SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 6(b); SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 6(a),
    para. 6(b).
<sup>258</sup> SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), para. 3.
<sup>259</sup> SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 8(b).
<sup>260</sup> SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 4(b); SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 6(d)-(f).
<sup>261</sup> SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 7(b).
```

²⁶² SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(d)(iii).

Exemptions from aviation sanctions The Security Council has provided exemptions from most instances of aviation sanctions. Exemptions have been granted from aviation sanctions prohibiting flights to or from a target in the following situations: when carrying medical supplies, foodstuffs and other humanitarian items (Iraq, ²⁶³ FRYSM, ²⁶⁴ Libya, ²⁶⁵ Haiti. 266 UNITA 267 and Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 268); in cases of medical emergency (UNITA²⁶⁹); for instances of religious pilgrimage and obligation (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida²⁷⁰); for flights by the UN or other international actors (Iraq, ²⁷¹ Libya, ²⁷² FRYSM²⁷³ and Afghanistan/ Taliban/Al Qaida²⁷⁴); in order to enable the inspection and verification of cargo (Iraq²⁷⁵); where authorised by a sanctions committee (Iraq²⁷⁶); for regularly scheduled commercial passenger flights (Haiti²⁷⁷); and to facilitate the achievement of the objectives of a sanctions regime (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida²⁷⁸). The Council also outlined exemptions from sanctions aiming to inhibit the operation of flights on one occasion, exempting from the Libya sanctions regime the provision of materials for the construction, improvement or maintenance of Libyan airfields for emergency equipment and equipment and services directly related to civilian air traffic control 279

v. Sporting, cultural and scientific sanctions

Sporting, cultural and scientific sanctions are measures that aim to prohibit sporting, cultural and scientific relations between the target

```
<sup>263</sup> SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), para. 3. <sup>264</sup> SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 7(a).
```

²⁶⁵ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 4(a). ²⁶⁶ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 2.

²⁶⁷ SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 5.

²⁶⁸ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4(a); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 11.

²⁶⁹ SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 5.

²⁷⁰ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4(a); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 11.

²⁷¹ SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), paras. 3, 4(c) (exempting flights for the United Nations Iran-Iraq Military Observer Group).

²⁷² SC Res. 910 (14 April 1994), para. 1 (exempting UN aircraft carrying a reconnaissance team to explore the feasibility of deploying a team of UN observers to monitor Libya's withdrawal from the Aouzou strip); SC Res. 915 (4 May 1994), para. 4 (exempting UN aircraft carrying the UN Aouzou Strip Observer Group).

²⁷³ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 10 (exempting flights connected to the activities of UNPROFOR, the Conference on Yugoslavia and the EC Monitoring Mission).

²⁷⁴ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 12 (exempting flights being undertaken for humanitarian purposes by humanitarian organisations, when they featured on a list approved by the 1267 Committee).

²⁷⁵ SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), para. 4(a). ²⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 4(b).

²⁷⁷ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 2. ²⁷⁸ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 11.

²⁷⁹ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 6(d).

and the external world.²⁸⁰ The Security Council has employed sporting, cultural and scientific sanctions once, as part of the 757 FRYSM sanctions regime, when it required states to prevent the participation in sporting events on their territory of persons or groups representing the FRYSM,²⁸¹ and to suspend scientific and technical co-operation and cultural exchanges and visits involving persons or groups officially sponsored by or representing the FRYSM.²⁸²

vi. Telecommunications sanctions

Telecommunications sanctions, which are listed in Article 41 as one potential measure that might be applied as part of a sanctions regime, would entail disrupting telecommunications between the target of a sanctions regime and the outside world. Although the Security Council has not yet employed telecommunications sanctions, it nevertheless expressed its readiness to consider imposing such measures as part of the sanctions regime against UNITA. In another action linked to the potential disruption of a target's telecommunications, the Council encouraged the FRYSM to sever telecommunications links between it and the areas of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of the Bosnian Serbs, while that group was subject to UN sanctions.

2. Identifying targets

As the Charter framework for collective security was designed to address disputes between states, the founders of the UN likely envisaged sanctions being applied against state targets. In practice, sanctions have been applied against a range of targets, including single and multiple states, failed states, as well as against pseudo-state-, sub-state- and extra-state-actors. In addition, the practice of the Security Council demonstrates an increasing recognition of the desirability of applying measures that seek to impact decision-makers within the general group against which sanctions are imposed. When the Council imposes sanctions, it therefore

Sporting, cultural and scientific sanctions could be treated as three separate types of sanctions. They are treated as a single category here, because they were applied at the same time by the Council in the case of the sanctions against FRYSM.

²⁸¹ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 8(b). ²⁸² *Ibid.*, para. 8(c).

²⁸³ SC Res. 1221 (12 January 1999), para. 8.

²⁸⁴ SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), para. 10. FRYSM had severed such telecommunications once before, in August 1994, so the Council's encouragement was phrased in terms of reinstating that severance.

undertakes a two-step process of targeting. The first step is to identify the general target against which the sanctions will be imposed, and the second step is to consider implementing measures that will directly target decision-makers within the general target.

2.1 Single state targets

The Security Council has targeted single states in the manner likely envisaged by the founders of the UN in several cases, including the South Africa, Iraq, 713 Yugoslavia, Libya, 1054 Sudan, FRY, 788 Liberia, North Korea and Iran sanctions regimes. In each of these instances, the sanctions were imposed against a functioning government and were applied to the territory of the state as a whole. In the case of the 713 Yugoslavia sanctions regime, however, the maintenance of the sanctions after the dissolution of Yugoslavia meant that their target effectively became the successor states of the former Yugoslavia.

2.2 Multiple state targets

The continuation of the 713 Yugoslavia sanctions regime beyond the dissolution of Yugoslavia effectively led, albeit unintentionally, to the first application of a UN sanctions regime against multiple state targets. The Council subsequently imposed sanctions against multiple state targets in the case of Eritrea and Ethiopia, in an attempt to resolve the conflict between those two countries.

2.3 De facto state targets

The term 'de facto state targets' is used here to denote targets which are in de facto control of the machinery of government within a state, but which are not recognised by the international community to be the legitimate, or de jure, government of that state. Examples of sanctions imposed against de facto state targets including the regimes against Southern Rhodesia, FRYSM, Haiti, Sierra Leone and Afghanistan. In the case of Southern Rhodesia, the sanctions were applied against the illegal white minority regime led by Ian Smith. In the case of the FRYSM, sanctions were applied against the de facto government of Serbia-Montenegro, led by Slobodan Milosevic.²⁸⁵ In the case of Haiti, the

FRYSM is treated here as a case of a de facto state target rather than as a state target due to a dispute concerning that entity's international status which took place while sanctions were imposed. The international community refused to recognise the claim made by FRYSM to the former Yugoslavia's membership in the UN. It was also hesitant to grant FRYSM membership in its own right until it had engaged meaningfully in the

sanctions were employed against the de facto authorities who had seized power from the democratically elected government of President Aristide. In the case of Sierra Leone, the sanctions were initially applied against the military junta that had seized power from the democratically elected government of Sierra Leone. In the case of Afghanistan, the sanctions were initially imposed against the Taliban regime. In the cases of Southern Rhodesia, Haiti and Sierra Leone, the sanctions were applied against the entire territories of the states over which the de facto authorities were exercising control. In the case of the sanctions against the Taliban, however, the sanctions were applied against Taliban-controlled territory, which initially amounted to approximately 90 per cent of the total territory of Afghanistan.

2.4 Failed state targets

The Security Council has applied sanctions against targets which have effectively constituted failed states in the cases of Somalia, Liberia and Rwanda. In each of those instances the relevant country found itself in a state of chaotic civil war and the Security Council imposed an arms embargo with the aim of fostering peace and stability. In the case of the sanctions against Rwanda, however, the sanctions regime was modified fifteen months after its initial application, such that it exempted the then government and targeted sub-state actors in Rwanda and neighbouring states.

2.5 Sub-state targets

The main characteristic of sub-state targets is that they operate within, and tend to pose a threat to the peace and security of, a state. In general, sub-state targets are rebel groups that seek to acquire control of the state from the existing government. Examples of sub-state actors against which sanctions have been applied include the Bosnian Serb, UNITA, rebel groups in Rwanda, rebel groups in Sierra Leone and the

peace process in the former Yugoslavia. Ultimately, it was admitted to membership in the United Nation on 1 November 2000, under the name 'the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia'. See SC Res. 1326 (31 October 2000); A/RES/55/12 (1 November 2000). With the Security Council's subsequent modification of the Taliban sanctions regime,

With the Security Council's subsequent modification of the Taliban sanctions regime, such that the sanctions targeted first the activities within Afghanistan of the Taliban, Usama Bin Laden, Al Qaida, and associates of those entities, then second the activities of those entities wherever they may take place, the target changed from being a pseudo-state to a sub-state actor (in the case of the Taliban) and extra-state actors (in the cases of Bin Laden and Al Qaida and their associates). For discussion of those aspects of the sanctions regime, see the discussion of sub-state and extra-state actors.

Taliban. In the case of the Bosnian Serbs and UNITA, the sanctions targeted those sub-state actors from the point at which they were imposed until they were terminated. In the case of the sanctions against Rwanda, the sanctions were initially imposed against a failed-state target. The sanctions regime was subsequently modified, however, to exempt the new Rwandan government from the arms embargo, making the new target of the sanctions non-government forces operating in Rwanda, and in particular forces of the former Rwandan government.²⁸⁷ In the case of the sanctions against Sierra Leone and the Taliban, the Security Council initially imposed the sanctions against pseudo-state targets, before focusing them against sub-state targets. In the case of Sierra Leone, the target shifted once the Sierra Leone government was returned to power, such that the sanctions were directed against the former military junta and members of the RUF. For its part, the Taliban changed from a pseudo-state to a sub-state target once it lost control of the reins of power in Afghanistan. ²⁸⁸

2.6 Extra-state targets

An extra-state target is one which does not maintain a connection with a particular geographical base or operate solely within a particular state. Examples of extra-state targets include Usama Bin Laden and Al Qaida, and their associates. Initially, the sanctions against Bin Laden and Al Qaida and their associates were connected to their activities in Afghanistan. In January 2002, however, the Security Council abolished the geographical nexus between Afghanistan and the Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime.

2.7 Individuals as targets

As noted by former UNSG Boutros Boutros-Ghali, sanctions tend to be a 'blunt instrument'. ²⁸⁹ Responding in part to a concern in respect of the unintended consequences of sanctions upon civilian populations, the

Although the resolutions of the Security Council modifying the sanctions refer generally to 'non-governmental forces', it is clear from various statements by the Council that the main target of the sanctions was the former Rwandan government. See SC Res. 997 (9 June 1995), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 1013 (7 September 1995), preambular para. 5. See also the mandate of the International Commission of Inquiry to investigate violations of the Rwandan sanctions: SC Res. 1013 (7 September 1995), para. 1.

²⁸⁸ The Taliban is treated as a sub-state actor rather than an extra-state actor due to the fact that it remains integrally connected to, and operative in, Afghanistan.

²⁸⁹ S/1995/1 (25 January 1995): Supplement to an Agenda for Peace, para. 70.

Security Council has experimented with measures designed to ensure that its sanctions regimes have a more direct impact upon policy-makers and individuals whose actions have contributed to the relevant threat to international peace and security. Examples of the types of tailored measures applied by the Council are assets freezes and travel bans.

These tailored measures have fast become the Security Council's sanctions tool of choice. The Council has applied both an assets freeze and a travel ban as part of its seven most recent sanctions regimes. Travel restrictions have been applied against individuals as part of the Iraq, Libya, Bosnian Serb, Haiti, UNITA, 1054 Sudan, Sierra Leone, Taliban and Al Qaida, 1343 Liberia, DRC, 1521 Liberia, 1556 Sudan, Côte d'Ivoire, Hariri, North Korea and Iran sanctions regimes. The Council has applied an assets freeze against individuals as part of the 661 Iraq, 864 UNITA, 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida, 1493 DRC, 1521 Liberia, 1556 Sudan, 1572 Côte d'Ivoire, 1636 Hariri, 1718 North Korea and 1737 Iran sanctions regimes. The Council has regimes.

SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 23 (Iraq); SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 11 (UNITA); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 8(c) (Taliban and Al Qaida); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(a) (also Taliban and Al Qaida); SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 15 (DRC); SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 1 (1521 Liberia); SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(e) (1556 Sudan); SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 11 (Côte d'Ivoire); SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(a) (Hariri); SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 8(d) (North Korea); SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 12 (Iran).

^{SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), para. 4 (Iraq); SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 6(c) (Libya); SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 14 (Bosnian Serbs); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 3 (Haiti); SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4 (UNITA); SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 3(b) (1054 Sudan); SC Res. 1132 (5 July 2000), para. 5 (Sierra Leone); SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 5 (also Sierra Leone); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(b) (Taliban and Al Qaida); SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7(a) (1343 Liberia); SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 28 (1343 Liberia); SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 13 (DRC); SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 4 (1521 Liberia); SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(d) (1556 Sudan); SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 9 (Côte d'Ivoire); SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(a) (Hariri); SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 8(e) (North Korea); and SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 10 (Iran).}

7 Fine-tuning sanctions: setting objectives, applying time-limits and minimising negative consequences

In addition to identifying the legal basis and delineating the scope of sanctions, the Council can also take a number of steps to fine-tune the manner in which sanctions will be applied. As part of its sanctions practice, the Council has fine-tuned its Article 41 measures by clarifying particular objectives whose fulfilment would lead to the suspension or termination of sanctions. It has applied sanctions against a range of targets. It has experimented with the use of time-delays and time-limits, and it has also attempted to respond to criticism of the negative consequences of sanctions upon civilian populations and third-states.

1. Setting sanctions objectives

As UN sanctions are imposed under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, the implicit general objective of any sanctions regime is to address the threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression that led to the imposition of sanctions, and thus to maintain or restore international peace and security. In addition to that general objective, however, sanctions regimes generally possess a more specific objective, or set of objectives, the achievement of which should ensure the maintenance or restoration of peace and thus lead to the termination of sanctions. Thus, although the specific objectives of a sanctions regime stem from the general objectives of addressing the identified threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression and maintaining or restoring international peace and security, they are usually more detailed, consisting of particular steps that must be taken by the target to ensure that the sanctions are suspended or terminated.

Analysis here focuses upon the formal, explicit objectives of sanctions regimes. In any given situation there may, of course, be other factors

motivating the Council as a whole, or certain of its members, to seek the imposition or continued application of sanctions. The 748 Libya sanctions regime provides one example where implicit objectives were at play. That regime remained in a state of suspended animation for more than four years after Libya handed over for trial before a Scottish court in the Netherlands the two suspects for the Lockerbie bombing. Eventually, the regime was terminated, after the Libyan government agreed to pay compensation to the relatives of the victims of Pan Am flight 103. Yet the payment of such compensation had not featured as an explicit objective of the sanctions regime. Thus, although it was an important factor in the ultimate termination of that regime, it was not something that Libya was required to do by the decisions of the Council. Rather, it was an implicit objective pursued by certain Council members.

Although the Security Council has not always articulated the specific objectives of its sanctions regimes in a methodical manner, it often provides at least an indication of those objectives. Such indications usually take the form of demands made of the target, of an expression of the Council's readiness to consider suspending or terminating the sanctions upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, or of a statement that the sanctions shall be imposed until certain developments have occurred.

1.1 Ending a rebellion, invasion or external interference

The Security Council applied sanctions with the objective of ending a rebellion in the case of the illegal regime in Southern Rhodesia.² Bringing about the withdrawal of an invading force was a major objective of the sanctions regimes against Iraq³ and the FRYSM.⁴ In the case of the Iraq sanctions, the Council also sought to ensure that Iraq paid compensation for liabilities arising from its invasion of Kuwait.⁵ Securing the cessation of external forms of interference formed one of the main objectives of the FRYSM⁶ and 1343 Liberia sanctions

¹ For analysis of the many potential implicit objectives of sanctions, see Doxey, *International Sanctions* (2nd edn), pp.54-58.

² SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 3 and para. 3; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9; SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), para. 2; SC Res. 326 (2 February), para. 4; SC Res. 423 (14 March 1978), in general.

³ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 2. ⁴ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 3.

⁵ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 22. ⁶ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 3.

regimes. ⁷ In the case of Haiti, one objective was securing the departure from the target of key players in a coup d'état. ⁸

1.2 Restoring a legitimate and/or democratically elected government to power

The Security Council applied sanctions with the objective of restoring the authority of a legitimate government in the case of the sanctions regime against Iraq. In the case of the sanctions regimes against Haiti and Sierra Leone, major objectives included: the reinstatement of a democratically elected government (both Haiti and Sierra Leone ensuring the return of constitutional order (both Haiti and Sierra Leone), and bringing about the restoration of democracy (Haiti ensuring), and bringing about the restoration of democracy (Haiti ensured). In the case of the sanctions regimes against Sierra Leone and UNITA, the Council also sought to ensure the re-establishment of government control throughout Sierra Leone end Angola.

1.3 Facilitating the exercise or protection of human rights

The Security Council has imposed sanctions with the objective of facilitating the exercise or protection of human rights on a number of occasions. Sanctions have thus been applied: to enable the exercise of self-determination and independence (Southern Rhodesia¹⁷ and South Africa¹⁸); to eliminate apartheid (South Africa¹⁹); to bring about the

⁸ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 18.
⁹ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 2.

¹¹ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), paras. 1 and 19. ¹² SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 18(e).

¹³ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), paras. 1 and 19.

¹⁶ SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 2.

SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, paras. 4, 7; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), preambular para. 5, para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7.

⁷ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 2, 8-11; SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 5; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), paras. 1, 3, 10, 12, 17.

SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 16; SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 1; SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 940 (31 July 1994), preambular para. 8, para. 17; SC Res. 944 (29 September 1994), para. 4.

¹⁴ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), preambular para. 8, para. 18(e); SC Res. 940 (31 July 1994), preambular para. 8, para. 17.

¹⁵ SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 7; SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 6; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 2.

¹⁷ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 4; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular paras. 7–8.

SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 1; SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, paras. 4, 7; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 765 (16 July 1992), para. 7.

occurrence of free and fair elections (FRYSM and the Bosnian Serbs. 20 as well as Haiti²¹); to secure the enjoyment of minority rights within a target, including greater autonomy and self-administration (FRY²²); to bring an end to acts of repression against a civilian population (FRY²³); to facilitate the return of refugees and displaced persons (FRY²⁴); to bring to justice rebel or militia leaders and their associates who had incited and carried out human rights and international humanitarian law violations and other atrocities (1556 Sudan²⁵).

1.4 Bringing about disarmament or arms control

The Security Council has incorporated disarmament-related objectives in a number of its sanctions regimes. Among those objectives have been: containing an aggressive target (South Africa²⁶); bringing about a target's complete disarmament (Iraq²⁷); securing a target's co-operation with an arms control monitoring body (Iraq²⁸); inducing targets to conclude and implement a regional arms control agreement (former Yugoslavia²⁹); securing the disarmament and demobilisation of rebel groups or government-sponsored militias (Sierra Leone, 30 DRC, 31 1521 Liberia, ³² 1556 Sudan³³); and inducing a target to cease developing a weapons of mass destruction programme and return to participation in the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty framework (North Korea³⁴ and Iran³⁵).

1.5 Facilitating the establishment and consolidation of peace

Although, as noted above, the underlying objective of any sanctions regime should be the maintenance or restoration of peace and security, on a number of occasions the Council has articulated particular

²⁰ In connection with both the 757 FRYSM and 820 Bosnian Serb sanctions regimes, see SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 4.

²¹ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 18(c).

²² SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 5; SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), preambular para. 11.

²³ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 16; SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), para. 4.

²⁴ SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), para. 4. ²⁵ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 6.

²⁶ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), paras. 1-2; SC Res. 558 (13 December 1984), preambular paras. 4, 5.

²⁷ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 8–10, 12, 22.

²⁸ SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), para. 6; SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 33.

²⁹ SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), para. 1. ³⁰ SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 7.

SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 22.
 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 5.
 SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 6.
 SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), paras. 2-4, 5-7.

³⁵ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 24(a).

objectives associated with the establishment and consolidation of peace. Among those objectives have been the following: establishing peace and stability in general (713 Yugoslavia, ³⁶ Somalia, ³⁷ 788 Liberia ³⁸ and FRY ³⁹); bringing about a peaceful, definitive settlement to a conflict between two countries (Eritrea and Ethiopia ⁴⁰); ensuring the establishment and observance of cease-fires (FRYSM, ⁴¹ Bosnian Serbs, ⁴² UNITA, ⁴³ Rwanda, ⁴⁴ Eritrea and Ethiopia ⁴⁵ and DRC ⁴⁶); securing the engagement of the target or other relevant actors in a peace process (FRYSM, ⁴⁷ Bosnian Serbs, ⁴⁸ FRY ⁴⁹ and Eritrea and Ethiopia ⁵⁰); facilitating the implementation of, or progress in, a peace process (Haiti, ⁵¹ UNITA, ⁵² Rwanda, ⁵³ 1343 Liberia ⁵⁴ DRC, ⁵⁵ 1521 Liberia, ⁵⁶ 1556 Sudan ⁵⁷ and Côte d'Ivoire ⁵⁸); bringing about progress in a process of national reconciliation (UNITA, ⁵⁹ Côte d'Ivoire ⁶⁰); and securing co-operation with peace-keeping operations or other peace-related international actors (Haiti, ⁶¹ 1160 FRY ⁶² and 1556 Sudan ⁶³).

1.6 Addressing international terrorism

The Libya, 1054 Sudan, Taliban/Al Qaida and Hariri sanctions regimes have each had the major objective of addressing international terrorism.

- $^{36}\,$ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6. $^{37}\,$ SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5.
- ³⁸ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8. ³⁹ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8.
- ⁴⁰ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 17. ⁴¹ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 3.
- ⁴² SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), paras. 2 and 4.
- ⁴³ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 17. ⁴⁴ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 1.
- ⁴⁵ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), paras. 2–3. ⁴⁶ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 22.
- SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10 and 31; SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 4.
 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10 and 31; SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 3 and 21; SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 4.
- ⁴⁹ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), paras. 1 and 16.
- ⁵⁰ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 4. ⁵¹ SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), para. 3.
- ⁵² SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 17; SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 7; SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), para. 2.
- ⁵³ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), preambular para. 6, para. 19.
- ⁵⁴ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 3; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 3.
- ⁵⁵ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 22. ⁵⁶ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 5.
- ⁵⁷ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 1.
- SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 13; SC Res. 1633 (21 October 2005), para. 12; SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 8; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 6.
- ⁵⁹ SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), para. 2.
- ⁶⁰ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 13; SC Res. 1633 (21 October 2005), para. 12; SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 8; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 6.
- ⁶¹ SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 1; SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 18(d).
- ⁶² SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 16; SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), para. 4.
- 63 SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 1.

In addition to this broad objective, the Council has also outlined the following particular objectives: securing the co-operation of a target with investigations into acts of terrorism (Libya, 64 1054 Sudan 65 and Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 66); ensuring that a target desists from assisting, supporting and providing shelter to terrorists (Libya, 67 1054 Sudan 68 and Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 69); inducing the formal renunciation of terrorism by a target (Libya 70); and ensuring the completion of all investigative and judicial proceedings relating to a terrorist incident (Hariri 71).

1.7 Promoting good governance

In some instances the Security Council has begun to tie the lifting of sanctions to improvements in governance. This condition has generally been attached to sanctions against natural resources, such as diamond and timber sanctions. The condition for termination of diamond sanctions has generally been the establishment of an effective certificate of origin scheme (Sierra Leone, 1343 and 1521 Liberia). In the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, the major conditions for lifting timber sanctions were that the Liberian government gain full authority and control over Liberian timber producing areas and that government revenues from the timber industry were used for legitimate purposes for the benefit of the Liberian people.

The Security Council also took the unusual step in connection with the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime of encouraging the Liberian government to implement the Governance and Economic Management Assistance Program (GEMAP), which had been developed by international donors in co-operation with the NTGL, with the aim of preventing the loss of government revenue through corrupt practices. ⁷⁶ Part of the rationale underpinning the GEMAP was that securing Liberian

⁶⁴ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 1; SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 16; SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 8.

⁶⁵ SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 1(a).

⁶⁶ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), paras. 1–2, 14; SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 1–2, 24.

⁶⁷ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 2–3. ⁶⁸ SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 1(b).

⁶⁹ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 1; SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 1, 3, 24.

⁷⁰ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 2–3. ⁷¹ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(c).

⁷² SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 5.

⁷³ SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 8; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 14.

⁷⁴ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 8; SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 4.

⁷⁵ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), paras. 11–12; SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 4.

⁷⁶ SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 4.

government control over all revenue from natural resources would eradicate the need for sanctions.

2. Defining the temporal application of sanctions

When crafting a sanctions regime, the Security Council has occasionally experimented with the temporal application of the sanctions to be applied. Traditionally, a decision by the Council to impose sanctions required states to implement the sanctions immediately and for an unspecified duration. In some of its sanctions regimes, however, the Council has varied the temporal application of sanctions, both in terms of when the sanctions enter into force and in terms of the length of time for which sanctions must be applied.

2.1 Time-delays

The Security Council has employed time-delays in respect of the entry into force of sanctions in several of its sanctions regimes, including the Libya, ⁷⁷ FRYSM, ⁷⁸ Haiti, ⁷⁹ UNITA, ⁸⁰ 1054 Sudan, ⁸¹ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, ⁸² 1343 Liberia ⁸³ and Côte d'Ivoire ⁸⁴ sanctions regimes. The rationale for utilising time-delays is sometimes to provide the target with a period of grace during which it can avoid falling subject to the sanctions by satisfying the conditions tied to the termination of sanctions, as occurred in the case of the FRYSM sanctions regime. ⁸⁵ In the absence of a desire to induce the early compliance of a target with the

⁷⁷ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 3; SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 2.

⁷⁸ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10–11.

⁷⁹ See: SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), paras. 3, 4; SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 1; SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 5.

SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 17; SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 7; SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 14. On two occasions the Council extended the initial date for the application of sanctions, in response to what appeared to be positive developments on the ground. The date for the entry into force of the sanctions outlined in resolution 1127 (1997), initially set for 30 September 1997 (SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 7), was delayed for a period of thirty days: SC Res. 1130 (29 September 1997), para. 2. The date for the entry into force of resolution 1173 (1998), initially set for 25 June 1998, was also delayed, this time by six days: SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), para. 2. In both cases, the additional time seemed to be permitted in response to observations made by the UNSG relating to potential positive developments on the ground.

⁸¹ SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 2; SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), para. 4.

⁸² SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 3; SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 22.

⁸³ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 8; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 17.

⁸⁴ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 19 (providing that the travel ban and assets freeze would come into force one month later).

⁸⁵ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10–11.

objectives of a sanctions regime, the rationale for employing timedelays is likely to be the desire to grant states sufficient time to make the necessary arrangements to ensure that the sanctions will be effectively implemented once they enter into force.

2.2 Time-limits

The Security Council has employed time-limits in connection with a number of sanctions regimes. The Council first experimented with a time-limit in May 2000, as part of the sanctions regime against Eritrea and Ethiopia. The sanctions were established for a period of twelve months, at the end of which the Council did not decide to extend the sanctions any further and they therefore expired. Since then the Council has employed time-limits as part of the Sierra Leone, faghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, fall Liberia, Liberia, DRC, fall Liberia, and Côte d'Ivoire, sanctions regimes.

- 86 SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 16.
- ⁸⁷ *Ibid.* ⁸⁸ S/PRST/2001/14 (15 May 2001).
- 89 The Council imposed diamond sanctions for an initial period of eighteen months: SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), paras. 1, 5, 6. For discussion of the extensions and ultimate lifting of the diamond sanctions, see Appendix 2, summary of the 1132 sanctions regime.
- ⁹⁰ In December 2000, the Council decided that the additional measures it was applying against the Taliban would terminate after twelve months, unless it (the Council) were to decide otherwise: SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 23. In its subsequent resolutions, however, the Council has not incorporated time-limits, noting instead that it would review the sanctions after twelve months and decide how to improve them. See, e.g., SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 3; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 1, 2; SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 3.
- ⁹¹ The Council outlined time-limits for most of the sanctions imposed. The arms sanctions were applied for an initial period of fourteen months: SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 5, 9. The diamond and travel sanctions, which came into effect two months after the application of the arms sanctions, were applied for an initial period of twelve months: SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 6–8. The timber sanctions were applied for an initial period of ten months, beginning on 6 July 2003: SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 17. For extensions and renewals of these sanctions, see the summary of the 1343 sanctions regime in Appendix 3.
- 92 SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 20 (applying the arms sanctions for an initial period of twelve months).
- ⁹³ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 18 (deciding that the arms, travel, diamond and timber sanctions were established for twelve months). The Council subsequently extended all these measures on multiple occasions, before eventually lifting the timber sanctions in June 2006. For further details, see Appendix 2, summary of the 1521 sanctions regime. It should be noted that the Council did not apply a time-limit for the financial sanctions imposed by resolution 1532 (2004): SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), paras. 1, 5.
- 94 SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), paras. 7, 9, 11; SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 6. For discussion of renewals of these measures, see Appendix 2, summary of the 1572 sanctions regime.

3. Addressing the unintended consequences of sanctions

UN sanctions have received considerable criticism due to the negative consequences that have resulted from their application both for civilian populations living in a target state, as well as for states that would normally benefit from engaging in trade or other relations with the target. This section outlines the manner in which the Council has sought to address unintended consequences both for civilian populations and for third states.

3.1 Security Council action to address the humanitarian impact of sanctions upon civilian populations

The United Nations has been quite sensitive to the charge that sanctions have brought suffering upon civilian populations. For its part, the Security Council and its sanctions-related subsidiary bodies have noted that the aim of sanctions is not to harm civilian populations. For the Council and its permanent members have also issued a number of statements to the effect that more must be done to minimise the humanitarian impact of sanctions. In terms of concrete action, the Security Council has sought to address the negative humanitarian consequences of sanctions upon civilian populations in three main ways. First, the Council has outlined humanitarian exemptions from comprehensive and complex sanctions regimes. Second, it has moved towards targeted, 'smart sanctions'. Third, it has occasionally requested assessments of the humanitarian and socio-economic impact of sanctions.

i. The exemptions process

The Security Council has outlined humanitarian exemptions from each of the comprehensive sanctions regimes applied to date, articulating

⁹⁵ See, e.g., S/1995/1 (25 January 1995): Supplement to an Agenda for Peace, para. 70; and the statement by senior UN official Lakhdar Brahimi in his foreword to: Gibbons, Sanctions in Haiti.

⁹⁶ See, e.g., S/PRST/2000/12 (7 April 2000), para. 17. For similar statements by the Council's sanctions-related subsidiary bodies, see S/1999/644 (4 June 1999): Report on the visit by the Chairman of the 864 Committee to Central and Southern Africa, May 1999, para. 18; S/1999/829 (28 July 1999): Report on the visit by the Chairman of the 864 Committee to Europe and participation in the seventieth ordinary session of the Council of Ministers of the Organisation of African Unity, July 1999, para. 23.

⁹⁷ See, e.g., S/1995/300 (13 April): Humanitarian Impact of Sanctions (containing a non-paper by the five permanent members of the Council), para. 1; S/1999/92 (29 January 1999): Note by the President of the Security Council: Work of the Sanctions Committees, paras. 1, 9–11.

particular exempt items, as well as classes of supplies that can be exempt with the approval of the relevant sanctions committee. The Council has also provided for exemptions from financial sanctions for the purchase of humanitarian items and to finance pensions, the provision of basic services, payments on the ground of humanitarian need, and 'basic' or 'extraordinary' personal expenses of individuals subject to financial sanctions. The Council has also expressed its support, via the issuance of a Presidential Note, for the idea that food, pharmaceuticals, medical supplies and basic agricultural and medical equipment should be exempt from any sanctions regime. In that note it also expressed the view that consideration should be given to drawing up lists of items that should be excluded from sanctions regimes and it recognised that civilian populations in target states should have access to appropriate resources and procedures for financing humanitarian imports. 99

Towards the end of the comprehensive Iraq sanctions regime's tenure, the Security Council also refined the exemptions process in a way that might provide a positive precedent, should comprehensive sanctions again be employed. In May 2002, the Council adopted a 'Goods Review List' (GRL).¹⁰⁰ The GRL contained an exhaustive list of potential 'dual-use' items, the supply to Iraq of which must first be approved via a process which involved careful consideration of the items by the United Nations Monitoring Verification and Inspection Commission (UNMOVIC) and the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), which then recommended the approval or refusal of the application by the 661 Committee.¹⁰¹ Anything that was not on the list was considered to be exempt from sanctions, thus requiring simple notification to the Committee. After the introduction of the GRL process, the flow of exempted goods and commodities to Iraq under the Oil-for-Food Programme increased substantially.¹⁰²

⁹⁸ S/1999/92 (29 January 1999): Note by the President of the Security Council: Work of the Sanctions Committees, para. 16.

⁹⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰⁰ The GRL was adopted by SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 2. It was refined by SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 1.

For the GRL itself, see S/2002/515 (20 May 2002); and SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), Annex A. For the procedures relating to the application of the GRL, see SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), attachment; SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), Annex B.

For details of the improvements resulting from the introduction of the GRL, see the report of the Secretary-General dated 12 November 2002: S/2002/1239 (12 November 2002).

ii. Smart sanctions

There has been a noticeable evolution in the Security Council's practice towards 'smart' or 'targeted' sanctions. ¹⁰³ The Council has thus sought to target decision-makers more directly, through the employment of individual travel and financial sanctions. It has also focused its sanctions regimes increasingly upon strategic goods, prohibiting particular items – such as arms, diamonds and timber – the export or import of which is perceived to contribute to the relevant threat to the peace.

iii. Humanitarian impact assessment

The Council has requested the UNSG and sanctions-related subsidiary bodies to undertake a number of monitoring and evaluation activities in relation to the humanitarian situation in areas subject to sanctions. The UNSG has thus been requested to report on the humanitarian situation in general in a target state (Iraq, 104 Haiti, 105 Eritrea and Ethiopia 106), to appoint a committee of experts to report on the humanitarian situation in a target state (Iraq 107), and to report on the actual or potential humanitarian implications of sanctions within a target state (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 108 and 1343 Liberia 109). Sanctions-related subsidiary bodies, for their part, have been tasked with: reporting on the humanitarian needs of the civilian population within a target state (Iraq); 110 determining whether humanitarian circumstances had arisen, thus requiring the provision of exemptions for food-stuffs (Iraq); 111 reporting

For monographs studying this evolution, see Smart Sanctions: the Next Steps: The Debate on Arms Embargoes and Travel Sanctions within the 'Bonn-Berlin Process' (Baden-Baden: Nomos, 2001); David Cortright and George A. Lopez (eds.), Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2002).

 $^{^{104}\,}$ SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 3–5. $^{105}\,$ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 16. $^{106}\,$ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 15. $^{107}\,$ SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), para. 18.

SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 15(d). The UNSG subsequently submitted four reports to the Council in 2001 on the humanitarian implications of the sanctions: S/2001/241 (20 March 2001); S/2001/695 (13 July 2001); S/2001/1086 (19 November 2001); and S/2001/1215 (18 December 2001).

SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 13(a); SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 19. The UNSG subsequently submitted the following reports: S/2001/939 (5 October 2001); and S/2003/793 (5 August 2003).

The Council established three panels to explore different aspects of the situation in Iraq, the second of which considered the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi people. See S/1999/100: Note by the President of the Security Council (30 January 1999). The Humanitarian Panel reported in: S/1999/356 (30 March 1999), Annex II.

¹¹¹ The Council made such a request of the 661 Committee in: SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 1, 5.

on the potential and actual economic, humanitarian and social impact of sanctions (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida¹¹² and 1343 Liberia¹¹³); and making recommendations to the Council on ways to limit unintended effects of sanctions on a civilian population (1343 Liberia¹¹⁴).

3.2 Security Council action to address the impact of sanctions upon third states

The framers of the UN Charter implicitly recognised the inequity inherent in requiring a greater sacrifice of some states than others by providing such states the right, under Article 50, to consult the Security Council in respect of special economic problems resulting from the implementation of Council-mandated preventive or enforcement measures. States have consulted the Security Council under Article 50 concerning the economic consequences experienced as a result of implementing the sanctions regimes against Southern Rhodesia, Iraq, the FRYSM and Haiti.

In the case of Southern Rhodesia, the Council tasked technical missions to explore the issue of special assistance for Zambia and Botswana. ¹¹⁶ In the other cases, the Council requested sanctions committees to examine requests for special assistance and to make appropriate recommendations to the Council (Iraq, ¹¹⁷ Libya, ¹¹⁸ FRYSM ¹¹⁹ and Haiti ¹²⁰). In two cases, the relevant sanctions committee has taken the step of establishing Article 50 Working Groups to focus on the issue of special assistance (Iraq ¹²¹ and FRYSM ¹²²). In both of those instances, the

¹¹³ The Council made such a request of the Liberia Panel of Experts: SC Res. 1395 (27 February 2002), para. 4; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(c).

¹¹² The Council requested the 1267 Committee to undertake such a task in relation to the Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regime: SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6(c).

The Council made such a request of both the 1343 Committee and the Liberia Panel of Experts: SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(g) (aimed at the 1343 Committee); SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(c) (aimed at the Liberia Panel of Experts).

¹¹⁵ Article 50, UN Charter.

SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 9 (regarding Zambia); SC Res. 403 (14 January 1977), para. 6 (regarding Botswana).

¹¹⁷ SC Res. 669 (24 September 1990), preambular para. 4.

¹¹⁸ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 9(f); SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 10.

¹¹⁹ SC Res. 843 (18 June 1993), para. 2. ¹²⁰ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14(g).

For a brief description of the activities of the 661 Working Group, see S/1996/700
 (26 August 1996): Report of the Security Council Committee established by resolution 661 (1990)
 concerning the situation between Iraq and Kuwait, para. 105.

For a tangential reference to the 724 Working Group, see S/1996/946 (15 November 1996): Final Report of the Security Council Committee established pursuant to resolution 724 (1991) concerning Yugoslavia, para. 42.

Committee issued recommendations concerning requests they found to be valid (Iraq¹²³ and FRYSM¹²⁴).

In two instances, the Council's response has been to appeal directly to all states to provide technical, financial and material assistance to the country concerned, and to invite the competent organs and specialised agencies of the UN system, including the international financial institutions and regional development banks, to review their programmes of assistance to the country in question, with a view to alleviating those hardships (Southern Rhodesia¹²⁵ and Iraq¹²⁶). In three cases, the Council has responded indirectly to such appeals, by requesting the UNSG to make such an appeal to all states (Southern Rhodesia, ¹²⁷ Iraq¹²⁸ and FRYSM¹²⁹).

- 123 S/21786 (18 September 1990): Special report to the Security Council concerning the application of Jordan for special assistance; S/22021 & Add.1 & Add.2 (19 and 21 December 1990, and 19 March 1991): Recommendations of the 661 Committee concerning the applications for special assistance of Bangladesh, Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, Djibouti, India, Lebanon, Mauritania, Pakistan, Philippines, Poland, Romania, Seychelles, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Syrian Arab Republic, Tunisia, Uruguay, Viet Nam, Yemen and Yugoslavia.
- ¹²⁴ S/26040 & Add. 1 & Add.2 (2 July, 4 August and 10 December 1993): Recommendations of the 724 Committee concerning the applications for special assistance of Albania, Bulgaria, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia, Uganda and Ukraine.
- SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968) para. 15 (concerning Zambia); SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 16 (concerning Zambia); SC Res. 329 (10 March 1973), paras. 3 and 4 (concerning Zambia); SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), paras. 4, 5 (concerning Mozambique); SC Res. 411 (30 June 1977), paras. 9, 10 (concerning Mozambique); SC Res. 406 (25 May 1977), paras. 5, 7 (concerning Botswana).
- ¹²⁶ S/22508 (29 April 1991): Presidential statement of 29 April 1991.
- 127 SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), para. 6 (requesting the UNSG, in collaboration with the appropriate organisations of the UN system, to organise, with immediate effect, all forms of financial, technical and material assistance to Mozambique).
- S/21826, 22033 and 22398 (24 September and 21 December 1990 and 21 March 1991): Letters dated 24 September and 21 December 1990 and 21 March 1991 from the President of the Security Council addressed to the Secretary-General, endorsing the recommendations of the 661 Committee concerning the applications for special assistance of Bangladesh, Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, Djibouti, India, Lebanon, Mauritania, Pakistan, Philippines, Poland, Romania, Seychelles, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Syrian Arab Republic, Tunisia, Uruguay, Viet Nam, Yemen and Yugoslavia.
- 129 S/26056, 26282 and 26905 (6 July, 9 August and 20 December 1993): Letters dated 6 July, 9 August and 20 December 1993 from the President of the Security Council addressed to the Secretary-General, endorsing the recommendations of the 724 Committee concerning the applications for special assistance of Albania, Bulgaria, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia, Uganda and Ukraine.

8 Delegating responsibility for sanctions administration and monitoring

When the Security Council applies sanctions, the primary responsibility for implementing the sanctions falls upon states. In order to ensure that states do in fact implement sanctions, however, the Council has bestowed additional responsibilities for the administration and monitoring of sanctions upon the UN Secretary-General and a range of subsidiary actors. Article 29 of the UN Charter provides that the Security Council may establish 'such subsidiary organs as it deems necessary for the performance of its functions'. Further authority for the establishment of subsidiary bodies is derived from rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure, which provides that 'the Security Council may appoint a commission or committee or a rapporteur for a specified question'. The Security Council has established a number of subsidiary bodies to facilitate the implementation of sanctions, including sanctions committees, disarmament commissions, commissions of inquiry, bodies of experts and monitoring mechanisms. It has also tasked preexisting UN actors, such as UN peace operations, with responsibilities relating to sanctions implementation.

The Security Council does not always invoke Article 29 or Rule 28 when establishing a subsidiary organ. It has tended to invoke Rule 28 in respect of sanctions committees, but not in respect of bodies of experts or monitoring mechanisms. Practice concerning the establishment of bodies of experts and monitoring mechanisms also varies considerably. Sometimes the Council decides to establish these bodies directly, but at

Article 29 of the UN Charter. For further discussion of subsidiary organs, see Simma (ed.), The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), pp. 539–563; Bailey and Daws, The Procedure of the Security Council, pp. 333–378.

² S/96/Rev.7 (December 1982): Provisional Rules of Procedure of the Security Council, Rule 28.

others it requests the UN Secretary-General to establish them. The Council's approach to extending such bodies is also inconsistent, sometimes choosing to 'extend' and at others deciding to 're-establish' the relevant body.

1. Sanctions committees

Sanctions committees have been the most common form of subsidiary organ established to facilitate the administration, monitoring and implementation of sanctions. In the vast majority of sanctions regimes, the Security Council has established distinct sanctions committees, which come to be known by the number of the resolution by which they were created.³ In the case of the 1054 sanctions regime, however, the Security Council chose not to create a sanctions committee. In the case of the FRYSM and Bosnian Serb sanctions regimes, the Council assigned responsibility for sanctions administration to the 724 Committee that had previously been created to administer the 713 Yugoslavia sanctions regime. The majority of sanctions committees have been established by the same resolution that created the relevant sanctions regime.⁴ The remaining committees were established to undertake responsibilities in respect of sanctions regimes that had already been initiated,⁵ or to succeed a dissolved committee.⁶

1.1 Composition

The composition of sanctions committees has evolved slightly since the first sanctions committee was established to oversee the sanctions regime against Southern Rhodesia. The 253 Southern Rhodesia

³ For a list of all of the Security Council's sanctions committees, along with references to the provisions outlining their mandates, see Appendix 3, Table E.

⁴ These committees included those concerning: Iraq (661 Committee); Libya (748 Committee); Haiti (841 Committee); UNITA (864 Committee); Rwanda (918 Committee); Sierra Leone (1132 Committee); the FRY (1160 Committee); Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida (1267 Committee); Eritrea and Ethiopia (1298 Committee); 1343 Liberia (1343 Committee); 1521 Liberia (1521 Committee); Côte d'Ivoire (1572 Committee); Hariri (1636 Committee); North Korea (1718 Committee) and Iran (1737 Committee).

⁵ These committees included those concerning the following sanctions regimes: Southern Rhodesia (253 Committee); South Africa (421 Committee); the former Yugoslavia (724 Committee); Somalia (751 Committee); 788 Liberia (985 Committee); the DRC (1533 Committee) and 1556 Sudan (1591 Committee).

⁶ The 1518 Committee was established to succeed the 661 Committee, which had been dissolved. It thus assumed responsibilities relating to the administration of the Iraq sanctions regime.

Sanctions Committee initially consisted of representatives of seven of the Security Council's member states, with a fixed Chairman. From the end of March 1969, the chairmanship rotated every two months, in alphabetical order. Then, from October 1970, the Committee was expanded to include a representative of each Security Council member state, with the chairmanship of the Committee rotating each month in accordance with the Presidency of the Council. A further adjustment was made to the organisation of the Committee's work on March 1972, when the President of the Security Council issued a note stating that the chairmanship of the Committee would subsequently rotate on a one-year basis and that the Chairman and two Vice-Chairmen would be elected at the beginning of each year.

The composition of each of the subsequent sanctions committees has followed the model that evolved through the experience of the 253 Southern Rhodesia Sanctions Committee. Each committee has thus consisted of a representative of each of the member states of the Security Council, leading them to be described as 'Committees of the whole'. In addition, the chairmanship and vice-chairmanship of each sanctions committee have rotated annually, on the basis of an informal election within the Council at the end of each calendar year. In practice, the positions of Chair and Vice-chair have almost exclusively been filled by representatives of non-permanent members of the Council. Thus, sanctions committee office-bearers have tended to serve in their positions for a maximum of two years, reflecting the two-year term of their delegation on the Security Council.

1.2 Mandates

As sanctions committees are ad hoc entities, their mandates can vary quite markedly. In order to ascertain the mandate of a particular sanctions committee, it is necessary to analyse both the resolution in which

⁷ S/8697 (31 July 1968). The initial Chairman was India, with the other members of the Committee being Algeria, France, India, Paraguay, the USSR, the United Kingdom and the United States. India was replaced as Chairman at the end of 1968, when its term on the Council expired, by another non-permanent member – Pakistan. See Gowlland-Debbas, Collective Responses, p. 607.

⁸ Gowlland-Debbas, Collective Responses, p. 607.

⁹ S/9951 [Official Records of the Security Council, Twenty-fifth Year, Supplement for July, August and September 1970: S/9951].

S/10578 (29 March 1972) [Official Records of the Security Council, Twenty-seventh Year, Supplement for January, February and March 1972: S/10578].

¹¹ Bailey and Daws, The Procedure of the Security Council, p. 365.

the committee was established, as well as any subsequent resolutions that either modify the scope of the sanctions regime for which the committee has responsibility or that add to the committee's existing collection of tasks. Although the mandates of most committees exhibit particular characteristics that are not shared by other committees, the Council has tended to delegate a number of core responsibilities to most, if not all, committees. Among the more generic responsibilities delegated to sanctions committees, however, have been receiving reports from member states on actions taken to implement sanctions, and reporting to the Council, with observations and recommendations on the implementation of the relevant sanctions regime. Sanctions committees have also been requested or required to undertake a range of additional duties, as outlined below.

i. Reporting activities

As part of the more specific reporting activities, committees have been requested or required to undertake the following duties: examining reports of the UNSG on the implementation of sanctions (Southern Rhodesia, ¹³ South Africa ¹⁴ and Iraq ¹⁵); reporting to the Council on action which could be taken to address the refusal of states to implement sanctions (Southern Rhodesia ¹⁶); reporting on proposals for strengthening the effectiveness of sanctions (Southern Rhodesia, ¹⁷ South Africa, ¹⁸

¹² In the initial Security Council sanctions committee-creating resolution, in relation to the regime imposed against Southern Rhodesia, the Council established a general duty to report to the committee with observations relating to the areas of its mandate: SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 20. Later in the para. the Council referred to the committee's 'duty' to report: para. 20 (b). This duty has applied to each subsequent sanctions committee.

¹³ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 20(a). ¹⁴ SC Res. 421 (9 December 1977), para. 1(a).

¹⁵ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 6(a).

¹⁶ SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), paras. 4 and 5. The Council requested that the 253 Committee submit this report no later than 31 January 1973. The Committee was late in submitting the report, however, as the Council's subsequent requests to it to expedite its preparation of that report attest: see, e.g., SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 8; SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), para. 6.

¹⁷ SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), paras. 4 and 5. The Council requested that the Committee submit this report no later than 31 January 1973. The Committee was late in submitting the report, however, as the Council's subsequent requests to it to expedite its preparation of that report attest: see, e.g., SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 8; SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), para. 6; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), para. 8.

¹⁸ SC Res. 421 (9 December 1977), para. 1(b); SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), para. 11; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 13.

1343 Liberia, ¹⁹ Côte d'Ivoire, ²⁰ North Korea²¹ and Iran²²); reporting on the possible application of further measures under Article 41 (Southern Rhodesia²³); and providing oral reports to the Council via the relevant committee Chairman (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida²⁴).

ii. The administration of exemptions

Among the tasks related to the administration of sanctions exemptions, committees have assumed the following responsibilities: considering applications for exemptions from a sanctions regime (Iraq, 25 Somalia, 26 Libya, 27 FRYSM, 28 Bosnian Serbs, 29 Haiti, 30 UNITA, 31 Rwanda, 32 Sierra Leone, 33 Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, 34 Eritrea and Ethiopia, 35 1343 Liberia, 36 DRC, 37 1521 Liberia, 38 1556 Sudan, 39 Côte d'Ivoire, 40 Hariri, 41 North Korea and Iran 156 Sudan, 39 tetermining whether humanitarian circumstances had arisen requiring exemptions for foodstuffs (Iraq 44); and receiving notifications regarding the provision of supplies that are exempt from a sanctions regime and that

```
<sup>19</sup> SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(g).
```

²⁰ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14(f).

²¹ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 12(f).

²² SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 18(h).

²³ See: SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 3.

²⁴ SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 9, 14.

²⁵ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 20. ²⁶ SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), para. 4.

²⁷ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 9(e).

²⁸ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), paras. 13(e)-(f); SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 22(b)-(c), 27-28.

²⁹ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 7(ii)(b), 13, 15.

³⁰ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 10(d); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14(e).

³¹ SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 11 (b); SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 13.

³² SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), sole para. ³³ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 10(e).

³⁴ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6(f); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 16(c), 16(d); SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), paras. 1, 3.

³⁵ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 8(e). ³⁶ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(d).

³⁷ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 18(d); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4.

³⁸ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 21(c); SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), paras. 1–3; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1.

³⁹ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), paras. 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(v).

⁴⁰ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14(c).

⁴¹ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), Annex, para. 2(i)-(ii).

⁴² SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 12(c).

⁴³ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 18(d).

⁴⁴ SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 1, 5.

do not require its approval (Bosnian Serbs, 45 Rwanda 46 and Sierra Leone 47).

iii. Considering requests for special assistance under Article 50

In relation to the consideration of requests for special assistance under Article 50, committees have been tasked with examining such requests and making appropriate recommendations to the Security Council (Iraq, ⁴⁸ Libya, ⁴⁹ FRYSM⁵⁰ and Haiti⁵¹).

iv. Sanctions monitoring

Among the tasks related to sanctions monitoring, committees have been requested or required to undertake the following tasks: monitoring the implementation of sanctions (Iraq, ⁵² 1521 Liberia ⁵³ and 1556 Sudan ⁵⁴); developing a mechanism to monitor the sale or supply to a target of items prohibited under a sanctions regime (Iraq ⁵⁵); monitoring the sale and supply from a target subject to comprehensive sanctions of commodities exempted from the sanctions for the purposes of financing the purchase of humanitarian items (Iraq ⁵⁶); considering information about sanctions violations and recommending appropriate measures of response (former Yugoslavia, ⁵⁷ Somalia, ⁵⁸ Libya, ⁵⁹ FRYSM, ⁶⁰ 788 Liberia, ⁶¹ Haiti, ⁶² UNITA, ⁶³ Rwanda, ⁶⁴ Sierra Leone, ⁶⁵

⁴⁵ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 7(ii)(b) (in relation to supplies intended strictly for medical purposes and foodstuffs).

⁴⁶ SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), para. 11(a). ⁴⁷ SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 4.

⁴⁸ SC Res. 669 (24 September 1990), preambular para. 4.

⁴⁹ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 9(f); SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 10.

⁵⁰ SC Res. 843 (18 June 1993), para. 2. ⁵¹ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14(g).

⁵² SC Res. 700 (17 June 1991), para. 5. ⁵³ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 21(a).

⁵⁴ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(a)(i). ⁵⁵ SC Res. 715 (11 October 1991), para. 7.

⁵⁶ SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), paras. 1(a), 6.

⁵⁷ SC Res. 724 (15 December 1991), paras. 5(b)(iii) and (iv).

⁵⁸ SC Res. 751 (24 April 1992), paras. 11(b) and (c).

⁵⁹ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 9(c) and (d).

⁶⁰ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), paras. 13(c)-(d); SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 18.

⁶¹ SC Res. 985 (13 April 1995), paras. 4(b)-(c); S/PRST/1999/1 (7 January 1999).

⁶² SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 10(c); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14(c) and (d); SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 10(e).

⁶³ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), paras. 22(c)-(d); SC Res. 932 (30 June 1994), para. 8; SC Res. 1221 (12 January 1999), para. 8.

⁶⁴ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 14(b)-(c).

⁶⁵ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 10(b)–(c); SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 6; S/PRST/ 1999/1 (7 January 1999); SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 7(b)–(c).

FRY,⁶⁶ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida,⁶⁷ Eritrea and Ethiopia,⁶⁸ 1343 Liberia,⁶⁹ DRC,⁷⁰ North Korea⁷¹ and Iran⁷²); drawing up rules for monitoring sanctions, including provisions relating to the monitoring of exemptions (FRYSM⁷³); considering information on the transport of arms into countries neighbouring a target for eventual use in that target (Rwanda⁷⁴); investigating reports of violations of sanctions (UNITA⁷⁵); and suggesting methods for improving monitoring of sanctions implementation (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida⁷⁶).

v. Improving sanctions implementation

Among the tasks related to improving sanctions implementation, committees have been requested or required to undertake the following duties: seeking the co-operation of states neighbouring a target in the effective implementation of sanctions (Somalia⁷⁷); sending a mission, led by the Chairman of the committee, to the region in which a target is located, in order to demonstrate the Security Council's determination to give full effect to sanctions (Somalia⁷⁸ and Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida⁷⁹); drawing to the attention of member states their obligations in

⁶⁶ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 9(c).

⁶⁷ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), paras. 6(b), 6(d); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 16(g).

⁶⁸ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), paras. 8(b), (c).

⁶⁹ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(b). At the same time, the Council also requested the 1343 Committee to consider, and take appropriate action on, information brought to its attention concerning alleged violations of the first sanctions regime imposed against Liberia, while that sanctions regime had been in force: see SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 14. The Council's decision to ask the 1343 Committee to assume responsibilities relating to the earlier sanctions regime raises interesting legal issues, as the Council was effectively asking the Committee to explore and act upon violations of a terminated sanctions regime, thus leading to the potential conclusion that it was effectively resurrecting that earlier regime.

⁷⁰ SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 8(b).

⁷¹ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 12(b).

⁷² SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 18(c).

⁷³ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 22(a). ⁷⁴ S/PRST/1995/22 (27 April 1995).

⁷⁵ SC Res. 1202 (15 October 1998), para. 14 (requesting the Chairman of the 864 Committee to investigate reports that the leader of UNITA had travelled outside Angola in violation of the sanctions, and that UNITA forces had received military training and assistance, as well as arms).

⁷⁶ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 12. ⁷⁷ SC Res. 954 (4 November 1994), para. 12.

⁷⁸ SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), para. 8.

⁷⁹ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 16(f); SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 11.

connection with aviation sanctions in the event that aircraft registered in a target state were to land in their territory (Libya⁸⁰); consulting with regional organisations and arrangements on ways to strengthen sanctions implementation (UNITA⁸¹ and Sierra Leone⁸²); liaising with a target regarding the establishment of a certificate-of-origin regime for the legitimate trade in diamonds (Sierra Leone⁸³); holding a hearing to assess the role of the diamond trade in fuelling conflict in a target (Sierra Leone⁸⁴); and assisting states in tracing and freezing funds subject to financial sanctions (1521 Liberia⁸⁵).

vi. Liaising with other subsidiary organs

The tasks delegated to committees in connection with liaising with other sanctions-related subsidiary organs have included the following: forwarding to the Council reports of panels of experts, monitoring mechanisms and other subsidiary organs (Somalia⁸⁶ and UNITA⁸⁷); notifying the Council of any lack of co-operation with panels of experts, monitoring mechanisms and other subsidiary organs (Somalia⁸⁸); reviewing the reports of a monitoring mechanism, with a view to offering guidance on its future work (UNITA⁸⁹); and co-operating with other

⁸⁰ S/PRST/1996/18 (18 April 1996).

⁸¹ The regional organisations noted were the OAU and SADC: SC Res. 1221 (12 January 1999), para. 9.

The regional organisation noted was generally ECOWAS. See SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), paras. 9, 10(h); SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 6. In resolution 1306 (2000), however, the Council also referred to the OAU and INTERPOL: SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 22.

⁸³ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), paras. 4–5.

⁸⁴ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 12. For the report on the hearing, see S/2000/1150 (4 December 2000).

⁸⁵ SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 4(c).

⁸⁶ The Council requested the 751 Committee to forward to it the report of the preparatory team of experts on sanctions implementation against Somalia: SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), para. 2.

⁸⁷ The Council requested the Chairman of the 864 Committee to submit reports by the expert panels (SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), para. 7), as well as by the monitoring mechanisms: SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 6; SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para; SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 8; SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 7; SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 6.

⁸⁸ SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), para. 7 (with respect to the work of the preparatory team of experts).

⁸⁹ SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 4.

relevant sanctions committees (Sierra Leone, ⁹⁰ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida ⁹¹ and 1343 Liberia ⁹²).

vii. Refining working methods

Among the tasks delegated to committees in connection with refining their own working methods, committees have been requested or required to undertake the following duties: promulgating and updating guidelines to facilitate the implementation of sanctions (Libya, ⁹³ FRYSM, ⁹⁴ Haiti, ⁹⁵ UNITA, ⁹⁶ Sierra Leone, ⁹⁷ FRY, ⁹⁸ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, ⁹⁹ Eritrea and Ethiopia, ¹⁰⁰ 1343 Liberia, ¹⁰¹ DRC, ¹⁰² 1556 Sudan, ¹⁰³ Côte d'Ivoire, ¹⁰⁴ North Korea ¹⁰⁵ and Iran ¹⁰⁶); streamlining procedures for processing applications for exemptions from sanctions (FRYSM¹⁰⁷); and making relevant information publicly available through appropriate media (Sierra Leone, ¹⁰⁸ Afghanistan/Taliban/Al

⁹¹ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 5(f) (requesting the 1267 Committee to co-operate with other relevant Committees and with the 1373 (Counterterrorism) Committee).

- 92 SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(h) (requesting that the 1343 Committee co-operate with other relevant Committees, in particular the 1132/Sierra Leone and the 864/UNITA Committees).
- ⁹³ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 9.
- 94 SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 8 (requesting the 724 Committee to review and amend its guidelines in the light of the fact that the sanctions had been suspended).
- 95 SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 10(f); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14(f).
- ⁹⁶ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 22 (e); SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 11 (a); SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 20 (a).
- 97 SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 10(d); SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 6; SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 7(d).
- ⁹⁸ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 9(d).
- ⁹⁹ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 5(d). ¹⁰⁰ SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 8(d).
- ¹⁰¹ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(c).
- ¹⁰² SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 18(e); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4.
- ¹⁰³ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(a)(iii).
- ¹⁰⁴ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14(e).
- ¹⁰⁵ SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 12(e).
- ¹⁰⁶ SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 18(g).
- SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 2; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), para. 11. The Council also reaffirmed on multiple occasions its request that the ICRC, UNHCR and other organisations in the UN system be granted priority in the processing of applications for exemptions from the sanctions for the provision of humanitarian assistance. See, e.g., SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 4; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), para. 12.
 SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 23.

⁹⁰ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 7(e) (requesting that the 1132 Committee continue its co-operation with other relevant committees, and in particular with the 985/Liberia and the 864/UNITA Committees).

Qaida,¹⁰⁹ Eritrea and Ethiopia,¹¹⁰ 1343 Liberia,¹¹¹ 1521 Liberia¹¹² and Côte d'Ivoire¹¹³).

viii. Administering lists for targeted sanctions

Among the tasks delegated to sanctions committees in connection with the administration of the lists of those subject to targeted sanctions, committees have been requested or required to undertake the following duties: establishing and maintaining a list of persons and entities against which targeted sanctions were to be applied (Iraq, 114 Bosnian Serbs, 115 UNITA, 116 Sierra Leone, 117 Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida, 118 1343 Liberia, 119 DRC, 120 1521 Liberia, 121 1556 Sudan, 122 Côte d'Ivoire 123 and Iran 124); designating particular aircraft that would be subject to aviation sanctions (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 125); designating particular points of entry and landing that would be prohibited under aviation sanctions (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 126); designating financial resources that would be subject to financial sanctions (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 127); and keeping states regularly informed of the list of parties against which targeted sanctions were to be applied (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida 128).

ix. Considering the humanitarian impact of sanctions

Among the tasks delegated to sanctions committees in relation to considering the humanitarian impact of sanctions, committees have been

SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 16(e); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 5(e).
 SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 13.
 SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(f).

```
<sup>112</sup> SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 21(e).
<sup>113</sup> SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14(d).
<sup>114</sup> SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 19.
                                                   <sup>115</sup> SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 14.
116 SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), paras. 11 (a), 24.
<sup>117</sup> SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 10(f); SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 6.
<sup>118</sup> SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 16(b); SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 5(a).
119 SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(e), 14(i).
<sup>120</sup> SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 18(a); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4; SC
    Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 14.
<sup>121</sup> SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 21(d); SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 4(a).
<sup>122</sup> SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(a)(ii).
<sup>123</sup> SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14(a).
<sup>124</sup> SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 18(f).
<sup>125</sup> SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6(e).
<sup>126</sup> SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 16(a).
```

¹²⁸ SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 4.

¹²⁷ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6(e).

requested or required to undertake the following duties: reporting on the impact of sanctions, including their humanitarian implications (Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida¹²⁹); and making recommendations to the Council on ways to limit any unintended effects of the sanctions on a civilian population (1343 Liberia¹³⁰).

1.3 Working methods

There is no requirement that the committees follow the same working methods. ¹³¹ Each committee adopts its own set of guidelines, outlining the working methods to be followed. In theory it is therefore possible that a newly established committee might adopt a set of working methods or procedures that differs completely from those of other sanctions committees, even though it might have been created with a mandate that is identical to that of another committee. In practice, however, there are generally many similarities between the guidelines and working procedures of the various committees. This is probably due to the fact that a number of diplomats represent their state on multiple sanctions committees, thus bringing with them certain expectations of what will be included within the new committee's guidelines and working procedures.

Among the key shared working methods are that the committees must adopt decisions according to consensus. Thus a decision cannot be adopted if even one sanctions committee member does not want it to be adopted. As a practical matter, many sanctions committees have embraced what is known as the 'no-objection procedure'. According to the no-objection procedure, potential decisions of the committee are circulated to all members, who then have a defined period, which varies

¹²⁹ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6(c).

¹³⁰ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14(g).

¹³¹ The information provided here is based in part upon data accessible in the public domain, and in part upon data gathered from interviews conducted with diplomats, UN Secretariat staff, members of the UN's non-governmental organisation community, and academics.

Michael P. Scharf and Joshua L. Dorosin, 'Interpreting UN Sanctions: the Rulings and Role of the Yugoslavia Sanctions Committee' (1993) 19 Brooklyn JIL 771-827 at 774. Scharf and Dorosin, writing in relation to the workings of the 724 Sanctions Committee, note that although consensus was technically required only for questions governed by the 'no-objection' procedure, in practice the committee made all of its decisions by consensus.

from committee to committee (from 48 hours to five working days), in which to raise any objections. If any objection is raised, then the potential decision cannot be adopted. If, however, no objection is received by the Chairman of the committee by the time the defined period has elapsed, then the decision is deemed to have been approved by all the members of the committee.

2. The Security Council Working Group on Sanctions

The Security Council established an Informal Working Group of the Security Council on General Issues of Sanctions (the 'Working Group on Sanctions') in April 2000. 133 Following the practice of other Working Groups of the Council, the membership of the Working Group was made up of the fifteen members of the Council, with the Chair rotating in accordance with the Security Council presidency. The mandate of the Working Group was to develop general recommendations for improving the effectiveness of sanctions. The Group was supposed to report its findings to the Council by November 2000, 134 but it was unable to do so due to 'divergent views on the recommended duration and termination of sanctions'. The Group finally concluded the required report in late 2006. 136 The report outlined a number of recommendations relating to sanctions design, monitoring and enforcement, committee working methods, as well as reporting by monitoring bodies

3. Disarmament commissions and commissions of inquiry

The Security Council has established Commissions to perform particular tasks related to the implementation of sanctions in connection with the Iraq, Rwanda, 1556 Sudan and Hariri sanctions regimes. Like sanctions committees, these commissions are considered to be subsidiary organs of

¹³³ For the establishment and mandate of the Working Group, see S/2000/319 (17 April 2000): Note by the President of the Security Council.

¹³⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 4.

See SC/7960 (18 December 2003): Press statement by the President of the Security Council concerning the Working Group on General Issues of Sanctions.

¹³⁶ S/2006/997 (22 December 2006): Report of the Informal Working Group of the Security Council on General Issues of Sanctions.

the Council. The method for determining the composition of the commissions has varied, however. The UNCC has functioned somewhat like a committee of the whole, with each member of the Security Council represented on its Governing Council, ¹³⁷ whereas the personnel serving on the remaining commissions have generally been appointed by the UNSG. ¹³⁸

3.1 The Iraq Commissions: UNCC, UNSCOM, UNMOVIC

The UNCC was established in May 1991, in order to process claims and distribute compensation for losses arising from Iraq's invasion and occupation of Kuwait. By the end of 2003, the Commission had received over 2.5 million compensation claims, 98 per cent of which had been resolved. How the compensation claims, 98 per cent of which had been resolved.

The Council first foreshadowed the establishment of a Special Commission to monitor and oversee Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations in April 1991. The Special Commission was to co-operate in the implementation of its tasks with the IAEA, which would monitor and verify Iraq's compliance with its obligation not to posses, develop or acquire nuclear weapons. UNSCOM was duly established and it oversaw the monitoring of the Iraq disarmament programme until it was replaced by the UNMOVIC in late 1999. UNSCOM's mandate was to carry out immediate on-site

¹³⁷ For information regarding the Governing Council of the UNCC, see http://www.unog.ch/uncc/governin.htm.

The UNSG appointed twenty-one experts to UNSCOM, six to the Rwanda International Commission of Inquiry, and seventeen to UNMOVIC. See S/22614 (17 May 1991), para. 3 (reporting the appointment of twenty-one experts to UNSCOM, including the initial Executive Chairman Rolf Ekeus); S/1995/879 (20 October 1995) (noting that six people had been appointed to the Rwanda Commission); S/2000/60 (27 January 2000) (recommending the appointment of Hans Blix as Executive Chairman of UNMOVIC); S/2000/207 (10 March 2000) (reporting the appointment of Sixteen Commissioners to serve alongside Executive Chairman Hans Blix).

¹³⁹ SC Res. 692 (20 May 1991), para. 3.

¹⁴⁰ For general information on the UNCC, see http://www.unog.ch/uncc/.

¹⁴¹ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 9(b)(i). ¹⁴² *Ibid.*, para. 13.

For the UNSG's recommendations for the establishment of UNSCOM and his plan for disarming Iraq, see S/22508 (18 April 1991): Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of para. 9(b)(i) of resolution 687 (1991); S/22614 (17 May 1991): Report of the Secretary-General pursuant to paragraph 9(b) of resolution 687). The UNSG's proposals were endorsed by the Council in the following decisions: S/22509 (19 April 1991): Letter dated 19 April 1991 from the President of the Security Council addressed to the Secretary-General; SC Res. 699 (June 17 1991), para. 1.

¹⁴⁴ The Security Council replaced UNSCOM with UNMOVIC in SC Res. 1284 (December 17 1999), para. 1.

inspections based on Iraq's declarations regarding its weapons holdings and programmes, to undertake the destruction, removal or rendering harmless of all nuclear, biological or chemical weapons and anti-ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, or components for the manufacture or development thereof, and to develop a plan for the future ongoing monitoring and verification of Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations under resolution 687 (1991).¹⁴⁵

UNSCOM reported to the Council on its activities on a regular basis. 146 During its tenure, the Special Commission played a constructive role in monitoring Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations under the sanctions regime. Ultimately, however, the Commission confronted major difficulties in undertaking its mandated activities, due to Iraq's refusal to allow it to resume operations after its inspectors had been withdrawn from Iraq in late 1998. In December 1999 the Council decided to replace UNSCOM with UNMOVIC.

The decision to establish UNMOVIC was made in response to the recommendations of a panel that had been established in January 1999 to explore the disarmament, monitoring and verification issues

For UNSCOM's mandate, see SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 8–13. For a concise summary of UNSCOM's activities, see Report of the first Panel established pursuant to the note by the President of the Security Council on 30 January 1999, concerning disarmament and current and future ongoing monitoring and verification issues, see S/1999/356 (30 March 1999), Annex I. For a personal account of UNSCOM's operations, see Richard Butler, The Greatest Threat: Iraq, Weapons of Mass Destruction, and the Crisis of Global Security (New York: Public Affairs, 2000).

 $^{^{146}}$ The Security Council established a number of reporting requirements for UNSCOM. UNSCOM thus submitted the following reports: one report pursuant to resolution 687 (1991) on its activities (S/23165 (25 October 1991)); nine half-yearly reports pursuant to resolution 699 (1991) on its activities (S/23268 (4 December 1991); S/24108/Corr.1 (16 April 1992); S/24984 (17 December 1992); S/25977 (21 June 1993); S/26910 (21 December 1993); S/1994/750 (24 June 1994); S/1994/1422 (15 December 1994); S/1995/ 494 (20 June 1995); and S/1995/1038 (17 December 1995)); eight half-yearly reports pursuant to resolution 715 (1991) on the implementation of its plan to ensure ongoing monitoring and verification of Iraq's disarmament activities (S/23801 (10 April 1992); S/24661 (19 October 1992); S/25620 (19 April 1993); S/26684 (5 November 1993); S/1994/ 489 (22 April 1994); S/1994/1138 (7 October 1994); S/1995/284 (10 April 1995); and S/1995/864 (11 October 1995)); and eight half-yearly reports pursuant to resolution 1051 (1996) - which sought to consolidate UNSCOM's multiple reporting requirements - on its activities in general (S/1996/258 (11 April 1996); S/1996/848 (11 October 1996); S/1997/301 (11 April 1997); S/1997/774 (6 October 1997); S/1998/332 (16 April 1998); S/1998/920 (6 October 1998); S/1999/401 (9 April 1999); and S/1999/1037 (8 October 1999)).

arising from the implementation of the Iraq sanction. ¹⁴⁷ UNMOVIC was thus created with the aim of establishing a reinforced system of ongoing monitoring and verification of Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations. ¹⁴⁸ The Inspection Commission did not have an auspicious beginning, as it was unable to establish operations in Iraq for almost three years. It was not until the Council adopted resolution 1441 (2002), in November 2002, that Iraq finally agreed to UNMOVIC's deployment on its territory. During the subsequent three months, UNMOVIC's role became quite prominent, as the international community scrutinised the extent to which Iraq was complying with its disarmament obligations, as required by resolution 1441 (2002) and previous resolutions. Since the conclusion of the second Gulf War, however, the Commission's work has effectively been placed on hold, as it has not been authorised by the occupying powers to resume its inspections in Iraq.

3.2 The International Commission of Inquiry on Rwanda

The Security Council experimented with the idea of an International Commission of Inquiry into the implementation of sanctions in connection with the Rwanda sanctions regime. The International Commission of Inquiry for Rwanda was established in September 1995. 149 It consisted of six 'impartial and internationally respected persons', 150 including legal, military and police experts, and it was mandated: to collect information and investigate reports relating to the sale or supply of arms and related material to former Rwandan government forces in the Great Lakes region, in violation of the Rwandan sanctions; to investigate allegations that such forces were receiving military training in order to destabilise Rwanda; to identify parties aiding and abetting the illegal acquisition of arms by former

The Panel was one of three panels established to investigate different issues arising from the Security Council's action to address the situation in Iraq. For the decision establishing the Panel, see S/1999/100: Note by the President of the Security Council (30 January 1999). For further discussion of the three panels, see the section below on Panels of Experts.

¹⁴⁸ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), paras. 1, 2.

¹⁴⁹ SC Res. 1013 (7 September 1995), para. 2.

The initial resolution provided for five to ten such people to be appointed, but in mid-October the UNSG noted that six people had been appointed to the Commission: S/1995/879 (20 October 1995): Letter dated 16 October from the Secretary-General to the President of the Security Council.

Rwandan government forces, in violation of the sanctions; and to recommend measures to end the illegal flow of arms in the subregion. 151

The Commission's mandate was initially for a short period, ¹⁵² but it was subsequently maintained or re-activated by the Council on two occasions. ¹⁵³ During its tenure, the International Commission of Inquiry submitted a total of four reports to the Council. ¹⁵⁴ The Commission found that arms and related material had indeed been delivered to former Rwandan government forces in Zaire, via the Seychelles, in violation of the Rwandan arms embargo. ¹⁵⁵

The Commission outlined a number of recommendations in the course of its reports, including some that were designed to facilitate the implementation of Security Council arms embargoes in general, as well as others that aimed to improve the implementation of the Rwandan arms embargo in particular. Among the Commission's general recommendations were that: (a) upon the imposition of an arms embargo against a state or a part thereof, the Security Council should consider urging neighbouring states to establish within their respective governments an office to monitor, implement and enforce the embargo within its own territory and to gather information that might be used by investigating bodies dispatched by the Council; (b) where the states concerned could not staff and equip such offices within their existing resources, consideration be given to establishing a trust fund, within the context of Article 50 of the UN Charter, to provide such

¹⁵¹ SC Res. 1013 (7 September 1995), para. 1.

¹⁵² Ibid., para. 4. Interestingly, the Council did not specify a duration for the Commission's mandate, but it did request the UNSG to submit, within three months from the Commission's establishment, an interim report on the Commission's findings, and to submit a final report as soon as possible thereafter, thus implying that the mandate would not be much longer than three months.

¹⁵³ SC Res. 1053 (23 April 1996), para. 2;

¹⁵⁴ S/1996/67 (29 January 1996): Interim report of the International Commission of Inquiry on the Rwanda arms embargo); S/1996/195 (14 March 1996): Report of the International Commission; S/1997/1010 (24 December 1997): Final report of the International Commission of Inquiry; S/1998/63 (26 January 1998): Addendum to the final report of the International Commission.

See Report of the International Commission of Inquiry on the Rwanda arms embargo, paras. 21–39. The Commission's investigations centred upon allegations that had appeared in a Human Rights Watch report (Rearming with impunity: international support for the perpetrators of the Rwandan genocide (1995) Washington, DC, USA) that shipments of arms had found their way into the possession of the former Rwandan government military forces, via Zaire. The Commission concluded that the report was accurate and that two shipments of arms, originating in the Seychelles, had indeed made their way into the hands of Rwandan Government forces: see para. 64.

¹⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 77.

assistance; ¹⁵⁷ (c) the Council should consider expanding the functions of future sanctions committees, to include liaising with the offices in neighbouring states, as well as receiving, analysing and circulating to member states reports submitted by those offices; ¹⁵⁸ and (d) consideration should be given to requesting states producing arms and material to take any measures necessary under their domestic law to implement the provisions of the arms embargo, and in particular to prosecute their nationals involved in violations of the embargo. ¹⁵⁹

Among the Commission's specific recommendations were that: (a) the Council should consider inviting the government of South Africa to investigate the participation of a particular South African citizen in the negotiations that had led to the delivery of arms to former Rwandan armed forces in Goma, Zaire, in violation of the sanctions; 160 (b) the Council should consider calling upon the government of Bulgaria to make available to the 918 Committee the findings of an internal investigation into allegations that a Bulgarian company had been willing to sell arms in violation of Security Council resolutions; 161 (c) the Council should call upon the government of Zaire to investigate the apparent complicity of its own personnel and officials in the purchase of arms from the Seychelles; 162 (d) the Council should consider inviting the government of Zaire to station UN observers on its territory to monitor sanctions implementation against Rwanda and to deter future violations; 163 (e) the Security Council should consider expanding the sanctions to include a freeze on the assets of individuals and organisations involved in raising funds to finance the insurgency against Rwanda; 164 and (f) the Security Council should encourage Tanzanian authorities to liaise with UNHCR and to consult with the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (ICTR) to see whether legal grounds existed for detaining individuals accused of intimidating people in Rwandan refugee camps into participating in acts that violated the arms embargo. 165

¹⁵⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 79. ¹⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 80.

¹⁵⁹ See Final report of the International Commission of Inquiry on the Rwanda arms embargo, para. 110. The Commission noted that some states had reported that they were unable to prosecute nationals accused of crimes in a third country. It therefore recommended that member states be invited to introduce into their domestic legislation the capacity to prosecute such individuals.

 ¹⁶⁰ Ibid., para. 86.
 161 Ibid., para. 87.
 162 Ibid., para. 88.
 163 Ibid., para. 91(a).
 164 Ibid., para. 114.
 165 Ibid., para. 115.

3.3 The Sudan International Commission of Inquiry

In September 2004, the Security Council requested the Secretary-General to establish a commission of inquiry to investigate reports of violations of international humanitarian law and human rights in Darfur, including determining whether or not acts of genocide had occurred. On 4 October 2004 the Secretary-General established such an International Commission of Inquiry. The Commission submitted its report to the Security Council in February 2005. Its substantial findings induced the Council to take the unprecedented step of referring the Darfur situation to the International Criminal Court. The findings also fed into the work subsequently undertaken by the Sudan Panel of Experts.

3.4 The Hariri International Independent Investigation Commission

The Security Council established the International Independent Investigation Commission in April 2005, in order to assist the Lebanese authorities with the investigation into the Hariri bombing and to identify the bombings perpetrators, sponsors, organisers and accomplices. The Commission's mandate has been extended on a number of occasions. It has submitted regular reports on its activities and findings to the Council.

4. Bodies of experts: groups, committees, teams and panels of experts

The Security Council has established bodies of experts to investigate the implementation of sanctions in connection with several sanctions regimes. Expert bodies are generally established to serve for short periods, ranging from a matter of weeks to a number of months. Like sanctions committees and commissions, expert bodies are subsidiary organs of the Council, with a responsibility to report to the Council on their activities. Expert bodies generally report to the Council via the

¹⁶⁶ SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), para. 12.

¹⁶⁷ S/2004/812 (4 October 2004). ¹⁶⁸ S/2005/60 (1 February 2005).

¹⁶⁹ SC Res. 1593 (31 March 2005), para. 1. ¹⁷⁰ SC Res. 1595 (7 April 2005), para. 1.

¹⁷¹ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 8; SC Res. 1644 (15 December 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1686 (15 June 2006), para. 2.

¹⁷² See Appendix 3, Table H.

¹⁷³ For a list of all bodies of experts, along with references to the provisions outlining their mandates, see Appendix 3, Table G.

relevant sanctions committee, with the Chairman of that committee forwarding or presenting regular written and oral reports to the Council on behalf of the relevant expert body.

4.1 The Group of Experts on the Iraq sanctions regime

In June 1998, the Council requested the UNSG to establish a Group of Experts to determine, in consultation with the government of Iraq, whether Iraq was able to export the amount of petroleum and petroleum products permissible under the OFFP. The Group was also to report on Iraqi production and transportation capacity. The Group submitted its report within two months. In its report it noted that the oil industry of Iraq was in a 'lamentable state'. Among the Group's conclusions were that there was a need for rapid and adequate investment in spare parts and repair of oil production wells, and that the Iraqi government's estimates for the potential volume of oil that could be exported was 'optimistic'.

4.2 Ad hoc Panels on the Iraq sanctions regime

In January 1999, when Iraq was refusing to allow UNSCOM to resume its activities on Iraqi territory, ¹⁸⁰ the Security Council decided to establish three separate ad hoc Panels. ¹⁸¹ The Panels were established with the following objectives: (a) Panel I would make recommendations on how to re-establish an effective disarmament monitoring and verification regime in Iraq; (b) Panel II would address the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi people; and (c) Panel III would consider outstanding issues relating to prisoners of war and Kuwaiti property. ¹⁸² The work of the first two Panels was directly related to the administration and monitoring of sanctions. The Panels submitted their reports within two months. ¹⁸³

¹⁷⁴ SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 12. ¹⁷⁵ *Ibid.*

¹⁷⁶ See S/1998/330 (15 April 1998): Report of the group of experts established pursuant to paragraph 12 of Security Council resolution 1153 (1998).

¹⁷⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 7. ¹⁷⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 24. ¹⁷⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 33.

The UNSCOM inspectors had been withdrawn from Iraq on 16 December 1998, due to security concerns arising from the impending bombardment of Baghdad by US and British warplanes.

¹⁸¹ See S/1999/100: Note by the President of the Security Council (30 January 1999). ¹⁸² Ibid.

¹⁸³ For the reports of the panels, see S/1999/356 (30 March 1999): Letters dated 27 and 30 March 1999, respectively, from the Chairman of the Panels established pursuant to the note by the President of the Security Council of 30 January 1999 (S/1999/100) addressed to the President of the Security Council, Annex I (Report of the First Panel . . . concerning disarmament and current and future ongoing monitoring and verification issues), Annex II

The recommendations of the first two Panels were clearly taken into account by the Council, 184 as demonstrated by the actions it subsequently took to replace UNSCOM with UNMOVIC and to reinvigorate the OFFP. 185

4.3 The Panel of Experts on UNITA sanctions

Acting upon a recommendation that had been made by the 864 UNITA Sanctions Committee, the Security Council decided in May 1999 to establish Expert Panels to facilitate the effective implementation of the UNITA sanctions. ¹⁸⁶ The mandate of the Panels, included: (a) collecting information relating to the violations of the arms, petroleum, diamond and financial sanctions; (b) identifying those committing or facilitating the violations of those sanctions; and (c) recommending measures to end such violations and to improve sanctions implementation. ¹⁸⁷ In late July 1999, the 864 Committee appointed ten experts to the Expert Panels. ¹⁸⁸ The experts came from a variety of countries, possessing expertise in fields conducive to the investigation of violations of different aspects of the multi-faceted UNITA sanctions regime.

The experts convened for the first time in late August 1999, in New York, when they decided to act as one Panel rather than two. During the six-month period of the Panel's operation, its members visited close to thirty countries and met with a wide range of people, including government officials, diplomats, NGOs, police and intelligence sources, industry associations, corporations and journalists. The Panel circulated a brief interim report on 30 September 1999, and on 28 February 2000 it submitted its full report to the 864 Committee. The report contained the Panel's findings and conclusions on violations of the

(Report of the Second Panel . . . concerning the current humanitarian situation in Iraq), Annex III (Report of the Third Panel . . . on prisoners of war and Kuwaiti property).

- ¹⁸⁵ See, in particular, SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999).
- ¹⁸⁶ SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), para. 6. ¹⁸⁷ *Ibid.*
- 188 S/1999/837 (30 July 1999): List of experts appointed to the expert panels established in accordance with para. 6 of Security Council resolution 1237 (1999).
- 189 S/2000/203 (10 March 2000): Report of the Panel of Experts on Violations of Security Council Sanctions against UNITA, para. 8.
- ¹⁹⁰ Ibid.

¹⁸⁴ For the major recommendations of the First Panel, see *Report of the First Panel*, ibid., paras. 61–68. For the major recommendations of the Second Panel, see *Report of the Second Panel*, ibid., paras. 43–57.

S/1999/1016 (30 September 1999): Interim report of the Expert Panel established by the Security Council in resolution 1237 (1999); S/2000/203 (10 March 2000): Report of the Panel of Experts on Violations of Security Council Sanctions against UNITA.

arms, petroleum, diamond and financial sanctions against UNITA, as well as on violations of the diplomatic and travel sanctions against UNITA. The Panel made thirty-nine recommendations on how the sanctions violations might be addressed. In April 2000, the Security Council acted upon one of the recommendations put forth in the report of the Panel of Experts by requesting the UNSG to establish a monitoring mechanism on the sanctions against UNITA.

4.4 The Panel of Experts on the Sierra Leone sanctions regime

The Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Panel of Experts to investigate matters relating to the implementation of the Sierra Leone sanctions regime in July 2000. The Panel, which would consist of no more than five members and would operate for a period of four months, was to undertake the following tasks: (a) collecting information on possible violations of the arms embargo against Sierra Leone and on the link between the trade in diamonds and the trade in arms and related material, including through visits to Sierra Leone and other states and through making appropriate contacts; ¹⁹⁶ (b) considering the adequacy of air traffic systems in the region for detecting flights suspected of violating the arms sanctions; ¹⁹⁷ (c) participating in an

Interestingly, the question of sanctions against UNITA representation and travel was not actually included in the mandate for the Panel as outlined by the Council in resolution 1237 (1999). It is unclear how the Panel came to consider that these sanctions were within the scope of its mandate. In the first paragraph of the Panel's report, it notes that resolution 1237 (1999) established it to investigate violations of Security Council sanctions against UNITA. It then lists the 'sanctions at issue', among which it includes the travel and representation sanctions, despite the fact that the Council had not included those sanctions within the mandate explicitly outlined for the Panel of Experts in para. 6 of resolution 1237 (1999). See Report of the UNITA Panel of Experts, ibid., para. 1.

The Panel outlined its recommendations in clusters, arranged according to the different elements targeted by the UNITA sanctions. See *Report of the UNITA Panel of Experts, ibid.*, paras. 52–58 (containing recommendations relating to arms and military equipment), 70–74 (containing recommendations relating to petroleum and petroleum products), 109–114 (relating to diamonds), 126–128 (containing recommendations relating to UNITA finances and assets), 157–162 (containing recommendations relating to UNITA representation and travel abroad), and 170–181 (containing recommendations on 'related matters', including facilitating the implementation of sanctions by improving co-ordination between various international actors such as SADC and Interpol).

¹⁹⁴ SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 3. For details relating to the establishment of the monitoring mechanism on the UNITA sanctions, see the section below on monitoring mechanisms.

¹⁹⁵ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 19. ¹⁹⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 19(a). ¹⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 19(b).

exploratory hearing in New York on the role of diamonds in the Sierra Leone conflict and the link between the trade in diamonds and the trade in arms in that country; ¹⁹⁸ and (d) reporting to the Council, through the 1132 Committee and by 31 October 2000, with its observations and recommendations on strengthening the implementation of the arms and diamond sanctions. ¹⁹⁹

The Panel of Experts submitted its written report to the Council in December 2000. ²⁰⁰ In its report, the Panel outlined findings on the illicit trade in Sierra Leone diamonds, 201 on the flow of arms and related material and other forms of military assistance into Sierra Leone, 202 and on air traffic control systems in West Africa. 203 The Panel's report remains perhaps the most sophisticated analysis yet completed by a body charged with the administration, implementation or enforcement of a UN sanctions regime, of the challenges that must be overcome in order to facilitate the effective implementation of a sanctions regime. The report contained a range of insightful observations and provided numerous concrete recommendations for action that might be taken to address violations of the Sierra Leone sanctions and UN sanctions in general.²⁰⁴ The Security Council has subsequently acted upon many of the Sierra Leone Panel's recommendations in addressing the situations in Sierra Leone, Liberia and West Africa in general, and in its oversight of other arms embargoes and diamond sanctions.

4.5 The Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida Committee of Experts

The Security Council requested the UNSG to appoint a Committee of Experts to make recommendations on improving the monitoring of the Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions in December 2000.²⁰⁵ The Committee of Experts was requested to report to the Council within sixty days on how to monitor the arms embargo against the Taliban and the closure of terrorist training camps.²⁰⁶ In its report, the Committee outlined the activities it had taken to fulfil its mandate and made a

¹⁹⁸ Ibid., para. 19(c). For details relating to the exploratory hearing, see S/2000/1150 (4 December 2000): Summary report on the exploratory hearing on Sierra Leone diamonds (31 July and 1 August 2000).

¹⁹⁹ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 19(d).

S/2000/1195 (20 December 2000): Report of the Panel of Experts appointed pursuant to Security Council resolution 1306 (2000), para. 19, in relation to Sierra Leone.

²⁰¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 1-18, 65-150.

²⁰² *Ibid.*, paras. 19-31, 167-273. ²⁰³ *Ibid.*, paras. 32-46, 274-315.

²⁰⁴ For a more detailed discussion of those recommendations, see Appendix 12.

²⁰⁵ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 15. ²⁰⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 15(a).

number of key recommendations.²⁰⁷ As part of its operations, the Committee of Experts had consulted with a range of actors, including representatives of the states sharing a border with Afghanistan and of two states with a major strategic interest in events in Afghanistan - the United States and the Russian Federation. 208 The Committee concluded that the arms embargo and the closure of the terrorist training camps could best be monitored by strengthening mechanisms that were already in place in the six countries bordering Afghanistan. 209 It therefore recommended that the Council establish an office for sanctions monitoring and co-ordination, consisting of a Headquarters team and a number of Sanctions Enforcement Support Teams, each working alongside the border control services in the countries neighbouring Afghanistan. 210 Among the Committee's other recommendations were: that the Headquarters Office be located in Vienna; that the Sanctions Enforcement Support Teams should be based with existing UN offices in the countries neighbouring Afghanistan; and that the Council consider specifying a prohibition against aircraft turbine fuel and fluids and lubricants for use in armoured vehicles, as part of the arms embargo.211

4.6 The 1343 Liberia Panel of Experts

The Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Panel of Experts on the 1343 Liberian sanctions regime in March 2001. The Panel was established for an initial period of six months, ti was subsequently 're-established' or 'established' on four separate occasions. The Panel's initial mandate included the following tasks: (a) investigating sanctions violations; (b) collecting information on the compliance of the Liberian government with the demands articulated by the

S/2001/511 (22 May 2001): Report of the Committee of Experts appointed pursuant to Security Council resolution 1333 (2000) regarding monitoring of the arms embargo against the Taliban and the closure of terrorist training camps in the Taliban-held areas of Afghanistan.

²⁰⁸ Ibid., paras. 11-19 (listing the range of actors with which the Committee of Experts met).
²⁰⁹ Ibid., para. 94.

²¹⁰ Ibid., para. 96. For discussion of these bodies, which formed the UNITA monitoring mechanism, see the section below on monitoring mechanisms.

²¹¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 97–102. ²¹² SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 19. ²¹³ *Ibid.*

²¹⁴ SC Res. 1395 (27 February 2002), para. 3 (re-established for five weeks); SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 16 (established for three months); SC Res. 1458 (28 January 2003), para. 3 (re-established for three months); SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25 (established for five months).

²¹⁵ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 19(a).

Council;²¹⁶ (c) investigating possible links between the exploitation of natural resources and other forms of economic activity in Liberia, and the fuelling of conflict in Sierra Leone and other neighbouring countries, as highlighted by the Panel of Experts on Sierra Leone;²¹⁷ (d) collecting information linked to the illegal activities of individuals who had violated the arms sanctions against Sierra Leone;²¹⁸ (e) reporting to the Council with observations and recommendations on the matters within its mandate;²¹⁹ (f) keeping the 1343 Committee updated on its activities;²²⁰ and (g) bringing relevant information to the attention of the states concerned and to allow them the right of reply.²²¹

The Security Council subsequently required the Panel to undertake the following additional tasks: (a) conducting a follow-up assessment mission to Liberia and neighbouring states in order to investigate and compile a brief independent audit of the Liberian government's compliance with the Council's demands under the sanctions regime, as well as of any sanctions violations and to report to the Council with its observations and recommendations on those matters;²²² (b) conducting a further follow-up assessment mission to Liberia and neighbouring states, reporting on the Liberian government's compliance with the Council's demands under the sanctions regime, on the potential economic, humanitarian and social impact of the sanctions, and on any sanctions violations;²²³ (c) conducting a further follow-up assessment mission to Liberia and neighbouring states, reporting on the Liberian government's compliance with the Council's demands under the sanctions regime and on any sanctions violations; 224 (d) reviewing audits of how the Liberian government was utilising its revenue from shipping and timber; ²²⁵ (e) conducting a further follow-up assessment mission to Liberia and neighbouring states, reporting on the Liberian government's compliance with the Council's demands under the sanctions regime and on any sanctions violations;²²⁶ (f) investigating whether any revenues of the Liberian government were being used in violation of the sanctions regime;²²⁷ (g) assessing the possible humanitarian and

```
    216 Ibid., para. 19(b).
    217 Ibid., para. 19(c).
    218 Ibid., para. 19(d).
    220 Ibid., para. 19(f).
    221 Ibid., para. 20. This task has subsequently been reaffirmed upon each 're-establishment' and 'establishment' of the Panel. See SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 17; SC Res. 1458 (28 January 2003), para. 5; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 26.
    222 SC Res. 1395 (27 February 2002), para. 4.
    223 Ibid., para. 4.
    224 SC Res. 1458 (28 January 2003), para. 4
    225 Ibid.
    227 Ibid., para. 25(b).
```

socio-economic impact of the timber sanctions and making recommendations through the 1343 Committee on how to minimise any such impact;²²⁸ and (h) reporting to the Council through the Committee with its observations and recommendations on how to improve the effectiveness of implementing and monitoring the sanctions.²²⁹

In the course of its various mandates, the Liberia Panel of Experts submitted four reports to the Security Council.²³⁰ In its reports, the Panel outlined detailed findings on the implementation and violation of the various components of the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime, providing numerous recommendations for further action by the Security Council.²³¹

4.7 The Team and Panel of Experts on Somalia

The Security Council first expressed its intention to establish a mechanism to generate independent information on violations of the Somalia sanctions and to improve sanctions implementation in March 2001.²³² Two months later it requested the UNSG to establish a team of two experts to prepare for the establishment of a subsequent Panel of Experts on the implementation of the Somalia arms embargo. 233 The preparatory team's mandate included: (a) investigating violations of the embargo; (b) detailing information on violations and the enforcement of the embargo; (c) undertaking field research in Somalia and its neighbour states; (d) assessing the capacity of states in the region to implement the embargo fully; and (e) providing recommendations on practical steps for strengthening the enforcement of the embargo.²³⁴ The preparatory team submitted its report in early July 2002.²³⁵ It noted that there had been a common perception that the embargo had not been enforced effectively, ²³⁶ and it suggested that the Council could take the following steps in order to improve the embargo's enforcement: (a) clarifying the scope of the embargo, making it clear that the provision of financing and services in support of military activities in Somalia constituted a violation of the embargo; 237 (b) enhancing

²²⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 25(c). ²²⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 25(d).

²³⁰ For a list of these reports, see Appendix 3, Table H.

²³¹ For discussion of these findings and recommendations, see Appendix 2, summary of the 1343 sanctions regime.

²³² S/PRST/2002/8 (28 March 2002). ²³³ SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), para. 1. ²³⁴ *Ibid.*

S/2002/722 (3 July 2002): Report of the team of experts appointed pursuant to Security Council resolution 1407 (2002) concerning Somalia.

²³⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 27. ²³⁷ *Ibid.*, paras. 63–68.

end-user verification;²³⁸ (c) establishing a Panel of Experts in the region;²³⁹ and (d) promoting transparency and accountability over financial institutions in Somalia. 240

In late July 2002, shortly after the publication of the preparatory team's report, the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Panel of Experts on the Somalia embargo, consisting of three members, for a period of six months.²⁴¹ Upon the expiration of the Panel's mandate, the Council re-established it for a further six months.²⁴² The Panel's mandate was practically identical to that of the preparatory team, ²⁴³ with the following additional tasks: (a) taking into account the recommendations of the team of experts on methodology; 244 (b) notifying the Council, through the 751 Committee, of any lack of co-operation it experienced in conducting its work;²⁴⁵ (c) briefing the Chairman of the 751 Committee prior to his scheduled mission to the region;²⁴⁶ and (d) providing an oral briefing to the Council, through the Committee. in November 2002. 247 The Panel submitted two reports. 248

4.8 The 1521 Liberia Panel of Experts

When the Security Council established the 1521 sanctions regime against Liberia, it requested the UNSG to establish a Panel of Experts. 249 The Panel has been re-established, extended or renewed continuously throughout the lifetime of the 1521 sanctions regime. ²⁵⁰ As part of its mandate, the Panel has been requested to: (a) report on sanctions implementation, including any violations, and submit any information relevant to the designation by the 1521 Committee of individuals subject to the travel ban and assets freeze;²⁵¹ (b) assess progress towards achieving the objectives of the sanctions;²⁵²

```
<sup>238</sup> Ibid., paras. 69–71. <sup>239</sup> Ibid., paras. 72–79. <sup>240</sup> Ibid., paras. 80–81.
```

²⁴¹ SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 3. ²⁴² SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), para. 3.

SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 3.
 Ibid., para. 9.
 Ibid., para. 10. ²⁴⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 5.

²⁴⁷ *Ibid.* The Panel provided such a briefing on 14 November 2002: see S/PRST/2002/35 (12 December 2002), expressing the Council's appreciation for the Panel's oral briefing.

²⁴⁸ See Appendix 3, Table H. ²⁴⁹ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22.

²⁵⁰ See Appendix 3, Table G.

²⁵¹ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22(a); SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(a); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(a); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(a); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(a); SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 5; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(a).

²⁵² SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22(b); SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(c); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(c); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(c); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(d).

(c) monitor implementation of the financial sanctions and provide the 1521 Committee with information that would help to identify individuals and entities subject to the financial sanctions;²⁵³ (d) assess the socio-economic and humanitarian impact of the sanctions; ²⁵⁴ (e) assess the impact and effectiveness of the sanctions;²⁵⁵ (f) co-operate with other relevant bodies of experts and the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme; ²⁵⁶ (g) report on sources of financing for the illicit trade of arms;²⁵⁷ (h) assess the implementation of newly adopted forestry legislation; ²⁵⁸ and (i) recommend how to strengthen the capacity of states in the region to implement the travel and financial sanctions.²⁵⁹ The Panel has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandate 260

4.9 The DRC Group of Experts

In March 2004 the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish for a period of approximately three months a Group of Experts on the DRC sanctions.²⁶¹ The mandate of the Group, which was to consist of no more than four experts, included: (a) analysing information gathered by the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC) regarding sanctions implementation;²⁶² (b) gathering and analysing information gathered in the DRC and other countries regarding the flow of arms and related material, as well as on networks operating in sanctions violations;²⁶³ (c) recommending measures to improve the capacity of states to implement the sanctions;²⁶⁴ (d) reporting to the Council with recommendations and through the 1533 Committee on implementation;²⁶⁵ (e) keeping the 1533 Committee abreast of its activities; ²⁶⁶ (f) exchanging with MONUC information that would facilitate MONUC's monitoring mandate;²⁶⁷ and (g) providing the 1533 Committee with a list of individuals who had violated the sanctions.

²⁵³ SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(c); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(a). ²⁵⁴ SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(d); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(d); SC

Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(d); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(d); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(c).

²⁵⁵ SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(b); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(b); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(b); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(b).

²⁵⁶ SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(f); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(f); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(e).

²⁵⁷ SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(a). ²⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 4(c). ²⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 4(f).

²⁶⁰ See Appendix 3, Table H. ²⁶¹ SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 10. ²⁶² *Ibid.*, para. 10(a). ²⁶³ *Ibid.*, para. 10(b). ²⁶⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 10(c).

²⁶⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 10(c). ²⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 10(f). ²⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 10(d). ²⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 10(e).

as well as of those who had supported those individuals. 268 The Group has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandate. 269

4.10 The Sudan Panel of Experts

In March 2005 the Security Council requested the UNSG to appoint a Panel of Experts, ²⁷⁰ whose mandate has subsequently been extended on multiple occasions. ²⁷¹ The Panel has been tasked with: (a) assisting the 1591 Committee in monitoring sanctions implementation and making recommendations to the Committee on potential Council action; ²⁷² (b) reporting to the Council with its findings and recommendations; ²⁷³ and (c) co-ordinating its activities with AMIS. ²⁷⁴ The Panel has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandate. ²⁷⁵

4.11 The Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts

In February 2005, the Council requested the UNSG to create a Group of Experts on Côte d'Ivoire. The Group, which has been re-established or extended on multiple occasions, that been requested to: (a) analyse information gathered by UNOCI and the French forces; (b) analyse information on flows of arms and related materiel, on the provision of assistance, advice or training related to military activities, on networks operating in violation of the arms embargo and on sources of financing for purchases of arms and related materiel; (c) recommend how to improve the capacity of states to ensure the effective implementation of the arms embargo; (d) report on sanctions implementation;

²⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 10(g). ²⁶⁹ See Appendix 3, Table H.

²⁷⁰ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b).

²⁷¹ SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), para. 1; SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), para. 1.

²⁷² SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b)(i).

²⁷³ *Ibid.*, para. 3(b)(ii); SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), para. 2; SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), para. 2; SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), para. 2.

²⁷⁴ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b)(iii). ²⁷⁵ See Appendix 3, Table H.

SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7. In October 2005 the Council extended the Group's mandate for an additional two months: SC Res. 1632 (18 October 2005), para.
 In December 2005, the Council requested the UNSG to re-establish the Group for an additional six months: SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9.

²⁷⁷ See Appendix 3, Table G. ²⁷⁸ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(a).

²⁷⁹ Ibid., para. 7(b); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(b); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(b).

²⁸⁰ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(c); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(c); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(c).

²⁸¹ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(d); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), paras. 9(d)–(e), 9(i); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), paras. 7(d)–(e), 7(i).

(e) keep the 1572 Committee regularly updated on its activities;²⁸² (f) exchange information with UNOCI and the French forces pertinent to their monitoring responsibilities;²⁸³ (g) provide the 1572 Committee with a list of those found to have violated sanctions and evidence of those violations;²⁸⁴ and (h) co-operate with other relevant groups of experts, including in particular the Panel of Experts on Liberia.²⁸⁵ The Group has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandate.²⁸⁶

5. Monitoring bodies

The Security Council has established bodies to monitor the implementation of sanctions in connection with a number of sanctions regimes. Although monitoring bodies have generally been established with short-term mandates, in practice they have tended to serve for longer periods than the various expert bodies. Like expert bodies, however, monitoring bodies are technically subsidiary organs of the Council, with a responsibility to report on their activities. They generally report to the Council via the relevant sanctions committee, with the Chairman of that sanctions committee forwarding or presenting regular written and oral reports to the Council on their behalf.

5.1 The Iraq Export/Import Monitoring Mechanism

In the case of Iraq, the Security Council established an Export/Import Monitoring Mechanism. In October 1991, the Council requested the 661 Committee to develop, in co-operation with UNSCOM and the IAEA, a mechanism to monitor sales or supplies to Iraq of items that could be used for the production or acquisition of weapons, in contravention of the arms and related sanctions. In July 1995 the 661 Committee approved a joint-proposal for that Mechanism submitted by UNSCOM

²⁸² SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(e); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(f); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(f).

²⁸³ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(f); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(a); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(a).

²⁸⁴ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(g); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(g); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(g).

²⁸⁵ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(h); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(h); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(h).

²⁸⁶ See Appendix 3, Table H.

²⁸⁷ For a list of all monitoring bodies, along with references to the provisions outlining their mandates, see Appendix 3, Table G.

²⁸⁸ SC Res. 715 (11 October 1995), para. 7.

and the IAEA. ²⁸⁹ The proposal for the mechanism was then submitted to the Security Council for its consideration, and in March 1996 the Council decided to establish the mechanism. ²⁹⁰ The Monitoring Mechanism consisted of a Joint Export/Import Monitoring Unit established by UNSCOM and the IAEA, and all states were required to notify the Mechanism if their nationals planned to export to Iraq any items or technologies that might have 'dual-use' potential. ²⁹¹ Iraq was also required to inform the Mechanism of any plans to receive potential 'dual-use' items or technologies. ²⁹²

When the Security Council established UNMOVIC, it requested the Executive Chairman of UNMOVIC and the Director-General of the IAEA to establish a unit which would assume the Monitoring Mechanism's responsibilities and to resume the revision and updating of the lists of items and technology to which the Mechanism applied and thus the export to Iraq of which must be notified to the unit. ²⁹³ The updated list, which was circulated by the Executive Chairman of UNMOVIC in June 2001,²⁹⁴ came into effect on 13 July 2001.²⁹⁵ In its quarterly reports to the Council, UNMOVIC generally summarised the unit's activities during the reporting period. On the whole those activities consisted of reviewing notifications sent to it by states. The Unit also reviewed the distribution plans for the OFFP to ensure that they contained no 'prohibited' items. ²⁹⁶ After the adoption of the Goods Review List (GRL) by the Council in May 2002, ²⁹⁷ the unit's work increased substantially as it was involved in the process of reviewing applications to export humanitarian supplies to Iraq under the OFFP to ensure that the items or technologies proposed to be supplied to Iraq did not feature on the GRL ²⁹⁸

²⁸⁹ S/1996/700 (26 August 1996): Report of the Security Council Committee established by resolution 661 (1990) concerning the situation between Iraq and Kuwait, annex, para. 32 (p. 8).

²⁹⁰ SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), para. 1. ²⁹¹ *Ibid.*, para. 5. ²⁹² *Ibid.*, para. 6.

²⁹³ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 8.

²⁹⁴ S/2001/560 (15 October 2001): Letter dated 1 June 2001 from the Executive Chairman of UNMOVIC addressed to the President of the Security Council.

²⁹⁵ S/2001/833 (30 August 2001): Sixth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, para. 7.

See, e.g., S/2002/195 (26 February 2002): Eighth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, para. 13.

²⁹⁷ SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), paras. 2–3.

²⁹⁸ See, e.g., S/2002/606 (31 May 2002): Ninth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, paras. 20–21; S/2002/981 (3 September 2002): Tenth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, para. 28.

5.2 The UNITA Monitoring Mechanism

The Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Monitoring Mechanism on the UNITA sanctions in April 2000, after the UNITA Panel of Experts had recommended that such a Monitoring Mechanism be created.²⁹⁹ The Monitoring Mechanism was to continue the work of the Panel of Experts by collecting additional information on, and investigating relevant leads relating to, allegations of violations of the UNITA sanctions. 300 It would consist of up to five experts and it would have a time-bound mandate of six months. 301 After its initial establishment, the mandate of the UNITA Monitoring Mechanism was extended five times, for one period of three months, three subsequent periods of six months, and a final period of two months. 302 The size of the Mechanism contracted over the course of its mandates, consisting of five experts for the second and third mandates, four experts for the fourth and fifth mandates, and two experts for the final mandate.³⁰³ During the course of its two-and-a-half-year tenure, the Monitoring Mechanism submitted a total of six reports. 304

5.3 The Taliban and Al Qaida Monitoring Mechanism

In July 2001, on the recommendation of the Taliban and Al Qaida Committee of Experts, the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Monitoring Mechanism.³⁰⁵ The Monitoring Mechanism was established for an initial period of five and a half months,³⁰⁶ but it was extended for two further periods of twelve months.³⁰⁷ The Mechanism's mandate included: (a) monitoring sanctions

²⁹⁹ SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 3. ³⁰⁰ Ibid. ³⁰¹ Ibid.

³⁰² SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 3 (three months); SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para. 3 (six months); SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 3 (six months); SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 3 (six months); SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 2 (two months).

 ³⁰³ SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 5 (five experts); SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para.
 5 (five experts); SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 7 (four experts); SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 6 (four experts); SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 5 (two experts).

³⁰⁴ For a list of these reports, see Appendix 3, Table H.

SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 3. For the recommendations of the Taliban and Al Qaida Committee of Experts, see S/2001/511 (22 May 2001): Report of the Committee of Experts appointed pursuant to Security Council resolution 1333 (2000), regarding monitoring of the arms embargo against the Taliban and the closure of terrorist training camps in the Talibanheld areas of Afghanistan.

³⁰⁶ SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 3.

³⁰⁷ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), paras. 9, 10; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 8, 12, 13.

implementation;³⁰⁸ (b) offering assistance to states bordering the territory of Afghanistan under Taliban control, and other states as appropriate, to increase their capacity regarding sanctions implementation;³⁰⁹ and (c) collating, assessing, verifying, and reporting and making recommendations on, information regarding sanctions violations.³¹⁰ The Monitoring Mechanism was to consist of two bodies: a Monitoring Group and a Sanctions Enforcement Support Team. 311

The Sanctions Enforcement Support Team was never actually deployed, however, due to the complex situation that developed on the ground in Afghanistan after 11 September 2001. The Monitoring Group nevertheless functioned as planned, submitting one report on its work in 2001 and three during 2002. 312 The reports contain detailed accounts of the activities of the Monitoring Group during the reporting periods, as well as observations and recommendations for improving sanctions implementation.

5.4 The Taliban and Al Qaida Monitoring Team

In January 2004, the Council decided to establish for an initial period of eighteen months an Analytical Support and Sanctions Monitoring Team. 313 The Monitoring Team, whose initial mandate was subsequently extended, 314 was to: (a) submit written reports to the 1267 Committee on sanctions implementation;³¹⁵ (b) analyse reports submitted by states concerning sanctions implementation;³¹⁶ (c) facilitate areas of convergence between the 1267 Committee and the CTC;³¹⁷ (d) report regularly to the 1267 Committee;³¹⁸ and (e) assist the 1267 Committee in preparing its oral and written reports to the Council.³¹⁹

³⁰⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 3(b). ³¹⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 3(c).

³⁰⁸ SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 3(a).

³¹¹ *Ibid.*, para. 4. The Monitoring Group would be based in New York and would consist of up to five experts. Its mandate would be to monitor sanctions implementation,

including in the fields of arms embargoes, counter-terrorism and related legislation, as well as money laundering, financial transactions and drug trafficking: SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 4(a). The Sanctions Enforcement Support Team would be located in the states neighbouring Afghanistan and would consist of up to fifteen members with expertise in areas such as customs, border security and counter-terrorism: SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 4(b). The Sanctions Enforcement Support Team would report at least once a month to the Monitoring Group, and the Monitoring Group would report to the 1267 Committee: SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 5.

³¹² For a list of the reports submitted by the Monitoring Group, see Appendix 3, Table H.

³¹³ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 6.

³¹⁴ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 19; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 32 and

³¹⁵ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 7.
317 Ibid. 318 Ibid. 319 Ibid. 316 Ibid., Annex.

The Security Council has subsequently added a number of tasks to the Monitoring Team's mandate, including to: (a) pursue sanctions implementation case studies and explore in depth any other issues as directed by the Committee;³²⁰ (b) submit a comprehensive programme of work to the 1267 Committee for its approval and review; 321 (c) submit comprehensive reports to the 1267 on sanctions implementation, the listing and de-listing process and exemptions, including specific recommendations for improved implementation and possible new sanctions;³²² (d) analyse reports from states on sanctions implementation;³²³ (e) co-operate closely with the expert bodies assigned to the 1373 Counterterrorism Committee and the 1540 Weapons of Mass Destruction Committee;³²⁴ (f) assist the 1267 Committee to address non-compliance with sanctions; 325 (g) present the Committee with recommendations to assist member states with sanctions implementation and additions to the Consolidated List; 326 (h) report on the changing nature of the threat of the Taliban and Al Qaida and the best measures to confront that threat; 327 (i) report regularly to the Committee; 328 (j) assist the Committee in preparing oral and written assessments to the Security Council;³²⁹ (k) consult with the intelligence and security services of member states, in order to share information and strengthen sanctions enforcement;³³⁰ (l) consult with the private sector, including financial institutions, to learn about the practical implementation of the assets freeze and develop recommendations for strengthening the

³²⁰ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (a); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (a).

³²¹ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (b); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (b).

³²² SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (c); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (c).

³²³ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (d); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (d).

³²⁴ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (e); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (e).

³²⁵ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (f); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (f).

³²⁶ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (g); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (g).

³²⁷ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (j); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (j).

³²⁸ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (l); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (p).

³²⁹ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (m).

³³⁰ SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (l).

freeze;³³¹ (m) work with relevant international and regional organisations to promote awareness of and compliance with sanctions;³³² and (n) assist other subsidiary bodies and their expert panels to enhance co-operation with Interpol.³³³ The Monitoring Team has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandate.³³⁴

5.5 The Somalia Monitoring Group

In December 2003, the Council requested the UNSG to establish a Somalia Monitoring Group. 335 The Monitoring Group has been reestablished numerous times. 336 The Security Council has tasked the Group with various responsibilities, including to: (a) investigate violations of the arms embargo; 337 (b) make recommendations for strengthening the embargo's implementation; 338 (c) undertake field investigations in Somalia, neighbouring states and other appropriate states;³³⁹ (d) assess progress made by states in the region in implementing the embargo, including by reviewing national customs and border control regimes;³⁴⁰ (e) compile a draft list of embargo violators both in and outside Somalia, for possible future measures by the Council;³⁴¹ (f) refine and update that list; 342 (g) assess action taken by Somali authorities and member states to implement the embargo; 343 (h) work with the 751 Committee on recommendations for additional measures to improve compliance with the embargo; ³⁴⁴ (i) identify how to strengthen the capacity of states in the region to facilitate embargo implementation; 345 (i) investigate

³³¹ *Ibid.*, Annex II, para. (m). ³³² *Ibid.*, Annex II, para. (n).

³³³ *Ibid.*, Annex II, para. (o). 334 See Appendix 3, Table H.

³³⁵ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2.

³³⁶ SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3; SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3; SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3; SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3.

³³⁷ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2(a); SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3(a); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(a).

³³⁸ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2(b); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(c).

³³⁹ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2(c).

³⁴⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 2(d). ³⁴¹ *Ibid.*, para. 2(e).

³⁴² SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(d).

³⁴³ SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(b).

³⁴⁴ SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(f); SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(f); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(f); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(f).

³⁴⁵ SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(g); SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(g); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(g); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(g).

activities generating revenue used to violate the embargo;³⁴⁶ and (k) investigate means of transport, routes, seaports, airports and other facilities used in connection with embargo violations.³⁴⁷ The Somalia Monitoring Group has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandate.³⁴⁸

6. United Nations peacekeeping operations

The Security Council has called upon UN peacekeeping operations to play a role in the implementation and monitoring of a number of sanctions regimes, including the Somalia, 788 Liberia, 713 Yugoslavia, DRC, 1521 Liberia, 1556 Sudan and Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regimes. In the case of Somalia, the Council requested the UNSG to support the implementation of the Somalia sanctions regime from within Somalia, utilising as available and appropriate the forces of the United Nations Operation in Somalia II (UNOSOM II).³⁴⁹ In the case of the 788 Liberia sanctions regime, the Council entrusted the United Nations Observer Mission in Liberia (UNOMIL) with the responsibility for assisting in monitoring compliance with the arms embargo.³⁵⁰ In the case of the 713 sanctions regime, the Council tasked the United Nations Preventive Deployment Force (UNPREDEP), which was based in the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, with monitoring and reporting on illicit arms flows and other activities prohibited by the FRY sanctions regime.351

In the case of the DRC sanctions regime, the Council has tasked the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC) with a number of responsibilities, including to: (a) deploy military observers in North and South Kivu and in Ituri and to report to it regularly on information concerning arms supply and the presence of foreign military;³⁵² (b) use all means to inspect the cargo of aircraft and any transport vehicle using the ports,

³⁴⁶ SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(b).

³⁴⁷ SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(c); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(c); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(c).

³⁴⁸ See Appendix 3, Table H.

³⁴⁹ SC Res. 814 (26 March 1993), para. 10. For the provisions establishing UNOSOM II, see SC Res. 814 (26 March 1993), paras. 5, 6. For UNOSOM II's full mandate, see S/25354 and Add. 1 and 2 (3, 11 and 22 March 1993), paras. 56–88.

³⁵⁰ SC Res. 866 (22 September 1993), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1020 (10 November 1995), para. 2(c).

³⁵¹ SC Res. 1186 (1998) (21 July 1998), para. 1. ³⁵² SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 19.

airports, military bases and border crossings in North and South Kivu and in Ituri; 353 (c) seize arms and related material violating the DRC sanctions;354 and (d) assist DRC customs authorities to ensure that forms of transportation are not used to violate the arms embargo.³⁵⁵

In the case of the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, the Security Council has tasked the UN Mission in Liberia (UNMIL) with a number of responsibilities, including to: (a) assist both the 1521 Committee and Panel of Experts in monitoring the implementation of sanctions;³⁵⁶ (b) intensify its efforts to assist the National Transitional Government of Liberia (NTGL) to re-establish its authority throughout Liberia, including in diamond- and timber-producing areas;³⁵⁷ (c) support the efforts of the NTGL to prevent sanctions violations;³⁵⁸ (d) collect and dispose of arms and related material brought into Liberia in violation of the arms embargo;³⁵⁹ (e) monitor arms trafficking and recruitment;³⁶⁰ and (f) develop a strategy, in conjunction with ECOWAS and other international partners, to consolidate a national legal framework, including the implementation of the assets freeze.³⁶¹

In the case of the 1556 sanctions regime, the Security Council has tasked the UN Mission in Sudan (UNMIS) with seizing arms and related material in Darfur in violation of the arms embargo. ³⁶² In the case of the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime, the Council has requested the UN Operation in Côte d'Ivoire (UNOCI) to: (a) monitor sanctions implementation, including by inspecting the cargo of aircraft and vehicles using the ports, airports, airfields, military bases and border crossings of Côte d'Ivoire; 363 and (b) collect and dispose of arms and related material brought into Côte d'Ivoire in violation of the arms embargo. 364

³⁵³ SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 3; SC Res. 1565 (1 October 2004), para. 4(f); SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 3; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 16.

³⁵⁴ SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 4; SC Res. 1565 (1 October 2004), para. 4(g); SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 16.

³⁵⁵ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 10. ³⁵⁶ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 23. ³⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 11(b). ³⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 11(c).

³⁵⁷ SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 10.

³⁶⁰ *Ibid.*, paras. 11(d), 12. ³⁶¹ *Ibid.*, para. 11(e). ³⁶² SC Res. 1706 (31 August 2006), para. 12(a).

³⁶³ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 2(a); SC Res. 1609 (24 June 2005), para. 2(m).

³⁶⁴ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 2(b); SC Res. 1609 (24 June 2005), para. 2(n).

PART IV • STRENGTHENING THE RULE OF LAW

9 Rule of law weaknesses in the UN sanctions system

The previous four chapters have been devoted to describing the UN Security Council's sanctions practice. They have charted the manner in which the Council has acted upon its sanctions powers to weave a web of sanctions obligations. The Council has identified a diverse collection of threats to the peace warranting the application of sanctions. It has created a wide variety of sanctions regimes, consisting of an assortment of measures applied against various targets. The Council has applied sanctions for a wide collection of objectives and has tasked a broad range of actors with responsibility for sanctions administration and monitoring.

Discussion now returns to the relationship between the Security Council's sanctions practice and the rule of law. The pragmatic model of the rule of law constructed in Chapter 2 is now operationalised to examine the extent to which UN sanctions have strengthened the rule of law. This chapter consists of five sections, devoted to the key principles of the rule of law that comprise the pragmatic rule of law model: transparency, consistency, equality, due process and proportionality. Each section critically evaluates the track-record of the UN sanctions system, identifying shortcomings in respect of each principle of the rule of law. Chapter 10 then advances reform proposals designed to increase the capacity of the UN sanctions system to strengthen the rule of law.

1. Behind closed doors: the problem of transparency

The principle of transparency requires that decision-making concerning the exercise of political power should be as clear and transparent as possible. Thus, the reasoning leading to a particular decision should be clear to those affected by the ultimate decision, as well as to the broader

public. Moreover, it should be clear that the relevant power is being exercised in accordance with legitimate authority. In the context of UN sanctions, transparency requires that the Security Council's decision-making process should be as open as possible. Ideally, the Council's deliberations leading to the adoption of sanctions-related decisions should be a matter of public record and it should be clear from the decisions themselves that they are taken in accordance with legitimate authority.

The Council's track-record in this area has been less than impressive. Despite some laudable initiatives to improve transparency, 1 key consultations leading to the adoption of sanctions-related decisions too often occur behind closed doors. Moreover, the decisions themselves rarely provide a transparent picture of the justification for a particular decision or a clear picture of its objectives. The discussion below is divided into three sections. The first section explores the question of transparency in the Security Council's decision-making process. The second section explores the question of transparency in the Council's decisions themselves. The third section considers the transparency of the decision-making process in the Council's sanctions committees.

1.1 Transparency in the Security Council's decision-making process

In the Security Council's early days it was not uncommon for delegates to engage in lengthy debates on the pros and cons of a proposed decision. The official records of the Council's early formal meetings reveal many an extended discussion about draft resolutions, with deliberations sometimes ranging over multiple meetings as diplomats considered competing proposals for provisions within a particular draft resolution. Draft resolutions were sometimes debated so extensively that they would go through numerous incarnations before reaching their final form. While informal, behind-the-scenes negotiations would likely have been taking place at the same time, the substance of which was inaccessible to the public, it is illuminating to read the considered arguments put forth by various delegations in relation to proposed Council action.

¹ See Susan C. Hulton, 'Council Working Methods and Procedure', in David M. Malone (ed.), *The UN Security Council: From the Cold War to the 21st Century* (Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 2004), pp. 237–251, especially pp. 245–247.

For examples of such debates, see Repertoire of the Practice of the Security Council, Supplement for 1946–51, Chapter VIII.

At a certain point in time, it appears that Security Council members began to feel constrained by the responsibility of having to negotiate in the public eye. Increasingly, substantive discussions began to occur in private. There were good reasons for this development, as in theory diplomats would be at greater leisure to discuss the political motivations underpinning their positions and thus to debate more honestly and openly how to achieve a consensus or compromise approach. In time this informal approach to decision-making was institutionalised, as the Security Council introduced the practice of holding 'informal consultations'. In 1978 a purpose-built room was constructed to house such consultations.³

Informal consultations have since become an integral part of Security Council life, with the bulk of the Council's business conducted in the consultations room rather than in the formal Security Council chamber. The consultations have remained a private affair, with no official records kept and attendance tightly controlled. Despite the impressive ability of UN-accredited journalists to report on developments rumoured to have happened in consultations, such discussions unfold beyond the public eye. Since the introduction of consultations, much of the contentious discussion relating to draft resolutions, which might otherwise have featured in the Council's formal meetings, has instead taken place behind closed doors. A comparison of the records of the Council's early formal meetings and those in recent years reveals that the practice of publicly debating the pros and cons of draft resolutions and their provisions has become virtually extinct. Draft resolutions are rarely tabled for discussion in formal meetings until the members of the Council are prepared to vote on them; hence the outcome of the voting is practically pre-determined. There may be a brief recapitulation of national positions with respect to the draft resolution about to be put to the vote, but the public records of contemporary Council meetings provide little indication of how the Council's decision-making process unfolds. The Council sometimes adopts decisions with no discussion at all, thus leaving no public record of the discussions leading to or the reasoning underlying those decisions.⁴

 $^{^{\}rm 3}\,$ Bailey and Daws, The Procedure of the UN Security Council, p. 62.

⁴ See, e.g., S/PV.4144 (17 May 2000), adopting resolution 1298 (2000), establishing the Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regime, without discussion; S/PV.4287 (7 March 2001), adopting resolution 1343 (2001), establishing the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime, without discussion; S/PV.4797 (28 July 2003), adopting resolution 1493 (2003), establishing the DRC sanctions regime, with only the UNSG making a statement; S/PV.4890 (22 December 2003), adopting resolution 1521 (2003), establishing the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, without discussion.

This is not to say that the Security Council does not discuss important issues publicly. A number of thematic issues have been inscribed on the Council's agenda, often at the prerogative of the President of the Security Council. Thematic debates have thus been held on issues related to the Security Council's work, such as: children and armed conflict;⁵ women, peace and security;⁶ Africa's food crisis as a threat to peace and security;⁷ and justice and the rule of law.⁸ These discussions have taken place in public meetings of the Council, often with the broad participation of the wider UN membership. Moreover, under Article 35 of the Charter and rule 3 of the provisional rules of procedure of the Security Council, UN member states can request that the Council be convened to discuss an urgent matter threatening international peace and security.⁹

These discussions on thematic agenda items and pressing events relating to the maintenance of peace and security provide a good opportunity to ascertain the views of the members of the Security Council, as well as those of the wider UN membership. By scrutinising the records of these meetings, useful insights can be gained into how the Council's members and the UN's members at large view the Council's track-record in fulfilling its responsibilities for the maintenance of international peace and security. Nevertheless, frank and insightful public debate with respect to thematic agenda items and pressing issues of international peace and security can only go so far towards offsetting the transparency deficit caused by the absence of a meaningful public record of much of the Council's decision-making process. Until the Security Council's discussions on the potential implications of proposed decisions become a matter of public record, the Council will be vulnerable to the allegation that its decision-making process lacks transparency.

⁵ See S/PV.3896 (29 June 1998); S/PV.3897 (29 June 1998); S/PV.4037 (25 August 1999); S/PV.4167 (26 July 2000); S/PV.4185 (11 August 2000); S/PV.4422 (20 November 2001); S/PV.4423 (20 November 2001); S/PV.4528 (7 May 2002); S/PV.4684 (14 January 2003); S/PV.4695 (30 January 2003).

⁶ See S/PV.4208 (24 October 2000); S/PV.4213 (31 October 2000); S/PV.4402 (31 October 2001); S/PV.4635 (28 October 2002); S/PV.4641 (31 October 2002).

⁷ See S/PV.4652 (3 December 2002); S/PV.4736 (7 April 2003).

⁸ See S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003); S/PV.4835 (30 September 2003).

Article 35, para. 1 reads: 'Any Member of the United Nations may bring any dispute, or any situation of the nature referred to in Article 34, to the attention of the Security Council or of the General Assembly.' Rule 3 of the Security Council's provisional rules of procedure reads: 'The President shall call a meeting of the Security Council if a dispute or situation is brought to the attention of the Security Council under Article 35 . . . of the Charter . . .'

It is sometimes necessary for the Security Council to conduct business in private. In certain situations the ability to discuss national positions frankly and honestly behind closed doors can facilitate a compromise or consensus outcome. In addition, the ability to function in private and at the ambassadorial or expert level can facilitate efficiency, thus making an increasingly burdened agenda more manageable. 10 Nevertheless, where possible, the Security Council should seek to ensure that the practice of shielding discussions from the public eye is the exception rather than the norm. Compromise and consensus are important, but they can be achieved without sacrificing transparency. An overburdened Security Council agenda requires creative management, but it is no justification for failing to provide as much transparency as possible. There is no intrinsic reason why the majority of the Council's proceedings should not be a matter of public record. Respecting the principle of transparency does not require the full participation of all UN member states in the Security Council decision-making process. However, as the Council's Chapter VII decisions have profound and far-reaching consequences for UN member states, due to the manner in which they are legally bound under Article 25 to observe such decisions, the broader UN membership should be entitled to expect that most of the Council's deliberations will either take place in open session or subsequently become a matter of public record.

1.2 Transparency in Security Council decisions

The less than impressive transparency of the Security Council's decision-making process makes it all the more important that the decisions themselves should provide a clear roadmap of their underlying justification, rationale and objectives. In the context of UN sanctions, it should be evident from the Council's sanctions-related decisions that the Council is exercising its sanctions powers in accordance with legitimate authority. In its sanctions-related decisions, the Council should routinely make a determination under Article 39 of the existence or

Potential Security Council decisions are often thrashed out at the level of experts rather than at the level of ambassadors. The informal process for developing draft resolutions often proceeds through multiple stages of fluid negotiation. A draft is generally initiated by a sponsor or group of sponsors, before being opened up to discussion by the experts of all members of the Council. Once discussed at the expert level, the draft will be taken up by the Security Council itself during informal consultations. Finally, when the draft's sponsor is ready to put the draft to the vote, a formal meeting of the Council is called and a vote held.

continuance of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression. It should also state clearly that it is acting upon its sanctions powers, as provided in Article 41, in order to maintain or restore international peace and security. Moreover, the Council should illustrate its commitment to acting faithfully in accordance with its legitimate powers by outlining clear, attainable and verifiable sanctions objectives, the achievement of which will resolve the threat, breach or act and thus maintain or restore peace and security.

i. Determination of threats to the peace

As noted in Chapter 5, although the Security Council has generally determined the existence of a breach of or threat to the peace before applying sanctions, on occasion it has applied sanctions without making the requisite determination of a threat to or breach of the peace or act of aggression. 11 While it is arguable that the Council's application of sanctions under Chapter VII in those instances amounted to an implicit determination of a threat to the peace, the fact that no explicit determination was made casts doubt upon the transparency of the Council's decision-making in those particular instances. Another troublesome aspect of the Council's practice with respect to determining the existence of threats to the peace is that the Council has not always stated clearly and precisely the character of the threat in a given situation. The Council usually paints a background picture of a situation in its resolution's preambular paragraphs, before simply determining that a threat to the peace exists. Thus it is left to the reader to deduce from the various circumstances noted in the preambular paragraphs what might be said to constitute the requisite threat. This approach is particularly problematic from the perspective of transparency, as in theory it should be possible to identify from the Council's sanctions-related decisions which of the various background circumstances were critical in leading the Council to determine the existence of a threat. Once it is clear precisely where the threat lies, it should also be apparent how the existing circumstances must change in order to eradicate the threat and maintain or restore international peace and security.

But perhaps the most problematic aspect of the Council's practice from the point of view of transparency is the fact that the wide discretion accorded to the Council in determining the existence of threats to the peace renders the concept susceptible to multiple interpretations,

¹¹ See Chapter 5, section 1.1.

increasing the potential for abuse. When the Council fails to articulate clearly the precise basis of a threat to the peace, it risks being accused of making determinations of mere convenience. In such instances it is hard to avoid the suspicion that the Council's determination of a threat is simply a pretext to take coercive action that primarily serves the political agenda of powerful Security Council members rather than constituting a sincere attempt to combat a genuine threat to international peace and security. The most prominent case in point is that of the determination of a threat to the peace in the case of the sanctions regime imposed against Libya.

In the Libyan instance, the Council affirmed that terrorism was a threat to international peace and security and determined that Libya's failure to co-operate adequately with investigations into the Pan Am and UTA terrorist bombings, which had implicated the involvement of Libyan officials, constituted a threat to the peace. ¹² In early 1992, the Security Council's determination that terrorism threatened the peace broke new ground. Nevertheless, the fact that such a determination was not disputed in the Council's discussions on Libya suggests both that it was not controversial and that the time was ripe for the Council to break such new ground. ¹³ In that respect, the Council appeared to be acting transparently in accordance with its primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security by asserting that it could use its Chapter VII powers to address the threat of terrorism. More controversial, however, was the Council's characterisation that Libya's failure to co-operate fully with efforts to investigate terrorist acts amounted to a threat to the peace.

On the one hand, the United States, the United Kingdom, France and other states supporting the application of sanctions against Libya, stressed that terrorism constituted a threat to international peace and security and argued that the Council had a responsibility to act against such a threat.¹⁴ They contended that, in order to deter states from

¹² See Chapter 5, section 1.2.

Even among the countries which did not subscribe to the view that the Council should employ Chapter VII action against Libya, there was nevertheless strong condemnation of terrorism. See, e.g., S/PV.3033 (21 January 1992), pp. 18–20 (Libya); S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 12 (Libya), p. 28 (Jordan), p. 31 (Mauritania, on behalf of the states members of the Arab Maghreb Union – Algeria, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco and Tunisia), p. 37 (Iraq), pp. 39–40 (Uganda), p. 42 (Mr Ansay, representative of the Organisation of the Islamic Conference), p. 45 (Cape Verde), pp. 49–50 (Zimbabwe), p. 56 (India) and p. 59 (China).

¹⁴ S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 48 (Ecuador), p. 72 (United Kingdom), p. 73 (France), p. 76 (Hungary), p. 77 (Austria), pp. 79–80 (the Russian Federation), p. 81 (Belgium) and p. 82 (Venezuela).

sponsoring future acts of international terrorism, the Council must act firmly against any state whose officials were implicated in acts of international terrorism. The Council had provided Libya with an opportunity to co-operate with efforts to bring to justice those responsible for the terrorist bombings of the Pan Am and UTA flights, but Libya had failed to take advantage of that opportunity. In that context, Libya's failure to comply fully with the Council's requests itself amounted to a threat to the peace, thus warranting the application of sanctions under Chapter VII. This interpretation of the situation was the one that ultimately carried the day, as illustrated by the Council's adoption of resolution 748 (1992), reflecting that position.

But Libya and other states advocating against Chapter VII action portrayed events in a completely different light. While acknowledging that terrorism posed a threat to international peace and security, these states contended that, in the Libyan case, there was no immediate threat justifying action under Chapter VII. Noting that Secretary-General Boutros Boutros-Ghali had reported an evolution in Libya's approach to the investigations, 18 they argued that Libya had taken significant steps to comply with the Council's requests to co-operate with investigations and to renounce terrorism. 19 Moreover, some of them maintained that the situation under consideration was essentially a legal dispute, consisting of a disagreement between Libya, on the one hand, and France, the United Kingdom and the United States, on the other, regarding how to proceed with investigations into the bombings and how to bring those responsible for the bombings to justice.²⁰ As the dispute was legal in nature, it should be resolved via legal means. The Security Council's proper role should therefore be to encourage the dispute's resolution via peaceful means under Chapter VI of the UN

¹⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 72 (United Kingdom). ¹⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 69 (United Kingdom), p. 76 (Hungary).

¹⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 66 (United States).

S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), pp. 17–18 (Libya), p. 32 (Mauritania), p. 37 (Iraq), p. 51 (Zimbabwe), pp. 56–57 (India). For the UNSG's comments, see S/23672 (3 March 1992), para. 6.

¹⁹ The representative of Libya outlined at length the steps which, in Libya's view, had demonstrated its co-operation with the investigations and the Council's requests made in resolution 731 (1992). See S/PV.3033 (21 January 1992), pp. 8–11; S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), pp. 5–6, 9–12. For other statements also arguing that Libya had endeavoured to comply with the Council's requests, see S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 32 (Mauritania) and p. 43 (Mr Ansay, representative of the OIC).

²⁰ S/PV.3033 (21 January 1992), p. 12 (Libya); S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), pp. 6-7 (Libya), 18-20, p. 32 (Mauritania).

Charter, and in particular under Articles 33 and 36.²¹ Libya had demonstrated its willingness to resolve the dispute peacefully by referring it to the International Court of Justice (ICJ), in accordance with Article 14 of the 1971 Montreal Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Civil Aviation.²² Thus, as the potential still existed to resolve the dispute peacefully, it was premature for the Council to proceed to take Chapter VII action.²³ Some countries warned against hasty action that might aggravate the situation.²⁴ Libya itself went so far as to imply that if there was a threat to the peace, then it was posed by those states that were pressing for Chapter VII action.²⁵

The Libyan case illustrates how the Council's motives for determining a threat to the peace can easily be called into question. This can be attributed partly to the vague and general nature of the concept of a threat to the peace. In order to demonstrate that its actions are taken in accordance with legitimate authority, the Council should articulate

- ²¹ S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), pp. 7 and 18 (Libya), pp. 26–27 (Jordan) and p. 64 (Morocco). Article 33 of the Charter reads as follows:
 - The parties to any dispute, the continuance of which is likely to endanger
 the maintenance of international peace and security, shall, first of all, seek a
 solution by negotiation, enquiry, mediation, conciliation, arbitration, judicial
 settlement, resort to regional agencies or arrangements, or other peaceful means
 of their own choice;
 - 2. The Security Council shall, when it deems necessary, call upon the parties to settle their dispute by such means.

Article 36 of the Charter reads as follows:

- The Security Council may, at any stage of a dispute of the nature referred to in Article 33 or of a situation of like nature, recommend appropriate procedures or methods of adjustment;
- 2. The Security Council should take into consideration any procedures for the settlement of the dispute which have already been adopted by the parties;
- In making recommendations under this Article the Security Council should also take into consideration that legal disputes should as a general rule be referred by the parties to the International Court of Justice in accordance with the provisions of the Statute of the Court.
- S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 13 (Libya), p. 32 (Mauritania), p. 37 (Iraq), pp. 39–40 (Uganda), p. 46 (Cape Verde). Article 14 of the Montreal Convention reads as follows:
 - 'Any dispute between two or more Contracting States concerning the interpretation or application of this Convention which cannot be settled through negotiation shall, at the request of one of them, be submitted to arbitration. If within six months from the date of the request for arbitration the Parties are unable to agree on the organisation of the arbitration, any one of those Parties may refer the dispute to the ICJ by request in conformity with the Statute of the Court.'

²³ *Ibid.*, pp. 29–30 (Jordan), pp. 34–35 (Iraq), pp. 46–47 (Cape Verde), p. 52 (Zimbabwe), pp. 57–58 (India), p. 64 (Morocco).

²⁴ *Ibid.*, p. 44 (Mr Ansay, representative of the OIC), p. 53 (Zimbabwe), p. 61 (China).

²⁵ S/PV.3033 (21 January 1992), p. 23 (Libya); S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), pp. 19–20 (Libya).

clearly the precise conditions that amount to a threat to the peace in a given instance. In the Libyan case, the Council might have specified more precisely how the situation threatened the peace, thus compelling urgent coercive action against Libya. In the absence of a clear and transparent articulation of the requisite threat, questions will arise concerning the legitimacy of a Security Council decision to act under Chapter VII. The Libyan instance begs a number of such questions. Why was there such an urgent need to act when Libya did not appear to pose an immediate danger to other states or the international community? Given the Secretary-General's observation that there had been an evolution in Libya's co-operation, might the Council not have continued to pursue other avenues to elicit the co-operation it sought from Libya? Why did the Council not establish its own fact-finding team to verify the claims of the American, British and French investigating teams, before proceeding to employ coercive measures against a member state? Why did the Council rush to impose Chapter VII measures rather than awaiting the outcome of the International Court of Justice's deliberations on the matter?

The Council's failure to be completely transparent in determining a threat in the Libyan case raised doubts concerning its motives and undermined the contention made by those calling for Chapter VII measures that it was acting to reinforce the rule of law. Thus the Council unwittingly lent credibility to the claim that it was missing an opportunity to uphold the rule of law by failing to encourage the parties to the conflict to submit their dispute to resolution before the International Court of Justice. While the need to deter future acts of terrorism is both genuine and pressing, that need must be carefully balanced against the potential damage that might be caused to the Council's credibility as the guardian of international peace and security if there is a perception that it has used its Chapter VII powers unnecessarily.

In the Libyan case, it is hard to avoid the suspicion that, in the eyes of certain permanent members of the Security Council, the real threat to international peace and security lay in the possibility that the International Court of Justice might pass judgment on the matter in a way that would undermine the flexibility of the Security Council to act on the matter. Indeed, the United Kingdom admitted as much, stating:

S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 67 (United States), p. 72 (United Kingdom), p. 73 (France).
 Ibid., p. 22 (Libya), p. 53 (Zimbabwe), p. 58 (India).

[W]e believe that Libya's application, while purporting to enjoin action by the United Kingdom against Libya, is in fact directed at interfering with the exercise by the Security Council of its rightful prerogatives under the United Nations Charter. We consider that the Security Council is fully entitled to concern itself with issues of terrorism and the measures needed to address acts of terrorism in any particular case or to prevent it in the future. Any other view would undermine the primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security conferred on the Council by Article 24 of the Charter. It would thus seriously weaken the Council's ability to maintain peace and security in future circumstances which are unforeseen and unforeseeable.²⁸

By acting against Libya under Chapter VII, the Council was perhaps responding less to a genuine threat to peace and security than to a threat to its own discretion.

ii. Invoking the Charter basis for applying sanctions

The Security Council routinely invokes Chapter VII when applying or modifying sanctions.²⁹ However, it has rarely stated expressly that it was acting under Article 41, which is the only specific basis within Chapter VII for the application of sanctions.³⁰ The Council's recent references to Article 41 as the basis for its sanctions regimes against North Korea and Iran are welcome, 31 but it is unclear why the Council has not invoked Article 41 on a more regular basis. In other situations, where for example the Council is seeking to exercise its powers to authorise the use of force in a manner that might not have been expressly envisaged by the UN's founders, it is understandable that the Council might wish to locate the basis of such action in Chapter VII in general rather than in a specific Charter provision.³² But with respect to decisions to apply or modify sanctions regimes, the constitutional basis is so clearly and uncontroversially located in Article 41 that a general reference to Chapter VII does not provide any meaningful additional flexibility or strengthen the Council's hand in terms of the implementation of sanctions. There is little reason for the Council to avoid invoking the Charter's sanctions provision in its sanctions-related decisions. The Council's failure to do so, for no readily apparent

 $^{^{28}}$ *Ibid.*, pp. 68–69. 29 See Appendix 3, Table C.

³⁰ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4 (Southern Rhodesia); SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), preambular para. 10 (North Korea); SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 10 (Iran).

See the relevant provisions in the previous note.

³² See, e.g., the Security Council's authorisation of the use of all necessary means in the case of Iraq: SC Res. 678 (29 November 1990), para. 2.

rationale, needlessly calls into question its commitment to operating in a transparent manner.

iii. Articulating sanctions objectives

Closely connected to the problem of a lack of clarity and transparency in the Council's determinations of threats to the peace is the inadequate articulation of the objectives for which sanctions are applied. The survey of the Council's practice in this respect, as outlined above in Chapter 7, reveals both good precedents for the articulation of specific, objectively verifiable goals, as well as troubling examples of objectives that have been so general or vague that it is arguable that they could only elude objective verification. Among the positive precedents, ³³ the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime illustrates elements of best practice, as it incorporates goals that are both objectively verifiable and tied to particular components of the sanctions regime.³⁴ Among the less positive examples, however, the Security Council has on one occasion failed to identify any explicit objective at all, as in the case of the 918 Rwanda sanctions regime.³⁵ On other occasions, the Council has articulated goals that are general, vague or difficult to verify or satisfy, such as: establishing peace and stability; securing the future, ongoing disarmament of a target; and ensuring that a target ceases supporting terrorism.

(a) Establishing peace and stability

The Council incorporated the general objective of establishing peace and stability as part of the 713 Yugoslavia,³⁶ Somalia,³⁷ 788 Liberia³⁸ and 1160 FRY sanctions regimes.³⁹ In the 713 Yugoslavia and 1160 FRY cases, this objective was augmented by more specific objectives.⁴⁰ In the

Relatively transparent objectives have been outlined in connection with the 757 FRYSM, 820 Bosnian Serb, 841 Haiti, 864 UNITA, 1132 Sierra Leone, 1160 FRY, 1298 Eritrea and Ethiopia, 1343 Liberia, 1493 DRC and 1521 Liberia sanctions regimes.

³⁴ See Appendix 2, summary of the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime.

³⁵ Although the Council did not articulate an explicit objective in connection with the Rwanda sanctions regime, various provisions of resolution 918 (1994) imply that the main objectives of the arms embargo were the establishment of a cease-fire and the achievement of a peaceful settlement to the conflict, within the framework of the Arusha Peace Agreement: SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), preambular para. 6 and paras. 1, 19.

SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6.
 SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5.
 SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8.
 SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8.

⁴⁰ In the 713 regime, the Council subsequently decided that the arms sanctions would be terminated upon the signing of a proposed Peace Agreement, including the conclusion of a regional arms control agreement: SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), para. 1. In the 1160 regime, the Council outlined a range of detailed objectives at the same time that it

Somalia and 788 Liberia regimes, however, the Council simply noted that the sanctions would remain in place until it decided otherwise. ⁴¹ In the case of Liberia, it was notable that the Council did not terminate the arms embargo in July 1997, when it might have been claimed that peace and stability had been established. The Council itself had welcomed both the successful holding of presidential and legislative elections and their certification as 'free and fair' by the UNSG and the Chairman of ECOWAS. ⁴²

(b) Securing the future and ongoing verification of disarmament

The Security Council established the general goal of achieving the complete, ongoing disarmament of a target as part of its 661 Iraq sanctions regime. The 661 regime provides an example of a sanctions regime which has had both a particularly clear and verifiable goal, as well as objectives that were difficult to verify. The clear initial objective, of securing the withdrawal of Iraqi forces from Kuwait and the reinstatement of the Kuwaiti government, 43 was achieved through the hostilities undertaken by coalition forces during the Gulf War of early 1991. When the Council decided to maintain the sanctions after the Gulf War, 44 that clear objective was replaced by the following goals: (a) establishing a compensation fund to cover the losses incurred by foreign governments, nationals and corporations; 45 (b) ensuring that Iraq agreed to on-site inspection of its armament facilities; 46 (c) ensuring that Iraq was disarmed of its weapons of mass destruction and missiles with a range greater than 150 km and that it submitted to future and ongoing verification that it was not using, developing, constructing or acquiring such weapons;⁴⁷ and (d) ensuring that Iraq reaffirm unconditionally its obligations under the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons of 1 July 1968.48

Of the goals articulated in the post-Gulf War environment, objectives (a), (b) and (d) were achievable and objectively verifiable. By contrast, objective (c) was sufficiently general and difficult to satisfy that it is

set the overall objective of establishing peace and stability: SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 16(a)–(e).

⁴¹ For the Somalia sanctions regime, see SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5. For the 788 Liberia sanctions regime, see SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8.

⁴² S/PRST/1997/41 (30 July 1997). The joint statement of certification that the elections had been free and fair was contained in S/1997/581 (24 July 1997), annex.

⁴³ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 2. ⁴⁴ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 20–24.

⁴⁵ *Ibid.*, paras. 19 and 22. ⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 9 and 22.

⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, paras. 8, 10, 12 and 22. ⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, paras. 11 and 22.

arguable that one could have legitimately claimed ad infinitum that it had not been satisfied. Was it possible for Iraq to demonstrate via objective criteria that it had complied with the requirement to submit to 'future and ongoing verification'? At what point would consistent compliance with verification have been deemed sufficient? It is possible to debate the merits of a policy of total containment of a regime with an aggressive record. Indeed, with the benefit of hindsight, the Council's approach appears to have achieved its objective of preventing Iraq from reconstituting its weapons of mass destruction stockpiles. Nevertheless, the articulation of such a general and slippery objective provides the Security Council, including in particular its permanent members, with such broad discretion in determining when, and even whether, to lift the sanctions, that it renders the Council's decisionmaking process susceptible to arbitrary and non-transparent approaches. This ability of the permanent Council members to block the lifting of sanctions that are not subject to a specific time-limit has been coined the 'reverse veto'.49

(c) Ensuring that a target stops supporting terrorism

The Council has set the objective of ensuring that a target stops supporting terrorism as part of the Libya, 1054 Sudan and Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regimes. In each of those cases, the Council has also outlined quite specific steps, the taking of which might lead to the suspension or termination of sanctions. Nevertheless, the requirement of ceasing to provide support to terrorists is sufficiently difficult to substantiate that it is arguable that in any of those instances the Council could have maintained sanctions for as long as it saw fit.

In the case of Libya, the primary objective of the sanctions was initially to ensure Libya's co-operation with French, British and American investigations into the terrorist bombings of UTA flight 772 and Pan Am flight 103. Subsequently, that primary objective shifted to ensuring that Libyan authorities handed over for trial the suspects for the bombing of Pan Am flight 103 and satisfied French authorities with respect to the bombing of UTA flight 772. It is notable, however, that although sanctions were suspended once Libya handed over suspects

⁴⁹ David D. Caron, 'The Legitimacy of the Collective Authority of the Security Council' (1993) 87 AJIL 552–588 at 577–584.

⁵⁰ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 1, 3.

⁵¹ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 16; SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 8.

for trial by a Scottish Court sitting on neutral ground,⁵² the ultimate termination of the sanctions regime did not take place until more than four years later, once UK, US and French officials had negotiated a compensation deal with the Libyan authorities.⁵³ The requirement of compensation had not been mentioned in any of the Council's earlier resolutions relating to the Libya situation.

It is possible to argue that the Security Council became convinced of Libya's sincerity to cease supporting terrorism once Libya agreed to provide such compensation to American and French families affected by the Pan Am and UTA bombings. It is equally possible, however, to draw the conclusion that the United States and France were able to use to their benefit the regime's vague objective of ensuring that Libya ceased supporting terrorism in order to prevent the termination of the sanctions until their own political objectives had been satisfied.⁵⁴ Regardless what conclusions one draws from the manner in which the sanctions were ultimately lifted, the Libya example does not provide a best-practice precedent of sanctions having been lifted as a result of the achievement of concrete, objectively verifiable goals.

In the case of the 1054 Sudan sanctions regime, the major objective was to induce the extradition from Sudan of three individuals suspected of having undertaken an assassination attempt in Ethiopia against President Mubarak of Egypt.⁵⁵ Connected to that objective was the secondary goal of ensuring that Sudan desisted from assisting, supporting and facilitating terrorist activities and from giving shelter or

The Security Council provided for the possibility that the sanctions might be suspended after Libya transferred two Lockerbie bombing suspects to the Netherlands for trial before a Scottish court in SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 8. The sanctions were subsequently suspended when the UNSG reported that the conditions for suspension had been satisfied: S/1999/378 (5 April 1999): Letter Dated 5 April 1999 from the Secretary-General to the President of the Security Council; S/PRST/1999/10 (8 April 1999).

The Council terminated the sanctions in September 2003, after receiving a letter from the representative of Libya recounting steps taken by the Libyan government to comply with its obligations connected with the sanctions regime. Those steps included accepting responsibility for the actions of Libyan officials, paying appropriate compensation, renouncing terrorism, and making a commitment to co-operate with further investigations. For the provision terminating the sanctions, see SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), para. 1. For the text of the Libyan letter, see S/2003/818 (15 August 2003): Letter dated 15 August 2003 from the representative of the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya addressed to the President of the Security Council.

⁵⁴ At the time that the sanctions were applied, a number of speakers expressed concern that the vagueness of the sanctions regime's objectives would make them difficult to satisfy. See S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 21 (Libya), p. 36 (Iraq), p. 57 (India).

⁵⁵ SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 1(a).

sanctuary to terrorist elements.⁵⁶ As with the Libyan case, the Sudan example demonstrates that it is difficult to verify precisely when a target has complied with an objective as general as ceasing providing support to terrorism. In June 2000, more than four years after the 1054 Sudan sanctions regime was first established, Sudan's Minister for External Affairs sent a letter to the President of the Security Council outlining the steps that Sudan had taken to comply with its obligations under the sanctions regime and requesting that a meeting of the Council be convened in order to lift the sanctions.⁵⁷ Over the following days, the President of the Security Council also received letters from the Foreign Ministers of Egypt and Ethiopia, as well as from the Chairmen of the Arab Group, the Non-Aligned Movement and the African Group, all supporting Sudan's request that the sanctions be lifted.⁵⁸

Despite the requests received in June 2000 advocating the swift convening of a meeting to lift the sanctions, the Council did not consider the matter for a further fifteen months. In late September 2001, the Council noted the steps that had been taken by the Sudanese government to comply with its obligations under the sanctions regime, ⁵⁹ as well as a collection of correspondence it had received fifteen months earlier advocating the lifting of the sanctions against Sudan. ⁶⁰ It then welcomed the accession of Sudan to various international conventions

⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 1(b).

⁵⁷ S/2000/513 (1 June 2000): Letter dated 1 June 2000 from the representative of the Sudan addressed to the President of the Security Council, annex. In making the case that the Sudan had complied with its obligations connected to the sanctions regime, the Minister argued that the Sudan had: (a) done all it could to locate the individuals suspected of undertaking the assassination attempt against President Mubarak, but without success, co-operating fully with investigations carried out by the governments of Egypt and Ethiopia; (b) taken a number of steps to demonstrate its commitment to curbing terrorism, including signing a number of international conventions designed to combat terrorism; and (c) maintained good relations with all of its ten neighbours and committed to the maintenance of international peace and security.

The letters from the Foreign Ministers of Egypt and Ethiopia were not circulated as official documents, but are noted in resolution 1372 (2001), by which the Council ultimately terminated the sanctions: see SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), preambular para. 4. For the other letters mentioned, see S/2000/517 (1 June 2000), S/2000/521 and S/2000/533: letters dated 1, 2 and 5 June 2000 from the representatives of Algeria (in his capacity as Chairman of the Arab Group), South Africa (in his capacity as Chairman of the Coordinating Bureau of the Non-Aligned Movement) and Gabon (in his capacity as Chairman of the African Group), respectively, addressed to the President of the Security Council

⁵⁹ SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), preambular para. 2.

⁶⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular paras. 3-5.

for the suppression of terrorism, 61 and decided to terminate the sanctions. 62

In the case of the 1267 Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime, the Security Council has blended examples of both best and worst practice in its articulation of objectives. In its early decisions connected with the 1267 regime, the Council articulated clear and objectively verifiable criteria, the achievement of which would lead to the lifting of sanctions. The major initial objective of the sanctions was thus to ensure that the Taliban turned Usama Bin Laden over to authorities in a country where he had been indicted. 63 In December 2000, the Council identified additional requirements with which the Taliban must comply before the sanctions would be terminated, including: ceasing providing sanctuary and/or training for international terrorists; ensuring that its territory was not being used by terrorists or for the organisation of terrorist acts against other states; co-operating with efforts to bring indicted terrorists to justice; and closing terrorist camps within its territory. ⁶⁴ At the same time, the Council also attached a time-limit to the sanctions, deciding that they would terminate after twelve months unless it were to decide otherwise. 65 The incorporation of a time-limit in theory meant that, as the time-limit approached, the Council would need to reconsider the situation, assessing whether the objectives had been met and, in the case of reapplication, either reaffirm or modify the objectives already outlined.

In the post-September 11 environment, however, the Council appeared to lose its appetite for articulating clear objectives in connection with the 1267 regime. It also gave up on time-limits. In its subsequent decisions, the Council has noted that the sanctions would be reviewed after a certain period, at which point they would either be maintained in their current form or strengthened. This impulse to maintain unlimited sanctions against Al Qaida is understandable. There are few who would advocate that Al Qaida is not a legitimate sanctions target or that the Council should adopt a lenient approach to such terrorist organisations. Nevertheless, as a matter of principle, the legitimacy of the Council's overall sanctions system suffers when there is a

⁶¹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6. ⁶² *Ibid.*, para. 1.

⁶³ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), paras. 2, 14.

⁶⁴ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 1–3, 23–24.
⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 23.

⁶⁶ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 3; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 1–2; SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), paras. 1, 3; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 21; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 33.

lack of transparency in the articulation of sanctions objectives, no matter how easy it might be to rationalise or justify such a lack of transparency. The Interlaken and Bonn-Berlin inter-governmental processes have both stressed the importance of articulating clearly the criteria to be fulfilled through the application of sanctions. ⁶⁷ If there is a legitimate reason for maintaining sanctions against a target, then it should not be a difficult matter to identify that reason transparently and to set transparent objectives, the achievement of which will lead to the termination of sanctions. Even if such objectives are unlikely ever to be fulfilled, as may be the case with Al Qaida, they should nevertheless be articulated.

In practice, such specific objectives would likely focus on responding to terrorist events that have already taken place. Thus, for instance, a more objectively verifiable goal connected with the Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime might be bringing about the capture and trial of specific individuals suspected of having been involved in Al Qaida-organised terrorist attacks. The Council could also provide for the possibility that sanctions against listed individuals and groups would be relaxed, suspended or lifted if those individuals were to co-operate with investigations into Al Qaida's activities or demonstrate through acts of good faith that they are no longer associated with Al Qaida.

1.3 Transparency in sanctions committees

Traditionally, the decision-making process in the Security Council's sanctions committees has been less than transparent.⁶⁸ The committees have tended to meet in closed sessions, with little public record of their proceedings.⁶⁹ Prior to 1995, the transparency of the committees reached a low point, with a number of sanctions committees failing to report to the Council on a regular basis, despite the fact that their

⁶⁷ Targeted Financial Sanctions: A Manual for Design and Implementation. Contributions from the Interlaken Process (Providence, RI: Watson Institute for International Studies, 2001), 5; Design and Implementation of Arms Embargo and Travel Sanctions and Aviation-related Sanctions: Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process (Bonn International Center for Conversion, 2001), 38 (Comment 45).

⁶⁸ Paul Conlon, United Nations Sanctions Management: A Case Study of the Iraq Sanctions Committee (New York: Transnational Publishers, 2000), pp. 33, 36.

⁶⁹ Nevertheless, there are some examples in the public domain of records from Sanctions Committee meetings. For an unauthorised collection of some of the early meetings of the Iraq Sanctions Committee, see Daniel L. Bethlehem and E. Lauterpacht, *The Kuwait Crisis: Sanctions and Their Economic Consequences* (Cambridge: Grotius Publications, 1991), vol. 2, Part II, pp. 773–985.

mandates required them to undertake such reporting. Of the early sanctions committees, only the 253 Southern Rhodesian Committee consistently provided the Council with reports relating to its activities. ⁷⁰ Up until the mid-1990s, few sanctions committees had submitted regular written reports to the Council, with the 841 Haiti Sanctions Committee failing to submit even a solitary report during its sixteenmonth existence. ⁷¹

The main motivations for holding sanctions committee meetings behind closed doors and restricting public access to meeting records appear to be a concern regarding the sensitive, confidential nature of the issues discussed, as well as a desire to foster genuine, constructive debate rather than 'grandstanding'.⁷² One commentator with first-hand experience of the inner workings of the 661 Iraq Sanctions Committee has contended, however, that discussion of sensitive, confidential matters accounted for a mere 2.5 per cent of the 661 Committee's meeting time, and that the closed meeting format in fact elicited little candour and frankness from committee members.⁷³ Even more damning is the same commentator's conclusion that the lack of transparency in the proceedings of the 661 Committee actually aided Iraq and sanctions evaders, as it shielded them from the public spotlight.⁷⁴

Recognising that the sanctions committees were perceived to lack transparency, the President of the Security Council issued a note in March 1995, with the primary aim of improving transparency. The note, which had the backing of all Council members, proposed the introduction of a number of measures designed to make the procedures of the sanctions committees more transparent. Those measures included the preparation of annual reports, with a concise summary of activities undertaken in the reporting period, as well as the expedited preparation of summary records of committee meetings. Four years later, in January 1999, the President of the Security Council issued another note regarding the work of the sanctions committees, outlining further proposals for improving transparency. The statement suggested that transparency should be increased: by convening substantive and detailed briefings on the work of the committees, to be given by the

⁷⁰ See Appendix 3, Table F. ⁷¹ *Ibid*.

⁷² Conlon, United Nations Sanctions Management, p. 34.

⁷³ *Ibid.* ⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, p. 151. ⁷⁵ S/1995/234 (29 March 1995). ⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 1.

⁷⁷ S/1999/92 (29 January 1999): Note by the President of the Security Council: Work of the Sanctions Committees.

chairpersons of the committees;⁷⁸ by making publicly available summary records of formal meetings of the sanctions committee;⁷⁹ and by posting information on the work of the sanctions committees on the internet.⁸⁰

The transparency of the sanctions committees has improved considerably in certain respects as a result of these Council initiatives. Sanctions committees now report to the Council on an annual basis;⁸¹ information relating to each operating committee is available via the internet;⁸² the Security Council has begun including additional details of the work of the committees in its annual reports to the General Assembly;⁸³ and a number of committee Chairs have briefed the Council on their committee's activities in both formal meetings open to the public⁸⁴ and informal consultations.⁸⁵

Nevertheless, despite these positive initiatives, there is still no public access either to committee meetings themselves, or to the records of those meetings. Even in respect of the most positive example of transparency, the submission of reports, the record of sanctions committees has improved without becoming stellar. While sanctions committees routinely submit annual reports on their work, those reports tend to lack genuine substance, often conveying little valuable information on

 $^{^{78}}$ Ibid., para. 18. 79 Ibid., para. 19. 80 Ibid., para. 20. 81 See Appendix 3, Table F.

⁸² See http://www.un.org/Docs/sc/committees/INTRO.htm.

⁸³ For the first Security Council annual report containing a section on the work of subsidiary organs, see A/53/2 (1998), pp. 159–169.

For examples of oral briefings given by Sanctions Committee Chairs in formal Security Council meetings, see S/PV.4027 (29 July 1999), pp. 2–5 (briefing by the Chairman of the 864 Committee); S/PV.4090 (18 January 2000), pp. 4–10 (briefing by the Chairman of the 864 Committee); S/PV.4113 (15 March 2000), pp. 2–7 (briefing by the Chairman of the 864 Committee); S/PV.4325 (5 June 2001), pp. 3–4 (containing a statement by the Chairman of the 1267 Committee on the activities of the Committee of Experts on Afghanistan); S/PV.4405 (5 November 2001), pp. 2–5 (containing a statement by the Chairman of the 1343 Committee on the activities of the Panel of Experts on Liberia); S/PV.4673 (18 December 2002), in general (briefings by the Chairmen of the 661 Committee, the 864 Committee, the 1267 Committee and the 1343 Committee); S/PV.4798 (29 July 2003), pp. 2–6 (briefing by the Chairman of the 1267 Committee); S/PV.4888 (22 December 2003), in general (briefings by the Chairmen of the 661, 751, 918, and 1132 Committees); pp. 2–8 (briefing by the President of the Security Council, in his capacity as the Chairman of the 1267 Committee).

Although there are no public records of informal consultations, the President of the Security Council sometimes issues a press statement after consultations. For examples of such statements noting that the Council had been briefed by committee chairs, see: SC/7370 (22 April 2002) (Chairman of the 1343 Committee); SC/7518 (30 September 2002) (Chairman of the 1267 Committee); SC/7730 (15 April 2003) (Chairman of the 1267 Committee).

the manner in which the committees have functioned and providing few substantive or meaningful recommendations. Welcome exceptions include the final report issued by the 724 Yugoslavia Committee, ⁸⁶ as well as reports by the 1267 Committee providing analytical assessments of sanctions implementation and responses to the findings of the Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring Team. ⁸⁷

2. A less than constant practice: the problem of consistency

The power at the disposal of the Security Council is the power commanded by the solidarity of nations opposed to the transgression of the Charter of the United Nations. It is first and foremost the power of principle. What makes the Council's task particularly onerous – and, I am sure, ultimately fruitful – is that principles must be consistently applied.

UN Secretary-General Perez de Cuellar⁸⁸

The principle of consistency requires that political power should be exercised in a consistent manner. Decisions should thus be made in a predictable rather than an arbitrary manner. Consistency contributes to the rule of law by promoting predictable standards of behaviour. In the context of UN sanctions, the principle of consistency requires that once the Security Council has decided to impose sanctions, it should seek to ensure, to the extent possible, that its practice is consistent from one sanctions regime to another.⁸⁹ In particular, arbitrary decision-making should be avoided.

The track-record of the Security Council with respect to consistency is mixed. While early sanctions regimes defined themselves largely by their difference from each other, a more consistent practice seems to be evolving, particularly with respect to similar types of sanctions, such as arms embargoes, travel bans and assets freezes. Nevertheless, there is room for improvement. Some differentiation between sanctions regimes is unavoidable and is sometimes desirable, as each sanctions

Statement by Secretary-General Perez de Cuellar, during a Security Council meeting at which the Council adopted resolution 670 (1990) to address the situation between Iraq and Kuwait: S/PV.2943 (25 September 1990), p. 7.

⁸⁶ S/1996/946 (15 November 1996). ⁸⁷ See Appendix 3, Table F.

⁸⁹ The question of consistency in the application of sanctions, in the sense of whether the Security Council consistently makes the decision to apply sanctions in comparable situations that pose a threat to the peace, is dealt with below, in the discussion on the element of equality. As noted, this section considers the consistency of the Council's approach once it has taken the decision to apply sanctions.

regime usually arises from particular circumstances and aims to achieve particular objectives. Where possible, however, the Council should seek to avoid the perception of arbitrariness and strive to ensure that its practice is as consistent as it can be. When it adopts a novel approach, such an approach should arise from considered reflection, should aim at improvement and should be clearly justified.

The principle of consistency can be broadly applied to the Council's sanctions-related activities in general, as the Council should ideally approach every aspect of its decision-making in a consistent manner. Thus, the Council should seek where possible to employ a uniform approach to the aspects of its sanctions practice identified in Chapters 5 to 8, above. With respect to each of those components of sanctions practice there is room for improvement in consistency. For the purposes of illustrating how the Council might improve its consistency of approach, analysis here focuses upon the Council's practice with respect to setting objectives, delineating the scope of sanctions, and establishing subsidiary bodies to administer and monitor sanctions.

2.1 Consistency and the objectives of sanctions regimes

The Council's practice with respect to outlining the objectives of sanctions regimes has already been touched upon, under the heading of transparency. Just as the discussion there demonstrates that the Council's articulation of objectives has not always been transparent, it also illustrates a lack of consistency. While the Council has on occasion identified clear, objectively verifiable conditions, the satisfaction of which will result in the suspension or termination of the sanctions, on other occasions it has articulated general or vague conditions, the satisfaction of which is extremely difficult to verify objectively. In the case of the Rwanda sanctions regime, the Council failed to stipulate any objective at all.

The Council's approach to objectives has not only been subject to variation from one sanctions regime to another. As the discussion above of the Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regime illustrates, the Council's strategy has at times been inconsistent with respect to objectives connected with the same sanctions regime. In its oversight of that regime, the Council has modified its approach from one of embracing precise and specific objectives, as demonstrated in its early resolutions such as 1267 (1999) and 1333 (2000), to articulating general or vague objectives, as in the case of resolution 1390 (2002), to neglecting to identify any explicit objective at all, as in the case of resolutions 1455 (2003) and 1526 (2004).

2.2 Consistency and the scope of sanctions

One area in which the Security Council's practice has exhibited an increasing degree of consistency is that of setting the scope of its sanctions regimes. Improvements in this sphere owe a debt to the sanctions policy roundtables that have been sponsored in turn by the Swiss, German and Swedish governments and have come to be known as the 'Interlaken', 'Bonn-Berlin' and 'Stockholm' processes. The Interlaken process sought to hone the tool of targeted financial sanctions. ⁹⁰ The Bonn-Berlin process focused upon the design and implementation of arms embargoes and travel and aviation sanctions. ⁹¹ The Stockholm process focused upon the question of making targeted sanctions effective. ⁹² Largely as a result of those processes, the Council's approach to establishing the scope of similar types of sanctions appears to be following a more consistent pattern. It has thus employed similar language in delineating the scope of its various sanctions regimes incorporating arms embargoes and financial, travel and aviation sanctions.

Nevertheless, there remains clear room for improvement in the consistency of approach to the articulation of exemptions from sanctions, in particular with respect to comprehensive sanctions. One category of commodities and products theoretically exempt from each of the comprehensive sanctions regimes was medical supplies. However, the operation of this exemption was complicated in the case of Iraq due to the introduction of the 'dual-use' prohibition, according to which items with the potential for conversion or diversion for military purposes could not be sold or supplied to Iraq. Thus, despite the fact that

 $^{^{90}}$ Contributions from the Interlaken Process. 91 Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process.

⁹² Making Targeted Sanctions Effective: Guidelines for the Implementation of UN Policy Options. Results from the Stockholm Process on the Implementation of Targeted Sanctions (Uppsala: Uppsala University, 2003).

SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d) (Southern Rhodesia); SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 3(c) (Iraq); SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4(c) (FRYSM); SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12 (Bosnian Serbs); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(a) (Haiti).

⁹⁴ SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 8; SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 8–13, 24, 25 and 27; S/23036 (13 September 1991), para. 7 (in which the 661 Committee defined dualuse items as 'items meant for civilian use but with potential for diversion or conversion to military use'). Some years later, the Council simplified the review of potential dualuse items through the introduction of the 'Goods Review List', which was designed both to provide a comprehensive list of items that were exempt, as well as to speed up the process for determining whether items could in fact be used to develop weapons of mass destruction. See SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), para. 5; SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 17; SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002); SC Res. 1447 (4 December 2002); SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002).

medical supplies in theory remained exempt from the Iraq sanctions regime, in practice the 661 Committee did place holds upon the supply of medical items to Iraq, on the basis that they were potential dual-use items. ⁹⁵ The 2005 Independent Inquiry into the Oil-for-Food Programme reported that:

The 661 Committee blocked a wide variety of items, ranging from educational materials to equipment for health treatment, health care, electricity and water supply, chemicals, laboratory equipment, generators, chlorine, water purification inputs, and communication equipment, all suspected to be for 'dual-use'. For example, it took over a year to release ambulances on the grounds that they contained (as they should) communication equipment. Thus for over two years there was no access to new ambulances. ⁹⁶

Another category of products that was exempt from each regime was foodstuffs. Again, however, the application of this exemption was not uniform. In the cases of Southern Rhodesia and Iraq, the Council permitted the sale or supply of foodstuffs 'in humanitarian circumstances'. In the case of Iraq, a fact-finding mission that was deployed to Iraq just after the conclusion of the Gulf War hostilities determined that humanitarian circumstances did indeed exist. ⁹⁷ The Council subsequently decided that foodstuffs would be exempt. ⁹⁸ In the other instances of comprehensive sanctions, the Council outlined a general exemption for foodstuffs from the outset, thus suggesting that it was moving away from the practice of stipulating that 'humanitarian circumstances' must exist in order for food to be exempt from sanctions. ⁹⁹

Other items or categories of items were exempted from some regimes but not from others. The Council exempted educational equipment in

See Center for Economic and Social Rights (CESR), (UN) Sanctioned Suffering: A Human Rights Assessment of United Nations Sanctions on Iraq (New York: Center for Economic and Social Rights, 1996), p. 23 (documenting shortages in pharmaceutical supplies to Iraq and referring to an example in which the 661 Committee denied permission to export to Iraq the cytotoxic drug, Mustine, on the basis that it contained mustard that might have had a military use as mustard gas).

⁹⁶ The Impact of the Oil-for-Food Programme on the Iraqi People, Report of an Independent Working Group established by the Independent Inquiry Committee, p. 28. This report is available at: http://www.iic-offp.org/documents/Sept05/WG_Impact.pdf.

⁹⁷ S/22366 (20 March 1991). The report concluded that humanitarian circumstances did exist, warning that the Iraqi people might soon face a 'catastrophe', including 'epidemic and famine' if 'massive life-supporting needs' were not met: see para. 37.

⁹⁸ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 20.

⁹⁹ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4(c) (FRYSM); SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12 (Bosnian Serbs); SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(a) (Haiti).

the case of the Southern Rhodesian sanctions regime, ¹⁰⁰ and news and informational materials in the case of Southern Rhodesia and Haiti. ¹⁰¹ In the case of Iraq, it exempted 'civilian and humanitarian supplies', ¹⁰² whereas with respect to FRYSM and Haiti it exempted commodities and products for 'essential humanitarian need'. ¹⁰³ In the case of FRYSM, the Council also permitted and then restricted transhipment of goods and commodities along the Danube, ¹⁰⁴ exempted 'clothing for essential humanitarian need', ¹⁰⁵ permitted the supply of items that were essential to repairs being carried out on Serbian locks on the Danube, ¹⁰⁶ and enabled the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia-Montenegro) to export diphtheria serum temporarily, when global supplies were running dangerously low. ¹⁰⁷ In the case of Haiti, the Council also exempted petroleum and petroleum products, including propane gas for cooking. ¹⁰⁸

The Security Council's inconsistency with respect to the elaboration of exemptions has not been confined to its comprehensive sanctions regimes. The Bonn-Berlin and Stockholm processes have recommended that the Council should also embrace standard exceptions from arms, financial and aviation sanctions.¹⁰⁹ There is thus general recognition

¹⁰⁰ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d).

For Southern Rhodesia, see SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d). For Haiti, see SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 8.

¹⁰² SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 20.

For FRYSM, see SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), sole para. In its final report, the 724 Committee noted that an important part of its work had been determining the commodities and products that fell within the phrase 'essential humanitarian need'. It considered applications for exemptions under that category on a case-by-case basis. See S/1996/946 (15 November 1996), para. 13. For Haiti, see SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 7(b). Such exemptions required the approval of the Haiti Sanctions Committee under the no-objection procedure.

SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 6; SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 15.

¹⁰⁵ SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 3; SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 5; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), paras. 13, 15.

¹⁰⁶ SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), para. 2.

¹⁰⁷ SC Res. 967 (14 December 1994), para. 1. This exemption was recommended by the 724 Committee. See S/1996/946 (15 November 1996), para. 16(g).

¹⁰⁸ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), paras. 7(c)-(d).

See Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process, p. 32 (Comment 22 – encouraging the Security Council's Working Group on Sanctions to recommend the adoption of a standing list of exceptions from arms embargoes for non-lethal military equipment for humanitarian use) Results from the Stockholm Process, p. 112 (para. 347, recommending that humanitarian exceptions be outlined from financial sanctions, including permitting states to allow exemptions from assets freezes for humanitarian purposes), and p. 120 (para. 374, recommending that clear humanitarian exemptions be provided from aviation sanctions for emergencies, humanitarian need and religious obligation).

amongst intergovernmental sanctions practitioners of the desirability of improving consistency in the articulation of the parameters of the different types of sanctions at the Council's disposal.

2.3 Consistency and the Security Council's use of subsidiary bodies

As the discussion in Chapter 8 illustrates, the Council has established a range of subsidiary actors to facilitate the administration, monitoring and implementation of its sanctions regimes. The Council's use of subsidiary actors very much indicates an ad hoc, rather than a consistent approach.

i. The establishment of sanctions committees

The Council's use of sanctions committees has not been entirely consistent. The Council has sometimes established a new committee when initiating a sanctions regime, whilst at other times it has created a new committee some time later. On other occasions, the Council has entrusted responsibilities pertaining to a new sanctions regime to an existing committee, or it has not established a committee at all. This is one area where achieving consistency should be a simple matter. If sanctions committees are a good idea, then they should be established routinely when sanctions are applied. While the mere existence of a sanctions committee does not guarantee that there will be effective administration, monitoring or implementation of a sanctions regime, in the absence of a sanctions committee a sanctions regime is likely to be neglected.

The Council's practice has also varied with respect to the elaboration of the responsibilities bestowed upon sanctions committees. Although sanctions committees generally share a common set of core tasks, including receiving information from states regarding sanctions violations and reporting to the Council with observations and recommendations, there has been considerable variation in sanctions committee mandates. Although some differentiation of mandate is likely to be required in order to tailor a particular committee's activities to the appropriate sanctions regime, all sanctions committees should be performing the same basic duties with respect to administering, monitoring and reporting on sanctions implementation. ¹¹⁰

¹¹⁰ See Results from the Stockholm Process, p. 24 (para. 41).

ii. Commissions of inquiry, bodies of experts and monitoring mechanisms

As noted in Chapter 8, the Council has created a range of subsidiary organs in addition to sanctions committees as part of its efforts to ensure that sanctions are effectively monitored and implemented. It is not always clear why the Council has decided in a particular instance to establish a 'commission', as opposed to a 'panel' or 'group' of experts or a 'monitoring mechanism'. The responsibilities carried out by these entities are sometimes so similar that giving it a different name amounts to putting a different saddle on the same horse. Experts seconded to these subsidiary entities perform similar core tasks, including investigating alleged sanctions violations, assessing how effective sanctions have been, and making recommendations regarding whether, and if so when and how, sanctions should be strengthened, loosened or lifted. In addition to using different names for what are essentially identical bodies, the Council has also appointed varying numbers of experts, providing them with mandates of differing length.

3. First among equals: the veto and the problem of equality

[T]he provisions of the Charter concerning collective security cannot become operational unless all countries fully respect international law and unless the principle of equality among States is made a reality. 111

The success of the United Nations in the maintenance of international peace and security, within the framework of collective security, is dependent on the ability \dots of the Council to act in upholding the rule of law on a non-selective basis. 112

As outlined in Chapter 2, the principle of equality requires that all parties over whom power is wielded are considered equal before that power and thus that decisions affecting the rights, entitlements and obligations of those parties are made in a consistent manner. In a legal context, equality requires that all parties should be considered equal before the law. Thus the law should be equally applied and no one party should be considered to be above the law. In a political context, one

¹¹¹ King Hassan II of Morocco, speaking at the Council's Summit Meeting held at the level of Heads of State: S/PV.3046 (31 January 1992), p. 37.

Ambassador Redzuan of Malaysia, speaking during the Council's deliberations on the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina: S/PV.3135 (13 November 1992), p. 35.

method of achieving equality is to provide all parties with the opportunity to assume a position of power, through democratic representation.

In the context of UN sanctions, equality requires that if sanctions are imposed against one state in a given set of circumstances, then they should be applied against other parties in a similar set of circumstances. It also requires that the Security Council itself be broadly representative of the broader UN membership and that all of its members have the opportunity to stand for election to the Council. Section 3.1 below explores how the veto power has undermined equality in practice. Section 3.2 examines the extent to which the Council can be said to be broadly representative.

3.1 Equality as equal treatment

At the United Nations the principle of equality is theoretically enshrined in Article 2(1) of the UN Charter, which provides that: 'The Organization is based on the principle of the sovereign equality of all its Members.' In practice, however, the aspiration of equality contained in Article 2(2) is considerably circumvented by Articles 23 and 27, which effectively enable some states to be more equal than others. Article 23(1) provides that any UN member state can be elected to one of ten elected positions on the Security Council, but it also extends permanent Council membership to five countries – China, France, the Russian Federation, the United Kingdom and the United States. Article 27(1) grants those permanent members the right of veto over all non-procedural matters. Thus, although all UN member states are equal in name and have the potential to sit on the Security Council, some are entitled not only to sit on the Council permanently, but also to prevent the Council from adopting a substantive decision.

The existence of permanent Security Council membership with the power of the veto dramatically undermines the Council's capacity to ensure that all states are treated equally when Chapter VII powers are exercised. It effectively permits five states to stand above the law, by enabling them to prevent the Council from taking any action with which they disagree. With respect to sanctions, this means that, in identical factual circumstances, where the application of sanctions is

Article 27(3) does not mention the word 'veto', providing simply that: 'Decisions on all [non-procedural] matters shall be made by an affirmative vote of nine members including the concurring votes of the permanent members.'

warranted in order to address a threat to international peace and security, one state may find itself the target of a sanctions regime, whereas another would be able to avoid the application of sanctions due to the fact that it is a permanent member of the Council or it has a permanent member as a close ally.

In the Security Council's debates, speakers have often remarked that the Council has not applied sanctions equally in its efforts to maintain peace and security. In December 2006, when the Council prepared to adopt resolution 1737, Iran complained that the Council had been prepared to apply sanctions against it but had done nothing to rein in the nuclear aspirations of Israel. Iran could equally have pointed to India and Pakistan as other examples of states that have gone nuclear without being subject to UN sanctions. In practice, there have been relatively few occasions when the actual use of the veto has prevented the Council from applying sanctions. But the threat of the use of the veto and even the mere knowledge that the veto might be utilised, have likely prevented sanctions from being proposed on many other occasions.

3.2 Equality as equal representation

The principle of equality through equal representation requires that the parties over whom political power is exercised should be involved in the selection of those who exercise such power. Equal representation encourages accountability, as those in elected positions of power must perform well in order to retain their power. In domestic political systems, democratic representation enables citizens to elect those in positions of political power. In the context of UN sanctions, equal representation requires that the broader membership of the UN, and

¹¹⁴ S/PV.5612 (23 December 2006), pp. 8-9.

In the case of South Africa, prior to the eventual application of sanctions the veto was used twice to prevent the application of a mandatory arms embargo. A draft resolution which would have imposed economic sanctions against South Africa was also vetoed: see Repertoire of the Practice of the Security Council, Supplement for 1975–80 (New York: United Nations, 1987), p. 399.

The Repertoire of the Practice of the Security Council documents a number of concrete examples in which a draft resolution which would have applied sanctions has not been put to the vote. One example occurred in August 1980, with respect to a draft resolution that would have called upon states to impose sanctions against Israel was not put to the vote: see Repertoire, Supplement for 1975–80, ibid., p. 400. It is probable, of course, that there have been many instances when, through the threat of a veto, a proposal to impose sanctions did not even proceed to the point of becoming a draft resolution.

potentially the broader public, should be involved in selecting which states sit on the Security Council.

The process for filling the fifteen seats on the Council displays some of the characteristics of democratic representation. The broader UN membership elects ten of the fifteen members of the Security Council (the 'elected ten' or 'E10') on a rotating basis, with five newly elected members joining the Council each year. The other five members – China, France, the Russian Federation, the United Kingdom and the United States – sit permanently on the Council (the 'permanent five' or 'P5') and possess the veto power. Although there are no specific rules regarding which states should sit on the Council as part of the E10, an informal system of regional representation has evolved, according to which regional blocs elect one or more representatives each year.

There has been much discussion at the UN about the need to reform the Security Council so that it is more representative of the broader membership. When the UN was first established, the Security Council had eleven members, forming just less than one-fifth of the broader UN membership of fifty-one states. ¹¹⁷ In the late 1960s the Council's membership was expanded to fifteen, partly in response to the expansion of the broader membership as a result of the process of decolonisation. ¹¹⁸ At the time that the Council grew to fifteen, the broader UN membership numbered 113. ¹¹⁹ Thus the ratio of the broader membership to Council members was just above seven to one. More than forty years after that first expansion of the Council, the membership of the Council remains at fifteen, while the broader membership has grown in excess of 190. In 2007, the ratio of the broader membership to Council members thus stands at over twelve to one.

Proposals for further expanding the Security Council's membership have been on the UN General Assembly's agenda since 1979. Advanced discussions on the topic of Security Council reform have taken place since 1994 in the Open-ended Working Group on the

¹¹⁷ Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), p. 176 (listing the fifty-one founding UN member states).

The expansion in Security Council membership was approved by the UN General Assembly on 17 December 1963 and entered into force on 31 August 1965, although, as Simma notes, the additional four member states did not in fact assume their places on the Council until the beginning of 1966. See Simma, *The Charter of the United Nations* (2nd edn, 2002), p. 437. For the General Assembly resolution approving the expansion, see A/RES/1991 A (XXVIII) (17 December 1963).

¹¹⁹ Simma, The Charter of the United Nations (2nd edn, 2002), vol. II, p. 1361. 120 Ibid.

Reform of the Security Council, which was established by the General Assembly at the end of 1993. 121 The Working Group has considered various reform proposals, including expanding Council membership to as many as twenty-five. 122 In late 2004 the High-level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change appointed by the UN Secretary-General proposed two potential formulas for an expansion in the Council, 123 both of which were endorsed by the UNSG in his 2005 report In Larger Freedom. 124 Both formulas would have entailed an expansion in Security Council membership from fifteen to twenty-four, with six seats apiece allocated on a regional basis to Africa, Asia/Pacific, Europe and the Americas. The first formula would provide for six new permanent seats, with no veto being created, as well as three new two-year non-permanent seats. 125 The second formula would provide for no new permanent seats but would create a new category of eight fouryear renewable seats and one new two-year non-permanent (and nonrenewable) seat. 126

While these reform proposals might increase the democratic representativeness of the Council, certain other modifications could be made to the election process to bolster the potential of the Council membership to strengthen the rule of law. It has been the practice in some regional blocs to allow candidates to stand effectively unopposed. Some blocs operate largely according to a rotational process. While such a rotational process encourages broad representation within a bloc, it can lead to problematic outcomes, such as occurred recently in the African bloc when, according to the planned African rotation, Libya was to be nominated as the African representative at the next Council elections. Ultimately, Libya withdrew its candidacy, thus preventing a potentially embarrassing situation from materialising, whereby a state that had until recently been subject to significant coercive Council action under Chapter VII would itself have become a Security Council member. 127

¹²¹ The Open-ended Working Group was established by A/RES/48/26 (3 December 1993).

¹²² For a concise summary of the various proposals, see Simma, *The Charter of the United*

¹²² For a concise summary of the various proposals, see Simma, *The Charter of the United Nations* (2nd edn, 2002), vol. II, pp. 1361–1363.

¹²³ A more secure world: Our shared responsibility: report of the Secretary-General's High-level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change (New York: United Nations, 2004), paras. 250–253.

¹²⁴ A/59/2005 (21 March 2005): In larger freedom: towards development, security and human rights for all, paras. 169–170.

¹²⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 170 (Model A). ¹²⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 170 (Model B).

Felicity Barringer, 'U.S. Blocks Libya's Attempt to Gain Security Council Seat' New York Times, 11 July 2003, A7.

In order to ensure that Security Council members are capable of contributing to the maintenance of international peace and security and strengthening the rule of law, certain standards should be applied in the election of new members. Libya is not the only recent example of a potential Council member with a problematic recent history in the resolution of international disputes. At least two other states, which have actually held Security Council seats in recent years, had dubious records in the maintenance of international peace and security at the time they became members of the Council. Prior to its election to the Security Council for the period 2002–03, Bulgaria had failed adequately to regulate the export of arms from its jurisdiction. It had featured in a number of reports of Panels of Experts concerning the origins of arms found to have been imported to states targets in violation of arms embargoes, thus demonstrating that Bulgaria had failed to fulfil its duty to comply with sanctions. 128 Guinea, which also sat on the Council from 2002 to 2003, was itself accused by Human Rights Watch of supplying arms to Liberian rebels whilst Liberia was subject to arms sanctions. 129

The ability of states with troublesome security records, such as Bulgaria and Guinea, to contribute to the maintenance of international peace and security and efforts to strengthen the rule of law must be open to question. Indeed, much as the election to the UN's Human Rights Commission of countries known to be persistent violators of human rights ultimately drew that body into disrepute, ¹³⁰ the election of states with such troublesome security records can only undermine

¹²⁸ See, e.g., the reports of the Panels of Experts on UNITA and Somalia: S/2000/203 (10 March 2000), paras. 41–42 (documenting Bulgaria as the source of arms used to violate the UNITA sanctions) and 44 (documenting military training assistance provided in Bulgaria); S/2003/223 (25 March 2003), paras. 80–85 (documenting a Bulgarian arms dealer who had violated the arms embargo against Somalia). It is notable that, in the latter example, the Panel 'named and shamed' African countries (such as Yemen, Ethiopia, Eritrea and Djibouti) through which arms transited, without highlighting the countries in which the arms originated, which happened to include Bulgaria. The Chairman of the Somalia Sanctions Committee at the time – whose responsibility it was to forward the report to the Council – happened to be the Ambassador of Bulgaria.

Was to forward the report to the Council – happened to be the Ambassador of Bulgaria.

See Human Rights Watch, *Back to the Brink: War Crimes by Liberian Government and Rebels*(New York: HRW, 2002) p. 11 (documenting Guinean support of the Liberian rebel group, Liberians United for Reconciliation and Democracy (LURD)), p. 15 (calling on the Security Council to examine Guinea's role in fuelling the Liberian conflict).

A prime example of this was the election of Libya as the Chair of the UN Human Rights Commission in January 2003. See Richard Waddington, 'Libya wins chair of UN human rights body despite record' *Independent* 21 January 2003, p. 12.

the Security Council's ability to serve as a positive force for the rule of law in international affairs. The Security Council's own subsidiary bodies have recommended that organisations such as the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO) and the European Union (EU) should make compliance with UN sanctions a condition of gaining membership to their organisations. ¹³¹ It is thus no small irony that the body responsible for applying sanctions permits documented sanctions violators to join its own ranks.

4. Guilty until proven innocent? The problem of due process

As outlined in Chapter 2, the principle of due process requires that parties against which coercive power is proposed to be exercised should be given a fair hearing and granted the opportunity to express their point of view regarding the potential decision. In the context of UN sanctions, the principle of due process requires that potential sanctions targets should be afforded the possibility to present their version of events. In other words, they should be presumed innocent until proven guilty. The Security Council's track-record with respect to due process is not strong. While states targets have been accorded some measure of due process, by virtue of the fact that they have generally been granted the opportunity to present their point of view at formal meetings when the Council votes to apply sanctions, little due process has been extended to non-state actors and individuals.

4.1 Due process and states targets

Of the various targets of UN sanctions, only member states have been accorded the opportunity to place their views regarding the proposed application of sanctions on the record in formal Security Council meetings. Representatives of Iraq, Yugoslavia (prior to dissolution), Libya, Liberia, Rwanda, the Sudan, North Korea and Iran have thus outlined their governments' positions regarding the actual or potential application

¹³¹ S/1999/829 (28 July 1999) S/1999/829 (28 July 1999), paras. 14-15; S/2000/203 (10 March 2000), para. 56 (recommending that compliance with sanctions regimes should be among criteria considered by NATO and the EU when considering applications for membership).

of sanctions against their countries.¹³² One other state target that was not a UN member – the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia-Montenegro) – has also been granted the chance to express its opinion regarding proposed sanctions.¹³³ From a due process perspective, it is positive that most states targets have been granted the opportunity to argue their case at the open meetings at which the Council imposed sanctions. Although the spectre of a rogue regime arguing its case

South Africa did not address the Security Council at the meeting at which sanctions were imposed, but it is not clear that it was prevented from so doing. For that meeting, see S/PV.2046 (4 November 1977). For Iraq's view on the sanctions imposed against it, see S/PV.2933 (6 August 1990), pp. 11–15; S/PV.2981 (3 April 1991), pp. 21–35. For Yugoslavia's position, calling for the application of an arms embargo, see S/PV.3009 (25 September 1991), pp. 6–20. For Libya's view prior to the application of sanctions, see S/PV.3033 (21 January 1992), pp. 4–25; S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), pp. 3–22. For Rwanda's views on the proposed sanctions against it, see S/PV.3377 (17 May 1994), pp. 2–6. For the views of the Sudan on the sanctions proposed against it, see S/PV.3660 (26 April 1996), pp. 2–10. For the views of North Korea on the sanctions proposed against it, see S/PV.5551 (14 October 2006), pp. 7–8. For the views of Iran on the sanctions proposed against it, see S/PV.5612 (27 December 2006), pp. 8–13.

With respect to the Liberian sanctions regimes, a Liberian representative expressed the view of his government prior to the application of the 788 sanctions regime. See S/PV.3138, pp. 13–20 (prior to the adoption of resolution 788 (1992), applying sanctions). The views of the Liberian government were not expressed upon the application of the two subsequent sanctions regimes, however, which were each imposed without substantive discussion. See S/PV.4287 (7 March 2001) (imposing the 1343 sanctions regime); S/PV.4890 (22 December 2003) (imposing the 1521 sanctions regime). Nevertheless, prior to the extension of sanctions against Liberia the Chairman of the Liberian National Transitional Government, Mr Charles Gyude Bryant, was granted the opportunity to present his views before the Council. See S/PV.4981 (3 June 2004), pp. 6–10. Despite Chairman Bryant's plea to lift the timber and diamond sanctions, two weeks later, the Council adopted resolution 1549 (2004), extending the application of those sanctions.

The entity referred to under the 757 sanctions regime as FRYSM and under the 1160 sanctions regime as FRY was eventually admitted to UN membership on 1 November 2000, under the name 'the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia'. See SC Res. 1326 (31 October 2000) (recommending FRY for membership); A/RES/55/12 (1 November 2000) (admitting FRY to UN membership). Although the views of the government of FRYSM were not expressed prior to the adoption of resolution 757 (1992), a representative was permitted to air that government's position when the Council adopted resolution 787 (1992), strengthening those sanctions. See S/PV.3137 (16 November 1992), pp. 67–77 (statement by 'Foreign Minister Djukic'). When the Council imposed the FRY sanctions regime, the target's position was expressed by Mr Vladislav Jovanovíc: S/PV.3868 (31 March 1998), pp. 15–19 (upon the adoption of resolution 1160 (1998)).

before the global public may be unpalatable, ¹³⁴ it is surely better to provide other states with the opportunity to refute such claims, than to sweep them under the carpet.

4.2 Due process and non-state targets

The question of providing due process to non-state actors, such as the illegal minority regime in Southern Rhodesia or the Angolan rebel group UNITA, is complicated, as issues of logistics and recognition would arise were it proposed that such actors should be entitled to appear before the Council to plead their case. The proposition of according due process to a non-state actor such as Al Qaida raises even more thorny issues, as the Council would understandably be reluctant to take any action that might provide a forum for terrorists to justify their actions or suggest implicit Security Council recognition of that entity's legitimacy. Nevertheless, the principle of due process requires that an assumption of innocence be accorded even to those accused of the most heinous of crimes. A robust, rule of law-based sanctions framework would thus seek to extend due process in some form to any potential sanctions target.

4.3 Due process and individuals

The due process failings of the UN sanctions system are particularly pronounced with respect to targeted individuals. As part of a movement towards better targeted, 'smart sanctions', the Security Council has increasingly applied sanctions against individuals, imposing travel and financial sanctions against leaders and officials deemed to share some responsibility in creating the circumstances necessitating the imposition of sanctions. This development is generally positive, as it aims to focus the coercive action upon decision-makers and specific targets associated with them in order to minimise the unintended impact upon innocent civilian populations.

Bailey and Daws, in The Procedure of the Security Council, p. 156, note that in May 1966 the illegal Southern Rhodesian regime sought to address the Security Council, but its request was rejected.

¹³⁴ This occurred in the case of Rwanda, where the representative of Rwanda expressed the views of the regime which was at that very moment perpetrating genocide against its people. See S/PV.3377 (17 May 1994), pp. 2–6. A number of other delegates argued that the Rwandan intervention had been in poor taste. See, e.g., the same meeting at p. 11 (New Zealand) and p. 12 (United Kingdom).

The imposition of individual travel sanctions has proven uncontroversial on the whole, as placing restrictions upon a target's ability to travel internationally is generally seen as posing a nuisance to the target individuals, rather than infringing upon their basic rights. The application of financial sanctions, on the other hand, has led to significant due process concerns. The impulse to freeze bank accounts is understandable, particularly where target leaders may be suspected of having embezzled substantial amounts of state-owned funds. Nevertheless, the act of freezing bank accounts entails a significant infringement upon individual rights and freedoms, potentially leaving targets without the means to support themselves financially. To date, targeted individuals have been granted little opportunity to dispute the asserted facts leading to the inclusion of their names on financial blacklists. The Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regime provides a case in point.

Under the 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida sanctions regime, states are required to freeze the assets of individuals and entities listed on a 'blacklist' of individuals and entities who are associated with Usama Bin Laden, the Taliban and Al Qaida. The blacklist is compiled by the 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida Sanctions Committee, on the basis of suggestions submitted by committee members. When proposals are made to add individuals or entities to the list, committee members have a defined period in which to object to the proposals. This period was initially 48 hours, but the Committee recently expanded the period to five working days. As Committee decision-making is by consensus, if no member objects within that window then the proposed additions are included on the list. The consensus method also means that once an individual or entity is placed on the list, they cannot be removed unless all fifteen committee members agree to their removal.

A number of individuals have sought to have their names removed from the list by appealing both to the 1267 Taliban and Al Qaida Sanctions

¹³⁶ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(a); SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 2; SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 1(a).

¹³⁷ The process by which proposed individuals and entities are added to the list has been ascertained through off-the-record interviews with diplomats and members of the UN Secretariat. The Taliban/Al Qaida black-list itself is posted at: http://www.un.org/Docs/sc/committees/1267/1267ListEng.htm.

See para. 4(b) of the 1267 Committee's Guidelines, as posted at: http://www.un.org/ Docs/sc/committees/1267/1267_guidelines.pdf.

¹³⁹ See para. 4(a) of the Committee Guidelines, ibid.

Committee itself and to the capitals of Committee member states. 140 Legal proceedings have also been initiated before the Court of First Instance of the European Communities, seeking to have the European Council order freezing assets in accordance with the 1267 sanctions regime overturned on the grounds that the order violated fundamental human rights, including the right to a fair and equitable hearing. 141 The 1267 Committee itself has acknowledged the need to strike a balance between 'respecting the human rights of those inscribed on the list' and 'the need to take preventive measures in the struggle against terrorism'. 142 It has also noted that several states have 'stressed the importance of adhering to the rule of law and due process standards while implementing the sanctions measures'. 143

In response to concerns regarding the process by which individuals are placed on the financial blacklist, the 1267 Committee has included in its guidelines an elaborate procedure by which individuals can be 'delisted'. 144 According to that procedure, listed individuals can petition their government to request review of the case. 145 Their government can then approach the government that originally proposed that the individual be listed (the 'designating government'), requesting consultations on the individuals concerned. 146 If, after those consultations, their government then wishes to pursue a 'delisting request', it can seek to persuade the designating government to submit a joint request for delisting. 147 The 1267 Committee then has the final decision as to whether a delisting will proceed. 148 As noted in Chapter 8, committee decisions are made by consensus, meaning that if one of the fifteen committee members objects, a decision to delist cannot proceed. 149 In such an instance, the committee's guidelines provide that the matter can be submitted to the Security Council. 150 It is highly unlikely,

See, e.g., Andrew Duffy, 'Ottawa man "devastated" by charges of terror links: Accused wanted in U.S. for his role in money transfer firm has 'no job, no income' The Ottawa Citizen, 16 April 2002; Jake Rupert, 'Canada fights to clear man's name: Liban Hussein on list of alleged financiers of al-Qaida' The Ottawa Citizen, 13 June 2002; Colum Lynch, 'U.S. Seeks to Take 6 Names Off UN Sanctions List; Administration Was Criticized for Offering Little Proof that Individuals, Groups Aided Al Qaida' The Washington Post, 22 August 2002.

¹⁴¹ Yassin Abdullah Kadi v. Council and Commission, Court of First Instance, Case T-315/01, 21 September 2005, (2006) 45 ILM 81. For discussion, see Chapter 4, section 3.2.

¹⁴² S/2002/1423 (26 December 2002), para. 12. See also paras. 11, 47 of the same report.

¹⁴³ S/2004/281 (8 April 2004), para. 45.

¹⁴⁴ See 1267 Committee Guidelines, para. 7.

 ¹⁴⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 7(a).
 146 *Ibid.*, para. 7(b).
 149 See Chapter 8, section 1.3.
 150 *Ibid.* ¹⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 7(d). ¹⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 7(e).

however, that, in the absence of committee consensus to delist, there would emerge a consensus to refer the matter to the Security Council.

In December 2006, the Security Council adopted resolution 1730 (2006), in which it adopted standardised procedures for listing and delisting individuals and entities on consolidated lists created for the purposes of applying travel bans and assets freezes. 151 The procedures, which were attached as an annex to the resolution, outlined an elaborate delisting process that is clearly based on the 1267 Committee process just outlined. A focal point was to be established in the UN Secretariat to receive petitions from individuals and entities seeking delisting from any of the consolidated lists established under UN sanctions regimes. 152 Upon receipt of such petitions, the focal point would contact the government of citizenship and residence of the petitioner, which could then approach the government that had originally designated the petitioner for inclusion on a consolidated list. 153 If, after these consultations, any government recommends delisting, it can forward that recommendation to the Chairman of the relevant sanctions committee, who then places the delisting application on the committee's agenda. 154 If after three months none of the governments involved in the consultations has commented on the application, the focal point will circulate the application to all committee members. ¹⁵⁵ Any member of the committee could then, after consulting with the designating government, recommend delisting. 156 However, if, after a month, no committee member has made such a request, it was to be deemed rejected. 157

The Council's effort to clarify the delisting process is welcome. However, the contorted process elaborated in resolution 1730 (2006) seems to provide a recipe for how to reject rather than take seriously any requests for delisting. What is striking about the delisting procedure is that listed individuals have no capacity to address the relevant committee directly to present their concerns and protest their innocence. They must rely upon a sponsor government, which, if it can be convinced to proceed with the case, must then effectively rely upon the good will of the state that originally suggested the individual be listed, in order for the matter to proceed to the committee. ¹⁵⁸ In a domestic legal

 $^{^{151}\,}$ SC Res. 1730 (19 December 2006), para. 1. $^{152}\,$ Ibid., para. 1 and annex, para. 1. $^{153}\,$ Ibid., para. 5. $^{154}\,$ Ibid., para. 6(a). $^{155}\,$ Ibid., para. 6(c) $^{156}\,$ Ibid. $^{157}\,$ Ibid.

¹⁵⁸ Technically, a petitioning state can proceed with the matter without agreement from the designating state. In practice, however, it is unlikely to do so.

context, this is analogous to requiring agreement between the prosecution and the defence before even permitting the defendant's case to be heard. On a practical level, it is understandable that the committee is reluctant to allow petitions to proceed unless they are likely to succeed, as it might otherwise be inundated with petitions that are unlikely to go anywhere. From a due process perspective, however, it would be preferable to permit such petitions to go ahead, whether or not they are sponsored by a government. Designating states should also be required to elaborate clear and compelling reasons why such individuals should remain on the list.

5. A disproportionate burden: civilian populations and third states

Sanctions, as is generally recognized, are a blunt instrument. They raise the ethical question of whether suffering inflicted on vulnerable groups in the target country is a legitimate means of exerting pressure on political leaders whose behaviour is unlikely to be affected by the plight of their subjects. Sanctions also always have unintended or unwanted effects.

UN Secretary-General Boutros Boutros-Ghali, 25 January 1995¹⁶⁰

One of the areas in which the Council can make a contribution to the rule of law and international justice is that of sanctions imposed pursuant to Chapter VII. It is necessary to reduce to a minimum the negative impact which economic sanctions can have on innocent civilian populations and to address the issue of the adverse impact of sanctions on third countries.

Mrs Soledad Alvear Valenzuela, Minister for Foreign Affairs, Chile 161

The principle of proportionality requires that the consequences of a decision affecting the rights, entitlements and obligations of other parties must be proportional to the harm caused by that party and consistent with the overall objectives for which the decision is being taken. In the context of sanctions, proportionality requires that the coercive consequences of the application of sanctions remain in proportion to the threat to the peace posed by the target against which

¹⁵⁹ See also Results from the Stockholm Process, p. 103 (para. 320).

¹⁶⁰ S/1995/1 (25 January 1995): Supplement to an Agenda for Peace: Position Paper of the Secretary-General on the Occasion of the Fiftieth Anniversary of the United Nations, para. 70.

¹⁶¹ S/PV.4833 (24 September 2003), p. 22.

sanctions are imposed. In particular, the effects of sanctions upon innocent civilian populations and third states should be minimised. 162

5.1 Proportionality and civilian populations: minimising the humanitarian impact of sanctions

UN sanctions have been heavily criticised due to their potential to devastate innocent civilian populations. They have been referred to as 'a silent holocaust', ¹⁶³ as 'the UN's weapon of mass destruction', ¹⁶⁴ as 'modern siege warfare', ¹⁶⁵ as a 'genocidal tool' ¹⁶⁶ and as 'state-sanctioned murder'. ¹⁶⁷ An increasing number of studies have sought to document the negative humanitarian and human rights impact of sanctions upon civilian populations. ¹⁶⁸ The most serious allegations regarding the humanitarian impact of sanctions have concerned the situation in Iraq.

- The Heads of UN member states recognised as much in the Millennium Declaration, by which they resolved: 'to minimize the adverse effects of United Nations economic sanctions on innocent populations; to subject such sanctions regimes to regular reviews; and to eliminate the adverse effects of sanctions on third parties.' See: A/RES/55/2 (18 September 2000): United Nations Millennium Declaration, para. 9.
- ¹⁶³ Felicity Arbuthnot, 'Dying of Shame', New Internationalist, January/February 1998.
- See, e.g., Roger Normand, 'Sanctions Against Iraq: New Weapon of Mass Destruction' (1998) 64 Covert Action 4–10; Denis J. Halliday, 'Iraq and the UN's weapon of Mass Destruction' (1999) 98 Current History 65–68; Mueller and Mueller, 'Sanctions of Mass Destruction'; Noam Chomsky, Edward Herman, Edward Said, Howard Zinn, et al., 'Sanctions are Weapons of Mass Destruction', in Anthony Arnove (ed.), Iraq Under Siege: The Deadly Impact of Sanctions and War, updated edn (Cambridge, MA: South End Press, 2002), pp. 217–219.
- 165 Gordon, 'Sanctions as Siege Warfare'.
- ¹⁶⁶ Simons, Imposing Economic Sanctions. See also Bisharat, 'Sanctions as Genocide'.
- ¹⁶⁷ Chomsky et al., 'Sanctions are Weapons of Mass Destruction', p. 218.
- For a study of the humanitarian impact of economic sanctions in general, see: Thomas G. Weiss, David Cortright, George A. Lopez and Larry Minear (eds.), Political Gain and Civilian Pain: Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 1997), pp. 91–147; UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, Coping With the Humanitarian Impact of Sanctions: An OCHA Perspective (New York: UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, 1998).

For studies of the humanitarian impact of sanctions against Iraq, see CESR, (UN) Sanctioned Suffering; UNICEF, Results of the 1999 Iraq Child and Maternal Mortality Surveys (New York: UNICEF, 1999); Eric Hoskins, 'The Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions and War in Iraq', in Weiss et al., Political Gain and Civilian Pain, pp. 91–147; Peter L. Pellett, 'Sanctions, Food, Nutrition, and Health in Iraq', in Arnove (ed.), Iraq Under Siege, pp. 185–203. For studies of the sanctions against FRYSM, see Julia Devin and Jaleh Dashti-Gibson, 'Sanctions in the Former Yugoslavia: Convoluted Goals and Complicated Consequences', in Weiss et al., Political Gain and Civilian Pain, pp. 149–187. For studies of the Haiti regime, see Gibbons, Sanctions in Haiti; Sarah Zaidi, 'Humanitarian Effects of the Coup and Sanctions in Haiti', in Weiss et al., Political Gain and Civilian Pain, pp. 189–212.

The Iraq sanctions have been accused of contributing to a 'humanitarian catastrophe', ¹⁶⁹ including effects such as a tenfold increase in typhoid incidences between 1990 and 1991, and a fivefold increase in the mortality rate of children under five years of age between 1990 and 1995. ¹⁷⁰ Perhaps the most alarming finding, based on a detailed analysis of child mortality rates in Iraq between 1960 and 1998, is that there may have been as many as 500,000 excess deaths among children under the age of five between 1991 and 1998. ¹⁷¹ The sanctions regimes against the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia-Montenegro) and Haiti have also been accused of creating dire humanitarian consequences. ¹⁷²

The question of precisely which consequences can be directly attributed to sanctions, as distinct from other potential contributing factors, is difficult to resolve with absolute certainty. The Moreover, even in cases where it is beyond dispute that sanctions have caused suffering, those supporting the use of sanctions would argue that such suffering is primarily the responsibility of target leaders and policy-makers whose actions have threatened the peace and therefore led to the application of sanctions. Thus, in the case of the Iraq sanctions, the argument was often made that the suffering of the Iraqi people was caused by Saddam Hussein, rather than by the Security Council and its member states. The same states of the Iraqi people was caused by Saddam Hussein, rather than by the Security Council and its member states.

As noted in Chapter 7, the Security Council has sought to address the negative impact of sanctions upon civilian populations through outlining exemptions, employing so-called 'smart' or 'targeted' sanctions, and by calling for humanitarian impact assessments. ¹⁷⁵ Each of these strategies has contributed to some extent to an overall decrease in the

 $^{^{169}}$ Minear, Cortright, et al., Toward More Humane and Effective Sanctions Management, p. xx.

¹⁷⁰ Ibid.; Hoskins, 'The Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions', pp. 120–121.

¹⁷¹ UNICEF press release, 'Iraq Survey Shows "Humanitarian Emergency" (12 August 1999). See also Pellett, 'Sanctions, Food, Nutrition, and Health in Iraq', especially pp. 195–197.

With respect to the sanctions against FRYSM, see Devin, 'Sanctions in the Former Yugoslavia', p. 172 (charging that sanctions contributed to a serious deterioration in health conditions). With respect to the Haiti sanctions, see Minear et al., *Toward More Humane and Effective Sanctions Management*, pp. xxi-xxii (charging that sanctions caused malnutrition rates among children under five to rise from 50 per cent to 61 per cent); and Gibbons, *Sanctions in Haiti*, p. 23 (arguing that sanctions lifted the mortality rate of children between 1 and 4 from 56 to 61 per thousand).

Hoskins acknowledges the difficulty of isolating the effects of sanctions from those of war in the case of Iraq: Hoskins, 'The Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions', p. 135. Later, however, he concludes that with the passage of time, sanctions were increasingly responsible for sustaining the Iraqi emergency: see p. 137.

¹⁷⁴ See, e.g., editorial, 'The Suffering of Children', Washington Post, 17 August 1999, p. A14.

¹⁷⁵ See Chapter 7, section 3.1.

unintended consequences resulting from the application of sanctions. Nevertheless, there remains room for improvement.

As outlined in the section above on consistency, the Council's approach has been quite inconsistent with respect to humanitarian exemptions. It has generally exempted medical supplies, although in the Iraq case such supplies were sometimes prevented from going ahead due to dual-use concerns. It has sometimes exempted foodstuffs completely, whilst at others doing so only in 'humanitarian circumstances'. At times it has also provided exemptions for items such as clothing, petroleum and petroleum products, and educational equipment.

The Council's increasing emphasis on 'smart' or 'targeted' sanctions is most welcome from the perspective of proportionality. Particularly positive has been its focus upon isolating components of a target's economy that are considered to fuel conflict. Nevertheless, sometimes the proceeds from those economic resources, in addition to being put to that negative use of fuelling conflict, also sustain the development and welfare of innocent individuals and societies living in the areas connected with the target. Thus, even though such targeted measures result in less negative consequences for innocent civilians than those that would flow from the application of comprehensive sanctions, creative possibilities could nonetheless be explored in such situations to ensure that sanctions are applied with even fewer negative consequences.

With respect to humanitarian impact, the Council's increased emphasis upon analysis of the humanitarian and socio-economic consequences of sanctions is to be lauded. Even here, however, there remains room for improvement. Such assessments are not yet called for as a matter of course, and when they are mandated, there is a lack of coherence and consistency. This latter point is illustrated by the Council's oversight of the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime. In resolution 1478 (2003), the Security Council called upon two different actors – the UNSG and the 1343 Liberia Panel of Experts – to undertake essentially the same task of providing humanitarian impact analysis of the sanctions imposed against Liberia. The reports that were submitted

¹⁷⁶ The Stockholm process recommended that the Security Council should include regular humanitarian and socio-economic impact assessment in its sanctions monitoring procedures, under established methodology: Results from the Stockholm Process, 27 (para. 50).

 $^{^{177}\,}$ SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 19 (requesting the UNSG to submit to it by 7 August 2003 a report on the possible humanitarian or socio-economic impact of the timber

accordingly both provided interesting insights into the potential humanitarian and socio-economic consequences of the sanctions. They differed substantially, however, employing different methodologies for assessment, and provided diverging observations and recommendations. Humanitarian impact assessments should be mandated as a matter of standard practice and they should follow a consistent methodology. The *Sanctions Assessment Handbook* prepared by the UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee in 2004 provides an excellent blue-print for best-practice sanctions impact assessments. 181

sanctions); SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(c) (requesting the 1343 Panel of Experts to assess the possible humanitarian and socio-economic impact of the timber sanctions and to make recommendations for minimising any such impact).

See S/2003/779 (7 August 2003): Report of the Panel of Experts pursuant to paragraph 25 of Security Council resolution 1478 (2003) concerning Liberia; S/2003/793 (5 August 2003): Report of the Secretary-General in pursuance of para. 19 of resolution 1478 (2003) concerning Liberia.

- The methodology of the Panel of Experts focussed upon assessing the impact of the timber sanctions upon seven factors: (1) revenue and taxes; (2) employment; (3) indirect benefits; (4) social services; (5) human rights; (6) investment; and (7) environment. See *Report of the Panel*, paras. 7–14. The UNSG's methodology, by contrast, concentrated upon indicators from the following sectors: (1) health; (2) food and nutrition; (3) education; (4) economic status; (5) governance; and (6) demography. See *Report of the Secretary-General*, para. 6.
- The Panel's observations included that the sanctions would: (a) deprive armed state and non-state actors of timber revenue; (b) result in decreased human rights violations associated with the timber industry; and (c) cause long-term consequences for the Liberia's redevelopment. See *Report of the Panel*, para. 17. Its recommendations included that: (a) the Council should impose a moratorium on all commercial activities in the extractive industries; (b) increased emergency aid should be provided; (c) the Liberian timber sector should be reformed in order to achieve good governance; and (d) member states, civil society and UN field presences should be encouraged to monitor and report sanctions violations. See also para. 17.

The UNSG's observations included that: (a) the timber sanctions would have an impact upon humanitarian and socio-economic conditions only once the security environment did not already preclude timber export; (b) a reconstituted timber industry exhibiting transparency and accountability could be a driving force for economic growth and sustainable development; and (c) that alternative sources of economic revenue should be explored, including rubber production, in order to avoid a situation where limited resources were exploited to fuel conflict. See *Report of the Secretary-General*, *ibid.*, para. 48. His recommendations included that: (a) an exemption procedure should be developed to enable legitimate timber exports; (b) in that connection external auditing could be also explored; and (c) humanitarian and development programmes should be developed to reintegrate former timber workers. See paras. 49–51.

Manuel Bessler, Richard Garfield and Gerard McHugh, Sanctions Assessment Handbook: Assessing the Humanitarian Implications of Sanctions (New York: UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2004).

5.2 Proportionality and individual targets

The question of proportionality also arises concerning the Council's use of sanctions targeting individuals. The use of assets freezes can have a considerable impact upon the fundamental human rights of individuals, including their right to property. In recognition of this concern, the Council has taken to outlining a series of standard exemptions from assets freezes and travel bans. Thus the Council exempted from the assets freeze applied as part of the 1737 Iran sanctions regime funds that were: (a) necessary for basic expenses, as notified to the 1737 Committee and in the absence of a negative decision by the Committee within five working days; 182 (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses, as approved in advance by the Committee; 183 (c) subject to a judicial, administrative or arbitral lien, as notified to the Committee. 184 With respect to travel bans, the Council generally notes that nothing required states to refuse entry to their own nationals¹⁸⁵ and exempts travel when approved on a case-bycase basis by the relevant committee as justified on the ground of humanitarian need, including religious obligation, or in order to further the objectives of a particular sanctions regime. 186

5.3 Proportionality and third states

The impact of sanctions upon third states raises questions of proportionality, not just with respect to the issue of the unintended consequences of sanctions, but also in terms of ensuring that the burden of sanctioning is distributed proportionally across the international community. The application of sanctions against a target state generally has a disproportionate effect upon the target's neighbour states and key trading partners. The sacrifice required of such states to implement sanctions is therefore significantly greater than that required of distant states with few ties to or relations with the target state.

The Council has tended to respond to requests for assistance under Article 50 by appealing to states, international organisations and international financial institutions to extend assistance to the states in need of special assistance. The initiative of appealing to various international actors to extend assistance to specially affected states, whilst

¹⁸² SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 13(a).

 ¹⁸³ *Ibid.*, para. 13(b).
 ¹⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 13(c).
 ¹⁸⁵ See, e.g., the travel ban imposed as part of the 1636 Hariri sanctions regime: SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(a).

¹⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 2(i). ¹⁸⁷ See Chapter 7.

arguably better than taking no action at all, is nevertheless a largely symbolic action. Although the Council may claim that, by taking such steps, it is assisting such states, in practice its appeals have done little to distribute the economic burden of implementing sanctions evenly across the international community. The lack of meaningful Security Council action to alleviate the situation of third states has led one commentator to describe Article 50 as a 'dead letter'.¹⁸⁸

An expert group mandated by the UN Secretary-General to explore how to give effect to the provisions of Article 50 recommended that an Article 50 trust fund be incorporated into the UN's regular mandated budget, in the same manner as peacekeeping expenses. ¹⁸⁹ The working group also proposed that, where significant requests for special assistance under Article 50 are received, the UNSG could appoint a Special Representative to investigate the matter and make appropriate recommendations. ¹⁹⁰ In addition, the group suggested that sanctions impact assessments should also address the potential impact of sanctions upon third states. ¹⁹¹

The arguments in favour of more effective Council action to offset the burden are strong. First, the contention has been made that the Charter's recognition of a right to consult implies a corresponding obligation on the part of the Council to ensure that effective assistance is provided. Second, according to the principle of proportionality, the ability of sanctions to contribute to the rule of law is limited where they result in particularly disproportionate consequences for those who are expected to implement the law. Third, on a purely practical and pragmatic level, sanctions are unlikely to be effective where the costs of implementing sanctions are so prohibitive that it effectively becomes a matter of necessity to continue trading with a target.

¹⁸⁸ David M. Malone, Decision-Making in the Security Council: The Case of Haiti, 1990–1997 (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998), p. 21.

¹⁸⁹ A/53/312 (27 August 1998): Implementation of provisions of the Charter related to assistance to third states affected by the application of sanctions, para. 46.

¹⁹⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 54. ¹⁹¹ *Ibid.*, para. 50.

10 Strengthening the rule of law performance of the UN sanctions system

The previous chapter identified a range of rule of law weaknesses exhibited by the UN sanctions system. This chapter proposes sanctions policy reforms designed to enhance the rule of law record of UN sanctions. The Security Council could improve the UN sanctions system's rule of law performance considerably by taking simple steps to strengthen, respect and promote each of the five key rule of law principles.

1. Increasing transparency

Of the five principles of the rule of law analysed here, transparency is arguably the one that is the least observed yet the easiest to remedy. Increasing transparency does not require the elaboration of sophisticated new strategies, nor necessitate the allocation of new resources. It does not require amendment to the UN Charter, structural reform of the UN sanctions system or a modification to the Council's rules of procedure. The Council can improve its transparency track-record simply by conducting its business in a more open and accountable manner. The recommendations outlined here flow from the analysis above. They are thus geared towards increasing transparency in the decision-making processes of the Security Council and its sanctions committees, as well as in the Council's sanctions decisions themselves.

In order to improve the transparency of its decision-making process, the Security Council should hold discussions concerning the potential or actual application of sanctions in public. When the application of a new sanctions regime is proposed, the Council should meet in open session to discuss the proposal, with members placing their views and concerns 'on the record'. Where possible, the views of the potential

target should also be presented. Subsequently, if the Council moves to vote on a draft resolution that would impose sanctions, Security Council member states should speak in explanation of their vote. The Council's use of sanctions powers should be considered a sombre, serious occasion. The logic and rationale for taking such a grave step should be made abundantly clear both to the global public and to the target against which sanctions are imposed. The practice that has become prevalent, according to which the Council has imposed sanctions with little or no public discussion, should cease. When the Council imposes sanctions, it should be clear to all that it has considered seriously the policy benefits and costs of such a step, as well as the different alternatives that might be employed.

In order to improve the transparency of its sanctions-related decisions, the Security Council should clearly demonstrate that its actions are taken in accordance with legitimate authority. When applying sanctions, the Council should invoke the Charter basis for taking action - i.e., Articles 39 and 41. As part of the requisite determination under Article 39 of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression, the Council should identify in as much detail, and as clearly as possible, the precise nature and cause of the threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression. Where possible, this determination should be made in advance of the application of sanctions, in order to demonstrate that it is a considered decision rather than one of mere convenience in order to justify the application of sanctions. When the Council does indeed decide to apply sanctions, it should articulate specific objectives, the achievement of which will address the threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression and thus maintain or restore international peace and security. Sanctions objectives should thus be tied to clear, objectively verifiable conditions, the satisfaction of which will trigger the easing or lifting of sanctions. If necessary, the UN Secretary-General could be tasked with reporting upon the satisfaction of those conditions.¹

Similarly, the meetings of the sanctions committees should be held in open session where possible, with transcripts or summary records being made publicly available as soon as possible after each meeting.²

¹ The Bonn-Berlin process also advocated such a role for the UNSG. See *Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process*, p. 63 (Comment 31).

² The Bonn-Berlin and Stockholm processes have advocated more transparency in the sanctions committees. See, e.g., Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process, p. 36 (Comment 36), p. 58 (Comment 18), p. 60 (Comment 22), p. 78 (Comment 13) and p. 80 (Comment 17); Results from the Stockholm Process, pp. 24–25 (para. 43) and p. 34 (para. 64).

Maintaining discussions and decision-making behind closed doors can actually deprive the committees of a valuable tool for publicising the activities of sanctions-busters and thus promoting adherence to and implementation of sanctions. In instances when discussions touch upon issues that are considered highly sensitive or confidential, the committees could move into informal consultations. Such discussions should be strictly circumscribed, however, to the minimum period necessary to debate such confidential matters. The Security Council could ensure that this takes place by so stipulating in its decisions outlining committee mandates.

2. Improving consistency

In order to adhere to the principle of consistency, the Council should seek to ensure that its approach to sanctions is more systematic than ad hoc. This should be true both in terms of the manner in which it formulates its decisions, but also in terms of the manner in which it bestows responsibility upon other actors for the administration and monitoring of sanctions. This section outlines some steps that might be taken to improve the consistency of the Council's approach.

One initiative that would strongly increase consistency would be to entrust a central body with responsibility for ensuring that new sanctions initiatives take into account the lessons of previous sanctions experience. A sanctions quality assurance unit could thus be created, with a mandate to verify that proposed sanctions-related draft resolutions were based upon best practice. Although the composition and sponsorship of draft resolutions remain the prerogative of Security Council member states, the existence of such a body would help to ensure that sanctions best practice is not overlooked in the rush to take effective sanctions action. The sanctions quality assurance unit could consist of experts with considerable sanctions and legal drafting expertise, whose responsibility it would be to ensure that standard language and phrases are employed in the Council's resolutions which outline the contours of each sanctions regime.

Bearing in mind the recommendations outlined above concerning transparency, the unit could also ensure that draft resolutions consistently acknowledge the basis in the UN Charter for sanctions-related action, identify the precise nature of the relevant threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression, and articulate the necessary objectives and conditions for easing and termination. It could also ensure a consistency of approach with respect to the scope of sanctions – both in terms of the prohibitions elaborated and any exemptions that are provided from those prohibitions. Moreover, it could also be tasked with ensuring a consistency of approach to the articulation of mandates for subsidiary actors.

Another initiative that would serve the interests of consistency in relation to the activities undertaken by sanctions-related subsidiary actors, would be to streamline the responsibilities currently distributed among a significant number of ad hoc actors. Thus, for example, instead of having a proliferation of sanctions committees, monitoring mechanisms and panels of experts, central bodies focusing upon sanctions administration, monitoring and investigation could be established. Although a movement towards generalised bodies might lead to a decreased focus upon issues relating to specific sanctions regimes, this drawback could be alleviated by ensuring that the general bodies each possessed sufficient expertise relating to the geographic and technical dimensions of each sanctions regime. Moreover, the centralisation of such tasks would eliminate the need to provide new subsidiary bodies with teething periods in which to learn to ply their trade and the centralised bodies would develop institutional memory regarding sanctions best practice.

The rationale for such centralisation is strongest with respect to sanctions committees and monitoring mechanisms. The tasks performed by the different sanctions committees and monitoring mechanisms are quite similar in nature, whereas it is arguable that establishing ad hoc panels of experts to undertake discrete investigative tasks might produce greater independence of findings. Although it has been alleged that the creation of a General Sanctions Committee might diminish the amount of attention paid to each individual sanctions regime, in practice there is significant overlap of the membership of the different committees in any case, due to the fact that the smaller delegations of the members of the Security Council often do not have separate specialists for each committee. Moreover, a General Sanctions Committee that is tasked with reviewing all sanctions regimes might pay even greater attention to neglected sanctions regimes, as it would be meeting on a much more regular basis than a number of the individual committees.

³ For an argument to this effect, see *Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process*, p. 115.

⁴ By way of quick comparison, the UNITA Sanctions Committee held twenty formal meetings between the beginning of 2000 and the end of 2001. During that same period,

3. Promoting equality

The solution to the equality deficit in the UN sanctions system is as simple as it is improbable. In order to ensure actual equality in terms of the use of the Council's sanctions powers, the power of veto should be abolished, along with permanent membership. This is unlikely to happen, of course, because those who wield the veto would likely use it to prevent any such reform. Moreover, despite the manner in which the veto undermines the principle of equality, it is arguable that its existence has encouraged most major powers to remain within the UN framework most of the time.

As it is extremely unlikely that the veto will be abolished, it is necessary to think of how to manage the veto so that it undermines to the minimum extent possible the potential of sanctions to reinforce and strengthen the rule of law. One strategy that might be employed would be to encourage restraint in the use of the veto. Indeed, at San Francisco the permanent members issued a declaration concerning voting procedure in the Security Council, in which they suggested that they would use the veto with restraint.⁵ Another potential strategy for achieving restraint was proposed by the International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty in its 2001 report *The Responsibility to Protect*.⁶ The Commission suggested that the permanent members of the Council could agree upon a code of conduct with respect to actions that aimed to stop or avert a significant humanitarian crisis, according to which they would 'constructively abstain' from using the veto unless their vital national interests were affected.⁷

A second strategy could be for the elected members to band together more regularly in a bloc, thus meaning that they could effectively wield a veto. In fact, the permanent members implied as much in their San Francisco declaration on voting procedure:

It should also be remembered that under the Yalta formula the five major powers could not act by themselves, since even under the unanimity

the Rwanda Sanctions Committee did not hold one formal meeting. See *Index to* Proceedings of the Security Council for 2000 (2001) United Nations, New York, p. xvi; A/56/2 (2001): Report of the Security Council: 16 June 2000–15 June 2001, pp. 444–445; A/57/2 (2002): Report of the Security Council: 16 June 2001–31 July 2002, pp. 53–4.

See Documents of the UNCIO, vol. XI, pp. 710-714: Statement by the Delegations of the Four Sponsoring Governments on Voting Procedure in the Security Council, para. 8.

⁶ International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty, *The Responsibility to Protect* (Ottawa: International Development Research Centre, 2001).

⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 61 (para. 6.2).

requirement any decisions of the Council would have to include the concurring votes of at least two of the non-permanent members. In other words, it would be possible for . . . non-permanent members as a group to exercise a 'veto'.⁸

While the strategy of elected members voting as a bloc would not ensure that all players were treated equally before the law, it would mean that all members of the Security Council effectively had the potential to wield a veto, thus creating a greater sense of equality on the Council. Unfortunately, however, such a strategy might also have the effect of tying the Council's hands on a more frequent basis, thus risking a return to the days of Cold War paralysis. Moreover, as one commentator has observed:

It takes considerable unity \dots and considerable backbone, for six or more \dots non-permanent members, all of whom are invariably weaker in economic and military clout \dots to exercise the rarely seen but conceivable 'veto' that the Council's non-permanent members wield.

One area in which the effects of the veto upon sanctions practice could be mitigated through the judicious use of co-operation between the elected ten is in the employment of time-limits. When sanctions are imposed for an unspecified period, any permanent member can veto the decision to terminate sanctions. In order to limit the ability of the permanent members to dictate when, and indeed if, sanctions will be terminated, the elected ten could band together to ensure that sanctions are always imposed with a time-limit. Such time-limits should be set for no longer than two years, as within two years a completely different set of elected ten members will sit on the Council. If it is necessary to maintain the sanctions, then it should be a relatively simple matter for the Security Council to adopt a resolution extending the sanctions. If it is not possible to obtain sufficient votes to maintain sanctions, then it is highly unlikely that the necessary political will to implement the sanctions would exist in any case.

With respect to democratic representation, it seems clear that there should be some expansion in the membership of the Security Council. If and when such an expansion takes place, permanent membership without the right of veto is likely to be extended to a handful of member states. This development would have the disadvantage of creating yet

Bocuments of the UNCIO, vol. XI, pp. 710-714: Statement by the Delegations of the Four Sponsoring Governments on Voting Procedure in the Security Council, para. 8.

⁹ Alvarez, International Organizations as Law-makers, p. 199.

another layer of inequality, making the new 'permanent members' more equal than most, but still not as equal as some. It would have the advantage, however, of ensuring that there would be some non-veto-wielding members with consistent institutional memory of the Council's practice and procedures, thus perhaps offsetting the decided advantage that currently works in favour of the current P5 vis-à-vis the inexperienced E10. Yet in terms of equality, the expansion of the membership of the Security Council, however great it may be and however many additional benefits are accorded to the new 'permanent members', may ultimately amount to little more than placing extra chairs on the deck of the Titanic.

Even if it is possible to tame the veto through a combination of fostering restraint and encouraging creative co-operative techniques among the E10, the lack of genuine equality in sanctions practice will remain a sore thumb from the perspective of the rule of law. But, to the extent that the Security Council's sanctions practice can be reformed so that it adheres to the other four key principles of the rule of law – transparency, consistency, due process and proportionality – the argument might still be made that, although the principle of equality ultimately remains unsatisfied, at least in those instances when the Council gathers the necessary consensus to apply sanctions, it can do so in a manner that reinforces and strengthens the rule of law. Thus, if those other principles are consistently satisfied, the Council's sanctions practice should retain the potential to instil confidence in the sanctions system and to induce the widespread compliance of member states with sanctions regimes.

4. Providing due process

Of all of the principles explored in this study, the one with perhaps the greatest resonance as a symbol of the rule of law is due process. As the discussion above illustrates, with the exception of states targets, which have generally been granted an opportunity to place their version of events on-record, the Council's adherence to the principle of due process has been somewhat piecemeal. The recommendations outlined below aim to improve the extent of due process accorded to potential and actual targets. Some of them apply to situations involving any of the three types of targets analysed above – states, non-state actors and individuals. Others apply specifically to the case of individuals who are targets.

As a general principle, potential targets of sanctions should be afforded an opportunity to present their version of events, so that Council members can make a considered determination as to whether the application of sanctions is justified and necessary. In situations where it is not practical for potential targets to present their case directly before the Security Council, fact-finding missions could be tasked with the responsibility of presenting an objective assessment of the facts. In the Libyan example, for instance, due process might have been well served by establishing a fact-finding mission to ascertain the facts and to determine conclusively whether Libya was obstructing investigations into the terrorist airline bombings to the extent that it posed a threat to the peace. Although it is likely that most cases involving a potential threat to the peace would require immediate action, the Libyan example does not appear to have been one of those cases. Some years had elapsed since the incidents at the heart of the dispute had taken place, and it is difficult to see how waiting a matter of a few more weeks or months to receive the findings of an objective fact-finding mission would have led to an increased threat.

There is a clear and pressing need for due process reform with respect to the application of financial sanctions against individuals. While the articulation of exemptions for basic and extraordinary expenses is a positive development, it does not offset the current due process deficit. Where individuals stand to be deprived of access to their own personal property and livelihood, they should be provided with maximum due process. The listing and delisting process for individual sanctions currently operates in such a way that the presumption is of guilt rather than innocence, with individuals possessing no as-of-right opportunity to hear, let alone contest, the accusations levelled against them. Instead, they must rely upon the good will of their own government to bring their case before the relevant sanctions committee and then they must convince all committee members, including the member responsible for listing them, that they should be delisted. Is this the model of due process the Security Council has in mind when it speaks of the importance of establishing justice and the rule of law in post-conflict societies?

The listing process likely evolved because of a concern that those who stand to have financial sanctions imposed against them would move their finances to a safe place if they knew that there was a possibility that they would be sanctioned. Thus the rush to sanction, without providing full due process, is understandable. Nevertheless, if sanctions

committees fail to provide adequate due process, they risk a situation emerging whereby states might refuse to implement such sanctions, thus undermining both the effectiveness of the sanctions regime and the credibility of the committees and the Council itself.

One method by which the committees could afford greater due process to listed individuals would be to list them temporarily, pending a genuine consideration of the merits of the allegations levelled against them. Such a consideration could take place in the committee itself or before a competent body established by the Security Council specifically for the purpose of hearing such due process appeals. Once a listed individual's situation had been closely considered in such a manner, the committee would then decide to delist or relist the individual, based on the findings that emerge.

A number of useful recommendations for improving due process have arisen from the Stockholm process, including that the Security Council could: establish clear and transparent guidelines for determining which individuals are to be listed as targets;¹⁰ create an independent body to monitor observance of the due process rights of targeted individuals;¹¹ utilise the expertise of the UN's Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights to ensure that the procedures for compiling lists of targets are in conformity with international human rights standards;¹² and introduce administrative or judicial processes that fulfil the ordinary expectations of due process.¹³

In March 2006 these proposals were further fleshed out in a white paper prepared by the Watson Institute Targeted Sanctions Project on the topic of strengthening targeted sanctions through fair and clear procedures. ¹⁴ That paper recommended that a review mechanism be established, to which individuals and entities could appeal decisions regarding their listing. The options canvassed included: a mechanism under the authority of the Security Council, such as a monitoring team, an ombudsman or a panel of experts; ¹⁵ an independent arbitral panel; ¹⁶ and a judicial review institution with the power to issue decisions that would bind the Security Council. ¹⁷

¹⁰ Results from the Stockholm Process, p. 28 (para. 50). ¹¹ Ibid.

¹² *Ibid.*, p. 33 (para. 63). ¹³ *Ibid.*, p. 97 (para. 284).

¹⁴ Strengthening Targeted Sanctions Through Fair and Clear Procedures (Providence, RI: Watson Institute Targeted Sanctions Project, 2006).

¹⁵ *Ibid.*, pp. 44–46. ¹⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 47. ¹⁷ *Ibid.*

5. Ensuring proportionality

Of the five principles of the rule of law analysed here, the Security Council appears to have paid the greatest attention to criticisms of its track-record with respect to transparency. The Council has made a genuine attempt to improve the design of its sanctions regimes, with the aim of increasing their ability to target decision-makers and decreasing the unintended fall-out for innocent civilian populations. Nevertheless, while the Council has learned that it should act proportionately, it could still do more to minimise the negative consequences upon civilian populations and third states.

With respect to minimising the impact of sanctions upon civilian populations, the Security Council could ensure that whenever it applies comprehensive sanctions it exempts a core group of items from the regime. Those goods should include, at a minimum, food, medical supplies, and educational equipment and supplies. As an alternative, the Council could embrace the Goods Review List model eventually employed in Iraq, according to which all contraband items are explicitly noted on a list. Anything that does not feature on the Goods Review List could therefore be sold or supplied to the target.

The Security Council should also institutionalise the practice of requiring humanitarian impact assessment of all of its sanctions regimes. These assessments should occur in advance of the application of sanctions and then at regular intervals once sanctions are applied. The Council should ensure that its members have such assessments before them whenever they are reviewing a sanctions regime. In order to improve both the standard and consistency of humanitarian impact assessment, a specialised unit should be established and tasked with the responsibility of undertaking such assessments. The ad hoc practice to date of calling on different actors to perform impact assessments, including the UNSG, sanctions committees, Panels of Experts and monitoring mechanisms, is not conducive to obtaining a meaningful, sophisticated analysis of the negative consequences of sanctions. The question of causation is sufficiently complex that a consistent methodology should be employed to ascertain impact. Moreover, the body undertaking impact assessment should not be the same body that is tasked with improving sanctions enforcement, as such a body is likely to focus upon how sanctions should be strengthened, rather than upon the negative humanitarian consequences of sanctions.

The Security Council could do considerably better at offsetting the negative consequences for third states and distributing the burden of implementation more evenly across the international community. The practice followed to date, of simply appealing to various international actors to provide assistance, does not amount to an effective remedy for specially affected states. The end result is that such states are faced with an unwelcome choice between implementing sanctions faithfully and thus bearing a burden that may cripple their economies, or turning a blind eye to sanctions violations. A creative solution must be found to this problem. At a minimum, the Security Council should undertake impact assessment of the potential special economic consequences of sanctions upon third states. It should also consider alternatives for ensuring an adequate funding base to compensate states experiencing significant economic difficulties as a result of complying with sanctions.

This chapter has explored how the shortcomings in the UN sanctions system's rule of law performance might be addressed. It has proposed a number of ways in which the Security Council might reform its sanctions practice in order to ensure that its sanctions tool strengthens the rule of law. But it is important to emphasise that strengthening the rule of law is not an all-or-nothing affair. Any steps taken by the Security Council to improve adherence to the key rule of law principles explored here will result in a net improvement in the Council's rule of law performance. Particular principles might be easier to implement in some instances than others. However, the more the Security Council and its members are able to respect, promote and adhere to basic rule of law principles, the higher the likelihood will be that UN sanctions will be respected, promoted and adhered to by UN member states.

11 Concluding remarks

In late 2006, on opposite sides of the world, two very different countries took determined steps towards developing nuclear weapons. On 9 October in North-East Asia, North Korea detonated its first nuclear device. Around the same time, in the Middle East, Iran was continuing to defy the demands of the UN Security Council to return to constructive participation in the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT).

Both North Korea and Iran were originally parties to the NPT, but both had ceased co-operating with the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), as required by the NPT. In each case, a range of multilateral diplomatic initiatives had been pursued in an attempt to bring a defiant nation back into the NPT fold. In each case, efforts had so far proved futile. On 14 October 2006 the Security Council imposed sanctions against North Korea. Two months later, on 23 December, the Council also imposed sanctions against Iran. The two sanctions regimes were broadly similar. Their objective was to prevent North Korea and Iran from gaining access to items, equipment and technical assistance for the development of weapons of mass destruction.

Four years earlier, in late 2002, US Secretary of State Colin Powell had appeared before the Security Council to argue that UN sanctions had failed to prevent Iraq from reconstituting its efforts to develop weapons of mass destruction. Yet in both the North Korean and Iranian instances, the United States was a critical force behind the push for sanctions. Did US support for sanctions against North Korea and Iran represent tacit acknowledgement that the Iraq sanctions had succeeded in preventing Saddam Hussein from reconstituting his weapons of mass destruction programme? Or did it simply reflect a lack of imagination concerning how to address the threat posed by nuclear proliferation?

Sanctions have been a feature of international relations since the days of ancient Greece. For centuries, states, quasi-states and international organisations have turned to sanctions when other alternatives have failed or proven unpalatable. The Security Council's decision to apply UN sanctions regimes against North Korea and Iran suggests that sanctions are not likely to go out of fashion anytime soon.

As the Security Council continues to apply sanctions, its sanctions practice will continue to evolve. This evolution provides an ongoing opportunity to develop and refine sanctions policy. The Security Council has introduced a number of laudable innovations to its sanctions policy over the past decade, some of which have served to promote aspects of the rule of law. The general movement towards targeted rather than comprehensive sanctions is one example of these positive developments, resulting in an improved record with respect to the principle of proportionality. But despite these positive developments, the UN sanctions system still exhibits substantial shortcomings with respect to each of the key principles of the rule of law. As the Council formulates future sanctions policy, it should strive to improve its rule of law track-record.

This book seeks to show how the Council might improve its rule of law performance with respect to its sanctions practice. It has constructed and applied a pragmatic, accountability-based model of the rule of law, consisting of five core principles which seek to prevent the abuse of power: transparency, consistency, equality, due process and proportionality. It has demonstrated how the Security Council's sanctions practice has largely failed to promote those core rule of law principles, thus weakening the authority and credibility of the UN Security Council and its sanctions system. The end result is that sanctions are less effective than they could be. If steps are not taken to improve the UN sanctions system's rule of law performance, sanctions risk remaining a destabilising influence upon, rather than a symbol of, the rule of law in international affairs.

The book proposes a new vision of a UN sanctions system that would help to strengthen the rule of law. It elaborates a number of pragmatic policy reform recommendations designed to improve the UN sanctions system's rule of law performance. These recommendations can be applied immediately. They do not require reform to the UN Charter and they do not rely upon the intervention of an external actor to regulate the Council's practice. They aim to promote increased self-regulation within the Security Council. But other actors also have a

critical role to play in prompting the Council to put its rule of law rhetoric into practice. The proposals elaborated here are therefore targeted not just at the Security Council and its members, but also at anyone with an interest in improving UN sanctions practice. This includes the wider UN membership, sanctions policy-makers, non-governmental advocates, diplomats and scholars.

Unless the Security Council continues to embrace sanctions reform, and in particular innovations designed to promote, reinforce and strengthen the rule of law, its sanctions tool will struggle to attract the levels of compliance necessary to serve as an effective instrument for the maintenance of international peace and security. The Council has recently emphasised its commitment to strengthening the rule of law in societies threatened by conflict. By taking simple steps to reform its sanctions practice, such as implementing the policy recommendations outlined in these pages, the Council can demonstrate its commitment to strengthening the rule of law in international society.

Appendix 1: Summary of policy recommendations

1. Increasing transparency

- Whenever possible, the Security Council should hold its discussions concerning the potential or actual application of sanctions in public.
- Sanctions committees should also meet in open session when possible.
 All formal committee meetings should also become a matter of public
 record, with verbatim transcripts and/or summary records being
 released for public distribution. The Security Council could ensure that
 this takes place by so stipulating in its decisions outlining committee
 mandates.
- When the Council votes on a draft resolution that seeks to impose or modify sanctions, Security Council members should speak in explanation of their vote. The practice that has become prevalent, according to which the Council has imposed sanctions with little or no public discussion, should cease.
- When determining the existence of a threat to the peace, breach of the
 peace or act of aggression, the Council should identify as clearly as
 possible the precise nature and cause of the threat to the peace, breach
 of the peace or act of aggression.
- Where possible, such determinations should occur some time before sanctions are applied, in order to demonstrate that they are not mere determinations of convenience, made in order to justify the immediate application of sanctions.
- Sanctions objectives should be linked to clear, objectively verifiable conditions, the occurrence of which will resolve the threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression and thus lead to the termination of sanctions.
- A central quality assurance unit could be tasked with ensuring that draft resolutions acknowledge the basis in the UN Charter for sanctions-related action, identify the precise nature of the relevant threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression, and

articulate clear goals and objectively verifiable conditions for sanctions termination.

2. Improving consistency

- Standard phrases and terms should be employed in the Council's resolutions which outline the contours of each sanctions regime.
 A central quality assurance unit could be tasked with ensuring such consistency. It could also ensure consistency in the articulation of mandates for subsidiary actors.
- Sanctions-related subsidiary bodies should be centralised and consolidated. Instead of having a proliferation of ad hoc sanctions committees, Panels of Experts and monitoring mechanisms, the Council could establish a permanent General Sanctions Committee, with responsibility for ensuring administration of the Council's various sanctions regimes, as well as a General Sanctions Monitoring Mechanism, with responsibility for monitoring the Council's various sanctions regimes.

3. Promoting equality

- Permanent members should be encouraged to use the veto only when absolutely essential.
- In order to minimise the veto's ability to undermine equality, closer alliances could be formed between the Elected 10. Such an alliance could be used in particular in order to ensure that sanctions are always imposed with a time-limit.

4. Providing due process

- Potential targets of sanctions should be afforded an opportunity to present their version of events. Where this is not possible, fact-finding missions should be tasked with the responsibility of preparing an objective assessment of the facts.
- When individuals stand to be deprived of access to their own personal property and livelihood, they should be provided with maximum due process.
- The Security Council should establish clear and transparent guidelines for determining which individuals are to be listed as targets. Such individuals should also be permitted to petition sanctions committees directly to protest their listing.
- Individuals subject to financial sanctions should be listed temporarily, pending genuine consideration of their situation by the relevant sanctions committee.

5. Ensuring proportionality

- If comprehensive sanctions are employed again, a core group of items should always be exempt, including food, medical supplies, and educational equipment and supplies. Alternatively, the Council could embrace a Goods Review List approach, listing explicitly all contraband items.
- Humanitarian impact assessments should be conducted for all sanctions regimes. These assessments should occur in advance of the application of sanctions and at regular intervals once sanctions are applied. The Council should ensure that its members have such assessments before them whenever they are reviewing a sanctions regime.
- The standard and consistency of humanitarian impact assessment should be improved. A specialised unit could be established and tasked with responsibility for undertaking such assessments. The unit should not be the same body tasked with improving sanctions enforcement.
- The Security Council should also take effective action to offset the economic difficulties experienced by third states as a result of implementing sanctions. At a minimum, it should mandate assessments of the potential impact of sanctions upon third states.

Appendix 2: Summaries of UN sanctions regimes

The following summaries trace the anatomy of each sanctions regime established by the Security Council, surveying the Council's decision-making with respect to each regime. Each summary outlines the constitutional basis for the application of sanctions, the objective(s) of the sanctions and the scope of the regime. The summaries also outline the manner in which the Security Council has bestowed responsibility upon other actors for the administration and monitoring of sanctions. Where relevant, summaries note any action taken by the Council to suspend or terminate sanctions. Each summary concludes by surveying the most notable aspects of that particular sanctions regime.

1. THE 232 SOUTHERN RHODESIA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council established its first mandatory non-military sanctions regime in December 1966, imposing a range of measures against the white minority regime that had taken control of Southern Rhodesia in November 1965. The major objectives of the 232 sanctions regime were to end the reign of the illegal minority Southern Rhodesian regime and to enable the self-determination and independence of the Southern Rhodesian people. The regime initially consisted of a range of targeted trade sanctions, but it was subsequently expanded to incorporate a blend of comprehensive trade sanctions, as well as financial, representative and aviation sanctions. The Council established the 253 Sanctions Committee to administer the sanctions. The measures were terminated in December 1979, shortly after the Smith regime relinquished control of Southern Rhodesia.

1. Constitutional basis

The Security Council first characterised the situation in Southern Rhodesia as a potential threat to international peace and security in November 1965, shortly after the white minority regime of Ian Smith sought to declare independence. On 12 November 1965 the Council adopted resolution 217 (1965), in which it condemned that unilateral declaration of independence and called upon all states not to recognise the Smith regime, which it described as 'illegal' and 'racist'. Eight days later, the Council determined that the situation resulting from the proclamation of independence by the illegal authorities was extremely grave and that its continuance in time constituted a threat to international peace and security. ²

In resolution 217 (1965), the Council also called upon states to undertake a range of voluntary measures against the minority regime, including not recognising the illegal regime's claim to power or entertaining diplomatic relations with it, refraining from providing arms to the illegal regime, and breaking all economic relations with the illegal regime, including the provision of oil and petroleum products to that regime.³ A literal reading of resolution 217 (1965) might suggest that the Council was applying sanctions under Article 41, as the Council had determined that the continuance of the situation prevailing in Southern Rhodesia would threaten international peace and security and it was calling upon states to take certain measures to address that threat. However, the view in the Council was that the measures did not possess the necessary character to constitute Article 41 sanctions. Rather, they were 'voluntary' in nature, as the situation had not yet evolved from a potential to an actual threat and the Council had not invoked either Chapter VII or Article 41 when outlining the measures it was calling upon states to implement.4

Five months later, the Council expressed grave concern at reports that oil may reach Southern Rhodesia,⁵ considered that such supplies would enable the illegal regime to remain in power longer,⁶ and determined that the resulting situation constituted a threat to the peace.⁷ Seven months later, it adopted resolution 253 (1966), imposing

⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 1.

¹ SC Res. 216 (12 November 1965), paras. 1, 2.

² SC Res. 217 (20 November 1965), para. 1. ³ *Ibid.*, paras. 6, 8.

⁴ See, e.g., S/PV.1265 (20 November 1965), paras. 18–38 (Ivory Coast), 64 (United Kingdom).

⁵ SC Res. 221 (9 April 1966), preambular para. 2. ⁶ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 3.

mandatory sanctions against Southern Rhodesia. In that resolution the Council noted that it was acting in accordance with Articles 39 and 41 of the UN Charter and determined that the situation in Southern Rhodesia constituted a threat to international peace and security.⁸ In subsequent resolutions modifying the scope of the 232 sanctions regime, the Council reaffirmed the ongoing nature of the threat posed to international peace and security by the illegal minority regime in Southern Rhodesia⁹ and invoked Chapter VII of the UN Charter.¹⁰ In one of those decisions, the Council explicitly stated that it was acting in accordance with Article 41.¹¹

2. Objectives

The objectives of the 232 sanctions regime were to bring the rebellion in Southern Rhodesia to an end^{12} and to enable the self-determination and independence of the Southern Rhodesian people. ¹³

3. Scope

Resolution 232 (1966) created a mixture of targeted economic sanctions. The Council subsequently strengthened the 232 sanctions regime on several occasions. In May 1968, it turned the initial targeted measures

⁸ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4, para. 1.

⁹ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), preambular para. 7; and SC Res. 455 (23 November 1979), preambular para. 8.

SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 10; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), preambular para. 5.

¹¹ SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9.

SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 3 and para. 3; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9; SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), para. 2; SC Res. 326 (2 February), para. 4; SC Res. 423 (14 March 1978), in general.

SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 4; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular paras. 7, 8, para. 2; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 5, para. 4; SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), preambular para. 4, para. 2; SC Res. 318 (28 July 1972), paras. 1, 2; SC Res. 326 (2 February), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), preambular para. 7, para. 3; SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 403 (14 January 1977), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 424 (17 March 1978), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 448 (30 April 1979), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979), para. 1; SC Res. 463 (2 February 1980), para. 1.

into comprehensive sanctions. In March 1970 it added representative and transportation sanctions. In April 1976 and May 1977 it applied additional financial sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Resolution 232 (1966) required all UN member states to prevent the import of major Southern Rhodesian export products, including asbestos, iron-ore, chrome, pig-iron, sugar, tobacco, copper, meat and meat products and hides, skins and leather. 14 Member states were also required to prevent the export to Southern Rhodesia of arms and arms-related material, 15 aircraft and motor vehicles and associated parts, 16 and oil and oil products. 17 The Council also called upon all states to refrain from providing financial or economic aid to the illegal regime in Southern Rhodesia. 18

Resolution 253 (1968) required member states to prevent: (a) the ingress to and egress from Southern Rhodesia of all commodities and products;¹⁹ (b) the transfer of economic or financial resources to Southern Rhodesia;²⁰ (c) Southern Rhodesian citizens and residents from entering their territories;²¹ and (d) airline companies linked to their territories or nationals from flying to or from Southern Rhodesia or linking up with Southern Rhodesian airlines.²² The Council also emphasised the need for the withdrawal of all consular and trade representation in Southern Rhodesia.²³

Resolution 277 (1970) required member states: (a) to refrain from recognising the illegal regime or rendering any assistance to it:²⁴ (b) to sever diplomatic and other relations with the illegal regime;²⁵ and (c) to interrupt all transportation to and from Southern Rhodesia.²⁶ Resolution 388 (1976) further required member states: (a) to prevent their nationals and people in their territories from insuring commodities and products exported from or imported to Southern Rhodesia;²⁷ and (b) to prevent their nationals and people in their territories from granting any commercial, industrial or public entity in Southern Rhodesia the right to use trade names.²⁸ Resolution 409 (1977) required

¹⁴ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2(a)-(c). ¹⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 2(d). ¹⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 2(e). ¹⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 2(f). ¹⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 5. ¹⁹ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3. bid., para. 2(1).

bid., para. 5.

lbid., para. 6.

lbid., para. 10.

lbid., para. 10.

lbid., para. 21.

lbid., para. 22.

lbid., para. 3.

lbid., para. 10.

lbid., para. 9(a).

lbid., para. 9(b).

lbid., para. 2.

member states to prohibit the use or transfer of funds in their territories by the illegal South Rhodesian regime. 29

3.2 Exemptions

Although resolution 253 (1968) made the 232 sanctions comprehensive, the Council nevertheless outlined a number of exemptions designed to soften the impact of the sanctions upon the Southern Rhodesian civilian population. Exemptions were thus provided for: (a) the supply to Southern Rhodesia of medical supplies, educational equipment, news materials, and foodstuffs in 'special humanitarian circumstances';³⁰ (b) payments exclusively for pensions or for medical, humanitarian, or educational purposes and for foodstuffs in 'special humanitarian circumstances';³¹ and (c) travel on 'exceptional humanitarian grounds'.³²

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities relating to the administration and monitoring of the Southern Rhodesia sanctions regime upon the UNSG and the 253 Sanctions Committee.

4.1 The role of the Secretary-General

When the Council established the 232 sanctions regime, it requested member states to report to the UNSG any measures taken to implement the sanctions. The UNSG, in turn, was to report to the Council within ten weeks on progress made by states in sanctions implementation. He UNSG was also requested to perform this reporting role when the Council strengthened the sanctions. Following the establishment of the 253 Sanctions Committee, the UNSG was requested to provide the Committee with assistance. In March 1976 the UNSG was also tasked with organising the provision of financial, technical and material assistance from the UN and its member states to Mozambique to help it overcome difficulties experienced in implementing the 232 sanctions regime.

²⁹ SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 1. ³⁰ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 3(d).

³¹ *Ibid.*, para. 4. ³² *Ibid.*, para. 5.

³³ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 8. ³⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 9.

³⁵ See, e.g., SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), paras. 18–19; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), paras. 19–20.

³⁶ SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), para. 7; SC Res. 318 (28 July 1972), para. 10.

³⁷ SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), para. 6.

4.2 The 253 Sanctions Committee

In May 1968, eighteen months after the 232 sanctions regime had been initiated, the Council decided to create a Sanctions Committee to oversee sanctions implementation.³⁸ The 253 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of procedure, was initially to examine the reports of the UNSG on the implementation of comprehensive sanctions³⁹ and to seek information from UN member states regarding activity that might constitute a breach of the sanctions. 40 In subsequent resolutions, the Council reaffirmed those tasks of the Committee⁴¹ and outlined the following additional tasks: (a) making recommendations on how member states could more effectively implement sanctions; 42 (b) making recommendations concerning its terms of reference and measures to ensure its effectiveness; 43 (c) reporting on possible action to address the refusal of South Africa and Portugal to implement sanctions and collating proposals made in Council meetings for expanding the scope and increasing the effectiveness of sanctions;⁴⁴ (d) reporting on possible further sanctions;⁴⁵ and (e) making further proposals to strengthen and widen sanctions.46

During its twelve-year existence, the 253 Committee was quite active, holding a total of 352 formal meetings. ⁴⁷ It submitted twelve general reports to the Security Council on its activities, as well as a number of interim reports and special reports on matters not related to its regular activities. ⁴⁸ The Committee's reports were often extensive, containing detailed analysis of exports from and imports to Southern Rhodesia during the reporting period, as well as transcripts of some of the Committee's meetings. The Committee also made numerous recommendations and suggestions to the Council for improving sanctions, some of which were acted upon. ⁴⁹

³⁸ SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 20. ³⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 20(a).

⁴⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 20(b). ⁴¹ SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), paras. 21(a) and (b).

⁴² SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 21(c). ⁴³ SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), para. 6.

⁴⁴ SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), paras. 4 and 5.

⁴⁵ SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 3. ⁴⁶ SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), para. 8.

⁴⁷ Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1979 (1980) United Nations, New York, p. 2 (listing the meetings held by the Committee during the period leading up to its dissolution).

⁴⁸ A list of the Committee's reports is located in Appendix 3, Table F.

⁴⁹ SC Res. 318 (28 July 1972), para. 4; SC Res. 333 (22 May 1973), para. 1.

5. Termination

The 252 sanctions regime was terminated in December 1979, once it had become apparent that there would be a transition to democratic rule. Upon the signing of an agreement on the Constitution for a free and independent Zimbabwe, which paved the way for genuine majority rule, the Council adopted resolution 448 (1979), terminating the sanctions regime and dissolving the 253 Sanctions Committee. 50 Commentators differ on the extent to which sanctions contributed to the demise of the minority regime. During the thirteen-year period in which sanctions were applied, a number of states continued to engage in relations with the minority regime in contravention of sanctions. Portugal and South Africa had continued to provide Southern Rhodesia with assistance. 51 and the United States had permitted Ian Smith and other members of the minority regime to enter its territory in violation of the sanctions. 52 Furthermore, the Smith regime had maintained an aggressive foreign policy, engaging in military activities against Zambia, 53 Botswana, 54 Angola 55 and Mozambique. 56

6. Conclusions

As the Southern Rhodesia sanctions regime was the first to be established by the Security Council, almost everything about it was notable and innovative. With the benefit of hindsight, however, it is possible to identify particular characteristics of the regime that distinguish it from later regimes. First, the Security Council made a number of explicit references to provisions of the UN Charter in its resolutions related to the Southern Rhodesia sanctions regime. The Council sometimes made such references to clarify the constitutional basis for the measures taken, as with its references to Articles 39,⁵⁷ 41,⁵⁸ 49⁵⁹ and 50.⁶⁰ On

⁵⁰ SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979), paras. 2 and 3.

⁵¹ SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 4(c).

⁵² SC Res. 437 (10 October 1978), paras. 1-4.

⁵³ See, e.g., SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973); SC Res. 327 (2 February 1973); SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973); SC Res. 424 (17 March 1978).

⁵⁴ See SC Res. 403 (14 January 1977); SC Res. 406 (25 May 1977).

⁵⁵ See SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979). ⁵⁶ See SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979).

⁵⁷ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4.

⁵⁸ Ibid.; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 9; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 9 and 11; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 3.

⁵⁹ SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), preambular para. 10. ⁶⁰ *Ibid*.

other occasions, it invoked Charter provisions in order to emphasise the legal consequences flowing from its decisions, as with its references to Articles 2,⁶¹ 2(6)⁶² and 25.⁶³ In its resolutions relating to subsequent sanctions regimes, the Council has tended to be more vague about the precise legal basis of, and consequences flowing from, its actions, employing language which implicitly invokes Charter provisions. It commonly identifies a threat to the peace without invoking Article 39 and notes that it is acting under Chapter VII without invoking Article 41.

Second, the Council drew a distinction between the obligations of UN member states and those of non-members. When the Council defined and modified the scope of the 232 sanctions regime, it required 'all States Members of the United Nations' to impose sanctions. ⁶⁴ In many instances it also made explicit reference to the obligation of member states to implement the sanctions in accordance with Article 25. ⁶⁵ At the same time, the Council also reminded non-members of the provisions of Article 2 in general ⁶⁶ and Article 2(6) in particular, ⁶⁷ thus alluding to a potential legal obligation upon even non-members to apply sanctions.

Third, the Council established a Sanctions Committee for the first time. Perhaps because it was the very first Sanctions Committee, the 253 Committee was considerably more active than most of its younger

⁶¹ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 7; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 14; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 18; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), para. 3.

⁶² SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), para. 2; SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), para. 2; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 2.

⁶³ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), paras. 3, 6; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 5, paras. 11–12; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 4(b); SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), preambular para. 3, para. 4; SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), preambular para. 3, para. 2; SC Res. 318 (28 July 1972), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), preambular para. 3, para. 2; SC Res. 333 (22 May 1973), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 437 (10 October 1978), para. 2; SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979), para. 4.

⁶⁴ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), paras. 3–6; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), paras. 2, 9; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), paras. 1, 2; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 1.

⁶⁵ SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), paras. 3, 6; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 5, paras. 11, 12; SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 4(b); SC Res. 288 (17 November 1970), preambular para. 3, para. 4; SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), preambular para. 3, para. 2; SC Res. 318 (28 July 1972), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 437 (10 October 1978), para. 2; SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979), para. 4.

SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 7; SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 14; SC Res. 277
 (18 March 1970), para. 18; SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), para. 3.

⁶⁷ SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), para. 2; SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), para. 2; SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 2.

cousins. It remains the Committee which held the most meetings, circulated the highest number of substantive reports and made the most substantive recommendations to the Security Council regarding potential modifications to a sanctions regime. Finally, in its oversight of the 232 sanctions regime, the Council also invoked Article 50 for the first time, recommending that states and international organisations and agencies provide special assistance to Zambia, ⁶⁸ Mozambique ⁶⁹ and Botswana. ⁷⁰

2. THE 418 SOUTH AFRICA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed a mandatory arms embargo against South Africa in November 1977, with the aim of restricting the South African government's ability to threaten international peace and security. Among additional goals also articulated by the Council while the embargo was in place were bringing about the elimination of the policy of apartheid, the establishment of a democratic society and the enjoyment of equal rights by all South African citizens. The Council established a sanctions committee to administer the sanctions. The 418 sanctions regime was eventually terminated in 1994, following free and fair elections and the inauguration of Nelson Mandela as President of South Africa.

1. Constitutional basis

Although sanctions were not imposed against South Africa until 1977, as early as August 1963 the Security Council characterised the South African government's policy of apartheid and its efforts to increase its weapons stockpile as 'seriously disturbing international peace and security'. ⁷¹ At the same time, the Council 'solemnly' called upon states to cease selling and shipping arms, ammunition of all types and military vehicles to South Africa. ⁷²

The status of these 1963 measures as voluntary rather than mandatory appears clear with the benefit of hindsight, as the Council itself

⁶⁸ SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 9; SC Res. 327 (2 February 1973), preambular para. 5, para. 2; SC Res. 329 (10 March 1973), paras. 2–6.

⁶⁹ SC Res. 386 (17 March 1976), preambular para. 10, paras. 3-6.

⁷⁰ SC Res. 403 (14 January 1977), paras. 5–8; SC Res. 406 (25 May 1977), paras. 5–7.

⁷¹ SC Res. 181 (7 August 1963), preambular para. 8.

⁷² SC Res. 181 (7 August 1963), para. 3.

referred to them as a 'voluntary embargo' when it initiated the 418 sanctions regime.⁷³ In 1963, however, the Council's call upon states to halt sales and shipments of arms and related equipment to South Africa could conceivably have been interpreted as falling within the scope of Article 41, even though some Security Council members made a point of emphasising that these measures were not mandatory and did not constitute action under Chapter VII of the UN Charter.⁷⁴ Subsequent Council decisions did little to clarify the situation, suggesting that the initial embargo carried legal implications beyond those of merely voluntary action. For example, the Council condemned violations of the measures⁷⁵ and went as far as reaffirming and strengthening them.⁷⁶ Moreover, the Council also authorised the establishment of both an expert panel and a committee to look into measures that might help to address the situation in South Africa.⁷⁷

In late 1977, almost fourteen years after it had begun to experiment with a policy of a 'voluntary' arms embargo against South Africa, the Council adopted two resolutions addressing the situation in that country. On 31 October 1977, the Council recalled its earlier calls to the South African regime to end violence against its people and to take urgent steps to eliminate apartheid and racial discrimination, 78 and noted that it was convinced that the violence and repression by the South African racist regime had greatly aggravated the situation in South Africa and would lead to violent conflict and racial conflagration with serious international repercussions.⁷⁹ At the same time, the Council also reaffirmed the legitimacy of the struggle of the South African people for the elimination of apartheid and racial discrimination, 80 and affirmed the right to the exercise of self-determination by all the people of South Africa, irrespective of race, colour or creed.⁸¹ The Council then strongly condemned the South African regime for its repression of its black people and opponents of apartheid82 and expressed support for people struggling for the elimination of

⁷³ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular paras. 8–9.

⁷⁴ See, e.g.: S/PV.1056 (7 August 1963), paras. 26–28 (United States), paras. 33–38 (United Kingdom).

⁷⁵ SC Res. 282 (23 July 1970), para. 3.

⁷⁶ SC Res. 182 (4 December 1963), para. 5; SC Res. 191 (18 June 1964), para. 12; SC Res. 282 (23 July 1970), paras. 2, 4.

⁷⁷ SC Res. 182 (4 December 1963), para. 6 (authorising the panel); SC Res. 191 (18 June 1964), para. 8 (authorising the committee).

⁷⁸ SC Res. 417 (31 October 1977), preambular para. 1. ⁷⁹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 4.

⁸⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 5. 81 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6. 82 *Ibid.*, para. 1.

apartheid.⁸³ The Council then made a number of demands of the South African regime, including ending violence and repression against black people and opponents of apartheid, abandoning the policy of apartheid and ensuring majority rule based on justice and equality.⁸⁴

On 4 November 1977, the Council again called upon the South African government to end violence against its people and to take urgent steps to eliminate apartheid and racial discrimination. ⁸⁵ It then recognised that the military build-up by South Africa and its persistent acts of aggression against neighbouring states seriously disturbed the security of those states, ⁸⁶ further recognised that it was necessary to strengthen the existing voluntary arms embargo in order to prevent a further aggravation of the grave situation in South Africa, ⁸⁷ and strongly condemned the government of South Africa for its acts of repression, its continuance of the system of apartheid and its attacks against neighbouring states. ⁸⁸ The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, ⁸⁹ determined that, having regard to the policies and acts of the South African government, the acquisition by South Africa of arms and related material constituted a threat to international peace and security ⁹⁰ and applied a mandatory arms embargo. ⁹¹

2. Objectives

The explicit objective of the sanctions regime was to prevent South Africa from acquiring arms, so as to diminish the South African government's capacity to pose a threat to international peace and security. A number of additional objectives were also implicit in the Council's decisions addressing South Africa, including the elimination of apartheid, the establishment of a democratic society; and the enjoyment of equal rights by all South African citizens.

```
<sup>83</sup> Ibid., para. 2. <sup>84</sup> Ibid., para. 3.
```

⁸⁵ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 1.

⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 2. ⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 3. ⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6.

⁸⁹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10. ⁹⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 1. ⁹¹ *Ibid.*, para. 2.

⁹² *Ibid.*, paras. 1 and 2; SC Res. 558 (13 December 1984), preambular paras. 4, 5.

⁹³ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 1; SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, paras. 4, 7; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 765 (16 July 1992), para. 7.

⁹⁴ SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, para. 4; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), preambular para. 5, para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7.

⁹⁵ SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), preambular para. 7, paras. 4, 7; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), preambular para. 7.

3. Scope

The scope of the mandatory sanctions regime imposed against South Africa remained consistent throughout the sixteen and a half years from the time of its establishment to its termination. Under the sanctions regime, the Security Council required all states to stop providing South Africa with arms and related material of all types⁹⁶ and to refrain from helping South Africa to develop nuclear weapons.⁹⁷ The phrase 'arms and related material' initially encompassed weapons, ammunition, military vehicles and equipment, paramilitary police equipment, and spare parts for all of those articles.⁹⁸ The Council subsequently clarified that it also applied to nuclear, strategic and conventional weapons, all military, paramilitary police vehicles and equipment, as well as spare parts for all of those items.⁹⁹

The 418 sanctions regime was never expanded beyond an arms embargo, despite frequent UNGA resolutions urging the Security Council to strengthen the 418 sanctions regime. A number of draft resolutions seeking to expand the scope of the sanctions were put to the vote, but none was adopted, owing either to a failure to gain the requisite votes or the exercise of the permanent member veto. Two attempts came extremely close. A February 1987 draft would have required states to apply targeted economic and financial sanctions, including prohibitions upon the import from South Africa of currency, military articles, uranium and coal, the export to South Africa of computers, oil and petroleum products, and the provision of loans to South Africa. A March 1988 draft would also have required states to apply targeted economic and financial sanctions, this time including prohibitions upon investment in South Africa, all forms of military, police or

101 S/18705 (draft resolution sponsored by Argentina, Congo, Ghana, United Arab Emirates and Zambia).

SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), para. 2.
 Ibid., para. 4.
 Ibid.
 SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 4.

See, e.g., A/RES/32/105 (14 December 1977), Section G; A/RES/33/183 (24 January 1979), Section E; A/RES/34/93 (12 December 1979), Sections C, D, F; A/RES/35/206 (16
 December 1980), Section C; A/RES/36/172 (17 December 1981), Sections B, D; A/RES/37/69 (9 December 1982), Section C; A/RES/38/39 (5 December 1983), Section D; A/RES/39/72 (13 December 1984), Section A; A/RES/40/64 (10 December 1985), Section A; A/RES/41/35 (10 November 1986), Section B; A/RES/42/23 (20 November 1987), Section C; A/RES/43/50 (5 December 1988), Section C; A/RES/44/27 (22 November 1989), Section C; A/RES/45/176 (19 December 1990), Section B; A/RES/46/79 (13 December 1991), Section E; A/RES/47/116 (18 December 1992), Section D.

intelligence co-operation, and the export to South Africa of oil. ¹⁰² Both drafts attracted ten votes in favour – one more than the minimum required for a resolution to be adopted. But both failed to come into effect due to vetoes cast by the United Kingdom and the United States. ¹⁰³

Although the Council did not manage to strengthen the scope of the 418 sanctions regime, it did adopt decisions calling upon, requesting or urging states to implement a range of additional voluntary measures. These included voluntary arms-related sanctions, ¹⁰⁴ financial sanctions, ¹⁰⁵ sporting and cultural sanctions, ¹⁰⁶ and targeted sanctions against computers and other equipment destined for the use of the South African army and police force. ¹⁰⁷

4. Administration and monitoring

During the course of its application of sanctions against South Africa, the Security Council bestowed responsibility for the administration and monitoring of sanctions upon the UNSG and the South Africa Sanctions Committee.

4.1 The Role of the Secretary-General

During the course of the South Africa sanctions regime, the Security Council requested the UNSG to report to it on the implementation of its resolutions relating to the sanctions. 108 On one occasion the UNSG was requested to report to the 421 Sanctions Committee rather than the Council 109

4.2 The 421 Sanctions Committee

A month after imposing the arms embargo, the Security Council decided to establish a Committee to oversee sanctions implementation

¹⁰² S/19585 (draft resolution sponsored by Algeria, Argentina, Nepal, Senegal, Yugoslavia and Zambia).

¹⁰³ For the votes, see S/PV.2738 (20 February 1987); S/PV.2797 (8 March 1988).

¹⁰⁴ SC Res. 558 (13 December 1984), para. 2; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 6(e); SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 2; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 7.

¹⁰⁵ SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 6(a); SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 6(b); SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 6(d).

¹⁰⁶ SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 6(c).

¹⁰⁷ SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 6(f)); SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 3.

¹⁰⁸ SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), para. 6; SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), para. 12; SC Res. 569 (26 July 1985), para. 8; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 14.

¹⁰⁹ SC Res. 558 (13 December 1984), para. 4.

against South Africa. 110 The 421 Sanctions Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was tasked with reporting to the Council on its work and with observations and recommendations and undertaking the following responsibilities: (a) examining the UNSG's reports on implementation of the embargo; 111 (b) recommending how to make the embargo more effective: 112 and (c) seeking information from states regarding steps taken to implement sanctions. 113 In subsequent resolutions, the Committee was also asked to redouble its efforts to ensure the strict implementation of sanctions by recommending measures to close any 'loop-holes'. 114

The 421 Committee remains the longest serving Sanctions Committee, having existed for seventeen years. Yet despite its longevity, the 421 Committee was considerably less active than the 253 Committee. During its tenure, the Committee held 113 formal meetings¹¹⁵ and issued a handful of reports. ¹¹⁶ The 421 Committee also made some recommendations concerning potential additional action on the sanctions, which were forwarded as letters from the Committee Chairman to the President of the Council. 117

5. Termination

The sanctions against South Africa were ultimately terminated in May 1994, when the Council welcomed the first all-race multiparty elections in South Africa and the inauguration of a united, democratic, non-racial government. 118 At the same time, the Council also dissolved the 421 Committee. 119 A month later, the Council removed 'The question of South Africa' from the list of matters of which it was seized. 120

¹¹⁰ SC Res. 421 (9 December 1977), para. 1.

112 Thid para. 1(b). 113 Ibid., para. 1(c).

¹¹⁴ SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), para. 11; SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 13. ¹¹⁵ Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1994 (1995) United Nations, New York, p. xii

⁽containing a list of the meetings held by the 421 Committee in 1994 - the year in which it was dissolved).

¹¹⁶ For a list of these reports, see Appendix 3, Table F.

¹¹⁷ See, e.g., S/16680 (13 December 1984); S/18474 (24 November 1986); S/19396 (30 December 1987).

¹¹⁸ SC Res. 919 (26 May 1994), para. 1.

¹¹⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 3. ¹²⁰ SC Res. 930 (27 June 1994), para. 4.

6. Conclusions

UN sanctions against South Africa are often credited with playing a role in bringing about the demise of apartheid. A number of speakers made this point before the Council when it voted to terminate the sanctions. ¹²¹ It is unclear, however, to what extent the 418 arms embargo was a critical factor in bringing about such change. The embargo without doubt restricted the South African government's ability to gain easy access to arms which would have assisted it to oppress the South African people and take aggressive action against other states. It is probable, however, that other forms of sanctions, including the stronger sanctions called for by the General Assembly and the voluntary measures endorsed by the Council, played a more significant role in apartheid's downfall. Equally influential were other forms of boycott employed by states, organisations and concerned citizens.

The 418 sanctions regime contributed to the evolution of the UN sanctions system in a number of ways. First, it represented the first sanctions regime to be imposed against a UN member state. Second, when the Council outlined the scope of sanctions, it introduced a formulation that has become standard in subsequent sanctions regimes: 'Decides that all States shall'. Third, the Council's calls to states to apply a mixture of 'voluntary' sanctions in addition to the mandatory arms embargo, created a web of 'sanctions' whose legal implications appeared to differ substantially. Although the Council had also adopted voluntary and mandatory sanctions against the illegal minority regime in Southern Rhodesia, most of the voluntary sanctions preceded the application of mandatory sanctions. In its actions relating to South Africa, the Council adopted a range of voluntary sanctions both before and after it imposed the mandatory arms embargo.

3. THE 661 IRAQ SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Iraq on 6 August 1990, four days after that state had invaded Kuwait. The 661 sanctions regime, which had the initial aim of securing Iraq's withdrawal from Kuwait, consisted of comprehensive economic and financial sanctions. The sanctions were retained after Iraq was forced to retreat from Kuwait

¹²¹ See, e.g., S/PV.3379 (26 May 1994), p. 3 (Mr Thabo Mbeki, Deputy President of South Africa), p. 4 (Botswana), p. 14 (India), p. 26 (United States).

by the Gulf War, with the key objectives becoming the establishment of a Compensation Commission to administer reparations claims arising from the Gulf War and disarming Iraq of nuclear, chemical and biological weapons, as well as anti-ballistic missiles with a range of greater than 150 km. In May 2003, after Saddam Hussein's Government had been toppled by invading forces led by the United States, the Council terminated the bulk of the Iraq sanctions, with only the arms embargo remaining in place. At the same time, the Council also imposed new, targeted financial sanctions against members of the former Hussein regime and their immediate family members. The Council has established a range of subsidiary bodies to administer, implement and monitor the sanctions.

1. Constitutional basis

Iraq invaded Kuwait on 2 August 1990. The Security Council immediately adopted resolution 660 (1990), in which it determined that the invasion constituted a breach of international peace and security, ¹²² noted that it was acting in accordance with Articles 39 and 40 of the UN Charter, ¹²³ and demanded the immediate, unconditional withdrawal of Iraqi forces from Kuwaiti territory. ¹²⁴ Four days later, when Iraq had not withdrawn from Kuwait, the Council adopted resolution 661 (1990), in which it noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹²⁵ determined that Iraq had failed to comply with the demands outlined in resolution 660 (1990), ¹²⁶ and imposed sanctions. ¹²⁷

In subsequent decisions clarifying or modifying the scope of the sanctions, adopted prior to the outbreak of Gulf War hostilities, the Council again invoked Chapter VII. However, after the Gulf War the constitutional basis for the continued application of sanctions appeared to shift subtly. In resolution 687 (1991), the Council referred to the threat posed to peace and security in the area by weapons of mass destruction, as well as to the need to establish a zone free of such weapons in the Middle East. 129 It then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, 130 before reaffirming the continued application of the

¹²² SC Res. 660 (2 August 1990), preambular para. 2. ¹²³ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 3.

¹²⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 1. ¹²⁵ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), preambular para. 7.

¹²⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 1. ¹²⁷ *Ibid.*, paras. 2–4.

¹²⁸ See, e.g., SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), preambular para. 13.

¹²⁹ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), preambular para. 17. ¹³⁰ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 26.

sanctions. 131 In subsequent resolutions clarifying or modifying the scope and application of sanctions, the Council has continued to invoke Chapter VII. 132 It has also determined that the situation continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security. 133

The Council's determination of a threat to peace and security in resolution 687 (1991) raises the question of whether the cessation of Gulf War hostilities also signified the effective dissipation of the breach of the peace that had been identified in resolution 660 (1990). If so, then it was necessary for the Council to identify an alternative threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression in order to justify the continued application of sanctions. It is also possible, however, that the Council's affirmation of the thirteen prior resolutions on the situation was meant to signify that the breach of international peace and security was continuing. According to such a reading of the situation, the breach of international peace and security would not completely dissipate until Iraq fully complied with its obligations under resolution 687 (1991).

In May 2003, shortly after the overthrow of Saddam Hussein's regime, the Council reaffirmed the importance of the disarmament of Iraqi weapons of mass destruction and confirmation of such disarmament. At the same time, it determined that the situation in Iraq, although improved, continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security. He Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, the Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, when the Council replaced the 661 Sanctions Committee with a new Committee, it again determined that the situation in Iraq continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII.

¹³¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 20-24.

See, e.g., SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), preambular para. 6.

¹³³ SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), preambular para. 11.

¹³⁴ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 1.

¹³⁵ SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), preambular para. 3. ¹³⁶ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 17.

 ¹³⁷ Ibid., preambular para. 18.
 138 SC Res. 1518 (24 November 2003), preambular para. 4.
 139 Ibid., preambular para. 5.

2. Objectives

The initial objective of the Iraq sanctions regime was to ensure the withdrawal of Iraqi forces from Kuwait and the reinstatement of the Kuwaiti government. 140 After the Gulf War, the objectives of the sanctions regime were modified to include: (i) the establishment of a compensation fund to cover the losses incurred by foreign governments. nationals and corporations; 141 and (ii) the complete disarmament of Iraq. 142 In order to comply with its obligation to disarm completely, Iraq was required to undertake the following measures: (a) to accept unconditionally the destruction, removal or rendering harmless of all chemical and biological weapons¹⁴³ and all ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km; ¹⁴⁴ (b) to agree to on-site inspection of its armament facilities; 145 (c) to refrain from the use, development, construction or acquisition of chemical and biological weapons, ¹⁴⁶ ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, ¹⁴⁷ and nuclear weapons; ¹⁴⁸ and (d) to submit to future, ongoing monitoring and verification of its compliance with the obligation to refrain from using, developing, constructing or acquiring those weapons. 149

In late 1997, when it imposed additional targeted travel sanctions against particular Iraqi officials, the Council made it clear that the objective of those sanctions was to ensure that Iraq co-operated unconditionally with the United Nations Special Commission (UNSCOM), whose task it was to monitor and verify Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations under the sanctions regime. In late 1999, when the Council created the United Nations Monitoring Verification and Inspection Commission (UNMOVIC) to replace UNSCOM, it provided that if Iraq were to co-operate with UNMOVIC and the IAEA and if they were both to report to the Council that the system of ongoing monitoring and verification was fully operational, then the elements of the sanctions regime not connected to arms and related material would be suspended for a renewable period of 120 days. By providing for this possibility, the Council signalled that the major objective of the components of the sanctions regime that were not directed at arms and

SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 2.
 Ibid., paras. 8, 9, 10, 12, 22.
 Ibid., para. 8(a).
 Ibid., para. 9(a).
 Ibid., para. 10.
 Ibid., para. 12.
 Ibid., para. 10.
 Ibid., para. 12.
 Ibid., para. 13.
 Ibid., para. 14.
 Ibid., para. 15.
 SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), para. 6.
 SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 33.

related material was to ensure that the system of monitoring and verification was fully operational.

The Security Council did not articulate explicit objectives connected to the arms sanctions that were maintained against Iraq following the overthrow of Saddam Hussein. It did reaffirm, however, that Iraq must meet its disarmament obligations. The newly imposed financial sanctions seemed to have the objective of facilitating Iraq's development in the post-war environment, as funds and assets frozen in accordance with the sanctions were to be transferred to the Development Fund for Iraq. 153

3. Scope

From August 1990 until May 2003, the 661 sanctions regime consisted of a complex blend of comprehensive economic and financial sanctions. Although the Council tinkered relatively little with the broad contours of the Iraq sanctions regime, both the Council and the 661 Committee made subtle modifications to the types of products and commodities that were exempt from the sanctions, as well as to procedures for determining which products and commodities were exempt. Each of these changes altered the overall scope of the sanctions regime. In May 2003 the Council terminated the bulk of the Iraq sanctions, with only the arms embargo remaining in place. At the same time the Council also imposed new, targeted financial sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

In resolution 661 (1990), the Council required all states to prevent: (a) the import of all goods and commodities originating in Iraq;¹⁵⁴ (b) activities designed to promote export from Iraq of any goods or commodities;¹⁵⁵ (c) the export to Iraq of goods and commodities;¹⁵⁶ and (d) the provision to the Iraqi government, any commercial, industrial or public utility undertaking in Iraq or Kuwait, or persons or bodies within Iraq or Kuwait, of any funds or other financial or economic resources.¹⁵⁷ A month later, the Council adopted resolution 670 (1990), in which it clarified that the 661 sanctions regime required all states to prevent

 $^{^{152}}$ SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 11. See also preambular para. 3. 153 *Ibid.*, para. 23. 154 SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 3(a). 155 *Ibid.*, para. 3(b). 156 *Ibid.*, para. 3(c). 157 *Ibid.*, para. 4.

aircraft destined for Iraq or Kuwait from departing from or over-flying their territory. 158

In April 1991, after the Gulf War hostilities had ended, the Council maintained the 661 sanctions regime. Interestingly, the Council's continuation of the comprehensive sanctions was implicit rather than explicit. Its endorsement of the continuation of these measures can be deduced from the following factors: (a) the Council's affirmation of the thirteen resolutions it had adopted to date on the situation between Iraq and Kuwait, which included resolutions 661 (1990) and 670 (1990); ¹⁵⁹ and (b) the Council's decision that upon approval by the Council of the programme for the establishment and operation of the Compensation Commission and upon Council agreement that Iraq had complied with all of its disarmament obligations, the sanctions would have no further effect. ¹⁶⁰

The Council was more explicit concerning the continuation of arms sanctions. In resolution 687 (1991) it clarified that, in order to ensure that Iraq did not increase its capacity to re-arm, states were required to continue to prevent the sale, supply or provision to Iraq of: (a) arms and related material; ¹⁶¹ (b) items relating to chemical and biological weapons, ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, and nuclear weapons; ¹⁶² (c) technology relating to arms and related material, chemical and biological weapons, ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, and nuclear weapons; ¹⁶³ and (d) personnel or training or technical support services relating to arms and related material, chemical and biological weapons, ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km and nuclear weapons. ¹⁶⁴

In October 1992, the Council applied a form of temporary additional financial sanctions, requiring all states in whose jurisdiction there were funds from the sale of Iraqi petroleum or petroleum products, belonging to the government of Iraq or of its state bodies, corporations, or agencies and paid for since the date sanctions were imposed, to transfer those funds to the escrow account established under the initial attempt at the OFFP. At the same time, the Council also required all states in which there were petroleum or petroleum products belonging to the government of Iraq or its state bodies, corporations, or agencies, to purchase or arrange for the sale of such petroleum or petroleum

SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), paras. 3-6.
 Ibid., para. 22.
 Ibid., para. 24(a).
 Ibid., para. 24(b).
 Ibid., para. 24(c).
 Ibid., para. 24(d).
 Ibid., para. 24(d).

products and transfer the proceeds from that purchase or sale to the escrow account established under the initial attempt at the OFFP. 166

In late 1997, the Council strengthened the scope of the sanctions in response to certain actions taken by Iraq to interfere with the work of UNSCOM. Iraq had sought to impose conditions upon its co-operation with UNSCOM and government officials had denied two UNSCOM officials the right to enter Iraq on the grounds of their nationality, prevented UNSCOM inspectors from entering inspection sites and tampered with UNSCOM surveillance equipment. 167 In an effort to induce Iraqi compliance with UNSCOM's work, the Council therefore applied targeted travel sanctions against Iraqi officials and members of the armed forces who were involved in such interference. 168

In May 2003, after the formal completion of the second Gulf War hostilities, the Council adopted resolution 1483 (2003), by which it terminated most of the sanctions against Iraq, with the exception of an arms embargo. 169 At the same time, the Council imposed new financial sanctions in connection with the situation in Iraq, requiring all member states to freeze any funds or other financial assets of economic resources in their jurisdiction belonging to the former government of Iraq and its various entities, as well as those removed from Iraq by Saddam Hussein and other senior officials of the former Iraqi regime and their immediate family members. 170 Member states were also required to transfer those frozen funds, financial assets and economic resources to the Development Fund for Iraq. 171

3.2 Exemptions

When the Council first imposed sanctions against Iraq, it exempted supplies that were 'intended strictly for medical purposes and, in humanitarian circumstances, foodstuffs'. 172 It also exempted payments relating to such exempt supplies. 173 Almost two months later, the Council clarified that aviation sanctions did not apply to flights undertaken for the purpose of transporting supplies exempted from the sanctions regime, ¹⁷⁴ on behalf of the United Nations Iran-Iraq Military Observer Group, ¹⁷⁵ or otherwise approved by the 661 Committee. ¹⁷⁶

 ¹⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 2.
 ¹⁶⁷ SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), preambular paras. 1-2, para. 1.
 ¹⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, paras. 4-5.
 ¹⁶⁹ SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 10.
 ¹⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 23.
 ¹⁷¹ *Ibid.* ¹⁷² SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 3(c).
 ¹⁷³ *Ibid.*, para. 4.
 ¹⁷⁴ SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), paras. 3-4.
 ¹⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 3.
 ¹⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 4(b).

After the conclusion of Gulf War hostilities, the UNSG commissioned a report to explore whether the 'humanitarian circumstances' foreshadowed in resolution 661 (1990) did in fact exist, thus enabling the provision to Iraq of foodstuffs. The report concluded that humanitarian circumstances did exist, warning that the Iraqi people might soon face a 'catastrophe', including 'epidemic and famine' if 'massive life-supporting needs' were not met. After considering the report, the Iraq Sanctions Committee determined that humanitarian circumstances did indeed exist and thus permitted states to export foodstuffs to Iraq, as long as they notified the Committee of any such exports. The Committee also decided that states could export to Iraq 'civilian and humanitarian supplies', upon approval by it under the 'no-objection procedure'.

The Committee's decision was endorsed by the Security Council in April 1991, in resolution 687 (1991). 181 At the same time, the Council clarified that the following would be exempted from the sanctions: (a) medicine and health supplies; 182 (b) foodstuffs notified to the Iraq Sanctions Committee; 183 (c) materials and supplies for essential civilian needs, subject to the 661 Committee's no-objection procedure; 184 and (d) exports from Iraq of commodities or products approved by the Iraq Sanctions Committee in order to assure adequate financial resources to purchase medicine and health supplies, foodstuffs and materials and supplies for essential civilian needs. 185

The Council has also authorised some additional exemptions. In 1998 it exempted from financial sanctions reasonable expenses related to the Hajj pilgrimage, when authorised by the 661 Committee. In May 2003, when the Council retained the arms sanctions following the overthrow of the Hussein regime, it exempted arms and related material required by the Coalition Authority.

3.3 Exemptions under the Oil-for-Food Programme

The Security Council established the Oil-for-Food Programme (OFFP) in an attempt to alleviate the effects of comprehensive sanctions

¹⁷⁷ S/22366 (20 March 1991), annex: Report to the Secretary-General on humanitarian needs in Kuwait and Iraq in the immediate post-crisis environment by a mission to the area led by Mr Martti Ahtisaari.

¹⁷⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 37. ¹⁷⁹ S/22400 (22 March 1991): Note by the Secretary-General, annex.

¹⁸⁰ *Ibid.* ¹⁸¹ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 20. ¹⁸² *Ibid.*

¹⁸³ *Ibid.* ¹⁸⁴ *Ibid.* ¹⁸⁵ *Ibid.* para. 23.

¹⁸⁶ SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 3; SC Res. 1210 (24 November 1998), para. 3.

¹⁸⁷ SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 10.

upon the Iraqi civilian population. It has been widely discredited by the Independent Inquiry Committee into the United Nations Oil for Food Programme, which investigated irregularities in the administration of the OFFP. The Committee's reports (the 'Volcker reports'), which were compiled following the overthrow of the Hussein regime, identified substantial evidence of administrative irregularities, including wrongdoing on the part of senior UN officials and among thousands of contractors engaged in trade under the OFFP. While the Volcker reports unearthed grave irregularities in OFFP administration, they also acknowledged that the Programme supplied valuable humanitarian assistance to the Iraqi civilian population.

The OFFP is important from the perspective of the scope of the 661 sanctions regime, as modifications to the OFFP resulted in subtle changes to the parameters of the sanctions. These modifications clarified the products and commodities to which the sanctions did not apply and improved and simplified the process by which decisions were made regarding whether potential 'dual-use' items were subject to or exempt from the sanctions regime. 189 The Council first attempted to implement an OFFP in August 1991. In resolution 706 (1991) it authorised all states, subject to certain conditions, to permit the import of petroleum and petroleum products in order to finance the purchase of foodstuffs, medicines and materials and supplies for essential civilian needs. 190 The proceeds from the exports from Iraq of petroleum and petroleum products were to be placed in an escrow account, which would be administered by the UNSG and would finance, in addition to the purchase of the items mentioned above, the payment of Iraq's various liabilities under the Compensation Fund scheme elaborated by the Council in resolution 687 (1991). 191

One month later, the Council approved recommendations made by the UNSG for a scheme to implement such an OFFP. But the Iraqi government refused to co-operate with the proposed scheme and the Council resorted to an interim arrangement to finance the programme, according to which states were required to transfer to the escrow account any funds in their jurisdiction which represented the proceeds

¹⁸⁸ Reports by the Independent Inquiry Committee into the United Nations Oil for Food Programme (2005, 2006), available at: http://www.iic-offp.org.

¹⁸⁹ For further details concerning the dual-use process, see the discussion below on the Iraq import/export monitoring mechanism.

¹⁹⁰ SC Res. 706 (15 August 1991), paras. 1, 2. ¹⁹¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 1-4.

¹⁹² SC Res. 712 (19 September 1991), para. 3.

of sales of Iraqi petroleum products that had taken place since the application of sanctions. 193 At the same time, states in which Iraqi petroleum or petroleum products were present were also required to purchase or arrange for the sale of those items and to transfer the proceeds to the escrow account. 194

In April 1995, the Council made another, more successful attempt at the OFFP. Under resolution 986 (1995), Iraq was permitted to export a limited amount of oil in order to finance the purchase of items exempted from the sanctions regime, as well as the activities of entities entrusted with overseeing Iraq's compliance with the provisions of resolution 687 (1991). 195 But the proceeds from the sale of oil were not to be used exclusively by the Iraqi government for the purchase of humanitarian supplies. They were also to fund: (a) distribution of humanitarian relief to the three northern governorates not under the complete control of the Iraqi government; 196 (b) the UN Compensation Fund established to address claims for Iraqi reparations arising from the Gulf War; 197 (c) costs of on-the-ground inspection and auditing of OFFP implementation; 198 (d) UNSCOM's operating costs; 199 (e) reasonable expenses incurred in exporting oil from Iraq;²⁰⁰ and (f) the replenishment of frozen Iraqi assets from which funds had been transferred under resolution 778 (1992) to cover the costs of the UN Compensation Commission and UNSCOM. 201

The Council subsequently adopted numerous resolutions extending the OFFP and honing the procedures for its implementation. The major innovation to the process for implementing the OFFP was the adoption of the Goods Review List (GRL). The GRL contained an exhaustive list of potential 'dual-use' items, the supply to Iraq of which first had to be approved via a process which involved careful

```
    SC Res. 778 (2 October 1992), para. 1.
    Ibid., para. 2.
    SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), paras. 1-2, 7-10.
    Ibid., para. 8(b).
```

 ¹⁹⁷ Ibid., para. 8(c).
 198 Ibid., para. 8(d).
 200 Ibid., para. 8(f).
 199 Ibid., para. 8(e).
 201 Ibid., para. 8(g).

See, e.g., SC Res. 1111 (4 June 1997); SC Res. 1143 (4 December 1997); SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998); SC Res. 1210 (24 November 1998); SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999); SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999); SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999); SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000); SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000); SC Res. 1352 (1 June 2001); SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001); SC Res. 1382 (29 November 2001); SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002); SC Res. 1447 (4 December 2002); SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002); SC Res. 1472 (28 March 2003).

SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 2; SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 1. For the full text of the GRL, see S/2002/515 (20 May 2002); and SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), Annex A.

consideration of the items by UNMOVIC and the IAEA, which then recommended the approval or refusal of the application by the 661 Committee. Anything not on the list was considered to be exempt from the sanctions, thus requiring simple notification to the Committee. After the introduction of the GRL process, the flow of exempt goods and commodities to Iraq under the OFFP increased substantially. Description of the IAEA, which then recommended the introduction by the 661 Committee.

4. Administration and monitoring

During the course of the 661 sanctions regime, the Security Council has bestowed responsibility upon a range of actors for the administration and monitoring of sanctions. These have included the UNSG and several subsidiary entities, such as the 661 and 1518 Committees, UNSCOM and its successor UNMOVIC, the OFFP and a monitoring mechanism. The Council also established ad hoc panels of experts to explore particular questions relating to sanctions implementation.

4.1 The Iraq Sanctions Committees

The Security Council has established two sanctions committees to oversee administration of the 661 sanctions regime. The 661 Committee was created at the inception of the sanctions regime. It assumed a range of oversight responsibilities up until its dissolution in November 2003. The 1518 Committee was established in November 2003 to succeed the 661 Committee's responsibilities relating to the remaining arms sanctions and to administer the newly imposed financial sanctions.

i. The 661 Committee

The 661 Committee was established in accordance with rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure. It was to report to the Council on its work, incorporating observations and recommendations, to examine the UNSG's reports on sanctions implementation and to seek information from states regarding action taken to implement sanctions. Between its establishment in August 1990 and dissolution in November 2003, the 661 Committee was tasked with a vast array of

²⁰⁴ For the procedures relating to the application of the GRL, see SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), attachment; SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), Annex B.

See the UNSG report on GRL implementation: S/2002/1239 (12 November 2002).
 SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 6.

additional responsibilities, including to: (a) determine whether humanitarian circumstances had arisen requiring exemptions for foodstuffs: 208 (b) consider UNSG reports on humanitarian circumstances in Iraq and make appropriate recommendations for meeting Iraq's humanitarian needs;²⁰⁹ (c) examine requests for special assistance under Article 50 and make appropriate recommendations;²¹⁰ (d) consider applications for exemptions from the comprehensive sanctions;²¹¹ (e) monitor the implementation of arms sanctions;²¹² (f) develop, in co-operation with UNSCOM and the IAEA, a mechanism for monitoring the sale or supply to Iraq of items that might be used for armament ('dual use items');²¹³ (g) authorise reasonable expenses related to the Haji pilgrimage:²¹⁴ (h) decide upon applications concerning humanitarian and civilian needs within two working days of receiving them;²¹⁵ (i) approve lists of basic water, sanitation, electricity and housing supplies that did not need to be submitted for approval;²¹⁶ (j) review applications in an expeditious manner, in order to decrease the level of applications on hold, and to improve the approval process;²¹⁷ (k) review the GRL and procedures for its implementation and recommend improvements:²¹⁸ and (l) identify individuals and entities whose funds, financial assets and economic resources should be frozen and transferred to the Development Fund for Iraq, in accordance with the new financial sanctions. 219

The 661 Committee was also tasked with a range of responsibilities related to OFFP implementation. It was to: (a) monitor the sale and supply of oil from Iraq to Turkey;²²⁰ (b) develop 'expedited procedures' for OFFP implementation;²²¹ (c) approve OFFP transactions for the sale of oil and the purchase of permitted goods;²²² (d) assist the monitoring

```
<sup>208</sup> SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), para. 1. <sup>209</sup> Ibid., para. 5.
```

²¹⁰ SC Res. 669 (24 September 1990), preambular para. 4.

²¹¹ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 20, 23. ²¹² SC Res. 700 (17 June 1991), para. 5.

²¹³ SC Res. 715 (11 October 1991), para. 7.

²¹⁴ SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 3; SC Res. 1210 (24 November 1998), para. 3.

²¹⁵ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 25.

²¹⁶ SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), para. 8; SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 10. Applications to export to Iraq items which were potentially dual-use items could not, however, be processed via this simple notification procedure.

²¹⁷ SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 13.

²¹⁸ SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 2.

²¹⁹ SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 19. ²²⁰ SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), para. 6.

²²¹ Ibid., para. 12; SC Res. 1143 (4 December 1997), para. 9; and SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 15.

²²² SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), para. 1(a).

mechanism;²²³ (e) report on each phase of OFFP implementation;²²⁴ (f) process expeditiously OFFP applications;²²⁵ (g) approve contracts for parts and equipment to enable Iraq to meet its permitted ceiling of oil exports;²²⁶ (h) approve lists of humanitarian items, including food-stuffs, pharmaceutical and medical supplies, as well as basic medical, agricultural and educational items, which could simply be notified to the UNSG and financed under the OFFP;²²⁷ (i) appoint a group of experts to approve contracts for parts and equipment to increase Iraq's petroleum exports;²²⁸ (j) facilitate the temporary use of OFFP funds for the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi people during 2003 hostilities;²²⁹ (k) review applications outside the OFFP to export to Iraq emergency humanitarian supplies and equipment, other than medicines, health supplies and foodstuffs;²³⁰ and (l) monitor the implementation of temporary plans enabling the OFFP to address the humanitarian situation in Iraq during 2003 hostilities.²³¹

In May 2003, shortly after the conclusion of the second Gulf War, the Security Council decided that the 661 Committee would be terminated in six months. The Committee was thus dissolved on 21 November 2003. During its tenure, the 661 Committee held more than 230 meetings and issued seven annual reports. It also issued more than forty reports on the implementation of the arms and related sanctions against Iraq, more than twenty reports on OFFP implementation and several other reports on improvements made to its working procedures to expedite the approval process for sending humanitarian supplies to Iraq. The second Gulf War, the Sec

The 661 Committee summarised its activities in 'annual reports' which it began to issue in 1996. The Committee's first report painted

²²³ SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), para. 10.

^{SC Res. 1111 (4 June 1997), para. 4; SC Res. 1143 (4 December 1997), para. 5; SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 14; SC Res. 1210 (4 November 1998), para. 10; SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999), para. 10; SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999), para. 10; SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), para. 6; SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 6; SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001), para. 6; SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 7.}

²²⁵ SC Res. 1111 (4 June 1997), para. 5. ²²⁶ SC Res. 1175 (19 June 1998), para. 2.

²²⁷ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 17. Applications to export to Iraq items which were potentially dual-use items could not be processed via this simple notification procedure.

²²⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 18. ²²⁹ SC Res. 1472 (28 March 2003), para. 4(g).

²³⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 7. ²³¹ *Ibid.*, para. 9. ²³² *Ibid.*, para. 18.

²³³ The Committee had held 236 formal meetings to the end of July 2002: see A/57/2 (2002): Report of the Security Council: 16 June 2001–31 July 2002, p. 52.

For a list of these reports, see Appendix 3, Table F. 235 *Ibid.*

quite a detailed picture of its work between 1990 and 1996. 236 The report outlined major Committee activities, ²³⁷ reported steps taken by other actors to monitor and enforce sanctions, 238 referred to alleged sanctions violations²³⁹ and described the process that had been created to consider applications under Article 50.²⁴⁰ However, the Committee offered few substantive observations or recommendations. It stated that close co-operation with member states was essential to enhance the effective implementation of the sanctions, and it observed that, as the responsibility for enforcing the sanctions regime lay with states, the Committee's role was primarily to provide assistance to states in enforcing sanctions.²⁴¹ Subsequent reports added little in the way of observations and recommendations. The Committee observed that close co-operation and interaction with member states was particularly important²⁴² and that it would work closely with relevant actors, including the UNSG, the Office of the Iraq Programme and the government of Iraq to implement the OFFP and improve the humanitarian situation in Iraq. 243

ii. The 1518 Committee

In November 2003 the Security Council decided to establish a new Committee, in accordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of procedure, to oversee the administration of the remaining sanctions. ²⁴⁴ The 1518 Committee was to assume responsibility for identifying individuals and entities whose funds, financial assets and economic resources should be frozen and transferred to the Development Fund for Iraq, in accordance with the financial sanctions imposed by resolution 1483 (2003).²⁴⁵ The new Committee was also to report to the Council on its work, and it would use as a basis for beginning its work the guidelines and definitions that had been employed by the 661 Committee. ²⁴⁶ The Security Council also foreshadowed the possibility that the 1518 Committee might be tasked with observing compliance with the ongoing arms sanctions against Iraq. 247 By the end of 2005, the

S/1996/700 (26 August 1996).
 Ibid., paras. 25-77.
 Ibid., paras. 93-100.
 Ibid., paras. 101-110.
 Ibid., paras. 111-114.

²⁴² S/1997/672 (28 August 1997), para. 51; S/1998/1239 (31 December 1998), para. 76.

²⁴³ S/1998/1239 (31 December 1998), para. 77; S/2000/133 (18 February 2000), para. 62; S/ 2001/738 (27 July 2001), para. 48; S/2002/647 (10 June 2002), para. 62; S/2003/300 (12 March 2003), para. 71.

²⁴⁴ SC Res. 1518 (24 November 2003), para. 1.

²⁴⁵ *Ibid.* ²⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 1–2. ²⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 3.

Committee was yet to convene a formal meeting, although it did manage to hold eight informal meetings in its first two years. 248 It has issued regular annual reports. 249

4.2 Actors implementing disarmament objectives: the IAEA. UNSCOM and UNMOVIC

Under resolution 687 (1991), the task of monitoring and overseeing Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations was to be assumed by a Special Commission, which would be established according to the recommendations of the UNSG. ²⁵⁰ That Commission would co-operate in the implementation of its tasks with the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), which would monitor and verify Iraq's compliance with its obligation not to posses, develop or acquire nuclear weapons. ²⁵¹ The United Nations Special Commission (UNSCOM) was duly established²⁵² and oversaw the monitoring of the Iraq disarmament programme until it was replaced by UNMOVIC in late 1999. 253 UNSCOM's mandate was to carry out immediate on-site inspections based on Iraq's declarations regarding its weapons holdings and programmes; to undertake the destruction, removal or rendering harmless of all nuclear, biological or chemical weapons and anti-ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 km, or components thereof; and to develop a plan for the future ongoing monitoring and verification of Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations under resolution 687 (1991). 254 UNSCOM was able to play a relatively constructive role in monitoring Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations under the sanctions regime.²⁵⁵ Ultimately, however, UNSCOM confronted major difficulties in undertaking its mandated activities, due to Iraq's refusal to allow it to resume operations after UNSCOM inspectors were withdrawn from Iraq in late 1998.

In December 1999 the Council decided to replace UNSCOM with UNMOVIC. UNMOVIC was created to establish a reinforced system of

 $^{^{248}}$ S/2004/1036 (31 December 2004), para. 3; S/2005/827 (28 December 2005), para. 3. 249 See Appendix 3, Table F. 250 SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 9(b)(i).

²⁵¹ *Ibid.*, para. 13. ²⁵² SC Res. 699 (June 17 1991), para. 1.

²⁵³ The Security Council replaced UNSCOM with UNMOVIC in SC Res. 1284 (December 17 1999), para. 1.

²⁵⁴ SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 8-13.

²⁵⁵ For a useful summary of UNSCOM's activities, see the report by the first ad hoc panel on Iraq sanctions, noted below. For a personal account, see Butler, The Greatest Threat.

ongoing monitoring and verification of Iraq's compliance with its disarmament obligations. ²⁵⁶ The new Commission did not have an auspicious beginning, as it was unable to establish operations in Iraq for almost three years. UNMOVIC was not able to deploy effectively in Iraq until the Security Council adopted resolution 1441 (2002), declaring Iraq to be in material breach of its disarmament obligations and requiring it to allow UNMOVIC immediate and unimpeded access to its facilities. ²⁵⁷ During the subsequent three months, UNMOVIC's role became quite prominent, as the international community scrutinised the extent to which Iraq was complying with its disarmament obligations.

4.3 The Iraq Export/Import Monitoring Mechanism

In October 1991 the Security Council requested the 661 Committee to develop, in co-operation with UNSCOM and the IAEA, a mechanism to monitor sales or supplies to Iraq of items that could be used for the production or acquisition of weapons, in contravention of the arms sanctions. ²⁵⁸ In July 1995 the 661 Committee approved a joint proposal for that mechanism from UNSCOM and the IAEA. ²⁵⁹ In March 1996 the Council decided to establish the mechanism. ²⁶⁰ The Monitoring Mechanism consisted of a joint export/import monitoring unit established by UNSCOM and the IAEA. All states were required to notify the Mechanism if their nationals planned to export to Iraq any items or technologies that might have 'dual-use' potential. ²⁶¹ Iraq was also required to inform the Mechanism of any plans to receive potential 'dual-use' items or technologies. ²⁶²

When the Security Council established UNMOVIC, it requested the Executive Chairman of UNMOVIC and the Director-General of the IAEA to establish a unit which would assume the Monitoring Mechanism's responsibilities and to resume the revision and updating of the lists of items and technology to which the mechanism applied and thus the export of which to Iraq must be notified to the unit.²⁶³ The updated list

²⁵⁶ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), paras. 1, 2.

²⁵⁷ SC Res. 1441 (8 November 2002), paras. 1, 3.

²⁵⁸ SC Res. 715 (11 October 1995), para. 7.

²⁵⁹ S/1996/700 (26 August 1996): Report of the Security Council Committee established by resolution 661 (1990) concerning the situation between Iraq and Kuwait, annex, para. 32 (p. 8).

²⁶⁰ SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), para. 1. ²⁶¹ *Ibid.*, para. 5. ²⁶² *Ibid.*, para. 6.

²⁶³ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 8.

came into effect on 13 July 2001.²⁶⁴ UNMOVIC reported on the monitoring unit's activities in its quarterly reports to the Security Council. Initially, the unit's main focus was reviewing notifications sent to it by states and reviewing the OFFP distribution plans to ensure that they contained no 'prohibited' items.²⁶⁵ After the adoption of the GRL in May 2002, the unit's work increased substantially as it was involved in the process of reviewing applications under the OFFP to verify that items and technologies proposed to be supplied to Iraq did not feature on the GRL.²⁶⁶

4.4 The Group of Experts on Iraqi oil production

In June 1998, the Security Council established a Group of Experts to determine whether Iraq was able to export the amount of petroleum permissible under the OFFP.²⁶⁷ The Group was also to report on Iraqi production and transportation capacity.²⁶⁸ The Group reported that without rapid investment in spare parts and repair of production wells, oil production would continue to decline.²⁶⁹ It estimated that an investment of US\$1.2 billion was required to provide capacity to meet production goals.²⁷⁰

4.5 Ad Hoc Panels on Iraq

In January 1999 the Security Council established three Ad Hoc Panels to explore the implementation of its Iraq resolutions.²⁷¹ The first panel was to advise on how to re-establish an effective disarmament monitoring and verification regime in Iraq; the second to explore the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi people; and the third to focus on issues relating to prisoners of war and Kuwaiti property. The first two Panels outlined a number of recommendations relating to the administration and

²⁶⁴ S/2001/833 (30 August 2001): Sixth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, para. 7. For the list itself, see S/2001/560 (15 October 2001).

See, e.g., S/2002/195 (26 February 2002): Eighth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, para. 13.

²⁶⁶ See, e.g., S/2002/606 (31 May 2002): Ninth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, paras. 20–21; S/2002/981 (3 September 2002), annex: Tenth quarterly report of the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, para. 28.

²⁶⁷ SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 12. ²⁶⁸ *Ibid*.

²⁶⁹ See S/1998/330 (15 April 1998): Report of the group of experts established pursuant to resolution 1153 (1998).

 $^{^{270}}$ Ibid. 271 See S/1999/100: Note by the President of the Security Council (30 January 1999).

monitoring of sanctions. 272 The recommendations of the first two panels were taken into account by the Council, 273 as demonstrated by the actions it subsequently took to replace UNSCOM with UNMOVIC and to reinvigorate the OFFP. 274

4.6 The role of the Secretary-General

The Security Council has requested, invited or directed the UNSG to undertake a vast collection of responsibilities connected to the implementation of the 661 sanctions regime.

i. Reporting

Among the UNSG's reporting responsibilities in connection with the Iraq sanctions regime, he was requested, invited or directed to report on: (a) sanctions implementation;²⁷⁵ (b) the humanitarian situation in Iraq;²⁷⁶ (c) UNSCOM's work;²⁷⁷ (d) OFFP implementation;²⁷⁸ (e) progress in monitoring arms sanctions;²⁷⁹ (f) implementation of the OFFP distribution plan;²⁸⁰ (g) improving the electricity sector and on essential humanitarian needs in Iraq;²⁸¹ (h) whether Iraq could export the full allotment of petroleum permissible under the OFFP;²⁸² (i) progress in meeting the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi people and revenues necessary to meet those needs;²⁸³ (j) implementation of resolution 1284 (1999), by which the Council established UNMOVIC and modified

²⁷² S/1999/356 (30 March 1999), Annex I (Report of the First Panel on disarmament and ongoing monitoring and verification), Annex II (Report of the Second Panel on the humanitarian situation in Iraq).

²⁷³ For the major recommendations of the First Panel, see *Report of the First Panel, ibid.*, paras. 61–68. For the major recommendations of the Second Panel, see *Report of the Second Panel, ibid.*, paras. 43–57.

²⁷⁴ See SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), in general.

²⁷⁵ SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 10.

²⁷⁶ SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 3–5. ²⁷⁷ SC Res. 699, para. 3.

²⁷⁸ SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), para. 11; SC Res. 1111 (4 June 1997), para. 3; SC Res. 1143 (4 December 1997), para. 4; SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 10; SC Res. 1210 (4 November 1998), para. 6; SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999), para. 6; SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999), para. 5; SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), para. 5; SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 5; SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001), para. 5; SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 7.

²⁷⁹ SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), para. 16.

²⁸⁰ SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 5; SC Res. 1210 (4 November 1998), para. 7; SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999), para. 7.

²⁸¹ SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 11.

²⁸² SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999), para. 6.

²⁸³ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 28.

the OFFP;²⁸⁴ (k) proposals for the use of additional export routes for petroleum under the OFFP;²⁸⁵ (l) the extent to which the Iraqi government was ensuring equitable distribution of OFFP humanitarian supplies;²⁸⁶ (m) implementation of the GRL;²⁸⁷ and (n) implementation of temporary measures authorised after the outbreak of the second Gulf War to use contracts previously approved under the OFFP to provide for the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi people.²⁸⁸

ii. Planning

The UNSG has been requested, invited or directed to undertake a number of planning tasks, including to: (a) develop a plan for the formation of UNSCOM;²⁸⁹ (b) develop a plan for the ongoing monitoring and verification of Iraq's compliance with its obligation not to use, develop, construct or acquire weapons of mass destruction;²⁹⁰ (c) develop recommendations for the establishment of the Iraq Compensation Fund;²⁹¹ (d) develop guidelines for the full implementation of the arms sanctions;²⁹² (e) submit a plan for implementing the Council's first attempt at an OFFP;²⁹³ and (f) develop plans for phasing out the OFFP.²⁹⁴

iii. Establishing and assisting subsidiary bodies

The UNSG has been tasked with taking the practical steps necessary to establish and assist a number of subsidiary bodies or programmes in connection with the Iraq sanctions regime. These responsibilities include establishing: (a) the United Nations Compensation Commission;²⁹⁵ (b) an escrow account for the purposes of the OFFP;²⁹⁶ (c) a group of experts to determine whether Iraq was able to export the permitted amount of oil under the OFFP;²⁹⁷ and (d) a group of experts on Iraq's petroleum production and export capacity.²⁹⁸ The UNSG has also been tasked with appointing: (a) the Executive-Chairman of UNMOVIC, as well as a 'College of Commissioners';²⁹⁹ (b) overseers to approve

```
    <sup>284</sup> Ibid., para. 32. <sup>285</sup> SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 18.
    <sup>286</sup> SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001), para. 11; SC Res. 1447 (4 December 2002), para. 4.
    <sup>287</sup> SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 8; SC Res. 1447 (4 December 2002), para. 5.
    <sup>288</sup> SC Res. 1472 (28 March 2003), paras. 9, 11.
    <sup>289</sup> SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), para. 9. <sup>290</sup> Ibid., para. 10. <sup>291</sup> Ibid., para. 19.
    <sup>292</sup> Ibid., para. 26. <sup>293</sup> SC Res. 706 (15 August 1991), para. 5.
    <sup>294</sup> SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 16. <sup>295</sup> SC Res. 692 (20 May 1991), para. 4.
    <sup>296</sup> SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), paras. 7–8. <sup>297</sup> SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 12.
    <sup>298</sup> SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 5.
```

petroleum exports under the OFFP;³⁰⁰ and (c) independent experts to prepare a comprehensive report on the humanitarian situation in Iraq.³⁰¹ The UNSG was also requested to provide all necessary assistance to the 661 Committee,³⁰² and to provide Iraq and the 661 Committee with a daily statement of the status of the escrow account established under the OFFP.³⁰³

iv. Submitting recommendations for improving implementation and monitoring

Among responsibilities for improving implementation and monitoring, the UNSG has been requested, invited or directed to: (a) submit recommendations for ensuring that Iraq met its obligation to cover the costs of UNSCOM's operations;³⁰⁴ (b) compile a list of equipment necessary to enable the full level of petroleum production permissible under the OFFP;³⁰⁵ (c) make recommendations for expenditure under the OFFP;³⁰⁶ (d) submit recommendations to the 661 Committee for minimising delays in payment for the purchase of Iraqi petroleum under the OFFP;³⁰⁷ (e) submit recommendations to the 661 Committee for utilising excess funds in an OFFP auditing account for humanitarian purposes.³⁰⁸

v. Taking action to improve implementation and monitoring

The UNSG was requested, invited, authorised or directed to: (a) use his good offices to facilitate the delivery of humanitarian supplies to Iraq and Kuwait;³⁰⁹ (b) implement the first attempt at an OFFP;³¹⁰ (c) take the necessary actions to ensure OFFP implementation;³¹¹ (d) monitor parts and equipment imported to Iraq to increase oil production for the OFFP;³¹² (e) maximise the effectiveness of the OFFP;³¹³ (f) minimise

```
<sup>300</sup> SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), para. 7. <sup>301</sup> Ibid., para. 18.
```

³⁰² SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 8. ³⁰³ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 23.

³⁰⁴ SC Res. 699, para. 4.

SC Res. 1210 (4 November 1998), para. 9; SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999), para. 9; SC Res.
 1281 (10 December 1999), para. 9.

³⁰⁶ SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999), para. 6. ³⁰⁷ SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), para. 13.

³⁰⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 14. ³⁰⁹ SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), para. 7.

³¹⁰ SC Res. 712 (19 September 1991), para. 10.

³¹¹ SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), para. 13; SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 4; SC Res. 1210 (4 November 1998), para. 4; SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999), para. 3; SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999), para. 3; SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 3; SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001), para. 3.

³¹² SC Res. 1175 (19 June 1998), para. 6. ³¹³ SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 21.

the cost of UN activities associated with OFFP implementation;³¹⁴ (g) arrange the purchase of Iraqi-produced goods under the OFFP;³¹⁵ (h) arrange for reasonable expenses related to the Hajj to be met by funds in the escrow account;³¹⁶ (i) redirect excess funds in an account for OFFP auditing so they could be used for humanitarian purchases;³¹⁷ (j) expand the list of humanitarian items for which simple notification was required under the OFFP;³¹⁸ (k) redirect a percentage of the Compensation Fund to an account for humanitarian projects and report on the use of those funds;³¹⁹ (l) develop consumption rates and levels for medicines and medicinal chemicals which could be exported to Iraq under the GRL procedures;³²⁰ (m) undertake, after the beginning of the second Gulf War, temporary measures to provide for the implementation of contracts that had been approved under the OFFP prior to the outbreak of hostilities;³²¹ and (n) terminate the OFFP over a period of six months.³²²

5. Conclusions

The 661 Iraq sanctions regime is notable for many reasons. First, it contained the most longstanding comprehensive sanctions, outlasting the comprehensive measures imposed as part of the 232 Southern Rhodesia regime by less than a year. Second, it has spawned a complex web of subsidiary actors, working to ensure both that sanctions are effectively implemented and that their humanitarian consequences upon the Iraqi civilian population are minimised. Third, the Iraq sanctions regime was maintained, and its objectives modified, beyond the point when its original objectives were achieved.

Many aspects of the regime invite closer inspection, such as the extent to which the initial application of sanctions paved the way for the subsequent authorisation of military sanctions, the manner in which the sanctions were modified – twice – in order to impose a post-conflict settlement upon a vanquished Iraq, and the manner in which the effective implementation of a comprehensive sanctions regime requires the employment of considerable resources and the

```
    Ibid., para. 22.
    Ibid., para. 24; SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 15.
    SC Res. 1284 (17 December 1999), para. 26.
    SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 9; SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001), para. 8.
    SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), para. 11.
    SC Res. 1360 (3 July 2001), para. 9.
    SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 3.
    SC Res. 1472 (28 March 2003), para. 4.
    SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 16.
```

participation of a broad range of actors. The investigations carried out by the Volcker Committee have unearthed a treasure trove of information concerning the application and administration of the 661 sanctions regime and the OFFP, which will prove invaluable for further research and analysis of the impact and effectiveness of the Security Council's decision-making on Iraq. The comprehensive sanctions against Iraq caused significant hardship for the Iraqi civilian population, without appearing to trigger any significant change in the personnel or ambitions of the Iraqi leadership. Nevertheless, with the benefit of hindsight, it is possible to argue that the 661 sanctions regime succeeded in its primary post-Gulf War objective of starving the Iraqi regime of the means to develop weapons of mass destruction.

4. THE 713 FORMER YUGOSLAVIA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Yugoslavia in September 1991, in an attempt to address the conflict that soon led to the dissolution of that state. The 713 regime, which consisted of a general arms embargo, was maintained after the dissolution of Yugoslavia, becoming a general arms embargo against all of the successor states of the former Yugoslavia. The Council did not make any major subsequent modifications to the regime. It was eventually terminated in June 1996 after the signing of the Dayton Peace Agreement and the entry into force of a regional arms control agreement. The Council established the 724 Sanctions Committee to administer the sanctions.

1. Constitutional basis

In September 1991 the Security Council adopted resolution 713 (1991), in which it expressed deep concern with the fighting in Yugoslavia, which was causing a heavy loss of human life and material damage, as well as with the consequences for the countries of the region. The Council then expressed concern that the continuation of the situation in Yugoslavia constituted a threat to international peace and security, and noted its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security. It proceeded to invoke Chapter VII and impose an embargo upon the delivery of weapons

 ³²³ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), preambular para. 3.
 324 Ibid., preambular para. 4.
 325 Ibid., preambular para. 5.

and military equipment to Yugoslavia.³²⁶ In subsequent resolutions relating to the application of the arms embargo, the Council reaffirmed that the situation in the former Yugoslavia continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security,³²⁷ and again invoked Chapter VII.³²⁸

2. Objectives

The initial objective of the 713 sanctions regime was the establishment of peace and stability in Yugoslavia. Three years later, the Council established the more concrete objective of the signing of a proposed Peace Agreement, including the conclusion of a regional arms control agreement, by the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro). 330

3. Scope

The 713 sanctions regime consisted of an arms embargo that was initially applied against Yugoslavia and then maintained against all that country's successor states.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the 713 sanctions regime, all states were required to implement immediately a general and complete embargo on all deliveries of weapons and military equipment to Yugoslavia.³³¹ The embargo was maintained after Yugoslavia dissolved, when the Security Council decided, at the UNSG's suggestion, that it should continue to apply to 'all areas that have been part of Yugoslavia'.³³² It thus morphed into an embargo against the provision of weapons and military equipment to all the successor states of the former Yugoslavia.

³²⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 6.

³²⁷ SC Res. 721 (27 November 1991), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 743 (21 February 1992), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 5.

³²⁸ SC Res. 724 (15 December 1991), para. 5; SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 6.

³²⁹ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6.

³³⁰ SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), para. 1.

³³¹ SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6.

³³² SC Res. 727 (8 January 1992), para. 6. For the UNSG's suggestion, see: S/23363 and Add.1 (5 and 7 January 1992), para. 33.

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council did not initially elaborate any exemptions from the arms embargo. In time, however, exemptions were provided for weapons and military equipment being imported into the territories of the former Yugoslavia for the use of UN operations, including the United Nations Protection Force, 333 its successor the Multinational Implementation Force 334 and international police forces. 335

4. Administration and monitoring

During the course of the 713 sanctions regime, the Security Council bestowed responsibility for the administration and monitoring of the sanctions upon the 724 Sanctions Committee.

4.1 The 724 Sanctions Committee

Almost three months after initiating the 713 sanctions regime, the Security Council established the 724 Committee to oversee the embargo's implementation.³³⁶ The Committee was to report to the Council on its work and with its observations and recommendations, and to: (a) examine reports from states regarding implementation of the embargo;³³⁷ (b) seek further information from states regarding action to implement the embargo; 338 (c) consider information concerning violations of the embargo and make recommendations to increase its effectiveness;³³⁹ and (d) recommend appropriate measures in response to violations and provide information to the UNSG for distribution to member states.³⁴⁰ The 724 Committee's mandate in respect of the 713 sanctions regime was not subsequently modified, but the Committee did assume a vast array of responsibilities relating to the administration and monitoring of the 757 FRYSM and 820 Bosnian Serb sanctions regimes. The Committee was ultimately dissolved in November 1996, following the termination of all three sanctions regimes.341

```
    333 SC Res. 743 (21 February 1992), para. 11.
    334 SC Res. 1031 (15 December 1995), para. 22.
    335 SC Res. 724 (15 December 1991), para. 5(b).
    337 Ibid., para. 5(b)(i).
    338 Ibid., para. 5(b)(ii).
    340 Ibid., para. 5(b)(iv).
    341 The Security Council provided for the Committee's dissolution in SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), para. 6. The Committee was accordingly dissolved on 15 November 1996, with the publication of its final report.
```

The 724 Committee held 142 formal meetings, 342 submitting three reports to the Security Council on its activities. 343 In its first report, the Committee noted that it had received a limited amount of information on violations of the embargo and that it was still searching for additional information.³⁴⁴ It appealed to parties with any information relating to actual or suspected violations of the arms embargo to provide it with such information.³⁴⁵ In its second report, the Committee expressed disappointment at the lack of information it had received about alleged sanctions violations, particularly as the media had been 'replete' with reports indicating that the embargo was being breached 'in a blatant manner'. 346 The Committee also observed that the lack of an independent monitoring mechanism had inhibited its ability to obtain information and follow up alleged violations.³⁴⁷ In its final report, the Committee noted that the arms embargo would have been significantly more effective if there had been a system to monitor air and land freight traffic akin to the maritime monitoring that was effected in the Adriatic Sea by the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) and the Western European Union (WEU) and to the monitoring conducted by the EU Sanctions Assistance Missions of land and Danube traffic 348

4.2 The Secretary-General

In December 1991 the UNSG was requested to provide all necessary assistance to the 724 Committee.³⁴⁹ In November 1992, the Council requested that the UNSG co-ordinate the submission by states and regional agencies or arrangements of reports outlining action taken to halt maritime and riparian traffic to verify that cargo was not being transported in violation of the arms embargo.³⁵⁰ The Council also requested the UNSG to submit recommendations for facilitating sanctions implementation by deploying observers on the borders of Bosnia

A/52/2 (1997): Report of the Security Council to the UNGA: 16 June 1996–15 June 1997, p. 273.
 S/23800 (13 April 1992) (First Report of the 724 Committee); S/25027 (30 December 1992) (Second Report of the 724 Committee; S/1996/946 (15 November 1996) (Final Report of the 724 Committee).

³⁴⁴ First Report of the 724 Committee, para. 12. ³⁴⁵ Ibid.

³⁴⁶ Second Report of the 724 Committee, para. 24. ³⁴⁷ Ibid., para. 25.

³⁴⁸ Final Report of the 724 Committee, para. 85.

³⁴⁹ SC Res. 724 (15 December 1991), para. 5(d).

³⁵⁰ SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 14. The Council had authorised states to take such action in the same resolution – see para. 12.

and Herzegovina. 351 In November 1995, the UNSG was requested to play a reporting role leading to the termination of the sanctions. 352

5. Termination

The arms embargo remained in place for almost five years, before being terminated in June 1996. In November 1995 the Council decided that the embargo would be terminated in a staggered manner once the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia, and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) had all signed the Dayton Peace Agreement. 353 Following notice from the UNSG that the parties had signed the Peace Agreement, the arms embargo would continue to be applied for a period of ninety days. 354 During the following ninety days, most of the embargo would cease to apply, with the exception of heavy weapons, military aircraft and helicopters, which would continue to be banned until a regional arms control agreement, which formed part of the Peace Agreement, had taken effect. 355 Ninety days later, upon the submission of a report by the UNSG that the regional arms control agreement had been implemented, the remaining aspects of the arms embargo would be terminated. 356 Ultimately, the arms embargo was terminated completely on 18 June 1996. 357

6. Conclusions

The 713 sanctions regime was notable for a number of reasons. First, the Council's decision to apply sanctions against Yugoslavia represented a clear movement away from the traditional approach to the operation of Chapter VII, likely held by the UN founders, which viewed conventional state-versus-state conflict as the type of breach of or threat to the peace that would require the application of Article 41 or Article 42 measures. Although the Council identified the potential threat posed to other states in the region by the conflict in the Yugoslavia, the application of sanctions implicitly acknowledged that conflicts traditionally viewed as 'internal' and therefore beyond the scope of Chapter VII intervention could in fact pose a threat to international peace and security. Second, the 713 sanctions regime was also the first instance in which sanctions were applied

 ³⁵¹ Ibid., para. 16.
 ³⁵² SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), paras. 1-2.
 ³⁵³ Ibid., para. 1.
 ³⁵⁴ Ibid., para. 1(a).
 ³⁵⁵ Ibid., para. 1(b).
 ³⁵⁶ Ibid., para. 1(c).

³⁵⁷ SCA/8/96(4) (18 June 1996): Note verbale from the Chairman of the 724 Committee to all States.

against a target state that subsequently dissolved. Its continued application against the successor states of the former Yugoslavia thus made it the first sanctions regime to be maintained against targets that were different from the target against which it had originally been applied.

The 713 sanctions regime was also notable for the prominent debate that raged concerning whether it in fact facilitated or undermined the goal of re-establishing peace and stability. It was alleged that the continued application of the arms embargo fuelled the conflict by strengthening the hand of those who were able to circumvent it, such as the Bosnian Serbs, at the expense of others who were not able to acquire arms as readily, such as the Bosnian government. The argument was frequently made before the Security Council that the continued application of the arms embargo was preventing Bosnia and Herzegovina from exercising its inherent right to self-defence under Article 51 of the UN Charter. The Bosnian government initially raised a similar argument before the International Court of Justice as part of multiple claims against the government of Serbia-Montenegro, principally under the Genocide Convention. The serbia-

Those arguing for the lifting of the embargo as it applied to Bosnia and Herzegovina also contended that if the Bosnian government were able to gain more ready access to arms, then the Bosnian Serbs might be deterred from pursuing a policy of aggression and thus be induced to return to the negotiating table. The counter-argument was also made, however, to the effect that an increase in the flow of arms into Bosnia and Herzegovina could only have exacerbated the conflict. Nevertheless, the Bosnian experience raises the question of whether the application of an arms embargo against multiple parties to a conflict serves the goal of

³⁵⁸ For examples of this position, see S/PV.3370 (27 April 1994), pp. 3–5 (Pakistan), pp. 6–7 (Turkey), pp. 8–11 (Malaysia), pp. 11–13 (Islamic Republic of Iran), pp. 14–16 (Saudi Arabia), pp. 16–17 (Tunisia), pp. 17–20 (Egypt), pp. 20–22 (Mr. Algabid), pp. 22–23 (Bosnia and Herzegovina), pp. 24–25 (Oman), pp. 27–28 (Djibouti), pp. 34–36 (Croatia), pp. 36–37 (Sudan), pp. 37–38 (Bangladesh).

See Application of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Bosnia and Herzegovina v. Yugo. (Serbia and Montenegro)), Provisional Measures, 1993 ICJ Rep. 3 (Order of 8 April 1993), 325 (Order of 13 September 1993). For a summary of the legal arguments for terminating the arms embargo against Bosnia and Herzegovina, see Craig Scott, Abid Quresho, Paul Michell, Jasminka Kalajdzic, Peter Copeland and Francis Chang, 'A Memorial for Bosnia: Framework of Legal Arguments Concerning the Lawfulness of the Maintenance of the United Nations Security Council's Arms Embargo on Bosnia and Herzegovina' (1994) 16 Michigan JIL 1–134.

For examples of this position, see S/PV.3370 (27 April 1994), pp. 25–27 (Russian Federation), pp. 28–29 (New Zealand), pp. 29–30 (Canada), pp. 31–32 (Sweden), pp. 32–33 (Mr. Djokic), pp. 33–34 (Norway).

maintaining international peace and security if it results in an imbalance in defensive capacity between those parties.

5. THE 733 SOMALIA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Somalia in January 1992. The Somalia sanctions regime consists of an arms embargo. The only significant modification has been a prohibition upon technical, financial and training assistance connected with military activities in Somalia. The Council has established a number of subsidiary bodies to administer and monitor the 733 sanctions regime, including the 751 Somalia Sanctions Committee, a team and panel of experts and a monitoring group.

1. Constitutional basis

In January 1992 the Security Council adopted resolution 733 (1992), in which it expressed alarm at the rapid deterioration of the situation in Somalia and the heavy loss of human life and widespread material damage resulting from conflict, and noted its awareness of the potential consequences of the conflict for stability and peace in the region. The Council further expressed concern that the continuation of the situation constituted a threat to international peace and security, fecalled its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security, and invoked Chapter VII before imposing an arms embargo against Somalia. In subsequent resolutions related to the arms embargo, the Council has reaffirmed that the situation in Somalia continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security and again invoked Chapter VII.

 $^{^{361}}$ SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), preambular para. 3. 362 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 4. 363 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 5. 364 *Ibid.*, para. 5.

^{SC Res. 751 (24 April 1992), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 767 (27 July 1992), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 775 (28 August 1992), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 794 (3 December 1992), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 954 (4 November 1994), preambular para. 21; SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1725 (6 December 2006), preambular para. 13.}

³⁶⁶ SC Res. 954 (4 November 1994), preambular para. 21; SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), preambular para. 6;

2. Objectives

The objective of the 733 sanctions regime is to establish peace and stability in Somalia.³⁶⁷ The Council has not set any explicit requirements for the termination of the sanctions, simply stating that the embargo would remain in place until it decided otherwise.³⁶⁸

3. Scope

3.1 Sanctions obligations

When the Security Council established the 733 sanctions regime, it required all states to implement immediately a general and complete embargo on all deliveries of weapons and military equipment to Somalia. ³⁶⁹ In July 2002, the Council clarified that the embargo prohibited the financing of all acquisitions and deliveries of weapons and military equipment. ³⁷⁰ It also decided that the embargo prohibited the direct or indirect supply to Somalia of technical advice, financial and other assistance, and training related to military activities. ³⁷¹

3.2 Exemptions

The Council did not initially elaborate any exemptions from the embargo. It is likely, however, that the Council's authorisation of the establishment of the United Nations Operation in Somalia (UNOSOM) and its successor the United Nations Operation in Somalia II (UNOSOM II), as well as of the United Task Force (UNITAF), each of which comprised significant military components and were endowed with a mandate under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, amounted to an implicit exemption from the embargo for those entities and their activities. The Security Council has subsequently exempted: (a) protective clothing for the personal use of UN personnel, representatives of the media and humanitarian and development workers; ³⁷³ (b) supplies of non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use, subject to the approval of the 751 Sanctions

SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), preambular para. 13; SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1725 (6 December 2006), preambular para. 14.

³⁶⁷ SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5. ³⁶⁸ Ibid. ³⁶⁹ Ibid.

³⁷⁰ SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 1. ³⁷¹ *Ibid.*, para. 2.

³⁷² SC Res. 794 (3 December 1992), paras. 6-8, 10-13, 15.

³⁷³ SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), para. 2.

Committee;³⁷⁴ and (c) supplies of weapons and military equipment and technical training and assistance for the support of or use by the peacekeeping mission in Somalia of the Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGASOM).³⁷⁵

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council has called upon a number of actors to perform roles in the administration and monitoring of the 733 sanctions regime, including the UNSG, the 751 Sanctions Committee, UN operations, the Somalia Team and Panel of Experts and the Somalia Monitoring Group.

4.1 The Secretary-General

When the Security Council established the 733 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report on the overall implementation of resolution 733 (1992).³⁷⁶ The Council has since requested the UNSG to: (a) support from within Somalia the implementation of the arms embargo, utilising the forces of UNOSOM II;³⁷⁷ (b) make recommendations regarding more effective measures; ³⁷⁸ (c) establish a preparatory team of experts on the Somalia embargo; 379 (d) work with various parties with the capacity to contribute to monitoring and enforcement of the embargo; 380 (e) establish the Panel of Experts on the Somalia embargo; ³⁸¹ (f) report on technical assistance to enhance administrative and judicial capacities throughout Somalia to monitor and give effect to the embargo;³⁸² (g) report on measures taken by states to ensure the effective implementation of the embargo; 383 (h) implement the Council's decision to re-establish the Panel of Experts; 384 and (i) establish and re-establish the Somalia Monitoring Group and make financial arrangements to support its work.³⁸⁵

```
    <sup>374</sup> Ibid., paras. 3-4.
    <sup>375</sup> SC Res. 1725 (6 December 2006), para. 5.
    <sup>376</sup> SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 10.
    <sup>377</sup> SC Res. 814 (26 March 1993), para. 10.
    <sup>378</sup> Ibid.
    <sup>379</sup> SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), para. 1.
    <sup>380</sup> Ibid., para. 7.
    <sup>381</sup> SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), paras. 4-.
    <sup>382</sup> Ibid., para. 14.
    <sup>383</sup> Ibid.
```

³⁸⁴ SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), paras. 4-5.

SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), paras. 2-3; SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), paras. 3-4;
 SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), paras. 3-4; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), paras. 3-4;
 SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), paras. 3-4; SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), paras. 3-4.

4.2 The 751 Sanctions Committee

The Security Council established the 751 Somalia Sanctions Committee three months after imposing the 733 arms embargo. 386 The 751 Committee was to report to the Council with its observations and recommendations and to: (a) seek information from states regarding action taken to implement the arms embargo; 387 (b) consider information on embargo violations and make recommendations on increasing the embargo's effectiveness;³⁸⁸ and (c) recommend appropriate measures in response to violations of the embargo and provide information on a regular basis to the UNSG for general distribution to member states.³⁸⁹ Among the Committee's subsequent tasks were to: (d) seek the co-operation of states neighbouring Somalia in the effective implementation of the embargo; ³⁹⁰ (e) decide upon requests for exemptions for non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use;³⁹¹ (f) forward to the Council the report of the team of experts:³⁹² (g) notify the Council of any lack of co-operation with it or the team of experts; ³⁹³ (h) send a mission, led by the Chairman, to the region to demonstrate the Council's determination to give full effect to the arms embargo; ³⁹⁴ and (i) recommend ways to improve the implementation of and compliance with the arms embargo, including ways to develop capacity of states in the region to implement the arms embargo. 395

Since 1996, the 751 Committee has issued regular annual reports.³⁹⁶ The Committee has not been among the most active of sanctions committees, holding on average fewer than two formal meetings per year during its first eleven years.³⁹⁷ In fact, the number of meetings held by the 751 Committee over its first decade amounted to less than the total

³⁸⁶ SC Res. 751 (24 April 1992), para. 11. ³⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 11(a). ³⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 11(b).

³⁸⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 11(c). ³⁹⁰ SC Res. 954 (4 November 1994), para. 12.

³⁹¹ SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), para. 4. ³⁹² SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), para. 2.

³⁹³ *Ibid.*, para. 7.

³⁹⁴ SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), para. 8; SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 6; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 7; SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 7.

³⁹⁵ SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 6; SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 6; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 6; SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 6; SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 6.

³⁹⁶ See Appendix 3, Table F.

³⁹⁷ The Committee had only met on nineteen occasions from the time of its establishment in April 1992 to the end of July 2002: A/57/2 (2002): Report of the Security Council: 16 June 2001–31 July 2002, p. 53.

held by the Iraq Sanctions Committee in its first five months. ³⁹⁸ The 751 Committee's annual reports have tended to be brief, with few substantive recommendations or observations. The Committee has consistently noted that its ability to monitor the sanctions is dependent upon the co-operation of states and organisations in a position to provide it with pertinent information. ³⁹⁹ The Committee has increased its activities since 2002, owing largely to the establishment of expert bodies to explore the implementation of the arms embargo. It held three formal meetings in each of 2004 and 2005. ⁴⁰⁰ By the end of 2005 the Committee had held a total of 32 formal meetings. ⁴⁰¹

4.3 United Nations operations in Somalia

In December 1992 the Security Council, acting under Chapter VII, authorised the UNSG and member states co-operating with him to use all necessary means to establish a secure environment for humanitarian relief operations in Somalia. 402 As a result of that decision, two peace-enforcement operations were established – the United Task Force (UNITAF), led by the United States, and an expanded and strengthened United Nations Operation in Somalia (UNOSOM II). 403 When the Council established UNOSOM II it requested the UNSG to support the implementation of the 733 arms embargo from within Somalia, utilising the forces of UNOSOM II. 404 Although the UNSG did not subsequently report explicitly on action taken by UNOSOM II to implement the 733 embargo, he nevertheless referred consistently to actions taken by the Operation to bring about the disarmament of the various factions within Somalia. 405

From its establishment in April 1992 until the end of 2001 the 751 Committee held 18 meetings: Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 2001 (New York, UN, 2002), p. xiii. In contrast, the 661 Committee held 22 meetings between August and December 1990 alone: Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1990 (New York, UN, 1991), p. xii.

See, e.g., S/1996/17 (16 January 1996), para. 19; S/1997/16 (7 January 1997), para. 4; S/1998/1226 (28 December 1998), para. 4; S/1999/1283 (28 December 1999), para. 8; S/2004/1017 (30 December 2004), para. 24; S/2005/813 (20 December 2005, para. 21.

⁴⁰⁰ S/2004/1017 (30 December 2004), paras. 7–20; S/2005/813 (20 December 2005, paras. 8–17.

⁴⁰¹ S/2005/813 (20 December 2005), para. 15.

⁴⁰² SC Res. 794 (3 December 1992), para. 10. ⁴⁰³ SC Res. 814 (26 March 1993), paras. 5–6.

⁴⁰⁴ SC Res. 814 (26 March 1993), para. 10.

⁴⁰⁵ See, e.g., S/26317 (17 August 1993), paras. 14–18; S/26738 (12 November 1993), paras. 38–40, 83–84.

4.4 The Team and Panel of Experts on Somalia

In May 2002 the Council requested the UNSG to establish a team of two experts to prepare for the creation of a Panel of Experts on the Somalia arms embargo. 406 The preparatory team was to: (a) investigate embargo violations; (b) report on violations and enforcement of the embargo; (c) undertake field research in Somalia, states neighbouring Somalia and other states; (d) assess the capacity of states in the region to implement the embargo fully; and (e) provide recommendations on practical steps for strengthening enforcement of the embargo. 407 The preparatory team submitted its report in early July 2002. 408 It noted that there was a common perception that the embargo had not been enforced effectively. 409 In order to improve the embargo's enforcement, the Council could: (a) clarify the scope of the embargo, making it clear that the provision of financing and services that support military activities in Somalia were a violation of the embargo; 410 (b) enhance end-user verification; 411 (c) establish a Panel of Experts in the region; 412 and (d) promote transparency and accountability in Somali financial institutions.413

In late July 2002, shortly after the publication of the preparatory team's report, the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Panel of Experts on the Somalia embargo, consisting of three members, for a period of six months. ⁴¹⁴ It was subsequently re-established for a further period of six months and expanded to four members. ⁴¹⁵ The Panel was to assume the same responsibilities as the preparatory team and to: (a) take into account the preparatory team's recommendations concerning methodology; ⁴¹⁶ (b) notify the Council, through the 751 Committee, of any lack of co-operation it experienced; ⁴¹⁷ (c) brief the Chairman of the 751 Committee prior to his scheduled mission to the region; ⁴¹⁸ and (d) brief the Council, through the Committee, in November 2002. ⁴¹⁹

In April 2003, when the Panel was re-established, the Council further requested the Panel to: (a) focus on ongoing violations of the embargo, including transfers of ammunition, single use weapons and small arms;⁴²⁰ (b) identify those who continued to violate the embargo inside

```
    406 SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), para. 1.
    407 Ibid.
    408 S/2002/722 (3 July 2002).
    409 Ibid., para. 27.
    410 Ibid., paras. 63-68.
    411 Ibid., paras. 69-71.
    412 Ibid., paras. 72-79.
    413 Ibid., paras. 80-81.
    414 SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 3.
    415 SC Res. 1427 (8 April 2003), paras. 3-4.
    416 SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), para. 5.
    417 Ibid., para. 9.
    418 Ibid., para. 10.
    419 Ibid.
    420 SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), para. 3.
    420 SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), para. 3.
```

and outside Somalia, as well as their active supporters, and provide the 751 Committee with a draft list for possible future actions; ⁴²¹ (c) explore the possibility of establishing a monitoring mechanism for the implementation of the embargo, with partners inside and outside Somalia, in co-operation with regional and international organisations, including the AU; ⁴²² (d) refine the recommendations provided in the Panel's first report; ⁴²³ and (e) brief the Council, through the 751 Committee, on its work in the middle of its term and report again at the end of its mandate. ⁴²⁴

The Somalia Panel of Experts submitted two reports. 425 In its first report, the Panel concluded that the arms embargo had no normative value as it had been consistently violated since its imposition. 426 The Security Council and the 751 Committee should therefore send a clear signal that, in future, the embargo would be enforced vigorously and its violators penalised. 427 The Panel also recommended that: (a) a system should be created to prevent the forging and abuse of end-user certificates for arms sales; 428 (b) the Committee should draw up a list of individuals deemed to be in violation of the arms embargo, against whom financial sanctions might be implemented; 429 (c) targeted travel sanctions might be implemented against those individuals who had been violating the embargo and against whom financial sanctions were ineffective; 430 (d) where individuals who systematically violated the embargo were closely affiliated with political institutions, their representative privileges could be revoked; 431 and (e) the Panel's mandate should be extended for six months in order to investigate further violations of the embargo and to organise a Somali-based effort to identify and impede embargo violators. 432 In its second report, the Panel noted a continuing 'microflow' of arms into Somalia from neighbouring countries. 433 It recommended that a monitoring mechanism be established to improve the embargo's effectiveness. 434 It also urged that there should be improved co-operation between international, regional and sub-regional organisations, as well as with member states and non-state actors involved in disarmament, demobilisation, cease-fire monitoring and anti-criminal and counterterrorism activities. 435

 ⁴²¹ Ibid. ⁴²² Ibid. ⁴²³ Ibid. ⁴²⁴ Ibid., para. 7.
 ⁴²⁵ S/2003/223 (25 March 2003); S/2003/1035 (4 November 2003).
 ⁴²⁶ S/2003/223 (25 March 2003), paras. 172–175. ⁴²⁷ Ibid. ⁴²⁸ Ibid., para. 187.
 ⁴²⁹ Ibid., para. 188. ⁴³⁰ Ibid., para. 189. ⁴³¹ Ibid., para. 190. ⁴³² Ibid., para. 191.
 ⁴³³ S/2003/1035 (4 November 2003), para. 173. ⁴³⁴ Ibid., para. 174. ⁴³⁵ Ibid., para. 176.

4.5 The Somalia Monitoring Group

In December 2003, the Council requested the UNSG to establish a Somalia Monitoring Group. 436 The Monitoring Group has been re-established numerous times. 437 The Security Council has tasked the Group with various responsibilities, including to: (a) investigate violations of the arms embargo; 438 (b) make recommendations for strengthening the embargo's implementation; 439 (c) undertake field investigations in Somalia, neighbouring states and other appropriate states; 440 (d) assess progress made by states in the region in implementing the embargo, including by reviewing national customs and border control regimes; 441 (e) compile a draft list of embargo violators both in and outside Somalia, for possible future measures by the Council;⁴⁴² (f) refine and update that list; 443 (g) assess action taken by Somali authorities and member states to implement the embargo; 444 (h) work with the 751 Committee on recommendations for additional measures to improve compliance with the embargo; 445 (i) identify how to strengthen the capacity of states in the region to facilitate embargo implementation; 446 (j) investigate activities generating revenue used to violate the embargo; 447 and (k) investigate means of transport, routes, seaports, airports and other facilities used in connection with embargo violations 448

⁴³⁶ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2.

⁴⁴¹ *Ibid.*, para. 2(d). ⁴⁴² *Ibid.*, para. 2(e).

444 SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(b).

⁴³⁷ SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3; SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3; SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3; SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3; SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3.

⁴³⁸ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2(a); SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3(a); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(a).

⁴³⁹ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2(b); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(c).

⁴⁴⁰ SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 2(c).

⁴⁴³ SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(d).

⁴⁴⁵ SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 3(d); SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(f); SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(f); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(f); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(f).

⁴⁴⁶ SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), para. 3(g); SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(g); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(g); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(g).

⁴⁴⁷ SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(b).

⁴⁴⁸ SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), para. 3(c); SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), para. 3(c); SC Res. 1724 (29 November 2006), para. 3(c).

The Somalia Monitoring Group has submitted regular reports to the Security Council. 449 The Group has observed a steady flow of arms into and out of Somalia, largely by road and sea. 450 Customs authorities along Somalia's borders lacked the capacity and sometimes the will to implement the arms embargo. 451 Moreover, sophisticated criminal networks were engaged both in smuggling arms and in raising the funds required to purchase arms. 452 Alleged violators of the arms embargo included both the Transitional Federal Government of Somalia and major opposition groups. 453 Among the commodities and resources used to raise revenue to purchase arms were marine fisheries and charcoal. 454 Acts of piracy had also been carried out in and around Somali waters, with the aim of extracting ransoms with which to procure arms. 455 The arms being imported into Somalia were traced as having originated from various countries, including Djibouti, 456 Eritrea, 457 Ethiopia, 458 Italy, 459 Saudi Arabia 460 and Yemen. 461 Kenya was identified as one destination for arms flows out of Somalia. 462 The Monitoring Group has also reported that Somalis did not believe that the purchase of arms inside Somalia constituted a violation of the arms embargo.463

The Somalia Monitoring Group has recommended that the Security Council broaden the 733 sanctions regime to target the export from Somalia of charcoal and fish. 464 It has also recommended that technical assistance be provided to states requiring such assistance to combat arms smuggling. 465 The Group has also prepared a list of suspected embargo violators, against whom a travel ban and assets freeze could be imposed at a later date. 466

```
See Appendix 3, Table H.
S/2004/604 (11 August 2004), paras. 3, 41; S/2005/153 (9 March 2005), paras. 9-14, 19; S/2005/625 (4 October 2005), paras. 8, 116; S/2006/229 (4 May 2006), para. 8.
S/2004/604 (11 August 2004), paras. 11, 41.
S/2005/153 (9 March 2005), paras. 10, 15-16, 34.
S/2005/625 (4 October 2005), paras. 8, 116; S/2006/229 (4 May 2006), para. 8.
S/2005/625 (4 October 2005), paras. 88-99.
S/2005/625 (4 October 2005), paras. 15-21.
Ibid., paras. 13-14.
Ibid., paras. 15-21.
S/2004/604 (11 August 2004), para. 65; S/2005/625 (4 October 2005), paras. 23-35; S/2006/229 (4 May 2006), paras. 22-24.
S/2006/229 (4 May 2006), paras. 25-27.
Ibid., paras. 30-31.
Ibid., paras. 30-31.
Ibid., paras. 66.
Ibid., para. 66.
Ibid., para. 66.
```

⁴⁶⁴ S/2005/625 (4 October 2005), para. 119; S/2006/229 (4 May 2006), para. 159.

⁴⁶⁵ S/2006/229 (4 May 2006), para. 139. ⁴⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 165.

5. Conclusions

In its first decade the 733 sanctions regime was one of the most neglected UN sanctions regimes. In the late 1990s, reports of violations were commonplace and the 733 regime gained a reputation for being honoured more in the breach than the observation. As mentioned above, the Committee had met on average less than twice a year in its first decade. Since 2002, however, the Security Council has undertaken a number of monitoring initiatives designed to improve implementation of the 733 sanctions regime. It thus established the first preliminary team of experts to pave the way for a Panel of Experts. In establishing the team and subsequent Panel of Experts and Monitoring Group, the Council appears to have drawn lessons from its experiences with the creation of expert and monitoring bodies created to explore the implementation of a number of other sanctions regimes.

6. THE 748 LIBYA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council established sanctions against Libya in March 1992, with the objective of ensuring that the Libyan government co-operated with investigations into the terrorist bombings of two international flights, American airline Pan Am's flight 103 and the French airline UTA's flight 772. Pan Am flight 103 was destroyed above Lockerbie in Scotland in December 1988, resulting in 270 deaths. UTA flight 772 was destroyed on 19 September 1989, resulting in 171 deaths. 467

The 748 sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo and aviation, travel and diplomatic sanctions. The Council established a Sanctions Committee to administer the sanctions. The regime was subsequently expanded to incorporate financial sanctions, further aviation sanctions, and sanctions against particular items used in the refinement and export of oil. It was suspended in April 1999, after Libya transferred two Lockerbie bombing suspects to the Netherlands for trial before a Scottish court. They were eventually terminated in September 2003, after the Libyan government sent a letter to the President of the Security Council detailing steps taken to comply with its obligations under the 748 sanctions regime.

⁴⁶⁷ For further details, see S/1999/726 (30 June 1999), paras. 15-16.

1. Constitutional basis

In January 1992 the Security Council adopted resolution 731 (1992), in which it characterised acts of terrorism as a threat to international peace and security, ⁴⁶⁸ and expressed deep concern that investigations into the Pan Am and UTA bombings had implicated Libyan government officials. ⁴⁶⁹ The Council deplored the fact that the Libyan government had not yet co-operated with attempts to establish responsibility for the bombings, ⁴⁷⁰ and urged it to co-operate with international investigations. ⁴⁷¹

Four months later, after Libya had failed to respond, the Council imposed sanctions. In resolution 748 (1992), the Council stated that the suppression of acts of terrorism was 'essential for the maintenance of international peace and security'. 472 It reaffirmed that, in accordance with Article 2(4) of the UN Charter, every state had the duty to refrain from organising, instigating, assisting or participating in terrorist acts in another state or acquiescing in organised activities within its territory directed towards the commission of such acts, when such acts involved a threat or use of force. 473 The Council then determined that the Libyan government's failure to demonstrate by concrete steps its renunciation of terrorism, as well as its failure to respond fully and effectively to the requests of resolution 731 (1992), constituted a threat to international peace and security. 474 It invoked Chapter VII, 475 then applied sanctions. 476 When the Council subsequently strengthened the sanctions regime, it reaffirmed the existence of a threat to the peace⁴⁷⁷ and again invoked Chapter VII.478

2. Objectives

The objectives of the Libya sanctions regime were to ensure that the Libyan government co-operated with French, British and American investigations into the bombings, committed itself definitively to ceasing all forms of terrorism and all assistance to terrorist groups and demonstrated by concrete actions its renunciation of terrorism. ⁴⁷⁹ The

 ⁴⁶⁸ SC Res. 731 (21 January 1992), preambular para. 2.
 469 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6.
 470 *Ibid.*, para. 2.
 471 *Ibid.*, para. 3.

⁴⁷² SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), preambular para. 4. ⁴⁷³ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 6. ⁴⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 7. ⁴⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10. ⁴⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 3–6.

 ⁴⁷⁷ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), preambular para. 6.
 478 Ibid., preambular para. 10.
 479 SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 1–2.

Security Council made it clear that the sanctions would terminate once it was satisfied that the Libyan government had complied with those objectives. In November 1993 the Security Council provided that sanctions might be suspended if the UNSG were to report that the Libyan government had ensured the appearance of those charged with the Pan Am bombing before the appropriate UK or US court and had satisfied French judicial authorities with respect to the UTA bombing. In August 1998, after negotiations had led to the proposal that two individuals suspected of involvement in the Pan Am bombing be tried before a Scottish court sitting in the Netherlands, the Council decided that sanctions would be suspended immediately if the UNSG were to report to it that the suspects had arrived in the Netherlands to be tried before the Scottish court, or if they had appeared for trial before an appropriate court in the United Kingdom or the United States.

3. Scope

The sanctions regime initially consisted of a range of measures, including aviation sanctions, an arms embargo, diplomatic sanctions, and travel sanctions. The Security Council subsequently expanded the sanctions, adding financial sanctions, measures targeting Libya's oil production, and additional aviation sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

In resolution 748 (1992), the Security Council imposed a range of measures against Libya, including aviation, arms, diplomatic and travel sanctions. The aviation sanctions required states to: (a) deny permission to any aircraft to take off from, land in, or overfly their territory if it was destined to land in or had taken off from the territory of Libya; ⁴⁸⁴ (b) prohibit the supply of any aircraft or aircraft components to Libya, and the provision of aircraft engineering or servicing of, or airworthiness certification or aircraft insurance to, Libyan aircraft; ⁴⁸⁵ and (c) prevent the operation of all Libyan Arab Airlines offices. ⁴⁸⁶ The arms sanctions required states to prevent the provision to Libya of arms and related material, ⁴⁸⁷ as well as technical advice, assistance or training related to

Ibid., para. 3. 481 SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 16.
 S/1998/795 (24 August 1998). 483 SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 8.
 SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 4(a). 485 Ibid., para. 4(b). 486 Ibid., para. 6(b).
 Ibid., para. 5(a).

the provision, manufacture, maintenance or use thereof, ⁴⁸⁸ and to withdraw any officials or agents present in Libya to advise the Libyan authorities on military matters. ⁴⁸⁹ On the diplomatic front, states were required to reduce staff at Libyan diplomatic missions and consulates and to restrict the movement of staff remaining in their territory. ⁴⁹⁰ The travel sanctions against Libyan terrorists required states to deny entry to or expel Libyan nationals who had been denied entry to or expelled from other states due to involvement in terrorist activities. ⁴⁹¹

In November 1993, the Council imposed financial sanctions, targeted economic sanctions and additional aviation sanctions. The financial sanctions required states to freeze funds or other financial resources owned or controlled by the government or public authorities of Libya or any Libyan undertaking, and to ensure that no financial resources were made available to or for the benefit of such Libyan entities. 492 The targeted sanctions prohibition required states to prevent the export to Libya of particular goods used in the refinement and export of oil, including pumps, boilers, furnaces and prepared catalysts. 493 The additional aviation sanctions required states to: (a) ensure the immediate closure of all Libyan Arab Airlines offices within their territories; 494 (b) prohibit any commercial transactions with Libyan Arab Airlines by their nationals or from their territory, including the honouring or endorsement of any tickets or other documents issued by that airline; 495 (c) prohibit the provision for operation within Libya of any aircraft, aircraft components, or engineering or servicing of aircraft and aircraft components: 496 (d) prohibit the supply of any materials destined for the construction, improvement or maintenance of Libyan airfields, or of engineering or other services for the maintenance of Libyan airfields; 497 (e) prohibit the provision of advice, assistance, or training to Libyan pilots, flight engineers, or aircraft and ground maintenance personnel associated with the operation of aircraft and airfields within Libya; 498 and (f) prohibit the renewal of any direct insurance for Libyan aircraft. 499

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council outlined a number of exemptions from the 748 sanctions regime. The Council exempted from the aviation sanctions

```
    Hid., para. 5(b).
    Jibid., para. 5(c).
    Ibid., para. 6(a).
    Koras. 883 (11 November 1993), paras. 3-4.
    Ibid., para. 6(a).
    Ibid., para. 6(b).
    Ibid., para. 6(c).
    Ibid., para. 6(c).
    Ibid., para. 6(c).
    Ibid., para. 6(d).
```

particular flights approved by the 748 Committee on the ground of significant humanitarian need, 500 emergency and other equipment and services directly related to civilian air traffic control, 501 and UN aircraft connected with the deployment of a team of UN observers to monitor the withdrawal of Libya from the Aouzou strip. The Council also exempted from the financial sanctions funds derived from the sale or supply of petroleum or petroleum products, including natural gas and natural gas products, or agricultural products or commodities originating in Libya. 503

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration of the 748 sanctions regime upon the 748 Sanctions Committee and the UNSG.

4.1 The 748 Sanctions Committee

The Council created the 748 Libya Sanctions Committee in the same resolution that imposed sanctions. 504 The 748 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the Security Council's provisional rules of procedure, was to report to the Council on its work and with its observations and recommendations and to: (a) examine the reports of states on measures taken to implement sanctions;⁵⁰⁵ (b) seek further information from states regarding action taken to implement sanctions: 506 (c) consider any information brought to its attention by states concerning sanctions violations and make recommendations to the Council to increase their effectiveness;⁵⁰⁷ (d) recommend appropriate measures in response to sanctions violations;⁵⁰⁸ (e) provide regular information to the UNSG for distribution to member states;⁵⁰⁹ (f) decide expeditiously applications by states for the approval of flights on grounds of significant humanitarian need;⁵¹⁰ and (g) give special attention to Article 50 communications concerning special economic problems arising from sanctions implementation.⁵¹¹

```
    500 SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 4(a).
    501 SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 6(d).
    502 SC Res. 910 (14 April 1994), para. 1; SC Res. 915 (4 May 1994), para. 4.
    503 SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), paras. 3-4.
    504 SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 9.
    505 Ibid., para. 9(b).
    507 Ibid., para. 9(c).
    508 Ibid., para. 9(d).
    509 Ibid., para. 9(e).
    511 Ibid., para. 9(f).
```

The Security Council subsequently added a number of tasks to the 748 Committee's responsibilities, including to: (a) modify the guidelines for sanctions implementation to reflect the additional measures imposed; 512 (b) examine requests for assistance under Article 50 and make recommendations for appropriate action; 513 (c) draw to the attention of member states their obligations under the sanctions regime in the event that Libyan-registered aircraft were to land in their territory; 514 (d) investigate reports that a Libyan-registered aircraft had flown from Tripoli to Accra, in apparent violation of the sanctions; 515 and (e) investigate similar reports concerning a Libyan-registered aircraft that allegedly flew from Libya to Niger, before returning from Nigeria. 516

The 748 Committee was eventually dissolved in September 2003, when the sanctions were terminated, although it had not been active since sanctions were suspended in 1999. During its tenure, the Committee held ninety-one formal meetings and issued five annual reports. In its reports, the 748 Committee, like other sanctions committees, noted that the full responsibility for sanctions implementation rested upon states. It also outlined some of the exemptions which it had provided from the air sanctions, including for medical evacuation purposes and for flights carrying people undertaking the Hajj pilgrimage. Finally, the Committee also made reference to alleged sanctions violations, which were almost all related to the aviation sanctions.

4.2 The Secretary-General

In January 1992, the Security Council requested the UNSG to seek the co-operation of the Libyan government with investigations into the Pan Am and UTA bombings. ⁵²³ When it established the 748 sanctions regime, it invited the UNSG to continue playing that role, ⁵²⁴ to receive

 $^{^{512}\,}$ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 9. $^{513}\,$ *Ibid.*, para. 10.

⁵¹⁴ S/PRST/1996/18 (18 April 1996); S/PRST/1997/18 (4 April 1997).

⁵¹⁵ S/PRST/1997/2 (29 January 1997). ⁵¹⁶ S/PRST/1997/27 (20 May 1997).

⁵¹⁷ SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), para. 2.

⁵¹⁸ Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1999 (New York, UN, 2000) p. xiii.

⁵¹⁹ See Appendix 3, Table F. ⁵²⁰ S/1996/2 (2 January 1996), para. 6.

 ⁵²¹ S/1996/2 (2 January 1996), paras. 21–30; S/1996/1079 (31 December 1996), paras. 5–9;
 S/1997/1030 (31 December 1997), paras. 3–7; S/1998/1237 (31 December 1998), paras. 3–7; S/1999/1299 (31 December 1999), paras. 3–6.

 ⁵²² S/1996/2 (2 january 1996), paras. 31–32; S/1996/1079 (31 December 1996), paras. 10–14;
 S/1997/1030 (31 December 1997), paras. 8–10; S/1998/1237 (31 December 1998), paras.
 8–14; S/1999/1299 (31 December 1999), para. 7.

⁵²³ SC Res. 731 (21 January 1992), para. 4. ⁵²⁴ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 12.

reports submitted by states on measures taken to implement sanctions, ⁵²⁵ and to provide assistance to the 748 Committee. ⁵²⁶ The Security Council subsequently requested the UNSG to: (a) report to it in the event that Libya had ensured the appearance before the appropriate UK or US court of those charged with the Pan Am bombing and had satisfied French judicial authorities with respect to the UTA bombing, in which case the sanctions would be suspended; ⁵²⁷ (b) in the event that sanctions were suspended following that initial report, report again within ninety days on Libya's compliance with the remaining objectives, in the absence of which the suspension of the sanctions would lapse; ⁵²⁸ (c) assist the Libyan government with arrangements for the safe transfer of the two accused from Libya to the Netherlands; ⁵²⁹ and (d) nominate international observers to attend the trial. ⁵³⁰

5. Suspension and termination

The Security Council first provided for the possibility that the sanctions against Libya might be suspended in November 1993, when it made such suspension conditional upon the appearance of those charged with the Pan Am bombing before an appropriate UK or US court and upon the French judicial authorities being satisfied with steps taken by the Libyan government to implement the sentences of those found guilty *in absentia* of the UTA bombing.⁵³¹ The Council subsequently modified these conditions so that sanctions would be suspended once the UNSG reported to the Council that the two accused of the Pan Am bombing had arrived in the Netherlands for the purpose of being tried before a Scottish court and that the Libyan government had satisfied the French judicial authorities with regard to the UTA bombing.⁵³² The sanctions were in fact suspended on 5 April 1999, after the UNSG reported that the conditions for suspension had been satisfied.⁵³³

The ultimate termination of the sanctions was complicated by the question of whether Libya had fully complied with the objectives of the 748 sanctions regime. In June 1999 the UNSG submitted a report to the Council, in which he suggested that the Libyan government had

 ⁵²⁵ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 8.
 527 SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 16.
 528 Ibid.

⁵²⁹ SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 5. 530 *Ibid.*, para. 6.

⁵³¹ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 16. ⁵³² SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 8.

⁵³³ SC/6662 (5 April 1999): Statement by the President of the Security Council to the press; S/PRST/1999/10 (8 April 1999).

largely demonstrated compliance with the remaining objectives of the sanctions. More than four years later, in September 2003, the Security Council welcomed a letter from the representative of Libya which recounted steps taken by the Libyan government to comply with its obligations connected with the sanctions regime. Those steps included accepting responsibility for the actions of Libyan officials, paying appropriate compensation, renouncing terrorism, and making a commitment to co-operate with further investigations. The Council proceeded to lift the sanctions and dissolve the 748 Committee. Safe

6. Conclusions

The Libyan sanctions regime contributed to the evolution of sanctions practice in a number of ways. First, it represented the first occasion on which the Security Council had imposed sanctions in connection with an act of terrorism. Second, it was the first sanctions regime to consist of more than a simple arms embargo and less than comprehensive sanctions. Third, it gave rise to the first instance of sanctioning in which the application of the sanctions was not immediate, as the Council provided for a short time-delay prior to the entry into force of the sanctions. Fourth, the Council made explicit references to specific provisions of the UN Charter, including Articles 2(4)⁵³⁸ and 50.⁵³⁹ Fifth, the Council adopted the strategy of inducing compliance by articulating particular objectives, the realisation of which would result in the sanctions being suspended and terminated. Finally, the Libya sanctions regime possesses the dubious honour of being the sanctions regime which has been suspended for the longest period.

In political terms, it is noteworthy that the resolutions applying or modifying the sanctions against Libya received less than unanimous support. Resolution 748 (1992), initiating the sanctions regime, received ten votes in favour, none against and five abstentions (Cape Verde,

⁵³⁴ S/1999/726 (30 June 1999), Section IV, paras. 18–36.

⁵³⁵ SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), preambular para. 3. For the text of the letter itself, see: S/2003/818 (15 August 2003).

⁵³⁶ SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), paras. 1–2.

⁵³⁷ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 3; SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 2.

⁵³⁸ SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), preambular para. 6.

⁵³⁹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 9; SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), preambular para. 9.

⁵⁴⁰ SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), para. 16.

China, India, Morocco and Zimbabwe). S41 Resolution 883 (1993), strengthening the sanctions, received eleven votes in favour, none against and four abstentions (China, Djibouti, Morocco and Pakistan). While this did not affect the legal consequences flowing from the application of the Libya sanctions, it nevertheless demonstrated that the decisions relating to the application of the 748 sanctions regime did not enjoy the same degree of support as most other sanctions regimes. In legal terms, the Libya sanctions regime was notable because the events in response to which the sanctions were applied gave rise to two major examples of legal action. First, the Libyan government brought a case before the International Court of Justice alleging that the United States and United Kingdom's demand that it extradite terrorist suspects violated its rights under the 1971 Montreal Convention on Air Safety. Second, the two Lockerbie suspects were ultimately tried before a Scottish Court temporarily located in the Netherlands.

7. THE 757 SANCTIONS REGIME AGAINST THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF YUGOSLAVIA (SERBIA AND MONTENEGRO)

In May 1992 the Security Council imposed sanctions against the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) (FRYSM) in order to induce it to cease engaging in acts of interference in Bosnia-Herzegovina. The sanctions regime consisted of a complex blend of economic, financial, diplomatic, sporting and cultural sanctions, the concrete objectives of which evolved in response to developments on the ground. The sanctions were suspended gradually over a period of twelve months, beginning in September 1994. Ultimately, the 757 sanctions regime was terminated in October 1996, after free and fair elections had been held in Bosnia and Herzegovina. The Council entrusted responsibility for administering the 757 sanctions regime to the 724 Yugoslavia Sanctions Committee.

⁵⁴¹ S/PV.3063 (31 March 1992), p. 65. ⁵⁴² S/PV.3312 (11 November 1993), p. 39.

See Case Concerning Questions of Interpretation and Application of the 1971 Montreal Convention
 Arising from the Aerial Incident at Lockerbie (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya v. US/Libyan Arab Jamahiriya v. UK). Provisional Measures, ICJ Rep. 1992 (orders of 14 April 1992).

⁵⁴⁴ For the Opinion of the Scottish Court in that case, see S/2001/1994 (31 January 2001), annex.

1. Constitutional basis

On 15 May 1992, the Security Council adopted resolution 752 (1992), in which it expressed deep concern about the serious situation in certain parts of the former Yugoslavia and in particular about the rapid and violent deterioration of the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina. The Council then demanded that: (a) all parties and others concerned in Bosnia and Herzegovina stop fighting immediately; bl all forms of interference from outside Bosnia and Herzegovina cease immediately; c) Bosnia and Herzegovina's neighbours take swift action to end all interference in and respect the territorial integrity of Bosnia and Herzegovina; d) the Yugoslav People's Army be disbanded and disarmed; and (e) all irregular forces in Bosnia and Herzegovina also be disbanded and disarmed.

Two weeks later, on 30 May 1992, the Security Council adopted resolution 757 (1992), in which it deplored the fact that its demands had not been complied with, ⁵⁵¹ recalled its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security, ⁵⁵² and determined that the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina and other parts of the former Yugoslavia constituted a threat to international peace and security. ⁵⁵³ The Council then invoked Chapter VII, ⁵⁵⁴ before proceeding to impose comprehensive sanctions against FRYSM. ⁵⁵⁵ In subsequent decisions related to the sanctions regime, the Council reaffirmed the continued existence of a threat to international peace and security ⁵⁵⁶ and again invoked Chapter VII. ⁵⁵⁷

⁵⁴⁵ SC Res. 752 (15 May 1992), preambular para. 3. ⁵⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 1.

⁵⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 3. ⁵⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 3. ⁵⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 4. ⁵⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 5.

 ⁵⁵¹ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), preambular para. 4.
 552 Ibid., preambular para. 12.
 553 Ibid., preambular para. 17.
 554 Ibid., preambular para. 18.
 555 Ibid., paras. 3-8.

⁵⁵⁶ SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), preambular para.

SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), paras.
 9-10, 12; SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), Section B, preambular para. 2, para. 19; SC Res.
 943 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 10; SC Res. 967 (14 December 1994),
 preambular para. 3; SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), preambular para. 6; SC Res.
 1003 (5 July 1995), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1015 (15 September 1995), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), preambular para. 9.

2. Objectives

The major objective of the 757 sanctions regime was inducing FRYSM's compliance with the demands outlined by the Council in resolution 752 (1992), including adherence to a cease-fire, co-operation with the peace process being initiated by the EC and the effective withdrawal, disbandment or disarmament of all military forces operating in the area, with the exception of UNPROFOR and the forces of the government of Bosnia and Herzegovina. When it established the sanctions regime, the Security Council explicitly stated that the sanctions would be terminated once authorities in FRYSM had taken effective measures to comply with those demands. The sanctions was inducing FRYSM and taken effective measures to comply with those demands.

As the sanctions regime evolved, the Council modified subtly the concrete requirements that needed to be satisfied by FRYSM before the sanctions could be suspended or terminated. In April 1993, the Council expressed readiness to review the sanctions with a view to lifting them gradually after all three Bosnian parties had accepted the Bosnian peace plan and if the UNSG were to verify that the Bosnian Serb party was co-operating in good faith in the plan's implementation. ⁵⁶⁰ In September 1994 the Council suspended certain aspects of the sanctions, with the objective of ensuring the effective closure of the border between FRYSM and Bosnia and Herzegovina to all goods except food-stuffs, medical supplies and clothing for essential humanitarian need. ⁵⁶¹ In November 1995, the Council added the further objectives of the occurrence of free and fair elections in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the continued implementation of the Bosnian Peace Agreement by the Bosnian Serbs. ⁵⁶²

3. Scope

The 757 sanctions regime against FRYSM initially consisted of a range of measures spanning practically the full gamut of possibilities envisaged in Article 41, including comprehensive economic sanctions, as well as financial, aviation, diplomatic, sporting, scientific and cultural sanctions. The Council subsequently modified the sanctions on a number

⁵⁵⁸ SC Res. 752 (15 May 1992), paras. 1-5. ⁵⁵⁹ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 3.

⁵⁶⁰ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10, 31.

⁵⁶¹ SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), paras. 1, 3-4.

⁵⁶² SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 4.

of occasions, both strengthening and relaxing them in an effort to induce FRYSM's compliance with the sanctions regime's objectives.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Resolution 757 (1992) imposed a complex blend of economic, financial, diplomatic, sporting and cultural sanctions. On the economic front, states were required to prevent: (a) the import into their territories of all commodities and products originating in FRYSM;⁵⁶³ (b) activities with the aim of promoting the export of commodities or products originating in FRYSM;⁵⁶⁴ and (c) the export of any commodities or products to FRYSM. 565 The financial sanctions required states to refrain from providing any funds or other financial or economic resources to any commercial, industrial or public utility operating in FRYSM and to prevent the removal of funds or resources from their territories to FRYSM. 566 The aviation sanctions required states to deny permission to any aircraft to take off from, land in, or overfly their territories if it was destined for or had departed from FRYSM and to prohibit the provision of maintenance services and parts in support of aircraft registered in that country. 567 On the diplomatic front, the Council required states to reduce the level of staff at diplomatic missions and consular posts of FRYSM. 568 On the sporting front, states were required to prevent the participation in sporting events on their territory of persons or groups representing FRYSM. 569 On the cultural front, states were required to suspend scientific and technical co-operation and cultural exchanges and visits involving persons or groups officially sponsored by or representing FRYSM.570

In November 1992, the Security Council adopted resolution 787 (1992), in which it strengthened the sanctions by prohibiting the transhipment through FRYSM of particular products and commodities, including crude oil, petroleum products, coal, energy-related equipment, iron, steel, other metals, chemicals, rubber, tyres, vehicles, aircraft and motors of all types. ⁵⁷¹ In April 1993, the Council adopted resolution 820 (1993), strengthening considerably the existing economic and financial sanctions. In connection with the economic sanctions, the Council required states to: (a) prevent all transhipments

 ⁵⁶³ SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4(a).
 564 Ibid., para. 4(b).
 565 Ibid., para. 4(c).
 566 Ibid., para. 5.
 567 Ibid., para. 7(a) and (b).
 568 Ibid., para. 8(a).
 569 Ibid., para. 8(b).
 570 Ibid., para. 8(c).
 571 SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9.

through FRYSM;⁵⁷² (b) prevent the passage through its territories of vessels registered in FRYSM, owned by a person or undertaking from FRYSM or suspected of having violated the sanctions;⁵⁷³ (c) prohibit the transport of any commodities or products across the land borders, or to the ports, of FRYSM;⁵⁷⁴ (d) impound all means of transport owned or operated from FRYSM or suspected of having violated the arms embargo or sanctions;⁵⁷⁵ (e) detain any other means of transport suspected of having violated the embargo or the sanctions;⁵⁷⁶ and (f) prohibit commercial maritime traffic from entering the territorial sea of FRYSM. 577 At the same time, the Council also required states neighbouring FRYSM to prevent the passage into or out of that country of all freight vehicles and rolling stock, except at a limited number of road and rail crossings to be notified to the 724 Committee. ⁵⁷⁸ In connection with the financial sanctions, the Council required states to freeze funds in their territories belonging to or controlled by the authorities of FRYSM or commercial, industrial or public undertakings from FRYSM;⁵⁷⁹ and to prevent the provision of services, financial or otherwise, to any person or body for the purposes of any business carried on in FRYSM. 580

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council provided for a number of initial exemptions from the 757 sanctions regime. It exempted from the economic sanctions: (a) the sale or supply to FRYSM of medical supplies and foodstuffs;⁵⁸¹ (b) transhipment through FRYSM of commodities and products, with the approval of the 724 Committee;⁵⁸² and (c) the activities of UNPROFOR, the CY and the EC Monitoring Mission.⁵⁸³ Exemptions were outlined from the financial sanctions for payments for food, medicine or humanitarian purposes and for payments related to the activities of UNPROFOR, the Conference on Yugoslavia and the EC Monitoring Mission.⁵⁸⁴ Exemptions were also provided from the aviation sanctions for flights made for humanitarian or other purposes consistent with the sanctions regime, when approved by the 724 Committee, and to the activities of UNPROFOR, the CY and the EC Monitoring Mission.⁵⁸⁵

In June 1992, the Security Council exempted from economic sanctions the provision of commodities and products for essential

```
    572 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 15.
    574 Ibid., para. 22.
    575 Ibid., para. 24.
    576 Ibid., para. 25.
    577 Ibid., para. 28.
    581 SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 4(c).
    582 SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 6.
    583 Ibid., para. 10.
    584 Ibid., paras. 5, 10.
    585 Ibid., paras. 7(a), 10.
```

humanitarian need, as approved by the 724 Committee. 586 It also exempted from financial sanctions the provision of financial resources for the purchase of such products and commodities. 587 In November 1992, the Council provided for exemptions from the prohibitions on transhipment under resolution 787 (1992) when authorised on a caseby-case basis by the 724 Committee. 588 In April 1993, the Council outlined exemptions from the prohibitions under resolution 820 (1993) for: (a) transhipment when specifically authorised by the 724 Committee and subject to effective monitoring as they passed along the Danube between the border points of Vidin/Calafat and Mohacs; ⁵⁸⁹ (b) medical supplies and foodstuffs; 590 (c) other essential humanitarian supplies when approved on a case-by-case basis by the 724 Committee;⁵⁹¹ (d) limited transhipments when authorised on an exceptional basis by the Committee; ⁵⁹² (e) maritime traffic entering the ports of FRYSM when authorised on a case-by-case basis by the 724 Committee and in the case of force majeure; 593 and (f) the provision of financial or other services related to telecommunications, postal services and legal services consistent with the sanctions, and, as approved on a case-by-case basis, services whose supply may be necessary for humanitarian or other exceptional purposes. 594

In September 1994, the Council exempted 'clothing for essential humanitarian need'. ⁵⁹⁵ At the same time, it also suspended aspects of the sanctions, including the prohibitions against civilian, non-cargo carrying aircraft, passenger, non-cargo ferries between Bar in FRYSM and Bari in Italy, and participation in sporting events and cultural exchanges. ⁵⁹⁶ In December 1994, the Council provided a temporary exemption for the export of diphtheria anti-serum, in order to address a shortfall of the serum in places other than FRYSM. ⁵⁹⁷ In May 1995, it provided additional temporary exemptions for the use of Rumanian river locks by FRYSM vessels while locks on the Serbian bank of the Danube were undergoing repair. ⁵⁹⁸ and the provision of supplies essential to those repairs. ⁵⁹⁹

```
    586 SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), sole para.
    587 Ibid.
    588 SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9.
    590 Ibid., para. 22.
    591 Ibid.
    592 Ibid.
    593 Ibid., para. 28.
    594 Ibid., para. 27.
    595 SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 3.
    596 Ibid., para. 1(i), (ii) and (iii).
    597 SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), para. 1.
    599 Ibid., para. 2.
```

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibility for oversight of the sanctions upon the 724 Committee, which had already been established to oversee the 713 sanctions regime against the former Yugoslavia. ⁶⁰⁰ The UNSG also played a role in the administration of the 757 sanctions regime.

4.1 The 724 Sanctions Committee

When it established the 757 sanctions regime, the Security Council decided that the 724 Committee would: (a) examine reports submitted by states on steps taken to implement the sanctions; ⁶⁰¹ (b) seek further information from states regarding action taken to implement the sanctions; ⁶⁰² (c) consider information concerning violations and making recommendations to the Council on how to increase the effectiveness of the sanctions; ⁶⁰³ (d) recommend appropriate measures in response to violations and provide information on a regular basis to the UNSG for general distribution to member states; ⁶⁰⁴ (e) consider and approve guidelines for the transhipment through FRYSM of exempted items; ⁶⁰⁵ and (f) decide expeditiously upon applications for exemptions from the aviation sanctions. ⁶⁰⁶

The 724 Committee was subsequently requested to: (a) consider, on a case-by-case basis, applications for exemptions to the ban on the transshipment of particular goods; ⁶⁰⁷ (b) report on information submitted to it regarding alleged sanctions violations, identifying where possible persons or entities, including vessels, reported to be engaging in such violations; ⁶⁰⁸ (c) draw up rules for monitoring sanctions, including provisions relating to the monitoring of exemptions; ⁶⁰⁹ (d) consider, on a case-by-case basis under the no-objection procedure, applications for exemptions from the sanctions for essential humanitarian supplies that were not medical supplies or foodstuffs; ⁶¹⁰ (e) authorise limited transhipments through the territory of FRYSM; ⁶¹¹ (f) consider, on a case-by-case basis, applications for exemptions from the financial sanctions for the provision of services for humanitarian or other exceptional purposes; ⁶¹² (g) consider, on a case-by-case basis, applications for

```
    600 SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 13.
    601 Ibid., para. 13(a).
    602 Ibid., para. 13(b).
    603 Ibid., para. 13(c).
    604 Ibid., para. 13(d).
    605 Ibid., para. 13(e).
    606 Ibid., para. 13(f).
    607 SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9.
    608 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 18.
    609 Ibid., para. 22(a).
    610 Ibid., para. 22(b).
    611 Ibid., para. 22(c).
    612 Ibid., para. 27.
```

exemptions from the prohibition on commercial maritime traffic entering the territorial sea of FRYSM;⁶¹³ (h) make recommendations concerning requests for assistance under Article 50;⁶¹⁴ (i) adopt streamlined procedures to expedite consideration of applications for exemptions for legitimate humanitarian assistance, in particular from UNHCR and the ICRC;⁶¹⁵ and (j) review and amend its guidelines in the light of suspended sanctions.⁶¹⁶

As noted above in the overview of the 713 sanctions regime, the 724 Committee held 142 formal meetings during its tenure. Two of its three reports were issued after the establishment of the 757 sanctions regime. In these reports, the Committee outlined action taken to process applications for sanctions exemptions, as well as its consideration of sanctions violations. It also made some recommendations that were subsequently acted upon by the Council, including authorising temporary exemptions from the sanctions for the export of diphtheria serum and for vessels of FRYSM to use the locks on the Romanian side of the Danube while repairs were being carried out to the locks on the Serbian side of the river.

In its second report, the 724 Committee emphasised that the application of sanctions was the responsibility of states and that its role was to offer assistance to states. ⁶²¹ It also observed that sanctions monitoring had been complicated by the fact that FRYSM was located at the hub of intense economic and cultural activity in the south-eastern region of Europe. ⁶²² The implementation of sanctions had also had an adverse impact on the economies of a number of countries, including in particular the states neighbouring FRYSM. ⁶²³ The Committee was disappointed by the lack of information it had received on sanctions violations, particularly as the media had been 'replete' with reports of

⁶¹³ *Ibid.*, para. 28. 614 SC Res. 843 (18 June 1993), para. 2.

⁶¹⁵ SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 2; SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 4; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), paras. 11–12.

⁶¹⁶ SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 8.

⁶¹⁷ S/25027 (30 December 1992); S/1996/946 (15 November 1996).

⁶¹⁸ S/25027 (30 December 1992), paras. 16–18; S/1996/946 (15 November 1996), paras. 6–7, 12–13, 34–38, 43–61, 64–67.

⁶¹⁹ S/25027 (30 December 1992), paras. 19–22; S/1996/946 (15 November 1996), paras. 18–28.

⁶²⁰ S/1996/946 (15 November 1996), paras. 16(g) and 16(h). The exemptions were authorised by SC Res. 967 (14 December 1994), para. 1; SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), para. 1.

⁶²¹ S/25027 (30 December 1992), para. 25. 622 *Ibid.*, para. 23. 623 *Ibid.*

such violations. 624 The lack of an independent monitoring mechanism had also inhibited the Committee's ability to obtain original information and to investigate alleged violations. 625 In that respect, however, it was grateful for information received from sources such as the NATO and WEU monitoring teams in the Adriatic Sea. 626

In its final report, the Committee acknowledged that a major reason for the effectiveness of the sanctions was the monitoring and enforcement role played by regional organisations. The 757 sanctions regime had demonstrated that, if properly applied, administered and implemented, sanctions could promote international peace and security. Based on its experience, the Committee recommended that in future sanctions regimes, practical arrangements should be considered for alleviating adverse humanitarian effects of sanctions. International humanitarian agencies should be given preferential treatment, provided that adequate monitoring and control mechanisms were in place. The UN Secretariat should also establish an adequate capacity for analysis and assessment of the effectiveness of sanctions and their humanitarian impact. It was also essential to mitigate the adverse economic effects of sanctions upon third countries.

4.2 The Secretary-General

The Security Council requested the UNSG to undertake a range of tasks in connection with the 757 sanctions regime, including to: (a) receive reports from states on measures taken to implement sanctions; ⁶³³ (b) co-ordinate submissions from states and regional agencies regarding action taken to halt maritime and riparian traffic to verify that cargo did not violate sanctions; ⁶³⁴ (c) submit recommendations for facilitating sanctions implementation by deploying observers on the borders of Bosnia and Herzegovina; ⁶³⁵ (d) report if the Bosnian Serbs had signed and begun to implement the peace plan, in which case the sanctions would not be imposed; ⁶³⁶ (e) in the event that the Bosnian Serbs did sign

```
    624 Ibid., para. 24. 625 Ibid., para. 25. 626 Ibid.
    627 S/1996/946 (15 November 1996), para. 79. 628 Ibid., para. 86.
    629 Ibid., para. 82. The Committee also included in its Final Report a sections entitled 'Humanitarian impact and cooperation with humanitarian relief organisations': paras. 68-78.
    630 Ibid. 631 Ibid., para. 83. 632 Ibid., para. 84.
    633 SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 12. 634 SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 14.
    635 Ibid., para. 16; SC Res. 838 (10 June 1993), para. 1.
    636 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 10.
```

and begin to implement the peace process, report if they subsequently renewed military attacks or failed to comply with the peace plan, in which case sanctions would come into effect immediately;⁶³⁷ (f) report if the Bosnian Serbs had signed the peace plan and were implementing their obligations in good faith, in which case the Council would review sanctions with a view to lifting them;⁶³⁸ (g) report on aerial surveillance received from member states:⁶³⁹ and (h) report when the Co-Chairmen of the Steering Committee of the International Conference on the Former Yugoslavia had certified that the FRYSM authorities had genuinely closed the border between FRYSM and Bosnia and Herzegovina to sanctioned goods, and to report immediately if there was evidence that the border was not effectively closed. 640 Once the sanctions had been suspended, the UNSG was also requested to report if FRYSM had failed to sign the Peace Agreement, 641 or if it was failing to meet its obligations under the Peace Agreement. 642 In either instance, the suspension of the sanctions would lapse after five days.⁶⁴³

5. Suspension and termination

The Council first began to suspend aspects of the sanctions against FRYSM in September 1994, when it foreshadowed the potential suspension of restrictions against: (a) civilian, non-cargo carrying aircraft; ⁶⁴⁴ (b) passenger, non-cargo carrying ferries between Bar in FRYSM and Bari in Italy; ⁶⁴⁵ and (c) participation in sporting events and cultural exchanges. ⁶⁴⁶ The suspensions were to come into effect upon certification by the ICFY Co-Chairmen that FRYSM had effectively closed the border between it and the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina to all goods except foodstuffs, medical supplies and clothing for essential humanitarian needs. ⁶⁴⁷ The suspensions subsequently came into effect and were extended on multiple occasions, ⁶⁴⁸ as a result of the

 ⁶³⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 11.
 638 *Ibid.*, para. 31.
 639 SC Res. 838 (10 June 1993), para. 2.
 640 SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 3; SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 5; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), para. 13; SC Res. 1003 (5 July 1995), para. 2; SC Res. 1015 (15 September 1995), para. 2.

⁶⁴¹ SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 1. 642 *Ibid.*, para. 3. 643 *Ibid.*, paras. 1, 3.

⁶⁴⁴ SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 1(i). 645 *Ibid.*, para. 1(ii).

 ⁶⁴⁶ Ibid., para. 1(iii).
 647 Ibid., para. 1.
 648 See SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 1; SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), para. 1; SC Res. 1003 (5 July 1995), para. 1; SC Res. 1015 (15 September 1995), para. 1.

continuing certification by the Co-Chairmen of the ICFY that the border remained closed. The certifications by the ICFY Co-Chairmen were treated sceptically by the representative of Bosnia and Herzegovina, who consistently argued before the Security Council that the border had not been effectively closed and that forms of military assistance were transiting the border. The Co-Chairmen of the ICFY that the border were transiting the security Council that the border assistance were transiting the border.

In November 1995, the Council suspended all of the remaining sanctions against FRYSM and foreshadowed their ultimate termination.⁶⁵¹ Both the suspension and the termination were conditional. The sanctions would be reapplied if the UNSG were to report that FRYSM had failed to sign the Peace Agreement prior to the date stipulated by the Contact Group of the ICFY,⁶⁵² or if subsequent to the signing of the agreement the UNSG were to report that FRYSM was failing to meet its obligations under the Peace Agreement.⁶⁵³ Moreover, the sanctions would not be terminated until ten days after the occurrence of free and fair elections in Bosnia and Herzegovina.⁶⁵⁴ The sanctions were terminated in October 1996, after free and fair elections had been held in Bosnia and Herzegovina.⁶⁵⁵

6. Conclusions

The 757 sanctions regime was notable mainly due to its complexity, both in terms of the breadth of scope of the measures to be applied and the practical challenges of implementing sanctions against a country which had many neighbours and was located in the heart of a riparian economic community heavily reliant upon the transportation of goods via an international river. An unprecedented number of regional actors was involved in ensuring the effective implementation of the 757 sanctions regime, including NATO, the EU and the WEU.

The 757 sanctions regime contributed to the evolution of UN sanctions practice in a number of ways. First, the Security Council applied for the first time sanctions against sport, scientific and technological co-operation and cultural exchanges. Second, the Council experimented

⁶⁴⁹ S/1995/6 (4 January 1995); S/1995/302 (13 April 1995); S/1995/510 (25 June 1995); S/1995/768 (6 September 1995).

⁶⁵⁰ See, e.g., S/PV.3612 (21 December 1995), pp. 2-4.

⁶⁵¹ SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), paras. 1, 4. 652 *Ibid.*, para. 1. 653 *Ibid.*, para. 3.

⁶⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 4. 655 SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), para. 2.

⁶⁵⁶ For discussion of the issues peculiar to a riparian target which is part of a multinational community, see *Final Report of the 724 Committee*, paras. 33–40.

for the first time with using a time-delay to provide the target with a window of time in which they could avoid falling subject to sanctions. Third, it was the first time that the Council had bestowed responsibilities pertaining to a new sanctions regime upon a pre-existing Sanctions Committee. Fourth, the Council employed a strategy of suspending sanctions to induce additional compliance on the part of the target, as it also did with the 841 Haiti sanctions regime and the 748 Libya sanctions regime. Fifth, the Council made a rare endorsement of a recommendation for action under Article 50. 658

8. THE 788 LIBERIA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Liberia in late 1992, in an attempt to bring about the establishment of peace and stability. The sanctions consisted of an arms embargo, which was applied for almost a decade before being terminated in March 2001. The Council established the 985 Liberia Sanctions Committee in 1995. The 788 sanctions regime was eventually terminated in March 2001, when the Council replaced it with the more extensive 1343 sanctions regime designed to induce the Liberian government to cease providing support to rebel groups in Sierra Leone.

1. Constitutional basis

In November 1992 the Security Council reaffirmed its belief that the Yamoussoukro IV Peace Agreement of 30 October 1991⁶⁵⁹ offered the best framework for a peaceful resolution of the Liberian conflict, ⁶⁶⁰ regretted that the parties to the conflict had not respected or implemented that agreement, ⁶⁶¹ and determined that the deterioration of the situation in Liberia constituted a threat to international peace and security. ⁶⁶² The Council then invoked Chapter VII and imposed sanctions. ⁶⁶³ In subsequent resolutions related to the 788 sanctions regime,

⁶⁵⁷ The Council first utilised a time-delay in April 1993, when it strengthened the sanctions: see SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10–11.

⁶⁵⁸ SC Res. 757, preambular para. 16; SC Res. 843 (18 June 1993), preambular paras. 2–3, para. 1.

⁶⁵⁹ S/24815 (17 November 1992).

⁶⁶⁰ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), preambular para. 2.

⁶⁶¹ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 4. ⁶⁶² *Ibid.*, preambular para. 5. ⁶⁶³ *Ibid.*, para. 8.

the Council again determined the existence of a threat to international peace and security 664 and invoked Chapter VII. 665

2. Objectives

The objective of the sanctions was to establish peace and stability in Liberia. ⁶⁶⁶ The Council set no explicit requirements for termination of the sanctions, stating that they would remain in place until it decided otherwise. ⁶⁶⁷ Interestingly, the Council did not terminate the arms embargo in July 1997, despite welcoming both the successful holding of presidential and legislative elections and the certification of those elections as 'free and fair' by the Chairman of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) and the UNSG. ⁶⁶⁸

3. Scope

3.1 Sanctions obligations

The sanctions consisted of a general and complete embargo upon all deliveries of weapons and military equipment to Liberia. 669

3.2 Exemptions

The Council exempted from the arms embargo weapons and military equipment destined for the sole use of ECOWAS peacekeeping forces. 670

4. Administration and monitoring

During the course of the sanctions regime against Liberia, the Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration and enforcement of the sanctions upon the UN Observer Mission in Liberia (UNOMIL), the UNSG and the 985 Liberia Sanctions Committee.

⁶⁶⁴ SC Res. 813 (26 March 1993), preambular para. 11.

⁶⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 9; SC Res. 985(13 April 1995), preambular para. 2.

⁶⁶⁶ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8. 667 *Ibid.*, para. 8.

 $^{^{668}\,}$ S/PRST/1997/41 (30 July 1997). For the certification that elections were free and fair, see S/1997/581 (24 July 1997).

⁶⁶⁹ SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8.

⁶⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 9; SC Res. 813 (26 March 1993), para. 13.

4.1 The UN Observer Mission in Liberia

In September 1993 the Council established UNOMIL, ⁶⁷¹ with a mandate to observe the extent to which parties to the Liberian conflict were complying with a new Peace Agreement for Liberia – the 'Cotonou Agreement'. ⁶⁷² In addition to verifying the implementation of the Cotonou Agreement, the Council also entrusted UNOMIL with responsibility for monitoring compliance with the arms embargo. ⁶⁷³

4.2 The Secretary-General

In July 1994 the Council requested the UNSG to ensure that all information on violations of the arms embargo was made promptly available to it and publicised more widely.⁶⁷⁴

4.3 The 985 Sanctions Committee

In April 1995, the Security Council expressed deep concern that arms were being imported into Liberia in violation of the 788 embargo. ⁶⁷⁵ It then decided to establish, in accordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of procedure, the 985 Liberia Sanctions Committee. ⁶⁷⁶ The 985 Committee was to report on its work to the Council with its observations and recommendations, ⁶⁷⁷ and to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action taken to implement the embargo; ⁶⁷⁸ (b) consider information brought to its attention by states concerning embargo violations and make recommendations on increasing the embargo's effectiveness; ⁶⁷⁹ and (c) recommend appropriate measures in response to embargo violations and provide information on a regular basis to the UNSG for general distribution to member states. ⁶⁸⁰ In January 1999, the Council again urged the 985 Committee to investigate embargo violations and report with recommendations. ⁶⁸¹

The 985 Committee was dissolved in March 2001, when the Council terminated the 788 sanctions regime. In its six years of operation the 985 Committee held six formal meetings⁶⁸² – an average of one meeting per year – and issued six annual reports.⁶⁸³ The reports contained few

```
    671 SC Res. 866 (22 September 1993), paras. 2-3. 672 S/26272 (9 August 1993).
    673 SC Res. 866 (22 September 1993), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1020 (10 November 1995), para. 2(c).
    674 S/PRST/1994/33 (13 July 1994). 675 SC Res. 985 (13 April 1995), preambular para. 5.
    676 Ibid., para. 4. 677 Ibid., para. 4. 678 Ibid., para. 4(a). 679 Ibid., para. 4(b).
    680 Ibid., para. 4(c). 681 S/PRST/1999/1 (7 January 1999).
    682 Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1998 (New York: UN, 1999) p. xv.
    683 See Appendix 3, Table F.
```

substantive observations or recommendations. The Committee noted that it did not possess an independent mechanism to monitor the embargo and therefore relied solely upon the co-operation of states and organisations to provide it with pertinent information. The Committee did, however, encourage member states to adopt legislation making the violation of arms embargoes a criminal offence. The Committee also expressed its intention to improve monitoring of the arms embargo, including communicating with relevant regional and sub-regional organisations.

5. Termination

In December 2000, after a period of more than three years in which it did not adopt any decisions concerning the 788 sanctions regime, the Security Council condemned incursions into Guinea by rebel groups emanating from Sierra Leone and Liberia and called upon all states, and in particular Liberia, to refrain from providing military support or taking any other action that might further destabilise the situation on the border between Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone.⁶⁸⁷ Three months later, the Council took action to address the Liberian government's support of rebels in Sierra Leone. In resolution 1343, the Council noted that the conflict in Liberia had been resolved and that national elections had taken place within the framework of the Yamoussoukro IV Agreement. 688 The Council then decided to terminate the embargo and dissolve the Liberia Sanctions Committee. 689 However, at the same time the Council imposed a new sanctions regime, the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime, in order to address Liberia's support of the Rebel United Front in Sierra Leone in violation of the 1132 Sierra Leone sanctions regime. ⁶⁹⁰

6. Conclusions

Like the 733 Somalia sanctions regime during its first decade, the 788 Liberian sanctions regime represented an example of an arms embargo

⁶⁸⁴ See, e.g., S/1996/1077 (31 December 1996), para. 8; S/1998/1220 (24 December 1998), para. 4; S/1999/1301 (31 December 1999), para. 12; S/2000/1233 (22 December 2000), para. 7.

⁶⁸⁵ S/1998/1220 (24 December 1998), para. 4. ⁶⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 5.

⁶⁸⁷ S/PRST/2000/41 (21 December 2000).

⁶⁸⁸ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), section A, preambular para. 2.

⁶⁸⁹ *Ibid.*, section A, para. 1.

⁶⁹⁰ For further details, see the summaries of the 1132 Sierra Leone and 1343 Liberia sanctions regimes.

that was largely neglected by the Security Council. Although the intervention of the international community in Liberia in the early 1990s constituted the first example of major co-operation in peacekeeping between a regional organisation and the UN, the 788 sanctions regime itself contributed little to the evolution of sanctions practice. It became the sanctions regime that was applied for the longest period before the establishment of a Sanctions Committee, as well as the first sanctions regime to be terminated by the same Security Council resolution that applied a new sanctions regime against the same target.

9. THE 820 BOSNIAN SERB SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council applied sanctions against the Bosnian Serb party in April 1993, in the aftermath of a series of attacks by Bosnian Serb paramilitary forces in eastern Bosnia, including against the town of Srebrenica. The 820 sanctions regime consisted of comprehensive sanctions, with the aim of inducing the Bosnian Serbs to participate in the Bosnian peace plan. The Council entrusted responsibility for administering the 820 sanctions regime to the 724 Yugoslavia Committee. The sanctions were suspended on 27 February 1996, after Bosnian Serb forces withdrew from zones of separation established by the peace plan. They were ultimately terminated in October 1996, when free and fair elections had been held in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

1. Constitutional basis

On 17 April 1993 the Security Council adopted resolution 820 (1993), in which it expressed grave concern at the refusal of the Bosnian Serb party to participate in the Bosnian peace plan⁶⁹¹ and expressed determination to strengthen the implementation of its earlier relevant resolutions.⁶⁹² The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII,⁶⁹³ before imposing sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs.⁶⁹⁴

Interestingly, the Council did not make an explicit determination of a threat to or breach of international peace and security before imposing sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs. The reason for this oversight might be that the sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs were applied against the background of the strengthening of the 757 FRYSM sanctions regime. As

 ⁶⁹¹ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 3.
 692 Ibid., Section B, preambular para. 1.
 693 Ibid., Section B, preambular para. 2.
 694 Ibid., para. 12.

the Council had already identified a threat to the peace in relation to that sanctions regime, perhaps it did not consider it necessary to make another explicit determination. In any event, subsequent resolutions related to the 820 sanctions regime did contain a determination that the situation in the former Yugoslavia continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security, ⁶⁹⁵ as well as invocations of Chapter VII. ⁶⁹⁶

2. Objectives

When the Security Council initially established the Bosnian Serb sanctions regime, it tied the termination of the sanctions to the signing and implementation of the Bosnian peace plan. In September 1994, this objective was subtly modified, becoming the unconditional acceptance by the Bosnian Serb party of the Bosnian territorial settlement. In November 1995, the Council again modified the explicit objective of the sanctions slightly, making the suspension of the sanctions contingent upon the withdrawal of Bosnian Serbs forces behind zones of separation established in the Bosnia Peace Agreement and tying the ultimate termination of the sanctions to the occurrence of free and fair elections in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

3. Scope

The 820 sanctions regime initially consisted of a basic comprehensive sanctions regime. The Council subsequently outlined more specific prohibitions, including targeted economic, financial and travel sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

The sanctions regime against the Bosnian Serbs was initially simple but comprehensive. Resolution 820 (1993) required states to prevent the import to, export from, and transhipment through areas under the

⁶⁹⁵ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 10.

⁶⁹⁶ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), preambular para. 9.

⁶⁹⁷ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), section B, paras. 10, 31.

⁶⁹⁸ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 3, 21.

⁶⁹⁹ SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), paras. 2, 4.

control of the Bosnian Serb forces, of products and commodities other than essential humanitarian supplies, including medical supplies and foodstuffs distributed by international humanitarian agencies.⁷⁰⁰

In September 1994, the Council adopted resolution 942 (1994), applying targeted economic, financial and travel sanctions. On the economic front, states were required to prevent economic activities from taking place in their territories if they involved an entity that was owned, controlled or incorporated by a person or entity from those parts of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of Bosnian Serb forces. 701 The Council also prohibited all commercial river traffic from entering the ports of those areas of the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of the Bosnian Serb forces. 702 On the financial front, states were required to freeze any funds or other financial assets or resources belonging to an entity that was owned, controlled or incorporated by a person or entity from those parts of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of Bosnian Serb forces. 703 States were also required to ensure that any payments accruing in their territories for entities doing business in those areas of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of the Bosnian Serb forces, would be paid only into frozen accounts. 704 Furthermore, the Council required states to prohibit the provision of services, both financial and non-financial, to any person or body for the purposes of business being carried on in those areas of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of Bosnian Serb forces. 705

The targeted travel sanctions required states to prevent the entry to their territories of: (a) members of the authorities in those areas of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of the Bosnian Serb forces and those acting on behalf of such authorities;⁷⁰⁶ (b) officers of the Bosnian Serb military and paramilitary forces and those acting on behalf of such forces;⁷⁰⁷ (c) persons found to have provided financial, material, logistical, military or other tangible support to Bosnian Serb forces in violation of the sanctions;⁷⁰⁸ and (d) persons in or resident of those areas of the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina under the control of Bosnian Serb forces who were found to have violated or contributed to the violation of the sanctions against the Bosnian Serb party.⁷⁰⁹

SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12.
 Ibid., para. 15.
 Ibid., para. 15.
 Ibid., para. 14(a).
 Ibid., para. 14(b).
 Ibid., para. 14(c).

3.2 Exemptions

When the Security Council established the 820 sanctions regime, it exempted essential humanitarian supplies, including medical supplies and foodstuffs distributed by international humanitarian agencies.⁷¹⁰ In September 1994 it provided exemptions from the measures applied by resolution 942 (1994) for: (a) prohibited economic activities where the state in which such activities were taking place verified, on a caseby-case basis, that those activities would not result in the transfer of property to entities owned or controlled by persons or entities from Bosnian Serb areas; (b) economic activities connected with the provision of medical supplies, foodstuffs or products for essential humanitarian needs;⁷¹¹ (c) river traffic authorised to enter Bosnian Serb ports on a case-by-case basis by the 724 Committee, by the government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, or in the case of force majeure;⁷¹² (d) payments that were made in connection with the import of permitted exemptions or authorised by the government of Bosnia and Herzegovina;⁷¹³ and (e) travel consistent with the peace process. 714

4. Administration and monitoring

The Council bestowed responsibility for the administration and monitoring of the 820 sanctions regime upon the 724 Sanctions Committee and the UNSG.

4.1 The 724 Committee

When the Security Council established the 820 sanctions regime, it bestowed a number of responsibilities upon the 724 Committee, including to: (a) receive notifications regarding the provision of supplies intended strictly for medical purposes and foodstuffs;⁷¹⁵ (b) decide upon applications for exemptions from the sanctions for essential humanitarian needs;⁷¹⁶ (c) process on a case-by-case basis applications for exemptions for the provision of services necessary for humanitarian or other exceptional purposes;⁷¹⁷ (d) establish and maintain an updated list of persons subject to travel sanctions;⁷¹⁸ and (e) process

 $^{^{710}\,}$ SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12. $^{711}\,$ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 7. $^{712}\,$ Ibid., para. 15. $^{713}\,$ Ibid., para. 14.

⁷¹⁵ SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), para. 7(ii)(b). 716 *Ibid.* 717 *Ibid.* para. 13. 718 *Ibid.* para. 14.

on a case-by-case basis applications for exemptions from the prohibition upon the movement of commercial riverine traffic. 719

As noted above in the overviews of the 713 and 757 sanctions regimes, the 724 Committee held 142 formal meetings during its tenure. Only the Committee's final report was issued after the establishment of the sanctions regime against the Bosnian Serbs. ⁷²⁰ In observations relevant to the 820 sanctions regime, the Committee noted that it had clarified that educational, cultural and other activities in Bosnian Serb-controlled areas should be not be undertaken without the prior authorisation of the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina and the 724 Committee itself. ⁷²¹ The Committee also noted that it had been unable to establish a list of individuals whose travel was prohibited. ⁷²² It had, nevertheless, received and approved requests from Canada and the US to authorise entry into their territories of individuals participating in legal proceedings and the Dayton peace talks. ⁷²³

4.2 The Secretary-General

The Security Council requested the UNSG to undertake a number of tasks connected to the 820 Bosnian Serb sanctions regime, including to: (a) report if, within nine days of the adoption of resolution 820 (1993), the Bosnian Serbs had signed and begun to implement the peace plan, in which case the sanctions would not be imposed;⁷²⁴ (b) report in the event that the Bosnian Serbs initially signed and began to implement the peace process, but then subsequently renewed military attacks or failed to comply with the peace plan, in which case the sanctions would come into effect immediately;⁷²⁵ and (c) report if the Bosnian Serbs had signed the peace plan and were implementing their obligations in good faith, in which case the Council would review the sanctions with a view to lifting them.⁷²⁶

5. Suspension and termination

The Council provided for the possibility that the sanctions against the Bosnian Serb party might be suspended in resolution 1022 (1995), which also suspended the sanctions against FRYSM.⁷²⁷ But whereas the suspensions to the regime against FRYSM were to apply with immediate

```
    719 Ibid., para. 15.
    720 S/1996/946 (15 November 1996).
    721 Ibid., para. 62.
    722 Ibid., para. 63.
    723 Ibid., para. 11.
    724 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 10.
    725 Ibid., para. 11.
    726 Ibid., para. 31.
    727 SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995).
```

effect,⁷²⁸ the suspensions to the sanctions against the Bosnian Serbs were conditional upon the withdrawal of Bosnian Serb forces behind the zones of separation established in the Peace Agreement,⁷²⁹ as well as upon the implementation by the Bosnian Serb forces of their obligations under the Peace Agreement.⁷³⁰ The condition for termination of the 820 sanctions regime, which was originally the signing and implementation of the Peace plan by the Bosnian Serb party,⁷³¹ then the unconditional acceptance by the Bosnian Serb party of the territorial settlement,⁷³² now became the occurrence of free and fair elections in Bosnia and Herzegovina, in accordance with the Peace Agreement.⁷³³ The 820 sanctions regime was suspended on 27 February 1996, after the Security Council was informed that the Bosnian Serb forces had withdrawn from the zones of separation established in the Peace Agreement. It was ultimately terminated on 1 October 1996, after free and fair elections had been held in Bosnia and Herzegovina.⁷³⁴

6. Conclusions

The 820 Bosnian Serb sanctions regime was the first example of UN sanctions against a sub-state entity. The framework outlined in Chapter VII and Article 41 of the UN Charter did not exclude this possibility, but it was nevertheless a novel development in sanctions practice. The Council has subsequently applied a number of sanctions regimes against sub-state or non-state actors, including as part of the 864 UNITA, the 918 Rwanda, the 1132 Sierra Leone and the 1267 Taliban/ Al Qaida sanctions regimes. In other respects, the Bosnian Serb sanctions regime shared a number of characteristics with the 757 sanctions regime, including the innovative use of time-delays to provide the target with a window of time in which they could avoid falling subject to sanctions, 735 as well as the fact that administering responsibilities were bestowed upon a pre-existing sanctions committee. As with the implementation and enforcement of the 713 and 757 sanctions regimes, a substantial number of regional actors were involved in ensuring the effective implementation of the 820 sanctions regime.

 ⁷²⁸ Ibid., para. 1. 729 Ibid., para. 2. 730 Ibid., para. 3.
 731 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10, 31.
 732 SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 3, 21.
 733 SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 4. 734 SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), para. 2.
 735 SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 10, 11.

10. THE 841 HAITI SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Haiti in June 1993 in order to bring about the reinstatement of the democratically elected government of President Jean-Bertrand Aristide. The sanctions regime initially consisted of targeted petroleum, arms and financial sanctions. The Council established the 841 Haiti Sanctions Committee to administer the 841 sanctions regime. The sanctions were suspended for a short period, from 27 August to 13 October 1993, when it appeared that the de facto authorities in Haiti were complying with the Council's demands in relation to the implementation of two peace agreements - the Governor's Island Agreement (GIA) and the New York pact. Sanctions were reimposed, however, once it became clear that the compliance of the de facto authorities had been only partial and temporary. In May 1994 the Council strengthened the sanctions considerably, imposing comprehensive economic sanctions and targeted aviation and travel sanctions. The sanctions were ultimately terminated on 15 October 1994, upon the return to Haiti of President Aristide.

1. Constitutional basis

In June 1993 the Security Council received a letter from the representative of Haiti requesting that it make universal and mandatory a trade embargo against Haiti by the Organization of American States (OAS).⁷³⁶ In response, the Council adopted resolution 841 (1993), in which it expressed its strong support for the efforts made by the UNSG, the OAS Secretary-General and the international community to reach a political solution to the crisis in Haiti,⁷³⁷ noted with concern the incidence of humanitarian crises, including mass displacements of population, becoming or aggravating threats to international peace and security,⁷³⁸ and stated that it deplored the fact that the legitimate government of President Aristide had not been reinstated.⁷³⁹ The Council then considered that the request from the representative of Haiti warranted 'exceptional' measures in support of OAS efforts to

 ⁷³⁶ S/25958 (16 June 1993).
 ⁷³⁷ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), preambular para. 6.
 ⁷³⁸ Ibid., preambular para. 10.

resolve the situation,⁷⁴⁰ and it determined that, in those unique and exceptional circumstances, the continuation of the situation in Haiti threatened international peace and security in the region.⁷⁴¹ The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII of the UN Charter,⁷⁴² and imposed sanctions against the de facto authorities in Haiti.⁷⁴³ In subsequent resolutions related to the Haiti sanctions regime, the Council again determined the existence of a threat to international peace and security,⁷⁴⁴ and invoked Chapter VII.⁷⁴⁵

2. Objectives

The major explicit objective of the 841 sanctions regime was the reinstatement of President Aristide's government in Haiti. When the Council first imposed sanctions, it expressed willingness to consider lifting the sanctions if the UNSG reported that the de facto authorities in Haiti had signed and begun implementing in good faith an agreement to reinstate the government of President Aristide. In August 1993, the Council expressed readiness to terminate the sanctions if the UNSG, having regard to the views of the OAS Secretary-General, were to conclude that the relevant provisions of the Governor's Island Agreement (GIA) had been fully implemented.

In October 1993, the Council provided for the possibility that the sanctions might not be reimposed if the UNSG were to report, having regard to the view of the OAS Secretary-General, that the authorities in Haiti were implementing in full the agreement to reinstate the legitimate government of President Aristide and had established the necessary measures to enable the United Nations Mission in Haiti (UNMIH) to

 $^{^{740}}$ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 13. 741 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 14.

⁷⁴² *Ibid.*, preambular para. 15. ⁷⁴³ *Ibid.*, paras. 5, 6 and 8.

On most occasions, the Council characterised the threat as being the failure of the military authorities in Haiti to fulfil their obligations under the Governor's Island Agreement: see, e.g., SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 875 (16 October 1993), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), preambular para. 13. On one occasion, however, the Council simply characterised the situation in Haiti as the threat: SC Res. 940 (31 July 1994), preambular para. 10.

SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993),
 preambular para. 5; SC Res. 875 (16 October 1993), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 940 (31 July 1994), para. 4.

⁷⁴⁶ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 16. ⁷⁴⁷ SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), para. 3.

carry out its mandate. 748 In November 1993, the Council stressed that sanctions would remain in force until the objectives of the GIA were fulfilled, including the departure of the Commander-in-Chief of the Haitian armed forces, the creation of a new police force permitting the restoration of constitutional order, and the return of the democratically elected President Aristide. 749

In May 1994, when it strengthened sanctions, the Council reaffirmed that the goal of the international community remained the restoration of democracy in Haiti and the return of President Aristide. 750 The sanctions would not be lifted until the following developments had taken place: (a) the retirement of the Commander-in-Chief of the Haiti armed forces and the resignation or departure from Haiti of the Chief of Police of Port-au-Prince and the Chief of Staff of the Haiti armed forces;⁷⁵¹ (b) the leadership of the police and military high command in Haiti had changed, as required by the GIA;⁷⁵² (c) the adoption of legislative actions called for in the GIA and the creation of an environment in which free and fair elections could be organised;⁷⁵³ (d) the creation of the proper environment for UNMIH deployment;⁷⁵⁴ and (e) the return of the democratically elected President and the maintenance of constitutional order. 755

In July 1994, when the Council again strengthened the sanctions, it reaffirmed that the goal of the international community remained the restoration of democracy in Haiti and the prompt return of President Aristide, 756 and noted that it would lift the sanctions following the return to Haiti of President Aristide. 757 In September 1994 the Council

⁷⁴⁸ SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 1. UNMIH was established by the Security Council in September 1993, in order to assist the government of Haiti in the implementation of the Governor's Island Agreement, which had called for assistance for modernising the armed forces of Haiti and establishing a new police force with the presence of UN personnel. For the establishment of UNMIH, see SC Res. 867 (23 September 1993), paras. 1-4. UNMIH's mandate was extended on a number of occasions, ultimately expiring in late June 1996; see SC Res. 905 (23 March 1994), para. 2; SC Res. 933 (30 June 1994), para. 1; SC Res. 940 (31 July 1994), paras. 9-11 (revising as well as extending UNMIH's mandate); SC Res. 975 (30 January 1995), para. 8; SC Res. 1007 (31 July 1994), para. 9; SC Res. 1048 (29 February 1996), para. 5. UNMIH was succeeded by the United Nations Support Mission in Haiti, which was established by SC Res. 1063 (28 June 1996), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1749 S/26747: Presidential statement of 15 November 1993.

1996), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993.

1996), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993.

1996), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993.

1996), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993.

1997), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993.

1997), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993.

1998), para. 2, in order to lacintate and 1993. 1996), para. 2, in order to facilitate the transition back to democracy in Haiti.

⁷⁵⁰ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), preambular para. 8. 751 *Ibid.*, para. 18(a). 752 *Ibid.*, para. 18(b). 753 *Ibid.*, para. 18(c). 754 *Ibid.*, para. 18(d). 755 *Ibid.*, para. 18. 755 *Ibid.*, para, 18(e).

decided that the Haiti sanctions regime would be terminated on the day after President Aristide had returned to Haiti. 758

3. Scope

The 841 sanctions regime initially consisted of targeted petroleum, arms and financial sanctions. The sanctions were suspended from 27 August to 13 October 1993, before being reimposed. They were subsequently strengthened by the application of comprehensive economic sanctions and targeted aviation and travel sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations under resolution 841 (1993)

Resolution 841 (1993) applied a petroleum embargo, an arms embargo and financial sanctions, which were to come into force one week after the resolution, unless the UNSG reported before that time that the imposition of the sanctions was not warranted. ⁷⁵⁹ Under the petroleum embargo, states were required to prevent the sale or supply to Haiti of petroleum and petroleum products. ⁷⁶⁰ Under the arms embargo, states were to prevent the sale or supply to Haiti of arms and arms-related material. ⁷⁶¹ The financial sanctions required states to freeze any funds belonging to or controlled by the government of Haiti or the de facto authorities in Haiti. ⁷⁶² States were further required to prohibit air and sea traffic from entering the territory or territorial sea of Haiti if carrying petroleum or arms in breach of the sanctions. ⁷⁶³

3.2 Exemptions under resolution 841 (1993)

The Council exempted from the petroleum embargo non-commercial quantities of petroleum or petroleum products in barrels or bottles, including propane gas for cooking, for verified essential humanitarian needs, if authorised by the 841 Committee, on an exceptional, case-by-case basis under a no-objection procedure. ⁷⁶⁴

3.3 Temporary suspension under resolution 861 (1993)

Two months after the sanctions were first imposed, the UNSG reported to the Council that the Prime Minister of Haiti had been confirmed and

 ⁷⁵⁸ SC Res. 944 (29 September 1994), para. 4.
 ⁷⁵⁹ SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 3.
 ⁷⁶⁰ Ibid., para. 5.
 ⁷⁶¹ Ibid., para. 8.
 ⁷⁶³ Ibid., para. 6.

had assumed office in Haiti.⁷⁶⁵ In response to that development the Council suspended the sanctions, ⁷⁶⁶ but it noted that the suspension would lapse if the UNSG were to report that the President of Haiti, the Commander-in-Chief of the armed forces of Haiti, or any other authorities in Haiti had not complied in good faith with the GIA.⁷⁶⁷ The Council further expressed its willingness to consider terminating the sanctions if the UNSG were to report that the provisions of the GIA had been fully implemented.⁷⁶⁸

In October 1994, barely six weeks after the sanctions had been suspended, the Council reimposed them. On 11 October the Council expressed its deep concern with the situation in Haiti and deplored events that had taken place that day, in which organised armed civilian groups had threatened journalists and diplomats waiting to meet a contingent of UNMIH. 769 It then requested the UNSG to report urgently on whether those incidents constituted non-compliance by the armed forces of Haiti with the GIA, thus warranting the reimposition of sanctions. 770 On 13 October, the UNSG reported that the military authorities of Haiti had failed to comply in good faith with the GIA, and that he therefore considered it necessary to terminate the suspension of the sanctions.⁷⁷¹ On the same day, the Security Council terminated the suspension.⁷⁷² The sanctions were to be imposed as before, except that exemptions could now be provided from the financial sanctions upon the request of President Aristide or Prime Minister Malval of Haiti, 773 and from the arms and petroleum sanctions if approved by the Haiti Sanctions Committee on a case-by-case basis under the noobjection procedure in response to a request by President Aristide or Prime Minister Malval. 774

3.4 Prohibitions under resolution 917 (1994)

In May 1994, the Security Council adopted resolution 917 (1994), applying comprehensive economic sanctions and targeted aviation and travel sanctions. Under the economic sanctions, states were required to prevent the import to their territories from and the export from their

⁷⁶⁵ S/26361 (26 August 1993), as noted by the Council in SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), preambular para. 6.

⁷⁶⁶ SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), para. 1. ⁷⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 2. ⁷⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 3.

⁷⁶⁹ S/26567: Presidential statement of 11 October 1993. ⁷⁷⁰ Ibid.

⁷⁷¹ S/26573 (13 October 1993): Report of the Secretary-General on the question concerning Haiti, paras. 9, 10.

⁷⁷² SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), para. 1. ⁷⁷³ *Ibid.*, para. 2. ⁷⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 3.

territories to Haiti of all commodities and products.⁷⁷⁵ The aviation sanctions required states to deny permission to any aircraft to take off from, land in or overfly their territory if it was destined for or had originated from Haiti.⁷⁷⁶ Under the travel sanctions, states were to prevent the entry into their territory of: (a) officers of the Haitian military, including the police, and their families;⁷⁷⁷ (b) the major participants in the 1991 *coup d'état* and members of the illegal governments in power since the *coup*, as well as their immediate families;⁷⁷⁸ and (c) people employed by or acting on behalf of the Haitian military and their immediate families.⁷⁷⁹

3.5 Exemptions under resolution 917 (1994)

The Security Council outlined a number of exemptions from the prohibitions applied under resolution 917 (1994). It exempted from the aviation sanctions regularly scheduled commercial passenger flights and flights approved for humanitarian purposes by the Haiti Sanctions Committee. The Council also exempted from the comprehensive sanctions the export to Haiti of: (a) supplies intended strictly for medical purposes, and foodstuffs; (b) commodities and products for essential humanitarian needs, as approved by the Haiti Sanctions Committee under the no-objection procedure; (c) items previously exempt from sanctions; (d) trade in informational materials, including books and other publications; and (e) equipment belonging to journalists, as approved by the 841 Committee.

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities related to the administration and monitoring of the sanctions upon the 841 Sanctions Committee and the UNSG.

4.1 The 841 Sanctions Committee

The Security Council established the 841 Haiti Sanctions Committee when it created the 841 sanctions regime. The 841 Committee was to report to the Council with its observations and recommendations, 787

 ⁷⁷⁵ SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), paras. 6-7.
 776 Ibid., para. 2.
 777 Ibid., para. 3(a).
 780 Ibid., para. 2.
 781 Ibid., para. 7(a).
 782 Ibid., para. 7(b).
 783 Ibid., para. 7(c) and (d).
 784 Ibid., para. 8.
 785 Ibid.
 786 SC Res. 841 (16 Iune 1993), para. 10.
 787 Ibid.

and to: (a) examine reports submitted by states regarding sanctions implementation;⁷⁸⁸ (b) seek from all states further information regarding action taken to implement sanctions;⁷⁸⁹ (c) consider information brought to its attention concerning sanctions violations and recommend appropriate measures in response thereto;⁷⁹⁰ (d) decide expeditiously upon requests for the import of petroleum and petroleum products for essential humanitarian needs;⁷⁹¹ (e) report periodically on alleged sanctions violations, identifying where possible those reported to be engaged in such violations;⁷⁹² and (f) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation.⁷⁹³

In May 1994, when the Council strengthened the sanctions regime, it further requested the 841 Committee to: (a) examine reports by states on sanctions implementation;⁷⁹⁴ (b) seek from states further information regarding action taken to implement sanctions;⁷⁹⁵ (c) consider information concerning sanctions violations and make recommendations on increasing sanctions effectiveness and responding to violations;⁷⁹⁶ (d) provide information to the UNSG for distribution to member states;⁷⁹⁷ (e) decide expeditiously upon applications by states for exemptions from the aviation sanctions;⁷⁹⁸ (f) amend its guidelines to take into account its new responsibilities;⁷⁹⁹ and (g) examine requests for assistance under Article 50 and make recommendations for appropriate action.⁸⁰⁰

The 841 Committee was dissolved on 16 October 1994, at the same time that the sanctions regime was terminated.⁸⁰¹ During its sixteenmonth tenure, the Committee held eleven formal meetings.⁸⁰² It did not publish a single report.

4.2 The Secretary-General

The Security Council requested the UNSG to undertake a number of tasks in relation to the Haiti sanctions regime. In June 1993 the Council requested the UNSG to: (a) report if the imposition of sanctions was not warranted; 803 (b) report if he determined that the de facto authorities in Haiti had failed to comply in good faith with their commitments, in

```
    <sup>788</sup> Ibid., para. 10(a).
    <sup>789</sup> Ibid., para. 10(b).
    <sup>790</sup> Ibid., para. 10(c).
    <sup>791</sup> Ibid., para. 10(d).
    <sup>792</sup> Ibid., para. 10(e).
    <sup>793</sup> Ibid., para. 10(f).
    <sup>794</sup> SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14(a).
    <sup>795</sup> Ibid., para. 14(b).
    <sup>796</sup> Ibid., para. 14(c) and (d).
    <sup>797</sup> Ibid., para. 14(d).
    <sup>800</sup> Ibid., para. 14(g).
    <sup>801</sup> SC Res. 948 (15 October 1994), para. 10.
    <sup>802</sup> Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1994 (New York: UN, 1995), p. xv.
    <sup>803</sup> SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 3.
```

which case the sanctions would immediately come into force;⁸⁰⁴ (c) receive from states reports on sanctions implementation;⁸⁰⁵ (d) provide assistance to the 841 Committee;⁸⁰⁶ (e) report on progress achieved in efforts to reach a political solution to the crisis in Haiti;⁸⁰⁷ and (f) report if he determined that the de facto authorities in Haiti had signed and begun implementing in good faith an agreement to reinstate the legitimate government of President Aristide.⁸⁰⁸

In August 1993, when the Council suspended sanctions, it requested the UNSG to: (a) report if he concluded that the parties to the GIA or other authorities in Haiti had not complied in good faith with that Agreement, in which case sanctions would be re-imposed immediately;⁸⁰⁹ and (b) report if he were to conclude that the relevant provisions of the GIA had been fully implemented, in which case sanctions would be terminated completely.⁸¹⁰ In May 1994, when the Security Council strengthened the sanctions, it requested the UNSG to report regularly on the situation in Haiti, the implementation of the GIA, legislative actions including preparations for legislative elections, the full restoration of democracy in Haiti, the humanitarian situation in Haiti and the effectiveness of the implementation of sanctions.⁸¹¹

5. Termination

On 29 September 1994 the Security Council welcomed the peaceful deployment in Haiti of initial units of a multinational force, ⁸¹² and decided that the Haiti sanctions regime would be terminated the day after President Aristide returned to Haiti. ⁸¹³ On 15 October 1994 the UNSG confirmed that President Aristide had returned to Haiti. ⁸¹⁴ The Council welcomed with great satisfaction President Aristide's return to Haiti and expressed confidence that the people of Haiti could begin to rebuild their country and consolidate democracy. ⁸¹⁵ The Council also welcomed the fact that, with President Aristide's return to Haiti, sanctions would be lifted. ⁸¹⁶

```
804 Ibid., para. 4.
805 Ibid., para. 13.
806 Ibid., para. 14; SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 15.
807 SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 15.
808 Ibid., para. 16.
809 SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), para. 2.
810 Ibid., para. 3.
811 SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 16.
812 SC Res. 944 (29 September 1994), preambular para. 4.
813 Ibid., para. 4.
814 S/1994/1169 (15 October 1994).
815 SC Res. 948 (15 October 1994), para. 1.
816 Ibid., para. 10.
```

6. Conclusions

The 841 sanctions regime was the second-shortest of all sanctions regimes, behind the 1298 Ethiopia-Eritrea sanctions regime. However, at the time of its termination it was the shortest sanctions regime yet imposed by the Security Council. The regime was also noteworthy for the manner in which it followed the initial application of sanctions by a regional organisation and for the fact that its application was requested by a democratically elected Head of State who had been ousted from power by a military *coup*. It also provided an early example of the Council employing targeted travel sanctions against decision-makers and those connected with them, including family members. The Council once again experimented with time-delays, providing the de facto authorities in Haiti with an opportunity to avoid sanctions by complying with its demands under the sanctions regime.

The Security Council demonstrated considerable flexibility in its oversight of the 841 sanctions regime, responding strategically to improvements and deteriorations in the situation in Haiti. The Council identified concrete requirements for the suspension, re-imposition and termination of the sanctions, such that modifications to the sanctions regime flowed directly from the extent to which the de facto authorities in Haiti complied with the requirements of the Council's resolutions. The Haiti sanctions regime provides the only example to date in which a sanctions regime has been suspended in its entirety, then subsequently reapplied in its entirety.

11. THE 864 UNITA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against the Angolan rebel group the National Union for the Total Independence of Angola (UNITA) in September 1993, with the aim of ensuring that it stopped fighting against the Angolan government and adhered to its commitments under a set of peace accords entitled the 'Acordos de Paz'. Angola had suffered a troubled, decades-long period, consisting of civil war, failed peace agreements and a contested election, in which UNITA had narrowly lost to the sitting Angolan government. The 864 sanctions regime initially consisted of arms and petroleum sanctions. It was subsequently expanded to incorporate travel, aviation, financial, diamond and representative sanctions. The Council established the 864 UNITA Sanctions Committee to administer the 864 sanctions regime and created the UNITA Panel of Experts

and the UNITA Monitoring Mechanism to monitor sanctions implementation. The sanctions regime was applied for nine years before eventually being terminated in December 2002, seven months after the death of UNITA's leader, Jonas Savimbi.

1. Constitutional basis

In September 1993, the Security Council expressed grave concern at the continuing deterioration of the political and military situation in Angola. The Council condemned UNITA for not having taken the necessary steps to comply with its previous demands, then determined that as a result of UNITA's military actions the situation in Angola constituted a threat to international peace and security. The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, before imposing sanctions against UNITA. In subsequent decisions connected to the sanctions regime, the Council again characterised the situation in Angola as a threat to international peace and security and invoked Chapter VII.

2. Objectives

The initial objectives of the 864 sanctions regime were to ensure that UNITA submitted to an effective cease-fire and agreed to implement the

⁸¹⁷ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), preambular para. 3.

⁸¹⁸ *Ibid.*, section B, preambular para. 1. 819 *Ibid.*, section B, preambular para. 4.

⁸²⁰ *Ibid.*, section B, preambular para. 5.

⁸²¹ SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), section B, preambular para. 1; SC Res. 1135 (29 October 1997), section B, floating para. 1 (located between paras. 4 and 5); SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), section B, preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), section B, preambular para. 1; SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), section A, preambular para. 1; SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), preambular para. 6.

⁸²² SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), section B, preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1130 (29 September 1997), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 1135 (29 October 1997), section B, floating para. 2 (located between paras. 4 and 5); SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), section B, preambular para. 3; SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), section B, preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), section A, preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002), preambular para. 5.

Acordos de Paz and relevant Security Council resolutions. ⁸²³ In August 1997, when the Council expanded the UNITA sanctions regime for the first time, it demanded that UNITA implement immediately its obligations under the Lusaka Protocol, including demilitarising its forces, transforming its radio station into a non-partisan broadcasting facility, co-operating with the normalisation of state administration throughout Angola, and participating in verification, disarmament and demobilisation. ⁸²⁴ In June 1998, the Security Council demanded that UNITA co-operate fully in the immediate extension of state administration throughout the national territory. ⁸²⁵

In April 2000, the Council noted that the sanctions were intended to promote a political settlement to the conflict in Angola, by requiring UNITA to comply with its obligations under the Acordos de Paz and the Lusaka Protocol, and by curtailing UNITA's ability to pursue its objectives by military means. ⁸²⁶ In May 2002, when the Council suspended the targeted travel sanctions, it noted that it would take progress in national reconciliation into account when determining whether to extend the suspension. ⁸²⁷ In August 2002, the Council noted that it would take the implementation of the peace accords into account when further reviewing the suspended measures. ⁸²⁸

3. Scope

The 864 sanctions regime initially consisted of arms and petroleum sanctions. The regime was subsequently expanded to incorporate travel, aviation, financial, diamond and representative sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under resolution 864 (1993), the Security Council required states to prevent the sale or supply to Angola of arms and related material, military assistance, and petroleum and petroleum products. In August 1997, after hostilities had resumed and UNITA had continued to refuse to implement the Acordos de Paz, the Council adopted resolution 1127 (1997), which strengthened sanctions by imposing a

⁸²³ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 17.

⁸²⁴ SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), paras. 2, 3. 825 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 2.

⁸²⁶ SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), preambular para. 5.

⁸²⁷ SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), para. 2. 828 SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), para. 2.

⁸²⁹ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 19.

combination of travel, representative and aviation sanctions against UNITA. 830 The new sanctions entered into force at the end of October. 831

Under the travel sanctions, states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of senior UNITA officials and all adult members of their immediate families, ⁸³² and to suspend or cancel any travel documents issued to people in those categories. ⁸³³ Under the representative sanctions, states were to close all UNITA offices in their territories. ⁸³⁴ Under the aviation sanctions, states were required to: (a) prevent aircraft from arriving in, departing from, or overflying their territories if they had originated from or were destined for locations not cleared by the Angolan government; ⁸³⁵ (b) prohibit the provision of aircraft or aircraft parts to Angola, other than through points of entry designated by the Angolan government; ⁸³⁶ and (c) prohibit the provision of engineering, servicing, certification or insurance for aircraft registered in Angola, except when designated by the Angolan government. ⁸³⁷

In June 1998, the Council again expanded the sanctions, imposing a mixture of financial, representative and targeted economic sanctions, including diamond sanctions. The new sanctions entered into force on 1 July 1998. Under the financial sanctions, states were required to freeze funds in their territories belonging to UNITA or to senior UNITA officials and adult members of their immediate families. Under the representative sanctions, states were to prevent all official contacts with the UNITA leadership in areas of Angola to which state administration had not been extended. Under the targeted economic sanctions, states were required to prohibit: (a) the import from Angola of diamonds not controlled through the Angolan government's certificate-of-origin regime; (b) the sale or supply to areas of Angola to which state administration had not been extended of mining equipment and services; and (c) the sale or supply to those areas of vehicles, watercraft and spare parts thereof.

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council exempted from the initial arms and petroleum embargo the sale or supply to Angola of arms and petroleum to the

```
    830 SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4.
    831 SC Res. 1130 (29 September 1997), para. 2.
    832 SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(a).
    833 Ibid., para. 4(b).
    834 Ibid., para. 4(c).
    835 Ibid., para. 4(d)(ii).
    836 Ibid., para. 4(d)(ii).
    837 Ibid., para. 4(d)(iii).
    838 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), paras. 11-12.
    840 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 11.
    841 Ibid., para. 12(a).
    842 Ibid., para. 12(b).
```

government of Angola, through points of entry to be designated by that government. When it strengthened the sanctions, it provided that the travel sanctions could not oblige a state to refuse entry to its own nationals. It also exempted from the aviation sanctions cases of medical emergency and flights carrying food, medicine or supplies for essential humanitarian needs, when approved in advance by the 864 Committee. When the Council applied representative sanctions, it exempted contacts made with UNITA by representatives of the Government of Unity and National Reconciliation, the UN and observer states to the Lusaka Protocol. Hay 2002, after the death of the UNITA leader, Jonas Savimbi, and when it appeared that the decadeslong conflict between UNITA and the Angolan government was drawing to a close, the Council suspended the travel sanctions.

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council has bestowed responsibilities relating to the administration, implementation and enforcement of the sanctions upon a range of actors, including the 864 UNITA Sanctions Committee, the UNSG, the UNITA Panel of Experts and the UNITA Monitoring Mechanism.

4.1 The UNITA Sanctions Committee

The Security Council established the 864 Sanctions Committee when it created the 864 sanctions regime. The 864 Committee was established, in accordance with rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure, to report on its work to the Council with its observations and recommendations, and to: (a) examine the reports submitted by states on the measures they had adopted to meet their obligations under the sanctions regime; (b) seek further information from states on the action taken by them to implement the sanctions; (c) consider information brought to its attention by states concerning sanctions violations and recommend appropriate measures in response thereto; (d) report periodically on information submitted to it

```
SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 19.
SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(a).
SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 4(a).
SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 12(a).
SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), para. 1; SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), para. 1.
SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 22.
Ibid., para. 22 (b).
Ibid., para. 22 (c).
```

regarding alleged sanctions violations, identifying where possible persons or entities, including vessels, reported to be engaged in such violations; 854 and (e) promulgate guidelines that might be necessary to facilitate sanctions implementation. 855

The Security Council subsequently requested the 864 Committee to undertake a range of additional responsibilities, including to: (a) report on sanctions compliance and in particular on possible violations by two neighbouring states; 856 (b) draw up guidelines for the implementation of additional sanctions, including the designation of UNITA officials and family members whose travel was to be prohibited; 857 (c) decide upon requests for exemptions;858 (d) report regarding actions taken by states to implement sanctions; 859 (e) draw up guidelines for the implementation of new sanctions and consider ways of strengthening sanctions effectiveness;860 (f) authorise, on a case-by-case basis and under the noobjection procedure, exemptions from additional sanctions for verified medical and humanitarian purposes;861 (g) investigate reports that UNITA's leader had travelled outside Angola in violation of sanctions, and that UNITA forces had received military training and assistance, as well as arms, also in violation of sanctions; 862 and (h) report on possible steps to prevent sanctions violations and improve implementation⁸⁶³

The Security Council also bestowed a number of responsibilities upon the 864 Committee relating to the activities of the UNITA Panel of Experts and the UNITA Monitoring Mechanism. The Committee was thus requested to: (a) submit an interim report and final report of the Panel by stipulated deadlines; ⁸⁶⁴ (b) update the list of UNITA officials and adult members of their immediate families subject to travel sanctions and include in that list their date and place of birth and any known addresses; ⁸⁶⁵ (c) submit the reports by the Monitoring Mechanism prior to the expiration of each mandate; ⁸⁶⁶ and (d) review the final and

 ⁸⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 22 (d).
 855 *Ibid.*, para. 22 (e).
 856 SC Res. 932 (30 June 1994), para. 8.
 857 SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 11 (a).
 858 *Ibid.*, para. 11 (b).

⁸⁵⁹ Ibid., para. 11 (c); SC Res. 1135 (29 October 1997), para. 9; SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 20 (b); SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), para. 3.

SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 20 (a).
 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 13.
 SC Res. 1202 (15 October 1998), para. 14.
 SC Res. 1221 (12 January 1999), para. 8.

 ⁸⁶⁴ SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), para. 7.
 865 SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 24.
 866 SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 6; SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para. 6; SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 8; SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 7; SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 6.

supplementary reports of the Monitoring Mechanism, with a view to offering guidance to the Mechanism on its future work.⁸⁶⁷

The 864 Committee was eventually dissolved in December 2002, upon the termination of the 864 sanctions regime.⁸⁶⁸ During its almost decade-long tenure, the UNITA Committee held 43 formal meetings and issued eight annual reports.⁸⁶⁹ In its final report, the Committee observed that, while the sanctions might not have played a direct role in the development of a promising peace process, it was generally recognised that they had weakened UNITA's military potential.870 Among the lessons the Committee drew from the UNITA sanctions experience were that: (a) the establishment of the Panel of Experts and the Monitoring Mechanism had significantly enhanced sanctions effectiveness; (b) states often required technical assistance in enacting the necessary legislation to implement sanctions domestically; (c) reporting by states on sanctions violations had been invaluable to the work of the Committee and the Monitoring Mechanism; (d) missions by the Committee Chairman had been extremely useful; and (e) the use of the internet had helped to maintain transparency in the Committee's work.871

The 864 Committee also issued a number of ad hoc reports, including reports by on visits conducted by the Committee Chairman to explore how to improve sanctions implementation. In contrast to the annual reports, the ad hoc reports often contained concrete and detailed recommendations on steps that might be taken to facilitate the effective implementation of the sanctions. The major development to arise as a result of the ad hoc reports was the establishment of the Panel of Experts on UNITA sanctions.

4.2 The Secretary-General

When the Security Council established the 864 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to notify it if, before the date on which the sanctions were due to come into force, an effective cease-fire had been established and agreement reached on implementing the Acordos de Paz and relevant Security Council resolutions, in which case the sanctions would not come into force. 873 If that were to occur, then the UNSG

 ⁸⁶⁷ SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 4.
 868 SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002), para. 3.
 869 See Appendix 3, Table F.
 870 S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002), para. 20.

⁸⁷¹ *Ibid.*, para. 21. ⁸⁷² See Appendix 3, Table F.

⁸⁷³ SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 17.

was requested to report if UNITA subsequently ceased participating constructively in the cease-fire and in implementing the Acordos de Paz and relevant Security Council resolutions, in which case the sanctions would come into force immediately.⁸⁷⁴

The Security Council subsequently requested the UNSG to report: (a) if he felt it necessary to impose additional sanctions or to review those in effect; 875 (b) if UNITA had made substantial and genuine progress in fulfilling its obligations under the peace process, in which case additional sanctions would not be applied; 876 (c) if UNITA had taken concrete and irreversible steps to implement its obligations under the Lusaka Protocol, in which case additional sanctions would not come into effect; 877 (d) on UNITA's compliance with its obligation to implement the Lusaka Protocol; 878 (e) on sanctions violations; 879 (f) if UNITA co-operated in the extension of state administration throughout Angola, in which case additional sanctions would not come into effect; 880 (f) if UNITA had complied with all its relevant obligations, in which case additional sanctions would be reviewed and terminated; 881 (g) with recommendations for improving sanctions implementation.

The Security Council also asked the UNSG to take a number of steps in connection with the establishment and support of the Panel of Experts and the Monitoring Mechanism, including to: (a) establish a Trust Fund to finance the activities of the Panel;⁸⁸³ (b) establish the monitoring mechanism;⁸⁸⁴ (c) strengthen collaboration with regional and international organisations, including Interpol, that might be involved in monitoring or enforcing sanctions implementation;⁸⁸⁵ (d) develop an information package and media campaign designed to educate the public on sanctions;⁸⁸⁶ (e) appoint the experts to serve on the monitoring mechanism and make financial arrangements to support the

```
874 Ibid., para. 18.
875 SC Res. 903 (16 March 1994), para. 10; SC Res. 922 (31 May 1994), para. 7; SC Res. 1055 (8 May 1996), para. 28; SC Res. 1064 (11 July 1996), para. 28.
876 SC Res. 1075 (11 October 1996), para. 13.
877 SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 7; SC Res. 1130 (29 September 1997), paras. 2-3.
878 Ibid., para. 8; SC Res. 1135 (29 October 1997), para. 7.
879 SC Res. 1157 (20 March 1998), para. 4; SC Res. 1164 (29 April 1998), para. 14.
880 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 14; SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), para. 2.
881 SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 15.
882 SC Res. 1202 (15 October 1998), para. 15; SC Res. 1213 (3 December 1998), para. 13.
883 SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), para. 11.
884 SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 3.
```

⁸⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 29. ⁸⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 30.

mechanism's work;⁸⁸⁷ and (f) close, upon the conclusion of the activities of the Panel of Experts, the Trust Fund established to support the Panel and arrange for funds to be reimbursed to contributors.⁸⁸⁸

4.3 The Panel of Experts on UNITA sanctions

In May 1999 the Council decided to establish expert panels to facilitate the effective implementation of the UNITA sanctions. 889 The panels were to: (a) collect information relating to the violations of the arms, petroleum, diamond and financial sanctions; (b) identify those committing or facilitating the violations of those sanctions; and (c) recommend measures to end such violations and to improve the sanctions implementation. 890 In late July 1999, the 864 Committee appointed ten experts to the expert panels. 891 The experts came from a variety of countries, possessing expertise in fields conducive to the investigation of violations of different aspects of the multi-faceted UNITA sanctions regime. The experts convened for the first time in late August 1999, in New York, when they decided that, due to the interconnectedness of the areas to be examined, it would be best to act as one panel rather than two. 892 During the Panel's six-month mandate, its members visited close to thirty countries and met with a wide range of people, including government officials, diplomats, NGOs, police and intelligence sources, industry associations, corporations and journalists. ⁸⁹³ The Panel circulated an interim and a final report through the 864 Committee. 894 The final report contained the Panel's findings and conclusions on sanctions violations. The Panel made thirtynine recommendations for addressing these violations.⁸⁹⁵

4.4 The Monitoring Mechanism on UNITA sanctions

In April 2000, the Security Council adopted resolution 1295 (2000), which appeared to endorse the recommendations made by the Panel of Experts. However, the Council employed voluntary rather than mandatory language, using terms such as 'requests', 'calls upon' and 'encourages' instead of the more definitive 'decides'. The resolution thus amounted more to a wish-list of things that could be done to

⁸⁸⁷ SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 5 (five experts); SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para. 5 (five experts); SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 7 (four experts); SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 6 (four experts); SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 5 (two experts).

⁸⁸⁸ SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 4. 889 SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), para. 6. 890 *Ibid.* 891 S/1999/837 (30 July 1999). 892 S/2000/203 (10 March 2000), para. 8. 893 *Ibid.* 894 See Appendix 3, Table H. 895 S/2000/203 (10 March 2000).

improve sanctions implementation than a set of mandatory obligations to be acted upon by states. Nevertheless, the Council did take concrete action upon one of the Panel's recommendations, by requesting the UNSG to establish a monitoring mechanism on the UNITA sanctions. ⁸⁹⁶ The UNITA Monitoring Mechanism was to continue the work of the Panel of Experts by collecting additional information on, and investigating relevant leads relating to, allegations of violations of the UNITA sanctions. ⁸⁹⁷ It would consist of up to five experts and would have a six-month mandate. ⁸⁹⁸

The Monitoring Mechanism's mandate was extended five times, although in time it contracted from five to two members. During the course of its two-and-a-half-year tenure, the Monitoring Mechanism submitted six reports. In its reports, the Mechanism identified individuals and companies involved in activities that violated or promoted violation of sanctions, as well as states that were complicit in such activities. The Mechanism also commissioned a professional asset tracer to investigate the flow of UNITA's financial assets, and identified and monitored the activities of individuals and non-governmental organisations who appeared to be acting as foreign representatives of UNITA. The Monitoring Mechanism recommended the promotion of better networks between regulatory bodies engaged in sanctions

⁸⁹⁶ SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 3. ⁸⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 3. ⁸⁹⁸ *Ibid.*

See: SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 3; SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 2.

⁹⁰⁰ See Appendix 3, Table H.

S/2000/1225 (21 December 2000), paras. 120–143 (exploring the activities of Victor Bout, alleged violator of arms sanctions), 154–161 (exploring the activities of the De Decker brothers, alleged violators of arms sanctions), 162–164 (exploring the activities of an individual known simply as 'Watson', alleged violator of arms sanctions); S/2001/363 (18 April 2001), paras. 14–34 (companies alleged to have been violators of arms sanctions); S/2001/966 (12 October 2001), paras. 75–85 (companies alleged to have been violators of arms sanctions); S/2002/486 (26 April 2002), paras. 33–40 (companies alleged to have been violators of arms sanctions), 69–73 (Bout).

S/2000/1225 (21 December 2000), paras. 32–38 (Bulgaria), 39–41 (Romania), 43–45 (Togo), 48–49 (Burkina Faso), 78 (Portugal and South Africa) 89–102 (listing a range of states alleged to have failed to curtail violations of representative sanctions), 180–181 (DRC), 182–189 (South Africa), 190 (Zambia), 191–193 (Rwanda and Uganda); S/2001/966 (12 October 2001), paras. 169–171 (DRC), 214–217 (Zambia); S/2002/486 (26 April 2002), paras. 43–50 (Moldova), 51–54 (Bulgaria), 61–63 (Zambia), 65–68 (DRC), 95–102 (Zambia), 156–162 (DRC).

⁹⁰³ S/2001/363 (18 April 2001), para. 2.

⁹⁰⁴ S/2000/1225 (21 December 2000), paras. 80–110; S/2001/363 (18 April 2001), paras. 35–51; S/2001/966 (12 October 2001), paras. 46–63, 234–245.

implementation, including the establishment of an effective international regulatory regime for diamonds and the promotion of better co-operation among SADC member states in the implementation, monitoring and enforcement of arms embargoes. The Mechanism also recommended that the Security Council should establish a permanent sanctions monitoring mechanism.

5. Suspension and termination

In May 2002, after the death of UNITA leader Jonas Savimbi and when it appeared that the decades-long conflict between UNITA and the Angolan government was drawing to a close, the Security Council suspended the travel sanctions against UNITA officials and their families. ⁹⁰⁷ In December 2002, the Council welcomed the steps taken by the Angolan government and UNITA toward the full implementation of the Acordos de Paz, the Lusaka Protocol, relevant Security Council resolutions and other recent initiatives aimed at achieving peace. ⁹⁰⁸ It then terminated the sanctions regime, ⁹⁰⁹ and dissolved the 864 Committee. ⁹¹⁰

6. Conclusions

The UNITA sanctions regime exhibited a number of noteworthy characteristics. As with the sanctions imposed against the Bosnian Serbs, the UNITA sanctions regime targeted a sub-state entity. The Council also experimented for the first time with diamond sanctions, prohibiting the export of diamonds from UNITA-controlled areas in an attempt to address the link between the diamond trade and the flow of illicit weapons. The Council also continued the trend, initiated with the 748 sanctions regime and utilised again in the 757, 820 and 841 sanctions regimes, of employing time-delays to provide the target with a period of grace in which to avoid the application of sanctions. 911

The 864 sanctions regime witnessed the first missions by the Chairman of a Sanctions Committee. It also led to the establishment

 $^{^{905}\,}$ S/2000/1225 (21 December 2000), para. 230; S/2002/486 (26 April 2002), para. 240.

⁹⁰⁶ S/2001/966 (12 October 2001), paras. 260–263.

⁹⁰⁷ SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), para. 1; SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), para. 1.

⁹⁰⁸ SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002), preambular para. 3.

⁹⁰⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 2. ⁹¹⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 3.

 ⁹¹¹ See, e.g.: SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 17; SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para.
 7; SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 14.

for the first time of both a Panel of Experts and a Monitoring Mechanism designed to explore sanctions violations. The Security Council made a rare explicit reference to Article 41⁹¹² and expressed its readiness to consider the possibility of imposing a measure contained in Article 41 but rarely used – communications sanctions.⁹¹³ Finally, a curious situation arose at the end of the 864 sanctions regime, when sanctions were terminated and the 864 Committee dissolved ten days before the expiration of the UNITA Monitoring Mechanism's final mandate. This meant that the Committee was dissolved prior to the conclusion of the activities of a body which supposedly reported through it to the Security Council.

12. THE 918 RWANDA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Rwanda in May 1994, in an attempt to address ongoing violence in that country. The 918 sanctions regime initially consisted of a general arms embargo against the territory of Rwanda, which was subsequently narrowed to target nongovernment entities in Rwanda or neighbouring states who might supply arms to such entities. The Council has established two subsidiary bodies to administer and monitor the 918 sanctions regime – the 918 Rwanda Sanctions Committee and the International Commission of Inquiry.

1. Constitutional basis

In May 1994, the Security Council expressed its deep concern that the consequences of violence in Rwanda, including the internal displacement of a significant percentage of the Rwandan population and the massive exodus of refugees, constituted a humanitarian crisis of 'enormous proportions'. ⁹¹⁴ The Council proceeded to determine that the situation in Rwanda constituted a threat to peace and security in the region. ⁹¹⁵ It invoked Chapter VII, ⁹¹⁶ before imposing sanctions against Rwanda. ⁹¹⁷ In subsequent decisions related to the Rwandan sanctions

⁹¹² SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 6. ⁹¹³ SC Res. 1221 (12 January 1999), para. 8.

⁹¹⁴ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), preambular para. 8.

 ⁹¹⁵ Ibid., section B, preambular para. 1.
 916 Ibid., section B, preambular para. 2.
 917 Ibid., para. 13.

regime, the Council again invoked Chapter VII, without explicitly determining the continuing existence of a threat to peace and security. 918

2. Objectives

The Security Council did not articulate an explicit objective in connection with the Rwanda sanctions regime. Various provisions of the resolution establishing the sanctions suggest, however, that the main objectives of the arms embargo were the establishment of a cease-fire and the achievement of a peaceful settlement to the conflict, within the framework of the Arusha Peace Agreement. 919

3. Scope

3.1 Sanctions obligations

The sanctions regime against Rwanda initially consisted of a prohibition upon the sale or supply to Rwanda of arms and related material. ⁹²⁰ In June 1995, the Council affirmed that the Rwanda sanctions regime prevented the sale or supply of arms and related material to persons in states neighbouring Rwanda, if such sale or supply was for eventual use in Rwanda. ⁹²¹

In August 1995, the Council narrowed the scope of the sanctions slightly, deciding that the sanctions regime would not apply to the sale or supply of arms and related material to the government of Rwanda. Place At the same time, the Council also decided that the Rwandan government could not resell arms or related material to any neighbouring states or to any person not in its service. In addition, the Council also required states to notify the Rwanda Sanctions Committee of any exports of arms and related material to the Rwandan government.

3.2 Exemptions

When the Council applied the 918 arms embargo, it exempted activities related to the UN Assistance Mission for Rwanda and the UN Observer

⁹¹⁸ SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), preambular para. 6; SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), section B, preambular para. 1.

⁹¹⁹ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), preambular para. 6, paras. 1 and 19. ⁹²⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 13.

⁹²¹ SC Res. 997 (9 June 1995), para. 4; SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), para. 9.

⁹²² SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), paras. 7-8. ⁹²³ *Ibid.*, para. 11.

Mission Uganda-Rwanda. ⁹²⁴ In July 1995, the Council exempted explosives for use in demining, when authorised by the Rwanda Sanctions Committee. ⁹²⁵

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council has established two subsidiary entities to facilitate the administration and monitoring of the 918 sanctions regime: the Rwanda Sanctions Committee and the International Commission of Inquiry on Rwanda Sanctions. The Council has also bestowed a number of sanctions-related tasks upon the UNSG.

4.1 The 918 Sanctions Committee

When the Security Council established the 918 sanctions regime it created the 918 Committee to oversee sanctions administration. 926 The 918 Committee was established, in accordance with rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure, with a mandate to report on its work to the Council with its observations and recommendations and to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action taken to implement the arms embargo; 927 (b) consider information concerning embargo violations and make recommendations on increasing the embargo's effectiveness; 928 and (c) recommend appropriate measures in response to embargo violations and provide regular information to the UNSG for distribution to member states. 929

The Council subsequently requested the 918 Committee to: (a) consider information provided by states and organisations on the transport of arms into countries neighbouring Rwanda for eventual use in Rwanda; (b) receive applications and provide authorisation where appropriate, concerning exemptions for explosives used in humanitarian demining programmes; (c) receive notifications from all states of all exports from their territories to Rwanda of arms or related material; (d) receive notification from the government of Rwanda of all imports it received of arms and related material; (e) report regularly on notifications so received; and (f) collate information in its

 ⁹²⁴ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 16.
 925 SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), sole para.
 926 SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 14.
 927 Ibid., para. 14(a).
 928 Ibid., para. 14(b).
 930 S/PRST/1995/22 (27 April 1995).
 931 SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), sole para.
 932 SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), para. 11.
 933 Ibid.
 934 Ibid.

possession pertaining to the mandate of the International Commission of Inquiry and provide that information to the Commission. 935

The 918 Committee has been one of the least active of the Security Council's sanctions committees. By the end of 2006 it had issued more annual reports (twelve)⁹³⁶ in its twelve and a half years than it had held formal meetings (seven). 937 In its reports, the Committee has consistently noted that, in the absence of a monitoring mechanism, its ability to monitor the sanctions effectively is dependent upon the co-operation of states and organisations in a position to provide it with pertinent information. 938 In its 1998 annual report, the Committee endorsed paragraph 2 of resolution 1196 (1998), which encouraged member states to consider, as a means of implementing obligations under arms embargoes, the adoption of legislation or other legal measures making the violation of Security Council arms embargoes a criminal offence. 939 The Committee also expressed its intention to consider appropriate steps to improve the monitoring of the arms embargo, including establishing channels of communication with relevant regional and sub-regional organisations. 940 In its 2006 annual report, the Committee noted that it had held three informal consultations during 2006.941 The Committee observed that its members had not been able to reach agreement concerning the future status of the notification requirement for arms and related material to be imported to or exported from Rwanda by the Rwandan government. 942 It requested the Security Council to take a decision to resolve the situation.⁹⁴³

4.2 The Secretary-General

When the Security Council established the Rwanda sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to provide assistance to the 918 Committee. ⁹⁴⁴ The Council subsequently requested the UNSG to: (a) consult the

⁹³⁵ SC Res. 1161 (9 April 1998), para. 2. ⁹³⁶ See Appendix 3, Table F.

⁹³⁷ The Committee's most recent formal meeting – its seventh – had been held on 6 January 1998: Index to Proceedings of the Security Council for 1998 (New York: UN, 1999), p. xiv.

⁹³⁸ See, e.g., S/1997/15 (7 January 1997), para. 10; S/1997/1028 (31 December 1997), para. 5; S/1998/1219 (24 December 1998), para. 5; S/1999/1292 (30 December 1999), para. 5; S/2000/1227 (22 December 2000), para. 5; S/2002/49 (14 January 2002), para. 5; S/2002/1406 (24 December 2002), para. 5; S/2004/134 (20 February 2004), para. 6; S/2005/76 (9 February 2005), para. 6; S/2006/164 (14 March 2006), para. 3.

⁹³⁹ S/1998/1219 (24 December 1998), para. 5. 940 *Ibid.*, para. 6.

⁹⁴¹ S/2006/1049 (28 December 2006), para. 5. ⁹⁴² *Ibid.*, para. 7. ⁹⁴³ *Ibid.*, para. 8.

⁹⁴⁴ SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 17.

governments of countries neighbouring Rwanda on the possibility of deploying observers to monitor the implementation of the Rwandan sanctions and report back on those consultations; ⁹⁴⁵ (b) make recommendations on the establishment of a commission to investigate allegations of arms flows to former Rwandan government forces in the Great Lakes region; ⁹⁴⁶ (c) continue consultations with governments of neighbouring states concerning the deployment of UN military observers at airfields and transportation points in and around border crossings; ⁹⁴⁷ (d) notify member states of points of entry through which arms exempt from the embargo might enter the country; ⁹⁴⁸ (e) report on the legitimate export of arms to Rwanda in accordance with approved exemptions; ⁹⁴⁹ and (f) consult with states neighbouring Rwanda, and in particular Zaire, on appropriate measures for implementing the arms embargo and deterring shipments of arms to former Rwandan government forces, including through the deployment of UN observers. ⁹⁵⁰

The UNSG was also requested to undertake a number of tasks in connection with the activities of the International Commission of Inquiry, including to: (a) establish the Commission; ⁹⁵¹ (b) report on the Commission's establishment and submit the Commission's interim and final reports to the Council; ⁹⁵² (c) maintain the Commission; ⁹⁵³ (d) re-activate the International Commission of Inquiry; ⁹⁵⁴ and (e) submit the Commission's interim and final reports. ⁹⁵⁵

4.3 The Commission of Inquiry on Rwanda (ICIR)

In September 1995, the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish, as a matter of urgency, an International Commission of Inquiry. The Commission, which would consist of five to ten impartial and internationally respected persons, including legal, military and police experts, was to: (a) collect information and investigate reports relating to the sale or supply of arms and related material to former Rwandan government forces in the Great Lakes region, in violation of Council resolutions 918 (1994), 997 (1995) and 1011 (1995); (b) investigate allegations that such forces were receiving military training in

```
    SC Res. 997 (9 June 1995), para. 6.
    Ibid., para. 4.
    Ibid., para. 7.
    Ibid., para. 12.
    SC Res. 1053 (23 April 1996), para. 7.
    Ibid., para. 4.
    Ibid., para. 4.
    SC Res. 1053 (23 April 1996), para. 7.
    Ibid., para. 2.
    SC Res. 1161 (9 April 1998), para. 1.
    Ibid., para. 7.
    Ibid., para. 7.
```

order to destabilise Rwanda; 959 (c) identify parties aiding and abetting the illegal acquisition of arms by former Rwandan government forces, in violation of the sanctions; 960 and (d) recommend measures to end the illegal flow of arms in the sub-region. 961

Six people were appointed to the Commission. ⁹⁶² At the conclusion of the Commission's mandate it was subsequently maintained, then later re-activated by the Council. ⁹⁶³ Under its subsequent mandates, the Commission was to: (a) follow up its earlier investigations and pursue any further allegations of embargo violations; ⁹⁶⁴ (b) collect information and investigate reports relating to the sale, supply and shipment of arms and related material to former Rwandan government forces and militias in the Great Lakes region, in violation of the arms embargo; ⁹⁶⁵ (c) identify parties aiding and abetting the acquisition of arms and related material by former Rwandan government forces, in violation of the arms embargo; ⁹⁶⁶ and (d) make recommendations relating to the illegal flow of arms in the Great Lakes region. ⁹⁶⁷

During its tenure, the International Commission of Inquiry prepared six reports. ⁹⁶⁸ In its first report, the Commission noted that its activities to date had taken place mainly in Rwanda, Zaire and the region, whilst it had approached a number of governments whose nationals were alleged to have been involved in violations of the arms embargo, including Bulgaria, China, France, Seychelles, South Africa and Zaire. ⁹⁶⁹ The Commission was not yet able to confirm alleged embargo violations, but it believed that Rwandan men were receiving military training to conduct destabilising raids into Rwanda. ⁹⁷⁰

In its second report, the Commission of Inquiry explored allegations made by Human Rights Watch that arms had been delivered to former Rwandan government forces in Zaire, via the Seychelles, in violation of the Rwandan arms embargo. ⁹⁷¹ The Commission concluded that the report was accurate and that two shipments of arms, originating in the Seychelles, had indeed made their way into the hands of Rwandan

```
    <sup>959</sup> Ibid., para. 1(b).
    <sup>960</sup> Ibid., para. 1(c).
    <sup>961</sup> Ibid., para. 1(d).
    <sup>962</sup> S/1995/879 (20 October 1995).
    <sup>963</sup> SC Res. 1053 (23 April 1996), para. 2.
    <sup>964</sup> Ibid.
    <sup>965</sup> SC Res. 1161 (9 April 1998), para. 1(a).
    <sup>966</sup> Ibid., para. 1(b).
    <sup>967</sup> Ibid., paras. 14–54.
    <sup>970</sup> Ibid., paras. 67(a), 67(b).
    <sup>971</sup> Human Pichta Worth, Paramian with Impunity International Support for the Parameters of the Parameters
```

Human Rights Watch, Rearming with Impunity: International Support for the Perpetrators of the Rwandan Genocide (1995) (Washington, DC: Human Rights Watch 1995), available online at http://www.hrw.org/reports/1995/Rwanda1.htm.

government forces. ⁹⁷² Authorities in the Seychelles had authorised the sale after receiving end-user certificates purportedly issued by the government of Zaire. Once it became apparent that the shipments might have been delivered to a destination other than Zaire, the Seychelles cancelled subsequent additional scheduled shipments. ⁹⁷³ Ironically, the arms had originally been seized by the Seychelles from a ship named *Malo* because they were being transported to Somalia in violation of the 713 sanctions regime. ⁹⁷⁴ The Commission identified two individuals as being instrumental in facilitating the shipments and concluded that the government of Zaire had aided and abetted the violations. ⁹⁷⁵

The Commission made a number of general recommendations designed to facilitate the implementation of Security Council arms embargoes in general, including that: (a) upon the imposition of an arms embargo, the Security Council should consider urging neighbouring states to establish an office to monitor, implement and enforce the embargo within its own territory; 976 (b) where states could not staff and equip such offices, consideration should be given to establishing a trust fund, within the context of Article 50 of the Charter, to provide such assistance;977 (c) the Council could expand the functions of future sanctions committees to include liaising with such offices in neighbouring states, as well as receiving, analysing and circulating reports submitted by those offices; 978 (d) the governments of the Great Lakes region should intensify their efforts to ensure that their territory was not used for the recruitment or training of refugees, nor as a base from which to launch attacks against other countries; 979 (e) neighbouring states should be encouraged to maintain a register of movements and acquisitions of small arms, ammunition and material; 980 and (f) countries supplying arms should be requested not to transfer such arms to non-state entities or private businessmen.⁹⁸¹

Among the recommendations applicable to the 918 sanctions regime were that the Security Council should consider: (a) inviting the government of South Africa to investigate the participation of one of its nationals in sanctions violations; ⁹⁸² (b) calling upon the government of Bulgaria to make available to the 918 Committee the findings of an

```
    972 S/1996/195 (14 March 1996), paras. 21–39, 64.
    974 Ibid., para. 29.
    975 Ibid., paras. 21–39.
    976 Ibid., para. 77.
    977 Ibid., para. 79.
    980 Ibid., para. 84.
    981 Ibid., para. 85.
    982 Ibid., para. 86.
```

internal investigation into allegations that a Bulgarian company had been willing to sell arms in violation of Security Council resolutions; ⁹⁸³ (c) calling upon the government of Zaire to investigate the apparent complicity of its own personnel and officials in the purchase of arms from the Seychelles; ⁹⁸⁴ (d) inviting the government of Zaire to station UN observers on its territory to monitor sanctions implementation against Rwanda and to deter future violations; ⁹⁸⁵ (e) facilitating the establishment of a domestic group, within Zaire, to monitor the sanctions, perhaps in co-ordination with the OAU under Chapter VII; ⁹⁸⁶ and (f) retaining the Commission, or creating another similar body, to follow up the Commission's investigations. ⁹⁸⁷

In its third report, the Commission recommended that: (a) consideration should be given to requesting arms-producing states to take measures necessary under domestic law to implement the arms embargo, including prosecuting nationals involved in embargo violations; 988 (b) the Security Council should call upon the government of Zaire not to allow foreign groups to operate from its soil and to halt the sale or supply of arms and related material and assistance or training to those groups; 989 (c) UN observers should be deployed to reduce the potential for arms shipments; 990 (d) the Security Council should consider imposing an assets freeze on individuals and organisations involved in raising funds to finance the insurgency against Rwanda; 991 (e) the Security Council should encourage Tanzanian authorities to liaise with UNHCR and consult with the ICTR to see if legal grounds existed for detaining individuals accused of intimidating people in Rwandan refugee camps so that they participated in embargo violations; 992 and (f) the Security Council should urge Rwanda to create a climate conducive to the harmonious reintegration of refugees, in order to encourage their return. 993 In its fourth report, circulated in January 1998, the Commission outlined additional responses received from the various governments it had contacted, 994 as well as a limited number of conclusions, including the action it would take if it were maintained 995

 ⁹⁸³ Ibid., para. 87.
 ⁹⁸⁴ Ibid., para. 88.
 ⁹⁸⁵ Ibid., para. 91(a).
 ⁹⁸⁶ Ibid., para. 91(b).
 ⁹⁸⁸ S/1997/1010 (24 December 1997), para. 110.
 ⁹⁸⁹ Ibid., para. 112.
 ⁹⁹⁰ Ibid., para. 113.
 ⁹⁹¹ Ibid., para. 114.
 ⁹⁹² Ibid., para. 115.
 ⁹⁹⁴ S/1998/63 (26 January 1998), paras. 1-38.
 ⁹⁹⁵ Ibid., para. 39-43.

5. Suspension of aspects of the Rwanda sanctions regime

In August 1995 the scope of the Rwanda sanctions regime was narrowed such that the embargo no longer applied to the sale or supply of arms and related material to the Rwandan government, through designated entry points. On 1 September 1996, the requirement that such imports proceed to the government via designated points lapsed, such that the general sale or supply of arms and related material to the Rwandan government was permissible. ⁹⁹⁶

6. Conclusions

The Rwanda sanctions regime is noteworthy largely as a strange mixture of neglect and creative experimentation. The neglect is apparent in the fact that the Rwanda Sanctions Committee had a total of seven formal meetings in its first eleven years. The creative experimentation is demonstrated by the explicit statement on the part of the Council that the arms embargo required states to prevent the sale or supply of arms to persons in states neighbouring Rwanda if destined for use in Rwanda itself, and in particular by the establishment of the International Commission of Inquiry to explore violations of the arms embargo and to recommend measures to improve the embargo's implementation. The Commission represented the earliest attempt on the part of the Council to mandate an independent body of experts to explore the question of improving a sanctions regime. Unfortunately, however, despite the Commission's detailed reports, the Council did little to act upon its recommendations and suggestions.

13. THE 1054 SANCTIONS REGIME AGAINST THE SUDAN

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Sudan in March 1996, in an attempt to induce the extradition of three suspects wanted in connection with the assassination attempt that had been made against President Mubarak of Egypt, in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, on 26 June 1995. The 1054 sanctions regime initially consisted of diplomatic and targeted travel sanctions. It was strengthened slightly in August 1996, when the

⁹⁹⁶ SC/6265 (Press Release): Arms restrictions imposed on Rwanda Government ended, measures remain against non-governmental forces.

Council also imposed aviation sanctions against Sudan. The Sudan sanctions regime was eventually terminated in September 2001, when the Council determined that Sudan had taken steps to comply with its obligations under the sanctions regime. The Council did not create a sanctions committee or any other subsidiary body in connection with the 1054 sanctions regime. Instead, it bestowed responsibilities related to the regime upon the UNSG.

1. Constitutional basis

In January 1996, the Security Council condemned the 'terrorist assassination attempt' that had been made against President Mubarak of Egypt, in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, on 26 June 1995. ⁹⁹⁷ It then called upon the government of Sudan to extradite the three suspects, who were sheltering in Sudan, to Ethiopia and to refrain from assisting, supporting or facilitating terrorist activities and from giving shelter or sanctuary to 'terrorist elements'. ⁹⁹⁸

In March 1996, after the UNSG had reported that Sudan had failed to comply with the Security Council's requests, ⁹⁹⁹ the Council adopted resolution 1054 (1996), in which it reaffirmed that the suppression of acts of international terrorism, including those in which states were involved, was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security. ¹⁰⁰⁰ The Council then determined that the government of Sudan's non-compliance with its requests to extradite the three suspects to Ethiopia and to refrain from assisting, supporting or facilitating terrorist activities, and from giving shelter or sanctuary to terrorists, constituted a threat to international peace and security. ¹⁰⁰¹ It noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁰⁰² before imposing sanctions against Sudan. ¹⁰⁰³ In subsequent decisions related to the Sudan sanctions regime, the Council again reaffirmed that the suppression of acts of international terrorism was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security, ¹⁰⁰⁴ determined that the non-compliance

⁹⁹⁷ SC Res. 1044 (31 January 1996), para. 1. For a detailed account of the assassination attempt and the Ethiopian government's efforts to achieve the extradition of the three suspects from Sudan, see S/1996/10 (9 January 1996).

⁹⁹⁸ SC Res. 1044 (31 January 1996), para. 4.

⁹⁹⁹ See: S/1996/179 (11 March 1996), para. 31.

SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), preambular para. 9.
 Ibid., preambular para. 10.
 Ibid., preambular para. 11.
 Ibid., paras. 3, 4.

 ¹⁰⁰² *Ibid.*, preambular para. 11. 1003 *Ibid.*, paras. 3, 4.
 1004 SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), preambular para. 10.

of the government of Sudan constituted a threat to international peace and security, 1005 and invoked Chapter VII. 1006

2. Objectives

The major objective of the Sudan sanctions regime was to induce the extradition by Sudan of the three suspects wanted for the assassination attempt against President Mubarak. A secondary objective was to ensure that Sudan desisted from assisting, supporting and facilitating terrorist activities and from giving shelter or sanctuary to terrorist elements. 1008

3. Scope

3.1 Sanctions obligations

The Sudan sanctions regime initially consisted of a blend of mandatory diplomatic and travel sanctions. Under the diplomatic sanctions, states were required to reduce the number and level of staff at Sudanese diplomatic missions and consular posts, and to restrict or control the movement within their territory of all such staff who were to remain. The travel sanctions obligated states to restrict the entry into or transit through their territory of members of the government of Sudan, officials of that government, and members of the Sudanese armed forces. The sanctions of the Sudanese armed forces.

In August 1996, with the government of Sudan yet to comply with the Security Council's demands, the Council imposed aviation sanctions. Under the additional sanctions, states were required to deny aircraft permission to take off from, land in or overfly their territories where those aircraft were owned by Sudan Airways or the Sudanese government, or by an undertaking that was owned or controlled by Sudan Airways or the Sudanese government. 1012

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council did not outline any explicit exemptions from the 1054 sanctions regime.

```
    1005 Ibid., preambular para. 11.
    1006 Ibid., preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), preambular para. 7.
    1007 SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 1(a).
    1018 Ibid., para. 1(b).
    1019 Ibid., para. 3.
    1010 Ibid., para. 3(a).
    1011 Ibid., para. 3(b).
    1012 SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), para. 3.
```

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council broke with its previous sanctions practice by not establishing a sanctions committee to oversee the administration of the 1054 sanctions regime. It remains the only regime for which administrative responsibility has not been bestowed upon a sanctions committee. Instead, the Council requested the UNSG to perform various tasks related to the administration of the sanctions.

4.1 The Secretary-General

Prior to the application of the Sudan sanctions regime, the Council requested the UNSG, in consultation with the Organization of African Unity (OAU), to seek the co-operation of the government of Sudan with the requests to extradite the three suspects alleged to have been involved in the assassination attempt against President Mubarak and to refrain from supporting terrorist activities. The Council also requested that the UNSG report to it on those efforts.

When the Security Council established the 1054 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report on information received from states on steps taken to implement the sanctions, 1015 as well as on whether the government of Sudan had complied with the Council's demands to extradite the three suspects, desist from assisting, supporting and facilitating terrorist activities, and cease giving shelter to terrorist elements. 1016 In August 1996, when the Council strengthened the Sudan sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report if Sudan had complied with the objectives of the sanctions regime prior to the date on which additional sanctions were to come into effect, in which case the sanctions might not enter into force. 1017 The Council also requested the UNSG to report on the compliance of the government of Sudan with the Council's demands to extradite the three suspects and to desist from assisting, supporting and facilitating terrorist activities and from giving shelter to terrorist elements. 1018

In July 1996, the UNSG reported that the government of Sudan claimed that its investigations had produced no trace of two of the alleged suspects and that the identity of the third suspect was unknown. ¹⁰¹⁹ He also reported that Sudan asserted that it condemned terrorism and did not

```
    SC Res. 1044 (31 January 1996), para. 7.
    SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 7.
    SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), para. 4.
    S/1996/541 (10 July 1996): Report of the Secretary-General pursuant to Security Council resolution 1054 (1996), para. 10(a).
```

condone terrorist activities.¹⁰²⁰ In the same report, the UNSG also listed the forty replies that he had received from member states outlining steps taken to implement the sanctions against Sudan.¹⁰²¹

5. Termination

In September 2001, the Security Council noted the steps that had been taken by the government of the Sudan to comply with the Council's demands under the sanctions regime, ¹⁰²² as well as a collection of correspondence it had received advocating the lifting of the sanctions against Sudan. ¹⁰²³ The Council then welcomed the accession of Sudan to various international conventions for the suppression of terrorism, ¹⁰²⁴ and decided to terminate the sanctions. ¹⁰²⁵

6. Conclusions

The most unusual aspect of the 1054 sanctions regime was that the Security Council did not establish a sanctions committee to oversee the administration of the sanctions. As with the sanctions regime against Libya, the main impetus for the application of the sanctions was to gain custody of suspects alleged to have perpetrated acts of international terrorism. The Council stated on a number of occasions that the suppression of international terrorism was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security. Another notable aspect was the Council's employment of time-delays when imposing sanctions. The initial sanctions, outlined in resolution 1054 (1996), did not enter into force until 10 May 1996 – two weeks after the adoption of the resolution. The additional sanctions, outlined in resolution 1070 (1996), did not enter into force until more than ninety days after the adoption of resolution 1070 (1996).

14. THE 1132 SIERRA LEONE SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Sierra Leone in October 1997, in order to induce the military junta, which had come to power

```
    1020 Ibid., para. 10(b). 1021 Ibid., annex.
    1022 SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), preambular para. 2.
    1023 Ibid., preambular paras. 3-5. 1024 Ibid., preambular para. 6. 1025 Ibid., para. 1.
    1026 See, e.g., SC Res. 1044 (31 January 1996), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), preambular para. 7.
    1027 SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 2. 1028 SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), para. 4.
```

the previous May by means of a *coup d'etat*, to return control of the country to Sierra Leone's democratically elected government. The 1132 sanctions regime initially consisted of targeted travel and petroleum sanctions, as well as an arms embargo. In June 1998, after the democratically elected government had been returned to power, the initial sanctions were terminated. They were replaced immediately, however, by new sanctions targeting the former military junta and the leaders of the major rebel group in Sierra Leone – the Revolutionary United Front (RUF). Those sanctions consisted of an arms embargo, targeted travel sanctions and diamond sanctions. In June 2003, the diamond sanctions expired. The Council established the 1132 Sierra Leone Sanctions Committee to administer the 1132 sanctions regime and created a Panel of Experts to monitor sanctions implementation.

1. Constitutional basis

In October 1997, the Security Council recalled its earlier statements condemning the military coup that had taken place in Sierra Leone on 25 May 1996,¹⁰²⁹ and deplored the fact that the military junta had not taken steps to allow the restoration of the democratically elected government and a return to constitutional order.¹⁰³⁰ The Council expressed grave concern at the continued violence and loss of life in Sierra Leone following the military coup, at the deteriorating humanitarian conditions in that country and at the consequences for neighbouring countries.¹⁰³¹ It then determined that the situation in Sierra Leone constituted a threat to international peace and security in the region,¹⁰³² and invoked Chapter VII before imposing sanctions.¹⁰³³ In subsequent decisions related to the 1132 sanctions regime, the Council again determined that the situation in Sierra Leone continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security¹⁰³⁴ and invoked Chapter VII.¹⁰³⁵

¹⁰²⁹ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), preambular para. 1. Those statements included S/PRST/ 1996/29 (27 May 1996); S/PRST/1996/36 (11 July 1996); and S/PRST/1997/42 (6 August 1997).

SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), preambular para. 7.
 Ibid., preambular para. 8.
 Ibid., preambular para. 9.
 Ibid., preambular para. 10.

¹⁰³⁴ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), preambular para. 9.

SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), preambular para. 4; SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), preambular para. 5; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), preambular para. 10; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), preambular para. 10.

2. Objectives

The objective of the initial sanctions was for the military junta to take immediate steps to relinquish power in Sierra Leone and make way for the restoration of the democratically elected government and a return to constitutional order. The objectives of the sanctions targeting the former military junta and the RUF were the re-establishment of government control throughout the territory of Sierra Leone and the disarmament and demobilisation of all non-governmental forces. In its decisions imposing and extending the diamond sanctions, the Security Council noted that a key factor in determining whether to extend the measures would be the extent of the government's authority over the diamond-producing areas.

3. Scope

The 1132 sanctions regime initially consisted of targeted travel and petroleum sanctions, as well as an arms embargo. After the return to power of the democratically elected government, the sanctions regime was modified. Thereafter, it consisted of an arms embargo and diamond sanctions, as well as targeted travel sanctions against members of the former military junta and RUF leaders.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

The travel sanctions required states to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of the military junta and adult members of their families, unless it was for verified humanitarian purposes or in order to facilitate the return of the democratically elected government. The petroleum sanctions required states to prevent the sale or supply to Sierra Leone of petroleum and petroleum products. The arms embargo required states to prevent the sale or supply to Sierra Leone of arms and related material of all types. The same supply to Sierra Leone of arms and related material of all types.

In March 1998, upon the return to Sierra Leone of its democratically elected president, the Council terminated the petroleum sanctions. 1042

SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), paras. 1, 19.
 SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 7.
 SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 6; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 2.
 SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 5.
 Bid., para. 6.
 Ibid.
 SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), para. 2.

In June 1998, the Council terminated the remaining sanctions, ¹⁰⁴³ but immediately imposed an arms embargo and targeted travel sanctions, which aimed to stifle the ability of rebel groups in Sierra Leone to engage in armed conflict against the government. The arms sanctions required states to prevent the supply of arms to Sierra Leone, apart from to the government through named points of entry or for the use of the Military Observer Group of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOMOG). ¹⁰⁴⁴ The targeted travel sanctions required states to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of leading members of the former military junta and of the Revolutionary United Front (RUF). ¹⁰⁴⁵

In July 2000, the Security Council imposed diamond sanctions, with the aim of curtailing the activities of rebel groups. The new measures required states to prevent the import to their territories of rough diamonds originating from Sierra Leone. 1046

3.2 Exemptions

When the Security Council established the 1132 sanctions regime, it exempted travel for verified humanitarian purposes when authorised by the 1132 Committee and noted that states were not obliged to refuse entry to their own nationals. 1047 The Council also provided that the 1132 Committee could approve applications for exemptions from the petroleum sanctions, on a case-by-case basis under a no-objection procedure, from: (a) the democratically elected government of Sierra Leone; 1048 (b) other governments or UN agencies, where such applications were for verified humanitarian purposes; 1049 and (c) for the needs of the Military Observer Group of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOMOG). 1050

In June 1998, the Security Council permitted the supply of arms to the government of Sierra Leone through named points of entry or for the use of ECOMOG. ¹⁰⁵¹ It again provided for exemptions from travel sanctions when authorised by the 1132 Committee and noted that nothing obliged states to refuse entry to their nationals. ¹⁰⁵² In May 2000, the Council outlined an additional exemption from the arms embargo, permitting the sale or supply of arms and related material for the use

```
    SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 1.
    Ibid., paras. 2-3.
    SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 1.
    Ibid., para. 7(a).
    Ibid., para. 7(b).
    SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), paras. 2-3.
    Ibid., para. 5.
    Ibid., para. 5.
```

in Sierra Leone of member states co-operating with the United Nation Assistance Mission in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL) and the government of Sierra Leone. 1053

When the Security Council applied diamond sanctions in July 2000, it provided for the possibility of exemptions for rough diamonds certified by the government through a certificate-of-origin regime. There was no certification-of-origin regime in place at the time, so the Council requested the government of Sierra Leone to establish one. March 2001, the 1132 Committee decided that the new Certificate of Origin regime for Sierra Leone diamonds was in effective operation. 1056

3.3 Time-limits and extensions

The diamond sanctions were applied for an initial period of eighteen months. They were subsequently extended for two further periods of eleven and six months. In June 2003, the members of the Council agreed not to renew the diamond sanctions, in light of the government of Sierra Leone's increased efforts to manage its diamond industry, ensure proper control over diamond areas and participate in the Kimberley Process. 1059

4. Administration and monitoring

During the course of the 1132 sanctions regime, the Security Council has created two subsidiary entities: the 1132 Sanctions Committee and a Panel of Experts.

4.1 The 1132 Sanctions Committee

When the Security Council created the 1132 sanctions regime, it also established the 1132 Sierra Leone Sanctions Committee to administer the sanctions. The 1132 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to report to the Council with observations and recommendations and to:

```
    SC Res. 1299 (19 May 2000), para. 3.
    SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 5.
    Ibid., para. 2.
    S/2001/300 (30 March 2001).
```

¹⁰⁵⁷ SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 6.

¹⁰⁵⁸ SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 3; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 2.

¹⁰⁵⁹ SC/7778 (5 June 2003): Press statement on the Sierra Leone Diamond Embargo by the President of the Security Council.

¹⁰⁶⁰ SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 10.

(a) seek from all states further information regarding action taken to implement sanctions; 1061 (b) consider information on sanctions violations and recommend appropriate measures in response to those violations; 1062 (c) report periodically on information regarding alleged sanctions violations, identifying alleged violators where possible; 1063 (d) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; 1064 (e) consider requests for exemptions from the petroleum sanctions; 1065 (f) designate members of the military junta and adult members of their families subject to the travel sanctions; 1066 (g) examine ECOWAS reports regarding action to ensure the strict implementation of the arms and petroleum sanctions, 1067 as well as reports submitted by states on steps taken to give effect to the sanctions; 1068 and (h) liaise with the ECOWAS Committee on sanctions implementation.

In June 1998, the Security Council realigned the 1132 Committee's responsibilities. The Committee was now to: (a) report on notifications received from the government of Sierra Leone and from states relating to the registration of legitimate arms imports to Sierra Leone; ¹⁰⁷⁰ (b) seek from all states further information regarding action taken to implement the new sanctions; ¹⁰⁷¹ (c) consider information on violations of the new sanctions and recommend appropriate measures in response to those violations; ¹⁰⁷² (d) report periodically on alleged violations of the new sanctions, identifying where possible alleged violators; ¹⁰⁷³ (e) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; ¹⁰⁷⁴ (f) designate members of the military junta and leaders of the RUF and adult members of their families subject to the travel sanctions; ¹⁰⁷⁵ and (g) liaise with the ECOWAS Committee on the implementation of the new sanctions. ¹⁰⁷⁶

The 1132 Committee was subsequently assigned a variety of additional tasks. It was thus to: (a) investigate violations of the arms embargo and report with recommendations; ¹⁰⁷⁷ (b) communicate with the Sierra Leone government regarding the establishment of a certificate-of-origin regime for trading diamonds and report when an

```
    1061 Ibid., para. 10(a).
    1062 Ibid., para. 10(b).
    1063 Ibid., para. 10(c).
    1064 Ibid., para. 10(d).
    1065 Ibid., para. 7, 10(e).
    1066 Ibid., para. 10(f).
    1067 Ibid., para. 9.
    1069 Ibid., para. 10(h).
    1070 SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 4. The Committee thus submitted the following reports: S/1998/740 (7 August 1998); S/1998/1170 (15 December 1998).
    1071 SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 6.
    1072 Ibid.
    1073 Ibid.
    1074 Ibid.
    1075 Ibid.
    1076 Ibid.
```

effective regime was in operation; 1078 (c) seek from all states further information regarding action taken to implement diamond sanctions; 1079 (d) consider information concerning violations of diamond sanctions, identifying alleged violators where possible: 1080 (e) report periodically on alleged violations of diamond sanctions, identifying alleged violators; 1081 (f) promulgate guidelines to facilitate the implementation of diamond sanctions; 1082 (g) continue co-operating with other relevant sanctions committees, including in particular the 864 UNITA and 985 Liberia Committees; 1083 (h) hold an exploratory hearing in New York to assess the role of diamonds in the Sierra Leone conflict and the link between trade in Sierra Leone diamonds and trade in arms in violation of sanctions; 1084 (i) receive reports from states on measures taken to implement arms and travel sanctions; 1085 (j) strengthen contacts with regional and international organisations, including ECOWAS, the OAU and INTERPOL, with a view to identifying ways to improve effective implementation of the arms and travel sanctions; 1086 (k) make relevant information publicly available through appropriate media, including through the improved use of information technology; 1087 and (l) continue consideration of the arms and travel sanctions and present its views to the Council. 1088

By the end of 2005, the 1132 Committee had held 35 formal meetings¹⁰⁸⁹ and issued eight annual reports, as well as a number of other reports related to sanctions implementation.¹⁰⁹⁰ The Committee has been involved in some innovative activities, including: (a) missions by the Committee Chairman to facilitate sanctions implementation;¹⁰⁹¹ (b) convening an exploratory hearing on Sierra Leone diamonds;¹⁰⁹² and (c) holding joint informal meetings with other sanctions committees, including the 864 and 1343 Committees.¹⁰⁹³

```
    SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), paras. 4–5.
    Ibid., para. 7(a).
    Ibid., para. 7(c).
    Ibid., para. 7(d).
    Ibid., para. 7(e).
    Ibid., para. 7(e).
    Ibid., para. 17.
    Ibid., para. 22.
    Ibid., para. 23.
    SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 4.
    For the last reference to the holding of a formal meeting, see S/2005/44 (25 January
```

For the last reference to the holding of a formal meeting, see \$\(2005\)/44 (25 Janua 2005), para. 9.

¹⁰⁹⁰ See Appendix 3, Table F.

Visits were undertaken to the region by the Chairman in December 1997 and December 1998: S/1998/1236 (31 December 1998), paras. 19–21. In June and July 2002, the Chairman visited the region and other locations, including Brussels, Vienna and Lyon: S/2002/1414 (24 December 2002), para. 23.

¹⁰⁹² S/2000/1150 (4 December 2000); S/2000/1238 (26 December 2000), paras. 13–14.

¹⁰⁹³ S/2002/1414 (24 December 2002), para. 20.

In its annual reports, the Committee has regularly referred to alleged sanctions violations. ¹⁰⁹⁴ In its first report, the Committee observed that non-governmental forces were continuing to launch armed attacks into Sierra Leone and that arms and ammunition were continuing to cross into Sierra Leone from neighbouring countries, including Liberia. ¹⁰⁹⁵ The Committee's future efforts to improve sanctions implementation would include: (a) providing support for national or joint monitoring of the border between Sierra Leone and Liberia; ¹⁰⁹⁶ (b) identifying focal points within ECOMOG/ECOWAS, in order to facilitate closer liaison between the Committee and that regional organisation; ¹⁰⁹⁷ (c) frequent reporting from the United Nations Observer Mission in Sierra Leone (UNOMSIL) to the Committee; ¹⁰⁹⁸ and (d) continuing to distribute, including through the UN presence in the region, an updated list of individuals subject to the travel sanctions. ¹⁰⁹⁹

In its subsequent reports, the Committee's observations have been less extensive. In its report for 1999, the Committee observed that reports from ECOMOG and UNOMSIL could help to strengthen the effectiveness of the arms embargo. ¹¹⁰⁰ In its later reports, the Committee noted that it did not have a specific monitoring mechanism to ensure effective sanctions implementation and it urged member states and organizations to provide it with pertinent information. ¹¹⁰¹ The Committee also reiterated that reports through ECOWAS and the United Nations Assistance Mission in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL) could strengthen the effectiveness of the arms embargo. ¹¹⁰² Since early 2005, with Sierra Leone moving from a peacekeeping to a peacebuilding phase, the Committee has repeatedly observed that the time might be ripe for the Security Council to revisit and streamline the legal basis of the 1132 sanctions regime. ¹¹⁰³

¹⁰⁹⁴ S/1998/1236 (31 December 1998), paras. 16–18; S/1999/1300 (31 December 1999), paras. 10–13; S/2000/1238 (26 December 2000), paras. 20–22; S/2002/50 (14 January 2002), paras. 16–17; S/2002/1414 (24 December 2002), paras. 16–19.

¹⁰⁹⁵ S/1998/1236 (31 December 1998), paras. 23–24. ¹⁰⁹⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 25(a).

¹⁰⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 25(b). ¹⁰⁹⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 25(c). ¹⁰⁹⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 25(d).

¹¹⁰⁰ S/1999/1300 (31 December 1999), para. 14.

¹¹⁰¹ S/2000/1238 (26 December 2000), para. 26; S/2002/50 (14 January 2002), para. 20; S/2002/1414 (24 December 2002), para. 24; S/2004/166 (27 February 2004), para. 20.

¹¹⁰² S/2000/1238 (26 December 2000), para. 27; S/2002/50 (14 January 2002), para. 20; S/2002/1414 (24 December 2002), para. 24.

¹¹⁰³ S/2005/44 (25 January 2005), para. 18; S/2005/843 (30 December 2005), para. 17; S/2006/1043 (28 December 2006) para. 14.

4.2 The Secretary-General

When the Council established the 1132 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to provide assistance to the 1132 Committee, ¹¹⁰⁴ to report on measures taken by states to implement sanctions, ¹¹⁰⁵ and to report on the compliance of the military junta with the requirements of the sanctions regime. ¹¹⁰⁶ The Council subsequently tasked the UNSG with a number of additional responsibilities, including to: (a) receive from the Government of Sierra Leone the list of points of entry through which arms and related material would be permitted to enter Sierra Leone; ¹¹⁰⁷ (b) report on exports of arms and related material to Sierra Leone and progress towards the re-establishment of government control throughout Sierra Leone and in the disarmament and demobilisation of all non-government forces; ¹¹⁰⁸ (c) establish the Sierra Leone Panel of Experts and provide the necessary resources to support the Panel's work; ¹¹⁰⁹ (d) publicise the provisions of resolutions imposing and extending the diamond sanctions. ¹¹¹⁰

4.3 The Panel of Experts on the Sierra Leone sanctions regime

In July 2000, the Security Council established a Panel of Experts to investigate implementation of the 1132 sanctions regime. The Panel was to: (a) collect information on possible violations of the arms embargo against Sierra Leone and on the link between the trade in diamonds and the trade in arms and related material; (b) consider the adequacy of air traffic systems in the region for detecting flights suspected of violating the arms sanctions; (c) participate in the exploratory hearing in New York on the role of diamonds in the Sierra Leone conflict and the link between the trade in diamonds and the trade in arms in that country; and (d) report, through the 1132 Committee, with its observations and recommendations on strengthening implementation of the arms and diamond sanctions.

```
    SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), para. 12.
    SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 2.
    Ibid., para. 13.
    Ibid., para. 13.
    Ibid., para. 16.
    SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 2.
    Ibid., para. 8.
    Ibid., para. 24; SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 5; SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 5.
    SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), para. 19.
    Ibid., para. 19(a).
    Ibid., para. 19(d).
    Ibid., para. 19(d).
```

The Panel of Experts submitted its written report to the Council in December 2000. The Panel's report remains perhaps the most sophisticated analysis yet completed by a body charged with the administration or monitoring of a UN sanctions regime. It contained a range of insightful observations and provided numerous concrete recommendations for action that might be taken to address violations of the 1132 sanctions regime and UN sanctions in general. The Security Council has subsequently acted upon many of the Panel's recommendations in addressing the situations in Sierra Leone, Liberia and West Africa in general, as well as in its oversight of other arms embargoes and diamond sanctions.

In its findings on the diamond trade, the Panel noted that diamonds were the major source of income for the RUF, providing enough revenue to sustain the group's military operations. The vast majority of RUF diamonds had been traded via Liberia, in a manner indicating that the trade was being conducted with the permission and involvement of Liberian government officials. The Panel reviewed Sierra Leone's certificate-of-origin regime and concluded that, although the regime was a positive development, it was unlikely to achieve the desired results in the absence of effective controls of the diamond trade in neighbouring countries and in the major global diamond trading centres. The providing source of the diamond trading centres.

In order to improve implementation of diamond sanctions, the Panel recommended that: (a) a global certification scheme should be developed and endorsed by the Security Council;¹¹²⁰ (b) until such a global certification scheme was developed, all diamond exporting countries in West Africa should be required to adopt certification schemes such as the one operating in Sierra Leone;¹¹²¹ (c) diamond sanctions should be imposed against Liberia until it had demonstrated that it was no longer involved in the trafficking of arms to, or diamonds from, Sierra Leone, and until it too had adopted a certificate-of-origin regime for the export of diamonds;¹¹²² (d) major diamond trading centres, including Belgium, the United Kingdom, Switzerland, South Africa, India, the United States and Israel, should reach a common agreement on a system for verifying the country of origin and provenance of diamonds;¹¹²³ (e) if diamonds were mixed and/or re-invoiced in a free trade zone, then the

S/2000/1195 (20 December 2000).
 Ibid., para. 1.
 Ibid., paras. 1.
 Ibid., paras. 2.
 Ibid., paras. 4-6.
 Ibid., paras. 7, 155.
 Ibid., paras. 8, 156.
 Ibid., paras. 9, 157.
 Ibid., paras. 14, 162.

government of that country must take responsibility for verifying the bona fides of the diamonds before they were re-exported; 1124 and (f) the Security Council should possess an ongoing capacity to monitor sanctions implementation in order to prevent the overlap and duplication that flowed from establishing concurrent ad hoc bodies. 1125

In its findings on implementation of the arms embargo, the Panel reported that the region was 'awash with arms'. ¹¹²⁶ It had found 'unequivocal and overwhelming evidence' that Liberia had been actively supporting the RUF at all levels, by providing it with training, weapons and related material, logistical support, a staging ground for attacks and a safe haven for retreat, recuperation and public relations activities. ¹¹²⁷ The Panel had also found conclusive evidence of weapons supply lines via Burkina Faso through Liberia to Sierra Leone and alleged that Liberian President Charles Taylor was actively involved in fuelling violence in Sierra Leone. ¹¹²⁸

The Panel outlined a large number of recommendations for improving implementation of the arms embargo, including that: (a) all planes operating with a Liberian registration, but not based in Liberia, should be grounded immediately;¹¹²⁹ (b) the Security Council should publicise the list of grounded Liberian aircraft; 1130 (c) the Security Council should encourage the reinforcement of the ECOWAS Programme for Coordination and Assistance for Security and Development (PCASED), with support from Interpol and the World Customs Organization, and with the aim of establishing a capacity to monitor compliance with arms embargoes; 1131 (d) the Security Council should consider placing an embargo on weapons exports from specific producer countries until internationally acceptable certification schemes had been developed for the trade of weapons; 1132 (e) existing Security Council arms embargoes should be amended to include a ban on the provision of military and paramilitary training; 1133 (f) a training programme on sanctions monitoring should be developed for national law enforcement and security agencies; 1134 (g) a manual should be developed for worldwide use on monitoring sanctions at airports; 1135 and (h) consideration should be given to placing UN monitors at major airports in the region.1136

```
    1124 Ibid., paras. 16, 164.
    1125 Ibid., paras. 17, 165.
    1126 Ibid., paras. 19-20.
    1127 Ibid.
    1128 Ibid., paras. 21-23.
    1129 Ibid., paras. 32, 255.
    1130 Ibid., paras. 34, 257.
    1131 Ibid., paras. 36, 259.
    1132 Ibid., paras. 39, 262.
    1133 Ibid., paras. 42, 265.
    1134 Ibid., paras. 44, 267.
```

The Panel also recommended that the Security Council should consider applying a range of sanctions against Liberia and Liberian officials until it stopped supporting the RUF and violating UN sanctions. Potential measures included travel sanctions against Liberian officials and diplomats, and temporary timber sanctions. The Panel further recommended that the Security Council should consider creating a capacity within the UN for the ongoing monitoring of Security Council sanctions and embargoes, observing that it was imperative to establish an 'in-house' knowledge base on issues such as conflict diamonds and the illicit trade in weapons and related material. 1139

5. Termination of aspects of the Sierra Leone sanctions regime

Terminated components of the 1132 sanctions regime include the initial measures imposed against Sierra Leone by resolution 1132 (1996) with the aim of securing the return to power of the democratically elected government of Sierra Leone, 1140 as well as diamond sanctions. At the time of writing, the arms and targeted travel sanctions remain in place.

6. Conclusions

The Sierra Leone sanctions regime has exhibited a number of noteworthy characteristics. The Security Council established its second Panel of Experts to investigate the implementation of a sanctions regime. The findings of the Panel were extensive and led, in turn, to the application of a new sanctions regime – the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime. The Security Council applied diamond sanctions for the second time, targeting the link between the diamond trade and the flow of illicit weapons as it had in its oversight of the 864 UNITA sanctions regime. The Council also employed time-limits for the second time, providing that the diamond sanctions would expire on a specific date. It had first experimented with time limits when it established the 1298 Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regime.

 ¹¹³⁷ Ibid., paras. 48, 271.
 1138 Ibid., paras. 49, 272.
 1139 Ibid., paras. 50, 273.
 1140 SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), para. 2; SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), para. 1.
 1141 SC/7778 (5 June 2003).

15. THE 1160 SANCTIONS REGIME AGAINST THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF YUGOSLAVIA

The Security Council imposed sanctions against the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia¹¹⁴² (FRY) in March 1998, after a period of rising tension between Serbian authorities and the Kosovar Albanian community. The 1160 sanctions regime consisted of a general arms embargo, whose aim was to foster peace and stability in Kosovo. The Council established the 1160 FRY Sanctions Committee to administer the 1160 sanctions regime, but it did not make any significant subsequent modifications to the sanctions. The 1160 sanctions regime was eventually terminated in September 2001.

1. Constitutional basis

When the Security Council established the FRY sanctions regime, it did not explicitly identify a threat to or breach of international peace and security. Moreover, although the Council had determined on numerous occasions that the situation in parts of the former Yugoslavia had constituted a threat to international peace and security, ¹¹⁴³ it had not made a prior determination of a threat to or breach of the peace in relation to the situation in Kosovo. The Council made it clear, however, that it was acting under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, ¹¹⁴⁴ thus raising the question whether its decision to authorise sanctions was valid in the absence of a prior determination of a threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression.

When the Council adopted resolution 1160 (1998), Egypt pointed out that the resolution had been adopted without a prior determination of a threat to international peace and security. It acknowledged that the Security Council was 'the master of its own procedures', but stressed that as a rule the constitutional requirements of the Charter should be followed scrupulously. The Council's failure to do so can be attributed to the positions of Russia and China, neither of which were prepared to characterise the situation in Kosovo as a threat to

¹¹⁴² In its decisions relating to the 1160 sanctions regime, the Council referred to the 'Federal Republic of Yugoslavia', rather than the 'Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro)'.

¹¹⁴³ See the summaries of the 713, 757 and 820 sanctions regimes.

¹¹⁴⁴ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), preambular para. 8.

¹¹⁴⁵ S/PV.3868 (31 March 1998), p. 29. ¹¹⁴⁶ *Ibid*.

international peace and security. Russia bluntly stated that 'the situation in Kosovo, despite its complexity, does not constitute a threat to regional, much less international peace and security' and argued that it was 'precisely [that] understanding that [was] reflected in the draft resolution'. China observed that: 'We do not think that the situation in Kosovo endangers regional peace and security. 1148

The Russian and Chinese positions meant that, although many Council members explicitly characterised the situation in Kosovo as a threat to international peace and security, 1149 it was not possible to include a determination of such a threat in the text of resolution 1160 (1998). The extent to which the Council's failure to make a prior determination of a threat to the peace affected the validity of its decision to apply sanctions is open to conjecture. One interpretation might be that the Council's adoption of resolution 1160 (1998) under Chapter VII amounted to an implicit determination of a threat to international peace and security. The United Kingdom appeared to employ just such an interpretation, arguing that: 'In adopting this resolution, the Security Council sends an unmistakable message: that by acting under Chapter VII of the Charter, the Council considers that the situation in Kosovo constitutes a threat to international peace and security in the Balkans region.'1150 In any event, the Council affirmed sometime later that the deterioration of the situation in Kosovo constituted a threat to peace and security in the region, 1151 when it again invoked Chapter VII. 1152

2. Objectives

When it established the 1160 FRY sanctions regime, the Security Council articulated a number of objectives. The general objectives of the regime were to foster peace and stability in Kosovo ¹¹⁵³ and to bring about a political solution to the situation in Kosovo through

 ¹¹⁴⁷ Ibid., p. 11.
 1148 Ibid.
 1149 Ibid., p. 3 (Japan, Costa Rica), p. 5 (Sweden), pp. 7-8 (Slovenia), p. 10 (Portugal), p. 12

lbid., p. 3 (Japan, Costa Rica), p. 5 (Sweden), pp. 7–8 (Slovenia), p. 10 (Portugal), p. 12 (UK), p. 13 (US).

¹¹⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 12.

¹¹⁵¹ SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 15; SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), preambular para. 12.

¹¹⁵² SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 16; SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), preambular para. 13; SC Res. 1367 (10 September 2001), preambular para. 5.

¹¹⁵³ SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8.

dialogue. The regime's more particular objectives consisted of various steps that the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia would have to take in order for the sanctions to be terminated. Those steps included: (a) beginning a substantive dialogue on 'political status issues'; 1155 (b) withdrawing its special police units and preventing action by its security forces against the civilian population; 1156 (c) allowing access to Kosovo to humanitarian organisations, representatives of the Contact Group and other embassies; (d) accepting a mission by the Personal Representative of the Chairman-in-Office of the OSCE for the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia that would include a new and specific mandate for addressing the problems in Kosovo, as well as the return of the long-term missions of the OSCE; and (e) facilitating a mission to Kosovo by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.

The Council subsequently articulated additional objectives connected to the sanctions regime. In September 1998, it demanded that the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia: (a) cease all action by security forces affecting the civilian population and withdraw the security units used for civilian repression; ¹¹⁶⁰ (b) enable effective and continuous international monitoring of the situation in Kosovo by the European Community Monitoring Mission and diplomatic missions; ¹¹⁶¹ (c) facilitate, in agreement with the UNHCR and the ICRC, the safe return of refugees and displaced persons and free and unimpeded access to Kosovo for humanitarian organisations and supplies; ¹¹⁶² and (d) agree with the Kosovo Albanian community on a timetable for implementing confidence-building measures and finding a political solution to the situation in Kosovo. ¹¹⁶³

3. Scope

3.1 Sanctions obligations

The 1160 sanctions regime consisted of an arms embargo against the territory of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, including Kosovo. More specifically, the Council required all states to prevent the sale of supply to the FRY of arms and related material. ¹¹⁶⁴ In a novel qualification of the meaning of the term 'arms and related material', the Council noted

```
    1154 Ibid., para. 1. 1155 Ibid., para. 16(a). 1156 Ibid., para. 16(b).
    1157 Ibid., para. 16(c). 1158 Ibid., para. 16(d). 1159 Ibid., para. 16(e).
    1160 SC Res. 1199 (23 September 1998), para. 4(a). 1161 Ibid., para. 4(b).
    1161 Ibid., para. 4(b). 1164 SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8.
```

that states were also required to prevent the arming and training of forces for terrorist activities in the FRY. The basic scope of the measures remained unchanged throughout the duration of the sanctions regime.

3.2 Exemptions

Although the Security Council did not subsequently add to the arms embargo, it did exempt equipment for the use of OSCE and NATO verification missions, ¹¹⁶⁶ as well as international civil and security presences which subsequently evolved into the UN Interim Administration in Kosovo (UNMIK) and the international security forces in Kosovo (KFOR). ¹¹⁶⁷

4. Administration and monitoring

In its oversight of the 1160 sanctions regime, the Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration and monitoring of the sanctions upon a sanctions committee, the UNSG and the United Nations Preventive Deployment Force (UNPREDEP). The Council also dispatched a mission to Kosovo while the 1160 sanctions regime was in effect.

4.1 The 1160 Sanctions Committee

The Security Council established a Sanctions Committee in the same resolution that created the 1160 sanctions regime. The 1160 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to report to the Council on its work and with its observations and recommendations, and to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action to implement sanctions; 1169 (b) consider information brought to its attention by any state concerning sanctions violations and recommend appropriate measures in response thereto; 1170 (c) report periodically on alleged sanctions violations; 1171 (d) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; 1172 and (e) examine the reports submitted to it by states. 1173

In the course of its activities, the 1160 committee issued three annual reports and one final report. 1174 The Committee's main observation was

```
    1165 Ibid. 1166 SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), para. 15.
    1167 SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), para. 16. 1168 SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 9.
    1169 Ibid., para. 9(a). 1170 Ibid., para. 9(b). 1171 Ibid., para. 9(c). 1172 Ibid., para. 9(d).
    1173 Ibid., para. 9(e). 1174 See Appendix 3, Table F.
```

that its work was affected by the absence of an effective, comprehensive monitoring mechanism to ensure effective sanctions implementation. Among the Committee's major recommendations were that: (a) an expert study should be conducted on the military potential of the parties targeted by the sanctions, including analysis of external funding; (b) the Secretariat should develop more uniform reporting requirements to facilitate the collection of relevant information from states; 1177 and (c) further steps should be taken to strengthen the envisaged monitoring arrangements. 1178

4.2 The Secretary-General

When the Council established the 1160 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to: (a) provide assistance to the 1160 Committee; ¹¹⁷⁹ (b) report regularly on the situation in Kosovo and implementation of resolution 1160 (1998); ¹¹⁸⁰ and (c) report in the event that FRY had complied with the objectives of the sanctions regime, in which event the Council would terminate sanctions. ¹¹⁸¹

4.3 The United Nations Preventive Deployment Force (UNPREDEP)

In July 1998, the Council decided that the United Nations Preventive Deployment Force (UNPREDEP), which was based in the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, would monitor and report on illicit arms flows and other activities prohibited by the 1160 sanctions regime. 1182

4.4 The Security Council mission to Kosovo

In April 2000, the Council decided to send a mission to Kosovo. ¹¹⁸³ The mission's mandate was to enhance support for the implementation of the Council's decisions addressing Kosovo, including reviewing sanctions implementation. ¹¹⁸⁴ The mission reported that it had discussed with KFOR the issue of strengthening sanctions implementation. ¹¹⁸⁵ The KFOR Commander had informed the mission that he was sending monthly reports to NATO on the question. ¹¹⁸⁶ The mission therefore

 ¹¹⁷⁵ S/2000/633 (29 June 2000), para. 20; S/2001/102 (5 February 2001), para. 17.
 1176 S/1999/216 (4 March 1999), para. 21.
 1177 Ibid., para. 23.
 1188 S/2000/633 (29 June 2000), para. 24.
 1180 Ibid., para. 14.
 1181 Ibid., para. 16.
 1182 SC Res. 1186 (1998) (21 July 1998), para. 1.
 1183 S/2000/320 (14 April 2000).
 1184 Ibid., annex, para. 2(d)
 1186 Ibid., para. 16.

argued that detailed information on KFOR's sanctions implementation activities should be provided to the 1160 Committee. 1187

5. Termination

In early September 2001, the UNSG sent a letter to the President of the Security Council, stating that he believed that the FRY had complied with the provisions of resolution 1160 (1998). He noted that the new FRY authorities were co-operating constructively with the international community in its efforts to bring peace and stability to the Balkan region. On 10 September 2001, the Council adopted resolution 1367 (2001), in which it noted with satisfaction that the conditions for lifting sanctions had been satisfied, then terminated the 1160 sanctions regime and dissolved the 1160 Committee.

6. Conclusions

The most notable aspect of the FRY sanctions regime was the manner in which the Security Council imposed sanctions without first determining the existence of a threat to the peace. As discussed above, this was problematic from a 'constitutional' perspective, as the UN founders appear to have designed Chapter VII in the understanding that, in accordance with Article 39, the Security Council would first determine that there is a threat to or breach of the peace before acting to employ enforcement measures under Chapter VII.

16. THE 1267 SANCTIONS REGIME AGAINST AFGHANISTAN/THE TALIBAN/AL QAIDA

The Security Council imposed sanctions against the Taliban regime in Afghanistan in October 1999, with the objective of ensuring that the Taliban surrendered for prosecution Usama Bin Laden and ceased providing sanctuary to international terrorists. The sanctions initially consisted of a complex mixture of measures, including travel and aviation sanctions, with the aim of forcing the Taliban to hand over Usama Bin Laden to authorities in countries that had issued an indictment for him.

 ¹¹⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 34.
 1188 S/2001/849 (6 September 2001), p. 2.
 1190 SC Res. 1367 (10 September 2001), preambular para. 2, paras. 1–2.

The objectives, scope, target and geographical application of the sanctions regime have evolved considerably since the sanctions were first imposed. The focus of the sanctions regime is now upon the activities not just of the Taliban, but also of Al Qaida. Moreover, the sanctions are no longer concentrated predominantly upon activities taking place in Afghanistan. The Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime has therefore become the first regime to focus upon targets that have no specific geographical base. Additional measures applied have included arms, representative, chemical and travel sanctions. The Council established the 1267 Committee to administer sanctions and has created a range of other subsidiary bodies to monitor sanctions implementation, including a committee of experts, a monitoring group and a monitoring team.

1. Constitutional basis

When the Security Council first imposed sanctions against the Taliban, it strongly condemned the continuing use of Afghan territory, especially areas controlled by the Taliban, for the sheltering and training of terrorists and planning of terrorist acts, and reaffirmed its conviction that the suppression of international terrorism was essential for the maintenance of international peace and security. The Council then determined that the failure of the Taliban to comply with a demand it had made in December 1998 to stop providing sanctuary and training for international terrorists and their organisations and to co-operate with efforts to bring indicted terrorists to justice, 1993 constituted a threat to international peace and security. It also noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, before proceeding to apply sanctions against the Taliban.

In subsequent decisions related to the sanctions, the Council has consistently invoked Chapter VII. ¹¹⁹⁶ There has been an evolution, however,

There has been some inconsistency in the spelling of the name 'Al Qaida' in the decisions of the Security Council. The three most common forms have been 'Al Qaeda', 'Al Qa'ida' and 'Al Qaida'. The latter formulation is used here as it has come to be the standard spelling used in Security Council resolutions.

¹¹⁹² SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), preambular para. 5.

¹¹⁹³ The Security Council had made this demand in resolution 1214 (1998): SC Res. 1214 (8 December 1998), para. 13.

¹¹⁹⁴ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), preambular para. 8.

¹¹⁹⁵ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 10.

SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular para. 19; SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1388 (15 January 2001), preambular para. 3; SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), preambular para. 10; SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), preambular

in the Council's characterisation of the existence of a threat to international peace and security. While the Taliban regime retained power in Afghanistan, the Council again determined – on two occasions – that the failure of the Taliban to comply with the requirements of the sanctions regime constituted a threat to international peace and security, whilst also reaffirming that the suppression of international terrorism is essential for the maintenance of international peace and security. Since January 2002, however, the Council has simply reaffirmed that acts of international terrorism constitute a threat to international peace and security. International peace and security.

2. Objectives

The major initial objective of the Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions, as outlined by the Council in resolution 1267 (1999), was to ensure that the Taliban turned over Usama Bin Laden to authorities in a country where he had been indicted. ¹²⁰⁰ In December 2000, the Council outlined some additional requirements with which the Taliban needed to comply before the sanctions would be terminated. Thus, as well as ensuring that Usama Bin Laden was turned over to authorities in a country where he had been indicted, the sanctions regime also aimed to ensure that the Taliban: ceased providing sanctuary for international terrorists; took measures to ensure that its territory was not being used by terrorists or for the organisation of terrorist acts against other states; co-operated with efforts to bring indicted terrorists to justice; and closed terrorist camps within its territory. ¹²⁰¹

In January 2002, the Council determined that the Taliban had failed to comply with the existing objectives of the sanctions regime. Unlike previous resolutions, however, resolution 1390 (2002) did not explicitly state conditions the satisfaction of which would lead to termination of

para. 4; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), preambular para. 8; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), preambular para. 16.

¹¹⁹⁷ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular para. 14; SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), preambular para. 2.

S/PRST/2000/12 (7 April 2000); SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular para. 7.
 SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), preambular para. 7; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), preambular para. 2; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), preambular para. 2.

¹²⁰⁰ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), paras. 2, 14.

¹²⁰¹ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 1, 2, 3, 23-24.

the sanctions regime. ¹²⁰² Instead, the Council stated that the sanctions would be reviewed after twelve months and either continued or improved, in keeping with 'the principles and purposes' of resolution 1390 (2002). ¹²⁰³ It is unclear why the Council decided to alter its approach and leave the objectives of the sanctions regime vague. One interpretation could be that, as the objectives had been explicitly stated and endorsed in previous resolutions, there was no need to reiterate those objectives. A more likely explanation, however, is that the resolution was deliberately crafted to keep the objectives vague, so that it would be more difficult to terminate the sanctions.

On two subsequent occasions, when strengthening further sanctions implementation, the Council has again noted that the sanctions would be improved after a certain period of time, without articulating the conditions that must be satisfied before sanctions could be terminated. 1204

3. Scope

The 1267 sanctions regime was initially imposed against the Taliban in general and consisted of a combination of aviation and financial sanctions. Those sanctions were subsequently expanded, with the addition of representative, financial, chemical and arms sanctions. Following 11 September 2001, the 1267 sanctions regime was revamped. The geographical nexus with Afghanistan was dropped, with the target becoming members of the Taliban and Al Qaida, wherever they may be located. The revamped sanctions regime consists of financial, travel and arms sanctions against Usama Bin Laden, Al Qaida, the Taliban and associates of those entities.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Resolution 1267 (1999) applied aviation and financial sanctions against Afghanistan and the Taliban. Under the aviation sanctions, all states were required to deny aircraft permission to land in or fly over their territories if owned or operated by the Taliban. ¹²⁰⁵ Under the financial sanctions, states were required to freeze funds and other financial

¹²⁰² The Council had done this in resolutions 1267 (1999) and 1333 (2000): see SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 14; SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 23, 24.

¹²⁰³ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 3.

¹²⁰⁴ SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 2; SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 3.

¹²⁰⁵ SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4(a).

resources owned directly or indirectly by the Taliban. ¹²⁰⁶ In December 2000, the Security Council imposed a combination of arms, representative, financial, chemical and aviation sanctions. Under the arms sanctions, states were required to prevent the provision to the Taliban of arms and related material, as well as military expertise and assistance. ¹²⁰⁷ Under the representative sanctions, states were to close all offices on their territories belonging to the Taliban and Afghan airlines. ¹²⁰⁸ Under the financial sanctions, states were to freeze the assets of Usama Bin Laden and members of the Al Qaida organisation. ¹²⁰⁹ The chemical sanctions required states to prevent the sale to Taliban-controlled areas of a particular chemical used in the production of opium. ¹²¹⁰ Finally, the aviation sanctions required states to prevent all aircraft flying to or from Taliban-controlled territories from landing in, departing from or over-flying their territories. ¹²¹¹

In January 2002 the Council adopted resolutions 1388 (2002) and 1390 (2002), which consolidated the sanctions by terminating certain components of the sanctions regime and streamlining others. Among the measures explicitly terminated were the sanctions against Ariana Afghanistan Airlines¹²¹² and the ban which had been imposed against aircraft owned or operated by the Taliban. Certain other measures lapsed, owing to the fact that the Council did not reaffirm them. Those measures included the representative sanctions imposed against the Taliban, the sanctions against the provision to Taliban-controlled territory of a particular chemical substance, and the aviation sanctions against flights to or from Taliban-controlled territory.

Through resolution 1390 (2002), the Council streamlined and strengthened the remaining sanctions. Financial sanctions required states to freeze the financial and economic resources of members and associates of the Taliban and Al Qaida. Travel sanctions required states to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of individuals appearing on a black-list of individuals associated with the Taliban, Bin Laden and Al Qaida. Arms sanctions required states to prevent the provision to such entities and individuals of arms and

```
    1206 Ibid., para. 4(b).
    1207 SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 5.
    1208 Ibid., paras. 8(a), 8(b).
    1210 Ibid., para. 10
    1211 Ibid., para. 11.
```

¹²¹² In resolution 1388 (2002), the Council terminated the ban on Taliban-controlled aircraft, in so far as it applied to Ariana Afghanistan Airlines: SC Res. 1388 (15 January 2002), paras. 1–2.

¹²¹³ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 1. ¹²¹⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 2(a). ¹²¹⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 2(b).

related material, expertise and assistance. ¹²¹⁶ Moreover, the sanctions were no longer linked primarily to activities within Afghanistan. Thus the arms embargo was upon the provision of arms and related material, expertise and assistance not only to Taliban-controlled territory in Afghanistan, but to the Taliban, Bin Laden, Al Qaida and their associates, no matter where they might be located.

In January 2003, the Council adopted resolution 1455 (2003), by which it decided to improve sanctions implementation. 1217 The scope of the sanctions remained the same, however. In subsequent resolutions the Council has again decided to improve implementation of sanctions, without adding significantly to the prohibitions already in place under the 1267 sanctions regime. Modifications have included clarifications concerning individuals and groups falling in the category of 'associates' of the Taliban, Al Qaida and Usama Bin Laden, 1219 as well as changes to the process for listing and delisting individuals and entities on the 1267 Consolidated List. 1220 The Council has also adopted initiatives designed to improve sanctions implementation by member states, including a check-list of action taken against listed individuals and entities, 1221 as well as a cover-sheet for submissions for addition to the consolidated list. 1222

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council has outlined a number of exemptions from the 1267 sanctions regime. When it established the sanctions regime, it exempted from the aviation sanctions flights pursuant to humanitarian need, such as those connected with the Hajj pilgrimage, when approved in advance by the 1267 Committee. The Council also provided for the possibility of exemptions from the financial sanctions for situations of humanitarian need, as determined by the 1267 Committee. 1224

```
    1216 Ibid., para. 2(c). 1217 SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 1.
    1218 SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 1; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 1.
    1219 SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), paras. 2-3.
    1220 SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), paras. 4-6; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), paras. 5-14.
    1221 SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex II.
    1222 SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex I.
    1223 SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4(a).
    1224 Ibid., para. 4(b). This exemption lapsed in January 2003, however, when the Council
```

streamlined the exemptions process: SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 4.

When the Council first applied an arms embargo, it exempted non-lethal supplies intended for humanitarian use, as approved by the 1267 Committee, and protective clothing exported to Afghanistan for the personal use of UN personnel, representatives of the media, and humanitarian workers. 1225 It also exempted from aviation sanctions flights approved in advance by the 1267 Committee on the grounds of humanitarian need, including religious obligations such as the performance of the Hajj, or on the grounds that the flight would promote discussion of a peaceful resolution of the conflict in Afghanistan, or was likely to promote Taliban compliance with the objectives of the sanctions regime, as well as flights being undertaken for humanitarian purposes by organisations approved by the 1267 Committee. 1226

Since January 2002, when the Council revamped the 1267 sanctions regime, a number of exemptions have applied from the sanctions. The Security Council has exempted from the travel sanctions travel for the fulfilment of a judicial process or as otherwise approved by the 1267 Committee on a case-by-case basis. 1227 The Council has also clarified that nothing obligates a state to refuse entry to its own nationals. 1228 The Council has also exempted from financial sanctions funds, assets or resources necessary for basic expenses, as notified to the 1267 Committee, or extraordinary expenses, 1229 when approved in advance by the Committee. 1230 It has also qualified that states might allow for frozen accounts to earn interest and to receive outstanding payments owed under contracts, agreements or obligations that had arisen prior to the application of sanctions. 1231

In December 2006 the Security Council modified the exemptions process for financial sanctions by extending the period for consideration of notifications for basic expenses by the 1267 Committee from forty-eight hours to three working days. 1232 The Council also reiterated that the Committee must make a negative decision, thus requiring the consensus of all fifteen member states, in order to prevent the release of funds and other financial assets under the notification process. 1233

¹²²⁵ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 6. ¹²²⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 11–12.

¹²²⁷ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 2(b); SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 1(b).

¹²²⁸ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 1(b).

¹²²⁹ SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 1(a). ¹²³⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 1(b).

¹²³¹ *Ibid.*, para. 2. ¹²³² SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 15. ¹²³³ *Ibid.*, para. 16.

3.3 Time-limits and extensions

When the Council adopted resolution 1333 (2000), imposing arms, representative, financial, chemical and aviation sanctions, it decided that these measures would be applied for a period of twelve months. ¹²³⁴ In its subsequent resolutions, however, the Council did not incorporate time-limits, instead providing simply that it would 'review', 'improve' or 'strengthen' the sanctions after a given period. ¹²³⁵

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council has created four subsidiary entities to facilitate the implementation of the 1267 sanctions regime: a sanctions committee, a committee of experts, a monitoring mechanism and a monitoring team. The Council has also bestowed various responsibilities upon the UNSG, in particular for reporting on the humanitarian implications of the application of sanctions.

4.1 The 1267 Sanctions Committee

The Security Council established the 1267 Sanctions Committee in the same resolution which initiated the 1267 sanctions regime. The Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to report to the Council on its work and with its observations and recommendations, and to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action to implement sanctions; (b) consider information brought to its attention by states concerning sanctions violations and recommend appropriate measures in response thereto; (c) report periodically on the impact of sanctions, including their humanitarian implications; (d) report periodically on information submitted to it regarding alleged sanctions violations, identifying where possible persons or entities reported to be engaged in such violations; (e) designate the aircrafts and funds or financial resources subject to the sanctions; (f) decide upon requests for exemptions; (g) examine the reports and information

```
    SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 23.
    SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 3; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 1–2; SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), paras. 1, 3; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 21; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 33.
    SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6.
    Ibid., para. 6(b).
    Ibid., para. 6(c).
    Ibid., para. 6(d).
    Ibid., para. 6(e).
```

submitted to it by states; 1243 and (h) determine appropriate arrangements to improve monitoring of sanctions implementation. 1244

In December 2000, the Committee was requested to: (a) establish and maintain a list of all points of entry and landing for aircraft within the territory of Afghanistan under Taliban control; 1245 (b) establish and maintain a list of individuals and entities designated as being associated with Usama bin Laden; 1246 (c) decide upon requests for exemptions; 1247 (d) establish and maintain a list of approved organisations and governmental relief agencies which were providing humanitarian assistance to Afghanistan; 1248 (e) make relevant information regarding sanctions implementation publicly available through appropriate media; 1249 (f) consider a visit to countries in the region by the Committee Chairman to enhance sanctions implementation; 1250 (g) report periodically on information submitted regarding possible sanctions violations and make recommendations for strengthening sanctions effectiveness; 1251 and (h) report on the implementation of resolution 1363 (2001).

In January 2002, when the Security Council revamped the 1267 sanctions regime, it requested the Committee to: (a) update regularly the list of individuals and groups associated with Usama Bin Laden, Al Qaida and the Taliban; ¹²⁵³ (b) seek from states information regarding action taken to implement sanctions; ¹²⁵⁴ (c) report periodically on information submitted to it regarding sanctions implementation; ¹²⁵⁵ (d) promulgate guidelines and criteria to facilitate sanctions implementation; ¹²⁵⁶ (e) make relevant information, including the travel ban and assets freeze list, publicly available through appropriate media; ¹²⁵⁷ and (f) co-operate with other relevant sanctions committees and the Counterterrorism Committee (CTC). ¹²⁵⁸

The Council subsequently requested the 1267 Committee to: (a) maintain a list of states whose notifications of intent to take advantage of the exemption from the financial sanctions for basic expenses had not been rejected; 1259 (b) consider requests for exemptions for extraordinary

```
    1243 Ibid., para. 6(g). 1244 Ibid., para. 12.
    1245 SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 16(a).
    1246 Ibid., para. 16(b). 1247 Ibid., para. 16(c).
    1248 Ibid., para. 16(d). Organisations on the list could then be exempted from the aviation sanctions for activities involving the provision of humanitarian supplies, in accordance with para. 12 of the same resolution.
    1249 Ibid., para. 16(e). 1250 Ibid., para. 16(f). 1251 Ibid., para. 16(g).
    1252 SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 6. 1253 SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 5(a).
    1254 Ibid., para. 5(b). 1255 Ibid., para. 5(c). 1256 Ibid., para. 5(d). 1257 Ibid., para. 5(e).
    1258 Ibid., para. 5(f). 1259 SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 3(a).
```

expenses; 1260 (c) circulate to member states on a quarterly basis the list of individuals and groups associated with Usama Bin Laden, Al Qaida and the Taliban; 1261 (d) consider a visit to selected countries by the Committee Chairman and/or Committee members to enhance sanctions implementation; 1262 (e) circulate a written assessment of actions taken by states to implement sanctions; 1263 (f) brief the Council on the work of the Committee and the Monitoring Group and on reports received from states on steps taken to implement sanctions; 1264 (g) provide detailed oral assessments of member state implementation of sanctions, with a view to recommending further measures to improve the sanctions: 1265 (h) assess information for the Council's review regarding effective sanctions implementation; 1266 (i) consider visits to selected countries by the Chairman and/or Committee members to enhance effective sanctions implementation; 1267 (j) follow up with states regarding effective sanctions implementation and provide states with an opportunity to engage in more in-depth discussion of relevant issues; 1268 (k) brief the Council on its work and that of the Monitoring Team; 1269 (l) prepare a written analytical assessment on sanctions implementation. referring to the implementation successes and challenges of member states; 1270 (m) co-ordinate with the Counterterrorism Committee (CTC) and the 1540 Committee on weapons of mass destruction; 1271 (n) seek status reports from states on sanctions implementation, including in particular on the aggregate amounts of the listed individuals' and entities' frozen assets; 1272 (o) circulate to the Council a list of states that had not submitted reports on sanctions implementation, including an analytical summary of the reasons put forward by states for not reporting; 1273 (p) encourage the submission of names additional identifying information for inclusion on the Consolidated

```
    1260 Ibid., para. 3(b).
    1261 SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 4.
    1262 Ibid., para. 11.
    1263 Ibid., para. 15.
    1264 Ibid., para. 9.
    1265 Ibid., para. 14.
```

¹²⁶⁶ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 2.

¹²⁶⁷ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 10; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 15; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 30.

¹²⁶⁸ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 11; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 14; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 28.

¹²⁶⁹ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 12; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 16; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 31.

¹²⁷⁰ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 13.

¹²⁷¹ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 15; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 13; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 27.

¹²⁷² SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 21.

¹²⁷³ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 23; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 17.

List from member states; 1274 (q) with the assistance of the CTC, inform the Council of specific additional steps that states could take to implement sanctions; 1275 (r) refine its guidelines, including on listing and delisting procedures; 1276 (s) identify possible cases of non-compliance with sanctions; 1277 and (t) consider requests for inclusion on and removal from the Consolidated List. 1278

In the course of its activities, the 1267 Committee has issued regular annual reports, as well as various other reports listing submissions received from states on steps taken to comply with sanctions. 1279 The Committee's annual reports demonstrate an increasingly active agenda. In its first report, the Committee provided no recommendations, simply reaffirming its commitment to working closely with other sections of the UN system and expressing appreciation for the co-operation received from member states, international organisations and the Secretariat. 1280 In its second report, the Committee again made no significant recommendations. It did note, however, that it had welcomed and endorsed the recommendations made to it by the Committee of Experts, which had led to the establishment of the Afghanistan Monitoring Mechanism. 1281 In its third report, the Committee noted that the global character of its mandate, as modified by resolution 1390 (2002), provided both greater opportunities and greater challenges. 1282 The Committee described its list of individuals and entities belonging to or associated with the Taliban, Bin Laden and Al Qaida as a 'critical tool' for the effective implementation of the sanctions. 1283 The list must be constantly updated and widely disseminated in order to fulfil the objectives of the sanctions regime. 1284 The Committee noted that the work of the Monitoring Group had become 'indispensable' for the effective discharge of the Committee's mandate, 1285 but it stressed that in order to fulfil the objectives of the sanctions regime, there should be increased interaction between the Committee, the Monitoring Group and other bodies active in the 'fight against terrorism' - both within and outside the UN system. 1286

```
    SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 11; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), paras. 8–9, 25.
    SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 12.
    SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 18; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 13.
    SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 21.
    SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 21.
    See Appendix 3, Table F.
    S/2000/1254 (29 December 2000), paras. 21–22.
    S/2002/101 (5 February 2002), paras. 22–23.
    S/2002/1423 (26 December 2002), para. 43.
    Ibid., para. 46.
    Ibid., para. 46.
```

4.2 The role of Secretary-General

When the Security Council established the 1267 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report to it if the Taliban had complied with its obligations under the sanctions regime before 14 November 1999, in which case the Council might decide that the sanctions would not come into operation. The Council also requested the UNSG to provide all necessary assistance to the 1267 Committee. 1288

The Council has subsequently requested the UNSG to: (a) appoint the Committee of Experts; 1289 (b) consult with relevant member states to put the sanctions into effect; 1290 (c) report on sanctions implementation, make recommendations for strengthening enforcement, and evaluate the actions taken by the Taliban to comply with the aims of the sanctions; 1291 (d) report regularly on the humanitarian implications of the sanctions; 1292 (e) establish the 1267 Monitoring Mechanism; 1293 (f) make the necessary arrangements to support the work of the Monitoring Mechanism; 1294 (g) assign the Monitoring Group to monitor sanctions implementation; 1295 (h) reappoint experts to the Monitoring Group; 1296 (i) ensure that the Monitoring Group and the 1267 Committee and its Chairman had access to sufficient expertise and resources to discharge their responsibilities; 1297 (j) appoint and extend members of the Monitoring Team; 1298 (k) provide necessary support to the 1267 Committee: 1299 and (1) increase co-operation between the UN and relevant international and regional organisations, including Interpol. 1300

The Security Council has also made direct requests of the UN Secretariat, including to: (a) communicate the Committee's list to member states every three months and convey the list, whenever it was amended, to all states, regional and sub-regional organisations; ¹³⁰¹ and (b) notify the Permanent Mission of the country or countries where a

```
    SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 3.
    SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 3.
    SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 15(a).
    Ibid., para. 15(b).
    Ibid., para. 3.
    Ibid., para. 3.
    Ibid., para. 3.
    Ibid., para. 9.
    SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 9.
    SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), para. 8.
    SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 7; SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 20; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 32.
    SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 9.
    SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 23.
    SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 9.
    SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 9.
    SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 19.
```

newly listed individual or entity is believed to be located and, in the case of individuals, the country of which the person is a national. 1302

The UNSG submitted four reports to the Council in accordance with his responsibility to monitor the humanitarian impact of the 1267 sanctions regime. 1303 In those reports, the UNSG noted that the humanitarian situation in Afghanistan was dire, with the health situation being among the worst in the world, refugees and displaced persons numbering over 2.6 million people, and a devastated economy. 1304 Although that situation could not be attributed to the sanctions, the direct impact of sanctions on the humanitarian situation in Afghanistan had been 'limited but tangible'. 1305 The most direct impact of the sanctions had been upon the national airlines, Ariana Afghan Airlines, as the sanctions made it increasingly difficult for Ariana to carry out essential maintenance. ¹³⁰⁶ In addition, international civil aviation safety had been affected, as regional and international contacts between the Afghanistan civil aviation authorities and external bodies had been prohibited under the sanctions. ¹³⁰⁷ The application of the sanctions had also been accompanied by the devaluation of the Afghan currency ('the Afghani'), which had lost 18 per cent of its value relative to the US dollar from December 2000 to February 2001. 1308 Although the currency subsequently stabilised, the initial devaluation potentially led to an initial deterioration in the humanitarian situation, as a result of decreased purchasing power. ¹³⁰⁹ The UNSG also warned that the Taliban authorities had engaged in a sustained campaign against the sanctions, blaming them for deteriorations in the humanitarian situation. ¹³¹⁰ This had had a flow-on effect, making the operating environment for international humanitarian organisations difficult. 1311 On a more positive note, the UNSG noted that, on the whole, the mechanism for providing various humanitarian exemptions from the sanctions was operating smoothly. 1312

```
    SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 10.
    S/2001/241 (20 March 2001); S/2001/695 (13 July 2001); S/2001/1086 (19 November 2001); S/2001/1215 (18 December 2001).
    S/2001/241 (20 March 2001), para. 15. 1305 Ibid., para. 16.
    Ibid., paras. 22-24; S/2001/695 (13 July 2001), paras. 22-30.
    S/2001/241 (20 March 2001), para. 25. 1308 Ibid., paras. 27-28.
    Ibid., para. 28; S/2001/695 (13 July 2001), para. 35.
    S/2001/241 (20 March 2001), para. 34; S/2001/695 (13 July 2001), para. 62; S/2001/1215 (18 December 2001), para. 8.
    S/2001/1215 (18 December 2001), para. 6.
```

¹³¹² S/2001/241 (20 March 2001), paras. 33, 36; S/2001/695 (13 July 2001), para. 54; S/2001/1215 (18 December 2001), para. 7.

In his final report on the humanitarian implications of sanctions, the UNSG observed that the process of reviewing the impact of sanctions had resulted in useful reflections and discussions within the Monitoring Mechanism, the 1267 Committee and the Security Council on the implications of sanctions. He suggested that the Security Council might wish to consider establishing a similar procedure for future sanctions regimes, in order to monitor and assess potential unintended consequences on the civilian population of targeted countries. ¹³¹³

4.3 The 1333 Committee of Experts

In December 2000, when it adopted resolution 1333 (2000), the Council requested the UNSG to appoint a committee of experts to make recommendations on improving the monitoring of the 1267 sanctions regime. The Committee of Experts was requested to report to the Council within sixty days on how to monitor the arms embargo against the Taliban and the closure of terrorist training camps. In its report, the Committee of Experts outlined the activities it had taken to fulfil its mandate and made a number of key recommendations.

As part of its operations, the Committee of Experts consulted with a range of actors, including representatives of the states sharing a border with Afghanistan and of two states considered to have a major strategic interest in events in Afghanistan - the United States and the Russian Federation. 1317 The Committee concluded that the arms embargo and the closure of the terrorist training camps could best be monitored by strengthening mechanisms that were already in place in the six countries bordering Afghanistan. 1318 It therefore recommended that the Council establish an office for sanctions monitoring and co-ordination, consisting of a headquarters team and a number of sanctions enforcement support teams, each working alongside the border control services in the countries neighbouring Afghanistan. Among the other recommendations by the Committee of Experts were that: (a) the headquarters office be located in Vienna; (b) the Sanctions Enforcement Support Teams should be based with existing UN offices in the countries neighbouring Afghanistan; and (c) the Security Council could consider specifying a prohibition against aircraft turbine fuel and fluids and

S/2001/1215 (18 December 2001), para. 9.
 SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 15.
 S/2001/511 (22 May 2001).
 Ibid., para. 15(a).
 Ibid., para. 94.
 Ibid., para. 96.

lubricants for use in armoured vehicles, as part of the arms embargo. 1320

4.4 The Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring Group

In July 2001, after considering the report of the Committee of Experts, the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a monitoring mechanism, whose mandate would extend for the remaining period of the sanctions which had been imposed under resolution 1333 (2000). The mechanism would: (a) monitor sanctions implementation; (b) offer assistance to states bordering the territory of Afghanistan under Taliban control, and other states as appropriate, to increase their capacity regarding sanctions implementation; and (c) collate, assess, verify, report and make recommendations on information regarding sanctions violations. The monitoring mechanism would consist of two bodies: a Monitoring Group and a Sanctions Enforcement Support Team.

The Monitoring Group was to consist of up to five experts, based in New York, with a mandate to monitor sanctions implementation, including in the fields of arms embargoes, counterterrorism and related legislation, as well as money laundering, financial transactions and drug trafficking. The Sanctions Enforcement Support Team (SEST), which was to consist of up to fifteen members with expertise in customs, border security and counterterrorism, would be located in states neighbouring Afghanistan. It would report to the Monitoring Group, which in turn would report to the 1267 Committee. Following the establishment of the monitoring mechanism, the Monitoring Group's mandate was extended for two further periods of twelve months. It final mandate expired in January 2004, when it was replaced by the Monitoring Team. The SEST was never actually deployed, however, due to the complex situation that developed on the ground in Afghanistan after 11 September 2001.

The Monitoring Group submitted six reports. ¹³³¹ In the Group's first report it recommended that: (a) the arms embargo be maintained against

```
1320 Ibid., paras. 97–102. 1321 SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), para. 3. 1322 Ibid., para. 3(a). 1323 Ibid., para. 3(b). 1324 Ibid., para. 3(c). 1325 Ibid., paras. 4–5. 1326 Ibid., para. 4(a). 1327 Ibid., para. 4(b). 1328 Ibid., para. 5.
```

¹³²⁹ SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), paras. 9–10; SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 8, 12, 13.

¹³³⁰ For discussion of the 1526 Monitoring Team, see below.

¹³³¹ See Appendix 3, Table H.

the Taliban, Al Qaida and their sympathisers and that consideration be given to an arms embargo upon the whole of Afghanistan; 1332 (b) financial sanctions be maintained and monitored for full compliance; 1333 (c) an effective border control service be put in place by the Afghan authorities; 1334 (d) the sanctions enforcement support teams, which had not been deployed due to the complex situation on the ground subsequent to 11 September 2001, should be maintained, but that their name should be changed to Monitoring and Advisory Teams and that experts with skills and expertise in financial investigations should be added to those teams; 1335 and (e) there be international verification of the closure of drug production facilities and terrorist training camps and facilities in Afghanistan. 1336 Many of these recommendations were taken up and acted upon by the Security Council in resolution 1390 (2002). In subsequent reports, the Monitoring Group arranged its recommendations into five groups: (i) improving the operation of the consolidated list; (ii) improving the implementation of financial sanctions; (iii) improving implementation of the arms embargo; (iv) improving implementation of travel sanctions; and (v) increasing the number of reports received from states on measures taken to implement sanctions.

Among its suggestions on improving the operation of the consolidated list, the Monitoring Group recommended that: (a) the list of individuals and entities associated with the Taliban, Al Qaida and Bin Laden should contain the minimum criteria needed to enhance implementation, including names according to their 'correct cultural construction' and as many 'identifiers' as possible to avoid potential cases of mistaken identity, should be produced in all UN official languages and disseminated as widely as possible; 1337 (b) the list should be used by states as an authoritative reference for the implementation of the 1267 sanctions regime; (c) the list should be updated regularly and states should submit to the 1267 Committee, for possible addition to the list, the names and identifying information of all persons believed to be members of or associated with Al Qaida or the Taliban; (d) states should assist the 1267 Committee in better identifying individuals or entities already on the list, providing confirmation of details such as date and place of birth, passport numbers for all known nationalities and

 $^{^{1332}}$ S/2002/65 (15 January 2002), paras. 46–47. 1333 Ibid., para. 53. 1334 Ibid., para. 49. 1335 Ibid., paras. 50, 54. 1336 Ibid., paras. 51, 55.

¹³³⁷ S/2002/541 (15 May 2002), paras. 68-73; S/2003/669 (8 July 2003), para. 164.

physical description; (e) the 1267 Committee should establish a mechanism capable of responding immediately to inquiries concerning the identification of persons being detained as suspected members or associates of Al Qaida or the Taliban; 1338 (f) the list should be issued in a revised format and all individuals known to have attended Al Qaida training camps must be considered suspected terrorists and their names should be submitted for designation on the list; 1339 and (g) states should keep the list up to date.

Among its suggestions for improving the implementation of the financial sanctions, the Monitoring Group recommended that: (a) states should become parties to the International Convention for the Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism; 1341 (b) states involved in the trade of rough diamonds should participate in the Kimberley Process; 1342 (c) states should assist each other in the investigation and sharing of intelligence concerning individuals believed to be members or associates of Al Qaida or the Taliban, in order to ensure that the application and maintenance of financial sanctions is justified; (d) bank secrecy rules should not be an obstacle to the provision to the Monitoring Group of information requested by it concerning individuals and entities alleged to have links to Al Qaida; (e) the 1267 Committee should establish procedures regarding the possible granting of humanitarian exceptions to the sanctions; (f) states should review their laws and procedures regarding oversight of charities, in order to ensure that they were not used to funnel funds to individuals and entities associated with Al Qaida and the Taliban; (g) banking institutions should report suspicious transactions to appropriate national authorities; (h) an international organisation should be granted responsibility for working with states to ensure that hawala and other alternative systems for the transfer of money were not exploited or misused by terrorists; 1343 (i) assets belonging to individuals and entities on the list should not be released without prior approval from the 1267 Committee; and (j) member states should be encouraged to introduce mechanisms to enable electronic transfers, particularly international ones, to be monitored for suspicious activity. 1344

 ¹³³⁸ S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002), paras. 126–133.
 1339 S/2002/1338 (17 December 2002), paras. 95–98; S/2003/669 (8 July 2003), para. 165.
 1340 S/2003/669 (8 July 2003), para. 166.
 1341 S/2002/541 (15 May 2002), para. 74; S/2003/669 (8 July 2003), para. 167.
 1342 S/2002/541 (15 May 2002), para. 75.
 1343 S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002), paras. 134–143.

¹³⁴⁴ S/2002/1338 (17 December 2002), paras. 99–102.

Among its suggestions for improving the implementation of the arms sanctions, the Monitoring Group recommended that: (a) arms-producing states should become members of the Wassenaar Arrangement, work towards the standardisation of 'end-user' certificates, and register and license all nationals operating as arms brokers or dealers; ¹³⁴⁵ (b) states should take steps to require the registration of all arms brokers dealing from their territories, to criminalise the operation of non-registered arms brokers, and to ensure the strict use of end-user certificates in any transactions involving the provision of arms and related material; ¹³⁴⁶ (c) member states should be encouraged to become party to the 1991 Montreal Convention and the 1997 International Convention for the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings, to participate in the Container Security Initiative and to adopt the recommendations made by the UNSG in his report on small arms. ¹³⁴⁷

Among its suggestions for improving the implementation of the travel sanctions, the Monitoring Group recommended that: (a) states should ensure that their border control officials were given adequate resources, training and technology to improve their ability to detect falsified documents; (b) the 1267 Committee should issue guidelines to states on action to be taken in the event that a designated individual attempted to enter or transit their territory; ¹³⁴⁸ (c) the 1267 Committee should consider all individuals on the consolidated list to be actual or suspected Al Qaida terrorists, so that member states could detain, prosecute or extradite them to another country that had issued a warrant or return them for detention in their country of origin; and (d) member states should ensure that they put in place appropriate measures to comply fully with the travel sanctions. ¹³⁴⁹

On the subject of increasing the number of reports received from states on measures taken to implement the sanctions, the Monitoring Group simply recommended that the 1267 Committee should encourage those states which had not yet complied with their obligation to submit such reports to do so. ¹³⁵⁰

```
    1345 S/2002/541 (15 May 2002), paras. 76-78.
    1346 S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002), paras. 146-151.
    1347 S/2002/1338 (17 December 2002), paras. 105-107. For the report of the UNSG on small arms, see S/2002/1053 (20 September 2002).
```

¹³⁴⁸ S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002), paras. 144–145.

¹³⁴⁹ S/2002/1338 (17 December 2002), paras. 103–104.

¹³⁵⁰ S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002), paras. 152–153; S/2003/669 (8 July 2003), para. 163.

4.5 The Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring Team

In January 2004, the Council decided to establish for an initial period of eighteen months an Analytical Support and Sanctions Monitoring Team. The Monitoring Team, whose initial mandate was subsequently extended, was to: (a) submit written reports to the 1267 Committee on sanctions implementation; (b) analyse reports submitted by states concerning sanctions implementation; (c) facilitate areas of convergence between the 1267 Committee and the CTC; (d) report regularly to the 1267 Committee; and (e) assist the 1267 Committee in preparing its oral and written reports to the Council.

The Monitoring Team has subsequently been requested to: (a) pursue sanctions implementation case-studies and explore in depth any other issues as directed by the Committee; 1358 (b) submit a comprehensive programme of work to the 1267 Committee for its approval and review; 1359 (c) submit comprehensive reports on sanctions implementation, the listing and delisting process and exemptions, including specific recommendations for improved implementation and possible new sanctions; 1360 (d) analyse reports from states on sanctions implementation; 1361 (e) co-operate closely with the expert bodies assigned to the 1373 Counterterrorism Committee and the 1540 Weapons of Mass Destruction Committee; 1362 (f) assist the 1267 Committee to address non-compliance with sanctions; 1363 (g) present the Committee with recommendations to assist member states with

¹³⁵¹ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 6.

¹³⁵² SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 19; SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 32 and Annex II.

¹³⁵³ SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 7. ¹³⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex.

¹³⁵⁵ Thid. 1356 Thid. 1357 Thid.

¹³⁵⁸ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (a); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (a).

¹³⁵⁹ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (b); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (b).

¹³⁶⁰ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (c); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (c).

¹³⁶¹ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (d); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (d).

¹³⁶² SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (e); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (e).

¹³⁶³ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (f); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (f).

sanctions implementation and additions to the Consolidated List; ¹³⁶⁴ (h) report on the changing nature of the threat of the Taliban and Al Qaida and the best measures to confront that threat; ¹³⁶⁵ (i) report regularly to the Committee; ¹³⁶⁶ (j) assist the Committee in preparing oral and written assessments to the Security Council; ¹³⁶⁷ (k) consult with the intelligence and security services of member states, in order to share information and strengthen sanctions enforcement; ¹³⁶⁸ (l) consult with the private sector, including financial institutions, to learn about the practical implementation of the assets freeze and develop recommendations for strengthening the freeze; ¹³⁶⁹ (m) work with relevant international and regional organisations to promote awareness of and compliance with sanctions; ¹³⁷⁰ and (n) assist other subsidiary bodies and their expert panels to enhance co-operation with Interpol. ¹³⁷¹ The Monitoring Team has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandates. ¹³⁷²

5. Conclusions

Perhaps the most notable aspect of the 1267 sanctions regime is the manner in which its initial geographic target, of entities and individuals operating within the territory of Afghanistan, subsequently expanded to incorporate entities wherever they were, without the necessity of any connection with the territory of Afghanistan. Indeed, even before the Security Council dropped the geographical nexus to Afghanistan, the question of the territory to which the sanctions applied had been difficult to determine, as the territories controlled by the Taliban changed so rapidly and continually. Although the imposition of most other sanction regimes had carried consequences beyond the geographical territory of the target, never before had the Council imposed a sanctions regime without there being some nexus to a geographical centre for the activities of a targeted entity.

¹³⁶⁴ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (g); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (g).

¹³⁶⁵ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (j); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (j).

¹³⁶⁶ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (l); SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (p).

¹³⁶⁷ SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), Annex I, para. (m).

¹³⁶⁸ SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), Annex II, para. (l). ¹³⁶⁹ *Ibid.*, Annex II, para. (m).

¹³⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, Annex II, para. (n). ¹³⁷¹ *Ibid.*, Annex II, para. (o).

¹³⁷² See Appendix 3, Table H. ¹³⁷³ S/2001/1226 (20 December 2001).

The employment of both a time-delay and a time-limit was also a notable development in the Council's sanctioning practice. In respect of time-delays, the Council provided for a one-month time-delay in respect of the initial sanctions against the Taliban and in respect of the first set of modified sanctions against the Taliban, Usama Bin Laden and Al Qaida. 1374 In respect of the time-limit, the Council followed the precedents established in the sanctions regimes against Eritrea and Ethiopia and Sierra Leone by deciding in December 2000 that the additional measures against the Taliban would terminate after twelve months, unless it (the Council) were to decide otherwise. 1375 In its subsequent resolutions, however, the Council did not incorporate such time-limits. generally providing simply that it would strengthen the sanctions at a given time. Moreover, in its relevant resolutions adopted after 11 September 2001, the Council failed to articulate explicit objectives for the sanctions, thus making it unclear what conditions would need to be fulfilled by those targeted before the sanctions would be terminated.

When the Security Council initiated the 1267 sanctions regime, it was mindful of the humanitarian implications of the sanctions. The Council included, as one of the 1267 Committee's initial responsibilities, the task of reporting on the humanitarian implications of the sanctions. ¹³⁷⁶ In its presidential statement of 7 April 2000, the Council underlined that sanctions were not aimed at the Afghan people, reaffirmed its decision to assess the humanitarian impact of the sanctions, and encouraged the 1267 Committee to report in that respect as soon as possible. ¹³⁷⁷ In resolution 1333 (2000), the Council took a number of steps to ensure that the issue of the humanitarian impact of the sanctions was being addressed adequately. Thus, the Council reaffirmed the necessity for sanctions to contain adequate and effective exemptions to avoid adverse humanitarian consequences on the people of Afghanistan, and for them to be structured in a way that would not impede the provision of international humanitarian assistance. ¹³⁷⁸

SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 3; SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 22. By contrast, later sanctions came into effect immediately. See, e.g., SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), paras. 1–2.

¹³⁷⁵ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), para. 23.

SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 6(c). The 1267 Committee thus included a section on the humanitarian implications of the sanctions in its annual reports for 2001 and 2002; see S/2002/101 (5 February 2002), paras. 28–31; S/2002/1423 (26 December 2002), para. 41.

¹³⁷⁷ S/PRST/2000/12 (7 April 2000).

¹³⁷⁸ SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular para. 16.

The Council also requested the UNSG to report on the humanitarian implications of the sanctions, ¹³⁷⁹ and it noted that, in considering the imposition of additional measures to achieve the goals of the sanctions regime, it would take into account the UNSG's impact assessment with a view to enhancing the effectiveness of the sanctions and avoiding humanitarian consequences. ¹³⁸⁰

With the adoption of resolution 1390 (2002), however, the consideration of humanitarian implications of the sanctions became less of a priority. The Council has not subsequently requested reporting on the humanitarian implications of sanctions. It is noteworthy, however, that both the 1267 Committee and the Monitoring Group have reported on humanitarian complications arising from the application of the sanctions. As a result of these concerns, the Council adopted resolution 1452 (2003), by which it provided for the possibility of exemptions from the financial sanctions for 'basic' or 'extraordinary' expenses. 1382

17. THE 1298 ERITREA AND ETHIOPIA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against both Eritrea and Ethiopia in May 2000, in an attempt to induce them to cease hostilities and engage in a meaningful peace process. The sanctions, which were imposed for an initial period of twelve months, consisted of an arms embargo. The Council established a sanctions committee to administer the 1298 sanctions regime. The sanctions terminated at the end of the twelve-month period, when the Council decided not to renew the regime.

1. Constitutional basis

In late January 1999, the Security Council expressed grave concern at the escalating arms build-up on both sides of the border between Eritrea and Ethiopia. At the time, the Council also expressed its strong support for the mediation efforts that had been undertaken by the Organization of African Unity (OAU), and in particular for the Framework Agreement which had been approved by the OAU's Mechanism for Conflict Prevention, Management and Resolution in

 ¹³⁷⁹ Ibid., para. 15(d). 1380 Ibid., para. 25.
 1381 See, e.g., S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002), paras. 42, 136.
 1382 SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), para. 1.
 1383 SC Res. 1226 (29 January 1999), preambular para. 2.

December 1998.¹³⁸⁴ Two weeks later, after conflict broke out between the two countries, the Security Council stressed that the situation constituted a threat to peace and security¹³⁸⁵ and demanded an immediate halt to hostilities.¹³⁸⁶ The Council also urged all states to end sales of arms to both Eritrea and Ethiopia.¹³⁸⁷

In May 2000, after a fresh outbreak of hostilities between Eritrea and Ethiopia, the Council adopted resolution 1297 (2000), in which it noted that it was deeply disturbed by the renewed hostilities, ¹³⁸⁸ and stressed that the situation constituted a threat to peace and security. ¹³⁸⁹ The Council condemned the renewed fighting between Eritrea and Ethiopia, demanded that both parties immediately cease all military actions, refrain from the further use of force and resume substantive peace talks, under OAU auspices. ¹³⁹⁰ The Council also warned that, if the hostilities did not cease, it would meet again in 72 hours to take steps to ensure that the parties complied with its demands. ¹³⁹¹

Five days later, with hostilities continuing unabated, the Council adopted resolution 1298 (2000). The Council noted with concern that the continued fighting had serious humanitarian implications for the civilian population of the two states, ¹³⁹² stressed that the hostilities represented an increasing threat to the stability, security and economic development of the sub-region, ¹³⁹³ and determined that the situation between Eritrea and Ethiopia constituted a threat to regional peace and security. ¹³⁹⁴ The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹³⁹⁵ before imposing an arms embargo against both Eritrea and Ethiopia. ¹³⁹⁶ The Council later invoked Chapter VII again in a resolution concerning the 1298 sanctions regime. ¹³⁹⁷

2. Objectives

The overall objective of the 1298 sanctions regime was to bring about a peaceful, definitive settlement to the conflict between the two countries. The specific objectives of the regime were for both parties to:

```
    1384 Ibid., para. 1. For the text of the Framework Agreement, see S/1998/1223 (28 December 1998).
    1385 SC Res. 1227 (10 February 1999), preambular para. 4. 1386 Ibid., para. 2.
    1387 Ibid., para. 7. 1388 SC Res. 1297 (12 May 2000), para. 2.
    1389 Ibid., preambular para. 9. 1390 Ibid., paras. 1-3. 1391 Ibid., para. 4.
    1392 SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), preambular para. 11. 1393 Ibid., preambular para. 12.
    1394 Ibid., preambular para. 13. 1395 Ibid., preambular para. 14. 1396 Ibid., para. 6.
    1397 SC Res. 1320 (15 September 2000), para. 10.
    1398 SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 17.
```

(a) cease military action immediately and refrain from the further use of force; ¹³⁹⁹ (b) withdraw their forces from military engagement and take no action that would aggravate tension; ¹⁴⁰⁰ and (c) reconvene substantive talks aimed at achieving a definitive peaceful settlement of the conflict ¹⁴⁰¹

3. The scope of the 1298 sanctions regime

The 1298 sanctions regime consisted of an arms embargo against the territories of both Eritrea and Ethiopia. Although the Council outlined a number of exemptions from the arms embargo, the basic scope of the measures applied remained unchanged for the duration of the sanctions regime.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under resolution 1298 (2000), the Security Council required all states to prevent: (a) the sale or supply to Eritrea and Ethiopia of arms and related material; ¹⁴⁰² and (b) the provision to Eritrea and Ethiopia of technical assistance or training related to the provision, manufacture, maintenance or use of arms and related material. ¹⁴⁰³

3.2 Exemptions

When the Security Council applied the arms embargo, it exempted supplies of non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian use, as approved in advance by the 1298 Sanctions Committee. The Council subsequently outlined additional exemptions for: (a) equipment and related material for the use of the UN Mine Action Service (UNMAS), as well as the provision of related technical assistance and training by UNMAS; 1405 (b) arms and related material for the sole use in Ethiopia or Eritrea of the UN; 1406 and (c) equipment and related material, including technical assistance and training, for use solely for demining within Ethiopia or Eritrea under the auspices of the UNMAS. 1407

```
    1399 Ibid., para. 2. 1400 Ibid., para. 3.
    1401 Ibid., para. 4. The Security Council stipulated that such talks should be carried out under OAU auspices, on the basis of the 'Framework Agreement' and other arrangements suggested by the OAU as recorded in a Communiqué issued by the OAU current Chairman on 5 May 2000: S/2000/394 (5 May 2000).
```

SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 6(a).
 SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 6(a).
 SC Res. 1312 (31 July 2000), para. 5.
 SC Res. 1320 (15 September 2000), para. 10.

3.3 Time-limit

When the Council initiated the 1298 sanctions regime, it decided that the sanctions would be imposed for an initial period of twelve months. At the end of that period, the Council would decide whether to extend the sanctions, based on an assessment of whether the governments of Eritrea and Ethiopia had complied with the objectives of the sanctions regime. 1409

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration of the 1298 sanctions regime upon both a sanctions committee and the UNSG.

4.1 The 1298 Sanctions Committee

When the Security Council initiated the 1298 sanctions regime, it also established, in accordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of procedure, a Sanctions Committee. The 1298 Committee was to report to the Council on its work and with its observations and recommendations, and to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action taken to implement sanctions; (b) consider information brought to its attention by states concerning sanctions violations and recommend appropriate measures in response thereto; (c) report periodically on information submitted to it regarding alleged sanctions violations, identifying where possible persons or entities, including vessels and aircraft, reported to be engaged in such violations; (d) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; (d) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; (e) decide upon requests for exemptions; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted by states to both the Committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted to the committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submitted to the committee and the UNSG; (f) examine reports submi

In the course of its activities, the 1298 Committee issued two annual reports and one report listing the reports received from states on steps taken to implement the sanctions. The main observation the Committee made was that, as it did not have any specific monitoring mechanism to ensure the effective implementation of the arms

```
    SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 16.
    Ibid., para. 8(a).
    Ibid., para. 8(b).
    Ibid., para. 8(c).
    Ibid., para. 8(d).
    Ibid., para. 8(e).
    Ibid., para. 8(f).
    Ibid., para. 13.
```

embargo, it relied solely on the co-operation of states and organisations in a position to provide pertinent information and it was therefore constrained in the discharge of its mandate. 1419

4.2 The Secretary-General

When the Council established the 1298 sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to: (a) provide assistance to the 1298 Sanctions Committee; ¹⁴²⁰ (b) receive reports by states on steps taken to implement sanctions; ¹⁴²¹ (c) report periodically on steps taken by Eritrea and Ethiopia to comply with the objectives of the sanctions regime; ¹⁴²² and (d) report in the event that there were a peaceful, definitive settlement of the conflict, in which case sanctions would be terminated. ¹⁴²³

5. Termination

As noted above, the 1298 sanctions regime was imposed for an initial period of twelve months, at the end of which the Council would decide whether to extend the sanctions, based on an assessment of whether the governments of Eritrea and Ethiopia had complied with the objectives of the sanctions regime. 1424 On 15 May 2001, the Council adopted a presidential statement, confirming that the sanctions regime would expire the following day. 1425 In that statement, the Council emphasised the importance of the Algiers Peace Agreement, which the parties had signed on 12 December 2000, 1426 recognised that the signing of the Algiers Agreement was consistent with the objectives of the 1298 sanctions regime, and stated that, under the existing circumstances, it had not extended the sanctions beyond the expiration date of 16 May 2001. The Council urged the parties to focus their efforts on reconstruction, development and reconciliation, rather than on weapons procurement and other military activities, and expressed the intention to take appropriate measures if the situation between Eritrea and Ethiopia again threatened regional peace and security.

See S/2000/1259 (29 December 2000), para. 7; S/2001/503 (18 May 2001), para. 8.
 SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 10.
 Ibid., para. 11.
 Ibid., para. 15.
 Ibid., para. 17.
 S/2000/1183 (13 December 2000).

6. Conclusions

The 1298 sanctions regime became the regime of the shortest duration yet imposed by the Security Council – twelve months. It also provided the first instance of the Council establishing a concrete time-limit for a sanctions regime, and it remains the only occasion on which a time-bound sanctions regime has not been extended. Finally, the Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regime was the first UN sanctions regime to be established against multiple state targets.

18. THE 1343 LIBERIA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Liberia for the second time in March 2001, with the objective of ensuring that the Liberian government ceased providing support for the Sierra Leonean rebel group the Revolutionary United Front (RUF). The 1343 Liberia sanctions regime initially consisted of arms, diamond and travel sanctions, but its scope subsequently expanded to include timber sanctions and additional travel sanctions. The Council established the 1343 Liberia Sanctions Committee to administer sanctions and created a panel of experts to monitor sanctions implementation. With the improvement of the situation in Sierra Leone, the objective of the regime also broadened, to encompass inducing the Liberian government to cease providing support to rebel groups in the region, including in Côte d'Ivoire. In December 2003, three months after Charles Taylor had resigned as Liberian President and taken refuge in Nigeria, the Council terminated the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime and replaced it with a third Liberian sanctions regime.

1. Constitutional basis

In March 2001 the Security Council expressed deep concern at the evidence presented by the Sierra Leone Panel of Experts that the government of Liberia was actively supporting the RUF, including by participating in the trade of diamonds, which represented a major source of income for the RUF. 1427 It then determined that the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in neighbouring countries, and in particular for the RUF in Sierra Leone,

¹⁴²⁷ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), preambular para. 4. For discussion of the report of the Sierra Leone Panel of Experts, see Appendix 2, Summary 14, section 4.

constituted a threat to international peace and security. 1428 It noted that it was acting under Chapter VII before imposing sanctions. 1429

In May 2002, when the Council extended the sanctions, and in May 2003, when the Council again extended the initial sanctions and introduced additional timber and travel sanctions, it determined that the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in the region constituted a threat to international peace and security¹⁴³⁰ and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII. ¹⁴³¹

2. Objectives

The major objective of the 1343 sanctions regime was to ensure that the Liberian government stopped providing support for the RUF in Sierra Leone and other armed rebel groups in the region. In order to achieve that overall goal, the Council demanded that the Liberian government take the following concrete steps: (a) expel all RUF members from Liberia and prohibit all RUF activities on its territory; 1432 (b) cease all financial and military support to the RUF and take steps to ensure that no such support was provided from Liberia or by Liberian nationals; 1433 (c) cease all import of Sierra Leone rough diamonds; 1434 (d) freeze funds or financial resources or assets that were made available by its nationals or within its territory for the benefit of the RUF or entities owned or controlled by the RUF; 1435 and (e) ground all Liberia-registered aircraft operating within its jurisdiction until it updated its register of aircraft pursuant to Annex VII to the Chicago Convention on International Civil Aviation of 1944, and provide the Council with updated information concerning the registration and ownership of each aircraft registered in Liberia. 1436 The sanctions would be terminated once the Liberian government had taken these concrete steps. 1437

The Security Council also noted that these steps were intended to lead to progress in the peace process in Sierra Leone. 1438 It called upon the Liberian President to ensure that the RUF took the following steps: (a) allow UNAMSIL free access throughout Sierra Leone; (b) release all

¹⁴²⁸ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), preambular para. 8. 1429 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 9. 1430 SC Res. 1409 (6 May 2002), preambular para. 14 SC Res. 1479 (6 May 2002), preambular para.

¹⁴³⁰ SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), preambular para. 11; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), preambular para. 13.

¹⁴³¹ SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), preambular para. 12; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), preambular para. 14.

SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 2(a).
 Ibid., para. 2(b).
 Ibid., para. 2(c).
 Ibid., para. 8-11.
 Ibid., para. 3.

abductees; (c) enter their fighters in the disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration process; and (d) return all weapons and other equipment seized from UNAMSIL. 1439

In May 2002, the Security Council noted that, while the Liberian government had complied with its demands concerning the registration of Liberian aircraft, 1440 it had failed to comply with the other four key demands. 1441 The objectives of the sanctions continued to be achieving Liberia's compliance with the remaining demands. 1442 The Council also stressed that the demands were intended to lead to consolidation of the peace process not just in Sierra Leone, but throughout the Mano River Union as a whole. 1443 In May 2003, the Council reaffirmed that the objective of the sanctions remained achieving compliance with the remaining demands, 1444 and again stressed that the demands were intended to consolidate peace and stability in Sierra Leone and among the countries of the region. 1445

3. Scope

The 1343 sanctions regime initially consisted of a mixture of arms, diamond and travel sanctions. It was subsequently expanded to incorporate timber sanctions and targeted travel sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the arms sanctions, all states were required to prevent the sale or supply to Liberia of arms and related material and equipment, as well as the provision to Liberia of training or assistance related to the provision, manufacture or use of arms and related material and equipment. The diamond sanctions required states to prevent the direct or indirect import of rough diamonds from Liberia, whether or not those diamonds were originally from Liberia. Under the travel sanctions, states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of senior members of the Liberian government and armed forces, as well as the spouses of those individuals and any other individuals providing

```
    1439 Ibid., para. 3(a)-(d).
    1440 SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 2.
    1441 Ibid., paras. 1, 5.
    1442 Ibid., paras. 1, 3, 5.
    1443 Ibid., para. 3.
    1444 SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), paras. 1, 3, 10, 12, 17.
    1445 Ibid., para. 3.
    1446 SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 5(a), 5(b).
    1447 Ibid., para. 6. The diamond sanctions were initially imposed for a period of twelve months, but they were extended for two additional periods of twelve months: see SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 5; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 10.
```

financial or military support to rebel groups in countries neighbouring Liberia, and in particular the RUF in Sierra Leone. 1448

In May 2003, the Council expanded the scope of the 1343 sanctions regime, adding timber sanctions and targeted travel sanctions. The timber sanctions required all states to prevent the import of round logs and timber products originating in Liberia. ¹⁴⁴⁹ Under the travel sanctions, all states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of individuals determined by the 1343 Committee to have violated the arms sanctions. ¹⁴⁵⁰

3.2 Exemptions

In resolution 1343 (2001), the Security Council exempted from the arms sanctions non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use, as approved by the 1343 Committee, ¹⁴⁵¹ as well as protective clothing for the personal use of UN personnel, media representatives, and humanitarian and development workers. ¹⁴⁵² The Council also outlined a variety of exemptions from the travel sanctions. It reiterated that the application of travel sanctions did not oblige a state to refuse entry to its nationals, ¹⁴⁵³ and it also provided that those subject to the measures could travel: (a) on official Liberian government business to UN headquarters or official meetings of the Mano River Union, ECOWAS or the OAU; ¹⁴⁵⁴ and (b) when justified on the grounds of humanitarian need or where it would promote Liberian compliance with the objectives of the sanctions regime or assist in the peaceful resolution of conflict in the sub-region. ¹⁴⁵⁵

In May 2002, the Council provided for a possible exemption from the diamond sanctions, deciding that rough diamonds controlled by the Liberian government through an effective Certificate of Origin would be exempt from the sanctions. The exemption would only become operative, however, once the 1343 Committee had reported to the Council that an effective and internationally verifiable Certificate of Origin regime was ready to become fully operational. In September 2004 the Council exempted from the arms sanctions arms and related material and technical training and assistance intended solely for support or use by the United Nations Mission in Liberia (UNMIL).

```
    SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 7.
    Ibid., para. 28.
    Ibid., para. 7(a).
    SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 5(c).
    Ibid., para. 7(a).
    Ibid., para. 7(b).
    SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 8; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 14.
    Ibid.
    Ibid.<
```

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration and monitoring of the sanctions upon a range of actors, including a sanctions committee, the UNSG and a panel of experts.

4.1 The 1343 Committee

The Security Council established a sanctions committee in the same resolution which imposed the new sanctions regime against Liberia. 1459 The 1343 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure, was to report to the Council on its work and with its observations and recommendations and to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action taken to implement sanctions; 1460 (b) take appropriate action on information concerning alleged sanctions violations, identifying where possible persons or entities reported to be engaged in such violations; 1461 (c) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; 1462 (d) decide upon requests for exemptions; 1463 (e) designate the individuals subject to the travel sanctions and update that list regularly; 1464 (f) make relevant information, including the travel ban list, publicly available through appropriate media; 1465 (g) make recommendations on increasing sanctions effectiveness and limiting unintended effects on the Liberian population; 1466 (h) co-operate with other relevant sanctions committees, in particular the 1132 Sierra Leone and 864 UNITA Committees; 1467 and (i) establish a list of RUF members present in Liberia, whom the Liberian government was required to expel. 1468

In May 2002, the Council further requested the 1343 Committee to consider and take appropriate action on information brought to its attention concerning any alleged violations of the 788 sanctions regime, while that sanctions regime was in force. ¹⁴⁶⁹ The decision to task the Committee with responsibilities relating to a terminated sanctions regime raised the question of whether the Council was effectively resurrecting the 788 sanctions regime.

In the course of its activities, the 1343 Committee issued three annual reports. 1470 In its reports, the Committee surveyed its consideration of

```
    SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14.
    Ibid., para. 14(b).
    Ibid., para. 14(c).
    Ibid., para. 14(d).
    Ibid., para. 14(d).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
    Ibid., para. 14(g).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
    Ibid., para. 14(g).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
    Ibid., para. 14(g).
    Ibid., para. 14(g).
    Ibid., para. 14(g).
    Ibid., para. 14(g).
```

applications for removal from the travel ban list and exemptions from the sanctions, ¹⁴⁷¹ and referred to letters it had addressed to states in pursuit of alleged sanctions violations. ¹⁴⁷² The Committee also reported on new initiatives, including convening five joint informal meetings with the 1132 and 864 Sanctions Committees, ¹⁴⁷³ as well as a fact-finding mission by the Committee Chairman to the region in order to ascertain the probable impact of the sanctions, reiterate the Council's demands to the Liberian government and present that government with the list of RUF members subject to expulsion. ¹⁴⁷⁴ In its observations, the Committee noted that, in the absence of a specific sanctions monitoring mechanism, it was reliant upon states and organisations to come forward and provide it with pertinent information. ¹⁴⁷⁵ The 1343 Committee was eventually dissolved in December 2003, when the 1343 sanctions regime was terminated. ¹⁴⁷⁶

4.2 The Secretary-General

When the Security Council initiated the 1343 Liberia sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report on: (a) compliance by the Liberian government with its obligations under the sanctions regime; ¹⁴⁷⁷ (b) the potential economic, humanitarian and social impact on the Liberian population of possible additional sanctions; ¹⁴⁷⁸ and (c) steps taken by the Liberian government to improve its capacity in air traffic control and surveillance. ¹⁴⁷⁹ At the same time, the Council also requested the UNSG to establish the 1343 Panel of Experts. ¹⁴⁸⁰ The Council subsequently requested the UNSG to: (a) re-establish the Panel, appoint its experts and support its activities; ¹⁴⁸¹ (b) report on Liberia's compliance with the requirements of the sanctions regime; ¹⁴⁸² and (c) report on the possible humanitarian or socio-economic impact of the timber sanctions. ¹⁴⁸³

4.3 The 1343 Panel of Experts

In resolution 1343 (2001) the Security Council created a Panel of Experts to monitor sanctions implementation. ¹⁴⁸⁴ The Panel was re-established and/or established on four subsequent occasions in the duration of the 1343 sanctions regime. ¹⁴⁸⁵ The Panel's mandates were for periods between five weeks and six months and its membership varied between five and six members. The Panel's initial mandate was to: (a) investigate sanctions violations; ¹⁴⁸⁶ (b) collect information on Liberian government compliance with the Council's demands; ¹⁴⁸⁷ (c) investigate links between the exploitation of natural resources and other economic activity in Liberia and the fuelling of conflict in Sierra Leone and other neighbouring countries; ¹⁴⁸⁸ (d) collect information on violations of the arms sanctions against Sierra Leone; ¹⁴⁸⁹ (e) report to the Council with observations and recommendations; ¹⁴⁹⁰ (f) keep the 1343 Committee updated on its activities; ¹⁴⁹¹ and (g) bring relevant information to the attention of the states concerned and allow them the right of reply. ¹⁴⁹²

The Security Council subsequently requested the Panel to: (a) conduct a follow-up assessment mission to audit the Liberian government's compliance with the Council's demands and investigate sanctions violations; ¹⁴⁹³ (b) report on the potential and actual economic, humanitarian and social impact of sanctions on the Liberian population; ¹⁴⁹⁴ (c) bring information to the attention of relevant states for prompt and thorough investigation and, where appropriate, to allow them the right of reply; ¹⁴⁹⁵ (d) review the audits of the Liberian government's use of revenue from shipping and timber; ¹⁴⁹⁶ (e) investigate whether any Liberian government revenue was being used in violation of sanctions; ¹⁴⁹⁷ and (f) report on how to improve the effectiveness, implementation and monitoring of sanctions. ¹⁴⁹⁸

```
<sup>1484</sup> SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 19.
<sup>1485</sup> For Security Council resolution provisions establishing and re-establishing the Panel,
     see Appendix 3, Table G.
<sup>1486</sup> SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 19(a).
                                                          1487 Ibid., para. 19(b).
<sup>1488</sup> Ibid., para. 19(c). <sup>1489</sup> Ibid., para. 19(d).
                                                          <sup>1490</sup> Ibid., para. 19(e).
                          <sup>1492</sup> Ibid., para. 20.
<sup>1491</sup> Ibid., para. 19(f).
<sup>1493</sup> SC Res. 1395 (27 February 2002), para. 4; SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 16; SC Res.
     1458 (28 January 2003), para. 4; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(a).
<sup>1494</sup> SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 16; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(c).
<sup>1495</sup> SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 17; SC Res. 1458 (28 January 2003), para. 5; SC Res.
     1478 (6 May 2003), para. 26.
1496 SC Res. 1458 (28 January 2003), para. 4.
                                                        <sup>1497</sup> SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(b).
<sup>1498</sup> SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25(d).
```

In the course of its various mandates, the 1343 Liberia Panel of Experts submitted six reports to the Security Council. 1499 In its reports, the Panel outlined detailed recommendations on sanctions implementation. In relation to the arms sanctions, the Panel recommended that: (a) all member states should abstain from supplying weapons to the Mano River Union countries; 1500 (b) an arms embargo be imposed against armed non-state actors in the Mano River Union countries; 1501 (c) the ECOWAS moratorium on small arms should be broadened to provide an information exchange mechanism for weapons of all types procured by ECOWAS member states; 1502 (d) member states should investigate any arms transactions involving particular named companies; 1503 (e) a UN working group be established to develop a standardised end-user certificate for arms transactions; 1504 (f) all arms-producing and exporting countries should stop supplying weapons to the Mano River Union countries; 1505 (g) an immediate embargo should be imposed on all non-state actors in the Mano River Union countries, including on the dissident groups constituting the Liberians United for Reconciliation and Democracy (LURD); 1506 and (h) end-user certificates should be submitted to ECOWAS as part of the procedure to obtain waivers for the import of arms into West Africa. 1507

In relation to the Liberian government's revenue and expenditure, the Panel recommended that: (a) the Liberian government should commission an independent audit of its revenue from the timber industry; (b) the Security Council should impose a ban on all round log exports from Liberia; ¹⁵⁰⁸ (c) revenue derived from the Liberian shipping registry should be audited, to ensure that it was being used for development purposes; ¹⁵⁰⁹ (d) the Liberian government should publish the results of the audit of revenue derived from the maritime and forestry industries; ¹⁵¹⁰ and (e) the Liberian forestry sector should be reformed under standards of good governance. ¹⁵¹¹

In relation to the diamond sanctions, the Panel recommended that: (a) Liberia should establish an effective certificate-of-origin scheme; ¹⁵¹² (b) further international controls should be developed to ensure the effectiveness of certificate-of-origin schemes; ¹⁵¹³ (c) the UN should encourage member states to assist the Liberian government in setting up a credible and transparent certification scheme which was independently audited by an internationally recognised audit company; ¹⁵¹⁴ and (d) Liberia should finalise a credible plan of action for introducing a credible certificate-of-origin scheme, with the aid of international support. ¹⁵¹⁵

In relation to the travel sanctions, the Panel recommended that: (a) the 1343 Committee should respond more effectively to individual requests about the operation of sanctions; ¹⁵¹⁶ (b) the Committee should post a 'travel ban web-page', explaining the criteria for placing names on the list, describing how individuals could apply for an exemption from the ban and listing exemptions that had been granted; ¹⁵¹⁷ (c) a photographic database should be compiled of key individuals on the travel ban list; ¹⁵¹⁸ (d) the travel ban list should be updated regularly; ¹⁵¹⁹ and (e) the list was too long and should be reduced to include Liberian cabinet members and other key government officials, as well as individuals involved in or obstructing investigations into sanctions violations. ¹⁵²⁰

In comments addressing the humanitarian impact of sanctions, the Panel reported that there was a broad perception in Liberia that sanctions were affecting average people, largely due to an effective antisanctions public relations campaign by the Liberian government. The Liberian government was blaming sanctions for its failure to improve services and to engage in reform. While there had been some 'collateral damage', including depreciation of the Liberian dollar and a steep increase in inflation, the Panel concluded that sanctions had had a negligible impact on the humanitarian situation. It recommended that a national sensitisation campaign should be launched to inform Liberians about the justification for sanctions.

```
    1512 S/2001/1015 (26 October 2001), paras. 48–49, 385–386.
    1513 Ibid., paras. 48–49, 385–386.
    1514 S/2002/470 (19 April 2002), paras. 10, 137.
    1515 S/2002/1115 (25 October 2002), paras. 14–15, 157.
    1516 S/2001/1015 (26 October 2001), paras. 62, 456.
    1518 Ibid., paras. 63–64, 457–458.
    1519 Ibid.
    1520 S/2002/470 (19 April 2002), paras. 21–22.
    1523 S/2002/470 (19 April 2002), para. 174.
    1524 S/2002/1115 (25 October 2002), para. 19.
    1525 S/2003/937 (28 October 2003), para. 10(h).
```

In an August 2003 report on the potential humanitarian and socioeconomic impact of proposed timber sanctions, the Panel observed that the sanctions would deprive armed state and non-state actors of timber revenue, result in decreased human rights violations associated with the timber industry and cause long-term consequences for the Liberia's redevelopment. ¹⁵²⁶ It recommended that: (a) the Council should impose a moratorium on all commercial activities in the extractive industries; (b) increased emergency aid should be provided; (c) the Liberian timber sector should be reformed in order to achieve good governance; and (d) member states, civil society and UN field presences should be encouraged to monitor and report sanctions violations. ¹⁵²⁷

The Panel also made a number of general recommendations concerning continued sanctions monitoring and potential measures to strengthen the sanctions regime. It thus recommended that: (a) an officer should be employed within the UN Secretariat with responsibility for monitoring sanctions compliance; (b) the Panel's own mandate should be renewed to enable it to undertake assessment missions to the region; (c) financial sanctions should be imposed against certain individuals; and (d) the UN Mission in Liberia (UNMIL) should play a monitoring role to ensure that sanctions were not being violated. (1531)

5. Termination

In December 2003, three months after Charles Taylor had resigned as Liberian President and gone into exile in Nigeria, the Security Council lifted the 1343 sanctions regime and replaced it with a third Liberian sanctions regime. In the process, the Council recalled the various resolutions associated with the 1343 sanctions regime, ¹⁵³² and noted that the changed circumstances in Liberia, including the departure of Taylor and the formation of the National Transitional Government of Liberia, required the revision of the basis for action under Chapter VII. ¹⁵³³ It then terminated the 1343 Liberian sanctions regime and dissolved the 1343 Committee. ¹⁵³⁴

```
    S/2003/779 (7 August 2003), para. 15.
    Ibid., para. 17.
    S/2001/1015 (26 October 2001), paras. 66, 463.
    Ibid., paras. 67-68, 464-465.
    S/2003/498 (24 April 2003), para. 10; S/2003/937 (28 October 2003), para. 10(d).
    S/2003/937 (28 October 2003), paras. 10(b), 110.
    CRes. 1521 (22 December 2003), section A, preambular para. 1.
    Ibid., section A, preambular para. 2.
```

6. Conclusions

The 1343 Liberia sanctions regime was noteworthy in a number of respects. First, it was the first sanctions regime that was imposed to succeed an earlier sanctions regime against the same target. Second, it constituted the first time that the Security Council imposed mandatory sanctions against timber. Third, the Council employed time-limits for sanctions, as it had with the 1298 sanctions regime, the diamond sanctions imposed under the 1132 sanctions regime and the initial measures applied under the 1267 sanctions regime. ¹⁵³⁵ Fourth, the Council again experimented with time-delays in order to provide the target with an opportunity to avoid the eventual application of the sanctions by complying with the necessary conditions under the sanctions regime. ¹⁵³⁶

Fifth, the Security Council adopted a flexible approach to the characterisation of the relevant threat to international peace and security, first characterising that threat as the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in neighbouring countries, and in particular for the RUF in Sierra Leone, ¹⁵³⁷ then characterising it as the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in the region, including the RUF, ¹⁵³⁸ then again as the active support provided by the Liberian government for armed rebel groups in the region, including to rebels in Côte d'Ivoire and former RUF combatants who continued to destabilise the region. ¹⁵³⁹ Sixth, the Council established another Panel of Experts, whose mandate it re-established and/or established on multiple occasions during the course of the 1343 sanctions regime. Seventh, the Council experimented for the first time with requiring an audit of the revenue and expenditure of a target, in order to determine whether revenue was being spent in a manner that

¹⁵³⁵ The arms sanctions applied for an initial period of fourteen months, subsequently extended for two periods of twelve months: SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 5, 9; SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 5; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 10. The diamond and travel sanctions, which came into effect two months after the arms sanctions, were applied for an initial period of twelve months, subsequently extended for two periods of twelve months: SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 6–8; SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 5; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 10. The timber sanctions were applied for an initial period of ten months, beginning on 6 July 2003: SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 17.

¹⁵³⁶ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 8-9; SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), paras. 17, 28.

¹⁵³⁷ SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), preambular para. 8.

¹⁵³⁸ SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), preambular para. 11.

¹⁵³⁹ SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), preambular para. 13.

did not violate the sanctions. Finally, the Council requested monitoring of and reporting on the humanitarian implications of sanctions.

19. THE 1493 DRC SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) in July 2003, in an attempt to foster progress in the DRC's peace process. The 1493 sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo against particular actors, which was broadened to incorporate all recipients in the DRC and expanded to include aviation, travel and financial sanctions. The Council has established a sanctions committee to administer the sanctions and a group of experts to monitor sanctions implementation. It has also tasked the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC) with responsibilities for monitoring the arms embargo.

1. Constitutional basis

In July 2003 the Security Council expressed deep concern at the continuation of hostilities in the eastern part of the DRC, particularly in North and South Kivu and Ituri, and at the grave violations of human rights and international humanitarian law that accompanied those hostilities. The Council noted that the situation in the DRC continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security in the region, and stated that it was acting under Chapter VII, Sefore imposing the sanctions. In subsequent sanctions-related resolutions, the Council has reaffirmed that the situation in the DRC continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security in the region and has again noted that it was acting under Chapter VII.

SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), preambular para. 6.
 Ibid., preambular para. 11.
 Ibid., preambular para. 20.

^{SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), preambular paras. 7–8; SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), preambular paras. 5–6; SC Res. 1565 (1 October 2004), preambular paras. 8–9; SC Res. 1592 (30 March 2005), preambular paras. 12–13; SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), preambular paras. 9–10; SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), preambular paras. 6–7; SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), preambular paras. 14–15; SC Res. 1654 (31 January 2006), preambular paras. 3–4; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), preambular paras. 11–12.}

2. Objectives

The initial objective of the sanctions was to foster progress in the DRC peace process. 1545 The Council noted that it would review the situation in the DRC in twelve months, with a view to renewing the sanctions if no significant progress had been made in the peace process, including in particular if support were still being provided to armed groups, if there were no effective cease-fire, and if there had not been progress in the disarmament, demobilisation, repatriation, reintegration or resettlement ('DDRRR') of foreign and Congolese armed groups. 1546 The Council subsequently reaffirmed on multiple occasions that the objectives of the 1493 sanctions regime remained progress in the DRC peace and transition process, as well as the disarmament of foreign armed groups. 1547

3. Scope

The 1493 sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo against particular actors in the DRC. The sanctions regime has subsequently been expanded, with the application of the arms embargo expanded and new measures added, including aviation, travel and financial sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the DRC sanctions regime, all states were initially required to take the necessary measures to prevent the supply of arms and related material and the provision of military assistance, advice or training to all foreign and Congolese armed groups and militias operating in the territory of North and South Kivu and of Ituri, as well as to groups not party to the Global and all-inclusive agreement, in the DRC. 1548 The arms embargo was to apply for twelve months. 1549

In April 2005 the Council adopted resolution 1596 (2005), broadening the application of the arms embargo and applying additional aviation, travel and financial sanctions. The arms embargo now applied against all recipients in the territory of the DRC. 1550 The aviation sanctions

¹⁵⁴⁵ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), paras. 15, 18, 19, 22. ¹⁵⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 22. ¹⁵⁴⁷ SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), para. 1; SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), paras. 5, 17; SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), paras. 7, 15-16; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 1. ¹⁵⁴⁸ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 20.

¹⁵⁴⁹ *Ibid.* ¹⁵⁵⁰ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 1.

required all governments in the region to ensure that aircraft operated in accordance with the Convention on International Civil Aviation, to prohibit the operation of any aircraft not in compliance with the ICAO, and to ensure that no airports or airfields on their territories were used to violate the arms embargo. ¹⁵⁵¹ The Council also required the DRC and other states bordering Ituri and the Kivus to take the necessary measures to strengthen customs controls on their borders and to ensure that no means of transport in their territories would be used to violate the arms embargo. ¹⁵⁵²

The travel ban required states to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of all persons designated by the 1533 Committee as having violated the arms embargo. The financial sanctions required all states to freeze funds, other financial assets and economic resources on their territories owned directly or indirectly by individuals designated by the 1533 Committee as having violated the arms embargo, and to ensure that no funds, financial assets or economic resources were made available to such individuals by their nationals or from within their territories. 1554

In December 2005 the Council broadened the application of the travel ban and assets freeze, deciding that they would also be applied against: (a) political and military leaders of foreign armed groups operating in the DRC who impeded the disarmament and voluntary repatriation or resettlement of combatants belonging to those groups; 1555 and (b) political and military leaders of Congolese militias receiving support from outside the DRC and in particular those operating in Ituri, who impeded the participation of their combatants in disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration processes. 1556 December 2006, the Council again expanded the category of those subject to the travel ban and assets freeze, applying them against: (a) political and military leaders recruiting or using children in armed conflict in violation of applicable international law; 1557 and (b) individuals committing serious violations of international law involving the targeting of children in situations of armed conflict, including killing and maiming, sexual violence, abduction and forced displacement. 1558

 ¹⁵⁵¹ *Ibid.*, para. 6.
 ¹⁵⁵² *Ibid.*, para. 10.
 ¹⁵⁵³ *Ibid.*, para. 13.
 ¹⁵⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 15.
 ¹⁵⁵⁵ SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 2(a).
 ¹⁵⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 2(b).
 ¹⁵⁵⁷ SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 13.
 ¹⁵⁵⁸ *Ibid.*

3.2 Exemptions

When the Council established the 1493 sanctions regime, it exempted from the arms embargo supplies to MONUC, the Interim Emergency Multinational Force led by France, and non-lethal military equipment intended for humanitarian or protective use, as well as related technical assistance and training.¹⁵⁵⁹ It subsequently exempted from the arms embargo: (a) training and assistance for units of the DRC army and police;¹⁵⁶⁰ (b) supplies for MONUC;¹⁵⁶¹ (c) non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use and related assistance and training, as notified to the 1493 Committee in advance;¹⁵⁶² and (d) arms and related material as well as technical training and assistance intended solely for the support of or the use by EU Force in the DRC.¹⁵⁶³

When the Council applied travel sanctions it clarified that nothing obliged a state to refuse entry to its own nationals, ¹⁵⁶⁴ and it also provided for exemptions from the travel sanctions: (a) where the 1533 Committee determined that travel was justified on the grounds of humanitarian need or religious obligation; ¹⁵⁶⁵ or (b) to further peace and national reconciliation in the DRC and stability in the region. ¹⁵⁶⁶ In December 2005, the Council also exempted from the travel ban the transit of individuals returning to the territory of the state of their nationality or participating in efforts to bring to justice perpetrators of grave violations of human rights or international humanitarian law, as determined in advance by the 1533 Committee on a case-by-case basis. ¹⁵⁶⁷

When the Council applied financial sanctions, it provided for the possibility of exemptions where funds or resources were: (a) necessary for basic expenses; ¹⁵⁶⁸ (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses; ¹⁵⁶⁹ or (c) subject to legal or administrative lien. ¹⁵⁷⁰

3.3 Time-limits and renewals

When the Council established the 1493 sanctions regime, it decided that the initial arms embargo would apply for twelve months. ¹⁵⁷¹ The Council has subsequently renewed the arms embargo for several

```
    1559 SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 21.
    1561 Ibid., para. 2(b).
    1562 Ibid., para. 2(c).
    1563 SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 10.
    1564 SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 13.
    1565 SC Res. 1671 (25 April 2006), para. 10.
    1566 Ibid., para. 14.
    1566 Ibid.
    1566 Ibid., para. 15(b).
    1571 SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 20.
```

additional twelve-month periods on several occasions. 1572 When extending the arms embargo the Council has also reaffirmed the additional sanctions, which are not subject to time-limits. 1573

4. Administration and monitoring

When it first imposed the DRC sanctions regime, the Council did not establish a Sanctions Committee. Initially, it bestowed responsibilities relating to the administration and monitoring of the sanctions upon the UNSG and the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC). The Council has subsequently established both a sanctions committee and a group of experts, whilst also reaffirming MONUC's monitoring role.

4.1 The Secretary-General

When the Council established the DRC sanctions regime it requested the UNSG to receive notifications from states concerning exemptions from the arms embargo. 1574 The Secretary-General has also been asked to: (a) create and subsequently re-establish or extend the DRC Group of Experts and provide the Group with necessary support; 1575 (b) assist the Committee in the designation of the leaders subject to the travel ban and assets freeze; 1576 (c) submit an assessment of the potential economic, humanitarian and social impact on the DRC population of sanctions against natural resources; 1577 (d) assist the 1533 Committee to identify individuals to be added to the travel ban and assets freeze lists, including political and military leaders who have recruited or used children in armed conflict, as well as individuals who have committed serious violations of international humanitarian law against children; 1578 and (e) submit observations on whether the travel ban and assets freeze should be applied against individuals obstructing the action of MONUC or of the DRC Group of Experts. 1579

¹⁵⁷² SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), para. 2; SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), para. 2; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 2.

¹⁵⁷³ *Ibid.* 1574 SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 21.

SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 10; SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), para. 5; SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 21; SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), para. 4; SC Res. 1654 (31 January 2006), para. 1; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), paras. 3, 7.

¹⁵⁷⁶ SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 5. 1577 SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 8. 1578 *Ibid.*. para. 17. 1579 *Ibid.*, para. 21.

4.2 The UN Organization Mission in the DRC

When the Council established the DRC sanctions regime, it requested the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC) to deploy military observers in North and South Kivu and in Ituri and to report to it regularly on information concerning arms supply and the presence of foreign military. The Council has subsequently requested MONUC to: (a) use all means to inspect the cargo of aircraft and any transport vehicle using the ports, airports, military bases and border crossings in North and South Kivu and in Ituri; 1581 (b) seize arms and related material violating the DRC sanctions; 1582 and (c) assist DRC customs authorities to ensure that forms of transportation are not used to violate the arms embargo. 1583

4.3 The 1533 DRC Sanctions Committee

In March 2004, ten months after it had initiated the DRC sanctions regime, the Council established a Sanctions Committee to oversee the sanctions administration. The 1533 Committee, which was established under rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action taken to implement sanctions; (b) take appropriate action on alleged sanctions violations; (c) report regularly on its work, including on strengthening the sanctions; (d) consider lists of sanctions violators, with a view to making recommendations for future measures; and (e) receive notifications from states concerning exemptions.

The Security Council has subsequently requested the Committee to: (a) designate persons and entities subject to the aviation, travel and financial sanctions; ¹⁵⁹⁰ (b) seek from relevant states information regarding actions taken to enforce sanctions and investigate and prosecute individuals designated by the 1533 Committee as having violated the arms embargo; ¹⁵⁹¹ (c) decide upon applications for

¹⁵⁸⁰ SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 19.

¹⁵⁸¹ SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 3; SC Res. 1565 (1 October 2004), para. 4(f); SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 3; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 16.

¹⁵⁸² SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 4; SC Res. 1565 (1 October 2004), para. 4(g); SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 16.

¹⁵⁸³ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 10. ¹⁵⁸⁴ SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 8.

¹⁵⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, paras. 8(a), 9. ¹⁵⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 8(b). ¹⁵⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 8(c).

¹⁵⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 8(d). ¹⁵⁸⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 8(e).

¹⁵⁹⁰ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 18(a); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 14.

¹⁵⁹¹ SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), paras. 18(b)-(c); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4.

exemptions; 1592 and (d) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation. 1593

The 1533 Committee has submitted regular annual reports to the Security Council, 1594 but they have contained little in the way of substantive observations or recommendations. In its first two years, the Committee held three formal and nineteen informal meetings. 1595 Its activities were focused upon considering the activities of the DRC Group of Experts, 1596 receiving and considering replies from member states regarding action to implement the arms embargo, 1597 and receiving notifications for exemptions. 1598

4.4 The DRC Group of Experts

In March 2003 the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a Group of Experts on the DRC sanctions. The Group has subsequently been re-established or extended on multiple occasions. The initial mandate of the Group was to: (a) analyse information gathered by MONUC regarding sanctions implementation; (b) analyse information regarding the flow of arms and related material, as well as networks violating sanctions; (c) recommend measures to improve the capacity of states to implement sanctions; (d) report on sanctions implementation; (e) keep the 1533 Committee abreast of its activities; 1605 (f) exchange information with MONUC to facilitate its monitoring mandate; and (g) provide the 1533 Committee with a list of individuals who had violated the sanctions, as well as of those who had supported those individuals.

The Group of Experts has subsequently been requested to: (a) report on sanctions implementation and with recommendations concerning the list of those suspected to have violated the arms embargo; ¹⁶⁰⁸ (b) continue to focus its monitoring activities in North and South Kivu

```
<sup>1592</sup> SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 18(d); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4.
<sup>1593</sup> SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 18(e); SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 4.
<sup>1594</sup> See Appendix 3, Table F.
<sup>1595</sup> S/2005/81 (10 February 2005), para. 6; S/2006/54 (27 January 2006), para. 7.
<sup>1596</sup> S/2005/81 (10 February 2005), paras. 7–11; S/2006/54 (27 January 2006), paras. 13–17.
<sup>1597</sup> S/2005/81 (10 February 2005), appendix; S/2006/54 (27 January 2006), appendix.
                                                        <sup>1599</sup> SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 10.
<sup>1598</sup> S/2006/54 (27 January 2006), para. 10.
<sup>1600</sup> SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), para. 5; SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 21; SC Res. 1654
     (31 January 2006), para. 1; SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 3.
<sup>1601</sup> SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 10(a).
                                                             <sup>1602</sup> Ibid., para. 10(b).
<sup>1603</sup> Ibid., para. 10(c). <sup>1604</sup> Ibid., para. 10(d).
                                                           <sup>1605</sup> Ibid., para. 10(e).
<sup>1606</sup> Ibid., para. 10(f). <sup>1607</sup> Ibid., para. 10(g).
                                                           <sup>1608</sup> SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), para. 6.
```

and in Ituri;¹⁶⁰⁹ (c) report on implementation of the additional sanctions;¹⁶¹⁰ (d) report on the sources of financing which were funding the illicit trade in arms, such as revenue raised from natural resources;¹⁶¹¹ (e) assist the Committee in the designation of the leaders subject to the travel ban and assets freeze;¹⁶¹² and (f) recommend measures that might be applied to prevent illegal exploitation of natural resources and compare the significance to illegal armed groups of revenue from natural resources with revenue raised from other 'sources.¹⁶¹³ The group has submitted regular reports in accordance with its mandates.¹⁶¹⁴

5. Conclusions

In its oversight of the 1493 sanctions regime, the Security Council again employed a time-limit, providing that the arms embargo would apply for an initial twelve months and subsequently renewing the embargo on an annual basis. However, the Council did not apply any time-limits in connection with the additional aviation, travel and financial sanctions. Instead, it has simply reaffirmed those measures when extending the arms embargo. The Council has expanded the category of individuals subject to the DRC travel ban and assets freeze quite dramatically, targeting not just leaders of rebel groups but also those involved in violations of human rights and international humanitarian law. In addition to creating a Group of Experts to monitor the application of sanctions, the Council has also endowed its DRC peacekeeping operation, MONUC, with an aggressive mandate to monitor the implementation of the arms embargo and to seize contraband arms and related material where appropriate.

20. THE 1521 LIBERIA SANCTIONS REGIME

In December 2003, five months after Liberian President Charles Taylor had gone into exile in Nigeria and four months after the signing of a comprehensive Liberian peace agreement, the Security Council applied a new sanctions regime against Liberia. The 1521 Liberia sanctions regime had a number of initial objectives, including securing the

```
    SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 3.
    SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), para. 5.
    SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 6.
    SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), para. 5.
    SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 6.
```

observance of a cease-fire, the implementation of a comprehensive peace agreement, the establishment of an effective certificate-of-origin regime for Liberian diamonds, and ensuring full government authority and control over Liberian timber producing areas and timber revenues.

The 1521 sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo, a travel ban, timber and diamond sanctions, all of which were applied subject to time-limits. The Council subsequently strengthened the sanctions regime by applying an assets freeze, which was not subject to a time-limit. All of the sanctions were routinely extended beyond the January 2006 inauguration of the democratically elected government of President Ellen Johnson Sirleaf. Timber sanctions were lifted in June 2006, but at the time of writing the other measures remain in place. The Council has established a sanctions committee to administer the sanctions regime and a panel of experts to monitor sanctions implementation.

1. Constitutional basis

When the Security Council established the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, it expressed serious concern that the 1343 sanctions regime continued to be breached, particularly via the flow into Liberia of arms. ¹⁶¹⁵ While welcoming the Comprehensive Peace Agreement signed by the former government of Liberia, Liberians United for Reconciliation and Democracy (LURD) and the Movement for Democracy in Liberia (MODEL), ¹⁶¹⁶ the Council noted with concern that the cease-fire and the Comprehensive Peace Agreement were not being implemented throughout Liberia. ¹⁶¹⁷ It then determined that the situation in Liberia and the proliferation of arms and armed non-state actors, including mercenaries in the sub-region, continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security in West Africa, in particular to the peace process in Liberia, ¹⁶¹⁸ and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁶¹⁹ before proceeding to apply sanctions. ¹⁶²⁰

In March 2004, when the Security Council applied an assets freeze, it expressed concern that the actions and policies of former Liberian President Charles Taylor and other persons, in particular depleting

 ¹⁶¹⁵ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), preambular para. 3.
 1616 Ibid., preambular para. 4.
 1617 Ibid., preambular para. 6.
 1618 Ibid., preambular para. 8.
 1619 Ibid., preambular para. 9.
 1620 Ibid., paras. 2, 4, 6, 10.

Liberian resources and removing from Liberia funds and property, had undermined Liberia's transition to democracy. ¹⁶²¹ It further expressed concern that former President Taylor continued to exercise control over and to access misappropriated Liberian funds and property, ¹⁶²² determined that the situation constituted a threat to international peace and security in West Africa, in particular to the peace process in Liberia, ¹⁶²³ and, acting under Chapter VII, ¹⁶²⁴ imposed financial sanctions against former President Taylor and his immediate family and former senior colleagues. ¹⁶²⁵ In its subsequent decisions modifying the sanctions regime, the Security Council has again determined that the situation in Liberia continued to constitute a threat to international peace and security and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII. ¹⁶²⁶

2. Objectives

With the establishment of the 1521 sanctions regime, the Security Council took the innovative step of outlining particular objectives linked to different components of the sanctions regime. The objectives of the arms and travel sanctions were to ensure that: (a) the Liberian cease-fire was being fully respected and maintained; (b) disarmament, demobilisation, reintegration, repatriation and restructuring of the security sector had been completed; (c) the provisions of the Comprehensive Peace Agreement were being fully implemented; and (d) significant progress had been made in establishing and maintaining stability in Liberia and the sub-region. 1627 The objective of the diamond sanctions was to ensure the establishment of an effective certificate-oforigin regime for trade in Liberian diamonds. 1628 Finally, the objectives of the timber sanctions were to ensure that: (a) the Transitional Government of Liberia gained full authority and control over Liberian timber producing areas; and (b) government revenues from the timber industry were not being used to fuel conflict or in violation of the

SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), preambular para. 2. 1622 Ibid., preambular para. 4. 1623 Ibid., preambular para. 5. 1624 Ibid., preambular para. 6. 1625 Ibid., para. 1.
 SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), preambular paras. 13–14; SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), preambular paras. 15–16; SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), preambular paras. 8–9; SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), preambular paras. 5–6; SC Res. 1688 (16 June 2006), preambular paras. 14–15; SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), preambular paras. 14–15; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), preambular paras. 10–11.
 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 5.

¹⁶²⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 8; SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 4.

Security Council's resolutions, but rather for legitimate purposes for the benefit of the Liberian people. 1629

In December 2005, following the holding of free and fair elections, the Security Council confirmed that the objectives of the sanctions regime remained unchanged. At the same time, it encouraged the new Liberian government to take steps to ensure transparency, accountability and sustainable forest management, which would contribute towards the lifting of the timber sanctions. The Council further encouraged the new government to implement the Governance and Economic Management Assistance Program, which had been developed by international donors in co-operation with the NTGL, with the aim of preventing the loss of government revenue through corrupt practices. 1632

3. Scope

The 1521 sanctions regime initially consisted of a mixture of arms, travel, diamond and timber sanctions. The Council soon strengthened the sanctions regime by applying financial sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the arms sanctions applied by resolution 1521 (2004), all states were required to prevent the sale or supply to Liberia of arms and related material and equipment, as well as the provision to Liberia of training or assistance related to the provision, manufacture or use of arms and related material and equipment. Under the travel sanctions, all states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of all persons who constituted a threat to the peace process in Liberia, including senior members of the former Liberian government and armed forces, as well as the spouses of those individuals and any other individuals providing financial or military support to rebel groups in countries neighbouring Liberia. Under the diamond sanctions, all states were required to prevent the direct or indirect import of all rough diamonds from Liberia, whether or not those diamonds originated in Liberia. Under the timber sanctions,

SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), paras. 11, 12; SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 4.
 SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 1(c).

 ¹⁶³¹ Ibid., para. 3(a).
 1632 Ibid., para. 4.
 1633 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2.
 1634 Ibid., para. 4(a).
 1635 Ibid., para. 6.

all states were required to prevent the import into their territories of all round logs and timber products originating in Liberia. 1636

In March 2004, the Council strengthened the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, imposing financial sanctions against former Liberian President Charles Taylor and members of his immediate family and senior officials of his former government.¹⁶³⁷

3.2 Exemptions

In resolution 1521 (2003), the Security Council exempted from the arms embargo: (a) supplies of arms and related material and technical training and assistance intended solely for support of or by the UN Mission in Liberia (UNMIL); ¹⁶³⁸ (b) arms and related material and technical training and assistance intended solely for support of or use in an international training and reform programme for the Liberian armed forces and police, as approved in advance by the 1521 Committee; ¹⁶³⁹ (c) non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use, as approved in advance by the 1521 Committee; ¹⁶⁴⁰ and (d) protective clothing for UN personnel, representatives of the media and humanitarian and development workers. ¹⁶⁴¹ The Council has subsequently exempted the import of weapons and ammunition for the use of the Liberian Special Security Services and the restructured police and security forces, subject to approval by the 1521 Committee. ¹⁶⁴²

In resolution 1521 (2003), the Council clarified that the travel sanctions did not obligate a state to refuse entry to its own nationals. The Council also provided for the possibility of exemptions from the travel sanctions where the 1521 Committee determined that travel was justified on the grounds of humanitarian need or religious obligation, or where travel would further the objectives of the Council's resolutions for the creation of peace, stability and democracy in Liberia and lasting peace in the sub-region. In June 2006, the Council outlined exemptions from the travel ban to enable former Liberian President Charles Taylor and witnesses required for his trial to travel to the Netherlands.

```
    Ibid., para. 10. 1637 SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 2(d).
    Ibid., para. 2(e). 1640 Ibid., para. 2(f). 1641 Ibid., para. 2(g).
    SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), paras. 1-2; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1(b).
    SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 4(a). 1644 Ibid., para. 4(c).
    SC Res. 1688 (16 June 2006), para. 9.
```

In resolution 1532 (2004), the Security Council outlined exemptions from the financial sanctions for funds that were: (a) necessary for basic expenses; ¹⁶⁴⁶ (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses; ¹⁶⁴⁷ or (c) subject to legal or administrative lien. ¹⁶⁴⁸ The Council also decided that states might allow for frozen accounts to receive outstanding interest or other payments owed prior to the application of the financial sanctions. ¹⁶⁴⁹

3.3 Extensions

The initial sanctions, including the arms, travel, diamond and timber sanctions were all applied subject to a twelve-month time-limit. ¹⁶⁵⁰ The arms embargo and travel ban have subsequently been renewed on an annual basis. ¹⁶⁵¹ Since the end of 2005 the diamond sanctions have been renewed every six months. ¹⁶⁵² The timber sanctions were initially renewed for a second twelve-month period, ¹⁶⁵³ then subsequently for six months, ¹⁶⁵⁴ until June 2006, when the Council decided not to renew them any further. ¹⁶⁵⁵

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council has bestowed responsibilities for the administration and monitoring of the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime upon a range of actors, including a sanctions committee, a Panel of Experts, the UNSG and the UN Mission in Liberia (UNMIL).

4.1 The 1521 Committee

The Security Council established a Sanctions Committee in the same resolution which imposed the new sanctions regime against Liberia. ¹⁶⁵⁶ The 1521 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to report on its work and with its observations and recommendations, and to: (a) monitor sanctions implementation, taking into consideration the reports of the Panel of

```
    1646 SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 2(a).
    1647 Ibid., para. 2(b).
    1648 Ibid., para. 2(c).
    1649 Ibid., para. 3.
    1650 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 18.
```

¹⁶⁵¹ SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 1(a); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 1(a); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1(a).

¹⁶⁵² SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 1(c); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 4; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1(c).

¹⁶⁵³ SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 1(b).

¹⁶⁵⁴ SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 1(b).

¹⁶⁵⁵ SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 1. ¹⁶⁵⁶ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 21.

Experts; ¹⁶⁵⁷ (b) seek from all states, particularly those in the sub-region, information regarding actions taken to implement sanctions; ¹⁶⁵⁸ (c) decide upon requests for exemptions; ¹⁶⁵⁹ (d) designate individuals subject to travel sanctions and update the list regularly; ¹⁶⁶⁰ (e) make relevant information, including the list of individuals subject to the travel sanctions, publicly available through appropriate media; ¹⁶⁶¹ and (f) take appropriate action on alleged violations of the 1343 sanctions regime while it was in force. ¹⁶⁶²

The 1521 Committee was subsequently tasked with a number of additional responsibilities, including to: (a) identify individuals and entities subject to financial sanctions, circulate that list to all states, and post it on the Committee's website; ¹⁶⁶³ (b) maintain and update the list; ¹⁶⁶⁴ (c) assist states, where necessary, in tracing and freezing the funds and other financial and economic resources subject to the financial sanctions; ¹⁶⁶⁵ and (d) seek from all states information regarding action taken to trace and freeze such funds and other financial and economic resources. ¹⁶⁶⁶

The 1521 Committee has submitted annual reports to the Council summarising its activities. ¹⁶⁶⁷ In its reports, the Committee has surveyed its deliberations concerning exceptions from the 1521 sanctions regime, and reported on actual and alleged violations of the sanctions. In its annual report covering activities in 2005, the Committee noted that it had considered six requests for delisting from the travel ban list, but that it had not removed any names from the travel ban list. ¹⁶⁶⁸ In its 2006 report, the Committee noted that it had granted four requests for exemptions from the arms embargo, as well as three of fourteen requests for waivers from the travel ban. ¹⁶⁶⁹ The Committee also observed that keeping the travel ban and assets freeze lists updated

```
    1657 Ibid., para. 21(a). 1658 Ibid., para. 21(b).
    1659 Ibid., para. 21(c); SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), paras. 1-3; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1.
    1660 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 21(d). 1661 Ibid., para. 21(e).
    1662 Ibid., para. 21(f). The Council's decision to ask the 1521 Committee to assume responsibilities relating to the 1343 sanctions regime raised the same legal issues that had arisen when the Council requested the 1343 Committee to consider information relating to violations of the 788 Liberia sanctions regime. For discussion, see the summary of the 1343 sanctions regime.
    1663 SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 4(a). 1664 Ibid., para. 4(b).
    1665 Ibid., para. 4(c). 1666 Ibid., para. 4(d). 1667 See Appendix 3, Table F.
    1669 S/2006/464 (30 June 2006), para. 15.
    1660 S/2006/1044 (28 December 2006), paras. 8, 15.
```

sent a key message to Liberia and the international community that the Committee was willing to revise the lists in the light of new developments. 1670

4.2 sThe Secretary-General

When the Security Council initiated the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report to it on progress made towards achieving the sanctions regime's objectives. The Council has also requested the Secretary-General to make appointments to the Panel of Experts and support the Panel's work, and to report on sanctions progress. 1673

4.3 The 1521 Liberia Panel of Experts

When the Security Council established the 1521 sanctions regime against Liberia, it also requested the UNSG to establish a Panel of Experts. The Panel has been re-established, extended or renewed continuously throughout the lifetime of the 1521 sanctions regime. As part of its mandate, the Panel has been requested to: (a) report on sanctions implementation, including any violations, and submit any information relevant to the designation by the 1521 Committee of individuals subject to the travel ban and assets freeze; 676 (b) assess progress towards achieving the objectives of the sanctions; 677 (c) monitor implementation of the financial sanctions and provide the 1521 Committee with information that would help to identify individuals and entities subject to the financial sanctions; 678 (d) assess the socio-economic and

¹⁶⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 44. ¹⁶⁷¹ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 26.

¹⁶⁷² SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22; SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 3; SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 9; SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 15; SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 10; SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 5; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 5.

¹⁶⁷³ SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 12.

¹⁶⁷⁴ SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22. ¹⁶⁷⁵ See Appendix 3, Table G.

SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22(a); SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(a);
 SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(a); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(a);
 SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(a); SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 5; SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(a).

SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22(b); SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(b); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(c); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(c); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(c); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(d).

¹⁶⁷⁸ SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(c); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(a).

humanitarian impact of the sanctions; ¹⁶⁷⁹ (e) assess the impact and effectiveness of the sanctions; ¹⁶⁸⁰ (f) co-operate with other relevant bodies of experts and the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme; ¹⁶⁸¹ (g) report on sources of financing for the illicit trade of arms; ¹⁶⁸² (h) assess the implementation of newly adopted forestry legislation; ¹⁶⁸³ and (i) recommend how to strengthen the capacity of states in the region to implement the travel and financial sanctions. ¹⁶⁸⁴

The 1521 Liberia Panel of Experts has submitted numerous reports to the Council. 1685 The reports document a mixed record of sanctions implementation. The Panel has found little evidence of large-scale weapons trafficking into Liberia in violation of the arms embargo. 1686 However, it has expressed concern that organised smuggling networks remained in place, with the potential to fuel regional instability. 1687 The Panel has documented a number of violations of the travel ban, 1688 and explored reports of recruitment of Liberian ex-combatants to fight in neighbouring countries, including Guinea, Côte d'Ivoire and Sierra Leone. 1689 It has repeatedly stressed the lack of capacity of Liberian authorities to control timber- and diamond-producing areas and thus to prevent violations of the timber and diamond sanctions. 1690 It has also expressed concern at a lack of accountability in the management of revenue by the Liberian authorities. 1691 The Panel has documented a

SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1(d); SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(d); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(d); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(d); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(c).

SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8(b); SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(b); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(b); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(b).

SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14(f); SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9(f); SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(e).

¹⁶⁸² SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 4(a). ¹⁶⁸³ *Ibid.*, para. 4(c).

¹⁶⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 4(f). ¹⁶⁸⁵ See Appendix 3, Table H.

¹⁶⁸⁶ S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), para. 52; S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), para. 53.

¹⁶⁸⁷ S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), para. 54.

¹⁶⁸⁸ Ibid., paras. 153–155; S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), paras. 82–91; S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), para. 94; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 159–160; S/2006/379 (7 June 2006), paras. 155–159.

¹⁶⁸⁹ S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), paras. 69–84; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 142–144.

S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), paras. 119–120; S/2004/752 (24 September 2004), paras. 11, 18; S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), para. 108; S/2005/176 (17 March 2005), para. 27; S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), paras. 99, 118; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 59, 64; S/2006/379 (7 June 2006), para. 54.

¹⁶⁹¹ S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), paras. 105, 119–120; S/2004/752 (24 September 2004), para. 13; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 68, 81.

number of instances of sanctions violations, including the conduct of diamond mining under the guise of exploratory activities, ¹⁶⁹² as well as the trafficking of diamonds across Liberian borders for passing off as legitimate diamonds from other countries. ¹⁶⁹³ It has also documented an almost complete absence of will and capacity on the part of Liberian authorities to implement the assets freeze. ¹⁶⁹⁴ This situation was exacerbated with the election of five individuals on the travel ban list to positions in the Liberian House of Representatives and Senate. ¹⁶⁹⁵ Upon assuming office, those individuals therefore began to receive salaries paid by the Liberian government, in violation of the assets freeze.

As required by the Security Council, the Panel of Experts regularly reported on the socio-economic and humanitarian impact of sanctions. The Panel found that the sanctions did have economic consequences, largely consisting in lost employment opportunities for people living in diamond- and timber-producing areas. It also found, however, that a number of Liberians viewed the sanctions as a positive mechanism for bringing about long-term peace and sustainable development. Moreover, the Panel adopted the view that sanctions had helped to stabilise the situation in Liberia. In the Panel's opinion, the critical issue was not whether sanctions should be lifted, but rather how the situation could be managed so that sanctions were no longer required.

Following the January 2006 inauguration of the democratically elected President Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf, the Panel noted a marked improvement in steps taken by the Liberian authorities towards meeting the conditions for lifting sanctions. ¹⁷⁰¹ Nevertheless, the Panel warned that

```
<sup>1692</sup> S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), paras. 98–103; S/2005/176 (17 March 2005), paras. 10–15; S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), paras. 107–115; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 39–52; S/2006/379 (7 June 2006), paras. 57–62.
```

¹⁶⁹³ S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), para. 104; S/2005/176 (17 March 2005), para. 16; S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), para. 116; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 53–56; S/2006/379 (7 June 2006), paras. 63–64.

¹⁶⁹⁴ S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), paras. 168–171; S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), paras. 182–186; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 124–128.

¹⁶⁹⁵ S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 126–128.

¹⁶⁹⁶ S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), paras. 121–152; S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), paras. 24–52; S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), paras. 15–50; S/2005/745 (25 November 2005), paras. 164–185.

¹ S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), para. 127; S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), para. 46.

¹⁶⁹⁸ S/2004/396 (1 June 2004), paras. 133, 138; S/2004/955 (6 December 2004), para. 46.

¹⁶⁹⁹ S/2006/379 (7 June 2006), para. 146. ¹⁷⁰⁰ S/2005/360 (13 June 2005), para. 46.

¹⁷⁰¹ S/2006/379 (7 June 2006).

there should be continued vigilance to improve financial transparency so that when sanctions were lifted, revenue would flow directly to the government of Liberia and would be used for the benefit of all Liberians. The Panel also reported that, despite the identification by the Johnson-Sirleaf administration of the numbers of bank accounts belonging to individuals on the assets freeze list, the assets freeze had still not been implemented in Liberia. To a

4.4 The UN Mission in Liberia

When the Security Council initiated the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, it welcomed the readiness of the UN Mission in Liberia (UNMIL) to assist both the 1521 Committee and Panel of Experts in monitoring the implementation of sanctions. ¹⁷⁰⁴ The Council subsequently reaffirmed its call to provide assistance to the 1521 Committee and the Panel of Experts, ¹⁷⁰⁵ and to monitor arms trafficking and recruitment. ¹⁷⁰⁶ In June 2005, the Council further clarified its expectations of UNMIL, urging it to intensify its efforts to assist the National Transitional Government of Liberia (NTGL) to re-establish its authority throughout Liberia, including in diamond- and timber-producing areas. 1707 The Council also reiterated the importance of UNMIL's continuing assistance to the NTGL, the 1521 Committee and the Panel of Experts in: (a) monitoring sanctions implementation; ¹⁷⁰⁸ (b) supporting the efforts of the NTGL to prevent sanctions violations; ¹⁷⁰⁹ (c) collecting and disposing of arms and related material brought into Liberia in violation of the arms embargo; ¹⁷¹⁰ (d) assisting the NTGL in monitoring the recruitment and movements of ex-combatants; 1711 and (e) developing a strategy, in conjunction with ECOWAS and other international partners, to consolidate a national legal framework, including the implementation of the assets freeze. 1712

In December 2005, the Council further encouraged UNMIL to continue undertaking joint patrols with the Liberian Forestry Development Authority. ¹⁷¹³ In June 2006 the Security Council reiterated the importance of UNMIL's continuing assistance to the government of Liberia,

```
    1702 Ibid., para. 108. 1703 Ibid., paras. 110–114.
    1704 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 23.
    1705 SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 10.
    1706 SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 12. 1707 Ibid., para. 10. 1708 Ibid., para. 11(b). 1710 Ibid., para. 11(c). 1711 Ibid., para. 11(d). 1712 Ibid., para. 11(e). 1713 SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 6.
```

the 1521 Committee and the Panel of Experts in monitoring sanctions implementation, including inspecting inventories of weapons and ammunition authorised by the 1521 Committee for import to Liberia for the use of Liberian Special Security Service and the restructured police and security forces in accordance with resolution 1683 (2006). 1714

4.5 Other UN operations

When the Council initiated the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, it requested the UN Missions in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL) and Côte d'Ivoire (UNMICI) to assist the Committee and Panel by forwarding any information relevant to the implementation of sanctions, in the context of enhanced co-ordination among UN missions and offices in West Africa. The Council subsequently reaffirmed its call to those missions to provide assistance to the 1521 Committee and the Panel of Experts, 1716 and to monitor arms trafficking and recruitment.

5. Termination of timber sanctions

The timber sanctions lapsed in June 2006, when the Council decided not to renew them any further. 1718

6. Conclusions

The 1521 sanctions regime is notable largely as an example of many of the sanctions innovations implemented by the Security Council in the early years of the twenty-first century. It consists of a range of different targeted sanctions measures, most of which are applied with particular objectives. The Council established both a sanctions committee and a panel of experts in order to administer and monitor sanctions implementation, and it also called upon UN operations present in the region to play a role in sanctions monitoring. The 1521 sanctions regime also represents another instance in which the Council has utilised time-limits in the application of sanctions.

SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), para. 4.
 SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 23.
 SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 10.

¹⁷¹⁷ SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 12. ¹⁷¹⁸ SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 1.

21. THE 1556 SUDAN SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed an arms embargo against certain actors in the Darfur region of the Sudan in July 2004, in an attempt to address an unfolding humanitarian crisis. In March 2005, the Council expanded both the scope and the targets of the sanctions regime, applying them against the government in addition to non-governmental actors and broadening the measures to include a travel ban and an assets freeze. The Council has established a range of subsidiary bodies whose activities have contributed to sanctions administration and monitoring, including the Sudan International Commission of Inquiry, the 1591 Sudan Sanctions Committee and the Sudan Panel of Experts. It has also bestowed monitoring responsibilities upon the AU and UN peace-keeping operations in Sudan.

1. Constitutional basis

In July 2004 the Security Council reiterated its grave concern at the ongoing humanitarian crisis and widespread human rights violations in the Darfur region of the Sudan. 1719 It condemned all acts of violence and violations of human rights and international humanitarian law by all parties to the crisis, in particular by the Janjaweed, including indiscriminate attacks on civilians, rapes and forced displacements, and expressed its utmost concern at the consequences of the conflict in Darfur on the civilian population, including women, children, internally displaced persons and refugees. ¹⁷²⁰ The Council further recalled that the government of the Sudan bore the primary responsibility to respect human rights while maintaining law and order and protecting its population within its territory, 1721 and noted with grave concern that up to 200,000 refugees had fled to the neighbouring state of Chad. The Council then determined that the situation in Sudan constituted a threat to international peace and security and to stability in the region. 1723 Noting that it was acting under Chapter VII, 1724 the Council proceeded to impose sanctions against the Janjaweed. 1725 The Council has reaffirmed the ongoing existence of a threat to international peace and

 $^{^{1719}}$ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), preambular para. 7. 1720 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 8. 1721 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 9. 1722 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 20.

 ¹⁷²³ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 21.
 1724 *Ibid.*, preambular para. 22.
 1725 *Ibid.*, paras. 7–9.

security and invoked Chapter VII in its subsequent resolutions connected with the 1556 sanctions regime. 1726

2. Objectives

The initial objective of the 1556 sanctions regime was to ensure that the government of the Sudan fulfilled its commitment to disarm the Janjaweed militias and to apprehend and bring to justice Janjaweed leaders and their associates, who had incited and carried out human rights and international humanitarian law violations and other atrocities. The Council expressed its intention to consider taking action, including sanctions, against the government of Sudan in the event of non-compliance with that objective. The March 2005, the Council endorsed additional objectives, including ensuring that the parties in Darfur fulfilled their commitments under the 8 April 2004 N'djamena Ceasefire Agreement and associated Protocols, facilitated humanitarian assistance and co-operated fully with the Mission dispatched by the African Union to monitor the situation in Darfur.

3. Scope

The 1556 sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo against certain non-government actors in the Sudan. The sanctions were subsequently broadened and expanded to include a general arms embargo, as well as travel and financial sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under resolution 1556 (2004), all states were initially required to prevent the sale or supply of arms and related material and the provision of

^{SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), preambular paras. 14–15; SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), preambular paras. 17–18; SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), preambular paras. 7–8; SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), preambular paras. 8–9; SC Res. 1672 (25 April 2006), preambular paras. 3–4; SC Res. 1672 (25 April 2006), preambular paras. 3–4; SC Res. 1706 (31 August 2006), preambular para. 12, para. 12; SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), preambular paras. 9–10.}

¹⁷²⁷ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 6. By para. 10 of the same resolution, the Council expressed its intention to consider the modification or termination of the measures imposed under paras. 7 and 8, when it determined that the government of Sudan had fulfilled its commitments described in para. 6.

 $^{^{1728}\,}$ SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 6; SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), para. 14.

¹⁷²⁹ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), paras. 1, 6, 8.

associated technical training or assistance to all non-governmental entities and individuals, including the Janjaweed, operating in North, South and West Darfur.¹⁷³⁰

In resolution 1591 (2005), the Council broadened the application of the arms embargo and imposed a travel ban and assets freeze. The arms embargo now applied to the parties to the N'djamena Ceasefire Agreement and associated Protocols, including the government of Sudan, the Sudan Liberation Movement/Army and the Justice and Equality Movement, as well as any other belligerents in the states of North Darfur, South Darfur and West Darfur. 1731 Under the travel ban, all states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of all persons who impeded the peace process, constituted a threat to stability in Darfur and the region, committed violations of international humanitarian law or human rights law or other atrocities, violated the arms embargo or were responsible for offensive military overflights of the Darfur region. 1732 Under the assets freeze, all states were required to freeze the financial assets and economic resources of persons subject to the travel ban and entities owned or controlled by agents acting on behalf of such persons. 1733

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council outlined exemptions from the initial arms embargo for: (a) supplies and activities connected with monitoring, verification or peace support operations authorised by the UN or operating with the consent of the relevant parties; ¹⁷³⁴ (b) non-lethal military equipment for humanitarian, human rights, monitoring or protective use; ¹⁷³⁵ and (c) protective clothing for the personal use of UN personnel, human rights monitors, representatives of the media and humanitarian and development workers and associated personnel. ¹⁷³⁶ When the Council expanded the arms embargo it exempted: (a) assistance and supplies for the implementation of the Sudanese Comprehensive Peace Agreement; ¹⁷³⁷ and (b) movements of military equipment and supplies into the Darfur region by the government of Sudan when approved in advance by the 1591 Committee. ¹⁷³⁸

SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 7.
 Ibid., para. 3(d).
 Ibid., para. 3(d).
 Ibid.
 When the Council applied travel sanctions, it provided that nothing would obligate a state to refuse entry to its own nationals. ¹⁷³⁹ It also exempted travel: (a) justified on the ground of humanitarian need, including religious obligation, as determined on a case-by-case basis by the 1591 Committee; ¹⁷⁴⁰ and (b) considered by the 1591 Committee to further the objectives of creating peace and stability in Sudan and the region. ¹⁷⁴¹ The Council also provided exemptions from the financial sanctions where funds were: (a) necessary for basic expenses as notified to the 1591 Committee; ¹⁷⁴² (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the 1591 Committee; ¹⁷⁴³ or (c) subject to legal or administrative lien, as notified to the 1591 Committee. ¹⁷⁴⁴

4. Administration and monitoring

When it first imposed the 1556 sanctions regime, the Council chose not to establish a sanctions committee, instead bestowing administering responsibilities upon the UNSG. However, the Council subsequently established a number of entities to administer and monitor sanctions, including the Sudan Commission of Inquiry, the 1591 Sanctions Committee and the Sudan Panel of Experts. It also bestowed responsibilities relating to sanctions monitoring upon the AU Mission in Sudan (AMIS) and the UN Mission in Sudan (UNMIS).

4.1 The Secretary-General

When the Security Council imposed the sanctions regime, it requested the UNSG to report within thirty days, and monthly thereafter, on the progress made by the government of the Sudan in fulfilling its commitments to disarm the Janjaweed militias and to apprehend and bring to justice Janjaweed leaders and their associates who had incited and carried out human rights and international humanitarian law violations and other atrocities. The Same time, the Council also encouraged the UNSG's Special Representative for Sudan, as well as the independent expert of the Commission on Human Rights, to work closely with the government of Sudan in supporting independent investigation of violations of human rights and international humanitarian law in the Darfur region.

```
    1739 Ibid., para. 3(d).
    1740 Ibid., para. 3(f).
    1741 Ibid.
    1742 Ibid., 3(g)(i).
    1743 Ibid., 3(g)(ii).
    1744 Ibid., 3(g)(iii).
    1745 SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 6; SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), para. 15.
    1746 SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), para. 14.
```

The Council has subsequently requested the UNSG to: (a) establish the international commission of inquiry;¹⁷⁴⁷ and (b) establish and extend the Panel of Experts and appoint its members.¹⁷⁴⁸

4.2 The Sudan International Commission of Inquiry

In September 2004, the Security Council requested the UNSG to establish a commission of inquiry to investigate reports of violations of international humanitarian law and human rights in Darfur, including determining whether or not acts of genocide had occurred. ¹⁷⁴⁹ On 4 October 2004 the UNSG established a Sudan International Commission of Inquiry. ¹⁷⁵⁰ The Commission submitted its report to the Security Council in February 2005. ¹⁷⁵¹ Its substantial findings induced the Council to take the unprecedented step of referring the Darfur situation to the International Criminal Court. ¹⁷⁵² The findings also fed into the work subsequently undertaken by the Sudan Panel of Experts.

4.3 The 1591 Sanctions Committee

Eight months after it established the 1556 sanctions regime, the Security Council created the 1591 Sanctions Committee to oversee sanctions administration.¹⁷⁵³ The Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to: (a) monitor sanctions implementation;¹⁷⁵⁴ (b) designate individuals subject to the travel ban and assets freeze;¹⁷⁵⁵ (c) consider and decide upon requests for exemptions;¹⁷⁵⁶ (d) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation;¹⁷⁵⁷ (e) report regularly on its work;¹⁷⁵⁸ (f) assess reports from the Panel of Experts on sanctions implementation by Sudan and member states;¹⁷⁵⁹ and (g) encourage a dialogue with interested member states concerning sanctions implementation.¹⁷⁶⁰

```
    SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), para. 12.
    SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b); SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), para. 1; SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), para. 12. 1750 S/2004/812 (4 October 2004).
    S/2005/60 (1 February 2005). 1752 SC Res. 1593 (31 March 2005), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(a). 1754 Ibid., para. 3(a)(i).
    Ibid., para. 3(a)(ii). 1756 Ibid., paras. 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(v). 1757 Ibid., para. 3(a)(iii).
    Ibid., para. 3(a)(iv). 1759 Ibid., para. 3(a)(vi). 1760 Ibid., para. 3(a)(vii).
```

4.4 The Sudan Panel of Experts

In March 2005 the Security Council requested the UNSG to appoint a Panel of Experts, ¹⁷⁶¹ whose mandate has subsequently been extended on multiple occasions. ¹⁷⁶² The Panel has been tasked with: (a) assisting the 1591 Committee in monitoring sanctions implementation and making recommendations to the Committee on potential Council action; ¹⁷⁶³ (b) reporting to the Council with its findings and recommendations; ¹⁷⁶⁴ and (c) co-ordinating its activities with AMIS. ¹⁷⁶⁵

The Sudan Panel has issued regular reports. ¹⁷⁶⁶ In relation to the arms embargo, the Panel has reported that the borders surrounding Darfur were porous and that arms continued to enter Darfur from a number of countries, as well as from other regions of Sudan. ¹⁷⁶⁷ It determined that the Sudan Liberation Movement/Army and the Justice and Equality Movement had continued to receive arms and related material from various sources, including Chad, Eritrea and the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya. ¹⁷⁶⁸ Moreover, the Council's intent to prevent the supply of arms to the Janjaweed had been circumvented by the incorporation of the Janjaweed into the government-supported militias, such as the Popular Defence Force. ¹⁷⁶⁹ The Panel also documented embargo violations by the government of Sudan, such as the movement of arms into Darfur. ¹⁷⁷⁰ and the deployment of attack helicopters to Darfur. ¹⁷⁷¹

In order to improve implementation of the arms embargo, the Panel recommended that: (a) a verification component and arms inventory should be established to assist the Panel to monitor implementation; ¹⁷⁷² (b) end-use certification should be required for the sale of all military goods and services to Sudan; ¹⁷⁷³ (c) the arms embargo should be expanded to cover the entire Sudan, with appropriate exemptions; ¹⁷⁷⁴ (d) UN member states could play a more active role by

```
    SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b).
    SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), para. 1; SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b)(i).
```

¹⁷⁶⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 3(b)(ii); SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), para. 2; SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), para. 2; SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), para. 2.

¹⁷⁶⁵ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b)(iii). ¹⁷⁶⁶ See Appendix 3, Table H.

 $^{^{1767}}$ S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 78, 130; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 35. 1768 S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 79. 1769 Ibid., para. 81.

¹⁷⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, paras. 107–111. ¹⁷⁷¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 114–118.

¹⁷⁷² S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 135; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), paras. 57–58.

¹⁷⁷³ S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 136; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), paras. 59.

¹⁷⁷⁴ S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 136; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 60.

requiring end-use certification; ¹⁷⁷⁵ (e) the 1591 Committee should prepare a list of dual-use items, the import of which would require advance approval; ¹⁷⁷⁶ and (f) technical assistance should be provided to states bordering Darfur that possessed a willingness, but lacked the capacity, to implement the embargo. ¹⁷⁷⁷

The Panel of Experts has identified ten categories of acts that might constitute impediments to the peace process or threats to stability thus warranting the application of the travel ban and assets freeze: (i) conducting hostilities and violations of the N'djamena Humanitarian Ceasefire Agreement; (ii) failing to comply with the provisions of the Abuja Protocol on Security; (iii) failure of the government of the Sudan to identify, neutralise and disarm armed militia groups in Darfur; (iv) exacerbating tribal/ethnic tensions; (v) providing support to parties engaged in ongoing hostilities; (vi) directing hostile acts against AMIS personnel; (vii) failing to enforce accountability for violations of international humanitarian law and international human rights law; (viii) failing to implement Security Council resolutions concerning Darfur; (ix) performing acts that impede the actual process of negotiations; (ix) cross-border incursions.

The Panel has reported widespread violations of international humanitarian law and human rights in Darfur, outlining eleven case-studies of significant incidents of such violations. 1788 The Panel has also

¹⁷⁷⁵ S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), paras. 61-62.

paras. 102-164.

```
<sup>1776</sup> Ibid., para. 63. <sup>1777</sup> Ibid., paras. 64–65.
1778 S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 145-149; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006),
     paras. 73-78.
1779 S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 145–149; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006),
     paras. 73-78.
<sup>1780</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 150–152; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006),
     paras. 79-85.
<sup>1781</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 153; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), paras. 86-87.
<sup>1782</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 154; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), paras. 88-90.
<sup>1783</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 156-162; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 91.
<sup>1784</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 163-164; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006),
     paras. 92-93.
<sup>1785</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 163–164; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006),
     paras. 92-93.
<sup>1786</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 165; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 94.
<sup>1787</sup> S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 95.
<sup>1788</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 180-263; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006),
```

documented several instances of offensive military flights.¹⁷⁸⁹ It thus recommended the application of the travel ban and assets freeze against a number of individuals listed in a confidential annex to its first report. The Panel has also identified specific individuals and office-holders whose actions could be monitored for potential future listing, including the senior leadership within the Sudan Liberation Army and the government of Sudan who have impeded the peace process.¹⁷⁹⁰

Among its other recommendations, the Panel has proposed that: (a) a standing civilian protection capacity should be established to monitor violations of international humanitarian law and human rights law in Darfur; 1791 (b) the Security Council should consider imposing additional sanctions against the SLA and the government of Sudan as collective entities; 1792 (c) the 1591 Committee should act swiftly to designate individuals who had committed violations of international humanitarian or human rights law as subject to the travel ban and assets freeze; 1793 (d) the Security Council should consider establishing a no-fly zone over Darfur for aircraft used by the government of the Sudan and parties to the Darfur conflict; 1794 and (e) the Council should consider enhancing the Panel's capacity through the establishment of dedicated investigation and analysis teams. 1795

4.5 The AU Mission in Sudan

Under the 8 April 2004 N'djamena Ceasefire Agreement, a Ceasefire Monitoring Commission was established comprising representatives from the parties, the Tchadian mediation team and the international community. The African Union subsequently undertook to deploy an Observer Mission to support the Ceasefire Monitoring Commission. On 9 June 2004 the first AU military observers were deployed. AMIS was subsequently strengthened periodically, AMIS

```
<sup>1789</sup> S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 264–269; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), paras. 165–166.
```

¹⁷⁹⁰ S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), paras. 270–274; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 178.

¹⁷⁹¹ S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 275; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 175.

¹⁷⁹² S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 169. ¹⁷⁹³ *Ibid.*, para. 172.

¹⁷⁹⁴ S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 277; S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 177.

¹⁷⁹⁵ S/2006/250 (30 January 2006), para. 173.

¹⁷⁹⁶ N'djamena Agreement (8 April 2004), Art 3.

¹⁷⁹⁷ AU doc PSC/AHG/Comm. (X) (25 May 2004), para. A 6.

¹⁷⁹⁸ AU doc PSC/MIN/2.(XII) (4 July 2004), para. 9.

¹⁷⁹⁹ AU doc PSC/PR/Comm. (XVII) (20 October 2004), para. 4; AU doc PSC/PR/Comm.(XXVIII), para. 9.

until being converted into a UN peace operation. The Security Council requested AMIS to co-operate with the 1591 Committee and the Sudan Panel of Experts by supplying any information at its disposal on sanctions implementation. The Panel has acknowledged the assistance of AMIS in its reports.

4.6 The UN Mission in Sudan

In August 2006, the Security Council tasked the UN Mission in Sudan with seizing arms and related material in Darfur in violation of the arms embargo. 1803

5. Conclusions

The 1556 Sudan sanctions regime is notable for a number of reasons. First, the objective of the regime was initially linked to an actor other than the target of the sanctions regime, as the aim of the 1556 arms embargo was to make the government of the Sudan disarm the Janjaweed militias. Second, along with the Haiti and FRY sanctions regimes, and to a lesser extent the Afghanistan/Taliban/Al Qaida sanctions regime when it was first imposed, a major motivating factor for the application of the sanctions was a growing crisis involving human rights violations. Third, following the example of the DRC sanctions regime, the Council again imposed sanctions without establishing a sanctions committee at the same time, thus leaving the administration and monitoring of the sanctions to the UNSG. As with the DRC sanctions regime, however, the Council subsequently established a sanctions committee to oversee such administration and monitoring.

In an unprecedented move, the Security Council chose to announce the initial list of individuals against whom the travel ban and assets freeze would apply in the form of a resolution. Previously, the typical practice had been for the relevant sanctions committee to announce new listings via press release. The Council again demonstrated willingness to use time-delays, by providing for a slight delay in the implementation of the travel ban and assets freeze. In a possible

¹⁸⁰⁰ SC Res. 1663 (24 March 2006), para. 4 (asking the UNSG to expedite preparatory planning for the transition of AMIS to a UN peace operation).

¹⁸⁰¹ SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), para. 3.

¹⁸⁰² S/2006/65 (30 January 2006), para. 59; S/2006/250 (19 April 2006), para. 27.

¹⁸⁰³ SC Res. 1706 (31 August 2006), para. 12(a). ¹⁸⁰⁴ SC Res. 1672 (25 April 2006).

¹⁸⁰⁵ SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 4.

sign that time-limits had fallen from favour, however, the Council provided simply for the possibility of reviewing sanctions. 1806

22. THE 1572 CÔTE D'IVOIRE SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Côte d'Ivoire in November 2004, with the aim of securing the implementation of the Côte d'Ivoire peace process. The sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo against Côte d'Ivoire and a travel ban and assets freeze against individuals who posed a threat to the peace and national reconciliation process in Côte d'Ivoire. The sanctions regime was subsequently expanded, with diamond sanctions also being applied. The Council has established a sanctions committee to administer the sanctions regime and a group of experts to monitor sanctions implementation.

1. Constitutional basis

The situation in Côte d'Ivoire has been on the Security Council's agenda since December 2002, when the Council condemned attempts to use force to influence the political situation in Côte d'Ivoire and overthrow the elected government of President Laurent Gbagbo. At the same time, the Council expressed strong support for ECOWAS efforts to promote a peaceful settlement and for the proposed deployment of an ECOWAS monitoring force (ECOFORCE).

On 23 January 2003, at a round-table meeting sponsored by France, the Ivorian political forces signed the Linas-Marcoussis Agreement. 1809 The Agreement provided for the formation of a Government of National Reconciliation and called upon all Ivorian political forces to work with the President and Prime Minister towards the establishment of a balanced and stable government. 1810 In February 2003, the Council adopted resolution 1464 (2003), in which it noted the existence of challenges to the stability of Côte d'Ivoire and determined that the situation in the country constituted a threat to international peace and security in the region. 1811 Acting under Chapter VII, the Council then authorised

 ¹⁸⁰⁶ Ibid., para. 5. 1807 S/PRST/2002/42 (20 December 2002), para. 1.
 1808 Ibid., paras. 3, 6.
 1809 For the text of the Agreement, see S/2003/99 (27 January 2003), Annex I.
 1810 Ibid.
 1811 SC Res. 1464 (4 February 2003), preambular para. 7.

member states participating in ECOFORCE to take the necessary steps to guarantee the security and freedom of movement of their forces and to ensure the protection of civilians threatened by physical violence within their zones of operation. Over the course of 2003 and 2004, the Council took a number of further steps to address the situation in Côte d'Ivoire, including the establishment of first a political mission and then a peacekeeping operation. During that period the Council reaffirmed the existence of a threat to the peace on several occasions. 1814

On 15 November 2004, the Security Council adopted resolution 1572 (2004), in which it deplored a resumption of hostilities in Côte d'Ivoire and repeated violations of a cease-fire agreement of 3 May 2003, ¹⁸¹⁵ expressed its deep concern at the humanitarian situation in Côte d'Ivoire and at the use of the media to incite hatred and violence against foreigners, ¹⁸¹⁶ and determined that the situation in Côte d'Ivoire continued to pose a threat to international peace and security in the region. ¹⁸¹⁷ The Council then invoked Chapter VII of the UN Charter before applying sanctions. ¹⁸¹⁸ The Council again reaffirmed the existence of a threat to the peace and invoked Chapter VII in subsequent decisions modifying the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime. ¹⁸¹⁹

2. Objectives

The initial objective of the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime was to bring about the full implementation of the Linas-Marcoussis and Accra III Agreements. On 6 April 2005, at a meeting held in Pretoria under the auspices of South African President, Thabo Mbeki, the Ivorian

```
<sup>1812</sup> Ibid., para. 9.
```

For the establishment of the United Nations Mission in Côte d'Ivoire (MINUCI), see SC Res. 1479 (13 May 2003). In February 2004 MINUCI was replaced by the United Nations Operation in Côte d'Ivoire (UNOCI). See SC Res. 1528 (27 February 2004).

¹⁸¹⁴ SC Res. 1479 (13 May 2003), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1527 (4 February 2004), preambular para. 9; SC Res. 1528 (27 February 2004), preambular para. 17.

¹⁸¹⁵ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), preambular para. 4.

¹⁸¹⁶ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 5.

¹⁸¹⁷ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 8. ¹⁸¹⁸ *Ibid.*, preambular para. 9.

¹⁸¹⁹ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), preambular paras. 8, 9; SC Res. 1632 (18 October 2005), preambular paras. 4, 5; SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), preambular paras. 11, 12; SC Res. 1708 (14 September 2006), preambular paras. 4–5; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), preambular paras. 5–6.

¹⁸²⁰ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 13.

parties signed another peace agreement – the 'Pretoria Agreement'. ¹⁸²¹ In October 2005, the Security Council noted that additional measures were required to expedite the implementation of the Linas-Marcoussis Agreement, Accra III and Pretoria Agreements, including in particular the disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration process, the dismantling and disarmament of militias and the creation of conditions for the holding of free, fair, open and transparent elections, including the identification process and the registration of voters. ¹⁸²² The Security Council has subsequently confirmed on multiple occasions that the broad objective of the 1572 sanctions regime is achieving progress in the peace and reconciliation process in Côte d'Ivoire. ¹⁸²³

3. Scope

The 1572 sanctions regime initially consisted of an arms embargo, an assets freeze and a travel ban. The sanctions regime was subsequently expanded to include diamond sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the arms embargo, all states were required to prevent the sale or supply to Côte d'Ivoire of arms and related material and equipment, as well as the provision to Côte d'Ivoire of training or assistance related to the provision, manufacture or use of arms and related material and equipment. Under the travel ban, all states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of all persons who constituted a threat to the peace and national reconciliation process in Côte d'Ivoire, including in particular those who blocked the implementation of the Linas-Marcoussis and Accra III Agreements, any person responsible for serious violations of human rights and international humanitarian law, any person publicly inciting hatred and violence, and any person violating the arms embargo. Under the assets freeze, all states were required to freeze the financial assets and economic resources of persons subject to the travel ban and entities owned or controlled by agents acting on behalf of such persons.

 ¹⁸²¹ S/2005/270 (25 April 2005), annex I.
 1822 SC Res. 1633 (21 October 2005), para. 12.
 1823 SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 8; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 6.
 1824 SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 7.
 1825 Ibid., para. 9.
 1826 Ibid., para. 11.

In December 2005 the Council imposed diamond sanctions, requiring all states to take the necessary measures to prevent the import of rough diamonds from Côte d'Ivoire. 1827

In October 2005 the Council clarified that any obstruction to the action of UNOCI, the French forces, the High Representative for elections and the International Working Group on Côte d'Ivoire constituted a threat to the peace and national reconciliation process for the purposes of identifying individuals to whom the travel ban and assets freeze should apply. ¹⁸²⁸

3.2 Exemptions

When the Security Council established the 1572 sanctions regime, it outlined various exemptions. It exempted from the arms embargo: (a) UNOCI and the French forces supporting it; 1829 (b) non-lethal military equipment intended solely for humanitarian or protective use; 1830 (c) protective clothing for UN personnel, representatives of the media and humanitarian and development workers; 1831 (d) a state taking action to evacuate its nationals and those for whom it has consular responsibility; 1832 and (e) the process of restructuring defence and security forces pursuant to the Linas-Marcoussis Agreement. 1833

When outlining the travel ban, the Council clarified that nothing obliged a state to refuse entry to its own nationals. The Council further provided for the possibility of exemptions from the travel sanctions where the 1572 Committee determined that travel was justified on the grounds of humanitarian need or religious obligation, or where it would further the objectives of the Council's resolutions for the creation of peace and reconciliation in Côte d'Ivoire and stability in the region. The Council also exempted from the assets freeze funds that were: (a) necessary for basic expenses, as notified to the 1572 Committee and in the absence of a negative decision by the Committee; (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses, subject to approval by the 1572 Committee; or (c) subject to legal or administrative lien, as notified to the Committee.

```
    SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 6.
    SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 8(a).
    Ibid., para. 8(c).
    Ibid., para. 8(d).
    Ibid., para. 8(e).
    Ibid., para. 10.
    Ibid., para. 12(a).
    Ibid., para. 12(b).
    Ibid., para. 12(c).
```

3.3 Time-limits and renewals

The arms embargo came into effect immediately and was imposed for an initial period of thirteen months. ¹⁸³⁹ The travel ban and assets freeze came into effect after a one-month delay and were applied for a period of twelve months. ¹⁸⁴⁰ All of these initial measures have been renewed for two further periods of twelve months. ¹⁸⁴¹ The diamond sanctions were applied for an initial period of twelve months, ¹⁸⁴² and have subsequently been renewed for a further twelve months. ¹⁸⁴³

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration and monitoring of the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime upon a range of actors, including a sanctions committee, a group of experts, the UNSG and the UN Operation for Côte d'Ivoire (UNOCI).

4.1 The 1572 Committee

The Security Council created a Sanctions Committee in the same resolution by which it initiated the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime. ¹⁸⁴⁴ The 1572 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, was to: (a) designate individuals subject to the travel ban and assets freeze; ¹⁸⁴⁵ (b) seek information from states regarding action taken to implement sanctions; ¹⁸⁴⁶ (c) consider and decide upon requests for exemptions; ¹⁸⁴⁷ (d) make relevant information publicly available; ¹⁸⁴⁸ (e) promulgate guidelines for its work; ¹⁸⁴⁹ and (f) report regularly on its work, including its observations and recommendations on strengthening the effectiveness of the sanctions. ¹⁸⁵⁰

In its initial annual report, the Committee noted that it had held eight formal and fourteen informal meetings¹⁸⁵¹ and observed that only thirty-eight UN member states had reported on action taken to implement the sanctions.¹⁸⁵² It referred to two exemptions it had granted

```
    SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 7.
    SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), paras. 6, 8.
    SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2006), paras. 6, 8.
    SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 1.
    SC Res. 1727 (15 November 2004), para. 14.
    SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14.
    Ibid., para. 14(b).
    Ibid., para. 14(c).
    Ibid., para. 14(d).
    Ibid., para. 14(e).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
    Ibid., para. 14(f).
```

from the arms embargo: to France for technical assistance and training and to the United Kingdom for non-lethal military equipment. The Chairman of the 1572 Committee also issued a report on his October 2005 mission to Côte d'Ivoire. A commonly expressed Ivorian view was that the travel ban and assets freeze should become operational in order to force the parties to implement the Linas-Marcoussis, Accra III and Pretoria Agreements. The Chairman recommended that the Council and the Committee should keep the situation under close review until the objectives of the sanctions regime were fulfilled and that the Committee should consider designating individuals to whom the travel ban and assets freeze should apply. Second

4.2 The Secretary-General

The Security Council has requested the UNSG to undertake a range of responsibilities, including to: (a) report on progress towards the objectives of the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime; ¹⁸⁵⁷ (b) report any hindrance encountered by UNOCI in pursuit of its monitoring responsibilities; ¹⁸⁵⁸ (c) establish and support the Group of Experts on Côte d'Ivoire; ¹⁸⁵⁹ (d) communicate to the Security Council information gathered by UNOCI concerning the supply of arms and related material to Côte d'Ivoire; ¹⁸⁶⁰ (e) report any serious obstacle to the freedom of movement of UNOCI; ¹⁸⁶¹ (f) communicate to the Council information gathered by UNOCI concerning the production and illicit export of diamonds; ¹⁸⁶² and (g) report any serious obstacle to the freedom of movement of UNOCI and of the French forces supporting it. ¹⁸⁶³

```
<sup>1853</sup> Ibid., para. 12. <sup>1854</sup> S/2005/790 (15 December 2005).
```

¹⁸⁵⁵ Ibid., para. 63. While the travel ban and assets freeze had come into effect in December 2004, the 1572 Committee had not yet identified any individuals against whom the measures were to be applied. It first did so on 7 February 2006, when it listed three individuals: SC 8631 (7 February 2006).

¹⁸⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 69-70.

¹⁸⁵⁷ SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 18. The UNSG thus submitted the following report: S/2005/186 (18 March 2005).

¹⁸⁵⁸ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 6.

¹⁸⁵⁹ Ibid., para. 7; SC Res. 1708 (14 September 2006), para. 1; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7.

¹⁸⁶⁰ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 9; SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 10; SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 8.

¹⁸⁶¹ SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 5. ¹⁸⁶² *Ibid.*, para. 10.

¹⁸⁶³ SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 4.

4.3 The Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts

In February 2005, the Council requested the UNSG to create a Group of Experts on Côte d'Ivoire. 1864 The Group, which has been re-established or extended on multiple occasions, ¹⁸⁶⁵ has been requested to: (a) analyse information gathered by UNOCI and the French forces; 1866 (b) analyse information on flows of arms and related material, on the provision of assistance, advice or training related to military activities, on networks operating in violation of the arms embargo and on sources of financing for purchases of arms and related material; 1867 (c) recommend how to improve the capacity of states to ensure the effective implementation of the arms embargo; 1868 (d) report on sanctions implementation; 1869 (e) keep the 1572 Committee regularly updated on its activities; 1870 (f) exchange information with UNOCI and the French forces pertinent to their monitoring responsibilities; 1871 (g) provide the 1572 Committee with a list of those found to have violated sanctions and evidence of those violations; 1872 and (h) co-operate with other relevant groups of experts, including in particular the Panel of Experts on Liberia. 1873

Since its establishment, the Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts has issued a number of reports. ¹⁸⁷⁴ In its reports, the Group has explored the implementation of sanctions and examined Côte d'Ivoire's most lucrative export industries, including cocoa, cotton and diamonds, in order to ascertain the potential for revenue to be channelled towards

- SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7. In October 2005 the Council extended the Group's mandate for an additional two months: SC Res. 1632 (18 October 2005), para. 1. In December 2005, the Council requested the UNSG to re-establish the Group for an additional six months: SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9.
- ¹⁸⁶⁵ See Appendix 3, Table G. ¹⁸⁶⁶ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(a).
- ¹⁸⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 7(b); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(b); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(b).
- ¹⁸⁶⁸ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(c); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(c); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(c).
- ¹⁸⁶⁹ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(d); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), paras. 9(d)–(e), 9(i); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), paras. 7(d)–(e), 7(i).
- SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(e); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(f); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(f).
- ¹⁸⁷¹ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(f); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(a); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(a).
- ¹⁸⁷² SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(g); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(g); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(g).
- ¹⁸⁷³ SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7(h); SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9(h); SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7(h).
- ¹⁸⁷⁴ See Appendix 3, Table H.

procuring weapons. ¹⁸⁷⁵ In that respect it has observed that illegal diamond production provided an important source of income for the rebel group Forces Nouvelles. ¹⁸⁷⁶ The Group has reported widespread confusion about the details of the Côte d'Ivoire sanctions regime, ¹⁸⁷⁷ including whether military training and dual-use maintenance equipment contracts signed prior to the adoption of resolution 1572 (2004) were in violation of the sanctions. ¹⁸⁷⁸ The Group of Experts has noted that, despite rumours of weapons and ammunition deliveries to Côte d'Ivoire's illegal militias, it had seen no evidence of such violations of the arms embargo. ¹⁸⁷⁹ It has expressed concern, however, that Côte d'Ivoire's ports, airports and border crossings remain susceptible to sanctions-busting. ¹⁸⁸⁰

Among the Group's recommendations, are suggestions that: the 1572 Committee issue a statement clarifying the scope of the sanctions regime, designed in particular to prevent a loophole for dual-use items; 1881 the Committee Chairman could improve awareness about the sanctions by undertaking a mission to Côte d'Ivoire; 1882 the sanctions monitoring activities of United Nations Operation in Côte d'Ivoire (UNOCI) would benefit from the employment of a customs expert; 1883 the Security Council should call upon the government of Côte d'Ivoire to provide a comprehensive breakdown of its defence expenditure: 1884 the Council should call upon the Forces Nouvelles to provide UNOCI with a comprehensive inventory of its weapons; 1885 the 1572 Committee should provide member states with the names of individuals against whom the travel ban and assets freeze should be applied: 1886 there should be a comprehensive audit of expenditures from revenue gained from the cocoa trade; the UN Secretariat should improve its efforts to disseminate the Group's reports in Côte d'Ivoire; and that Côte d'Ivoire should make a submission to the UN Register of Conventional Arms. 1888

```
    1875 S/2005/699, paras. 22–58; S/2006/204, paras. 20–30.
    1876 S/2005/699, paras. 56–58.
    1877 S/2005/470, paras. 13–14.
    1878 Ibid., para. 14(d).
    1879 S/2005/699, para. 17; S/2006/204, para. 31.
    1880 S/2005/699, para. 60; S/2006/204, para. 31.
    1881 S/2005/470, para. 15; S/2005/699, para. 176; S/2006/204, para. 57.
    1882 S/2005/470, para. 16.
    1883 Ibid., para. 17; S/2005/699, para. 172.
    1884 S/2005/699, para. 168.
    1885 Ibid., para. 174; S/2006/204, para. 58.
    1886 S/2005/699, para. 178; S/2006/204, para. 39.
    1887 S/2006/204, para. 54.
    1888 Ibid., para. 56.
```

4.4 The UN Operation in Côte d'Ivoire

In February 2005, the Security Council authorised the UN Operation in Côte d'Ivoire (UNOCI) to monitor sanctions implementation, in cooperation with the Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts, the United Nations Mission in Liberia (UNMIL) and the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL), including by inspecting the cargo of aircraft and vehicles using the ports, airports, airfields, military bases and border crossings of Côte d'Ivoire. ¹⁸⁸⁹ UNOCI was also authorised to collect and dispose of arms and related material brought into Côte d'Ivoire in violation of the arms embargo. ¹⁸⁹⁰

In February 2005 the Security Council also authorised the French forces acting in support of UNOCI to engage in sanctions monitoring activities. At the same time, the Council also requested the French forces to provide security for UNOCI's sanctions monitoring activities. 1892

5. Conclusions

Like the 1521 Liberia sanctions regime, the 1572 sanctions regime represents an example of a new generation, targeted sanctions regime, consisting of targeted measures that are subject to time-limits. The Council has also outlined relatively clear objectives for the sanctions, reaffirming that the measures may be lifted if there were to be progress in the Côte d'Ivoire peace process and national reconciliation. The Security Council again created a new monitoring body, the Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts, to monitor sanctions implementation. In an innovative step, the Security Council also warned in December 2006 that it was prepared to apply targeted sanctions against a number of categories of people, including those who posed a threat to the peace and national reconciliation process, those responsible for serious violations of human rights and international humanitarian law, those who publicly incited hatred and violence, and those who violated the arms embargo. 1893

SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 2(a); SC Res. 1609 (24 June 2005), para. 2(m).
 SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 2(b); SC Res. 1609 (24 June 2005), para. 2(n).
 SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 2.
 Ibid., para. 3.

¹⁸⁹³ SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 12.

23. THE 1636 HARIRI SANCTIONS REGIME

In October 2005 the Security Council applied sanctions against those suspected of involvement in the terrorist bombing that resulted in the death of former Lebanese Prime Minister Rafiq Hariri. The new sanctions regime consisted of an assets freeze and travel ban. The Council created the 1636 Committee to administer the 1636 sanctions regime. The Council has also created an independent international investigation commission and endorsed the creation of a tribunal, both of which are designed to play a role in achieving the objectives of the 1636 sanctions regime.

1. Constitutional basis

On 14 February 2005, a bomb exploded in the Lebanese capital Beirut, killing Prime Minister Rafiq Hariri and twenty-two others, and injuring dozens more people. The Security Council immediately condemned the bombing, characterised it as a terrorist act, and called on the UNSG to report on the circumstances, causes and consequences of the bombing. The Secretary-General established a fact-finding mission, which reported that the Lebanese investigation process suffered from 'serious flaws' and was unlikely to reach 'a satisfactory and credible conclusion'. April 2005, the Security Council established an international independent investigation commission to assist the Lebanese authorities with the investigation into the Hariri bombing and to identify the bombing's perpetrators, sponsors, organisers and accomplices.

In October 2005 the Commission submitted its report to the Security Council. After considering the report, the Council adopted resolution 1636 (2005), in which it reaffirmed that terrorism constituted 'one of the most serious threats to peace and security'. The Council then determined that the 14 February 2005 terrorist bombing in Beirut that killed former Lebanese Prime Minister Rafiq Hariri and twenty-two others constituted a threat to international peace and security and noted that it was acting under Chapter VII before proceeding to impose sanctions. In subsequent decisions connected with the Hariri

¹⁸⁹⁴ S/PRST/2005/4 (15 February 2005). ¹⁸⁹⁵ S/2005/203 (24 March 2005), para. 62.

¹⁸⁹⁶ SC Res. 1595 (7 April 2005), para. 1. For further details, see section 4.

¹⁸⁹⁷ S/2005/662 (20 October 2005).

¹⁸⁹⁸ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), preambular para. 3.

¹⁸⁹⁹ *Ibid.*, preambular paras. 19, 21.

sanctions regime, the Council reaffirmed the existence of a threat to international peace and security and reiterated that it was acting under Chapter VII. 1900

2. Objectives

The initial objective of the Hariri sanctions regime was to ensure the completion of all investigative and judicial proceedings relating to the Hariri bombing. 1901

3. Scope

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under resolution 1636, the Security Council applied a travel ban and an assets freeze. Under the travel ban, all states were required to prevent entry into or transit through their territories of all individuals suspected of involvement in the planning, sponsoring, organising or perpetrating of the Hariri bombing. ¹⁹⁰² If such individuals were already in their territories, then states were required to make them available for interview by the Commission. ¹⁹⁰³ Under the assets freeze, all states were required to freeze all funds, financial assets and economic resources in their territories owned or controlled by the same individuals. ¹⁹⁰⁴ Individuals subject to the travel ban and assets freeze were to be designated by the government of Lebanon and the International Independent Investigation Commission. ¹⁹⁰⁵

3.2 Exemptions

The Security Council outlined various exemptions from the travel ban and assets freeze. With respect to the travel ban, the Council noted that nothing required states to refuse entry to their own nationals, ¹⁹⁰⁶ and it exempted travel when approved on a case-by-case basis by the 1636 Committee as justified on the ground of humanitarian need, including religious obligation, or in order to further the objectives of resolution 1636 (2005). ¹⁹⁰⁷ With respect to the assets freeze, the Council provided for exemptions when approved by the 1636 Committee on a case-by-case basis for funds that were necessary for basic expenses and payment

SC Res. 1644 (15 December 2005), preambular paras. 9, 10.
 SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(c).
 Ibid., para. 3(a).
 Ibid.
 Ibid.
 Ibid.
 Ibid.
 Ibid.

of reasonable professional fees and legal expenses connected with maintenance of the frozen funds. 1908

4. Administration and monitoring

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration and monitoring of the 1636 Hariri sanctions regime upon a range of actors, including the UNSG, the International Independent Investigation Commission, the 1636 Sanctions Committee, and the Hariri Tribunal.

4.1 The Secretary-General

The Security Council has requested the Secretary-General to undertake a number of tasks in connection with the Hariri sanctions regime. Prior to the establishment of the sanctions regime, the Council requested the Secretary-General to report on the circumstances, causes and consequences of the bombing. The Secretary-General then dispatched a fact-finding mission, which reported that the Lebanese investigation process suffered from 'serious flaws' and was unlikely to reach 'a satisfactory and credible conclusion'. When the Council established UNIIIC, it authorised the Secretary-General to extend the Commission's mandate for three months beyond the initial three-month mandate. The Secretary-General was also requested to provide regular oral reports to the Council on the Commission's activities.

In December 2005 the Security Council acknowledged a request from the government of Lebanon that those charged with involvement in the Hariri bombing should be tried by a tribunal of an international character. The Council subsequently tasked the Secretary-General with helping the Lebanese government to identify the nature and scope of international assistance required for the establishment of such a tribunal; and with negotiating an agreement with the Lebanese government to establish a tribunal. The Security Council has also requested

 ¹⁹⁰⁸ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 2(ii).
 ¹⁹¹⁹ S/PRST/2005/4 (15 February 2005).
 ¹⁹¹⁰ S/2005/203 (24 March 2005), para. 62.
 ¹⁹¹¹ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 8.
 ¹⁹¹² *Ibid.*, para. 9.

¹⁹¹³ SC Res. 1644 (15 December 2005), para. 6. The Secretary-General submitted the following report to the Council: S/2006/176 (21 March 2006).

¹⁹¹⁴ SC Res. 1664 (29 March 2006), para. 1.

the Secretary-General to ensure that the Commission has the support and resources necessary for the discharge of its duties. 1915

4.2 The International Independent Investigation Commission (UNIIIC)

The Security Council established the International Independent Investigation Commission (UNIIIC) in April 2005, in order to assist the Lebanese authorities with the investigation into the Hariri bombing and to identify the bombing's perpetrators, sponsors, organisers and accomplices. The Commission's mandate has been extended on a number of occasions. UNIIIC has submitted regular reports on its activities and findings to the Council. In its reports, the Commission has summarised its investigations, which included collecting hundreds of witness statements and dozens of suspect statements in the first reporting period alone. In Commission has found 'converging evidence' of the involvement of both Lebanese and Syrian intelligence services in the Hariri bombing. In the Commission's initial report, it noted that there had been less than ideal co-operation on the part of Syrian authorities with its investigations. Subsequently, however, the level of co-operation improved.

4.3 The 1636 Committee

When the Security Council established the Hariri sanctions regime, it also created the 1636 Committee to oversee sanctions administration. The Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure, was to: (a) register as subject to the travel ban and assets freeze individuals designated by UNIIIC or the government of Lebanon; (b) remove individuals notified by UNIIIC or the government of Lebanon as no longer suspected of involvement in the Hariri bombing; (c) approve authorised exemptions from the travel ban 1926 and assets freeze; and (d) inform all

SC Res. 1644 (15 December 2005), para. 8.
 SC Res. 1595 (7 April 2005), para. 1.
 SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 8; SC Res. 1644 (15 December 2005), para. 1; SC Res. 1686 (15 June 2006), para. 2.

¹⁹¹⁸ See Appendix 3, Table H. ¹⁹¹⁹ S/2005/662 (20 October 2005), para. 87.

¹⁹²⁰ S/2005/662 (20 October 2005), paras. 216, 222. ¹⁹²¹ *Ibid.*, paras. 218–220, 222.

¹⁹²² S/2005/775 (12 December 2005), paras. 74–87, 94–95; S/2006/375 (10 June 2006),

¹⁹²³ SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(b). ¹⁹²⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 1.

¹⁹²⁵ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 3. ¹⁹²⁶ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 2(i). ¹⁹²⁷ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 2(ii).

member states which individuals were subject to the travel ban and assets freeze. 1928

4.4 The Hariri Tribunal

In December 2005 the Security Council requested the Secretary-General to help the Lebanese government to identify the nature and scope of international assistance required for the establishment of an international tribunal to try individuals suspected of involvement in the Hariri bombing. In March 2006 the Council requested the Secretary-General to negotiate an agreement with the Lebanese government to establish such a tribunal.

5. Conclusions

The Hariri sanctions regime joined a growing list of Article 41 measures applied in response to terrorist activities. It further demonstrated that applying a combination of a travel ban and an assets freeze is becoming the Council's sanctions tool of choice in the effort to target individuals who threaten international peace and security. The establishment of UNIIIC and the groundwork towards the establishment of a tribunal also suggest a move by the Council towards internationalising prosecution of terrorist suspects.

From a rule of law perspective, the Hariri sanctions regime raises familiar questions. With respect to transparency and consistency, to what extent does the characterisation of the Hariri bombing accord with previous practice concerning the identification of threats to the peace? With respect to equality, why does the Council choose to act in this specific instance when there are an almost unlimited number of other terrorist acts that might also be investigated in a similar manner? Does the 48-hour no-objection procedure for listing individuals meet the requirements for due process? Does the existence of UNIIIC increase the likelihood that there is substantial justification for listing proposed individuals?

24. THE 1718 NORTH KOREA SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council applied sanctions against the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK or North Korea) in October 2006, shortly after

 ¹⁹²⁸ *Ibid.*, Annex, para. 4.
 ¹⁹²⁹ SC Res. 1644 (15 December 2005), para. 6.
 ¹⁹³⁰ SC Res. 1664 (29 March 2006), para. 1.

that country conducted its inaugural test of a nuclear device. The sanctions regime initially consisted of a broad arms embargo, a travel ban and an assets freeze. The Council established a sanctions committee to administer the 1718 sanctions regime.

1. Constitutional basis

North Korea's campaign to become a nuclear power first became apparent in March 1993, when it announced that it was withdrawing from the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT). The Director of the International Atomic Energy Agency, which is tasked with monitoring compliance with the NPT, promptly reported the matter to the Security Council. On 11 May 1993, the Council adopted resolution 825 (1993), in which it called upon North Korea to reconsider its intention to withdraw from the NPT. 1931 At the same time, the Council also called upon North Korea to honour its non-proliferation obligations under the NPT and to comply with its safeguards agreement with the IAEA. 1932

In July 2006 North Korea conducted multiple missile tests over the Japan Sea. In response, the Security Council adopted resolution 1695 (2006), in which it reaffirmed that proliferation of nuclear, chemical and biological weapons, as well as their means of delivery, constituted a threat to international peace and security. 1933 The Council then affirmed that North Korea's missile launches jeopardised peace, stability and security in the region and beyond. 1934 Noting that it was acting 'under its special responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security', the Council condemned North Korea's missile launches. 1935 It then 'required' all member states, in accordance with their national legal authorities and legislation and consistent with international law, to prevent missile and missile-related items, materials, goods and technology from being transferred to North Korea. 1936 The Council also required member states to prevent the procurement of such items from North Korea, as well as the transfer of any financial resources to North Korea's missile or weapons of mass destruction programme. 1937

SC Res. 825 (11 May 1993), para. 1. 1932 Ibid., para. 2.
 SC Res. 1695 (15 July 2006), preambular para. 3. 1934 Ibid., preambular para. 12.
 Ibid., para. 1. 1936 Ibid., para. 3. 1937 Ibid., para. 4.

Resolution 1695 (2006) was portrayed by some media outlets as a new instance of UN sanctions 1938 and Japan was one Security Council member that considered the measures to be 'binding' upon UN member states. 1939 But the status of these measures as mandatory sanctions is questionable. Although the Council identified the existence of a threat to the peace and proceeded to require member states to take particular steps, the Council did not invoke either Chapter VII or Article 41. Moreover, the Council's language differed substantially from its previous sanctions practice. Rather than deciding that all states should take certain actions, it required states to take certain action. In the months following the adoption of resolution 1695 (2006), it might have been possible to argue that the Council had created a new form of sanctions regime, as the measures looked, smelled and felt like sanctions, even if they did not take the conventional form of mandatory Article 41 measures. But further Security Council action soon rendered academic any debate concerning the nature of the 1695 measures.

On 9 October 2006, North Korea conducted its first test of a nuclear device. On 14 October the Security Council adopted resolution 1718 (2006), expressing profound concern that the test claimed by North Korea had generated increased tension in the region and beyond, and determining, therefore, that there was a clear threat to international peace and security. The Council then noted that it was acting under Chapter VII of the Charter and taking measures under Article 41, 1941 before proceeding to apply sanctions. 1942

2. Objectives

The overall objective of the 1718 sanctions regime was to induce North Korea to abandon its nuclear aspirations and return to the international non-proliferation framework. In resolution 1718 (2006), the Security Council demanded that North Korea not conduct any further nuclear test or launch a ballistic missile, ¹⁹⁴³ that it immediately retract its withdrawal from the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, ¹⁹⁴⁴ and that it return to the safeguards of that treaty and the International Atomic Energy Agency. ¹⁹⁴⁵ The Council then decided

^{1938 &#}x27;North Korea Rejects UN Resolution Imposing Sanctions' (16 July 2006) Agence France Presse; 'N Korea Rejects Missile Sanctions', The Times, 17 July 2006 p. 32.

¹⁹³⁹ S/PV.5490 (15 July 2006), p. 2 (Japan).

SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), preambular para. 9.
 Ibid., paras. 8-10.
 Ibid., para. 2.
 Ibid., para. 3.
 Ibid., para. 4.

that North Korea should suspend all activities relating to its ballistic missile programme and abandon all nuclear weapons and nuclear and ballistic missile programmes. ¹⁹⁴⁶ The Council also called upon North Korea to return immediately to the Six-Party Talks without precondition and work towards the expeditious implementation of the Joint Statement issued on 19 September 2005 by China, North Korea, Japan, the Republic of Korea, the Russian Federation and the United States. ¹⁹⁴⁷

3. Scope

The North Korea sanctions regime consisted of an arms embargo, limited economic sanctions, an assets freeze and a travel ban.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the arms embargo, all member states were required to prevent the direct or indirect supply, sale or transfer to North Korea of heavy conventional weapons and related material, including tanks, armoured combat vehicles, large calibre artillery systems, combat aircraft, attack helicopters, warships, missiles or missile systems. 1948 Member states were also required to prevent the sale, supply or transfer to North Korea of materials, equipment, goods and technology that were either elaborated in three lists of contraband items (relating to nuclear programmes, 1949 ballistic missile programmes 1950 and other weapons of mass destruction programmes ¹⁹⁵¹) or subsequently determined by the Council or the 1718 Committee to be capable of contributing to North Korea's nuclear-related, ballistic missile-related or other weapon of mass destruction-related programmes. 1952 Member states were also required to prohibit the procurement of such items from North Korea 1953 and to prevent any transfer to or from North Korea of technical training, advice, services or assistance related to the provision, manufacture or maintenance of such items. 1954 North Korea, for its part, was commanded to cease the export of all such items. 1955

Under the limited economic sanctions, member states were required to prevent the sale, supply or transfer to North Korea of 'luxury goods'. The Council did not explain what goods it considered to

```
    1946 Ibid., paras. 5-7.
    1947 Ibid., para. 14.
    1948 Ibid., para. 8(a)(i).
    1949 S/2006/814 (13 October 2006).
    1950 S/2006/815 (13 October 2006).
    1951 S/2006/816 (13 October 2006).
    1952 SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 8(a)(ii).
    1953 Ibid., para. 8(b).
    1954 Ibid., para. 8(c).
    1955 Ibid., para. 8(b).
    1956 Ibid., para. 8(a)(iii).
```

fall within this category, nor did it explicitly delegate such a responsibility to the 1718 Committee. Under the assets freeze, all member states were required, in accordance with their respective legal processes, immediately to freeze funds, assets and other economic resources on their territories owned or controlled by persons or entities designated by the 1718 Committee or the Security Council as engaged in or providing support for North Korea's nuclear-related, other weapons of mass destruction-related and ballistic missile-related programmes. ¹⁹⁵⁷ Member states were also required to prevent any funds from being made available by their nationals or from within their territories to or for the benefit of persons or entities on the assets freeze list. ¹⁹⁵⁸

Under the travel ban, member states were required to prevent the entry into or transit through their territories of persons designated by the 1718 Committee or the Security Council as being responsible for North Korea policies in relation to its nuclear-related, ballistic missile-related and other weapons of mass destruction-related programmes, together with their families. 1959

3.2 Exemptions

Exemptions were outlined from the assets freeze for financial or other resources that were: (a) necessary for basic expenses, as notified to the 1718 Committee and in the absence of a negative decision by the Committee within five working days; ¹⁹⁶⁰ (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the Committee; ¹⁹⁶¹ or (c) subject to a judicial, administrative or arbitral lien or judgment entered prior to the date of the resolution, as notified to the Committee. ¹⁹⁶² The Security Council also provided for exemptions from the travel ban, as approved by the 1718 Committee on a case-by-case basis, for travel that was justified on the grounds of humanitarian need, including religious obligations, or where the Committee concluded that travel would further the objectives of the 1718 sanctions regime. ¹⁹⁶³

4. Administration, monitoring and enforcement

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration of the 1718 North Korea sanctions regime upon a sanctions committee.

```
    <sup>1957</sup> Ibid., para. 8(d).
    <sup>1958</sup> Ibid.
    <sup>1959</sup> Ibid., para. 8(e).
    <sup>1960</sup> Ibid., para. 9(a).
    <sup>1961</sup> Ibid., para. 9(c).
    <sup>1963</sup> Ibid., para. 10.
```

4.1 The 1718 Committee

When the Security Council established the North Korea sanctions regime, it also created the 1718 Sanctions Committee to oversee sanctions administration. The Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the Council's provisional rules of procedure, was to: (a) seek from all states information regarding action taken to implement sanctions; 1965 (b) examine and take appropriate action on alleged sanctions violations; 1966 (c) decide upon requests for exemptions; 1967 (d) determine additional items, materials, equipment, goods and technology subject to the arms embargo; 1968 (e) promulgate guidelines to facilitate the implementation of the sanctions; 1969 and (f) report regularly to the Council with recommendations, including on how to strengthen sanctions.

5. Conclusions

The application of sanctions against North Korea calls into question the extent to which the Security Council is following a consistent and coherent approach to nuclear proliferation. While there is little doubt that nuclear proliferation poses a genuine threat to international peace and security, a number of states that have recently entered the nuclear club, including India, Pakistan and Israel, have not been subjected to UN sanctions. The Council's decision to apply sanctions against North Korea and subsequently against Iran, but not against India, Pakistan and Israel, indicates a troubling, selective approach to the threat of nuclear proliferation.

The 1718 sanctions regime also represents a retreat from some aspects of sanctions best practice. One minor quirk was the return to the practice evident in the very first instance of UN sanctions, the 232 sanctions regime, of using the phrase 'member states' rather than 'all states'. On a more substantive level, however, despite the constructive effort at transparency reflected by the clear invocation in resolution 1718 (2006) of both Article 41 and Chapter VII as the Charter basis for action, the Council does not provide either explicit objectives or a time-limit upon the application of sanctions. These oversights open the Council to the allegation that it is acting in a punitive rather than a constructive manner. Without clear articulation of the steps that must

 ¹⁹⁶⁴ Ibid., para. 12.
 ¹⁹⁶⁵ Ibid., para. 12(a).
 ¹⁹⁶⁶ Ibid., para. 12(b).
 ¹⁹⁶⁷ Ibid., para. 12(c).
 ¹⁹⁶⁸ Ibid., para. 12(d).
 ¹⁹⁶⁹ Ibid., para. 12(e).
 ¹⁹⁷⁰ Ibid., para. 12(f).

be taken by North Korea to achieve a relaxing of sanctions, there is a danger that the sanctions will remain on the books for as long as it suits the purposes of any veto-wielding permanent member. Due to the precarious humanitarian situation in North Korea, there is also a risk that the diligent implementation of the 1718 sanctions regime may prevent certain humanitarian items from reaching North Korea if they are considered by the 1718 Committee and/or the Security Council to possess dual-use potential, thus evoking the spectre of some of the major humanitarian failings of the 661 Iraq sanctions regime following the end of the 1990–91 Gulf War.

25. THE 1737 IRAN SANCTIONS REGIME

The Security Council imposed sanctions against Iran in December 2006, in an attempt to stop Iran's push towards becoming a nuclear power. The 1737 sanctions regime consisted of a similar collection of measures to those applied against North Korea, including targeted economic, financial and travel sanctions. The Council established a sanctions committee to administer the sanctions regime.

1. Constitutional basis

In July 2006, the Security Council noted with serious concern Iran's decision to resume enrichment-related activities, as well as its continued suspension of co-operation with the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA). ¹⁹⁷¹ The Council expressed concern at the proliferation risks presented by the Iranian nuclear programme, stated that it was mindful of its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security, and expressed determination to prevent an aggravation of the situation. ¹⁹⁷² Noting that it was acting under Article 40 of the Charter, ¹⁹⁷³ the Council then called upon Iran to take steps that had been required by the IAEA Board of Governors, ¹⁹⁷⁴ and demanded that Iran suspend all enrichment-related and processing activities, including research and development. ¹⁹⁷⁵ It also expressed its intention, in the event that Iran had not complied

 ¹⁹⁷¹ SC Res. 1696 (31 July 2006), preambular para. 6
 1972 Ibid., preambular para. 9.
 1973 Ibid., preambular para. 1.
 1974 Ibid., para. 1.
 1975 Ibid., para. 2.

with its demand by 31 August 2006, to adopt appropriate measures under Article 41 of the Charter to persuade Iran to comply. 1976

Five months later, the Council adopted resolution 1737 (2006), in which it deplored Iran's refusal to take the steps required by the IAEA Board of Governors, ¹⁹⁷⁷ and expressed concern at the proliferation risks posed by the Iranian nuclear programme and at Iran's failure to comply with the IAEA's requirements and the Council's own demands. ¹⁹⁷⁸ The Council again stated that it was mindful of its primary responsibility under the UN Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security. Then, noting that it was acting under Article 41 of the Charter, ¹⁹⁷⁹ the Council proceeded to apply sanctions against Iran. ¹⁹⁸⁰

The striking thing about the Council's framing of the constitutional basis for sanctions against Iran is that it does not bother to determine the existence of a threat to international peace and security. When the Council adopted resolution 1696 (2006), the US stated that: 'The pursuit of nuclear weapons by Iran constitutes a direct threat to international peace and security.' When the Council adopted resolution 1737 (2006), a number of states also referred to the threat posed by Iran's nuclear ambitions. ¹⁹⁸² Ironically, however, the only speaker to use the language of Article 39 of the Charter when sanctions were imposed was Iran itself, which observed that:

Only a few days ago, the Prime Minister of the Israeli regime boasted about his regime's nuclear weapons, but instead of even raising an eyebrow, let alone addressing that serious threat to international peace and security and to the non-proliferation regime, the Security Council is imposing sanctions on a party to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons that, unlike Israel, has never attacked or threatened to use force against any Member of the United Nations. 1983

The Security Council's failure to make a determination in accordance with Article 39, which serves as the trigger for Chapter VII action, is peculiar. In both resolution 1696 (2006) and resolution 1737 (2006), the Council explicitly invokes not only Chapter VII, but also one of its specific provisions (Article 40 in the former and Article 41 in the latter).

```
    1976 Ibid., para. 8. 1977 SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 6.
    1978 Ibid., preambular para. 9. 1979 Ibid., preambular para. 10.
    1980 Ibid., paras. 3-4, 6, 12. 1981 S/PV.5500 (31 July 2006), p. 3.
    1982 S/PV.5612 (23 December 2006), p. 3 (US), p. 4 (Qatar), p. 5 (UK), pp. 6-7 (Japan).
    1983 Ibid., pp. 8-9.
```

The only plausible interpretation of events is thus that the Council had implicitly determined the existence of a threat to the peace.

2. Objectives

The objective of the 1737 sanctions regime was for Iran to comply fully with its obligations under Security Council resolutions and to meet the requirements laid down by the IAEA Board of Governors. ¹⁹⁸⁴ The Council therefore undertook to suspend the sanctions if and for so long as Iran suspended all enrichment-related and reprocessing activities, including research and development, as verified by the IAEA, to allow for negotiations. ¹⁹⁸⁵

3. Scope

The 1737 sanctions regime initially consisted of a mixture of targeted economic, financial and travel sanctions.

3.1 Sanctions obligations

Under the targeted economic sanctions, all states were to take the necessary measures to prevent the supply, sale or transfer to Iran of all items which could contribute to Iran's enrichment-related, reprocessing or heavy water-related activities, or to the development of nuclear weapons delivery systems. 1986 The contraband items were detailed in the same lists of prohibited items originally elaborated for the purposes of the 1718 North Korea sanctions regime, one for items related to nuclear programmes 1987 and the other for items related to ballistic missile programmes. 1988 The Council also provided for the possibility that the 1737 Committee could expand that list by adding further items which could contribute to enrichment-related, reprocessing or heavy water-related activities. 1989 Moreover, it required states themselves to refrain from providing any items they determined would contribute to such activities or to activities related to topics about which the IAEA had expressed concerns. 1990 The Security Council also required states to prevent the provision to Iran of any technical

```
    SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 24(a).
    Ibid., para. 24 (a).
    Ibid., para. 3.
    S/2006/815 (13 October 2006).
    SC Res. 1737 (23 December 2006), para. 3(d).
    Ibid., para. 24 (a).
    Ibid., para. 24 (a).
    Ibid., para. 24 (a).
```

assistance, training, financial assistance or services, as well as the transfer of financial resources or services related to the supply, sale, transfer, manufacture or use of the items prohibited under the targeted economic sanctions. ¹⁹⁹¹

Under the financial sanctions, all states were to freeze the funds, other financial assets and economic resources of persons and entities designated by the Security Council in an Annex to resolution 1737 (2006), as well as additional persons and entities designated by the 1737 Committee as being engaged in, directly associated with or providing support for Iran's nuclear activities. ¹⁹⁹² Under the travel sanctions, all states were to notify the 1737 Committee of the entry into or transit through their territories of the persons designated as being engaged in, directly associated with or providing support for Iran's nuclear activities. ¹⁹⁹³

3.2 Exemptions

When the Security Council imposed the 1737 sanctions regime, it exempted from the targeted economic sanctions certain items that were intended for light water nuclear reactors. It also provided for the possibility of further exemptions where the 1737 Committee decided in advance and on a case-by-case basis that particular items or assistance would clearly not contribute to the development of Iran's technologies in support of its nuclear activities, including where such items or assistance were for food, agricultural, medical or other humanitarian purposes. However, this exemption was subject to the provisos that contracts for delivery of such items included appropriate end-user guarantees and that Iran had committed not to use the items in its nuclear activities. 1995

The Council outlined a range of exemptions from the financial sanctions. It thus exempted funds that were: (a) necessary for basic expenses, as notified to the 1737 Committee and in the absence of a negative decision by the Committee within five working days; ¹⁹⁹⁶ (b) necessary for extraordinary expenses, as approved in advance by the Committee; ¹⁹⁹⁷ (c) subject to a judicial, administrative or arbitral lien, as notified to the Committee; ¹⁹⁹⁸ and (d) necessary for activities related to light water nuclear reactors, as notified to the Committee. ¹⁹⁹⁹ The

```
    <sup>1991</sup> Ibid., para. 6.
    <sup>1992</sup> Ibid., para. 12.
    <sup>1993</sup> Ibid., para. 10.
    <sup>1994</sup> Ibid., para. 9.
    <sup>1995</sup> Ibid., para. 13(a).
    <sup>1997</sup> Ibid., para. 13(b).
    <sup>1998</sup> Ibid., para. 13(d).
```

Council also decided that states may permit the addition to frozen accounts of interest or other earnings due, 2000 and it clarified that the assets freeze would not prevent listed individuals and entities from making payment due under a contract initiated prior to their listing, so long as the contract did not involve activities prohibited under the sanctions regime. 2001

4. Administration, monitoring and enforcement

The Security Council bestowed responsibilities for the administration of the 1737 sanctions regime upon a sanctions committee and the Director General of the IAEA.

4.1 The 1737 Committee

The Security Council created the 1737 Sanctions Committee when it initiated the 1737 sanctions regime. The 1737 Committee, which was established in accordance with rule 28 of the provisional rules of procedure, 2002 was to: (a) seek from all states information regarding actions taken to implement sanctions; 2003 (b) seek from the IAEA information regarding actions taken to ensure that its technical assistance to Iran did not violate the sanctions; 2004 (c) take appropriate action on alleged sanctions violations; (d) decide upon requests for exemptions; 2006 (e) determine additional items to be subject to the targeted economic sanctions; 2007 (f) designate additional individuals and entities subject to the travel and financial sanctions; 2008 (g) promulgate guidelines to facilitate sanctions implementation; 2009 and (h) report regularly on its work, with observations and recommendations for strengthening the effectiveness of the sanctions. 2010

4.2 The IAFA Director General

When the Security Council established the 1737 sanctions regime it requested the Director General of the IAEA to report on whether Iran had established full and sustained suspension of all prohibited nuclear activities, as well as on its compliance with the steps required by the IAEA Board of Governors.²⁰¹¹

```
    2000 Ibid., para. 14.
    2001 Ibid., para. 15.
    2002 Ibid., para. 18.
    2003 Ibid., para. 18.
    2004 Ibid., para. 18(b).
    2005 Ibid., para. 18(c).
    2006 Ibid., para. 18(d).
    2007 Ibid., para. 18(e).
    2008 Ibid., para. 18(f).
    2009 Ibid., para. 18(g).
    2009 Ibid., para. 18(g).
```

5. Conclusions

The Security Council's decision to apply sanctions against Iran followed quite closely the model employed against North Korea. Indeed, two of the three lists of contraband items compiled for the purposes of the 1718 sanctions regime were also used as part of the 1737 sanctions regime. As with the North Korea sanctions, the application of sanctions against Iran, but not against other states that have recently entered the nuclear club, smacks of a selective approach to threats to international peace and security. There is no doubting that nuclear proliferation represents a genuine threat to international peace and security, of the type that the UN founders would have wanted the Security Council to address robustly. But the credibility of the Security Council is likely to suffer if the decision to impose sanctions against nuclear proliferators is taken with respect to some states but not others.

Appendix 3: Tables

Appendix 3 contains the following tables:

- **Table A**: UNSCR provisions referring to the rule of law
- **Table B**: UNSCR provisions establishing and terminating UN sanctions regimes
- **Table C**: UNSCR provisions citing Chapter VII of the UN Charter as the basis for sanctions-related action
- **Table D**: UNSCR provisions outlining the scope of sanctions
- **Table E**: UNSCR provisions outlining Sanctions Committee mandates
- **Table F**: Reports by Sanctions Committees
- **Table G**: UNSCR provisions outlining the mandates of sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies
- **Table H**: Reports by sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies

A. UNSCR provisions referring to the rule of law

| SC Res. 1536 (26 March 2004), paras. 10, 13. |
|--|
| SC Res. 1589 (24 March 2005), paras. 9, 11. |
| SC Res. 1662 (23 March 2006), paras. 8, 11. |
| SC Res. 1170 (28 May 1998), preambular para. 13. |
| SC Res. 1149 (27 January 1998), para. 4. |
| SC Res. 1157 (20 March 1998), para. 11. |
| SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), para. 8. |
| SC Res. 1180 (29 June 1998), preambular para. 6. |
| SC Res. 1202 (15 October 1998), para. 11. |
| SC Res. 1213 (3 December 1998), para. 6. |
| SC Res. 1433 (15 August 2002), para. 3B(i). |
| SC Res. 1168 (21 May 1998), para. 4. |
| SC Res. 1396 (5 March 2002), para. 3. |
| SC Res. 1040 (29 January 1996), para. 2. |
| SC Res. 1545 (21 May 2004), preambular para. 9. |
| SC Res. 1577 (1 December 2004), preambular |
| para. 9. |
| SC Res. 1602 (31 May 2005), preambular para. 12. |
| SC Res. 1606 (20 June 2005), preambular para. 3. |
| SC Res. 1719 (25 October 2006), preambular |
| para. 2(d). |
| SC Res. 1159 (27 March 1998), para. 14(e). |
| SC Res. 1528 (27 February 2004), para. 6(q). |
| SC Res. 1609 (24 June 2005), para. 2(x). |
| SC Res. 1345 (21 March 2001), para. 5. |
| |
| |
| |
| SC Res. 1417 (14 June 2002), para. 5. |
| SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), paras. 5, 11. |
| SC Res. 1621 (6 September 2005), preambular para. 3. |
| SC Res. 1635 (28 October 2005), preambular para. 3. |
| SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), preambular para. 2. |
| SC Res. 1671 (25 April 2006), preambular para. 3. |
| SC Res. 1693 (30 June 2006), preambular para. 3. |
| SC Res. 1711 (29 September 2006), preambular |
| para. 4, para. 9. |
| SC Res. 1653 (27 January 2006), para. 4. |
| SC Res. 1580 (22 December 2004), preambular |
| |
| |

A. UNSCR provisions referring to the rule of law (cont.)

| Item | Provisions referring to the rule of law |
|---|--|
| Haiti | SC Res. 1529 (29 February 2004), para. 4. SC Res. 1542 (30 April 2004), preambular para. 4, para. 7(I)(d). SC Res. 1608 (22 June 2005), preambular para. 5. SC Res. 1658 (14 February 2006), preambular paras. 8, 12, 14. SC Res. 1702 (15 August 2006), preambular paras. 5, 8, |
| ICTY and ICTR | paras. 11, 14–15. SC Res. 1503 (28 August 2003), preambular para. 10. SC Res. 1534 (26 March 2004), para. 9. |
| Iraq | SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), preambular para. 5. SC Res. 1546 (8 June 2004), preambular para. 10, para. 7(b)(iii). SC Res. 1637 (8 November 2005), preambular para. 15. |
| | SC Res. 1723 (28 November 2006), preambular para. 17. |
| Liberia | SC Res. 1509 (19 September 2003), preambular para. 7. |
| | SC Res. 1626 (19 September 2005), preambular para. 7. |
| Protection of civilians in armed conflict | SC Res. 1265 (17 September 1999), preambular para. 6. SC Res. 1674 (28 April 2006), paras. 2, 11. |
| Role of the Security Council | SC Res. 1738 (23 December 2006), preambular para. 9. SC Res. 1318 (7 September 2000), Annex, Section I. |
| Sierra Leone | SC Res. 1346 (30 March 2001), preambular para. 4. SC Res. 1370 (18 September 2001), preambular para. 5. SC Res. 1400 (28 March 2002), preambular para. 9. SC Res. 1436 (24 September 2002), preambular |
| | para. 5. SC Res. 1470 (28 March 2003), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1508 (19 September 2003), preambular para. 5. SC Res. 1562 (17 September 2004), preambular para. 9. SC Res. 1610 (30 June 2005), preambular para. 6. SC Res. 1620 (31 August 2005), preambular para. 7, |
| | para. 1(a)(v). SC Res. 1688 (16 June 2006), preambular paras. 4, 9. SC Res. 1734 (22 December 2006), preambular para. 10. |

A. UNSCR provisions referring to the rule of law (cont.)

| Item | Provisions referring to the rule of law |
|--------------------------------|--|
| Strengthening peace operations | SC Res. 1327 (13 November 2000), Sections V-VI. |
| Sudan | SC Res. 1590 (24 March 2005), para. 4(a)(viii). |
| | SC Res. 1593 (31 March 2005), para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1706 (31 August 2006), para. 8(k). |
| The Congo | SC Res. 161 (21 February 1961), preambular para. 2. |
| Threats to international | SC Res. 1625 (14 September 2005), preambular |
| peace and security | para. 6. |
| Timor Leste | SC Res. 1473 (4 April 2003), para. 1(iii). |
| | SC Res. 1599 (28 April 2005), preambular para. 9, para. 3. |

B. UNSCR provisions establishing and terminating UN sanctions regimes

| Sanctions regime | Initiated | Terminated |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------------------|---|
| 232 Southern Rhodesia | SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966) | SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979) |
| 418 South Africa | SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977) | SC Res. 919 (25 May 1994) |
| 661 Iraq | SC Res. 661 (6 August 1991) | Continuing |
| 713 Former Yugoslavia | SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991) | Note verbale: SCA/96(4) (18 June 1996) |
| 733 Somalia | SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992) | Continuing |
| 748 Libya | SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992) | SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003) |
| 757 FRYSM | SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992) | SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996) |
| 788 Liberia | SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992) | SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001) |
| 820 Bosnian Serbs | SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993) | SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996) |
| 841 Haiti | SC Res. 841 (15 June 1993) | SC Res. 948 (15 October 1994) |
| 864 Angola (UNITA) | SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993) | SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002) |
| 918 Rwanda | SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994) | Continuing |
| 1054 Sudan | SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996) | SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001) |
| 1132 Sierra Leone | SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997) | Continuing |
| 1160 FRY | SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998) | SC Res. 1367 (10 September 2001) |
| 1267 Afghanistan/ Taliban/Al Qaida | SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999) | Continuing |
| 1298 Eritrea and Ethiopia | SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000) | S/PRST/2001/14 (15 May 2001) |
| 1343 Liberia | SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001) | SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003) |
| 1493 DRC | SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003) | Continuing |
| 1521 Liberia | SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003) | Continuing |
| 1556 Sudan | SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004) | Continuing |

B. UNSCR provisions establishing and terminating UN sanctions regimes (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Initiated | Terminated |
|----------------------|------------------------------------|------------|
| 1572 Côte d'Ivoire | SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004) | Continuing |
| 1636 Hariri suspects | SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005) | Continuing |
| 1718 North Korea | SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006) | Continuing |
| 1737 Iran | SC Res. 1737 (27 December 2006) | Continuing |

C. UNSCR provisions citing Chapter VII of the UN Charter as the basis for sanctions-related action

| Sanctions regime | Provisions invoking Chapter VII |
|-----------------------|--|
| 232 Southern Rhodesia | SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), preambular para. 4. ¹ |
| | SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), preambular para. 7. |
| | SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), preambular para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), preambular para. 5. |
| 418 South Africa | SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), preambular para. 10. |
| 2 | SC Res. 919 (25 May 1994), para. 1. |
| 661 Iraq | SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), preambular para. 7. |
| • | SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), preambular para. 13. |
| | SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), preambular para. 26. |
| | SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), preambular |
| | para. 12. |
| | SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), preambular para. 18. |
| | SC Res. 1518 (24 November 2003), preambular para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1546 (8 June 2004), preambular para. 21. |
| 713 Yugoslavia | SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6. |
| 713 1450314114 | SC Res. 1021 (22 November 1995), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1031 (15 December 1995), preambular para. 10. |
| 733 Somalia | SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5. |
| 755 50munu | SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), preambular para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), preambular para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), preambular para. 9. |
| 748 Libya | SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), preambular para. 10. |
| 748 Libyu | SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), preambular para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), preambular para. 5. |
| 757 FRYSM | SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), preambular para. 18. |
| 757 FK15W | SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), preambular para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), paras. 9–10. |
| | SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), Section B, preambular |
| | · - / - / - / / |
| | para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 967 (14 December 1994), preambular para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), preambular para. 6. |
| 700 Liboria | SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), preambular para. 9. |
| 788 Liberia | SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), preambular para. 10. |

C. UNSCR provisions citing Chapter VII of the UN Charter as the basis for sanctions-related action (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Provisions invoking Chapter VII |
|-------------------|---|
| 820 Bosnian Serbs | SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), Section B, preambular |
| | para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), preambular para. 9. |
| 841 Haiti | SC Res. 841 (15 June 1993), preambular para. 15. |
| | SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), preambular para. 7. |
| | SC Res. 873 (13 October 1993), preambular para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), preambular para. 14. |
| | SC Res. 944 (29 September 1994), para. 4. |
| 864 UNITA | SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), Section B, |
| | preambular para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), Section B, preambular para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1130 (29 September 1997), preambular para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), Section B, preambular |
| | para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), preambular para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), preambular para. 9. |
| | SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002), preambular para. 5. |
| 918 Rwanda | SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), Section B, preambular para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), Section B, sole |
| | preambular para. |
| 1054 Sudan | SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), preambular para. 11. |
| | SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), preambular para. 12. |
| | SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), preambular para. 7. |
| 1132 Sierra Leone | SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), preambular para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), preambular para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1299 (19 May 2000), para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), preambular para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), preambular |
| | para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), preambular para. 10. |
| 1160 FRY | SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), preambular para. 8. |
| - | SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), preambular para. 16. |
| | SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), preambular para. 13. |
| | SC Res. 1367 (10 September 2001), preambular para. 5. |

C. UNSCR provisions citing Chapter VII of the UN Charter as the basis for sanctions-related action (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Provisions invoking Chapter VII |
|------------------------|---|
| 1267 Taliban Al Qaida | SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), preambular |
| | para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), preambular |
| | para. 19. |
| | SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), preambular para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1388 (15 January 2001), preambular para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), preambular para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), preambular para. 14. |
| | SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), preambular |
| 1200 Enituse and | para. 16. |
| 1298 Eritrea and | SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), preambular para. 14. |
| Ethiopia | SC Res. 1320 (15 September 2000), para. 5. |
| 1343 Liberia | SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), preambular para. 12. |
| | SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), preambular para. 14. |
| | SC Res. 1509 (19 September 2003), preambular |
| | para. 22. SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), preambular para. 9. |
| 1493 DRC | SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), preambular para. 12. |
| 1493 DRC | SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), preambular para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1565 (1 October 2004), preambular para. 9. |
| | SC Res. 1503 (1 October 2004), preambular para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), preambular para. 10. |
| | SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), preambular para. 7. |
| | SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005) preambular |
| | para. 15. |
| | SC Res. 1654 (31 January 2006), preambular para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006) preambular para. 12. |
| 1521 Liberia | SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), preambular para. 9. |
| | SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), preambular para. 14. |
| | SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), preambular para. 16. |
| | SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), preambular para. 9. |
| | SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), preambular para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 1688 (16 June 2006), preambular para. 15. |
| | SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), preambular para. 15. |
| | SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), preambular para. 11. |
| | ,,,, |

C. UNSCR provisions citing Chapter VII of the UN Charter as the basis for sanctions-related action (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Provisions invoking Chapter VII |
|---|---|
| 1556 Sudan | SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), preambular para. 22. SC Res. 1564 (18 September 2004), preambular para. 15. SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), preambular paras. 18. |
| | SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), preambular para. 8. SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), preambular para. 9. SC Res. 1672 (25 April 2006), preambular para. 4. SC Res. 1706 (31 August 2006), para. 12. SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), preambular para. 10. |
| 1572 Côte d'Ivoire | SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), preambular para. 9. SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), preambular para. 9. SC Res. 1632 (18 October 2005), preambular para. 5. SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), preambular para. 12. SC Res. 1708 (14 September 2006), preambular para. 5. SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), preambular para. 6. |
| 1636 Hariri suspects 1718 North Korea 1737 Iran | SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), preambular para. 21. SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), preambular para. 10. SC Res. 1737 (27 December 2006), preambular para. 10. |

¹ In the resolution initiating the Southern Rhodesian sanctions regime, the Council explicitly invoked Articles 39 and 41 of the Charter, rather than the more general Chapter VII.

D. UNSCR provisions outlining the scope of sanctions

| Sanctions regime | Provisions establishing or modifying the scope of sanctions |
|------------------|---|
| 232 Southern | SC Res. 232 (16 December 1966), para. 2. |
| Rhodesia | SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), paras. 3-6. |
| | SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), paras. 2, 9. |
| | SC Res. 388 (6 April 1976), paras. 1, 2. |
| | SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 1. |
| 418 South Africa | SC Res. 418 (4 November 1977), paras. 2, 4. |
| | SC Res. 919 (25 May 1994), para. 1. |
| 661 Iraq | SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), paras. 3-4. |
| | SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990) paras. 1, 5, 8. |
| | SC Res. 670 (25 September 1990), paras. 3-6. |
| | SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 20, 23-4. |
| | SC Res. 706 (15 August 1991), paras. 1-2. |
| | SC Res. 778 (2 October 1992), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), paras. 1-2, 7-10. |
| | SC Res. 1137 (12 November 1997), para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2002), para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), paras. 10, 23. |
| | SC Res. 1546 (8 June 2004), para. 21. |
| 713 Former | SC Res. 713 (25 September 1991), para. 6. |
| Yugoslavia | SC Res. 727 (8 January 1992), para. 6. |
| | SC Res. 743 (21 February 1992), para. 11. |
| | SC Res. 1031 (15 December 1995), para. 22. |
| 733 Somalia | SC Res. 733 (23 January 1992), para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), paras. 2-4. |
| | SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), paras. 1-2. |
| | SC Res. 1725 (6 December 2006), para. 5. |
| 748 Libya | SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), paras. 4-6. |
| v | SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), paras. 3-6. |
| | SC Res. 1192 (27 August 1998), para. 8. |
| | S/PRST/1998/10 (8 April 1999), Presidential Statement of |
| | 8 April 1999. |
| | SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), para. 1. |
| 757 FRYSM | SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), paras. 4-8. |
| | SC Res. 760 (18 June 1992), sole para. |
| | SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9. |
| | SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 15-16, 21, 23-5, 27-8. |
| | SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 967 (14 December 1994), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 992 (11 May 1995), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), para. 2. |
| 788 Liberia | SC Res. 788 (19 November 1992), para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 1. |

D. UNSCR provisions outlining the scope of sanctions (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Provisions establishing or modifying the scope of sanctions |
|---|---|
| 820 Bosnian Serbs | SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), para. 12. |
| | SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 7, 11–15. |
| | SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), paras. 2–3. |
| | SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), para. 2. |
| 841 Haiti | SC Res. 841 (15 June 1993), paras. 5, 7-8. |
| | SC Res. 861 (27 August 1993), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), paras. 2-3, 6-8. |
| | SC Res. 944 (29 September 1994), para. 4. |
| | SC Res. 948 (15 October 1994), paras. 1, 10. |
| 864 Angola (UNITA) | SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 19. |
| | SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), paras. 4-5. |
| | SC Res. 1130 (29 September 1997), para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), paras. 11–12. |
| | SC Res. 1176 (24 June 1998), para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1412 (17 May 2002), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1432 (15 August 2002), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002), para. 2. |
| 918 Rwanda | SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 13. |
| | SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), paras. 7–8, 11. |
| 1054 Sudan | SC Res. 1054 (26 April 1996), para. 3. |
| 10010,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | SC Res. 1070 (16 August 1996), para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1372 (28 September 2001), para. 1. |
| 1132 Sierra Leone | SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), paras. 5-6. |
| 1102 3,0 | SC Res. 1156 (16 March 1998), para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), paras. 1–5. |
| | SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), paras. 1, 5–6. |
| | SC Res. 1385 (19 December 2001), para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 2. |
| 1160 FRY | SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 8. |
| | SC Res. 1203 (24 October 1998), para. 15. |
| | SC Res. 1244 (10 June 1999), para. 16. |
| | SC Res. 1367 (10 September 2001), para. 1. |
| 1267 Taliban/ | SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), para. 4. |
| Al Qaida | SC Res. 1333 (19 December 2000), paras. 5, 8, 10–11. |
| | SC Res. 1388 (15 January 2001), paras. 1–2. |
| | SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), paras. 1–2. |
| | SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), paras. 1–2. |
| | SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 1–2. |
| | SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), para. 1. |
| | series. 1.55 (III December 2000), para: 1. |

D. UNSCR provisions outlining the scope of sanctions (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Provisions establishing or modifying the scope of sanctions |
|----------------------|--|
| 1298 Eritrea and | SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), para. 6. |
| Ethiopia | SC Res. 1312 (31 July 2000), para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1320 (15 September 2000), para. 10. |
| 1343 Liberia | SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), paras. 5-7. |
| | SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 5. |
| | SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 10, 17, 28. |
| | SC Res. 1509 (19 September 2003), para. 12. |
| | SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 1. |
| 1493 DRC | SC Res. 1493 (28 July 2003), para. 20. |
| | SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), paras. 1–2, 4, 6–7, 10, 13–16. |
| | SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1649 (21 December 2005), paras. 2-3, 6. |
| | SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 2. |
| 1521 Liberia | SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), paras. 2, 4, 6, 10. |
| | SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), paras. 1–3. |
| | SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 1. |
| | SC Res. 1683 (13 June 2006), para. 2. |
| | SC Res. 1688 (16 June 2006), para. 9. |
| | SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), paras. 1, 4. |
| | SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 1. |
| 1556 Sudan | SC Res. 1556 (30 July 2004), paras. 7, 9. |
| | SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3. |
| | SC Res. 1672 (25 April 2006), para. 1. |
| 1572 Côte d'Ivoire | SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), paras. 7–12. |
| | SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), paras. 1, 4, 6. |
| | SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 1. |
| 1636 Hariri suspects | SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3(a). |
| 1718 North Korea | SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), paras. 8-10. |
| 1737 Iran | SC Res. 1737 (27 December 2006), paras. 3–6, 12–16. |

| E. U | JNSCR | provisions | outlining Sanctions | Committee | mandates |
|------|-------|------------|---------------------|-----------|----------|
| | | | | | |

| Sanctions Committee | Provisions establishing, modifying or dissolving the Committee's mandate |
|------------------------------------|--|
| 253 Southern Rhodesia Committee | Established: SC Res. 253 (29 May 1968), para. 20. Modified: SC Res. 277 (18 March 1970), para. 21. SC Res. 314 (28 February 1972), para. 6. SC Res. 320 (29 September 1972), paras. 4–5. SC Res. 326 (2 February 1973), para. 8. SC Res. 328 (10 March 1973), para. 6. SC Res. 409 (27 May 1977), para. 3. SC Res. 411 (30 June 1977), para. 12. SC Res. 445 (8 March 1979), para. 8. Dissolved: SC Res. 460 (21 December 1979), para. 3. |
| 421 South Africa Committee | Established : SC Res. 421 (9 December 1977), para. 1. Modified : SC Res. 473 (13 June 1980), para. 11. SC Res. 591 (28 November 1986), para. 13. |
| 661 Iraq Committee | Dissolved: SC Res. 919 (25 May 1994), para. 3. Established: SC Res. 661 (6 August 1990), para. 6. Modified: |
| | SC Res. 666 (13 September 1990), paras. 1, 5. SC Res. 669 (24 September 1990), preambular para. 4. SC Res. 687 (3 April 1991), paras. 20, 23. SC Res. 700 (17 June 1991), para. 5. SC Res. 715 (11 October 1991), para. 7. SC Res. 986 (14 April 1995), paras. 1, 6, 12. SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1996), para. 10. SC Res. 1051 (27 March 1997), paras. 4, 5. SC Res. 1111 (4 June 1997), paras. 5, 9. SC Res. 1143 (4 December 1997), paras. 3, 14, 15. SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), paras. 3, 14, 15. SC Res. 1175 (19 June 1998), para. 2. SC Res. 1210 (4 November 1998), paras. 3, 10. SC Res. 1242 (21 May 1999), para. 10. SC Res. 1281 (10 December 1999), paras. 17–18, 25. SC Res. 1302 (8 June 2000), paras. 6, 8. SC Res. 1330 (5 December 2000), paras. 6, 10, 13. SC Res. 1409 (14 May 2001), para. 6. SC Res. 1454 (30 December 2002), para. 2. SC Res. 1472 (28 March 2003), paras. 4, 7, 9. Dissolved: SC Res. 1483 (22 May 2003), para. 29 ('terminated' effective six months from the date of adoption of |

that resolution).

E. UNSCR provisions outlining Sanctions Committee mandates (cont.)

| Sanctions Committee | Provisions establishing, modifying or dissolving the Committee's mandate | | |
|-----------------------|--|--|--|
| | | | |
| 724 Former Yugoslavia | Established: SC Res. 724 (15 December 1991), | | |
| Committee | para. 5(b). | | |
| | Responsibilities concerning the 757 FRYSM | | |
| | sanctions regime: | | |
| | SC Res. 757 (30 May 1992), para. 13. | | |
| | SC Res. 787 (16 November 1992), para. 9. | | |
| | SC Res. 820 (17 April 1993), paras. 18, 22, 27-8. | | |
| | SC Res. 843 (18 June 1993), para. 2. | | |
| | SC Res. 943 (23 September 1994), para. 2. | | |
| | SC Res. 970 (12 January 1995), para. 4. | | |
| | SC Res. 988 (21 April 1995), paras. 11, 12. | | |
| | SC Res. 1022 (22 November 1995), para. 8. | | |
| | Responsibilities concerning the 820 Bosnian | | |
| | Serb sanctions regime: | | |
| | SC Res. 942 (23 September 1994), paras. 7, 13–15. | | |
| | Dissolved : SC Res. 1074 (1 October 1996), para. 6. | | |
| 748 Libya Committee | Established : SC Res. 748 (31 March 1992), para. 9. | | |
| • | Modified : SC Res. 883 (11 November 1993), paras. 9, 10. | | |
| | Dissolved: SC Res. 1506 (12 September 2003), para. 2. | | |
| 751 Somalia | Established : SC Res. 751 (24 April 1992), para. 11. | | |
| Committee | Modified: | | |
| | SC Res. 954 (4 November 1994), para. 12. | | |
| | SC Res. 1356 (19 June 2001), para. 4. | | |
| | SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), paras. 2, 7. | | |
| | SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), para. 8. | | |
| | SC Res. 1519 (16 December 2003), para. 8. | | |
| | SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), para. 6. | | |
| 841 Haiti Committee | Established : SC Res. 841 (16 June 1993), para. 10. | | |
| | Modified : SC Res. 917 (6 May 1994), para. 14. | | |
| | Dissolved : SC Res. 948 (15 October 1994), para. 10. | | |
| 864 UNITA Committee | Established : SC Res. 864 (15 September 1993), para. 22. | | |
| oo i civilii communee | Modified: | | |
| | SC Res. 1127 (28 August 1997), para. 11. | | |
| | SC Res. 1173 (12 June 1998), paras. 13, 20. | | |
| | SC Res. 1221 (12 January 1999), paras. 8, 9. | | |
| | SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), para. 7. | | |
| | SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 24. | | |
| | SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), para. 6. | | |
| | SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), para. 6. | | |
| | SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), paras. 4, 8. | | |
| | | | |
| | SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), para. 7. | | |
| | SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 6. | | |
| | Dissolved: SC Res. 1448 (9 December 2002), para. 3. | | |

E. UNSCR provisions outlining Sanctions Committee mandates (cont.)

| Sanctions Committee | Provisions establishing, modifying or dissolving the Committee's mandate | | |
|-------------------------|--|--|--|
| 918 Rwanda Committee | Established : SC Res. 918 (17 May 1994), para. 14. Modified : SC Res. 1005 (17 July 1995), sole para. SC Res. 1011 (16 August 1995), para. 11. | | |
| 985 Liberia Committee | Established : SC Res. 985 (13 April 1995), para. 4. Dissolved : SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 1. | | |
| 1132 Sierra Leone | Established : SC Res. 1132 (8 October 1997), paras. 9, 10. | | |
| Committee | | | |
| | Modified: | | |
| | SC Res. 1171 (5 June 1998), paras. 4, 6. | | |
| | SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), paras. 4-5, 7, 12, 17, 22-3. | | |
| | SC Res. 1446 (4 December 2002), para. 4. | | |
| 1160 FRY Committee | Established : SC Res. 1160 (31 March 1998), para. 9. | | |
| | Dissolved: SC Res. 1367 (10 September 2001), | | |
| | para. 2. | | |
| 1267 Taliban/Al Qaida | Established: SC Res. 1267 (15 October 1999), | | |
| Committee | paras. 6, 12. | | |
| | Modified: | | |
| | SC Res. 1333, para. 16. | | |
| | SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), paras. 3, 6. | | |
| | SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), para. 5. | | |
| | SC Res. 1452 (20 December 2002), paras. 1, 3. | | |
| | SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), paras. 4, 9, 11, 14–15. | | |
| | SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), paras. 2, 7, | | |
| | 10–13, 21, 23. | | |
| | SC Res. 1735 (22 December 2006), paras. 8–9, 13–17, | | |
| 4000 T to 1 | 21, 25–27, 30–32. | | |
| 1298 Eritrea and | Established : SC Res. 1298 (17 May 2000), | | |
| Ethiopia Committee | paras. 8, 13. | | |
| | Dissolved : S/PRST/2001/14 (15 May 2001), Presidential statement of 15 May 2001. | | |
| 1343 Liberia | Established : SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 14. | | |
| Committee | Modified: | | |
| | SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), paras. 13, 14. | | |
| | SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), paras. 24, 29. | | |
| | Dissolved : SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 1. | | |
| 1518 Iraq Committee | Established: SC Res. 1518 (24 November 2003), | | |
| | paras. 1-3. | | |
| 1521 Liberia | Established: SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), | | |
| Committee | para. 21. | | |
| | Modified: | | |
| | SC Res. 1532 (12 March 2004), para. 4. | | |

E. UNSCR provisions outlining Sanctions Committee mandates (cont.)

| Sanctions Committee | Provisions establishing, modifying or dissolving the Committee's mandate | |
|---------------------------------|--|--|
| 1533 DRC Committee | Established : SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), paras. 8, 9. | |
| 1572 Côte d'Ivoire Committee | Established : SC Res. 1572 (15 November 2004), para. 14. | |
| 1591 Sudan Committee | Established : SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3. | |
| 1636 Hariri Committee | Established : SC Res. 1636 (31 October 2005), para. 3 and Annex. | |
| 1718 North Korea Committee | Established : SC Res. 1718 (14 October 2006), para. 12. | |
| 1737 Iran Committee | Established : SC Res. 1737 (27 December 2006), para. 18. | |

F. Reports by Sanctions Committees ¹

| Sanctions Committee | Reports ² |
|-----------------------|--|
| 253 Southern Rhodesia | S/8954 (30 December 1968). |
| Committee | S/9252 (12 and 13 June 1969). |
| | S/9844 and Corr.1-2 (15 June 1970). |
| | S/10229 & Add.1 (16 June and 13 July 1971). |
| | S/10852 & Add.1-2 (22 and 31 December 1972 and |
| | 2 February 1973). |
| | S/11178 and Rev. 1 (3 January 1974). |
| | S/11594 and Rev. 1 (9 and 10 January 1975). |
| | S/11927 & Add.1 (8 January and 6 February 1976). |
| | S/12265 (21 December 1976). |
| | S/12529 & Add.1 (1 March 1978). |
| | S/13000 (11 January 1979). |
| | S/13750 (15 January 1980). |
| | Interim reports |
| | S/10408 (3 December 1971); |
| | S/10580 (29 March 1972); |
| | S/10593 (10 April 1972); |
| | S/12450 (18 November 1977); |
| | S/13191 (23 March 1979). |
| | Special reports |
| | S/10632 (9 May 1972); |
| | S/10920 (15 April 1973); |
| | S/11597 (15 January 1975); |
| | S/11913 (15 December 1975); |
| | S/12296 (31 December 1976); |
| | S/13296 (4 May 1979). |
| 421 South Africa | S/13708 (26 December 1979). |
| Committee | S/13721 (31 December 1979). |
| | S/14179 (19 September 1980). |
| | S/21015 (11 December 1989). |
| 661 Iraq Committee | S/1996/700 (26 August 1996). |
| - | S/1997/672 (28 August 1997). |
| | S/1998/1239 (31 December 1998). |
| | S/2000/133 (18 February 2000). |
| | S/2001/738 (27 July 2001). |
| | S/2002/647 (10 June 2002). |
| | S/2003/300 (12 March 2003). |
| | Reports on implementation of arms sanctions |
| | S/23036 (13 September 1991). |
| | S/23279 (11 December 1991). |
| | S/23708 (12 March 1992). |
| | S/24083 (11 June 1992). |
| | S/24545 (10 September 1992). |
| | σ ₁ 2 το το (10 σεριεπισεί 1332). |

F. Reports by Sanctions Committees 1 (cont.)

Sanctions Committee

Reports²

S/24912 (4 December 1992). S/25442 (19 March 1993). S/25930 (7 June 1993). S/26430 (7 September 1993). S/26874 (14 December 1993). S/1994/274 (8 March 1994). S/1994/695 (10 June 1994). S/1994/1027 (4 September 1994). S/1994/1367 (1 December 1994). S/1995/169 (1 March 1995). S/1995/442 (30 May 1995). S/1995/744 (28 August 1995). S/1995/992 (28 November 1995). S/1996/127 (23 February 1996). S/1996/361 (21 May 1996). S/1996/676 (20 August 1996). S/1996/950 (17 November 1996). S/1997/141 (19 February 1997). S/1997/374 (16 May 1997). S/1997/637 (12 August 1997). S/1997/949 (3 December 1997). S/1998/108 (9 February 1998). S/1998/387 (12 May 1998). S/1998/729 (7 August 1998). S/1998/1055 (7 November 1998). S/1999/110 (3 February 1999). S/1999/519 (4 May 1999). S/1999/848 (4 August 1999). S/1999/1113 (1 November 1999). S/2000/72 (1 February 2000). S/2000/365 (1 May 2000). S/2000/748 (28 July 2000). S/2000/1033 (26 October 2000). S/2001/72 (23 January 2001). S/2001/400 (24 April 2001). S/2001/721 (23 July 2001). S/2001/1003 (24 October 2001). S/2002/84 (18 January 2002). S/2002/476 (23 April 2002). S/2002/802 (22 July 2002). S/2002/1167 (18 October 2002). S/2003/61 (17 January 2003). S/2003/507 (29 April 2003).

F. Reports by Sanctions Committees ¹ (cont.)

| Sanctions Committee | Reports ² |
|-----------------------|---|
| | Reports on the Oil-for-Food Programme |
| | S/1997/213 (11 March 1997). |
| | S/1997/417 (30 May 1997). |
| | S/1997/692 (8 September 1997). |
| | S/1997/942 (2 December 1997). |
| | S/1998/187 (3 March 1998). |
| | S/1998/469 (4 June 1998). |
| | S/1998/813 (27 August 1998). |
| | S/1998/1104 (20 November 1998). |
| | S/1999/279 (16 March 1999). |
| | S/1999/582 (19 May 1999). |
| | S/1999/907 (24 August 1999). |
| | S/1999/1177 (17 November 1999). |
| | S/2000/242 (23 March 2000). |
| | S/2000/536 (5 June 2000). |
| | S/2001/321 (3 April 2001). |
| | S/2001/842 (5 September 2001). |
| | S/2001/1341 (31 December 2001). |
| | S/2002/1261 (18 November 2002). |
| | S/2003/331 (18 March 2003). |
| | Reports on improvements to working procedures |
| | S/1998/92 (30 January 1998). |
| -0.4 W . I . | S/1998/336 (20 April 1998). |
| 724 Yugoslavia | S/23800 (13 April 1992). |
| Committee | S/25027 (30 December 1992). |
| 540 I'll C | S/1996/946 (15 November 1996). |
| 748 Libya Committee | S/1996/2 (2 January 1996). |
| | S/1996/1079 (31 December 1996). |
| | S/1997/1030 (31 December 1997). |
| | S/1998/1237 (31 December 1998). |
| | S/1999/1299 (31 December 1999). The 748 Committee issued no annual reports for |
| | 2000, 2001 or 2002. |
| 751 Somalia Committee | S/1996/17 (16 January 1996). |
| 731 30mmm Commune | S/1997/16 (7 January 1997). |
| | S/1998/1226 (28 December 1998). |
| | S/1999/1283 (28 December 1999). |
| | S/2000/1226 (21 December 2000). |
| | S/2001/1259 (26 December 2001). |
| | S/2002/1430 (30 December 2002). |
| | S/2003/1216 (31 December 2003). |
| | |
| | S/2004/1017 (30 December 2004). |

F. Reports by Sanctions Committees ¹ (cont.)

| 841 Haiti Committee 864 UNITA Committee | No reports issued. S/1996/37 (17 January 1996). S/1997/33 (14 January 1997). S/1997/1027 (31 December 1997). S/1998/1227 (28 December 1998). S/2000/83 (3 February 2000). S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). Ad hoc reports: |
|--|--|
| 864 UNITA Committee | S/1997/33 (14 January 1997). S/1997/1027 (31 December 1997). S/1998/1227 (28 December 1998). S/2000/83 (3 February 2000). S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/1997/1027 (31 December 1997). S/1998/1227 (28 December 1998). S/2000/83 (3 February 2000). S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/1998/1227 (28 December 1998). S/2000/83 (3 February 2000). S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2000/83 (3 February 2000). S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2000/83 (3 February 2000). S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2000/1255 (29 December 2000). S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2002/243 (7 March 2002). S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2002/1413 (24 December 2002). |
| | |
| | |
| | S/1994/825 (15 July 1994). |
| | S/1999/147 (12 February 1999). |
| | S/1999/509 (4 May 1999). |
| | S/1999/837 (30 July 1999). |
| | Reports on missions by the Chairman: |
| | S/1999/644 (4 June 1999). |
| | S/1999/829 (28 July 1999). |
| 918 Rwanda Committee | S/1996/82 (2 February 1996). |
| 3 10 11, 3, 3, 3, 3 | S/1997/15 (7 January 1997). |
| | S/1997/1028 (31 December 1997). |
| | S/1998/1219 (24 December 1998). |
| | S/1999/1292 (30 December 1999). |
| | S/2000/1227 (22 December 2000). |
| | S/2002/49 (14 January 2002). |
| | S/2002/1406 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2004/134 (20 February 2004). |
| | S/2005/76 (9 February 2005). |
| | S/2006/164 (14 March 2006). |
| | S/2006/1049 (28 December 2006). |
| 985 Liberia Committee | S/1996/72 (30 January 1996). |
| 365 Liberiu Commutee | S/1996/1077 (31 December 1996). |
| | S/1997/1026 (31 December 1997). |
| | S/1998/1220 (24 December 1998). |
| | S/1999/1301 (31 December 1999). |
| | S/2000/1233 (22 December 2000). |
| 1132 Sierra Leone | S/1998/1236 (31 December 1998). |
| Committee | S/1999/1300 (31 December 1999). |
| Commutee | S/2000/1238 (26 December 2000). |
| | S/2002/50 (14 January 2002). |
| | |
| | S/2002/1414 (24 December 2002). |
| | S/2004/166 (27 February 2004). |
| | S/2005/44 (25 January 2005). |
| | S/2005/843 (30 December 2005). S/2006/1043 (28 December 2006). |

| Sanctions Committee | Reports ² | |
|-------------------------|---|--|
| | Reports on measures taken by states to | |
| | implement sanctions | |
| | S/1998/112 & Add.1 (10 February and 31 March | |
| | 1998). | |
| | S/1998/740 (7 August 1998). | |
| | S/1998/1170 (15 December 1998). | |
| | S/1999/111 (3 February 1999). | |
| | S/1999/174 (16 February 1999). | |
| | S/1999/350 (26 March 1999). S/1999/381 (5 April 1999). | |
| | S/1999/1013 (29 September 1999). | |
| | S/1999/1026 (5 October 1999). | |
| | S/2000/659 (7 July 2000). | |
| | S/2000/660 (21 July 2000). | |
| | S/2000/730 (26 July 2000). | |
| | S/2000/861 & Add.1 (13 September and 4 December | |
| | 2000). | |
| | S/2000/862 & Add.1 (13 September and 4 December | |
| | 2000). | |
| | S/2000/1127 (27 November 2000). | |
| | S/2001/105 (2 February 2001). | |
| | S/2001/126 (12 February 2001). | |
| | S/2001/261 (22 March 2001). | |
| | S/2001/492 (10 May 2001). | |
| | S/2001/493 (10 May 2001). | |
| | S/2001/664 (2 July 2001). | |
| | S/2001/718 (20 July 2001). | |
| | S/2001/771(7 August 2001). S/2001/772 (8 August 2001). | |
| | Report on the role of diamonds in the Sierra | |
| | Leone conflict | |
| | S/2000/1150 (4 December 2000). | |
| 1160 FRY Committee | S/1999/216 (4 March 1999). | |
| 1100 1111 0011111111111 | S/2000/633 (29 June 2000). | |
| | S/2001/102 (5 February 2001). | |
| | S/2001/931 (3 October 2001). | |
| 1267 Taliban/Al Qaida | S/2000/1254 (29 December 2000). | |
| Committee | S/2002/101 (5 February 2002). | |
| | S/2002/1423 (26 December 2002). | |
| | S/2004/281 (8 April 2004). | |
| | S/2004/1039 (31 December 2004). | |
| | S/2006/22 (17 January 2006). | |

F. Reports by Sanctions Committees 1 (cont.)

| Sanctions Committee | Reports ² | |
|---------------------------|---|--|
| | Reports listing reports from states on sanctions | |
| | implementation | |
| | S/2000/282 and Add.1 (4 April and 31 August 2000). | |
| | S/2001/326 and Add.1 (4 April and 21 November | |
| | 2001). | |
| | S/2002/736 (9 July 2002). | |
| | Reports analysing sanctions implementation or | |
| | responding to reports by the Monitoring Team | |
| | S/2006/635 (10 August 2006). | |
| | S/2006/1046 (28 December 2006). | |
| 1000 7 1 1711 1 | S/2006/1047 (28 December 2006). | |
| 1298 Eritrea and Ethiopia | S/2000/1259 (29 December 2000). | |
| Committee | S/2001/503 (18 May 2001). | |
| | Report listing reports from states on sanctions | |
| | implementation | |
| 4040477 | S/2001/39 (12 January 2001). | |
| 1343 Liberia Committee | S/2002/83 (18 January 2002). | |
| | S/2002/1394 (20 December 2002). | |
| 1510 Inc. Committee | S/2004/139 (25 February 2004). | |
| 1518 Iraq Committee | S/2004/1036 (31 December 2004). | |
| 1521 Liberia Committee | S/2005/827 (28 December 2005). | |
| 1521 Liberia Committee | S/2004/1025 (31 December 2004). | |
| | S/2006/464 (30 June 2006). | |
| 1533 DRC Committee | S/2006/1044 (28 December 2006). | |
| 1533 DRC Commutee | S/2005/81 (10 February 2005). S/2006/54 (27 January 2006). | |
| | S/2006/1048 (28 December 2006). | |
| 1572 Côte d'Ivoire | S/2006/55 (30 January 2006). | |
| 1372 Cole a Ivolie | S/2006/1017 (21 December 2006). | |
| 1591 Sudan Committee | S/2006/543 (19 July 2006). | |
| 1391 Suutii Committee | S/2006/1045 (18 December 2006). | |
| 1636 Hariri Committee | Yet to issue reports. | |
| 1718 North Korea | Yet to issue reports. | |
| Committee | Tet to loude reports. | |
| 1737 Iran Committee | Yet to issue reports. | |
| | Tet to 155the Teports. | |

¹ As noted in Chapter 9, the practice of issuing annual reports was introduced following the Note by the President of the Security Council dated 29 March 1995. See S/1995/234 (29 March 1995): *Note by the President of the Security Council* (suggesting the introduction of improvements to make the procedures of the sanctions committees more transparent). The reports dating from prior to 1995 are therefore general reports submitted by the relevant Committee on its activities.
² Reports are annual or general unless otherwise noted.

G. UNSCR provisions outlining the mandates of sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies

| Sanctions regime | Expert Body | Provisions establishing, modifying or re-establishing the Body's mandate |
|---------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| 661 | Group of Experts on Iraqi oil | Established: SC Res. 1153 (20 February 1998), para. 12. |
| | Ad hoc panels of experts on the | Established: |
| | Iraq sanctions regime | S/1999/100 (30 January 1999). |
| | Iraq export/import monitoring | Established: |
| | mechanism | SC Res. 715 (11 October 1995), para. 7. |
| 733 | Somalia Team of Experts | Established: |
| | | SC Res. 1407 (3 May 2002), |
| | | para. 1. |
| | Somalia Panel of Experts | Established: |
| | | SC Res. 1425 (22 July 2002), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | Re-established: |
| | | SC Res. 1474 (8 April 2003), |
| | Comalia Manitanina Cuana | para. 3. |
| | Somalia Monitoring Group | Established : SC Res. 1519 (16 December |
| | | 2003), para. 2. |
| | | Re-established: |
| | | SC Res. 1558 (17 August 2004), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1587 (15 March 2005), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1630 (14 October 2005), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1676 (10 May 2006), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1724 (29 November |
| | | 2006), para. 3. |
| 864 | UNITA Panel of Experts | Established: |
| | | SC Res. 1237 (7 May 1999), |
| | UNITA Monitoring Machanism | para. 6. Established : |
| | UNITA Monitoring Mechanism | |
| | | SC Res. 1295 (18 April 2000), para. 3. |
| | | Extended: |
| | | SC Res. 1336 (23 January 2001), |
| | | para. 3. |

G. UNSCR provisions outlining the mandates of sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Expert Body | Provisions establishing, modifying or re-establishing the Body's mandate |
|---------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| | | the body's mandate |
| | | SC Res. 1348 (19 April 2001), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1374 (19 October 2001), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1404 (18 April 2002), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | SC Res. 1439 (18 October 2002), para. 2. |
| 918 | International Commission of | Established: |
| | Inquiry on Rwanda | SC Res. 1013 (7 September 1995), para. 1. |
| | | Maintained: |
| | | SC Res. 1053 (23 April 1996), |
| | | para. 2. |
| | | Re-activated: |
| | | SC Res. 1161 (9 April 1998), |
| | | para. 1. |
| 1132 | Sierra Leone Panel of Experts | Established: |
| | · - | SC Res. 1306 (5 July 2000), |
| | | para. 19. |
| 1267 | Taliban/Al Qaida Committee of | Established: |
| | Experts | SC Res. 1333 (19 December |
| | | 2000), para. 15. |
| | Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring | Established: |
| | Group | SC Res. 1363 (30 July 2001), |
| | | para. 3. |
| | | Extended: |
| | | SC Res. 1390 (16 January 2002), |
| | | paras. 9, 10. |
| | | SC Res. 1455 (17 January 2003), |
| | Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring | paras. 8, 12-13. Established : |
| | Team | SC Res. 1526 (30 January 2004), |
| | 1cum | para. 6. |
| | | Extended: |
| | | SC Res. 1617 (29 July 2005), para. |
| | | 19 and Annex I. |
| | | SC Res. 1735 (22 December |
| | | 2006), para. 32 and Annex II. |
| | | -// I |

G. UNSCR provisions outlining the mandates of sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Expert Body | Provisions establishing, modifying or re-establishing the Body's mandate |
|---------------------|----------------------------------|--|
| 1343 | 1343 Liberia Panel(s) of Experts | Established: SC Res. 1343 (7 March 2001), para. 19. Re-established: SC Res. 1395 (27 February 2002), para. 3. Established: SC Res. 1408 (6 May 2002), para. 16. Re-established: SC Res. 1458 (28 January 2003), para. 3. Established: SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003) |
| 1493 | DRC Group of Experts | SC Res. 1478 (6 May 2003), para. 25. Established: SC Res. 1533 (12 March 2004), para. 10. Re-established: SC Res. 1552 (27 July 2004), para. 5. SC Res. 1596 (18 April 2005), para. 21. SC Res. 1616 (29 July 2005), para. 4. SC Res. 1654 (31 January 2006), para. 1. Extended: |
| 1521 | 1521 Liberia Panel of Experts | SC Res. 1698 (31 July 2006), para. 3. Established: SC Res. 1521 (22 December 2003), para. 22. Re-established: SC Res. 1549 (17 June 2004), para. 1. SC Res. 1579 (21 December 2004), para. 8. SC Res. 1607 (21 June 2005), para. 14. SC Res. 1647 (20 December 2005), para. 9. |

G. UNSCR provisions outlining the mandates of sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Expert Body | Provisions establishing, modifying or re-establishing the Body's mandate |
|---------------------|--------------------------------|--|
| 1556 | Sudan Panel of Experts | Renewed: SC Res. 1689 (20 June 2006), para. 5. Extended: SC Res. 1731 (20 December 2006), para. 5. Established: SC Res. 1591 (29 March 2005), para. 3(b) Extended: |
| | | SC Res. 1651 (21 December 2005), paras. 1–2. SC Res. 1665 (29 March 2006), paras. 1–2. SC Res. 1713 (29 September 2006), paras. 1–2. |
| 1572 | Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts | Established: SC Res. 1584 (1 February 2005), para. 7. Extended: SC Res. 1632 (18 October 2005), para. 1. Re-established: SC Res. 1643 (15 December 2005), para. 9. |
| | | Extended: SC Res. 1708 (14 September 2006), para. 1. SC Res. 1727 (15 December 2006), para. 7. |

H. Reports by sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies

| Sanctions regime | Expert Body | Reports |
|------------------|---|--|
| 661 | Group of Experts on Iraqi oil Ad hoc panels of experts on the Iraq sanctions regime | S/1998/330 (15 April 1998). S/1999/356 (30 March 1999), Annex I: Report of the Panel on disarmament and current and future ongoing monitoring and verification issues. S/1999/356 (30 March 1999), Annex II: Report of the Panel on the humanitarian situation in Iraq. S/1999/356 (30 March 1999), Annex III: Report of the Panel on prisoners of war and Kuwaiti property. |
| 733 | Somalia Team of Experts Somalia Panel of Experts | S/2002/722 (3 July 2002). S/2003/223 (25 March 2003). S/2003/1035 (4 November 2003). |
| | The Somalia Monitoring Group | S/2004/604 (11 August 2004). S/2005/153 (9 March 2005). S/2005/625 (4 October 2005). S/2006/229 (4 May 2006). S/2006/913 (21 November 2006). |
| 864 | UNITA Panel of Experts | S/1999/1016 (30 September 1999). S/2000/203 (10 March 2000). |
| | UNITA monitoring mechanism | S/2000/1225 (21 December 2000). S/2001/363 (18 April 2001). S/2001/966 (12 October 2001). S/2002/486 (26 April 2002). S/2002/1119 (16 October 2002). S/2002/1339 (10 December 2002). |
| 918 | International Commission of Inquiry on Rwanda | S/1996/67 (29 January 1996). S/1996/195 (14 March 1996). S/1997/1010 (24 December 1997). S/1998/63 (26 January 1998). S/1998/777 (19 August 1998). S/1998/1096 (18 November 1998). |
| 1132 1267 | Sierra Leone Panel of Experts Taliban/Al Qaida Committee of Experts | S/2000/1195 (20 December 2000). S/2001/511 (22 May 2001). |
| | Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring Group | S/2002/65 (15 January 2002). S/2002/541 (15 May 2002). S/2002/1050 (17 December 2002). S/2002/1338 (17 December 2002). S/2003/669 (8 July 2003). S/2003/1070 (2 December 2003). |

H. Reports by sanctions-related expert and monitoring bodies (cont.)

| Sanctions regime | Expert Body | Reports |
|---------------------|---|---|
| | Taliban/Al Qaida Monitoring Team | S/2004/679 (25 August 2004). S/2005/83 (15 February 2005). S/2005/572 (9 September 2005). S/2006/154 (10 March 2006). S/2006/750 (20 September 2006). |
| 1343 | 1343 Liberia Panel(s) of Experts | S/2001/1015 (26 October 2001). S/2002/470 (19 April 2002). S/2002/1115 (25 October 2002). S/2003/498 (24 April 2003). S/2003/779 (7 August 2003). S/2003/937 (28 October 2003). |
| 1493 | DRC Group of Experts | S/2004/551 (15 July 2004). S/2005/30 (25 January 2005). S/2005/436 (26 July 2005). S/2006/53 (27 January 2006). S/2006/525 (18 July 2006). |
| 1521 | 1521 Liberia Panel(s) of Experts | S/2004/396 (1 June 2004). S/2004/752 (24 September 2004). S/2004/955 (6 December 2004). S/2005/176 (17 March 2005). S/2005/360 (13 June 2005). S/2005/745 (25 November 2005). S/2006/379 (7 June 2006). S/2006/976 (20 December 2006). |
| 1556 | Sudan Panel of Experts | S/2006/65 (30 January 2006). S/2006/250 (19 April 2006). S/2006/795 (3 October 2006). |
| 1572 | Côte d'Ivoire Group of Experts | S/2005/470 (20 July 2005). S/2005/699 (7 November 2005). S/2006/204 (31 March 2006). S/2006/735 (5 October 2006). S/2006/964 (12 December 2006). |
| 1636 | Independent International Investigation Commission | S/2005/662 (20 October 2005). S/2005/775 (12 December 2005). S/2006/161 (14 March 2006). S/2006/375 (10 June 2006). S/2006/760 (25 September 2006). S/2006/962 (12 December 2006). |

Bibliography

- A More Secure World: Our Shared Responsibility: Report of the Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change (New York: United Nations, 2004).
- Abi-Saab, Georges, 'The Concept of Sanction in International law', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, 29–41.
- Al-Anbari, A. Amir, 'The Impact of UN Sanctions on Economic Development, Human Rights and Civil Society', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, 371–380.
- Al-Khasawneh, Bisher H., 'Consultation under Article 50 of the UN Charter The Experience of the Middle-East', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, 325–333.
- Al-Nauimi, N. and Meese, R. (eds.), International Legal Issues Arising Under the UN Decade of International Law (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1995).
- Alexandrowicz, C.H. (ed.), *Grotian Society Papers* 1968: Studies in the History of the Law of Nations (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1970).
- Allain, Jean, A Century of International Adjudication: The Rule of Law and its Limits (The Hague: TMC Asser, 2000).
- Alvarez, José E., 'Hegemonic International Law Revisited (Editorial Comment)' (2003) 97 AJIL 873–888.
 - 'Judging the Security Council' (1996) 90 AJIL 1–39.
 - International Organizations as Law-Makers (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005).
- American Friends Service Committee, Dollars or Bombs: The Search for Justice Through International Economic Sanctions (Philadelphia: American Friends Service Committee, 1992).
- Ammash, Huda S., 'Toxic Pollution, the Gulf War, and Sanctions', in Arnove (ed.), *Iraq Under Siege*, pp. 205–214.
- Angelet, Nicolas, 'International Law Limits to the Security Council', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 71–82.
- Angell, David J.R., 'The Angola Sanctions Committee', in Malone (ed.), *The Security Council*, pp. 195–204.

- Anthony, Ian, 'Improving the Cooperation of Major Arms Suppliers', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 87–100.
- Archibugi, Daniele, Held, David and Köhler, Martin (eds.), Re-Imagining Political Community: Studies in Cosmopolitan Democracy (Cambridge: Polity Press, 1998).
- Arend, Anthony Clark, *Legal Rules and International Society* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999).
- Arnove, Anthony (ed.), *Iraq Under Siege: The Deadly Impact of Sanctions and War*, updated edn (Cambridge, MA: South End Press, 2002).
- Aznar-Gómez, Mariano J., 'A Decade of Human Rights Protection by the Security Council: A Sketch of Deregulation?' (2002) 13 EJIL 223–241.
- Bacchus, James, 'Groping Towards Grotius: The WTO and the International Rule of Law' (2003) 44 HILJ 533–550.
- Bailey, Sydney D. and Daws, Sam, *The Procedure of the UN Security Council*, 3rd edn (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998).
- Bailey, Sydney D., The Security Council and Human Rights (New York: St Martin's Press, 1994).
- Baldwin, David A. and Pape, Robert A., 'Evaluating Economic Sanctions' (1998) 23 International Security 189–198 (correspondence).
- Baldwin, David, *Economic Statecraft* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1985). Barnett, Randy E., *The Structure of Liberty: Justice and the Rule of Law* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998).
- Barringer, Felicity, 'U.S. Blocks Libya's Attempt to Gain Security Council Seat' *New York Times*, 11 July 2003, A7.
- Bartlett, Will, 'From Reform to Crisis: Economic Impacts of Secession, War and Sanctions in the Former Yugoslavia', in Jeffries (ed.), *Problems of Economic and Political Transformation in the Balkans*, pp. 151–171.
- Basch, Antonín, *The New Economic Warfare* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1941).
- Bederman, David, 'Collective Security, Demilitarization and "Pariah" States' (2002) 13 EJIL 121–138.
- Bedjaoui, Mohammed, The New World Order and the Security Council: Testing the Legality of its Acts (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1994).
- Bellamy, Carol, 'A Peace and Security Agenda for Children', Briefing to the Security Council, 12 February 1999.
- Bellamy, Richard (ed.), *The Rule of Law and the Separation of Powers* (Aldershot: Dartmouth, 2005).
- Bennoune, Karima, "'Sovereignty vs. Suffering?" Re-Examining Sovereignty and Human Rights Through the Lens of Iraq' (2002) 13 EJIL 243–262.
- Bergeijk, Peter A.G. Van, Economic Diplomacy, Trade and Commercial Policy: Positive and Negative Sanctions in a New World Order (Brookfield: Edward Elgar Publishing, 1994).
- Berman, Eric G., 'Sanctions Against the Genocidaires: Experiences of the 1998 UN International Commission of Inquiry', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 163–178.

- Berman, Nathaniel, 'Beyond Colonialism and Nationalism? Ethiopia, Czechoslovakia and "Peaceful Change" (1996) 65 NJIL 421–479.
- Bertram, Anton, 'The Economic Weapon as a Form of Peaceful Pressure' (1932) 17 Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers) 139–174.
- Bessler, Manuel, Garfield, Richard and McHugh, Gerard, Sanctions Assessment Handbook: Assessing the Humanitarian Implications of Sanctions (New York: UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2004).
- Bethlehem, Daniel L. and Lauterpacht, E., *The Kuwait Crisis: Sanctions and their Economic Consequences* (Cambridge: Grotius Publications, 1991).
- Bianchi, Andrea, 'Ad-hocism and the Rule of Law' (2002) 13 EJIL 263-272.
- Bisharat, George E., 'Sanctions as Genocide' (2001) 11 TLCP 379-425.
- Bishop, William W., 'The International Rule of Law' (1960–61) 59 *Michigan LR* 553–574.
- Blokker, Niels, 'Is the Authorization Authorized? Powers and Practice of the Security Council to Authorize the Use of Force by "Coalitions of the Willing" (2000) 11 EJIL 541–568.
- Bodansky, Daniel, 'The Legitimacy of International Governance: A Coming Challenge for International Environmental Law?' (1999) 93 AJIL 596–624.
- Bondi, Loretta, 'Arms Embargoes: In Name Only?', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft, pp. 109–123.
- Bourquin, Maurice (ed.), Collective Security: A Record of the Seventh and Eighth International Studies Conferences (Paris: Institut international de coopération intellectuelle, 1936).
- Boutros-Ghali, Boutros, 'Preface', in Bedjaoui, *The New World Order and the Security Council*, pp. xvii–xix.
- Bowett, Derek W., 'Judicial and Political Functions of the Security Council and the International Court of Justice', in Fox (ed.), *The Changing Constitution of the UN*, pp. 73–88.
 - Self-Defence in International Law (New York: Praeger, 1958).
- Bradley, Phillips, 'Some Legislative and Administrative Aspects of the Application of Article XVI of the Covenant' (1937) 22 *Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers)* 13–29.
- Brady, Lawrence J., 'The Utility of Economic Sanctions as a Policy Instrument', in Leyton-Brown (ed.), *The Utility of International Economic Sanctions*, pp. 297–302.
- Brierly, J. L., 'Sanctions' (1932) 17 Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers) 67–84.
 - 'The Rule of Law in International Society', in Lauterpacht and Waldock (eds.), The Basis of Obligation in International Law and Other Papers, pp. 250–264.
- Brown, Michael E. (ed.), *The International Dimensions of Internal Conflict* (Cambridge, MA: John F. Kennedy School of Government, 1996).
- Brown-John, C. Lloyd, Multilateral Sanctions in International Law: A Comparative Analysis (New York: Praeger, 1975).

- Brownlie, Ian, 'The Decisions of the Political Organs of the United Nations and the Rule of Law', in Macdonald (ed.), Essays in Honour of Wang Tieys, pp. 91–102.
 - International Law and the Use of Force by States (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1963).
 - The Rule of Law in International Affairs: International Law at the Fiftieth Anniversary of the United Nations (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1998).
- Brüderlein, Claude, 'Carrot and Stick Approach for the Implementation of Financial Sanctions', in *Expert Seminar on Targeting UN Financial Sanctions*, pp. 127–128.
- Brzoska, Michael, 'Putting More Teeth in UN Arms Embargoes', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 125–143.
- Buell, Raymond Leslie, 'Yes', in Foreign Policy Association, *Are Sanctions Necessary to International Organization*?, pp. 3–22.
- Burci, Gian Luca, 'Interpreting the Humanitarian Exceptions through the Sanctions Committees', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 143–154.
- Burdeau, Geneviève, 'Les effets juridiques des résolutions du Conseil de sécurité sur les contrats privés', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 267–288.
- Butchkov, Petar, Kovatcheva, Nadejda and Raytcheva, Rossitza, 'The Economic and Political Effects of the "Yugo-Sanctions" on Neighbouring Bulgaria', in Genugten and Groot (eds.), *UN Sanctions: Effectiveness and Effects*, pp. 35–47.
- Butler, Geoffrey and Maccoby, Simon, *The Development of International Law* (London: Longmans, Green & Co, 1928).
- Butler, Richard, 'Can the Security Council Enforce International Law?' (1998) Proceedings of the ANZSIL Conference 3–12.
 - The Greatest Threat: Iraq, Weapons of Mass Destruction, and the Crisis of Global Security (New York: Public Affairs, 2000).
- Butler, William E. (ed.), Control Over Compliance With International Law (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1991).
- Byers, Michael (ed.), *The Role of Law in International Politics* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).
 - 'The Shifting Foundations of International Law: A Decade of Forceful Measures Against Iraq' (2002) 13 EJIL 21–41.
 - *Custom, Power and the Power of Rules* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999).
- Caflisch, Lucius, 'Is the International Court Entitled to Review Security Council Resolutions Adopted Under Chapter VII of the UN Charter?', in Al-Nauimi and Meese (eds.), International Legal Issues Arising Under the UN Decade of International Law, pp. 633–662.
- Cameron, Iain, *Targeted Sanctions and Legal Safeguards*, Report for the Swedish Government, (Uppsala: Uppsala University, 2002) available online at http://www.jur.uu.se/sii/index.html (publications).

- Campaign Against Sanctions On Iraq, Sanctions on Iraq: Background, Consequences, Strategies (Cambridge: Campaign Against Sanctions On Iraq, 2000).
- Canadian Department of External Affairs, *Documents Relating to the Italo-Ethiopian Conflict* (Ottawa: Department of External Affairs, 1936).
- Canor, Iris, "Can Two Walk Together, Except They Be Agreed?" The Relationship Between International Law and European Law: the Incorporation of UN Sanctions Against Yugoslavia into European Community Law through the Perspective of the European Court of Justice' (1998) 35 Common Market LR 137–187.
- Capaccio, George, 'Sanctions: Killing a Country and a People', in Arnove (ed.), *Iraq Under Siege*, pp. 171–182.
- Carbaugh, R., and Wassink, D., 'International Sanctions and Economic Theory' (1988) 33 Revista Internationale di Scienze Economische e Commerciali 217–225.
- Caron, David D., 'The Legitimacy of the Collective Authority of the Security Council' (1993) 87 AJIL 552–588.
- Carothers, Thomas (ed.), *Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad* (Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2006).
- Carothers, Thomas, 'The Rule of Law Revival' (1998) 77(2) *Foreign Affairs* 95–106. Carver, Jeremy and Hulsmann, Jenine, 'The Role of Article 50 of the UN Charter in the Search for International Peace and Security' (2000) 49 *ICLQ* 528–577.
- Carver, Jeremy, 'Making Financial Sanctions Work: Preconditions for Successful Implementation of Sanctions by the Implementing State', in *Expert Seminar* on Targeting UN Financial Sanctions, 87–104.
- Cass, Deborah Z., 'Navigating the New Stream: Recent Critical Scholarship in International Law' (1996) 65 NJIL 341–383.
- Cassese, Antonio, *International Law in a Divided World* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988).
- Center for Economic and Social Rights, (UN) Sanctioned Suffering: a Human Rights Assessment of UN Sanctions on Iraq (New York: Center for Economic and Social Rights, 1996).
- Chandhoke, Neera, *The Politics of UN Sanctions* (New Delhi: Gitanjali Publishing, 1986).
- Charlesworth, Hilary, 'Concepts of Equality in International Law', in Huscroft and Rishworth (eds.), *Litigating Rights*, pp. 137–147.
 - 'Cries and Whispers: Responses to Feminist Scholarship in International Law' (1996) 65 NJIL 557–568.
 - 'Whose Rule? Women and the International Rule of Law', in Zifcak (ed.), Globalisation and the Rule of Law, pp. 83–95.
- Charlesworth, Hilary and Chinkin, Christine, *The Boundaries of International Law: A Feminist Analysis* (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2000).
- Charlesworth, Hilary, Chinkin, Christine and Wright, Shelley, 'Feminist Approaches to International Law' (1991) 85 AJIL 613–645.
- Chayes, Abram and Chayes, Antonia, *The New Sovereignty: Compliance With International Regulatory Agreements* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1995).

- Chemillier-Gendreau, Monique, 'Contrainte légale et violence illégale en droit international: fondements de la distinction', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 393–401.
- Chesterman, Simon and Pouligny, Béatrice, *The Politics of Sanctions* (New York: International Peace Academy, 2002).
- Chesterman, Simon, Just War or Just Peace? Humanitarian Intervention and International Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001).
 - You, the People: The United Nations, Transitional Administration and State-Building (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2004).
- Chinkin, Christine M., 'NATO's Kosovo Intervention: Kosovo: A "Good" or "Bad" War?' (1999) 93 AJIL 841–847.
- Chinkin, Christine, 'Alternatives to Economic Sanctions', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 381–391.
 - 'Human Rights and the Politics of Representation: Is there a Role for International Law?', in Byers (ed.), *The Role of Law in International Politics*, pp. 131–147.
 - 'The Legality of the Imposition of Sanctions by the European Union in International Law', in Evans (ed.), Aspects of Statehood and Institutionalism in Contemporary Europe, pp. 183–213.
- Chomsky, Noam, 'US Iraq Policy: Motives and Consequences', in Arnove (ed.), *Iraq Under Siege*, pp. 65–74.
- Chomsky, Noam, Herman, Edward, Said, Edward, Zinn, Howard, et al., 'Sanctions are Weapons of Mass Destruction', in Arnove (ed.), *Iraq Under Siege*, pp. 217–219.
- Cicero, De Re Publica (London: William Heineman, 1970), book III, P. xxi.
- Clapham, Andrew, 'Globalisation and the Rule of Law' (1999) 61 *International Commission of Jurists: The Review* 17–33.
 - 'Sanctions and Economic, Social and Cultural Rights', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 131–141.
- Clark, Evans (ed.), Boycotts and Peace: A Report by the Committee on Economic Sanctions (New York: Harper, 1932).
- Clark, Grover, 'The English Practice with Regard to Reprisals by Private Persons' (1933) 27 AJIL 694–723.
- Clark, Ramsey and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, The Children are Dying: The Impact of Sanctions on Iraq (New York: World View Forum, 1996).
- Claude, Inis L., 'Collective Legitimization as a Political Function of the United Nations' (1966) 20 *International Organization* 367–379.
- Clements, K. and Ward, R. (eds.), *Building International Community* (Canberra: Allen & Unwin, 1994).
- Cluckers, Albert, 'How Can Financial Assets and Financial Transactions be Controlled? Comments from a Banker's Point of View', in *Expert Seminar on Targeting UN Financial Sanctions*, pp. 81–84.
- Colbert, Evelyn S., Retaliation in International Law (New York: King's Crown Press, 1948).

- Coleman, Andrew, 'The International Court of Justice and Highly Political Matters' (2003) 4 Melbourne JIL 29–75.
- Colombos, C. John, *A Treatise on the Law of Prize*, 3rd edn (London: Longmans, Green & Co, 1949).
- Combacau, Jean, 'Sanctions', in *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 9 (Amsterdam: Max Planck Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law, 1986), pp. 337–341.
 - Le Pouvoir de Sanction de L'O. N. U.: Étude Théorique de la Coercition non Militaire (Paris: Éditions A. Pedone, 1974).
- Condorelli, Luigi, 'La compatibilité des sanctions du Conseil de Sécurité avec le droit international humanitaire commentaire', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 233–240.
- Conference, Report of the Copenhagen Round Table on UN Sanctions in the Case of the Former Yugoslavia, Copenhagen, 24–25 June 1996.
- Conlon, Paul, 'Legal Problems at the Centre of United Nations Sanctions' (1996) 65 NJIL 73-90.
 - 'Lessons from Iraq: the Functions of the Iraq Sanctions Committee as a Source of Sanctions Implementation Authority and Practice' (1995) 35 *VJIL* 633–668.
 - 'The Humanitarian Mitigation of UN Sanctions' (1996) 39 GYIL 249-284.
 - 'The UN's Questionable Sanctions Practices' (1996) 53/54 Law and State 133–146.
 - United Nations Sanctions Management: A Case Study of the Iraq Sanctions Committee (New York: Transnational Publishers, 2000).
- Conroy, Richard W., 'Implementation Problems of Travel Bans: Practical and Legal Aspects', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 205–221.
 - 'The UN Experience with Travel Sanctions: Selected Cases and Conclusions', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 145–169.
- Coomaraswamy, Radhika, 'Broken Glass: Women, Violence and the Rule of Law' in Saunders and Le Roy (eds.), *The Rule of Law*, pp. 143–171.
- Cordesman, Anthony H., *Iraq and the War of Sanctions: Conventional Threats and Weapons of Mass Destruction* (Westport: Praeger, 1999).
- Corell, Hans, 'Developing the Rule of Law Among Nations: A Challenge for the United Nations', Lecture given to the UN Association of the United Kingdom, 7 July 2003 (on file with author).
 - 'The Visible College of International Law: Towards the Rule of Law in International Relations' (2001) ASIL Proceedings 262–270.
- Cortright, David and Lopez, George (eds.), *Economic Sanctions: Panacea or Peacebuilding in a Post-Cold War World* (Boulder: Westview Press, 1995).
- Cortright, David and Lopez, George A. (eds.), Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2002).
- Cortright, David and Lopez, George A., 'Assessing Smart Sanctions: Lessons From the 1990s', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 19–37. 'Reforming Sanctions', in Malone (ed.), *The Security Council*, pp. 167–179.

- 'Sanctions and Incentives as Tools of Economic Sanctions', in Väyrynen (ed.), *Globalization and Global Governance*, pp. 105–125.
- Sanctions and the Search for Security: Challenges to UN Action (Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 2002).
- The Sanctions Decade: Assessing UN Strategies in the 1990s (Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 2000).
- Cortright, David (ed.), *The Price of Peace: Incentives and International Conflict Prevention* (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 1997).
- Cortright, David, Lopez, George A. and Conroy, Richard W., 'Are Travel Sanctions Smart? A Review of Theory and Practice', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 179–193.
- Cortright, David, Lopez, George A. and Rogers, Elizabeth S., 'Targeted Financial Sanctions: Smart Sanctions That Do Work', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft, pp. 23–40.
- Costello, Cathryn, 'The Bosphorus Ruling of the European Court of Human Rights: Fundamental Rights and Blurred Boundaries in Europe' (2006) 6 Human Rights LR 87–130.
- Cotterrel, Roger, The Sociology of Law (London: Butterworths, 1984).
- Craig, Paul, 'Formal and Substantive Conceptions of the Rule of Law: An Analytical Framework' (1997) *Public Law* 467–487.
- Craven, Matthew, 'Humanitarianism and the Quest for Smarter Sanctions' (2002) 13 EJIL 43–61.
- Crawford, James, 'Democracy and the Body of International Law', in Fox and Roth (eds.), *Democratic Governance and International Law*, pp. 91–122.
 - 'The Charter of the United Nations as a Constitution', in Fox (ed.), *The Changing Constitution of the United Nations*, pp. 3–16.
 - 'The Relationship Between Sanctions and Countermeasures', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 57–68.
- Crawford, Neta C. and Klotz, Audie (eds.), How Sanctions Work: Lessons from South Africa (New York: St Martin's Press, 1999).
- Crawford, Neta C., 'The Humanitarian Consequences of Sanctioning South Africa: A Preliminary Assessment', in Weiss et al. (eds.), *Political Gain and Civilian Pain*, pp. 57–89.
- Czapliński, Wladyslaw, 'The Position of States Specially Affected by Sanctions in the Meaning of Article 50 of the UN Charter The Experience of Eastern Europe', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 335–347.
- Damrosch, Lori F., 'The Permanent Five as Enforcers of Controls on Weapons of Mass Destruction: Building on the Iraq "Precedent" (2002) 13 EJIL 305–321.
- Damrosch, Lori F., Caron, David D., Rashkow, Bruce C. and Wolfrum, Rüdiger, 'The Security Council: Its Authority and Legitimacy' (Panel Discussion) (1993) 87 ASIL Proceedings 300–320.
- Damrosch, Lori Fisler (ed.), *Enforcing Restraint: Collective Intervention in Internal Conflicts* (New York: Council on Foreign Relations, 1993).

- Damrosch, Lori Fisler, 'The Civilian Impact of Economic Sanctions', in Damrosch (ed.), *Enforcing Restraint: Collective Intervention in Internal Conflicts*, pp. 274–315.
 - Enforcing International Law Through Non-Forcible Measures (1997) 269 Recueil des Cours 9–250.
- Daoudi, M. S. and Dajani, M. S., Economic Sanctions, Ideals and Experience (London: Routledge, 1983).
- de Wet, Erika, 'Human Rights Limitations to Economic Enforcement Measures Under Article 41 of the UN Charter and the Iraqi Sanctions Regime' (2001) Leiden JIL 277–300.
 - 'Judicial Review as an Emerging General Principle of Law and its Implications for the International Court of Justice' (2000) *Netherlands ILR* 181–210.
 - The Chapter VII Powers of the United Nations Security Council (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2004).
- Dell, Robert E., The Geneva Racket (London: Robert Hale, 1941).
- Denters, Erik and Schrijver, Nico (eds.), Reflections on International Law from the Low Countries (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1998).
- Derbyshire, J. Denis and Derbyshire, Ian, *Political Systems of the World* (New York: St Martin's Press, 1996).
- Design and Implementation of Arms Embargo and Travel Sanctions and Aviation-related Sanctions: Results of the Bonn-Berlin Process (Bonn: International Center for Conversion, 2001).
- Devin, Julia and Dashti-Gibson, Jaleh, 'Sanctions in the Former Yugoslavia: Convoluted Goals and Complicated Consequences', in Weiss et al. (eds.), Political Gain and Civilian Pain, pp. 149–187.
- Dewey, John, 'No', in Foreign Policy Association, *Are Sanctions Necessary to International Organization?*, pp. 23–39.
- Dhanapala, Jayantha, 'Final Expert Seminar on Smart Sanctions: The Next Step: Arms Embargoes and Travel Sanctions', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 39–44.
- Dicey, A. V., Introduction to the Study of the Law of the Constitution, 10th edn (London: Macmillan, 1959).
- Dinstein, Yoram, *War, Aggression and Self-Defence*, 2nd edn (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994).
- Donoho, Douglas Lee, 'The Role of Human Rights in Global Security Issues: A Normative and Institutionalist Critique' (1993) 14 Michigan JIL 827–869.
- Doxey, Margaret P., 'United Nations Economic Sanctions: Minimizing Adverse Effects on Nontarget States', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 183–200.
 - Economic Sanctions and International Enforcement (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1971).
 - International Sanctions in Contemporary Perspective (London: Macmillan, 1987). International Sanctions in Contemporary Perspective, 2nd edn (New York: St Martin's Press, 1996).

- United Nations Sanctions: Current Policy Issues (Halifax, Nova Scotia: Dalhousie University, Center for Foreign Policy Studies, 1997).
- Duffy, Andrew, 'Ottawa Man "Devastated" by Charges of Terror Links: Accused Wanted in U.S. for his Role in Money Transfer Firm has "No Job, No Income" *The Ottawa Citizen*, 16 April 2002.
- Dugard, John, 'Judicial Review of Sanctions', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 83–91.
 - 'Retrospective Justice: International Law and the South African Model', in McAdams (ed.), *Transitional Justice and the Rule of Law in New Democracies*, pp. 269–290.
- Dulles, John Foster, War or Peace (New York: Macmillan, 1950).
- Dumas, Lloyd (Jeff), 'A Proposal for a New United Nations Council on Economic Sanctions', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Economic Sanctions: Panacea or Peacebuilding*, pp. 187–199.
- Dupraz, Jean, 'UNICEF and the Sanctions Committee Lessons Learned from Iraq', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 155–163.
- Dupuy, Pierre-Marie, 'International Law: Torn Between Coexistence, Cooperation and Globalization: General Conclusions' (1998) 9 EJIL 278–286.
 - 'Quelques remarques sur l'évolution de la pratique des sanctions décidées par le Conseil de sécurité des Nations Unies dans le cadre du Chapitre VII de la Charte', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 47–55.
- Dworkin, R.M., 'Obligations of Community', in Raz (ed.), *Authority*, pp. 218–239. Dworkin, Ronald M., *A Matter of Principle* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1985).
 - Law's Empire (London: Fontana, 1986).
- Dworkin, Ronald, 'Judicial Discretion' (1963) 60 Journal of Philosophy 624-638.
- Dyzenhaus, David (ed.), Recrafting the Rule of Law: The Limits of Legal Order (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 1999).
- Dyzenhaus, David, 'Hermann Heller and the Legitimacy of Legality' (1996) 16 Oxford Journal of Legal Studies 641–666.
 - 'Judicial Independence, Transitional Justice and the Rule of Law' (2003) 10 Otago LR 345-369.
- Eaton, Howard O. (ed.), Federation: The Coming Structure of World Government (Norman, OK: University of Oclahama Press, 1944).
- Eden, Anthony, The Eden Memoirs: Facing the Dictators (London: Cassell, 1962). Elagab, O.Y., The Legality of Non-Forcible Counter-Measures in International Law (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1988).
- Ellings, Richard, *Embargoes and World Power* (Boulder: Westview Press, 1985). Elliott, Kimberley Ann, 'Analyzing the Effects of Targeted Sanctions', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 171–182.
 - 'The Sanctions Glass: Half Full or Completely Empty?' (1998) 23 *International Security* 50–65.

- Endicott, Timothy A. O., 'The Impossibility of the Rule of Law' (1999) 19 Oxford Journal of Legal Studies 1–18.
- Evans, Edward W., 'Sanctions: A Problem for Pacifists', in *Toward Peace and Justice*, pp. 12–23.
- Evatt, Herbert V., *The Task of the United Nations* (New York: Duell, Sloan and Pearce, 1949).
 - The United Nations (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1948).
- Expert Seminar on Targeting UN Financial Sanctions, 17–19 March 1998, Interlaken, Switzerland (Bern: Swiss Federal Office for Foreign Economic Affairs, 1998).
- Falk, Richard, 'The Iran Hostage Crisis: Easy Answers and Hard Questions' (1980) 74 AJIL 411-417.
 - 'The United Nations and Cosmopolitan Democracy: Bad Dream, Utopian Fantasy, Political Project', in Archibugi, Held and Köhler (eds.), *Re-imagining Political Community*, pp. 309–331.
 - 'The United Nations and the Rule of Law' (1994) 4 TLCP 611-642.
- Fallon, Richard H., "The Rule of Law" as a Concept in Constitutional Discourse' (1997) 97 *Columbia LR* 1–56.
- Fassbender, Bardo, 'Pressure for Security Council Reform', in Malone (ed.), *The Security Council*, pp. 341–355.
 - 'Uncertain Steps into a Post-Cold War World: The Role and Functioning of the Security Council after a Decade of Measures against Iraq' (2002) 13 EJIL 273–303.
- Fausey, Joy K., 'Does the United Nations' Use of Collective Sanctions to Protect Human Rights Violate its Own Human Rights Standards?' (1994) 10 Connecticut JIL 193–218.
- Fawcett, J. E. S., 'Natural Sanctions in International Law', in Alexandrowicz (ed.), *Grotian Society Papers* 1968: *Studies in the History of the Law of Nations*, pp. 83–89.
- Fidler, David P., 'Caught Between Traditions: The Security Council in Philosophical Conundrum' (1996) 17 *Michigan JIL* 411–453.
- Fiédorowicz, George de, 'Historical Survey of the Application of Sanctions' (1937) 22 *Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers)* 117–131.
- Fielding, Lois E., 'Taking a Closer Look at Threats to Peace: The Power of the Security Council to Address Humanitarian Crises' (1996) 73 *University of Detroit Mercy LR* 551–568.
- Maritime Interception and UN Sanctions (San Francisco: Austin & Winfield, 1997).
- Final Report of the 2nd Interlaken Seminar on Targeting UN Sanctions, held from 29–31 March 1999 (Bern: Swiss Federal Office for Foreign Economic Affairs, 1999).
- Finn, P.D. (ed.), Essays on Law and Government (North Ryde: Law Book Company, 1995) vol. 1.
- Finnis, John. Natural Law and Natural Rights (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1980).
- Fishman, Andrew K., 'Between Iraq and a Hard Place: The Use of Economic Sanctions and Threats to International Peace and Security' (1999) 13 *Emory ILR* 687–727.

- Fitzgerald, Peter L., "If Property Rights Were Treated Like Human Rights, They Could Never Get Away with This": Blacklisting and Due Process in U.S. Economic Sanctions Programs' (1999) 51 Hasting Law Journal 73–169.
 - 'Managing "Smart Sanctions" Against Terrorism Wisely' (2002) 36 New England LR 957–983.
- Fitzmaurice, G. G., 'The United Nations and the Rule of Law' (1952) 38 *The Grotius Society Transactions* 135–150.
- Fitzpatrick, Joan, 'Speaking Law to Power: The War Against Terrorism and Human Rights' (2003) 14 EJIL 241–264.
- Fitzpatrick, Peter (ed), *Nationalism*, *Racism and the Rule of Law* (Aldershot: Dartmouth, 1995).
- Fletcher, George P., Basic Concepts of Legal Thought (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996).
- Forbes, Ian and Hoffman, John (eds.), *Political Theory, International Relations, and the Ethics of Intervention* (New York: St Martin's Press, 1993).
- Foreign Policy Association, *Are Sanctions Necessary to International Organization?* (New York: Foreign Policy Association, 1932).
- Forlati, Laura Picchio and Sicilianos, Linos-Alexander, Economic Sanctions in International Law (Leiden: Martinus Nijhoff, 2004).
- Fox, Gregory H., and Roth, Brad R. (eds.), *Democratic Governance and International Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2000).
- Fox, Hazel (ed.), *The Changing Constitution of the United Nations* (London: The British Institute of International and Comparative Law, 1997).
- Franck, Thomas M., 'Collective Security and UN Reform: Between the Necessary and the Possible' (2006) 6 *Chicago JIL* 597–611.
 - 'NATO's Kosovo Intervention: Lessons of Kosovo' (1999) 93 AJIL 857-860.
 - 'Of Gnats and Camels: Is There a Double Standard at the United Nations?' (1984) 78 AJIL 811-833.
 - "The "Powers of Appreciation": Who is the Ultimate Guardian of UN Legality?" (1992) 86 AJL 519-523.
 - 'The Emerging Right to Democratic Governance' (1992) 86 AJIL 46-91.
 - 'The Political and the Judicial Empires: Must There be Conflict Over Conflict-Resolution?', in Al-Nauimi and Meese (eds.), *International Legal Issues Arising Under the UN Decade of International Law*, pp. 621–632.
 - Fairness in International Law and Institutions (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995).
 - Political Questions/Judicial Answers: Does the Rule of Law Apply to Foreign Affairs? (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1992).
 - The Power of Legitimacy Among Nations (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1990).
- Franck, Thomas M. and Nolte, George, 'The Good Offices Function of the UNSG', in Roberts, Adam and Kingsbury, Benedict (eds.), *United Nations, Divided World: The UN's Role in International Relations*, pp. 143–182.
- Fraser, Malcolm, 'Sovereignty, International Law and Global Cooperation', in Zifcak (ed.), *Globalisation and the Rule of Law*, pp. 163–183.

- Fraunces, Michael G., 'The International Law of Blockade: New Guiding Principles in Contemporary State Practice' (1992) 101 Yale Law Journal 893–918.
- Friends' Peace Committee, Toward Peace and Justice: A Symposium on Methods for the Prevention of War and the Achievement of International Justice (Philadelphia: Friends' Peace Committee, 1937).
- Frowein, Jochen A., 'Implementation of Security Council Resolutions taken Under Chapter VII in Germany', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 253–265.
 - 'Opening Remarks: Sanctions and Human Rights Law', in Gowlland-Debbas, *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 125–127.
- Fuller, Lon L., *The Morality of Law*, 2nd edn (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1969).
- Galtung, Johan, 'On the Effects of Economic Sanctions: With Examples from the Case of Rhodesia', in Nincic and Wallensteen (eds.), *Dilemmas of Economic Coercion*, pp. 17–60.
- Gardam, Judith G., 'Legal Restraints on Security Council Military Enforcement Action' (1996) 17 *Michigan JIL* 285–322.
- Garfield, Richard and Santanna, Sarah, 'The Impact of the Economic Crisis and the US Embargo on Health in Cuba' (1997) 87 American Journal of Public Health 15–20.
- Garfield, Richard M., 'Suffer the Innocents: International Economic Sanctions Can Inflict More Deaths than Warfare, Particularly Among Children' (January/February 1999) *The Sciences* 19–23.
- Garfield, Richard, 'Health and Well-Being in Iraq: Sanctions and the Impact of the Oil-for-Food Program' (2001) 11 TLCP 277–298.
 - Devin, Julia and Fausey, Joy, 'The Health Impact of Economic Sanctions' (1995) 72 Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine 454–469.
- Gaul, Matthew J., 'Regulating the New Privateers: Private Military Service Contracting and the Modern Marque and Reprisal Clause' (1998) 31 *Loyola of Los Angeles LR* 1489–1522.
- Genugten, Willem J. M. van and Groot, Gerard A. de (eds.), *United Nations Sanctions: Effectiveness and Effects, Especially in the Field of Human Rights* (Antwerp: Intersentia, 1999).
- George, Alexander L., Forceful Persuasion: Coercive Diplomacy as an Alternative to War (Washington, DC: US Institute of Peace Press, 1991).
- Georgiev, Dencho, 'Politics or Rule of Law: Deconstructing Legitimacy in International Law' (1993) 4 EJIL 1–14.
- Geusau, Frans A. M. Alting von, 'Recent and Problematic: The Imposition of Sanctions by the Security Council', in Genugten and Groot (eds.), *UN Sanctions: Effectiveness and Effects*, pp. 1–18.
- Gibbons, Elizabeth D., Sanctions in Haiti: Human Rights and Democracy Under Assault (Westport: Praeger, 1999).
- Goodrich, Leland M. and Hambro, Edvard, *Charter of the United Nations: Commentary and Documents*, 2nd edn (Boston: World Peace Foundation, 1949).
- Gordon, Joy, 'Sanctions as Siege Warfare' The Nation, 22 March 1999.

- Gowlland-Debbas, Vera (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law* (The Hague: Kluwer Law International, 2001).
- Gowlland-Debbas, Vera, 'Security Council Enforcement Action and Issues of State Responsibility' (1994) 43 ICLQ 55–98.
 - 'The Functions of the United Nations Security Council in the International Legal System', in Byers (ed.), *The Role of Law in International Politics*, pp. 277–313.
 - 'The Relationship Between the International Court of Justice and the Security Council in Light of the *Lockerbie* Case' (1994) 88 AJIL 643–677.
 - Collective Responses to Illegal Acts in International Law: United Nations Action in the Question of Southern Rhodesia (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1990).
- Graefrath, Bernhard, 'Leave to the Court What Belongs to the Court: The Libyan Case' (1993) 4 EJIL 184–205.
- Graham-Brown, Sarah, Sanctioning Saddam: The Politics of Intervention in Iraq (New York: I. B. Tauris, 1999).
- Greenwood, Christopher, 'New World Order or Old?: The Invasion of Kuwait and the Rule of Law' (1992) 55 *Modern LR* 153–178.
 - 'The Impact of Decisions and Resolutions of the Security Council on the International Court of Justice' in Heere (ed.), International Law and the Hague's 750th Anniversary, pp. 81–86.
- Griffiths, Gene, 'The Experience of the ICAO in Implementation', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 201–203.
- Haas, Ernst B., When Knowledge is Power: Three Models of Change in International Organizations (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1990).
- Haass, Richard N. (ed.), *Economic Sanctions and American Diplomacy* (New York: Council on Foreign Relations, 1998).
- Haass, Richard N., 'Sanctioning Madness' (Nov-Dec 1997) Foreign Affairs. 'Sanctions Almost Never Work' Wall Street Journal 19 June 1998.
- Habermas, Jürgen, *Communication and the Evolution of Society*, trans. Thomas McCarthy (Boston: Beacon Press, 1979).
 - Legitimation Crisis, trans. Thomas McCarthy (Boston: Beacon Press, 1975).
- Hall, William E., A Treatise in International Law, 6th edn (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1909).
- Halliday, Denis J., 'Iraq and the UN's Weapon of Mass Destruction' (February 1999) *Current History* 65–68.
- Harley, John Eugene, *The League of Nations and the New International Law* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1921).
- Harper, J. Ross (ed.), *Global Law in Practice* (Cambridge, MA: Kluwer Law International, 1997).
- Harper, Keith, 'Does the United Nations Security Council Have the Competence to Act as Court and Legislature?' (1994) NYUJILP 103–157.
- Hart, H. L. A., 'Positivism and the Separation of Law and Morals' (1958) 71 *Harvard LR* 593–629.
 - Essays in Jurisprudence and Philosophy (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1983).
 - The Concept of Law, 2nd edn (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1994).

- Hayek, F. A., 'Freedom and the Rule of Law', in Bellamy (ed.), *The Rule of Law and the Separation of Powers*, pp. 147–156.
 - The Constitution of Liberty (London: Routledge, 1960).
 - The Road to Serfdom (London: Routledge, 1944).
- Hazelzet, Hadewych, 'Assessing the Suffering from "Successful" Sanctions: An Ethical Approach', in Genugten and Groot (ed.), *UN Sanctions: Effectiveness and Effects*, pp. 71–96.
- Heere, Wybo P. (ed.), *International Law and the Hague's 750th Anniversary* (The Hague: TMC Asser Press, 1999).
- Henkin, Louis, International Law: Politics and Values (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1995).
- Hermele, Kenneth and Odén, Bertil, Sanctions Dilemmas: Some Implications of Sanctions Against South Africa (Uppsala: Scandinavian Institute of African Studies, 1988).
- Higgins, Rosalyn, 'The Security Council and the Individual State', in Fox (ed.), *The Changing Constitution of the United Nations*, pp. 43–51.
 - *Problems and Process: International Law and How We Use It* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1994).
 - The Development of International Law Through the Political Organs of the United Nations (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1963).
- Highley, Albert E., The Actions of the States Members of the League of Nations in Application of Sanctions Against Italy, 1935/1936 (Geneva: Journal de Genève, 1938).
- Hilderbrand, Robert C., *Dumbarton Oaks*: The Origins of the United Nations and the Search for Postwar Security (Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press, 1990).
- Hindmarsh, Albert E., Force in Peace: Force Short of War in International Relations (London: Kennikat Press, 1933).
- Hoffman, John, 'Legitimate Intervention and Illegitimate States: Sanctions Against South Africa', in Forbes and Hoffman (eds.), *Political Theory*, *International Relations, and the Ethics of Intervention*, pp. 157–166.
- Hogan, Albert E., Pacific Blockade (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1908).
- Holmes, Oliver W., Collected Legal Papers (New York: Harcourt, Brace and Howe, 1920).
- Horwitz, Morton J., 'The Historical Contingency of the Role of History' (1981) 90 Yale LJ 1057–1059.
- Hoskins, Eric and Nutt, Samantha, *The Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions on Burundi* (Providence, RI: Watson Institute for International Studies, 1997).
- Hoskins, Eric, 'The Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions and War in Iraq', in Weiss et al. (eds.), *Political Gain and Civilian Pain*, pp. 91–147.
- Howse, Robert, 'The Road to Baghdad is Paved with Good Intentions' (2002) 13 $\,$ EJIL 89–92.
- Huaraka, Tunguru, 'Implementation of Sanctions The Experience of Africa', in Gowlland-Debbas (eds.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 349–360.

- Hufbauer, Gary Clyde, Schott, Jeffrey J. and Elliott, Kimberly Ann, Economic Sanctions Reconsidered (Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics, 1985).
 - Economic Sanctions Reconsidered, 2nd edn (Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics, 1990).
- Hull, Richard E., *Imposing International Sanctions: Legal Aspects and Enforcement by the Military* (Washington, DC: Institute for National Strategic Studies, 1997).
- Hulme, Derick L., *The Political Olympics: Moscow, Afghanistan, and the 1980 U.S. Boycott* (New York: Praeger, 1990).
- Hulton, Susan C., 'Council Working Methods and Procedure', in Malone (ed.), *The Security Council*, pp. 237–251.
- Hume, David, *A Treatise of Human Nature* (1740) (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1969). Hurd, Ian, 'Legitimacy and Authority in International Politics' (1999) 53 International Organization 379–408.
- Hurrell, Andrew, 'International Law and the Changing Constitution of International Society', in Byers (ed.), *The Role of Law in International Politics*, pp. 327–347.
- Huscroft, Grant and Rishworth, Paul (eds.), Litigating Rights: Perspectives from Domestic and International Law (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2002).
- Hutchinson, Allan C., 'The Rule of Law Revisited: Democracy and Courts', in Dyzenhaus (ed.), *Recrafting the Rule of Law*, pp. 196–224.
- Hutchinson, Allan C. and Monahan, Patrick (eds.), *The Rule of Law: Ideal or Ideology* (Toronto: Carswell, 1987).
- Hyde, Charles Cheney and Wehle, Louis B., 'The Boycott in Foreign Affairs' (1933) 27 *AJIL* 1–10.
- International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty, *The Responsibility to Protect* (Ottawa: International Development Research Centre, 2001).
- International Law Commission, Discussion of the ILC Concerning Article 30 of the Draft Articles on State Responsibility, *Yearbook of the International Law Commission* (1979), vol. 1, pp. 55–58.
- Iraq (September 1999) 316 New Internationalist.
- Jack, D.T., Studies in Economic Warfare (London: King & Son, 1940).
- Jeffries, Ian (ed.), Problems of Economic and Political Transformation in the Balkans (New York: Pinter, 1996).
- Jessup, Philip C., 'A Half-Century of Efforts to Substitute Law for War' (1960) 99 Recueil des Cours 3–20.
- Johnstone, Ian, 'Security Council Deliberations: The Power of the Better Argument' (2003) 14 EJIL 437–480.
 - Aftermath of the Gulf War: An Assessment of UN Action (New York: International Peace Academy, 1994).
- Jones, Thomas David, 'The International Law of Maritime Blockade A Measure of Naval Economic Interdiction' (1983) 26 Howard Law Journal 759-779.

- Joyner, Christopher C. (ed.), *The United Nations and International Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997).
 - 'Collective Sanctions as Peaceful Coercion: Lessons from the United Nations Experience' (1995) 16 AYBIL 241–270.
 - 'Sanctions and International Law' in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Economic Sanctions: Panacea or Peacebuilding*, pp. 73–87.
- Joyner, Christopher J., 'United Nations Sanctions After Iraq: Looking Back to See Ahead' (2003) 4 *Chicago JIL* 329–353.
- Kairys, David (ed.), *The Politics of Law: A Progressive Critique* (New York: Pantheon, 1990).
- Kaldor, Mary, New and Old Wars: Organized Violence in a Global Era (Cambridge: Polity Press, 1999).
- Kalpyris, Eugenios, Vork, Richard and Napolitano, Antonio, Les Sanctions des Nations Unies dans le Conflit de l'ex-Yougoslavie (Brussels: Bruylant, 1995).
- Kaplan, Morton A. and Katzenbach, Nicholas, *The Political Foundations of International Law* (New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1961).
- Kelly, Michael, 'The Role of the Military in Globalizing the Rule of Law', in Zifcak, *Globalisation and the Rule of Law*, pp. 184–203.
- Kelsen, Hans, 'Collective Security and Collective Self-Defence Under the Charter of the United Nations' (1948) 42 *AJIL* 783–796.
 - 'Sanctions in International Law under the Charter of the United Nations' (1946) 31 *Iowa LR* 499–543.
 - 'The Old and the New League: The Covenant and the Dumbarton Oaks Proposals' (1945) 39 AJIL 45–83.
 - General Theory of Law and State (New York: Russell, 1961).
 - The Law of the United Nations: A Critical Analysis of its Fundamental Problems (London: Steven & Sons, 1951).
- Kennedy, David W., 'A New World Order: Yesterday, Today, and Tomorrow' (1994) 4 TLCP 329–376.
- Kennedy, David, 'International Law and the Nineteenth Century: History of an Illusion' (1996) 65 NJIL 385–420.
 - 'When Renewal Repeats: Thinking Against the Box' (2000) 32 NYUJILP 335-500.
- Kerr, William A. and Gaisford, James D., 'A Note on Increasing the Effectiveness of Sanctions' (1993) *Journal of World Trade* 169–176.
- Kingsbury, Benedict, 'Sovereignty and Inequality' (1998) 9 EJIL 599-625.
- Kinley, David, 'The Universalizing of Human Rights and Economic Globalization: What Roles for the Rule of Law?' in Zifcak (ed.), *Globalisation and the Rule of Law*, pp. 96–118.
- Kirby, Michael, 'Globalizing the Rule of Law? Global Challenges to the Traditional Ideal of the Rule of Law' in Zifcak (ed.), Globalisation and the Rule of Law, pp. 65–80.
- Kirgis, Frederic L., 'Editorial Comment: Security Council Governance of Postconflict Societies: A Plea for Good Faith and Informed Decision Making' (2001) 95 *AJIL* 579–582.
- Kirkpatrick, Jeane J., *Legitimacy and Force* (New Brunswick: Transaction Books, 1988).

- Knight, W. Andy, *The United Nations and Arms Embargoes Verification* (New York: Edwin Mellen, Lewiston, 1998).
- Köchler, Hans, 'Ethical Aspects of Sanctions in International Law' (1995) XLVI Review of International Affairs 1–4.
 - Democracy and the International Rule of Law: Propositions for an Alternative World Order (Wien: Springer-Verlag, 1995).
 - Economic Sanctions and Development (Vienna: International Progress Organization, 1997).
- Koh, Harold Hongju, 'Why Do Nations Obey International Law?' (1997) 106 Yale LJ 2599–2659.
- Kohona, Palitha T.B., 'The International Rule of Law and the Role of the United Nations' (2002) 36 International Lawyer 1131–1144.
- Korff, Baron S. A., 'An Introduction to the History of International Law' (1924) 18 *AJIL* 246–259.
- Koskenniemi, Martti (ed.), *International Law* (New York: New York University Press, 1992).
- Koskenniemi, Martti, "The Lady Doth Protest Too Much": Kosovo, and the Turn to Ethics in International Law' (2002) 65 *Modern LR* 159–175.
 - 'The Place of Law in Collective Security' (1996) 17 Michigan JIL 455-490.
 - 'The Police in the Temple. Order, Justice and the UN: A Dialectical View' (1995) 6 EJIL 325–348.
 - From Apology to Utopia: The Structure of International Legal Argument (Helsinki: Lakimiesliiton Kustannus, 1989).
 - The Gentle Civilizer of Nations: The Rise and Fall of International Law 1870–1960 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002).
- Kozal, Peggy, 'Is the Continued Use of Sanctions as Implemented Against Iraq a Violation of International Human Rights?' (2000) 28 DJILP 383-400.
- Krafft, Mathias-Charles, 'Mise en œuvre par un Etat non membre des Nations Unies le cas de la Suisse', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 361–368.
- Kramer, Matthew H., 'On the Moral Status of the Rule of Law' (2004) 63 *Cambridge Law Journal* 65–97.
- Krisch, Nico, 'International Law in Times of Hegemony: Unequal Power and the Shaping of the International Legal Order' (2005) 16 EJIL 369–408.
- Kuhn, Michele, 'UN Sanctions and ICRC's Mandate', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 211–219.
- Kulessa, Manfred and Starck, Dorothee, *Peace Through Sanctions?* (Bonn: Development and Peace Foundation, 1998).
- Kulessa, Manfred, 'Potentials, Problems and Prospects of Various Types of Travel Sanctions', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 195–200.
- Kunz, Josef L., 'Sanctions in International Law' (1960) 54 AJIL 324–347.

aan den Rijn: Sijthoff & Noordhoff, 1978).

Kuyper, Pieter Jan, 'International Legal Aspects of Economic Sanctions' in Sarcevic and van Houtte (eds.), Legal Issues in International Trade, pp. 145–175. The Implementation of International Sanctions; The Netherlands and Rhodesia (Alphen

- L'Institut de Droit International, 'Rapport de M. Perels sur le blocus pacifique' (1888) 9 L'Annuaire de L'Institut de Droit International 276–286.
- Landgren, Karin, 'UN Sanctions Dilemmas for UNICEF', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 205–210.
- Lane, Frederic C., *Venice: A Maritime Republic* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1973).
- LaRae-Perez, Cassandra, 'Economic Sanctions as a Use of Force: Re-evaluating the Legality of Sanctions from an Effects-Based Perspective' (2002) Boston University ILJ 161–188.
- Larus, Joel (ed.), From Collective Security to Preventive Diplomacy (New York: John Wiley, 1965).
- Lauterpacht, Hersch, 'Boycott in International Relations' (1933) 14 BYIL 125–140. Lauterpacht, H. and Waldock, H. (eds.), *The Basis of Obligation in International Law and Other Papers* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1958)
- Lawrence, T. J., *The Principles of International Law*, 7th edn (Boston, DC: Heath & Co, 1923).
- League of Nations, *The League From Year to Year* (Geneva: League of Nations Information Section, 1935), pp. 53–88.
- Leaver, Richard, 'Economic Sanctions, Australian Policy and United Nations Peace Enforcement', in Woodhouse, Bruce and Dando (eds.), *Peacekeeping and Peacemaking*, pp. 253–268.
- Leyton-Brown, David (ed.), *The Utility of International Economic Sanctions* (Beckenham: Croom Helm, 1987).
- Lindsay, James, 'Trade Sanctions as Policy Instruments' (1986) 30 International Studies Quarterly 153–173.
- Livermore, H. V., A New History of Portugal (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1966).
- Lobel, Jules and Ratner, Michael, 'Bypassing the Security Council: Ambiguous Authorizations to Use Force, Cease-Fires and the Iraqi Inspection Regime' (1999) 93 AJIL 124–154.
- Locke, John, 'A Letter on Toleration', in *Second Treatise on Government*, 1956 edn, edited by J. M. Gough (Oxford: Blackwell, 1689).
- Lorenz, Joseph P., *Peace, Power and the United Nations* (Boulder: Westview Press, 1999).
- Loughlin, Martin, Sword and Scales: An Examination of the Relationship between Law and Politics (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2000).
- Lowe, Vaughan, 'Res Judicata and the Rule of Law in International Arbitration' (1996) 8 African Journal of International and Comparative Law 38–50.
 - 'The Politics of Law-Making: Are the Method and Character of Norm Creation Changing?' in Byers (ed.), The Role of Law in International Politics, pp. 207–226.
- Lowenfeld, Andreas, 'Unilateral Versus Collective Sanctions: An American's Perception', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 95–103.
- Loy, Maria, 'Proper and Prompt National Implementation of Arms Embargoes: The German Case', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 135–138.

- Luck, Edward C., 'Choosing Words Carefully: Arms Embargoes and the Security Council', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 115–134.
- Lynch, Colum, 'U.S. Seeks to Take 6 Names Off UN Sanctions List; Administration was Criticized for Offering Little Proof that Individuals, Groups Aided Al Qaeda' *The Washington Post*, 22 August 2002.
- Lysén, Göran, 'Targeted UN Sanctions: On the Issue of Legal Sources and their Application and also Some Procedural Matters' (Uppsala: Uppsala University, 2002).
- Maccoby, Simon, 'Reprisals as a Measure of Redress Short of War' (1924) 2 *Cambridge Law Journal* 60–73.
- Macdonald, Ronald St. J. (ed.), Essays in Honour of Wang Tieys (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1994).
- Macdonnell, John, 'Some Notes on Blockade' (1915) 1 Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers) 93–104.
- MacKay, M. Jennifer, 'Economic Sanctions: Are They Actually Enforcing International Law in Serbia-Montenegro?' (1995) 3 *Tul JICL* 203–236.
- MacMillan, Margaret, *Paris 1919: Six Months That Changed the World* (New York: Random House, 2001).
- Majlessi, Sherwin, 'Use of Economic Sanctions Under International Law: A Contemporary Assessment' (2001) *Canadian YBIL* 253–331.
- Making Targeted Sanctions Effective: Guidelines for the Implementation of UN Policy Options. Results from the Stockholm Process on the Implementation of Targeted Sanctions (Uppsala: Uppsala University, 2003).
- Malanczuk, Peter, 'Reconsidering the Relationship Between the International Court of Justice and the Security Council' in Heere (ed.), *International Law and the Hague's 750th Anniversary*, pp. 87–99.
- Malone, David M. (ed.), *The Security Council: From the Cold War to the 21st Century* (Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 2004).
- Malone, David M., Decision-Making in the Security Council: The Case of Haiti, 1990–1997 (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998).
- Mandela, Nelson, 'The Rule of Law Cornerstone of Economic Progress', in Harper (ed.), Global Law in Practice, pp. 119–132.
- Mangaliso, Nomazengele A., 'Cultural Boycotts and Political Change', in Crawford and Klotz (eds.), *How Sanctions Work*, pp. 232–243.
- Marshall, C. Kevin, 'Putting Privateers in their Place: The Applicability of the Marque and Reprisal Clause to Undeclared Wars' (1997) 64 *U Chicago LR* 953–981.
- Martenczuk, Bernd, 'The Security Council, the International Court of Justice and Judicial Review: What Lessons from Lockerbie?' (1999) 10 EJIL 517–547.
- Martin, Lisa L., and Laurenti, Jeffrey, *The United Nations and Economic Sanctions: Improving Regime Effectiveness* (New York: UN Association-USA, 1997).
- Martin, Lisa L., *Coercive Cooperation: Explaining Multilateral Economic Sanctions* (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1992).
- Mason, Anthony, 'The Rule of Law and International Economic Transactions', in Zifcak (ed.), *Globalisation and the Rule of Law*, pp. 121–139.

- Mason, Keith, 'The Rule of Law', in Finn, Essays on Law and Government, vol. 1, pp. 114–143.
- Matheson, Michael J., 'Judicial Review in International Organizations: ICJ Review of Security Council Decisions' (2004) 36 *George Washington ILR* 615–622.
- McAdams, A. James (ed.), *Transitional Justice and the Rule of Law in New Democracies* (Notre Dame, IN: University of Notre Dame Press, 1997).
- McClure, Wallace, 'National Economic Independence in the Light of the International Economic Conference' (1927) 21 AJIL 668–684.
- McDougal, Myres S. and Reisman, W. Michael, *International Law Essays: A Supplement to International law in Contemporary Perspective* (New York: The Foundation Press, Mineola, 1981).
- McIntosh, Steven, 'Sanctions', in Clements and Ward (eds.), *Building International Community*, pp. 311–318.
- McNair, Arnold D., 'The Legal Meaning of War, and the Relation of War to Reprisals' (1926) 11 *Problems of Peace and War (Grotius Society Papers)* 29–51.
- Melby, Eric D. K., 'Iraq', in Haass (ed.), Economic Sanctions and American Diplomacy, pp. 107–128.
- Menzies, Robert Gordon, *The Rule of Law During the War* (Melbourne: Maxwell, 1917).
- Merrills, J. G., International Dispute Settlement, 3rd edn (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998).
- Millward, Alex, "Only Yesterday." Some Reflections on the "Thirties" with Particular Reference to Sanctions' (1957) 1 International Relations 281–290.
- Minear, Larry, 'The Morality of Sanctions', in Moore (ed.), *Hard Choices*: Moral Dilemmas in Humanitarian Intervention, pp. 229–250.
- Minear, Larry, Cortright, David, Wagler, Julia, Lopez, George A. and Weiss, Thomas G., Toward More Humane and Effective Sanctions Management: Enhancing the Capacity of the United Nations System (Providence, RI: Watson Institute for International Studies, 1998).
- Mitrany, David, 'The Problem of Peaceful Change and Article 19 of the Covenant', in *Toward Peace and Justice*, pp. 31–47.
 - The Problem of International Sanctions (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1925).
- Miyagawa, Makio, Do Economic Sanctions Work? (New York: St Martin's Press, 1992).
- Moeckli, Daniel, 'The US Supreme Court's "Enemy Combatant" Decisions: A "Major Victory for the Rule of Law?" (2005) 10 *Journal of Conflict and Security Law* 75–99.
- Momtaz, Djamchid, 'La compatibilité des sanctions du Conseil de Sécurité avec le droit international humanitaire', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 223–232.
- Moore, John Norton, 'Crisis in the Gulf: Enforcing the Rule of Law' (1993–94) 15 *Mich JIL* 847–861.
 - 'Toward the Rule of Law Among Nations' 40 VJIL 805-816.
 - 'War Crimes and the Rule of Law in the Gulf Crisis' (1991) VJIL 403-415.
- Moore, Jonathan (ed.), *Hard Choices*: Moral Dilemmas in Humanitarian Intervention (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 1998).

- Mueller, John and Mueller, Karl, 'Sanctions of Mass Destruction' (1999) 78(3) Foreign Affairs 43–53.
- Muldoon, James P., Aviel, JoAnn Fagot, Reitano, Richard and Sullivan, Earl (eds.), *Multilateral Diplomacy and the United Nations Today* (Boulder: Westview Press, 1999).
- Murphy, James M., 'Sanctions in Transition' (Occasional Paper No. 12, London, The David Davies Memorial Institute of International Studies, 2000).
- Murphy, John F., *The United States and the Rule of Law in International Affairs* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004).
- Murphy, John, 'Force and Arms', in Joyner (ed.), *The UN and International Law*, pp. 97–130.
- Murray, Gilbert, 'A League of Nations: The First Experiment', in Larus (ed.), From Collective Security to Preventive Diplomacy, pp. 176–186.
- Nanda, Ved P., 'Civil and Political Sanctions as an Accountability Mechanism for Massive Violations of Human Rights' (1998) 26 DJILP 389–397.
- Nathan, Laurie, 'The Absent Sentry: Sanctions and the Problem of Weak Border Control', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 101–114.
- Neal, David, The Rule of Law in a Penal Colony: Law and Power in Early New South Wales (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1991).
- Neuman, Gerald L., 'Comment, Counter-Terrorist Operations and the Rule of Law' (2004) 15 EJIL 1019–1029.
- Newcombe, R. Richard, 'Targeted Financial Sanctions: The U.S. Model', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 41–63.
- Niblock, Tim, 'Pariah States' & Sanctions in the Middle East: Iraq, Libya, Sudan (Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner, 2001).
- Nicolson, Harold, Diaries and Letters (New York: Atheneum, 1966).
- Nincic, Miroslav and Wallensteen, Peter (eds.), *Dilemmas of Economic Coercion* (New York: Praeger, 1983).
- Nippold, Otfried, *The Development of International Law After the World War* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1923).
- Nolte, Georg, 'The Limits of the Security Council's Powers and its Functions in the International Legal System: Some Reflections', in Byers (ed.), *The Role of Law in International Politics*, pp. 315–326.
- Normand, Roger, 'A Human Rights Assessment of Sanctions: The Case of Iraq, 1990–1997', in Genugten and Groot (eds.), *United Nations Sanctions:* Effectiveness and Effects, pp. 19–33.
 - 'Iraqi Sanctions, Human Rights and Humanitarian Law' (July–September 1996) *Middle East Report* 40–43.
 - 'Sanctions Against Iraq: New Weapon of Mass Destruction' (Spring 1998) 64 Covert Action 4–10.
- Northedge, F. S., *The League of Nations: Its Life and Times* (New York: Holmes & Meier, 1986).
- Nossal, Kim Richard, 'Economic Sanctions in the League of Nations and the United Nations', in Leyton-Brown (ed.), *The Utility of International Economic Sanctions*, pp. 7–22.

- 'Liberal Democratic Regimes, International Sanctions, and Good Governance', in Väyrynen (ed.), *Globalization and Global Governance*, pp. 127–149.
- Rain Dancing: Sanctions in Canadian and Australian Foreign Policy (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1994).
- Nussbaum, Arthur, A Concise History of the Law of Nations, 2nd edn (New York: Macmillan, 1954).
- O'Connell, Mary Ellen, 'Debating the Law of Sanctions' (2002) 13 EJIL 63-79.
- O'Donovan, Katherine, 'Engendering Justice: Women's Perspectives and the Rule of Law' (1989) 39 *University of Toronto Law Journal* 127–148.
- Öberg, Marko Divac, 'The Legal Effects of Resolutions of the Security Council and General Assembly in the Jurisprudence of the ICJ' (2005) 16 EJIL 879–906.
- Oette, Lutz, 'A Decade of Sanctions Against Iraq: Never Again! The End of Unlimited Sanctions in the Recent Practice of the Security Council' (2002) 13 EJIL 93–103.
- Oppenheim, L., *International Law: A Treatise*, 2 vols. (London: Longmans, Green & Co, 1905) (vol. I: *Peace*; vol. II: *War and Neutrality*).
- Orakhelashvili, Alexander, 'The Impact of Peremptory Norms on the Interpretation and Application of United Nations Security Council Resolutions' (2005) 16 *EJIL* 59–88.
 - 'The Post-War Settlement in Iraq: The Security Council Resolution 1483 (2003) and General International Law' (2003) 8 *Journal of Conflict and Security Law* 307–314.
- Peremptory Norms in International Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006). Orford, Anne, 'Locating the International: Military and Monetary Interventions after the Cold War' (1997) 38 HILJ 443–485.
 - 'The Politics of Collective Security' (1996) 17 Michigan JIL 373-409.
- Österdahl, Inger, 'The Exception as the Rule: Lawmaking on Force and Human Rights by the Security Council' (2005) 10 *Journal of Conflict and Security Law* 1–20.
 - Threat to the Peace: The Interpretation by the Security Council of Article 39 of the UN Charter (Uppsala: Iustus Förlag, 1998).
- Othman, Maged Taher, Economic Sanctions in International Law: A Legal Study of the Practice of the USA (Ann Arbor: University Microfilms International, 1982).
- Otunnu, Olara A., 'Maintaining Broad Legitimacy for United Nations Action', in Roper et al., *Keeping the Peace in the Post-Cold War Era*, pp. 67–83.
- Oudraat, Chantal de Jonge, 'UNSCOM: Between Iraq and a Hard Place?' (2002) 13 EJIL 139–152.
- Padover, Saul K. (ed.), *Wilson's Ideals* (Washington, DC: American Council on Public Affairs, 1942).
- Pape, Robert A., 'Why Economic Sanctions Do Not Work' (1997) 22 International Security 90–136.
 - 'Why Economic Sanctions Still Do Not Work' (1998) 23 International Security 66–77.

- Pellet, Alain, 'La responsabilité pénale individuelle, alternative aux sanctions collectives?', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 105–116.
- Pellett, Peter L., 'Sanctions, Food, Nutrition, and Health in Iraq', in Arnove (ed.), *Iraq Under Siege*, pp. 185–203.
- Petculescu, Ioana, 'The Review of the United Nations Security Council Decisions by the International Court of Justice' (2005) 52 *Netherlands ILR* 167–195.
- Petrie, Donald A., The Prize Game: Lawful Looting on the High Seas in the Days of Fighting Sail (Annapolis: Naval Institute Press, 1999).
- Phillipson, Coleman, *The International Law and Custom of Ancient Greece and Rome*, 2 vols. (London: Macmillan, 1911).
- Pilger, John, 'Collateral Damage', in Arnove (ed.), Iraq Under Siege, pp. 77-83.
- Pires, Jeong Hwa, 'North Korean Time Bomb: Can Sanctions Defuse it? A Review of International Economic Sanctions as an Option' (1994) 24 *Georgia Journal of International & Comparative Law* 307–346.
- Plato, The Laws, translated by Trevor. J. Saunders (London: Penguin, 1970).
- Pollock, Frederick, The League of Nations (London: Steven & Sons, 1920).
- Pomerance, Michla, 'The ICJ's Advisory Jurisdiction and the Crumbling Wall Between the Political and the Judicial' (2005) 99 *AJIL* 26–42.
- Post, Harry H. G., International Economic Law and Armed Conflict (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1994).
- Potter, Pitman B., 'Sanctions Against a Recalcitrant State', in Eaton (ed.), Federation, pp. 104–114.
 - 'Sanctions and Security: An Analysis of the French and American Views' (1932) *Geneva Special Studies*, vol. III, no. 2.
- Puissochet, Jean-Pierre, 'The Court of Justice and International Action by the European Community: The Example of the Embargo Against the Former Yugoslavia' (1997) 20 Fordham ILJ 1557–1576.
- Quigley, John, 'Prospects for the International Rule of Law' (1991) 5 Emory ILR, 311–320.
 - 'The New World Order and the Rule of Law' (1992) 18 Syracuse Journal of International Law & Commerce 75–110.
 - 'The United Nations Security Council: Promethean Protector or Helpless Hostage?' (2000) 35 *Texas ILJ* 129–172.
- Radin, Margaret Jane, 'Reconsidering the Rule of Law' (1989) 69 Boston University LR 781-819.
- Ratner, Steven R., 'The Security Council and International Law', in Malone (ed.), *The Security Council*, pp. 591–605.
- Rawls, John, *A Theory of Justice* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1971). *Political Liberalism* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1993).
- Raz, Joseph (ed.), Authority (Oxford: Blackwell, 1990).
- Raz, Joseph, 'The Rule of Law and its Virtue' (1977) 93 TLQR 195-211.
- Reid, Natalie, Eckert, Sue E. and Chopra, Jarat, 'Targeted Financial Sanctions: Harmonizing National Legislation and Regulatory Practices', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 65–86.

- Reinisch, August, 'Developing Human Rights and Humanitarian Law Accountability of the Security Council for the Imposition of Economic Sanctions' (2001) 95 *AJIL* 851–872.
 - 'Introductory Note to Court of First Instance of the European Communities: Yassin Adbullah Kadi v. Council of the European Union and Commission of the European Communities' (2006) 45 ILM 77–80.
- Reisman, W. Michael and Stevick, Douglas L., 'The Applicability of International Law Standards to United Nations Economic Sanctions Programmes' (1998) 9 EJIL 86–141.
- Reisman, W. Michael, 'Sanctions and Enforcement' in McDougal and Reisman, *International Law Essays*, pp. 381–436.
 - 'The Constitutional Crisis in the United Nations' (1993) 87 AJIL 83-100.
- Renwick, Robin, *Economic Sanctions* (Cambridge, MA: Center for International Affairs, 1981).
- Reus-Smit, Christian (ed.), *The Politics of International Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004).
- Rieff, David, 'Were Sanctions Right?' New York Times Magazine, 27 July 2003.
- Rifaat, Ahmed M., International Aggression (Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksell, 1979).
- Rishworth, Paul, 'The Rule of International Law?', in Huscroft and Rishworth (eds.), Litigating Rights, pp. 267–279.
- Roberts, Adam and Kingsbury, Benedict (eds.), *United Nations, Divided World: The UN's Role in International Relations*, 2nd edn (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1994).
- Roberts, Adam and Guelff, Richard (eds.), *Documents on the Laws of War*, 2nd edn (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1989).
- Rogers, Elizabeth S., 'Economic Sanctions and Internal Conflict', in Brown (ed.), The International Dimensions of Internal Conflict, pp. 411–434.
- Roper, John et al., *Keeping the Peace in the Post-Cold War Era: Strengthening Multilateral Peacekeeping* (New York: The Trilateral Commission, 1991).
- Rose, Gideon, 'Haiti', in Haass (ed.), *Economic Sanctions and American Diplomacy*, pp. 57–84.
- 'Libya', in Haass (ed.), Economic Sanctions and American Diplomacy, pp. 129–156.
- Roxburgh, Ronald F., 'The Sanction of International Law' (1920) 14 \emph{AJIL} 26–37.
- Royal Institute of International Affairs, *International Sanctions* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1938).
 - Sanctions: The Character of International Sanctions and their Application (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1935).
- Rubin, Alfred P., Ethics and Authority in International Law (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997).
- Rudolf, Peter, 'Power Without Principles? Ethical Problems of International Economic Sanctions' (1998) 57 *Law and State* 9–21.
- Rule, Troy, 'Using "Norms" to Change International Law: UN Human Rights Law Sneaking in Through the Back Door?' (2004) 5 *Chicago JIL* 325–333.
- Rupert, Jake, 'Canada Fights to Clear Man's Name: Liban Hussein on List of Alleged Financiers of Al-Qaeda' *The Ottawa Citizen*, 13 June 2002.

- Sabahi, Babback, 'The ICJ's Authority to Invalidate the Security Council's Decisions Under Chapter VII: Legal Romanticism or the Rule of Law?' (2004) 17 New York ILR 1–52.
- Sampford, Charles, 'Reconceiving the Rule of Law for a Globalizing World', in Zifcak (ed.), *Globalisation and the Rule of Law*, pp. 9–31.
- Sarcevic, Peter and van Houtte, Haus (ed.), Legal Issues in International Trade (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1990).
- Sarooshi, Danesh, *The United Nations and the Development of Collective Security: The Delegation by the Security Council of its Chapter VII Powers* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999).
- Sassòli, Marco, 'Sanctions and International Humanitarian Law Commentary', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 241–248.
- Saunders, Cheryl and Le Roy, Katherine (eds.), *The Rule of Law* (Annandale: Federation Press, 2003).
- Scalia, Antonin, 'The Rule of Law as a Law of Rules' (1989) 56 *U Chicago LR* 1175–1188.
- Schachter, Oscar, 'Dispute Settlement and Countermeasures in the International Law Commission' (1994) 88 *AJIL* 471–477.
 - 'Self-Defence and the Rule of Law' (1989) 83 AJIL 259-277.
 - 'The Quasi-judicial Role of the Security Council and the General Assembly' (1964) 58 AJIL 960–965.
 - 'The UN Legal Order: An Overview', in Joyner (ed.), *The United Nations and International Law*, pp. 3–26.
 - International Law in Theory and Practice (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1991)
- Scharf, Michael P. and Dorosin, Joshua L., 'Interpreting UN Sanctions: The Rulings and Role of the Yugoslavia Sanctions Committee' (1993) 19 *Brooklyn JIL* 771–827.
- Scharf, Michael P., 'The Lockerbie Trial Verdict' ASIL Insights, February 2001.
- Schiffer, Walter, 'The Idea of Collective Security', in Larus (ed.), From Collective Security to Preventive Diplomacy, pp. 187–202.
- Schlesinger, Stephen C., *Act of Creation: The Founding of the United Nations* (Boulder: Westview Press, 2003).
- Schrijver, Nico, 'The Use of Economic Sanctions by the United Nations Security Council: An International Law Perspective', in Post (ed.), *International Economic Law and Armed Conflict*, pp. 123–162.
- Schweigman, David, The Authority of the UN Security Council Under Chapter VII of the UN Charter Legal Limits and the Role of the International Court of Justice (The Hague: Kluwer Law International, 2001).
- Scott, Craig, Quresho, Abid, Michell, Paul, Kalajdzic, Jasminka, Copeland, Peter and Chang, Francis, 'A Memorial for Bosnia: Framework of Legal Arguments Concerning the Lawfulness of the Maintenance of the United Nations Security Council's Arms Embargo on Bosnia and Herzegovina' (1994) 16 *Michigan JIL* 1–134.
- Sears, Louis M., *Jefferson and the Embargo* (Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1927). *Second Interlaken Seminar on Targeting UN Financial Sanctions*, 29–31 March 1999 (Bern: Swiss Federal Office for Foreign Economic Affairs, 1999).

- Shapiro, Ian (ed.), *The Rule of Law (Nomos*, vol. XXXVI) (New York: New York University Press, 1994).
- Shklar, Judith N., 'Political Theory and the Rule of Law', in Hutchinson and Monahan (eds.), *The Rule of Law: Ideal or Ideology*, pp. 1–16.
 - Legalism (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1964).
- Sicilianos, Linos-Alexander, 'The Relationship Between Reprisals and Denunciation or Suspension of a Treaty' (1993) 4 *EJIL* 341–359.
- Silverstein, Gordon, 'Globalization and the Rule of Law: "A Machine that Runs of Itself?" (2003) 1 International Journal of Constitutional Law 427–445.
- Simma, Bruno (ed.), *The Charter of the United Nations: a Commentary* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995).
 - (ed.), *The Charter of the United Nations: A Commentary*, 2nd edn (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002).
- Simma, Bruno, 'Regional Enforcement of Community Objectives', in Gowlland-Debbas, *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 117–122.
- Simons, Geoffrey L., *Imposing Economic Sanctions: Legal Remedy or Genocidal Tool?* (London: Pluto Press, 1999).
- Simpson, Gerry J., 'Imagined Consent: Democratic Liberalism in International Legal Theory' (1994) 15 AYBIL 103–128.
- Simpson, Gerry, 'The Great Powers, Sovereign Equality and the Making of the United Nations Charter' (2000) 21 AYBIL 133–158.
 - Great Powers and Outlaw States: Unequal Sovereigns in the International Legal Order (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005).
- Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps: The Debate on Arms Embargoes and Travel Sanctions within the 'Bonn-Berlin Process' (Baden-Baden: Nomos, 2001).
- Somavia, Juan, 'The Humanitarian Responsibilities of the Security Council: Ensuring the Security of People', in Muldoon et al. (eds.), *Multilateral Diplomacy and the United Nations Today*, pp. 54–67.
- Sonnenfeld, Renata, Resolutions of the United Nations Security Council (Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff, 1988).
- Soons, Alfred H. A., 'Enforcing the Economic Embargo at Sea', in Gowlland-Debbas (ed.), *United Nations Sanctions and International Law*, pp. 307–324.
- Spaight, J. M., Pseudo-Security (London: Longmans, 1928).
- Spencer, J., 'The Italian-Ethiopian Dispute and the League of Nations' (1937) 31 *AJIL* 614–641.
- Sponeck, H. C. Graf, 'Sanctions and Humanitarian Exemptions: A Practitioner's Commentary' (2002) 13 EJIL 81–87.
- Stanley Foundation, *Getting Down to Cases*: Enforcing Security Council Resolutions (Muscatine: The Stanley Foundation, 1998).
 - Political Symbol or Policy Tool? Making Sanctions Work. Report of the Twenty-Fourth United Nations Issues Conference (Muscatine: The Stanley Foundation, 1993).
- Stedman, Stephen John, 'The Former Yugoslavia', in Haass (ed.), Economic Sanctions and American Diplomacy, pp. 177–196.

- Stephanides, Joseph, 'A Brief Overview of United Nations Applied Sanctions', in *Expert Seminar on Targeting UN Financial Sanctions*, pp. 53–66.
- Stirling, Patricia, 'The Use of Trade Sanctions as an Enforcement Mechanism for Basic Human Rights: A Proposal for Addition to the World Trade Organization' (1996) 11 *AUJILP* 1–46.
- Stremlau, John, Sharpening International Sanctions: Toward a Stronger Role for the United Nations (Washington, DC: Carnegie Commission on Preventing Deadly Conflict, 1996).
- Strengthening Targeted Sanctions Through Fair and Clear Procedures (Providence, RI: Watson Institute Targeted Sanctions Project, 2006).
- Sullivan, Earl, 'The United Nations: Dealing with Threats to the Peace in the Post-Cold War Era', in Muldoon et al. (eds.), *Multilateral Diplomacy and the UN Today*, pp. 44–53.
- Swindells, Felicia, 'UN Sanctions in Haiti: a Contradiction under Articles 41 and 55 of the UN Charter' (1997) 20 Fordham ILJ 1878–1960.
- Szasz, Paul C., 'The Security Council Starts Legislating' (2002) 96 AJIL 900-905.
- Szasz, Paul, 'General Law-Making Processes', in Joyner (ed.), *The UN and International Law*, pp. 27–64.
- Taiwo, Olufemi, 'The Rule of Law: The New Leviathan?' (1999) 12 Canadian Journal of Law and Jurisprudence 151–168.
- Talmon, Stefan, 'The Security Council as World Legislature' (2005) 99 AJIL 175–193.
- Tamanaha, Brian Z., *On the Rule of Law: History, Politics, Theory* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005).
- Targeted Financial Sanctions: A Manual for Design and Implementation. Contributions from the Interlaken Process (Providence, RI: Watson Institute for International Studies, 2001).
- Teitel, Ruti G., 'Humanity's Law: Rule of Law for the New Global Politics' (2002) 35 *Cornell ILJ* 355–387.
- The Impact of Sanctions on Iraq: The Children are Dying. Reports by the UN Food and Agriculture Organization, Ramsey Clark and World Leaders (New York: World View Forum, 1996).
- Thompson, E. P., Whigs and Hunters: The Origin of the Black Act (London: Allen Lane, 1975).
- Towards Peace and Justice: A Symposium on Methods for the Prevention of War and the Achievement of International Justice (Philadelphia: Friends' Peace Committee, 1937).
- Tsebelis, G., 'Are Sanctions Effective?' (1990) 34 *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 3–28. Tushnet, Mark, 'Critical Legal Studies: A Political History' (1991) 100 *Yale LJ* 1515–1544.
- UN Department of Public Information, *The United Nations and the Iraq–Kuwait Conflict* 1990–1996 (New York: UN Department of Public Information, 1996).
- UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, *Coping With the Humanitarian Impact of Sanctions: An OCHA Perspective* (New York: Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, 1998).

- UN Sanctions Secretariat, 'The Experience of the United Nations in Administering Arms Embargoes and Travel Sanctions', in *Smart Sanctions: The Next Steps*, pp. 45–62.
- UN Strategic Planning Unit, Executive Office of the Secretary-General, 'UN Sanctions: How Effective? How Necessary?', in Final Report of the 2nd Interlaken Seminar on Targeting United Nations Sanctions, pp. 101–115.
- UNICEF, Results of the 1999 Iraq Child and Maternal Mortality Surveys (New York: UNICEF, 1999).
- United Nations Association of the United States of America and The Project on Justice in Times of Transition of Harvard University, A Policy Report of the Partnership Program on Peace-building and Rule of Law (New York: UN Association-USA, 2003).
- United Nations, Repertoire of the Practice of the Security Council, Various Supplements (New York: United Nations).
 - Repertory of Practice of United Nations Organs, Various Supplements (New York: United Nations).
- United States Department of State, UN Sanctions Against Belgrade: Lessons Learned for Future Regimes (Washington, DC: US State Department, 1996).
- Upham, Frank, 'Mythmaking in Rule of Law Orthodoxy', in Carothers (ed.), *Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad*, pp. 75–104.
- Väyrynen, Raimo (ed.), *Globalization and Global Governance* (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 1999).
- Verosta, Stephan, 'International Law in Europe and Western Asia Between 100 and 650 A.D.' (1964) 113 Recueil des Cours 485–617.
- Verzijl, J. H. W., *International Law in Historical Perspective* (Leyden: A. W. Sijthoff, 1968). Von Martens, G. F., *Compendium of the Law of Nations* (London: Corbett & Morgan, 1802).
- Vradenburgh, Anna M., 'The Chapter VII Powers of the United Nations Charter: Do They "Trump" Human Rights Law?' (1991) 14 Loyola of Los Angeles ILJ 175–205.
- Vries, Antonius W. de, 'European Union Sanctions Against the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia from 1998 to 2000: A Special Exercise in Targeting', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), *Smart Sanctions: Targeting Economic Statecraft*, pp. 87–108.
- Waddington, Richard, 'Libya wins chair of UN human rights body despite record', *Independent*, 21 January 2003, p. 12.
- Waldron, Jeremy (ed.), *Theories of Rights* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1984). Waldron, Jeremy, 'Is the Rule of Law an Essentially Contested Concept (in
- Florida)?' (2002) 21 Law and Philosophy 137–164. Walker, Thomas Alfred, A Manual of Public International Law (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1895).
- Wall, Christopher, 'Human Rights and Economic Sanctions: The New Imperialism' (1998) 22 Fordham ILJ 577–611.
- Wallensteen, Peter, Staibano, Carina and Eriksson, Mikael, Making Targeted Sanctions Effective: Guidelines for the Implementation of UN Policy Options (Report of

- the Stockholm Process on the Implementation of Targeted Sanctions) (Uppsala: Uppsala University, 2003).
- Walsum, Peter van, 'The Iraq Sanctions Committee', in Malone (ed.), *The Security Council*, pp. 181–193.
- Walters, F., A History of the League of Nations (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1960).
- Walzer, Michael, Spheres of Justice: A Defense of Pluralism and Equality (New York: Basic Books, 1983).
- Watson Institute Targeted Sanctions Project, Strengthening Targeted Sanctions Through Fair and Clear Procedures (Providence, RI: Watson Institute for International Studies, 2006).
- Watts, Arthur, 'The International Rule of Law' (1993) 36 GYIL 15-45.
- Wedgwood, Ruth, 'The Enforcement of Security Council Resolution 687: The Threat of Force Against Iraq's Weapons of Mass Destruction' (1998) 92 AJIL 724–728.
- Weiss, Thomas G., Cortright, David, Lopez, George A. and Minear, Larry (eds.), Political Gain and Civilian Pain: Humanitarian Impacts of Economic Sanctions (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 1997).
- Wellens, Karel, 'The Security Council and New Threats to the Peace: Back to the Future' (2003) 8 *Journal of Conflict and Security Law* 15–70.
- Werle, G., "We Asked for Justice and Got the Rule of Law": German Courts and the Totalitarian Past' (1995) 11 South African Journal on Human Rights 70–83.
- Werleigh, Claudette Antoine, 'The Use of Sanctions in Haiti: Assessing the Economic Realities', in Cortright and Lopez (eds.), Economic Sanctions: Panacea or Peacebuilding, pp. 161–171.
- West, Robin L., Re-imagining Justice: Progressive Interpretations of Formal Equality, Rights, and the Rule of Law (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2003).
- Westlake, John, *International Law*, 2 vols., 2nd edn (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1913) (vol. I: *Peace*; vol. II: *War*).
- Weston, Burns, 'SCR 687 and Persian Gulf Decision-Making: Precarious Legitimacy' (1991) 85 AJIL 516–535.
- Wheaton, Henry, *Elements of International Law*, 4th edn (London: Stevens & Sons, 1904).
 - Wheaton's International Law, 7th edn (London: Stevens & Sons, 1944).
- White, N. D., *The Law of International Organisations* (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1996).
- Wild, Payson S., *Sanctions and Treaty Enforcement* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1934).
- Wolcher, E., 'What is the Rule of Law? Perspectives from Central Europe and the American Academy' (2003) 78 *Washington LR* 515–524.
- Woodhouse, Tom, Bruce, Robert and Dando, Malcolm (eds.), Peacekeeping and Peacemaking: Towards Effective Intervention in Post-Cold War Conflicts (New York, NY: St Martin's Press, 1997).
- Woolsey, Theodore D., *Introduction to the Study of International Law*, 6th edn (London: Sampson Low, 1888).

- Wright, Quincy, 'The Test of Aggression in the Italo-Ethiopian War' (1936) 30 AJIL 45–56.
- Zaidi, Sarah, 'Humanitarian Effects of the Coup and Sanctions in Haiti', in Weiss et al. (eds.), *Political Gain and Civilian Pain*, pp. 189–212.
- Zifcak, Spencer (ed.), *Globalisation and the Rule of Law* (London: Routledge, 2004). 'Globalizing the Rule of Law: Rethinking Values and Reforming Institutions', in Zifcak (ed.), *Globalisation and the Rule of Law*, pp. 32–64.

Index

| Abyssinia 54–56, 56–57 | administering lists for targeted |
|--|---|
| Addis Ababa 88, 353–354, 354–355 | sanctions 155 |
| administration and monitoring of | considering humanitarian impact |
| sanctions 146-181 | 155-156 |
| Bodies of Experts 163-174 | exemptions administration |
| ad hoc Panels on Iraq 164–165 | 150-151 |
| Committee of Experts on Afghanistan/ | improving sanctions |
| Al Qaida/Taliban 167-168 | implementation 152–153 |
| Group of Experts on Cote d'Ivoire 173-174 | liaising 153-154 |
| Group of Experts on DRC 172–173 | refining working methods 154–155 |
| Group of Experts on Iraq 164 | reporting activities 149–150 |
| Panel of Experts on Liberia (1343) | sanctions monitoring tasks 151–152 |
| 168–170 | special assistance requests 151 |
| Panel of Experts on Liberia (1521) | table of 477 |
| 171-172 | working methods 156–157 |
| Panel of Experts on Sierra Leone 166–167 | SC Working Group on Sanctions 157 |
| Panel and Team of Experts on Somalia | United Nations peacekeeping |
| 170-171 | operations 180-181 |
| Panel of Experts on UNITA 17 | see also administration under sanctions |
| Disarmament Commissions and | regimes; model; reform |
| Commissions of Inquiry | Aegina and Aeginetans 45–46 |
| 157-163 | Afghanistan |
| ICIR 160-162, 349-352 | rule of law 22 |
| Iraq Commissions 158–160 | and judicial system 33 |
| SICÎ 163 | sanctions committee (1267) see under |
| UNIIIC 163 | sanctions regimes |
| Monitoring bodies 174-180 | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| Iraq Export/Import monitoring | regimes |
| mechanism 174–175 | terrorism and sanctions 89, 107-128 |
| Somalia Monitoring Group | Committee of Experts on 167–168 |
| 179–180 | see also administration; fine-tuning; |
| Taliban and Al Qaida monitoring | targets under scope and targets |
| mechanism 176–177 | African Group 199–201 |
| Taliban and Al Qaida Monitoring Team | agreements, international legal 19 |
| 177-179 | aggression, acts of 63–64, 86–87, |
| UNITA monitoring mechanism 176 | 103-105 , 190-195, 197-198, 231 |
| sanctions committees 147-157 | |
| | see also breaches; threats; |
| composition 147–148 mandates 148–156 | constitutional under sanctions regimes; GA |

| aircraft trade sanctions 117-118 | assets and bank accounts freezing |
|---|---|
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | 14-15, 120-123, 220-223, 228, |
| scope and targets | 237-238 |
| Al Qaida 72, 89 | see also scope under sanctions |
| terrorism and sanctions 107–128, | regimes; scope and targets |
| 201-202, 206, 219, 220-223 | Athens and Athenians 45–46 |
| Committee of Experts on 167–168 | retaliation by kidnapping 46 |
| monitoring mechanism 176-177 | audit of target revenues 410-411 |
| Monitoring Team 177-179, 204-205 | Auriol, Vincent 1 |
| sanctions committee (1267) see under | Austria 21 |
| sanctions regimes | aviation |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | safety of civil see Montreal |
| regimes | Convention |
| see also administration; fine-tuning; | sanctions 126-127, 207, 353-354 |
| targets under scope and targets | see also scope under sanctions |
| Alvarez, Jose E. 75, 235 | regimes; scope and targets |
| Aquinas, Thomas 28 | |
| AMIS 435-438 | Baker, James 1 |
| ancient history of sanctions see under | bank accounts and assets freezing 14-15, |
| prehistory | 120-123, 220-223, 228, 237-238 |
| androlepsia (retaliation by kidnapping) 45-46 | see also scope under sanctions regime; |
| Angola | scope and targets |
| rule of law 22 | Beirut 89 |
| in peacekeeping 33 | belligerent blockade 50-51 |
| protecting human rights 34 | see also pacific blockade |
| rebel group see UNITA | Bin Laden, Osama 131, 201-202, 220-223, |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | 374-395 |
| regimes | Bismarck, Otto von 49 |
| see also administration; fine- | blockade |
| tuning; targets under scope and | belligerent 50-51 |
| targets | maritime 46 |
| Annan, Kofi 97 | pacific see pacific blockade |
| 'In Larger Freedom' (2005) 5, 215 | Bodies of Experts 163-174 , 233, 239 |
| role of SC 1 | Bologna 46 |
| on rule of law 14, 21, 35-36 , 40 | Bonn-Berlin process 202, 207, 209 |
| apartheid and racial discrimination | Bosnia and Herzegovina |
| 92-93, 94-95, 135-136, | and interference 91 |
| 255-261 | see also Bosnian Serb; Former Yugoslavia; |
| appeals by individuals see due | FRY; FRYSM under sanctions |
| process under model and under | regimes |
| reform | Bosnian Serbs |
| Arab Group 199-201 | sanctions against 83-85, 98, 107-128 |
| Ariana Afghan Airways see | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| Afghanistan under sanctions | regimes |
| regimes | see also administration; fine-tuning; |
| Aristide, President Jean-Bertrand 17–18, 97, | Former Yugoslavia, FRY, FRYSM |
| 100, 130, 133, 326–334 | under sanctions regimes; |
| armed conflict | targets under scope and targets |
| and civilian population 24 | boycotts 47, 261 |
| factors preventing 24 | see also sanctions regimes |
| and pre-twentieth century | breaches of the peace 63-64, 102-103 , |
| sanctions 51–52 | 190-195 , 231 |
| arms sanctions and control 107, 110–114, | see also aggression ; constitutional under |
| 136, 158–160, 197–198, 207, | sanctions regimes; threats |
| 249, 258 | Britain and British |
| see also scope under sanctions | |
| | embargo 49–50 |

| Britain and British (cont.) | Commissions of Inquiry 157-163 |
|---|---|
| League of Nations 57 | communications, international 4 |
| pacific blockade 50 | conflict see armed; international |
| see also English; UK | Connally, Tom 59 |
| Bulgaria 162, 215-217 | consistency principle in model of the |
| Burundi | rule of law 40-42 |
| rule of law 22 | see also consistency under model; |
| crimes 33 | reform |
| governance 34 | consultations, informal, private 187 |
| judicial system 33 | Cote d'Ivoire 91 |
| Bush, George H.W. 19–20 | rule of law |
| Busin, George III.VIII 20 | judicial system 33 |
| Cambodia 9 | peacekeeping 33, 180–181 |
| Canada 23 | and sanctions 14-15, 107-128 |
| Cape Verde 19-20, 46-47 | Group of Experts on 173–174 |
| Central African Republic 22, 33 | in humanitarian crises 101 |
| Certain Expenses of the United Nations (1962) | sanctions committee (1572) see under |
| 37, 67, 69, 73 | sanctions regimes |
| Chad 101 | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| Charter see UN Charter | regimes |
| chemical sanctions 119 | see also administration; fine- |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | tuning; targets under scope and |
| scope and targets | targets |
| children 224-227 | Council |
| see also civilian | League see under League of Nations |
| Chile 21, 223 | Security see SC |
| China China | coups d'etat 97-98, 135, 334, |
| FRY sanctions 83 | 357–368 |
| on rule of law 24-25 | Covenant of the League of Nations |
| UN Charter see sanctions under UN | Art. 12 53, 55 |
| Charter | Art. 13 53 |
| veto 212–213, 214 | Art. 15 53 |
| Churchill, Sir Winston 56 | Art. 16(1) 45, 55 |
| civil embargo 49–50 | see also League of Nations; prehistory |
| civil war, general 95-96, 130 | CPPCG (1951) 19 |
| civilian populations | crimes against humanity 33, 135–136, |
| protection of in armed conflict 24, | 411, 430–431, 434, 438–439, |
| 135-136 | 447 |
| sanctions effects on see humanitarian | see also Afghanistan, FRY, Haiti, Sudan |
| issues | under sanction regimes; Human |
| codification see under international | Rights |
| law | criticisms |
| coercive non forceful activities 8 | of UN sanctions 5–6, 10, 141–145, |
| Cold War 1 | 224–227 |
| codification of law during 19 | of decision making process 15, 23–24 |
| politics of preventing sanctions 3, 19, 36, | see also weaknesses under model |
| 73, 235 | Crusades 47 |
| post | CTC 381-384 |
| rule of law developed 19-20, 22 | Cuban missile crisis 7 |
| sanctions increased 3, 14, | Cuellar, Perez de 205 |
| 36-37, 73 | cultural sanctions 127–128 |
| collective sanctions 8 | see also scope under sanctions regimes; |
| Committees of Experts see Bodies of | scope and targets |
| Experts | Cyprus 17 |
| compensation 134, 142, 197–199, | Cypius 1/ |
| 261-282 | Darfur region see Sudan |
| UNCC 158-160 | de facto state targets 129–130 |
| 01100 100 100 | we prove state targets 143-100 |

| decision making process and transparency 186-189, 230-232 | ECOMOG 117, 359–364 economic sanctions see under scope and |
|---|--|
| see also reform; rule of law | targets |
| Declaration, Millennium (2000) 18–19, 20 | ECOWAS 180-181, 196-197, 317, 361-364, |
| see also quasi-judicial under rule of law | 367, 403, 406-409, 439-440 |
| definition of sanctions 6-10 | Egypt 199–201, 353–354 |
| collective 8 | elected members of SC (E10) 214, |
| international sphere 6-10 | 235–236 |
| nexus with law not required 7 | |
| multilateral 7–8 | elections 135–136, 196–197, 260, 314–315, 317 |
| | Elizabeth I, Queen 46–47 |
| national sphere 6 regional 7-8 | |
| UN sanctions 8 | embargoes 49–50, 107 English citizens and property 46–47 |
| unilateral 7 | see also Britain; UK |
| universal 8 | equality principle in model of the rule |
| | of law 40-42 |
| see also UN sanctions ; voluntary sanctions | |
| | see also equality under model; reform |
| democratic governments | Eritrea 90, 107-128 Eritrea and Ethionia canations |
| power seized from 97–98, 334, 357–368 | Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions committee (1298) see under |
| restoration by sanctions 135 Denmark 23 | sanctions regimes |
| diamond sanctions 118–119, 344–345 | Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regime see |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | under sanctions regimes |
| scope and targets | see also administration; fine-tuning; |
| Dicey, A.V. 31 | targets under scope and targets |
| diplomatic relations | Ethiopia 88, 90, 107–128 , 199–201, |
| discourteous 47 | 353–354 |
| as sanctions 123, 353–354 | Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | committee (1298) see under |
| scope and targets | sanctions regimes |
| disarmament see arms sanctions | Eritrea and Ethiopia sanctions regime see |
| Disarmament Commissions 157-163 | under sanctions regimes |
| discretion of SC see under SC | see also administration; fine- |
| displaced persons see refugees | tuning; targets under scope and |
| DPRK see North Korea | targets |
| DRC | EU 7-8, 215-217, 414 |
| rule of law 22 | exemptions see under administration; |
| in peacekeeping 33, 180-181 | fine-tuning; model; reform; |
| protecting human rights 34 | sanctions regimes; scope and |
| sanctions against rebel military force | targets |
| 99-100, 107-128 | Expert Committees, Groups, Panels and |
| Group of Experts on 172–173 | Teams see Bodies of Experts |
| sanctions committee (1533) see under | see also monitoring bodies; Panels of |
| sanctions regimes | Experts |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | extradition 353–357 |
| regimes | Children Sus Sus, |
| see also targets under scope and | Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) |
| targets | rule of law and conflict resolution 22, 34 |
| due process principle in model of the | sanctions 85, 107-128 , 196-197 |
| rule of law 40-42 | need for Art. 39 determination 83-85 |
| see also due process under model; | violation of minority's fundamental |
| reform | rights 101-102 |
| Dule case see Tadic | sanctions committee (1160) see under |
| Dumbarton Oaks Conference 59 | sanctions regimes |
| | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| E10 214, 235-236 | regimes |
| East Timor 33 | feminist scholars 29-30 |

| financial sanctions 207, 220–223 | FRY see under Federal Republic of Yugoslavia |
|---|---|
| see also under scope and targets | FRYSM |
| fine-tuning sanctions 129, 133-145 | and interference 91 |
| setting sanctions objectives 133-139 | and sanctions 107-128 , 207-210, |
| arms control and disarmament 136 | 217-219 |
| ending rebellion and invasion 134–135 | civilian population, impact on 225 |
| good governance, promoting 138-139 | sanctions committee (724) see under |
| Human Rights protection 135–136 | sanctions regimes |
| peace establishment 136–137 | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| restoring legitimate government 135 | regimes |
| terrorism, addressing 137–138 | see also administration ; Bosnian Serb, |
| temporal application 139-140 | Former Yugoslavia, FRY under |
| time-delays 139–140 | sanctions regimes; fine- |
| time-limits 140 | tuning; targets under scope and |
| unintended effects, addressing | 0. 0 |
| | targets Fuller, Lon L. 31 |
| 141-145 | ruller, Loll L. 51 |
| humanitarian impact on civilians | C.A. |
| 141-144 | GA |
| exemptions process 141–142 | 'On the Definition of Aggression' 103-104 |
| humanitarian impact assessment | Resolution 2627 (XXV) 19 |
| 143-144 | Gbagbo, Laurent 439–440 |
| smart (targeted) sanctions 143 | GEMAP 138 |
| third state impact 144–145 | General Sanctions Committee, new |
| see also sanctions regimes | see under reform |
| Finnis, John 31 | genocide 163, 287 |
| First World War see World War I | geographical sanctions base, non specific |
| 'formal' theories see theories under rule of | 374-395 |
| law | Germany 57, 207 |
| Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia 22, 34, 180-181, 373 | Ghali, Boutros Boutros-131–132, 192–193, 223 |
| Former Yugoslavia 4 | GIA 326-334 |
| judicial system and rule of law 33 | globalisation 4, 70 |
| sanctions 83, 90-91, 107-128 , 204-205, | governance, principled, and rule of law 34 |
| 217-219 | promoting by sanctions 138-139 |
| in general civil war 95-96 | GRL 115-116, 142, 175, 239, |
| multilateral 7-8 | 268-271 |
| peacekeeping 180-181, 196-197 | Groups of Experts see Bodies of Experts |
| sanctions committee (724) see under | Guinea-Bissau 215–217, 319 |
| sanctions regimes | rule of law 22 |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | crimes 33 |
| regimes | independent judiciaries 33 |
| France 18–19, 20 | protecting human rights 34 |
| Ambassador to UN 1 | Gulf War (1991) 85, 103, 197-198, 207-210, |
| embargo 49-50 | 262, 457–458 |
| League of Nations sanctions 57 | second 160, 273 |
| Libya 190-195, 198-199, | |
| 297–305 | Haiti 4 |
| pacific blockade 50 | de facto government illegal 17-18 |
| UN Charter see under sanctions under | rule of law |
| UN Charter | crimes 33 |
| veto 212-213, 214 | peacekeeping 22, 33 |
| freezing assets and bank accounts 14–15, | sanctions 14–15, 107–128 , 202–203, |
| 120–123, 220–223, 228, | 207–210 |
| 237–238 | |
| | civilian population, impact on 225 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | multilateral 7–8 |
| scope and targets | power unlawfully seized, after 97 |

| in humanitarian crises 100 sanctions committee (841) see under sanctions regimes | Libya 192–193, 304–305 and SC powers 37, 67, 69, 71 ICRC 370–371 |
|--|--|
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | ICTR 70-71, 162, 349-352 |
| regimes | ICTY 37, 67, 69, 70 |
| see also administration; fine- | IGAD 289–290 |
| tuning; targets under scope and | 'In Larger Freedom' (2005) 5, 215 |
| targets | informal consultations, private 187 |
| Hanseatic League 47 | improving sanctions implementation |
| Hariri, Rafiq 23, 89, 163, 448–452 Hariri | 152-153 see also administration |
| | increase in UN sanctions 14 |
| sanctions committee (1636) see under | causes 3-4 |
| sanctions regimes sanctions regime see under sanctions | |
| regimes | see also peacekeeping India 212-213 |
| Tribunal 452 | individuals as sanctions targets |
| see also UNIIIC | 131–132, 452 |
| Hayek, F. A. 31 | see also freezing, targeted; travel; see also |
| Henry V, King 46 | under reform |
| Herzegovina 91 | Indonesia 24–25 |
| High Level Panel on Threats, Challenges | interference 91–92, 134–135 |
| and Change 215 | Interlaken process 202, 207 |
| history of sanctions see prehistory | internal crises 92-102 |
| Hitler, Adolf 57 | international |
| Holy See, The 67 | agreements, legal 19 |
| hostile embargo 49-50 | communications 4 |
| Human Rights 135-136 | see also telecommunications |
| violations | conflict 90-91 |
| rule of law 34, 411, 438-439 | criminal tribunals 9-10 |
| sanctions 4-5, 224-227 | see also ICC |
| see also crimes | law 15-16 |
| Human Rights Commission 215-217 | classic, sanctions under see under |
| Human Rights Watch 215-217, 350 | prehistory |
| humanitarian | codification during Cold War 19 |
| crises 100–101, 135–136, 234, 326–327 | new and Art. 2(6) 66-67 |
| impact assessments 143–144, 226–227, | and prosecution of terrorists 452 |
| 239, 410-411 | and SC actions 37 |
| issues and civilian populations 15, | see also peremptory norms |
| 207-210 | peace and security, SC duty to maintain |
| control of sanctions effects 108–109, | 15-16 |
| 141–144, 150–151, 155–156, | see also UN Sanctions |
| 224-227, 239 | technology 4 |
| see also exemptions | terrorism see terrorism |
| humanitarian impact assessments | trade 4 |
| 143-144, 226-227, 239 | Interpol 363, 367 |
| Hussein, Saddam 1, 225, 228–229, 241, 262 | interpretation, legal see quasi-judicial under |
| IATA 04 05 445 450 454 455 044 040 | rule of law |
| IAEA 84, 87, 115, 158, 174–175, 241–242, | Iran |
| 264–265, 271–281, 453–454 | rule of law 24–25 |
| ICC 74, 163, 434 | sanctions 83–85, 105, 107–128 , |
| ICCPR (1976) 19 | 212–213 |
| ICESCR (1976) 19 ICIR 160-162, 340-352 | assets freeze exemptions 228 |
| ICIR 160–162, 349–352 ICISS 234 | and WMD 87, 114–116, 241–242 sanctions committee (1737) see under |
| ICJ 62, 103–104, 287 | sanctions regimes |
| judicial review 73-75 | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| see also under reform | regime |
| | 16811116 |

| Iran (cont.) see also administration; fine-tuning; | Kosovo 83–85, 101–102, 107–128 Albanians 102 |
|--|---|
| targets under scope and targets | Liberation Army 101 |
| Iraq | see also administration; fine-tuning; |
| annexation of Kuwait illegal 17–18 | targets under scope and targets |
| invasion as breach of the peace | Kuwait 164, 197–198, 261–282 |
| 102-103 | annexation by Iraq illegal 17–18 |
| boundary delimited 17 | boundary delimited 17 |
| force against authorised 1 | invasion of as breach of the peace |
| peace operation mandate 22, 34 | 102-103 |
| rule of law | |
| and governance 34 | League of Nations 58 |
| promoted by sanctions 23, 197–198 | collective/universal sanctions 8, 45 |
| protecting human rights 34 | Covenant of see Covenant |
| sanctions 85, 107–128 , 202–203, | dispute resolution see prehistory |
| 207–210, 217–219 | League Council 52-53 |
| civilian population, impact on | Sir Winston Churchill on 56 |
| 224-227 | see also under prehistory |
| Groups and Panels of Experts on | Lebanon 23, 89, 448–452 |
| 164-165 | see also Hariri; UNIIIC |
| monitoring mechanism 174-175 | legal basis for sanctions 81-105 |
| sanctions committees (661 and 1518) see | administering bodies 81 |
| under sanctions regimes | oversight by SC 82 |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | determining triggers for sanctions |
| regimes | 82-105 |
| WMD and sanctions 86-87, 114-116, | prior determination desirable 82-85 |
| 158-160, 197-198, 241, 261-282 | not made in Bosnia, FRY, Iran |
| see also administration; fine-tuning; | regimes 83-85 |
| targets under scope and | acts of aggression 103-105 |
| targets | defined by GA and ICJ 103-104 |
| Israel 212-213 | used once only 104 |
| Italy 54-57 | breaches of the peace 102-103 |
| Ituri region see DRC | invoking Art. 41 and Ch. VII 105 |
| Ivory Coast see Cote d'Ivoire | rarely used 105 |
| Troif Court out Cotte a Troile | threats to the peace 85-102 |
| Janjaweed militia 101, 430-431 | international dimensions |
| Japan and Japanese 49 | 86-92; aggressive states and WMI |
| Jefferson, Thomas 49–50 | 86-87; interference 91-92; |
| Johnson-Sirleaf, Ellen 419, 427 | international conflict 90–91; |
| judicial review 238 | international terrorism 87-89 |
| of Ch. VII decisions see review under rule | from internal crises |
| of law | 92-102 ; apartheid 94-95; general |
| by ICJ see ICJ | civil war 95–96; racist minority |
| judicial systems and rule of law 33 | denying rights 92–93; rebel |
| see also rule of law | , , , |
| jus cogens see peremptory norms | military attack on government |
| 'just war' 28 | 98–100; seizure of power from democratic government |
| Just war 28 | 97–98; serious humanitarian |
| Vadi Vaccin Abdullah a Council and Commission | |
| Kadi, Yassin Abdullah v Council and Commission | crises 100–101; violation of |
| (2005) 72, 74 | minority's fundamental rights |
| Kanyabashi, Joseph, Prosecutor v, (1997) | 101-102 |
| 70-71, 74 | see also model; reform ; constitutional |
| KFOR 372, 373–374 | under sanctions regimes |
| Khmer-Rouge 9 | legally binding decisions of SC see under |
| kidnapping, state sanctioned 46 | rule of law |
| in medieval Britain 46 | legitimate governments, restoration |
| Korea see North Korea; Republic of | of 135 |

| Libonia | Milutinavia and Othern Buseauton v. (2002) 67 |
|--|---|
| Liberia | Milutinovic and Others, Prosecutor v, (2003) 67 |
| interference 91 | minorities |
| rule of law protecting human | racist 92–93, 219, 248–249 |
| rights 34 | rights of, violated 101–102, 135–136 |
| sanctions 107–128 , 196, 215–219, 367 | MODEL 419-420 |
| in general civil war 96 | model of the rule of law 39-42 |
| Panel of Experts on 168–170, | weaknesses in UN sanctions system |
| 171-172, 173-174, 226-227 | in 178, 185-229 |
| and peacekeeping 14–15, 180–181, | consistency 205-211 |
| 196-197 | as aim 205–206 |
| sanctions committees (985, 1343 and | objectives, inconsistent, of |
| 1521) see under sanctions | sanctions regimes 206 |
| regimes | scope of sanctions |
| sanctions regimes (788, 1343 and 1521) | 207; improvement 207; problems |
| see under sanctions regimes | with exemptions 207-210 |
| see also administration; fine- | use of subsidiary bodies 210–211 |
| tuning; targets under scope and | inconsistent sanctions committee |
| targets | use 210 |
| Libya 215-217 | inconsistent subsidiary organ names |
| sanctions committee (748) see under | and membership 211 |
| sanctions regimes | due process 217-223 |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | presumption of innocence |
| regimes | 217; applicable to terrorists and |
| terrorism and sanctions 87-88, | non-state actors 219; individuals |
| 107-128, 190-195, 198-199, | and targeted sanctions |
| 217-219, 237, 297-305 | 219-223; financial blacklists |
| see also administration; fine-tuning; | 220–223; de-listing procedures |
| targets under scope and | 220–222; travel sanctions 219–220 |
| targets | states targets and opportunity for SC |
| Libya v UK (1998) see Lockerbie | hearing 217-219 |
| Libya v US (1992) see Lockerbie | equality 211-217 |
| Lockerbie case 71, 74, 76, 134, 297–305 | equal treatment 212-213; veto |
| Lorenz, Joseph P. 57 | producing inequality 212–213 |
| LURD 419-420 | equal representation in selecting SC |
| Lusaka Protocol 123 | 213-217; elected and permanent |
| luxury goods sanctions 119, 455–456 | members 214; reform of SC |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | membership 214–215; standards |
| scope and targets | of new members, issue of 215–217 |
| otope una targeto | proportionality 223-229 |
| Macedonia 22, 34, 180-181, 373 | civilian populations and |
| Malval, Robert 329–330 | humanitarian impact |
| mandates of subsidiary bodies 148–156, | 224–227; reducing sanctions |
| 210, 211 | impact 225–227; exemptions, by |
| Mandela, Nelson 255 | 226; humanitarian impact |
| maritime blockade 46 | assessments 226-227; targeted |
| see also pacific blockade | sanctions 226 |
| Mbeki, Thabo 440 | individual targets 225, 228; reducing |
| medieval history and sanctions see | sanctions impact; exemptions |
| under prehistory | from asset freezing |
| Megara 45-46 | 228; exemptions from travel bans |
| Mexico 21, 24-25 | 228 |
| | |
| military coups see coups d'etat | third states 225, |
| military sanctions 16 | 228–229; reducing sanctions |
| political support for limited 3 | impact by Art. 50 228–229 |
| Millennium Declaration and Summit | transparency 185–205 |
| (2000) 18-19, 20, 40 | in SC's decision-making process |
| Milosevic, Slobodan 129, 133–145 | 186–189; criticisms of 188–189; |

| model of the rule of law (cont.) | non-economic sanctions see under scope |
|--|--|
| early practice of public debate | and targets |
| 186; private 'informal | non-forceful coercive actions 8 |
| consultations' institutionalised | non-member states 65–68 |
| 187; thematic and peace and | non-military sanctions 4 |
| security debates 188 | see also sanctions; UN sanctions |
| in SC decisions 189-202; | North Kivu region see DRC |
| determination of threats to the | North Korea 4, 67 |
| peace 190-195; criticisms of | and sanctions 107-128 |
| 193-195; imprecise | and WMD 87, 105, 114-116, 241-242 |
| characterisation 190; wide | sanctions committee (1718) see under |
| discretion and risk of abuse | sanctions regimes |
| 190-195; invoking Charter basis | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| for applying sanctions | regimes |
| 195–196; failure to invoke Art. 41 | see also administration; fine- |
| critiscised 195-196; sanctions, | tuning; targets under scope and |
| articulating objectives | targets |
| 196-202; establishing peace and | Norway and Norwegians 50 |
| stability 196–197; securing | Novgorod 47 |
| disarmament 197-198; sanction | NPT 136, 197, 241-242, 453-454 |
| lifting arbitrary 197-198; stopping | NTGL 180-181, 420-421, 428-429 |
| terrorism support 198-202; | nuclear programmes see NPT, WMD |
| objectives too vague | |
| 198-199; timing of compliance | OAS 7-8, 97, 326-327 |
| imprecise 199-201; verifiable | OAU 90, 352, 356, 361-364, 395-396, 403 |
| goals preferable 201-202 | objectives of sanctions see under fine - |
| in sanctions committees | tuning; model; reform; |
| 202-205; problems with | sanctions regime |
| transparency 202-203; reforms, | OFFP 115-116, 142, 164-165, 175, 207-210, |
| partial 203–204; remaining | 268-281 |
| problems 204–205 | OHCHR 238 |
| see also reform ; sanctions regimes ; UN | 'On the Definition of Aggression' 103-104 |
| sanctions | opium 119 |
| monitoring sanctions see administration | Orakhelashvili, Alexander 72 |
| monitoring bodies and mechanisms | OSCE 370-371, 372 |
| 81, 153-154, 174-180 , | DE 040, 040, 044, 005, 006 |
| 233, 239 | P5 212-213, 214, 235-236 |
| see also Bodies of Experts; Panels of | pacific blockade 50–51 |
| Experts | see also maritime blockade |
| Montreal Convention on Air Safety (1972) | Pakistan 212–213 |
| 305 | Pan Am flight 103 134, 190–195, 198–199, |
| Montreal Convention for Suppression of | 297-305 Paralla of Evranta 91, 152, 154, 162, 174 |
| Unlawful Acts (1992) 192–193, | Panels of Experts 81, 153–154, 163–174 , |
| 304-305 MONIJC 172, 180, 181, 411, 418 | 233, 239 |
| MONUC 172, 180–181, 411–418 'moralist' theories see theories under rule | see also Bodies of Experts; monitoring bodies |
| of law | PCASED 367 |
| | |
| Mubarak, Hosni 88, 353–355 multilateral sanctions 7–8 | peace octablishment 4 5 126 127 106 107 |
| multiple state targets 400 | establishment 4–5, 136–137, 196–197 |
| Mussolini, Benito 57 | keeping 14–15, 180–181 , 228–229, 319–320 |
| Mussolili, Bellito 37 | |
| NATO 215-217, 285, 372, 373-374 | and rule of law 22, 33, 34 see also UN sanctions |
| New York 19–20 | |
| Nicaragua v US (1986) 103–104 | peremptory norms see under limits under sanctions under UN Charter |
| Non-Aligned Movement 199–201 | permanent members of SC (P5) 212–213, |
| non-coercive sanctions 7 | 214, 235–236 |
| 11011 COCICIAC BUILCHOID / | 211, 200 200 |

| Persian Empire 47 petroleum sanctions 116-117 see also scope under sanctions regimes; | quasi-judicial decisions of SC see under rule of law |
|---|--|
| scope and targets Plato 31 | racial discrimination and apartheid 92–93, 94–95, 135–136 |
| politics of Cold War era see Cold War | Radin, Margaret Jane 31 |
| Portugal and Portuguese 46–47 | Ravenna 46 |
| positive sanctions 7 | Raz, Joseph 31 |
| 'positivist ' theories see theories under rule | rebel groups |
| of law | and sanctions 4-5, 98-100, 134-135 |
| Powell, Colin 241 | reform of UN sanctions system |
| prehistory of UN sanctions 45-57 | proposals for |
| in ancient and medieval times | consistency, improving 232-233 |
| 45-47 | a General Sanctions Committee for |
| 'collective action' 47 | centralised control 233 |
| discourteous diplomacy 47 | a sanctions quality assurance unit |
| Greece 45–46 | for best practice 232–233 |
| kidnapping, state sanctioned 46 | due process 236-238 |
| in medieval Britain 46 maritime blockades 46 | individual targets; judicial processes and review recommendations |
| seizure of property 46–47 | 238; temporary financial |
| sanctions under classic | sanctions pending appeal 237–238 |
| international law 47-52 | targets presentation of case 237 |
| non military coercive measures 47–51 | equality, promoting 234-236 |
| pre-twentieth century sanctions 51–52 | bloc voting by elected members |
| conflict triggered and resolved | 234–235 |
| 51-52 | expansion of SC membership |
| sanctions under League of Nations | 235-236 |
| 52-56 | veto restraint and abstention 234 |
| creation of League 52 | proportionality, ensuring 239-240 |
| dispute resolution 52-53 | exemptions minimising sanctions |
| sanctions framework 53-54 | civilian impact 239 |
| Covenant provisions and | humanitarian impact assessed by |
| decentralisation 53; | new unit 239 |
| interpretation 53–54 | reduction of sanctions burden on third states 240 |
| sanctions against Italy 54–56 response to invasion of Abyssinia | transparency, increasing 230-232 |
| 54-55 | decision-making process by public |
| effect of sanctions 55–56 | discussion 230–231 |
| failure of the League of Nations | sanctions committees and non- |
| 56-57 | confidential open debate |
| Italy, sanctions against, failed 56-57 | 231 - 232 |
| see also UN sanctions | sanctions related decisions specific |
| Presidential notes 142, 148, 203-204 | and legitimate 231 |
| Presidential statements 21-22 | summarised 244-246 |
| prior determination 82-85 | see also under SC |
| prisoners of war 164 | refugees and displaced persons 135-136, |
| private informal consultations 187 | 162, 370–371, 385–387, |
| property seizure 46-47 | 430-431, 434 |
| proportionality principle in model of | see also UNHCR; see also under threats |
| the rule of law 40-42 | under legal basis |
| see also proportionality under model; reform | regimes, sanctions see sanctions regimes |
| prosecution of terrorists, internationalised | regional sanctions 7–8 reporting by sanctions committees |
| 452 | 149–150 |
| public discussion of sanctions proposals see | see also administration under sanctions |
| | |
| under reform | regimes |

| reprisals 49-50 resolutions 22 217 248 233 107-110, 247-255 253 147-148, 202-203, 251-252 418 255-261 660 102-103 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 1288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 302-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 1918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 1377-138, 147-157, 199-201, 204-205, 206, 202-223, 374-395 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1160 713, 188-180 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1178 114-118, 118, 119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196-197, 199, 199, 319, 357-368, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1431 3110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-135, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-135, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-135, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-135, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-135, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128-119, 134-135, 135-155, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128-119, 134-135, 136-155, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128-119, 134-135, 136-155, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128-119, 134-135, 134-155, 168-170, 265-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 128, 128-128, 128- | | 1FE0 100 1F0 1F4 400 44F |
|---|-----------------|--|
| resolutions 22 217 248 232 107-110, 247-255 253 147-148, 202-203, 251-252 418 255-261 660 102-103 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 187-88 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 187-88 732 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 1918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 2066, 220-223, 374-395 1133 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 1393 172-173, 414, 416-417 1340 17, 178, | reprisals 49–50 | 1572 100, 173–174, 439–447 |
| 232 107-110, 247-255 233 147-148, 202-203, 251-252 418 255-261 660 102-103 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 673 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 758 896, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 840 13-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 2066, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-124, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1540 18 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 174 184-145 1540 174 184-142, 1120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 140, 140, 1 | | |
| 232 107-110, 247-255 253 147-148, 202-203, 251-252 418 255-261 660 102-103 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 88-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 7575 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 118, 119, 120-123, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 132 206 1333 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1356 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 12556 100, 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 200-223, 374-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 200-223, 374-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 138 148 149, 129, 136-137, | | |
| 253 147-148, 202-203, 251-252 418 255-261 660 102-103 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 120-323, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 201-202, 204-205, 206, 20-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1341 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-157, | | |
| 488 255-261 660 102-103 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 11054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-122, 180-181, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, 180-182, | | |
| 661 102-103 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 566 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 566 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 366-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 | | |
| 661 85, 107-110, 115-116, 141-142, 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 196-197, 198, 186-197, 199, 319, 357-368, 400-411 171e of faw 14-42 and peacekeeping 14-15 undermined by SC decisions 15 relevance to SC activities 15-24 goodwill of States, SC reliant on 18 rule of law 4sc. 16 legislative character 17; quasijudicial decisions of SC 16 legislative character 17; quasijudicial decisions 21; presidential statements on 21-22; resolutions 22 sanctions, promoting rule of law in 23 theories, issues relating to 24-32 rule of law described negatively 25 positively 24-25 scholarly crisis on rule of law 29-30 multiple interpretations 26-27 substantive or formal 27-29; formal theories 27-28; substantive theories 28-29 'universal human good' of limited power 30-32 towards pragmatic rule of law 32-42 restraint of political power 35 SC perceptions | | |
| 174-175, 197-198, 202-203, 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 732 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 758 30, 107-110, 305-316 758 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135, 566 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-135 | | |
| 207-210, 261-282 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 732 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 141, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1414, 1415-141 | | |
| 687 158-160 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 112, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1556 100, 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 713 110-114, 129, 136-137, 147-157, 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1399 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 158-1529 1536 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 526 | | |
| 180-181, 196-197, 282-288 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1265 29, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1560 10, 110-114, 185-29 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178-180, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180, | | |
| 724 147-157, 204-205, 284-286 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1366 -137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1718, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 38-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1527 173 173 174, 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 173 174 175, 185-229 1528 174 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 175 | | |
| 731 87-88 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1265 24 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1293 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 196-197, 196-197, 196-197, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 200-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196-197, | | |
| 733 288-297 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1526 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 179 100-114, 120-123, 136-137, 179, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 170-114, 120-123, 136-137, 179, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 170-114, 120-123, 136-137, 170-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196-197, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180, 180 | | |
| 748 134, 192, 297-305 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 840 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 107-110, 202-203, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 107 | | |
| 751 179-180, 289-290 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 397-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 757 83, 107-110, 305-316 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 20-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 788 96, 110-114, 129, 180-181, 196-197, 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1390 206, 397-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 316-320, 372-373 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 820 83-85, 107-110, 320-325 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1070 357 1070 357 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 186-137, 186-137, 186-137, 186-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 186- | | |
| 841 100, 107-110, 202-203, 326-334 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 188-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 180-187, 1 | | |
| 864 165-166, 334-345 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 918 100, 196, 345-353, 347-348 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, | | |
| 1054 88, 110-114, 123, 129, 137-138, 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 20-223, 374-395 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, | | |
| 147-157, 199-201, 353-357 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 | | |
| 1070 357 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 | | |
| 1132 117, 167, 357-368 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 178, 185-229 | | |
| 1160 83-85, 101-102, 136-137, 196-197, 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 1560 100, 120-120, 120-120, 120-120, 120-120, 120-120, 120-120, 120-120, 120-120 | | |
| 369-374 1265 24 1267 89, 120-123, 177-179, | | * |
| 1265 24 1267 89, 120–123, 177–179, | | |
| 1267 89, 120–123, 177–179, | | |
| 201-202, 204-205, 206, 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1520 206, 393-395 1521 310-114, 118-119, 120-123, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1520 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1534 315, 206, 377-381 1520 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1520 17, 178, 185-229 1520 17, 178, 185-229 1530 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 170-121, 120-123, 120- | | |
| 220-223, 374-395 1298 395-400 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, | | |
| 1298 395-400 rule of law described 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 negatively 25 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, positively 24-25 136-137, 138-139, 140, 26-30 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 26-30 400-411 judicial decisions and rule of law 1373 17, 178, 185-229 29-30 1390 206, 393-395 multiple interpretations 26-27 1441 158-160 substantive or formal 27-29; formal theories 27-28; substantive or formal 27-29; formal theories 28-29 1478 226-227 theories 28-29 1493 411-418 'universal human good' of limited power 30-32 152-1 53, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 towards pragmatic rule of law 32-42 1526 206 accountability for crimes 33 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 law and order 33 1540 17, 178, 185-229 principled governance 34 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | theories issues relating to 24-22 |
| 1333 206, 381, 387-388, 393-395 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, | | |
| 1343 110-114, 118-119, 134-135, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 29-30 29-30 393-395 395 395 395 395 395 395 395 395 395 | | |
| 136-137, 138-139, 140, 153-155, 168-170, 226-227, 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 156-100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 157-178, 185-229 157-178, 1 | | |
| 153–155, 168–170, 226–227, 400–411 judicial decisions and rule of law 29–30 1390 206, 393–395 multiple interpretations 26–27 1441 158–160 substantive or formal 27–29; formal 1455 206, 377–381 theories 27–28; substantive 1478 226–227 theories 28–29 1493 411–418 'universal human good' of limited power 30–32 towards pragmatic rule of law 32–42 restraint of political power 35 1526 206 countries 28–29 substantive 127–29; formal 14, 120–123, 136–137, 138–139, 140, restraint of political power 35 1526 206 countries 33 scountability for crimes 33 law and order 33 principled governance 34 protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 400-411 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1373 17, 178, 185-229 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 29-221 29-30 multiple interpretations 26-27 substantive or formal 27-29; formal theories 27-28; substantive theories 28-29 'universal human good' of limited power 30-32 towards pragmatic rule of law 32-42 restraint of political power 35 SC perceptions of rule of law 32-35 accountability for crimes 33 law and order 33 principled governance 34 protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1390 206, 393-395 1441 158-160 1455 206, 377-381 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 3414, 416-417 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 3414, 416-417 1560 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 3414, 416-417 1560 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, 3414, 416-417 1570 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 1 | | |
| 1441 158-160substantive or formal 27-29; formal1455 206, 377-381theories 27-28; substantive1478 226-227theories 28-291493 411-418'universal human good' of limited1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429power 30-321526 206towards pragmatic rule of law 32-421533 172-173, 414, 416-417restraint of political power 351540 17, 178, 185-229accountability for crimes 331556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137,principled governance 341556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137,protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1455 206, 377-381theories 27-28; substantive1478 226-227theories 28-291493 411-418'universal human good' of limited1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123,power 30-32136-137, 138-139, 140,towards pragmatic rule of law 32-42152-153, 171-172, 180-181,restraint of political power 35196, 418-429SC perceptions of rule of law 32-351526 206accountability for crimes 331533 172-173, 414, 416-417law and order 331540 17, 178, 185-229principled governance 341556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137,protecting Human Rights 34 | | substantive or formal 27–29; formal |
| 1478 226-227 1493 411-418 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, | | |
| 1493 411-418'universal human good' of limited1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, 136-137, 138-139, 140, 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 1526 206towards pragmatic rule of law 32-42 restraint of political power 35 SC perceptions of rule of law 32-351526 206accountability for crimes 331533 172-173, 414, 416-417law and order 331540 17, 178, 185-229principled governance 341556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137,protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1521 110-114, 118-119, 120-123, power 30-32 136-137, 138-139, 140, towards pragmatic rule of law 32-42 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, restraint of political power 35 196, 418-429 SC perceptions of rule of law 32-35 1526 accountability for crimes 33 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 law and order 33 1540 17, 178, 185-229 principled governance 34 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 136–137, 138–139, 140, 152–153, 171–172, 180–181, 196, 418–429 1526 206 1533 172–173, 414, 416–417 1540 17, 178, 185–229 1556 100, 110–114, 120–123, 136–137, towards pragmatic rule of law 32–42 restraint of political power 35 SC perceptions of rule of law 32–35 accountability for crimes 33 law and order 33 principled governance 34 protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 152-153, 171-172, 180-181, 196, 418-429 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, restraint of political power 35 SC perceptions of rule of law 32-35 accountability for crimes 33 law and order 33 principled governance 34 protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 196, 418-429 SC perceptions of rule of law 32-35 1526 206 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 1540 17, 178, 185-229 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, SC perceptions of rule of law 32-35 accountability for crimes 33 law and order 33 principled governance 34 protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1526 206 accountability for crimes 33 1533 172-173, 414, 416-417 law and order 33 1540 17, 178, 185-229 principled governance 34 1556 100, 110-114, 120-123, 136-137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1533 172–173, 414, 416–417 law and order 33 1540 17, 178, 185–229 principled governance 34 1556 100, 110–114, 120–123, 136–137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1540 17, 178, 185–229 principled governance 34 1556 100, 110–114, 120–123, 136–137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| 1556 100, 110–114, 120–123, 136–137, protecting Human Rights 34 | | |
| | | |
| | | |

| SC as 'sovereign power' 32, 36-37 | sanctions practice and rule of law see |
|---|--|
| scholarly exploration of SC and | sanctions practice under |
| rule of law 36-39 | model |
| and Cold War 36, 36-37 | sanctions quality assurance unit see under |
| legal parameters of action 37 | reform |
| review, judicial, of Ch. VII | sanctions regimes 9, 14, 247-463 |
| decisions 37; difficult to | Afghanistan/the Taliban/Al Qaida |
| implement 38–39 | 374-395 |
| SG perceptions of rule of law 35-36 | administration 381–393 |
| defined 35 | |
| | Committee of Experts 387–388 |
| theoretical model of rule of law | Monitoring Group 388–391 |
| 39-42 | Monitoring Team 392-393 |
| primary goal 39 | sanctions committee 381–384 |
| influencing decision making 40 | UNSG 385-387 |
| principles of 40-42 | constitutional basis 375 |
| weaknesses and UN sanctions system | objectives 376–377 |
| 178 , 1 85-229 | scope 377-381 |
| see also UN sanctions | exemptions 379–380 |
| Russia 49 | time limits and extensions 381 |
| Federation and veto 212-213, 214 | Bosnian Serb 320-325 |
| and FRY sanctions 84 | administration by sanctions |
| pacific blockade 50 | committee and UNSG 323-324 |
| retorsion | constitutional basis 320-321 |
| custom policies 49 | objectives 321 |
| regulations against Japan 4 | scope 321-323 |
| rule of law 21, 24-25 | exemptions 323 |
| trade boycott against 47 | suspensions and termination |
| UN Charter see under sanctions under | 324-325 |
| UN Charter | Cote d'Ivoire 439-447 |
| veto 212–213 | administration 443–447 |
| Russo-Japanese war 49 | Group of Experts 445–446 |
| Rwanda | sanctions committee 443-444 |
| judicial system and rule of law 33 | UNOCI 447 |
| sanctions 107–128 , 196, 206, | UNSG 444 |
| 217–219 | constitutional basis 439–440 |
| in general civil war 96 | objectives 440–441 |
| in humanitarian crises 100–101 | scope 441–443 |
| sanctions committee (918) see under | exemptions 442 |
| | DRC 411-418 |
| sanctions regimes | |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | administration 415–418 |
| regimes | Group of Experts 417–418 |
| see also administration; fine- | MONUC 416 |
| tuning; ICIR; ICTR; targets under | sanctions committee 416–417 |
| scope and targets | UNSG 415 |
| | constitutional basis 411 |
| San Francisco Conference 15, 18, 58, | objectives 412 |
| 59, 60, 234–235 | scope 412–415 |
| sanctions see definition ; military; time | exemptions 414 |
| delays; time limited | Eritrea and Ethiopia 395–400 |
| Sanctions Assessment Handbook 227 | administration by sanctions |
| sanctions committees 81, 147-157 , 210, | committee and UNSG |
| 231-232, 233, 239 | 398-399 |
| see also under administration ; | constitutional basis 395-396 |
| see also administration under | objectives 396–397 |
| sanctions regimes | scope 397-398 |
| sanctions enforcement support teams | exemptions 397 |
| 167-168, 387-391 | termination 399 |

| condions regimes (cont) | evenntions 267, 269 |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| sanctions regimes (cont.) | exemptions 267–268 |
| Former Yugoslavia 282-288 | OFFP exemptions 268–271 |
| administration by sanctions | Iran 458-463 |
| committee and UNSG 284-286 | administration 462 |
| constitutional basis 282-283 | IAEA 462 |
| objectives 283 | sanctions committee 462 |
| scope 283 | constitutional basis 458–460 |
| exemptions 284 | objectives 460 |
| termination 286 | scope 460-462 |
| FRY 369-374 | exemptions 461–462 |
| administration 372-374 | Liberia (788) 316-320 |
| sanctions committee 372-373 | administration by UN mission, |
| SC Mission 373-374 | UNSG, sanctions committee |
| UNPREDEP 373 | 317-319 |
| UNSG 373 | constitutional basis 316-317 |
| constitutional basis 369-370 | objectives 317 |
| objectives 370–371 | scope 317 |
| scope 371–372 | termination 319 |
| exemptions 372 | Liberia (1343) 400-411 |
| termination 374 | administration 404–409 |
| FRYSM 305-316 | Panel of Experts 406–409 |
| administration by UNSG and sanctions | sanctions committee 404–405 |
| committee 311–314 | UNSG 405 |
| | 21.5 2 202 |
| constitutional basis 306 | constitutional basis 400–401 |
| objectives 247–463 | objectives 401–402 |
| scope 307–310 | scope 402–403 |
| exemptions 309–310 | exemptions 403 |
| suspension and termination 314–315 | termination 409 |
| Haiti 326-334 | Liberia (1521) 418–429 |
| administration by sanctions | administration 423–429 |
| committee and UNSG 331-333 | Panel of Experts 425-428 |
| constitutional basis 326–327 | sanctions committee 423–425 |
| objectives 327–329 | UN operations 429 |
| scope 329-331 | UNMIL 428-429 |
| exemptions 329, 331 | UNSG 425 |
| temporary suspension 329-330 | constitutional basis 419–420 |
| termination 333 | objectives 420–421 |
| Hariri 448-452 | scope 421-423 |
| administration 450–452 | exemptions 422-423 |
| Hariri Tribunal 452 | Libya 297-305 |
| sanctions committee 451-452 | administration by UNSG and sanctions |
| UNIIIC 451 | committee 301-303 |
| UNSG 450-451 | constitutional basis 298 |
| constitutional basis 448-449 | objectives 298-299 |
| objectives 449 | scope 299–301 |
| scope 449–450 | exemptions 300–301 |
| exemptions 449–450 | suspension and termination 303-304 |
| Irag 261-282 | North Korea 452-458 |
| administration 271–281 | administration by sanction committee |
| disarmament commissions 275–276 | 456-457 |
| Groups and Panels of Experts 277–278 | constitutional basis 453-454 |
| monitoring mechanism 276–277 | objectives 454–455 |
| sanctions committees 271–275 | scope 455–456 |
| UNSG 278–281 | exemptions 456 |
| | Rwanda 345-353 |
| constitutional basis 262–263 | |
| objectives 264–265 | administration 347–352 |
| scope 265-271 | ICIR 349-352 |

| sanctions committee 347-348 | Panel of Experts 435-437 |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| UNSG 348-349 | sanctions committee 434 |
| constitutional basis 345-346 | SICI 434 |
| objectives 346 | UNSG 433-434 |
| scope 346-347 | constitutional basis 430-431 |
| suspension, partial 353 | objectives 431 |
| Sierra Leone 357-368 | scope 431-433 |
| administration 361-368 | exemptions 33 |
| Panel of Experts 365-368 | UNITA 334-345 |
| sanctions committee 361-364 | administration 338-344 |
| UNSG 365 | monitoring mechanism 342-344 |
| constitutional basis 358 | Panel of Experts 342 |
| objectives 359 | sanctions committee 338-340 |
| scope 359-361 | UNSG 340-342 |
| exemptions 360-361 | constitutional basis 335 |
| time limits and extensions 361 | objectives 335–336 |
| termination, partial 368 | scope 336-338 |
| Somalia 288-297 | exemptions 337–338 |
| administration 290-296 | suspension and termination 344 |
| Monitoring Group 295-296 | see also time delays; time limited; UN |
| sanctions committee 291-292 | sanctions |
| Teams and Panels of Experts 293-294 | sanctions under UN Charter 58-78 |
| UN Operations 292 | collective security approach 58-62 |
| UNSG 290 | permanent members of SC and veto |
| constitutional basis 288 | 58-59 |
| objectives 289 | principles and purposes of UN |
| scope 289-290 | 60-61 |
| exemptions 289–290 | UN principal organs and roles 61-62 |
| South Africa 255-261 | SC's sanctions powers 62-68 |
| administration by UNSG and sanctions | binding character of sanctions 65-68 |
| committee 259–260 | centralised decision making and Ch. |
| constitutional basis 255 | VII 62-63 |
| voluntary measures 255-256 | non-military sanctions 64-65 |
| objectives 257 | selected member states' action 65 |
| scope 258-259 | threat to peace as trigger 63-64 |
| arms embargo 258 | limits on SC powers 68-76 |
| continual voluntary sanctions 259 | Art. 24 and 25 68-69 |
| termination 260 | Art. 39 70-71 |
| Southern Rhodesia 247-255 | Charter provisions 68-71 |
| administration by UNSG and sanctions | judicial review 73-75 |
| committee 251–252 | and ICJ 73-75 |
| constitutional basis 248-249 | peremptory norms 71-72 |
| initial voluntary sanctions 248 | 'purposes and principles' 69–70 |
| objectives 249 | SC enduring power 75-76 |
| obligations of non-members 254 | Charter implementation issues |
| scope 249-251 | 76-78 |
| exemptions 251 | see also UN sanctions |
| termination 253 | Saracens 47 |
| Sudan (1054) 353-357 | Savimbi, Jonas 338, 344 |
| administration by UNSG 356-357 | SC |
| constitutional basis 354-355 | definition of UN sanctions 8 |
| objectives 355 | declarations see quasi-judicial under rule |
| scope 355 | of law |
| termination 357 | discretion, wide 190-195 |
| Sudan (1556) 430-439 | elected members (E10) 214, 235-236 |
| administration 433-438 | inaugural meeting 1, 18-19, 20 |
| AMIS 437-438 | initiatives, other Art. 41 9–10 |

| SC (cont.) | aviation sanctions |
|---|---|
| interpretation of law by see quasi-judicial | 126-127; exemptions 127 |
| under rule of law | diplomatic and representative |
| legally binding decisions of see under rule | 123; exemptions from 123 |
| of law | sporting, cultural and scientific |
| peacekeeping operations see | 127-128 |
| peacekeeping | telecommunications 128 |
| permanent members (P5) 212-213, 214, | transportation sanctions |
| 235-236 | 124; exemptions 124 |
| political organ 15-16 | travel sanctions |
| powers and ICJ and ICTY 37 | 124-126; exemptions 15 |
| Presidential notes 142, 148, 203-204 | targets, identifying 128-132 |
| Presidential statements 21-22 | de facto state 129-130 |
| quasi-judicial decisions of see under rule | extra-state 131 |
| of law | failed state 130 |
| reform of difficult 38-39, 214-215 | individuals 131-132 |
| resolutions see resolutions | multiple state 129 |
| role 1, 32, 62 | single state 129 |
| maintain international peace and | sub-state 130-131 |
| security 15–16 | see also scope under sanctions regimes; |
| and rule of law see under rule of law | UN sanctions |
| rules of procedure | Scottish court, trial of Lockerbie suspects |
| 146, 188 | before 134, 198-202, 297-305 |
| and sanctions see UN sanctions | Second World War see World War II |
| subsidiary bodies and organs see under | Secretary General, UN see UNSG |
| administration | Security Council see SC |
| summit meetings | seizure of property 46-47, 49-50 |
| inaugural 19–20 | self-determination |
| thematic debates 188 | denial of right to 92-93, 94-95 |
| veto over non-procedural matters 212-213 | sanctions restoring 135-136, 249, 257 |
| and voluntary sanctions 9 | September 11, post 201–202 |
| Working Group on Sanctions 157 | Serbian forces 101–102 |
| scientific sanctions 127–128 | SICI 163, 434 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | Sierra Leone 91 |
| scope and targets | crimes and rule of law 33 |
| scope and targets of sanctions 3-5, 8, | and sanctions 107-128 |
| 14, 106-132 | Panel of Experts on 166–167 |
| types of sanctions 106-128 | and peacekeeping 14-15 |
| economic and financial 107-123 | power unlawfully seized, after 97-98 |
| comprehensive economic | rebel military force, against 99 |
| 107-110; exemptions, | sanctions committee (1132) see under |
| humanitarian 108–109; | sanctions regimes |
| exemptions, other 109-110 | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| particular economic 110-119; arms | regimes |
| 110-114; exemptions 112-114; | see also administration; fine- |
| chemical 119; diamond 118–119; | tuning; targets under scope and |
| exemptions 118-119; luxury | targets |
| goods 119; petroleum 116–117; | SLA 435-437 |
| exemptions 117; Southern | 'smart' sanctions see targeted sanctions |
| Rhodesia exports 117; timber 119; | Smith, Ian 92–93, 248–249 |
| transport trade 117-118; WMD | Somalia |
| 114-116; exemptions | sanctions 107-128 |
| 115-116 | in general civil war 96 |
| financial sanctions | Monitoring Group on 179–180 |
| 120-123; exemptions 15 | Panel and Team of Experts on 170–171 |
| non-economic sanctions | and peacekeeping 14–15, 180–181, |
| 123-128 | 196-197 |

| sanctions committee (751) see under | sanctions committee (1591) see under |
|---|--|
| sanctions regimes | sanctions regimes |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | sanctions regimes (1054 and 1556) see |
| regimes | under sanctions regimes |
| see also administration; fine- | see also administration; fine-tuning; |
| tuning; targets under scope and | SICI; targets under scope and |
| targets | targets |
| South Africa 3, 162, 440 | summit meetings see under SC; world |
| sanctions 107-128 | Sweden and Swedish 50, 207 |
| | Switzerland 67, 207 |
| acts of aggression 104 | Switzerialid 67, 207 |
| apartheid 94-95 | W 1' D 1 D . (4005) 60 F0 F4 |
| sanctions committee (421) see under | Tadic, Dusko, Prosecutor v, (1995) 69, 70, 74 |
| sanctions regimes | Taliban 72 |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | sanctions committee (1267) see under |
| regimes | sanctions regimes |
| voluntary sanctions against 9 | sanctions regime see under sanctions |
| WMD and sanctions 86, 114-116, | regimes |
| 255-261 | terrorism and sanctions 89, 107-128 , |
| see also administration; fine-tuning; | 201-202, 206, 220-223, 297-305 |
| targets under scope and targets | Committee of Experts on 167–168 |
| South Kivu region see DRC | monitoring mechanism 176–177 |
| Southern Rhodesia 3, 4, 67, 105 | Monitoring Team 177-179, 204-205 |
| statehood claim illegal 17 | see also administration; fine-tuning; |
| white minority rule illegal 17–18, 82, | targets under scope and targets |
| 92–93 | Tamanaha, Brian Z. 31-32 |
| sanctions 107-128 , 202-203, | Tanzania 162 |
| | |
| 207–210, 219 | targeted sanctions 143, 155, 207, 219–223, |
| against exports 117 | 226, 237–238 |
| voluntary 9 | see also scope under sanctions regimes; |
| sanctions committee (253) see under | scope and targets |
| sanctions regimes | Taylor, Charles 367, 400, 418, 421–423 |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | Teams of Experts see Bodies of Experts |
| regime | technology, international 4 |
| see also administration; fine- | telecommunications sanctions 128 |
| tuning; targets under scope and | see also scope under sanctions regimes; |
| targets | scope and targets |
| Soviet Union see Russia | terrorism 4–5, 9–10, 17, 168, 353–357 , |
| special assistance see Art. 50 under UN | 374-395 |
| Charter | Afghanistan see Afghanistan |
| Special Commission 81 | Al Qaida see Al Qaida |
| | In Quida see In Quida |
| sporting sanctions 127–128 | |
| sporting sanctions 127–128 see also scope under sanctions regimes; | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | CTC 178, 185–229, 381–384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 Sudan see Sudan |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law | CTC 178, 185–229, 381–384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87–89, 137–138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan | CTC 178, 185–229, 381–384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87–89, 137–138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law crimes in Darfur 33 | CTC 178, 185–229, 381–384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87–89, 137–138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law third states 144–145, 225, 228–229 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law crimes in Darfur 33 independent judiciaries 33 | CTC 178, 185–229, 381–384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87–89, 137–138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law third states 144–145, 225, 228–229 threats to the peace 63–64, 85–102, |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law crimes in Darfur 33 independent judiciaries 33 peacekeeping 22, 180-181 | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law third states 144-145, 225, 228-229 threats to the peace 63-64, 85-102, 190-195, 231 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law crimes in Darfur 33 independent judiciaries 33 peacekeeping 22, 180-181 sanctions 14-15, 107-128, 217-219 | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law third states 144-145, 225, 228-229 threats to the peace 63-64, 85-102, 190-195, 231 not stated pre-sanctions 83-85, |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law crimes in Darfur 33 independent judiciaries 33 peacekeeping 22, 180-181 sanctions 14-15, 107-128, 217-219 and humanitarian crises in Darfur 101 | CTC 178, 185–229, 381–384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87–89, 137–138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law third states 144–145, 225, 228–229 threats to the peace 63–64, 85–102, 190–195, 231 not stated pre-sanctions 83–85, 369–370, 374 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; scope and targets Stockholm process 207, 209, 238 subsidiary bodies and organs see under administration 'substantive' theories see theories under rule of law Sudan rule of law crimes in Darfur 33 independent judiciaries 33 peacekeeping 22, 180-181 sanctions 14-15, 107-128, 217-219 | CTC 178, 185-229, 381-384 Kosovo Liberation Army 101 in Lebanon 23 Libya see Libya and sanctions 87-89, 137-138 Sudan see Sudan Taliban see Taliban The Responsibility to Protect (2001) 234 'thick' theories see theories under rule of law 'thin' theories see theories under rule of law third states 144-145, 225, 228-229 threats to the peace 63-64, 85-102, 190-195, 231 not stated pre-sanctions 83-85, |

| timber sanctions 119, 402–403 | peacekeeping operations see |
|---|--|
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | peacekeeping |
| scope and targets | purposes and principles see under |
| time delays on sanctions 139–140, | sanctions under UN Charter |
| 315-316, 334, 357, 368, | sanctions see UN sanctions |
| 393-395, 410-411 | collective or universal 8 |
| time limits on sanctions 140, 457–458 | UN Charter |
| see also Afghanistan, DRC, Eritrea, | Art. 1 60 |
| Sierra Leone under sanctions | Art. 1(1) 60 |
| regimes | Art. 1(2) 60, 69 |
| Timor-Leste 34 | Art. 1(3) 60, 70 |
| trade | Art. 1(4) 60 |
| boycotts, historical 47 | Art. 2 60-61, 254 |
| international 4, 117–118 | Art. 2(1) 212–213 |
| sanctions see scope under sanction | Art. 2(2) 70, 212–213 |
| regimes; scope and targets | Art. 2(5) 65–68 |
| tariffs 49 | |
| transparency principle in model of the | Art. 2(6) 66–67, 254 Art. 12 74 |
| rule of law 40-42 | |
| | Art. 23 212–213 |
| see also transparency under model; | Art. 24 68-69 |
| reform | Art. 24(2) 68–69 |
| transport trade sanctions 117-118 | Art. 25 10, 18, 65–69, 189, 254 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | Art. 27 212–213 |
| scope and targets | Art. 29 77, 146 |
| transportation sanctions 124 | Art. 30 77 |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | Art. 33 192–193 |
| scope and targets | Art. 35 188 |
| travel sanctions 4–5, 15, 124–126, | Art. 36 192–193 |
| 207, 219–220, 323, 334, | Art. 39 63–64, 70–71, 82–105 , 189, |
| 353-354 | 190–195, 231 |
| exemptions from 228 | see also constitutional under sanctions |
| see also scope under sanctions regimes; | regimes |
| scope and targets | Art. 40 84 |
| Treaty on Non Proliferation of Nuclear | Art. 41 3, 9, 45, 64–68, 82, 84, 93, 130, |
| Weapons see NPT | 133, 190, 195–196 |
| tribunals, international criminal 9-10 | definition of UN sanctions 8 |
| see also ICC | invoked and Ch. VII 105, |
| troop withdrawal 4-5 | 195–196, 231 |
| Turkey and Turkish 50 | other initiatives 9–10 |
| 'Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus' 17 | see also reform ; constitutional under |
| types of sanctions see under scope under | sanctions regimes; scope and |
| sanctions regimes; scope and | targets |
| targets | Art. 42 3, 66, 105 |
| typhoid 225, 228 | Art. 48 65 |
| | Art. 50 65, 77, 144-145, 151, 161, |
| UK | 228-229, 255, 315-316 |
| FRY 84 | Art. 51 287 |
| Iraq 23 | Art. 103 65-68 |
| Libya 190-195, 198-199, 297-305 | Ch. V 62-63 |
| rule of law 23 | Ch. VI 62-63, 192-193 |
| UN Charter see under sanctions under | Ch. VII (Art. 39–51) 9, 61, 62–64, 70–71, |
| UN Charter | 81-105, 190-195 |
| veto 212-213, 214 | and Cold War 36, 36–37 |
| see also Britain; English | definition of UN sanctions 8 |
| UN | and SC actions 37 |
| established 15-16, 58 | judicial review of see ICJ; review |
| GA Resolutions see GA | under rule of law |

| see also constitutional under | UNOCI 173-174, 180-181, 442, |
|--|--|
| sanctions regimes; fine- | 445-446, 447 |
| tuning; | UNOMIL 180-181, 317-319 |
| scope and targets; UN sanctions | UNOMSIL 361-364 |
| Ch. VIII 62-63 | UNOSOM 289-290 |
| Ch. XII 62-63 | UNOSOM II 180-181, 289-290 |
| reform difficult 38-39 | UNPREDEP 180–181, 373 |
| and rule of law see rule of law | UNPROFOR 307 |
| see also sanctions under UN Charter | UNSCOM 158-160, 164-165, 174-175, |
| UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee 227 | 261–282 |
| UN sanctions see administration and | UNSG 143-144, 145, 149, 158, 166, |
| monitoring; criticisms; | 196-197, 226-227, 231, 239 |
| definition; fine-tuning; legal | see also administration under sanctions |
| basis; model of the rule of | regimes; Annan; Cuellar; Ghali |
| law and sanctions practice; | US |
| prehistory; reform of UN | Cuban missile crisis 7 |
| sanctions system; rule of | embargo 49–50 |
| law; sanctions regimes; | Iraq 23 |
| sanctions under UN Charter; | League of Nations 57 |
| scope and targets of | Libya 23, 190–195, 198–199, 297–305 |
| sanctions; time delays; | Presidents |
| time limited | George H. W. Bush 19-20 |
| UN Secretary General see UNSG | Thomas Jefferson 49-50 |
| UN Security Council see SC | Woodrow Wilson 53 |
| UN summit meetings see world summit | rule of law 23, 24-25 |
| UNAMSIL 360-364, 401-402, | and judicial decisions 29–30 |
| 429, 447 | Secretaries of State 1, 241 |
| UNCC 158-160 | Senator Connally 59 |
| see also compensation | UN Charter see under sanctions under |
| UNCLS (1994) 19 | UN Charter |
| UNHCR 352, 370-371 | veto 212-213, 214 |
| see also refugees | UTA flight 772 190-195, 198-199, |
| UNIIIC 163, 448-449, 450, 451-452 | 297-305 |
| unilateral sanctions 7 | |
| UNITA | Valenzuela, Soledad Alvear 223 |
| sanctions 98-99, 107-128 , 219 | vehicle trade sanctions 117-118 |
| Panel of Experts on 165-166 | see also scope under sanctions regimes |
| monitoring mechanism 176 | scope and targets |
| sanctions committee (864) see under | Venice 46 |
| sanctions regimes | Versailles Conference (1919) 52, 53, 56 |
| sanctions regime see under sanctions | veto 197-198, 212-213, 234 |
| regimes | Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties |
| see also administration; Angola; fine- | (1969) 71 |
| tuning; targets under scope and | voluntary sanctions 9, 248, 255-261 |
| targets | |
| UNITAF 289-290 | Waldron, Jeremy 31 |
| universal sanctions 8 | war crimes see crimes against humanity |
| see also UN sanctions | watercraft trade sanctions 117-118 |
| UNMAS 397 | see also scope under sanctions regimes |
| UNMICI 429 | scope and targets |
| UNMIH 327-329 | Watson Institute Targeted Sanctions |
| UNMIK 372 | Project 238 |
| UNMIL 180–181, 403, 422–423, 428–429, | weaknesses, rule of law, in UN |
| 447, 450 | sanctions system 178, |
| UNMIS 180-181, 438 | 185–229 |
| UNMOVIC 115, 158–160, 164–165, | WEU 285 |
| 174-175, 261-282 | Wilson, Woodrow 53 |

WMD

Committee on 178, 185-229
and sanctions 4-5, 9-10, 17,
86-87, 114-116, 136,
158-160, 197-198, 212-213,
241-242, 258, 261-282,
452-458

SC selective approach to 457-458
Working Group on Sanctions, SC 157
world summit meetings
Millennium Summit (2000) 18-19,
20, 40
2005 World Summit 18-19, 20

World War I 52, 56 World War II 56, 58

Yugoslavia

see also Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) see also Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) see also Former Yugoslavia

Zaire 162 Zimbabwe 24-25 Books in the series

United Nations Sanctions and the Rule of Law Jeremy Farrall

National Law in WTO Law Effectiveness and Good Governance in the World Trading System Sharif Bhuiyan

The Threat of Force in International Law Nikolas Stürchler

Indigenous Rights and United Nations Standards Alexandra Xanthaki

International Refugee Law and Socio-Economic Rights Michelle Foster

The Protection of Cultural Property in Armed Conflict Roger O'Keefe

Interpretation and Revision of International Boundary Decisions Kaiyan Homi Kaikobad

Multinationals and Corporate Social Responsibility Limitations and Opportunities in International Law Jennifer A. Zerk

Judiciaries within Europe A Comparative Review John Bell

Law in Times of Crisis Emergency Powers in Theory and Practice Oren Gross and Fionnuala Ní Aoláin

Vessel-Source Marine Pollution The Law and Politics of International Regulation Alan Tan Enforcing Obligations Erga Omnes in International Law Christian J. Tams

Non-Governmental Organisations in International Law Anna-Karin Lindblom

Democracy, Minorities and International Law Steven Wheatley

Prosecuting International Crimes Selectivity and the International Law Regime Robert Cryer

Compensation for Personal Injury in English, German and Italian Law A Comparative Outline Basil Markesinis, Michael Coester, Guido Alpa, Augustus Ullstein

Dispute Settlement in the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea Natalie Klein

The International Protection of Internally Displaced Persons Catherine Phuong

Imperialism, Sovereignty and the Making of International Law Antony Anghie

Necessity, Proportionality and the Use of Force by States Judith Gardam

International Legal Argument in the Permanent Court of International Justice The Rise of the International Judiciary Ole Spiermann

Great Powers and Outlaw States Unequal Sovereigns in the International Legal Order Gerry Simpson

Local Remedies in International Law C. F. Amerasinghe

Reading Humanitarian Intervention Human Rights and the Use of Force in International Law Anne Orford

Conflict of Norms in Public International Law How WTO Law Relates to Other Rules of Law Joost Pauwelyn

Transboundary Damage in International Law Hangin Xue

European Criminal Procedures Edited by Mireille Delmas-Marty and John Spencer

The Accountability of Armed Opposition Groups in International Law Liesbeth Zegveld

Sharing Transboundary Resources International Law and Optimal Resource Use Eyal Benvenisti

International Human Rights and Humanitarian Law René Provost

Remedies Against International Organisations Karel Wellens

Diversity and Self-Determination in International Law Karen Knop

The Law of Internal Armed Conflict Lindsay Moir

International Commercial Arbitration and African States Practice, Participation and Institutional Development Amazu A. Asouzu

The Enforceability of Promises in European Contract Law James Gordley

International Law in Antiquity David J. Bederman

Money Laundering A New International Law Enforcement Model Guy Stessens

Good Faith in European Contract Law Reinhard Zimmermann and Simon Whittaker

On Civil Procedure J. A. Jolowicz

Trusts A Comparative Study Maurizio Lupoi

The Right to Property in Commonwealth Constitutions Tom Allen

International Organizations Before National Courts August Reinisch

The Changing International Law of High Seas Fisheries Francisco Orrego Vicuña

Trade and the Environment A Comparative Study of EC and US Law Damien Geradin

Unjust Enrichment
A Study of Private Law and Public Values
Hanoch Dagan

Religious Liberty and International Law in Europe Malcolm D. Evans

Ethics and Authority in International Law Alfred P. Rubin

Sovereignty Over Natural Resources Balancing Rights and Duties Nico Schrijver

The Polar Regions and the Development of International Law Donald R. Rothwell

Fragmentation and the International Relations of Micro-States Self-determination and Statehood Jorri Duursma

Principles of the Institutional Law of International Organizations C. F. Amerasinghe